Prince William County, October 7th 1779

Virginia Governors Executive Papers - Thomas Jefferson

Inq: of Escheat on Ro: Bristow’s Estate - Prince William


Inquisition indented & taken this 7th day of October 1779 before Henry Peyton Gent. Sheriff of the County of Prince William by Alexander Lithgow, Hugh Brent, John Shute, Daniel Tibbs, Charles Adams, John Langfit, John Linton, William Copen, James Triplett, Michael Maze, John Hedges and William Farrow, good & lawful men, Jurors summoned on behalf of the Commonwealth, who upon their oaths do say that Robert Bristow Esq. of  Great Britain upon the 19th day of April 1775, at the parish of Dettinger in the county aforesaid, was seized in fee of seven thousand five hundred acres of land be the same more or less  with the appurtenances situate lying & being in the parish of Dettinger & county aforesaid which he hath not since conveyed away and that about thirty years ago, one Richard Blackburn Gent. who received the rents advertised that the said Bristow would give leases to his tenants and that the said Robert Bristow is an alien enemy subject of his Britineck Majesty, and on the said 19th day of April 1775 was resident in the Kingdom of Great Britain and hath not since that time either entered into public employment of the United States of America or joined the same and by overt act adhered to them. In testimony whereof the said Jurors have hereunto set their hands and seals the day and years first above written.
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Prince William County, October 7th 1779

Virginia Governors Executive Papers - Thomas Jefferson

Inq: of Escheat on Ro: Bristow’s Estate - Prince William


Inquisition indented & taken this 7th day of October 1779 before Henry Peyton Gent. Sheriff of the County of Prince William by Alexander Lithgow, Hugh Brent, John Shute, Daniel Tibbs, Charles Adams, John Langfit, John Linton, William Copen, James Triplett, Michael Maze, John Hedges and William Farrow, good & lawful men, Jurors summoned on behalf of the Commonwealth, who upon their oaths do say that Robert Bristow Esq. of  Great Britain upon the 19th day of April 1775, at the parish of Dettinger in the county aforesaid, was seized in fee of seven thousand five hundred acres of land be the same more or less  with the appurtenances situate lying & being in the parish of Dettinger & county aforesaid which he hath not since conveyed away and that about thirty years ago, one Richard Blackburn Gent. who received the rents advertised that the said Bristow would give leases to his tenants and that the said Robert Bristow is an alien enemy subject of his Britaneck Majesty, and on the said 19th day of April 1775 was resident in the Kingdom of Great Britain and hath not since that time either entered into public employment of the United States of America or joined the same and by overt act adhered to them. In testimony whereof the said Jurors have hereunto set their hands and seals the day and years first above written.
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Gloucester County, to wit,

Inq. Of Escheat on Ro. Bristow’s Est.


Inquisition Indented taken on the plantation of Robert Bristow deceased in the Parish of Ware in the county aforesaid, the sixth day of August in the fourth year of the Commonwealth and in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and seventy nine; between Francis Willis Jun. Escheator of the one part and Mordicai Throckmorton, Benjamin Marrable, John Ash, William Robins Jun., James Nuttall jun., Hen; Pointer Jr, Michael Pointer, Richard Ransome, Francis Hall, William Kemp, John Howlet, William Hall, good and lawful men of the county aforesaid of the other part, who being returned & impaneled by the Sheriff of the county aforesaid, and duly sworn according to the directions of the Acts of General Assembly lately made untitled an act concerning Escheats and forfeitures from British Subjects  & the other an act concerning Escheators and charged to enquire as well on behalf of the Commonwealth as on behalf of the heir of Robert Bristow deceased late of the Kingdom of Great Britain to say whether certain lands, tenements & hereditaments, together with certain slaves &  personal estate lying & being in the county aforesaid, are the property of the said heir of the said Robert Bristow deceased and whether the heir of the said Robert Bristow was a subject of the King of Great Britain, and having examined into the matter upon their oaths do say that the said thirteen hundred acres of land with the appurtenances are the eighty nine negroes and personal estate as will appear by a schedule hereto annexed are the property of the heirs of the said Robert Bristow deceased who was an Inhabitant of Great Britain and a subject of the British King, and the said land, slaves & personal estate are become escheated or forfeited to the Commonwealth of Virginia, and that seven hundred acres of land, twenty two slaves and personal estate as will appear by a schedule here wise the property of the heir of the said Robert Bristow deceased and is become escheated or forfeited to the Commonwealth of Virginia agreeable to the acts of General Assembly in such cases made and provided. In witness whereof the Jurors aforesaid have hereunto set their names and seals the day and year aforesaid.


A Schedule of the estate of Robert Bristow Esq. deceased late of Great Britain lying & being the parishes of Ware & Kingston. Viz.






Land in Ware

1300 acres


Mordecai Thockmorton

Negro slaves in Ditto.
89



Benj. Manable

Horses &c. in Ditto.
7



John Ash

Black Cattle in Ditto.
62



William Robins

Sheep in Ditto.

104



James Nuttall

Land in Kingston

700 acres


Richard Ransome

Negro Slaves in Ditto
22



Richard Ransome

Black Cattle in Ditto.
17



William Kemp

Hogs in Ditto.

39



John Howlet

Horses &c in Ditto.
5



Wm. Hall Jun.


The subscriber Sub. Sheriff of this County, impaneled &c within Jury and attended the Inquisition. Given under my hand & seal this 6th day of August 1779.







Teste
John New  S.Shf. (Seal)









Wilson Allen C.G.C.


Prince William County, April 9th 1781

Virginia Governors Executive Papers - Thomas Jefferson

     Sir.


On the first Instant a small schooner vessel Jender  to the Trimer privateer belonging to Goodrichs Company with 21 men commanded by one Dickson went up to Alexandria and in the night attempted to cut out before the town a vessel belonging to Baltimore fortunately they were discovered and the wind changing prevented their succeeding they immediately made off down the river and were pursued by two armed vessels and  owing to a favorable North West wind was taken before they got to the Trimer which with the Supprise and another Hooper of War laid at Cedar point belonging to the same Company as the Schooner found the (Must?) be taken the men took to their boats and landed on the Virginia Side of the river 16 of them were taken by the Inhabitants 8 of whom were sent to Fredericksburg from whence I hear they are sent to Winchester the others were sent up in the vessels that pursued them to Alexandria and are confined in that Joal among them is Dickson. The privateers as they came up took thirty Negroes and the overseer from a plantation of Consellor Carters at Coles point in Westmoreland and have Plundered the Houses of Messrs Gerard Hooe, John Washington and many other persons of all their furniture & other valuable effects and taken off some Negroes on Friday last in the night (we had an account yesterday from a man from Maryland) they went up Port Tobacco Creek and there did great damage plundered the houses of Mr. Walter Harrison, Mr. Neale carried Mr. Neale off and also a ton of Mr. Harrison plundered the house of the Priest and many others. Mr. George Scott houses they burnt and a fine stallion and two champion horses suffered in the flames. Mr. Lawson manager to both Tayloe’s Neabsco Iron Works near one lost also a vessel boarded with 100 barrels of corn was taken from Nanjamy. One receiving official notice from the county distant  of Stafford that the Enemy were making up the river and the Town of Dumfries with the Warehouses on Quantico Creek might be their object and that the Inhabitants might be secured against these plunderers . I immediately ordered all the Militia that could be armed to rendezvous at the mouth of Quantico Creek and they have been there two days about forty there on duty if the enemy do not appear on the  shifting of the wind which being this two days at Northwest and against them. I shall only keep a few look outs if the enemy had succeeded at Alexandria they intended ; one of the prisoners said to have burnt Genl. Washington’s houses, plundered Cols Masson and myself and endeavored to have made me a prisoner. As the Act of Assembly empowers you to raise any number of horse it would be advisable to order a few horse to be raised in the different counties on Potomac and constantly keep in pay to give notice of the movements of the Enemy from time to time each would be of  --maging –titity and –rit the Inhabitants in their possessions and save many family’s from being plundered. I hope to receive your answer by the return of the Port with such orders as you may please to give which shall be implicitly obeyed by your Excellency.




Most Obedient Servant









Henry Lee

Dumfries, Va.  July 10th  1781

Accession # 29604, Reel #2965

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas Nelson Junr.

To William Davis, War Office, Virginia

       Sir,


I was favored with yours of the 22nd ultra. Crop Specific Tax in this County has been paid entirely  mostly to Mr. William Powell at Broad Run who had delivered it to Mr. John McMillion commissioner in this county by order of Mr. Brown the remainder of the corn was delivered at this place to Mr. William Austine a deputy commissioner of issues who has issued it to the troops as they pass this place. I have desired Mr. Powell & Mr. Austine to furnish me with a particular return of the whole when they come to hand. A copy shall be forwarded to you.


For Col. Alexander & Self commissioners of the Specific Tax Prince William County and I have the honour to be with the highest respect.







Sir your most obedient servant








Richard Graham

July 10th  1781

Accession # 29604, Reel #2965

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas Nelson Junr.

To the War Office, Richmond, Va.


Return of Militia Cavalry to be furnished by different counties in two proportions, one of the fiftieth man the other of the hundredth man, below the Alleghany.

Counties     

50          100      

Counties


50         100

Hampshire

23
10

Dinwiddie

16
8

Berkeley

23
12

Chesterfield

14
7

Frederick

24
12

Prince George

8
4

Shenandoah

19
10

Surry


8
4

Rockingham

17
9

Southampton

17
9

Augusta


27
14

Isle of Wight

12
6

Rockbridge

13
7

Nansemond

12
6

Greenbrier

10
5

Princess Ann

12
6

Washington

19
10

Henrico


12
6

Montgomery

21
11

Hanover


16
8

Loudoun

34
17

New Kent

8
4

Fauquier


21
11

Charles City

6
3

Culpeper

30
15

James City

5
3

Orange


13
7

Williams Bg.

2
1

Louisa


12
6

York


5
3

Goochland

11
6

Warwick

2
1

Fluvanna

5
3

Elizabeth City

3
2

Albemarle

17
9

Spotsylvania

12
6

Amherst


24
12

Caroline


18
9

Buckingham

13
6

King William

8
4

Bedford


28
14

King & Queen

10
5

Henry


20
10

Essex


9
5

Pittsylvania

15
8

Middlesex

4
2

Halifax


28
12

Gloucester

17
9

Charlotte

11
6

Fairfax


16
8

Prince Edward

9
5

Prince William

15
8

Cumberland

9
5

Stafford


10
5

Powhaton

9
4

King George

9
5

Amelia


28
12

Richmond

8
4

Lunenburg

14
9

Westmoreland

11
6

(illegible)

22
11

Northumberland

13
7

(illegible)

22
11

Lancaster

5
3
TOTAL


529
304

TOTAL


353
182

Accomack

24
12

Northampton

9
5



33
17




353
182




529
304



975
505

¼ will be

243
125
Which will be perhaps sufficient in ordinary cases.

Prince William County, Va.  September 7th  1781

Accession # 29604, Reel #9/2967

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas Nelson Junr.

Requesting blank commissions


Agreeable to your letter of the 17th of July last I am to inform you we have no Delinquents on Militia Duty that are condemned to serve six months at this time; Some few formerly we had who were sent to the Army I am very strict in compelling the militia to a strict obedience to the laws, and shall continue to do so. All the clothing has not yet been brought in and the courts are enforcing a strict compliance from the delinquents agreeable to Law. I have received thirty one full suits except two half’s and three pair of shoes. Pray give me orders where they are to be delivered. The waggon and team from this County has been delivered agreeable to the order of Governor Jefferson to assignee. I want a number of Blank Militia Commissions which pray _____ me with by the bearer as I have few _____ commissioned Lieut. Col. Attwell and two of my Captains are under arrest and have been so since the   re---- of the last assembly. Governor Nelson ordered a General Court Martial on the Lt. Col’s but his trial cannot come on until I receive a copy of the late Militia Law, which pray ______ me with by the return of Mr. Austin as injustice to these officers their trial ought not longer to be de-----. Agreeable to your orders of the 31st of last month I shall march one half of the Militia on Wednesday next to join the Marquess, having received an order from Genl. Weedon on Col. Peyton for 229 stand of arms at Leesburg, and not having it in my power to get them down sooner than that day, is the cause of this delay. I wish to have our men well armed as I believe they will fight. I cannot conclude without congratulations with you on our present pr------ of finishing the campaign gloriously. I am with esteem ____ your most obedient servant.








H. Lee

Alexandria, Va.  September 11th  1781

Accession # 29604, Reel #9/2967

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas Nelson Junr.

        Dear Col,


Yours of the 4th inst came to hand last evening by which I am again informed of our great want of provisions but  having frequently been urged by Major Claiborne on this subject, previous to the receipt of yours I had wrote in the most pressing terms to the County Commissioners, County Lieutenants & County Courts of my vicinity using the most Pointed Language  I was Capable of to get them to exert themselves on this occasion, the commissioners have not the provisions, why they have not I presume rests with their Chief to account for. I can transport flour from my Station (if then People would lay it in) to almost any amount, having engaged a number of Craft for that purpose, indeed I would venture to say all the flour that is manufactured back of me, My God! Why is the Militia called out? You will very shortly have from 13 or 14,000 regular soldiers with you, the Militia ought to have been employed in threshing out their grain and the wagons by them clothed for to carry their baggage in carrying the flour as fast as manufactured to the Army or Navigation his Excellency General Washington hath with his wisdom, ordered the Battalion from this county instead of marching to Wms.Burg to repair the roads for his convoy coming on ____ (left blank) “I know the result of this want, one department will blame another and every one endeavour to throw the blame on another and in order to exonerate our department. I will understand if the commissioners will deliver it to me to transport flour for one half of the army, if each convened will do as much all will be right;” I have been informed a deputy from the State Quarter Master is coming to Dumfries & Colchester for the purpose of collecting & issuing for the convoy coming on. I fancy this is a useless expense as I am fully prepared to furnish a sufficient quantity of hay & corn for all the wants – “You will be assured that I will exert every nerve to get flour for you to send down.  I wish I had power, to Hang half these fellows that appear so stupid on this trying occasion”






With true esteem







I am your obedient able servant








James Henderson

Mount Vernon,  September 10th  1781

Accession # 29604, Reel #10/2968

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas Nelson Junr.

Letter from General Washington dated at Mount Vernon

        Dear Sir,


Let me request you in very earnest terms to employ the Militia ordered out by the Governor in repairing the roads from the ford of Occoquan through Dumfries to the limits of your County. To do this & to do it well is of such essential importance that I cannot forbear urging it’s in strong terms. The baggage wagons of the French & American Armies, the Cavalry & Beef Cattle will all march by this route & may be expected in the course of a few days. Neglect of or delay in the execution of this business, will not only retard the march of the wagons, but maybe productive of essential Injury to them – For dispatch & the better performance of this work it may be proper to divide the Militia into several parties under good officers strongly impressed with the necessity  of the service.  If the ford at Occoquan admits of improvement, I’m sure that you & Col. Wagener will use the best means of giving it. Those services well performed may, probably exempt your Militia from further service & a march to York.


Expect Count de Rochambeau (Commander of the French Army) the Choe de Chartellux  & their respective units at this place tomorrow on their way to join the Army below. It would be benefit to them & their horses and a mark of attention which I am persuaded would be pleasing to the Gentlemen, if this State would assist them along in their carriages from Stage to Stage. Permit me therefore to request the favour of you to provide at Dumfries the means of conveying them to Fredericksburg, where I will engage other Gentlemen to take them up – from hence they will be furnished with carriages and horses to Dumfries. With much esteem & regard I am







Your obedient servant







G.o  Washington

Henry Lee Esq.

County Lieut. Of

Prince William

P. S.
I expect the Gentlemen before mentioned, will be at Dumfries on Wednesday, if they arrive there as I expect. Be as good as to communicate so much of this letter as relates to the repairs of the road to the Lieut. Of Stafford County & in my name & behalf entreat him to attend to the business in his district. I wish particular attention could be paid to the ford at Falmouth.







G. W.

Prince William County, September 17th  1781

Accession # 29604, Reel #10/2968

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas Nelson Junr.

Letter from Henry Lee

        Dear Sir,


In consequence of your letter of the 31st of August I -eaughted one half of my Militia amounting to 285 privates besides the proper Sergts. And commissioned officers as required to command them by the Invasion Law and had them ready last Wednesday to march, but inconsequence of his Excellency General Washington letter a copy of which is herewith annexed. I have kept them on severe duty in repairing the road which were impassable for the Baggage Waggons and Artillery which has been a laborious & fatiguing duty. I saw his Excellency as he passed through Dumfries last Wednesday who directed me in conjunction with Colonel Waggener the County Att of Fairfax to view and examine the ford of Occoquan at a place called Wolf run ford, and if it was possible to make the hills there which were by nature inaccessible a way for wagons to have it done, in consequence of these orders the way was viewed and found might be made a good road with much labour, and half of my Militia draughts & all are & have been employed about that work and in a few days I am in hopes will be completely accomplished which will open a direct way from Georgetown to Dumfries and ____ the distance many miles besides being a much better road and well supplied with forage being a fine fertile county well improved with meadows, the Genl. likewise advised me not to send the Militia to head quarters until I heard from him or the Governour whom he should inform of the disposition he had made of them but to hold them in readiness to march on the first call which I shall do until I receive further orders, besides we were disappointed in getting the 229 stand of arms from Cols. Peyton in Loudoun on Genl. Weedons orders I went in person to Colonel Peyton to press the delivery but he shewed me a letter from you forbidding the delivery of Public Arms but to the order of  ______ board and said he should put those he had in the hands of his own Militia who were ordered on duty & were without we have not above 80 guns in the county that are anywise fit for service and about as many squirrel guns. His Excellency has ordered the Fairfax Militia who were well armed on the same Fatique and the whole Militia except the draught from Stafford, who had marched are on falique duty in clearing roads from Chappawamsic to Falmouth, Pray inform the Governor of the reason this Militia has not marched agreeable to his letter to me of the 2nd of this month ___ must sufficiently  ____ my excuse with you and him. I am sorry to hear that the Army wants bread & will use every influence & exertion in my power to prevail on the people to thresh out their grain, this county can easily supply 60,000 bushels of wheat, a lot of the clothing  ____ will this day be delivered to the Commissary to be forwarded on to Capt. Peyton shall be transmitted to you by the first opportunity; they have been ready (except some few) several months. I am in grant of some Blank Militia Commissions which ____ forward __ with the artillery of war. I am with great regard & esteem your most obedient servant.









Henry Lee

Richmond Virginia, December 1781

Reel #2970, Accession #29604

Sentence of John Chapman, James Robinson & Reuben Griffith/Griffis

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison


A list of the Criminals who were tried, convicted and condemned at the December General Court 1781.


John Chapman alias John Timberlake from Prince William County for Horse stealing – sentenced to be hanged by the Sheriff of Henrico on Friday the eighteenth day of January next.


James Robinson from Prince William County for Burglary - sentenced to be hanged by the Sheriff of Henrico on Friday the eighteenth day of January next.


Reuben Griffis from Mecklenburg County for Horse stealing - sentenced to be hanged by the Sheriff of Henrico on Friday the eighteenth day of January next.









Teste
John Brown C.G. C.

Richmond Virginia, December 1781

Reel #2970, Accession #29604

Petition of James Robinson, John Chapman of Prince William 

& Reuben Griffith of Mecklenburg County

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

To His Excellency Benjamin Harrison Esq. Governor of Virginia


The petition of James Robison, John Chapman & Reuben Griffith humbly sheweth, that your unhappy petitioners at the last court of Ayer and Terminer, received the awful sentence of death – the time of the sentence being uncertain. We  beg leave to look to your Excellency for mercy. Praying that in your goodness you will be pleased to consider our time of Life – and although our crimes are many, & our transgressions great – yet by repentance  & your forgiveness, we hope to make ample reparation to the injured laws of our country.


Your petitioners most humbly pray that you will be pleased be allow us to enlist in the Army of America and on the Solemn words of Dying Men. We promise to become good and faithful Soldiers, that we will on all occasions, endeavour to retrieve the good opinion of Mankind we have unhappily lost.


That the God of all our Mercies who hath taught us to pray ‘forgive us our trespasses, as we forgive them that trespass against us,” may be your guide & protector in the Sincere prayer of your unhappy petitioners. 








Who in duty bound will ever pray &c.









James Robinson









John Chapman (his mark)









Reuben Griffith (his mark)

Richmond Virginia, December1781/January1782

Reel #2970, Accession #29604

Petition of James Robinson & John Chapman of Prince William County

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

To The Honorable Governor Benjamin Harrison Esquire & Captain Commander of Virginia. The humble Petition of James Robinson & John Chapman, Humbly saith that, your unhappy petitioners at the last Court of Oyer & Terminer received the –full sentence of Death; the time of execution being nigh __ __ we beg leave to look to your Excellency; for mercy; praying, that, in your Goodness, you will be pleased to consider our time of Life – and, although our crime is great, Yet by repentance and your forgiveness we hope to make ample preparation.

Your unhappy petitioners most humbly prays that you will be pleased to allow us to enlist in the Army of America and on the Solemn Word of Dying man we promise to become Good and Faithfull Soldiers & that we will ____ _____ Endeavour to retrieve the good opinion of mankind we have unhappily lost.

That the Great God of all our mercies who hath taught us to pray “forgive us our trespasses as we forgive them that trespass against us “may be your God and protector is the increase prayers of your _____ ____ petitioners.

And as in duty bound shall we ever pray

Richmond Virginia, December1781/January1782

Reel #2970, Accession #29604

Petition of James Robinson & John Chapman of Prince William County

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

To his Excellency the Governor and the honorable the Council of State


The petition of James Robinson & Chapman humbly sheweth that they are under sentence of death on charges of felony; that they very scarcely lament & bewail the crimes they have been guilty of which has brought them to their unfortunate and unhappy end; they see them with all their dreadful and fatal consequences respecting both corporal & ____ matters; they have resolved and think they should forever adhere to those revelations, that  ___- their ___- be prolonged & their crimes pardoned to become good and useful members of society, and alone in some measure, for their past offences, by their future good consent & behavior in all things. Your petitioners therefore are driven with all the horrors of confusion, shame, and despair, to beg that your Excellency & your honors will be graciously pleased in your wisdom, goodness & mercy to take this case under consideration & pray that you will be pleased to pardon and remist this ignominious sentence that is passed on them. And your petitioners as in duty bound will ever pray &c.

Richmond Virginia, January 1782

Reel #2970, Accession #29604

Petition of James Robinson, John Chapman of Prince William 

& Reuben Griffith of Mecklenburg County

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

To Honorable Governor Benjamin Harrison Captain General of Virginia

The Humble petition of James Robinson, Reubin Griffis and John Chapman humbly sheweth that your unhappy petitioners humbly prays trough Your Bountyfull Goodness you will Be pleased to Bestow to us a Little Longer Limited time of Life as we are not at this time Capable of Death as we have not had no priest but twice with us and as for Duty Bound shall we pray.

Dumfries, Virginia, December 8th 1781

Reel #2970, Accession #29604

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

To William Davies Esq.

       Sir,


I am sorry it has not been in our power to make the return of the specific tax for the county till today. As our late Sheriff Mr. Keith had by mistake taken up the list of Tithables to Fauquier County of which I requested Col. Lee to inform you.


We think it our duty to inform you that a great part of the corn was sold out to the French Troops for cash for 10 percent hard money & rest by a Mr. Carr a Deputy Q.M. from Alexandria.


I have the honor to be for Col. Alexander a county commissioner for Prince William County with the highest respect.








Your most obedient servant








  Richard Graham

Dumfries, Virginia, February 5th 1782
Reel #2971, Accession #29604

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

       Sir,


Your favor of the 10th ulto covering an extract of a letter from Col. Hendricks, came to hand a few days ago.  When the French troops came to the southward I was in Philadelphia & before I got home part of them had passed this place. I was informed that Mr. Conn was furnished the whole of them with our specific tax & corn and swine from them cash at __ per bl. And that he was supplying them also with hay that had been impressed from the gentlemen in my neighborhood for the use of the Continental Army. I stopped over to Mr. Daniel’s where Mr. Conn ______to tell him that he ought in my opinion to return the money received for the corn into the Treasury & that the people who he received the hay from ought to have the money arising from it, but he was gone up to Alexandria & thou he was from time to time in town for about two or three weeks otherwise I did not see him. I did not know his person but in the meantime as Mr. M. Daniel had told me that he was taking up the cash returned from time to time to Col. Hendricks made no doubt but the Colonel had particular directions regarding the disbursement of the money and therefore gave myself no further trouble about the matter. Only when I made the return of our Specific Tax I thought it necessary to note that a quantity of the corn had been delivered to the French. Since the receipt of your letter I have made particular enquiry into the matter and not withstanding Mr. Conn’s return and only three ton of hay & nineteen bushels of corn he has from the best information I could obtain furnished the French Troops. I received the money for upwards of twenty tons of hay and eight hundred or a thousand bushels of corn for which I am not ___that he ever ____ one pound of hay or a single bushel of corn at this post. Mr. Daniel ____ me that Conn at about three different times from his house with large sums of money ___ which he told him he was taking up to Col. Hendricks and that he has seen him ____ at one time upwards of ____ _____ from the French & he was receiving almost every day for three or four weeks.


One Gentleman Mr. Gwodkins had twelve ton of hay taken from him & sold to the French Commander the money in the presence of Mr. Gwodkins but would not pay him one shilling of it ____ every drove of French Bev----- was fed here with corn and hay or both. The American B----- were furnished with neither a court of enquiry may bring all these matters to light. Conn has certainly imposed upon Col. Hendricks most greatly but I think the colonel is mistaken in some of his observations. “That if the grain was ____ there could be no harm done & that if the people goods were once taken from them & got into the agents hands as they never could go back to them it could make no difference who consumed them” – in the first case as the corn was sold at___ lot ___ bl to the French & could ____ the money ought to have been sent to the Treasury because ___ corn had been wanted at this post it could be laid in again at a dollar ____ ____ Mr. Conn could have no right to make ____ by trading with the county property in the second – The people concurred and ____ ____ that one third ordered one fourth of the hay impressed for this post would have served the Continental Troops & that they could have sold the remaining two thirds on three fourths to the French themselves for cash. Therefore the people have no doubt just case of complaint.

I have the Honor to be with greatest regard.







Dear Sir your most obedient servant








Richard Graham

Dumfries, Virginia, April 12th 1782

Reel #2971, Accession #29604

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

       Sir,


I am very sorry that my state of health prevents my doing the business that you have required. My age together with the gout puts it entirely out of my power.






I am Sir, your most obedient servant







M. Whiting

Dumfries, Virginia, June 22nd 1782

Reel #2973, Accession #29604

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

       Sir,


Yesterday I received your favour of 12th inst. Together with a letter from His Excellency dated the 10th inst. Appointing me Commissioner for the District of Loudoun, Fairfax, Prince William & Stafford from the number of Commissioners, Commissioners ____ that have been in Commission in these Counties. I foresee that this appointment will be attended with much trouble & grant me a deputy, however being necessary that the business should be done. I agree to undertake it and you may rely on my utmost executions in the accomplishment of your instructions. You will please _____ this to His Excellency so that I need not trouble him with a letter on the subject at present.


I have already wrote to the respective County Lieutenants to have that part of the clothing that has not yet been delivered ready that I may get it collected & forwarded as soon as possible.








I have the honour to be Sir








Your most obedient servant









Richard Graham

Dumfries, Virginia, August 10th 1782

Reel #2973, Accession #29604

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

       Sir,


Last Wednesday by post I had the honor of receiving your circular letter of the 24th ulto and your letters of the 31st ulto 3rd inst. Agreeable to your request in the last. I would now insure you what money I have yet received but there is none of Mr. Monroe’s or Bank Notes to be got there, but I shall send off a cart next week with the clothing from Fairfax & some that I expect from Loudoun by that ___ the money shall be sent and as the Fairfax Commissioners are to send me their money immediately after their court the week after next. I will take the very first opportunity of forwarding it also as I shall do with every sum I receive from time to time. I have ordered everything to be sold off. I had all the bacon brought down to this place Colchester & Alexander in time for the French Troops expecting they would take the whole but only took a little for the waggoners. The bacon from Loudoun was much damaged, some of it rotten – it was sent to Alexandria – it was handed off in small parcels from _____ @ 5 ½ _____ the rest sells from 6 @ 7 ½ ___. The wheat at Alexandria about 300 bushels has the flys in it and as it could not be ground upat present, our mills being all dry to prevent a total loss & I sold it to Mr. Jos. Watson a merchant of fuenetuallity at 3 ____ __ half the 15th October & half the first week of December together with about 100 bushels that was left last year by Mr. Lawrason at General Washington’s & Mr. Gelpins Mills.


There is at Mr. Millons in this county 33 cattle. I have wrote Mr. Dick that if he request it I will send them down at once or from time to time as he may require them for the use of the Gun Factory. There was eight lost if Fairfax last year. I have heard of five of them at Mr. Curtis & Mr. Fitzhugh’s quarters. I have authorized Mr. Lawrason to try to collect the whole of these eight and sell them.


I was up at Alexandria last week to settle with the commissioners. The commissioner of provisions Mr. Lawrason gave me a copy of his returns and informed me that he had sent over the vouchers. I applied to Col. Hendricks for a copy of what articles he had received from the specific provision commissioners so that I might compare them. I also suspect those articles were issued but he refused to do anything in the matter said he had made a return of what he had received from the state and that he had nothing more to do with them. Mr. Lawrason says that most of the grain was sold by Col. Hendricks to the French troops. The people of Fairfax complained the matter ought to be fully enquired into.


Mr. James Adam has in his possession about 11,000 of the specific ____ he was not at home but I observe by his letter the ____ he appears some old light ___ from 300 to ____ 800 each ____ as ___ these are not the tobacco he received for the tax. I shall not take it. I received seven good _____ from the commissioner which I delivered to Messrs. Hunter & Allison on behalf ____ ____.


You may rely on my utmost endeavors to bring everything in this district to a settlement in conclusion as soon as possible but I find it will be a ____ troublesome piece of business. Thou I have frequently sent & gone after the commissioners for 1780 & ____ in Stafford & Loudoun I have not yet been able to obtain ____ ___ but I hope soon to get it accomplished. I have enclosed Mr. Lawrasons return that you may have it compared with that of Col. Hendricks sent Mr. Pierce.








I am with due esteem








Sir, your most obedient servant









Richard Graham

Dumfries, Virginia, October 7th 1782

Reel #2974, Accession #29604

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Benjamin Harrison

       Dear Colo:


Enclosed you’ll receive my answer that I presented you when I was in Town last. I shall leave it entirely at your discretion to settle in what manner you please.


I should have waited on you, but the security of money prevented it; The horse that I have got, I shall send up to Capt. Peyton tomorrow, agreeable to his orders, when he will be immediately sent to the point forty. I should have been very glad to have kept him in part pay of my wages.


W. Chapman who will deliver this, will act for me and do as you order. I am dear Colo. With utmost respect.







Your most obedient servant








John Tebbs

Richmond, January 1784

Box 1, Folder 8

Governors Executive Papers – Patrick Henry

List of Balances on Judgments for Taxes of 1783 due the 1st February 1783

Counties



Revenue Tax


        Certificate Tax




Sheriff

Balances

Sheriff

Balances


Accomack 

Lewis Jones

576-12-6

Albemarle

James Quarles

973-4----
Clifton Rhodes
     1331---4

Augusta


Wm. Bowyer

1253-3-1

Bedford


Grass Sings?

2062----6
Grass Serigs?
     427-1-7

Brunswick

Thomas Edmonds
432-10-1

Buckingham

Charles May

703-19-2 ¾ 

Campbell

John Hunton

446-18-6 ½ 
John Hunton
     52-4-2

Caroline


Will Buckner

264-18-4

Cumberland

Joseph Calland

78-19-10

Essex


William Smith

241-11-3 ½ 

Fairfax


Martin Cochburn?
321-2-5

Gloucester

Jno Peyton

3732-2-5 ½ 

Goochland

Jno Hopkins

332-17-3

Greensville

William Mason

12-1-11

Halifax


James Coleman

101-5-3

James Coleman
     470-5-8

Hampshire

John Foreman

581-5-3

Hanover


Gedes Winston

477-8-3

Gedes Winston
     94-3-5

Henry


Robert Hairston

1176-8--

Abram Penn
     2069-10-7

James City

William Barrett

1-6-11

Isle of Wight

John Lawrence

925-4-1

King George

Fran. Conway

288-12-1/2 

Lancaster

James Gordon

127----9

Louisa


Tho. Johnson

633-16-4 ½ 

Lunenburg

Jno Ragsdale

1310-8-7 ½ 
John Ragsdale
     317-18-10

Mecklenburg

Reuben Vaughn

262-4------

Middlesex

George Bird

280-1-8

Northampton

John Williams

208-13-1

Northumberland

Charles Lee

1007-10-9
Charles Lee
     342-16-4 ½ 

Orange


Rowland Thomas

733-17-7
Rowland Thomas
     302-7-10

Pittsylvania

John Owens

947-1-0 ½ 
John Owens
     365-14-2 ½ 

Powhatan

John Harris

1121-13-2

Prince George

Robert Gilliam

116-4-7

Prince William

Richard Graham

692-4-8

Rockingham

John Thomas

1536-15-1
John Thomas
     1102-9-2

Southampton

Elias Herring

473-13-4

Spotsylvania

Bartlett Stubbley?
1353-4-9

Stafford


William Gerard

349-5-1

Surry


Willis Williams

47-10-5

Sussex


Robt. Jones

398-9-11

Westmoreland

John Washington

525-9-11
Jno Washington
     590-16-3

York


Lawrence Smith

134-16-6 ½ 


Dumfries, 2 November 1784
Recommendation for Coroner

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Patrick Henry


At a court continued and held for Prince William County the 2nd day of November 1784 William Tebbs and Alexander Brown, gentlemen and recommended to his Excellency the Governor of this state as proper persons to be Coroner for this County.








Teste,  Robert Graham

Dumfries, Va.  January 22nd  1785

William Grayson Letter

Box #1,  Folder 1, Accession # 39700

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Patrick Henry


His Excellency the Governor

       Sir,


We have the honor to inform your Excellency and the Council that a judgment was rendered against the Sheriff of this County for about 692 pounds. The last Court, for collection of taxes for the year 1783, which judgment now stands in force against the said Sheriff. We beg leave to state some reasons which induce us to hope you will be pleased to exert the powers placed in you by an Act of the last Session,  in his favor.


We can with great truth assure you that the Sheriff has been in no degree to blame, as far we are capable of judging. The extreme scarcity of corn in the county, and the necessity the people were under of applying their money for their immediate relief, has made the collection so difficult, that to our knowledge there have been fifty (dishesser?) at one time without effect as no person would attend to purchase, least in the next instance it might be his fate. Added to this we beg leave to observe, that a protest was entered against the transfer house, at the Quantico Warehouse, which was not repaired till late in November & one of the Inspectors at Dumfries, was sick & the third absent. 


Under these circumstances and as this County hath hitherto except in this instance been punctual in the payment of taxes. We hope the judgment interest & damages may be remitted & three months be granted him to make payment.







We have the honor to be with the highest respect








Your Excellency most obedient & 

very humble servant










William Grayson

New York, May 16th 1785

Letter from Lee, Grayson and Monroe

Box 1, Folder 20, Accession #39700, Reel #4918

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Patrick Henry

       Sir,


We have the honor to transmit to your Excellency copies of the treaties lately held with the Indian tribes by the commissioners of the United States, at Fort Stanwix and Fort McIntosh, the former concluded on the 22nd of October 1784, and the latter on the 21st of January 1785. We also transmit the copy of an act of Congress directing a treaty to be held with the Southern Indians at such place as the commissioners appointed may think most convenient for the purpose; likewise of an act appointing one to be held in June next at post St. Vincent, for the purpose of extinguishing the claims to soil of the tribes inhabiting the country still further to the westward and northwestward. By these negotiations your Excellency will perceive it is the earnest desire and uniform object of Congress, to give peace and security to the frontier settlements of the United States, and at the same time make more valuable the lands which they offer for sale, for the payment of the publick debt. We have the honor to be with great respect and esteem your Excellency’s most obedient and very humble servants.









Richard Henry Lee









William Grayson









James Monroe

Dumfries, Va.  August  1785

William Grayson Letter

Box #2, Accession # 39700

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Patrick Henry

To His Excellency the Governor of Virginia and the Honorable Council thereof.


The memorial of Richard Neale & Isaac Wickliff deputy sheriffs of the County of Prince William for the year One Thousand Seven Hundred & Eighty Three, humbly states – That your memorialist during their continuance in office used every diligence & executed  all the powers that the law invested them  with to make an exact collection & a punctual discharge of the public dues in trusted  to their collection & management during that term. But yet so great were the distress of the people just issuing from the troubles of a long & ruinous war oppressed too by the dryness of the season, which had occasioned a shortness of crops – That your memorialist found all their endeavors to  affect their purpose ineffectual for such was the distress, that although your memorialist, exercising their authority made distress for the public claims, yet few or none were found of ability to purchase – As great part of the crops of tobacco made were consumed in the purchase of merchandise for family use or of the immediate necessities for the support of life. A proof of which may be seen by a reference to the Parish levy of the year one thousand seven hundred & eighty four made in the Spring of that Year whereby ten thousand weight of tobacco was levied in the county for the support of persons many of whom in common years were fully able to support themselves which distress has continued to so great a decree ever since that corn has seldom been known during that period to be seventy shillings.


Although prevented by such unforeseen accidents yet such have been the executions of your memorialist that they have paid up the principal sum due for this county for the year. But being subject by law to damages for the failure and immediate payment, under the circumstances above set forth your memorialist concede that the justice of their country would exonerate them from penalty which appears to have been intended only as the punishment of negligence & there for humbly pray from your Excellency and the honorable executive council that the damages by law imposed may be remitted & is duty bound they shall ever pray &c.


We the subscribers do certify the above facts to be true from our own knowledge.




T. Blackburn


Henry Washington




Alex. Brown


Daniel Carroll Brent








Cuthbert Bullitt
November 5th  1785
Commissioners Appointed

Box #3, Accession # 39700

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Patrick Henry

A List of Commissioners Appointed by John Browne and John Pierce

Commissioners Names
  
Counties 
Commissioners Names
      Counties

Richard Anderson

Louisa

John Pollard

King George

Thomas Anderson

Buckingham
Anthony Rucker

Amherst

John Broaddus


Caroline

John Swann

Powhatton

John Buckley


Pittsylvania
Robert Smith

Powhatton

George Burroughs

Stafford

Francis Smith

Chesterfield

James Belches


Prince George
Joseph Fowler

Goochland

John Ballard


Lunenburg
John Toomer

York

Edward Booker


Amelia

Samuel Williamson
Henrico

William Bready


Berkeley
John Wakins

Surry

John Blackwell


Fauquier

Benjamin Wilson

Cumberland

William Chrisham

Chas. City
Michael Wall

Sussex

Thomas Clements

Southampton
Benjamin Winslow
Orange

Marslen Clay


Halifax

Richard Yarbrough
Dinwiddie

William Deloney


Mecklenburg
William Chewning
Middlesex

Burkett Davenport

Culpeper
John Goohee

Accomack

Charles Davenport

Brunswick
Henry Ewen

Rockingham

Richard Easten


Frederick
Richard C. Graves
New Kent

Joseph Holt


Charlotte
Jesse Heard

Henry

James Hamilton


Greenville
Robert Hill

King & Queen

John Hill


King William
Thomas Hughes

Augusta

William Franklin


James City
Thomas Harrwood
Gloucester

Christopher J----


Bedford

John Hay

Albermarle

James Larorason


Fairfax

John Morton

Prince Edward

James McMillon


Prince William
John More

Albermarle

Thom Napier


Fluvanna
Samuel Porter

Shenandoah

Nicholas Payne


Spotsylvania


Exclusive of County Commissioners Mr. Brown & myself was under the necessity of employing other assistants, expenses, & issuing commissioners to many of whom we could only give certificates also there are several commissioners who were employed to perform extra services for which assurances was given of a certain reward over & above the usual allowance.







Jno Pierce







5 November 1785

Richmond Va.  June 8th  1786

Box #3,  Folder 11, Accession # 39700
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List of Prisoners for Trial in June Court 1786

Jesse Lewelling

Amelia


forgery 

January 2nd 1786

James Goss

Bedford 


horse stealing
January 20th 1786

John Campbell

Isle of Wight

felony

January 25th 1786

Thomas Smith

Isle of Wight

felony

January 25th 1786

Richard Sampson

Prince William

murder

February 12th 1786

William May

Fairfax
(broke jail)
burglary

February 14th 1786

Willis Watkins

Charlotte

deceit

March 11th 1786

Preson Richards

Henrico
(broke jail)
burglary

April 7th 1786

Rowland Gibson

Hardy


horse stealing
May 1st 1786

Zachariah Shackleford
Gloster.
(broke jail)
felony

May 14th 1786

Thomas McCauley
Albemarle

rape

May 20th 1786

Olive Branch

Campbell

murder

May 26th 1786

Samuel Branch

Campbell

murder

May 26th 1786

Anderson Branch

Campbell

murder

May 26th 1786

Pleasant Branch    
Campbell

2 facts – grand larceny & for being an accessory

                                                                                       before the fact in the aforesaid murder 

William Keeve
- Lunatic

John Rumbly – 1 years in prison & fine of 100 pounds

11 prisoners condemned to labor

11 County & City prisoners



William Rose








Keeper of Public Jail








June 9th 1786

Richmond Va.  June 8th  1786

Box #3,  Folder 13, Accession # 39700
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List of Prisoners for Trial in June Court 1786

James Goss

Pittsylvania

horse stealing
January 20th 1786

John Campbell

Isle of Wight

felony

January 25th 1786

James Campbell

Isle of Wight

felony

January 25th 1786

Thomas Smith

Isle of Wight

felony

January 25th 1786

Richard Sampson

Prince William

murder

February 12th 1786

William May

Fairfax
(broke jail)
burglary

February 14th 1786

Willis Watkins

Charlotte

deceit

March 11th 1786

Preson Richards

Henrico
(broke jail)
burglary

April 7th 1786

Rowland Gibson

Hardy


horse stealing
May 1st 1786

Zachariah Shackleford
Gloster.
(broke jail)
felony

May 14th 1786

Thomas McCauley
Albemarle

rape

May 20th 1786

Olive Branch

Campbell

murder

May 26th 1786

Samuel Branch

Campbell

murder

May 26th 1786

Anderson Branch

Campbell

murder

May 26th 1786

Pleasant Branch

Campbell

accessory 
May 26th 1786

Jesse Lewelling

Amelia


forgery 

January 2nd 1786

Richmond Va.  October 2nd   1786

Box #4,  Folder 1, Accession # 39700

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Patrick Henry


In obedience to your orders I have sent you a list of all the Prisoners confined in the Public Jail of this Commonwealth.


Thomas Keeve – a lunatic – received the 22nd March 1785


John Bumbley – one years imprisonment & a fine of 100 pounds


John Campbell – tried & found guilty in June court for receiving stolen goods




and sentence postponed until this Court


Thomas Farr – In custody for debt adj of the Commonwealth


Joseph Clarke – In custody for debt adj of the Commonwealth


11 runaways

The following are prisoners for trial this Court Viz:


William May – Fairfax County for a robbery


Preson Richards – Henrico County for burglary


Zachariah Shackelford – Gloster County for felony


Olive Branch, Saml. Branch, Anderson Branch, Pleasant Branch – Campbell County – Murder


John McDonald – Albemarle County for horse stealing


Hugh Taylor – Fairfax County for robbery

Marjaret Burk – Fairfax County for robbery

Zachariah Goff – Prince Edward County for horse stealing

Nathaniel Forrester – Botetourt County for horse stealing

Christopher Lerchorn – Norfolk – horse stealing

William Moss – Prince William County for robbing on highway

Mary Pointer – Mecklenburg County murder of her baby

John Barnett – Franklin County for horse stealing

Patrick Garrett – Henrico County for robbery & burglary

William Johnson – Henrico County for robbery and burglary

George Ramsay – Franklin County for concealing thieves

Leroy Smith alias Shackhorse – Frederick County for robbery

James Tewell alias Jewell – Fairfax County for burglary


William Howard – Hanover County for felony


Elisha Lassettor – Nansemond County for murder


Jeremiah Anthony (mulatto) – Nansemond County for murder 

Isaac Read (mulatto) – Nansemond County for murder

Edward Watkins – Hampshire County for horse stealing






I am Sir your most obedient servant







William Rose keeper of Jail

Richmond Va.  September 19th 1786

Slave - Jonathan

Box #3,  Folder 21, Accession # 39700, Reel #4920

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Patrick Henry

To His Excellency Patrick Henry, Governor of Virginia, Richmond

       Sir,


Enclosed your Excellency will receive a certificate from one of the Justices of the County in which my Slave Jonathan has been condemned for felony. You’ll observe that he has been condemned as the property of Mrs. Elizabeth Bumly whom I have married. The certificate has been taken in consequence of a letter which I had the Honor to receive from your Excellency on this Subject, & as it gives the unfortunate Slave as good a character as persons in his sphere can generally obtain. I hope it will be considered as a sufficient ground for the interposition of your mercy. I beg leave to add further that he is a youth of only seventeen years of age who has been induced by another Rogue to help him in Breaking open a house in said County of Prince William the circumstance of his age is not mentioned in the enclosed certificate because it was not known to those persons on whose affidavits the certificate is founded. Your Excellency will be pleased to accept of my sincere thanks for the favor done me in printing out the mode to be pursued to obtain a pardon for this unfortunate fellow if he should be considered as an object of clemency, your Excellency will be pleased to deliver his pardon to the Gentleman who will hand you this letter. I dare to be importunate once more in begging the favor of you to instruct me further if the case should need it; for being a perfect stranger to the laws I am perfectly ignorant how to proceed. 


I flattered myself that I should have had the Honour to wait on your Excellency  personally, but when I got in this Town I was taken very sick, and am yet absolutely incapable  of ridding on horseback; I shall wait for the Honor of your answer, and am with the Greatest Respect.






Your Excellency’s most humble & obedient humble servant









J. E. (Borniche?)

Richmond Va.  September 19th 1786

Slave - Jonathan

Box #3,  Folder 21, Accession # 39700, Reel #4920
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Prince William County to Wit:


Notice from His Excellency Patrick Henry Esquire, Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia suspending the Execution of a certain Negro Slave named Jonathan now confined under sentence of Death in the Jail of this County, and committed as the property of Mrs. Elizabeth Burlugh, Hanover County until the twenty ninth day of this present month. The said notice having been delivered to me the subscriber one of the Magistrates for Prince William County, by a certain John Smith and a certain John  Jarvis who both declare on their oath that they are both inhabitants of the aforesaid County of Hannover and have levied for a number of years as neighbors to the said Elizabeth Burley during all of which time they have been acquainted with and knows the said Negro Slave Jonathan the property of the said Elizabeth Burlugh. That they never heard of any bad actions to his charge except him sometimes running away from his mistress for a few days but that otherwise he always been as good a character as any other Negro in the neighborhood  where they live. But that he the said Jonathan hath been absent from the employ of the said Elizabeth Burlugh ever since the month of April or May last and further they say not.








Alex Lithgow

Prince William County Court, June 5th 1787

Box 1, Folder 6

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph


Present, William Tebbs, Richard Graham, Jesse Ewell, James Ewell, Bernard Hooe, William Linton, Alexander Lithgow and Pope, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following gentlemen be recommended to his Excellency the Governor as officers of the Militia of this County. Henry Lee Esq. - as County Lieutenant, Jesse Ewell Esq. - colonel, James Ewell Esq. - lieutenant colonel, Willoughby Tebbs -  major, William Edward Wiatt - captain, John Brown -  lieutenant and William Cundiffe -  ensign of the Company of light infantry. Charles Ewell, William Helm, William Farrow, Samuel Abbot Love, Henry Hampton, John Kincheloe, Thomas Sanford, Robert Overall, William Ashmore, William Linton, Burr Peyton, Nathaniel Ralls and William Downman - as Captains; James James, Samuel Jackson, William Carter, Solomon Ewell, William Skinker, Charles Attwell, William Linton Sen., Jacob Marshall, Enoch Renoe, Colin Campbell, Samuel Jackson Jun., Robert Hedges and James Foley – as Lieutenants; and Bertrand Ewell, Lewis Renoe, Philip Dawe, Robert Matthews, George Gray Tyler, John Mathews, John Linton, John Edington, Martin Hancock, John Redmon, Carty Wells and James Johnson as ensigns for the remainder of the said Militia.








Teste, Robert Graham, Cl. Cur.

Prince William County Court, November 7th 1787

Box 1, Folder 6

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph


Present, William Tebbs, Richard Graham, Alexander Litgow and William Edward Wiatt, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following gentlemen be recommended to his Excellency the Governor as officers in the petition of the county: Jesse Ewell Esq. as county lieutenant; James Ewell Esq. as colonel; Willoughby Tebbs Esq. as lieutenant colonel; Charles Ewell Esq. as major; James James, Luke Cannon, Wormley Carter, and Solomon Ewell as captains; Walter Graham, Thomas Newman, Robert Matthews, George Gray Tyler, Bertram Ewell, George Tennell, and John Linton as lieutenants; James Triplett, Henry Brown, Charles Ewell Jun., John Wiatt Jun., John Stewart, John Howison, and Vincent Gray as ensigns.









Teste, Robert Graham  Cl. Cur.
Prince William County, November 19th 1787

Box 1, Folder 6

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

To his Excellency Edmund Randolph Esq. Governor of Virginia & the Honorable the Privy Council, Your petitioners a Capt. in the Militia for the County of Prince William requests that Jesse Ewell Esq. the County Lieutenant may be arrested & tried by a General Court Martial for the following charges.  First for a breach of his word in not making a timely application to his Excellency the Governor & the Honorable the privy council, to have the rank of Captain settled which he promised to do at a meeting of the Captains for regulating the companies of Militia on the 12th day  of October 1787. Secondly, for promising privates to be recommended by the Court under a misrepresentation over the heads of lieutenants. Thirdly, for promising a man to be recommended who wanted capacity & common understanding? Fourthly, for partial & ungentlemanly like behavior on the parade at a General Muster of the 29th of November 1787. Fifthly, for want of knowledge as an officer in Military duty.







William Helm

N. B. – any orders directed to this county in respect to the above is requested to be directed to lieutenant Colonel Willoughby Tebbs. The Col. commandant is instructed in the business.









William Helm

Dumfries, Va., November 29th 1787

Box 1, Folder 6

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Capt. James’ deposition

           
 At the request of Col. Jesse Ewell, I have made the following statement of the General Muster, November 29, 1787.


The Militia for the County having been ordered to attend the General Muster the above day at Randels Tavern. Capt. Helm asked Capt. Ewell before the troops went to the field (it being near ¼ mile from Randels were the regiment was to be formed) whether he intended to act as a Captain or Major (he being at that time recommended a Major) to which Ewell made answer that he intended to act as Captain. Nothing more passed before the companies arrived on the field of parade which to the best of my remembrance stands this.


Several of the Companies formed at Randels and marched in form to the field and their halted; when the Regiment was to be formed (the mode of arrangement not being determined on) Capt. Charles Ewell thought he was entitled to the right of the Regiment both from being an older officer than any their and the first recommended by the Court to the Governor as appears from their records. Captain’s Linton, Helm & Farrow objected to it and said he was not.  Col. Ewell then told the Captains that as there was no satisfactory way of drawing them up, that they should fall in as the Court had recommended them, at the same gave Capt. Cannon who then acted as adjutant a copy from record of the recommendation, and said those Capt. that did not fall in  - in that way might call their rolls and discharge their men, any promises of Colonel Ewell’s to the Captain of falling in promiscuously before they come to the field I know nothing of. –







James James

Prince William County to Wit:


The within deposition was taken in the presence of Col. Jesse Ewell & Capt. Wm. Helm & sworn to before me this 6th day of December 1788.









Alexander Lithgow

Dumfries, Va., November 29th 1787

Box 1, Folder 7

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Vincent Gray deposition


Being called on by Col. Jesse Ewell to declare what I know respecting the proceedings of the General Muster at John Randolph’s in the County of Prince William on the 29th of November 1787 which is this – 


That Captain Charles Ewell had his roll called, formed and marched his company from the house of Jno. Randolph to the field where we was to perform our grand parade, there halted & formed again to wait for further orders & the other companies formed & followed him until the whole body arrived on the said field, and after the arrival of the whole body there arose various disputes respecting rank and who was entitled to the right of the Regiment.

And Capt. Charles Ewell there & then declared that he was, from the arrangement of the court of our said county, and that he would not give it up, and in case they would not allow him what he actually conceived himself & company entitled too, he would withdraw his company and dismiss his men.


And on the adjutant of that day being made acquainted with the circumstance. I was imposed that he rode up to Col. Ewell and acknowledged him what they should do, but what his reply was I did not hear, but I understood from some that his orders was that they should fall in perniciously. But Col. Ewell then rode up as far as Capt. Ewell’s Company & there halted, but whether his will ask again I do not know, but to the best of my knowledge there he said that all those captains which did not choose to fall in as the court had arranged them, or as they had been arranged but which I now don’t recollect, might call their rolls and dismiss their men, as they could not settle their rank among themselves, but as to the adjutants being served with copy of the arrangements of that day I do not know, but I remember of hearing him call the officers and the said officers gave him their attendance in the front of the Regiment where was assembled all the field officers but what was there debates I do not know.








Vincent Gray

Prince William County – The above deposition taken by consent of the parties was sworn to by Mr. Vincent Gray of full age before me.









January 13, 1789









Richard Graham

Dumfries, Va., March 11th 1788

Virginia Governors Papers – Beverly Randolph
To his Excellency the Governor & Counsel, Richmond

       Gentlemen,


I beg leave to inform your Honourable Body that the present salary allowed the Searcher at the Port of Quantico is by no means adequate to the trouble & insufficient to enable me to support my family, if I pay that attention necessary to the business; Therefore if the Port will not admit of the salary being enlarged together with my being allowed an assistant in case of sickness or absence on Public Business. I must request you will appoint some other person in my place.





I have the honor to be your very obedient humble servant







Walter Graham, Searcher







     Port Quantico

Dumfries, Va., April 9th 1788

Virginia Governors Papers- Beverly Randolph
To his Excellency the Governor & Counsel, Richmond

       Gentlemen,


I am informed that Mr. Walter Graham has resigned his office as Searcher at the port of Quantico, if his resignation is excepted of and that vacancy not yet filled I will except of it, and I am not unacquainted with that business, & you can oppose that trust in me, and will endeavor to execute that office with the best of my skill and judgment & be your Honor’s most obedient servant.









Vincent Gray

As I have not the honour to be acquainted with any of the Honorable body. I would wish them to consult any of the following gentlemen respecting me sir. Col. Wm. Grayson or Mr. Alexander Henderson, Dumfries, or Mr. Geo. Gray at William Alexander Esq. Richmond, who are all acquainted with me and will give any information necessary.









V. G.

Dumfries, Va., October 1788

Box 1, Folder 7
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Letter from William Helm – charges against Jesse Ewell

Charge 2nd  - Recommending John Lawson a private over John Linton a Lieutenant by a misrepresentation to the court, that the said John Linton acquiesced in the recommendation of the said Lawson; The direct contrary of which appeared the day following by Linton’s having the matter property discussed. The court finding themselves received by Col. Jesse Ewell’s information discharged their order as to Lawson and recommended Linton

Charge 3rd – Recommending Charles Ewell Jun. a Nephew of the said Jesse Ewell who wants capacity and common understanding.


Charge 4th – Partial behavior on the 29th November 1787 at a general muster. Some of the Captains applied to the said Col. Jesse Ewell before the Battalion was formed to know in what manner the Companies were to fall in as he Col. Ewell had not applied in time to the Executive as he had promised on the 12th of October 1787 for a mode to settle their rank, he told them he hoped they would fall in promiscuously for once, on which they agreed. When they came on the parade and was forming the Battalion Mr. Charles Ewell, one of the Captains and a near relation of Col. Jesse Ewell said he would not fall in promiscuously but that he would take the right of the Battalion if was immediately objected to by two of the Captains saying that he had no more right than others. He still persisted in it. Col. Jesse Ewell rode up and on finding his Friend desirous of taking the right immediately agreed he should. The Captains complained and told Col. Ewell that he requested them to fall in promiscuously and when they agreed to that, supposed that no partial Friend would have the preference (or words to that purpose) he told them in reply that they might either go into Battalion with their Companies or march them home as they thought best and gave the said Charles Ewell the right to the Battalion.

Charge 5th – Incapacity as a disciplinarian in forming a regiment or Battalion not  knowing the necessary and proper order of command to carry them through the evolutions pointed out by the Baron Steuben and approved of by the assembly of Virginia.










William Helm

Prince William to Wit: 

    Came before me Capt. William Helm and made oath that the above charges exhibited against Col. Jesse Ewell are true to the best of his knowledge & belief. Given under my hand this 25th day of October 1788.








Signed (Graham?)
Richmond Goail, November 21st 1788

Box 1, Folder 8
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       Dear Sir,


With your permission I here set down to make known to you my past conduct & requesting you to use your interest in getting my enlargement. I here will to the best of my knowledge confess, and acquaint, you with all my past life & conduct to the present day, & by what means I was led astray & brought to this unhappy situation in which you see me. I was born of good honest parents, brought up in the fear of God, to the Church of England till the death of my parents, which happened about three years ago, and after their death I labored hard in an honest manner for my living, all of which is well known by my county men and neighbours. I a little more than twelve months past, fell into bad company which is too often the case with youth, having no guide and got rather intoxicated, and being persuaded to join in executing this charge that I am in confinement for, which I confess I was guilty of. I can now & do call on the almighty God, who knoweth all things, to witness that this is the first, and last time, that ever I was guilty or, concerned in any crime of the like nature, and your being a visitor to this place of affliction ever since my confinement here, & having had frequent opportunities of seeing me, & an opportunity of hearing of my conduct here in this place of misery, makes me intrude at this time on your goodness, In requesting your assistance in using your interest with the Executive in getting my enlargement. I now think rearly & can say two with a good conscience that the Lord has opened my eyes & given me grace to know I have done wrong & will for the future indevour to do so as to conduct myself in a mannor as becomes a good citizen & can say with a clear conscience that I have become a true penitent, sincerely from my heart for my past follies, which my future conduct shall make manifest, and my being confined here in chains was I suppose to bring me to the true since of my past follies, which effect it has taken and therefore with your assistance & goodness of the Executive will release me from this miserable confinement, your competence dear Sir, in the above request shall always be remembered and acknowledged by your very humble servant.








David Lock

Dumfries, Va., 6 December 1788

Box 1, Folder 8, Reel 5027
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Luke Cannon deposition

    
The deposition of Col. Luke Cannon taken in a matter of difference between Co. Jesse Ewell & Capt. William Helm in the presence of the parties.


This deponent says he was present at a General Muster in the County of Prince William in November 1787 when a dispute arose among the officers about rank. When it was proposed by Col. Ewell that they should fall in promiscuously & this deponent thought they intended to do so, but on rising to the parade he found that Capt. Charles Ewell who had his company paraded, was determined not to fall in at all unless he could take the right of the Battalion, this deponent then went to Col. Ewell & informed him of it, upon which the Col. rode up to Capt. Ewell’s Company whence if anything passed this deponent did not hear or does not recollect it. After Capt. Linton or Farrow asked Col. Ewell if he had wrote to the Governor as he had promised, to point out a mode for selling the Rank – The Col. answered he had. They also asked him if he had received an answer, he answered he had not. They then asked him the reason, he replied he would tell them at another time, & that if they did not choose to fall in as had been proposed, or as the Court had arranged them, they might march their companies away. And further this deponent saith not.









Luke Cannon

Prince William – The above deponent was taken in the presence of Colonel Jesse Ewell & Capt. William Helm & sworn to before me this 6th day of December 1788.










Alex Lithgow

This Deponent being asked by Capt. Helm whether Col. Ewell delivered this deponent a list by which the officers were to be called, answered he does not remember that he was.

Prince William County – The above interrogatory was at same time sworn to before me.










Alex Lithgow

Dumfries, Va., 6 December 1788

Box 1, Folder 8, Reel 5027
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Jesse Ewell letter

      To his Excellency the Governor & the Honorable the Privy Council. The memorial of Jesse Ewell relative to charges exhibited against him by William Helm humbly sheweth.


That your memorialist agreeable to his desire of establishing order & harmony among the officers of the Prince William Militia as well as to his promise made at a meeting of the field officers & captains on the 12th of October 1787, engaged Mr. John Pope (now in the senate at Richmond) to apply to your Honorable board for directions to settle the Rank of Officers acting under like commissions of the same date & in a letter which he is informed was laid before your Honorable Board, mentioned both the occasion & the time at which the answer was desired. That in April last upon application he readily assented that Mr. Pope should shew the letter to any persons desirous of seeing it. That he thought it more proper to wait for such an opportunity, than to send express & therefore after having appointed the General Muster to be held on the 15th of November by altering the order postponed it to the 29th.

Your memorialist with respect to the 2nd charge acknowledges his opinion that for the due execution of the Militia law, it is necessary to serve ever favorable opportunity of introducing to suitable posts among the officers of those who will accept commissions the most respectable either on account of their probity, abilities, that whereas several have been appointed not so much on account of their abilities as conveniences to a District, if an invariable of promotion by seniority be established, the officers of each company may soon be found in distant districts and it being probable that the most proper would not accept commissions as youngest ensigns without prospect of promotion according to their deserts, several resignations & removals may render the line so contemptible as to endanger the execution of the law.

With regret he informs your Honorable Board that at a second call for certificates of their former commissions none but the Captains Kincheloe, Peyton & Landford produced theirs at the Regimental Muster in April last. That only Captain Helm produced a certificate of his at the General Muster in October last & that then judging it expedient to give further him to the other officers, he issued another order requiring them it or before the next Regimental Muster – that from his own knowledge Robert Hedges is the eldest acting Lieutenant in the County who joined in a petition to the court with the Company to promote Nathaniel Ralls a Sergeant to the command thereof & is not convenient to the Company formerly commanded by Overhall.

As to misrepresentation he refers to the certificate from the Clerk of the Court & to Mr. William Carr’s deposition. He did not think it necessary to obtain the consent of Mr. John Linton (who had been recommended Ensign in June 1787 & a vacancy happening was promoted to the Lieutenancy in November following) much less to call a witness or require it to be written; he has no doubt but that the Court in consideration of the minority of the one & the experience of Mr. John Lawson (who marched as adjutant with the Prince William Regiment of Militia into Pennsylvania in 1777 & at his arrival at Head Quarters was appointed Brigade Major) would have preferred the letter if Linton had appeared & proved his claim.  He had applied to several to take the command of the Company & enquired of Linton before the court met whether Mr. James Nisbeth who he was informed usually exercised the company would accept of it & be well received, on Linton’s expressing a desire to be promoted. He enquired a fit person for a Lieutenant or Ensign if the Court should determine to promote one or both of them. It was chiefly in consequence of that conversation that after mentioning the vacancy to some of the Court, it was postponed until the said Linton came into the Court House. Your  memorialist then walked out with him & affirms that after some arguments used Linton consented (as it appeared) with cheerfulness that Mr. Lawson should be recommended for the Captaincy. At the meeting of the Court after dinner he delivered up his commission & merited his Father’s attention.

Your memorialist in answer to the 3rd charge must urge his desire of gratifying his officers especially in districts where he is not well acquainted & refers to the depositions of Solomon Ewell.


Respecting the 4th charge he is equally conscious of rectitude of conduct; not having obtained the wishes for arraignment he would not undertake to give precedence to any contrary to the arrangement made by the Court & therefore after a dispute arose required that they should form on that day as the Court had ranked them. He refers to the depositions of Mr. Richard Graham & of the Captains James & Cannon.
The necessary & proper words of command to carry a Regiment through the evolutions pointed out by the Barron Steuben & approved of by the Assembly of Virginia are not unknown to your memorialist; he commanded the Prince William Regiment during its four in Pennsylvania; & has not before this received a hint that his capacity was doubted – Capt. Helm has acknowledged that the 5th was added to swell the number of charges.










Jesse Ewell

Dumfries, Va., 2 December 1788

Box 1, Folder 7
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Robert Graham letter

        Prince William County


I Robert Graham clerk of the court of the County aforesaid do hereby certify that at a Court continued and held for Prince William County aforesaid the second day of September one thousand seven hundred and eighty eight when William Tebbs, Jesse Ewell, James Ewell, Richard Graham, John Tyler, Henry Washington and Willoughby Tebbs, gentlemen justices were present the following orders were made (viz) “John Lawson is recommended to his Excellency the Governor as a Captain of Militia in the room of Robert Overall resigned – Vincent Gray as Lieutenant in the room of Bertram Ewell removed James Murren as Ensign in the room of Vincent Gray promoted, James Triplett as Lieutenant in the room of Walter Graham removed Cuthbert Harrison in the room of James Triplett promoted.’ And I do further certify that at a Court continued and held for the said County the third day of September in the year aforesaid when William Tebbs, William Carr, Richard Graham, Alexander Lithgow and Matthew Harrison gentlemen justices were present the following order was made (Viz,) “Ordered that the order made yesterday respecting the recommendation of John Lawson to succeeded to the command of the company lately commanded by Robert Overall, be abolished and that Colin Campbell as eldest Lieutenant be recommended to his Excellency the Governor to command the said Company. And further, that sometime after the said orders were made and during the term aforesaid, the court being informed that Colin Campbell was not the oldest Lieutenant, and taking the aforesaid orders into – consideration were of opinion that they could not proceed to recommend officers until their rank were respectively settle, and ordered that they should be erased – Which was done accordingly. Given under my hand this second day of December one thousand seven hundred and eighty eight.








Robert Graham

Green Level, 3 December 1788
Box 1, Folder 7, 
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Wm. Helm letter

(This letter is torn and parts illegible)

       Sir,


I received yours dated the 18 of December the 15 is not yet come to my hands my not knowing new laws & customs was at a loss how to proceed had I supposed you meant to take Col. Ewell’s commission instead of his ___.

I would have shortened trial & ___ your most Honorable Board of the different troubles they have been at concer--- the dispute the reason my deposition did not reach you in time was this. I found myself at a loss how to proceed therefore was obligated to wait the motion of Col. Ewell who is but slow to see which of the charges he would endeavor to overset _____ he had made his feeble strok I then ___ it necessary to send down a few other depositions that might see the difference between smoothing a thing ___ plain fair thing. I feel myself a learned for fear of ___ premises one private enemy scares me more than a hundred public ones there is but few men who has arrived to his ____ of life let their conducts be what they ____ that has not accumulated some few friends. I felt myself injured by Col. Ewell & ___ to that most respectful ___ for ____ forth 5 charges 3 I hope I have supported the other 2 I do not think he will dispute if he does I can support one that that of ___ nephew by one hundred evidence his own abilities may be _____ if he will allow himself to be examined if I am mistaken. I most cheerfully acquiesce to your superior judgment ___ for ever remain your most obedient servant.








Wm. Helm

Dumfries, Va., 3 December 1788

Box 1, Folder 7, 
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To His Excellency Edmond Randolph Esquire, Governor of Virginia and the Honorable the Privy Council.

Jesse Ewell controversy 

      
The subscribers, captains of the militia for the County of Prince William, beg leave most respectfully to remonstrate that none of the old officers having qualified to their commissions according to the Act of Assembly entitled an act to amend the act for regulating and discipline the militia and for other purposes” The County thereby became wholly without officers. That upon the 5th of June 1787 the Court of the County consisting of 4 Justices proceeded to a recommendation, in which were included a great number of the former Militia Officers, & some few who had never been in that service, and among the latter Charles Ewell Esq. that the rank of the officers not being settled. The commissions bearing the same date, when the captains met by appointment on the (blank) day of October 1787 for regulating the Companies a difficulty arose respecting their rank and they applied to Jesse Ewell Esq. the Colonel. (Henry Lee Esq. the County Lieutenant being dead) for information how it should be settled & proposed that as the law was silent on that head it should be done by an impartial ballot which was agreed to by every Captain present the said Charles Ewell excepted upon whose refusal the other Captains being about to proceed to settle their rank after the mode proposed. The said Jesse Ewell diverted it by promising that he would write to your honorable board to proscribe ___ one and for that purpose, as he said, deferred the general muster from the 15th to the 19th of November. That the said Jesse made no application to your honourable board until after the 7th of November 1787 upon which day he applied to the aforesaid court which at that time consisted of but four justices, & among other recommendations prevailed upon the court, or at least so it was, that the said Charles Ewell was recommended as Major over the heads of many older Captains, & which the subscribers believe would not have been the case, had the then court been fully informed, or a majority of the Justices in the county present. That immediately after, such of the subscribers as were informed of the conduct of the said Jesse applied to Willoughby Tebbs Esq. the Lieutenant colonel to lay a representation on their parts before your Honourable board & which they have been informed was done, the result of which they believe produced the regulations for the militia entered into by your Honourable Board upon the 20th of December 1787 the spirit of which they entirely agree in. they flattered themselves that the majority would have been made out for the eldest Captain. And they were informed of the contrary & that the majority was conferred upon the said Charles Ewell. They are far from arraigning the justice of your board, but they have been informed, that the said Jesse Ewell (having laid the recommendation of November 1787 before your honourable board) stated the matter in such a light as induced you to believe that the subscribers requested the appointment of the said Charles, the strict contrary of which they beg have to assure you in this case. They are desirous of discharging their duty in the militia, but as officers they cannot submit to have a junior raised over them. They have no doubt of the justice of your honourable board, & pray that an inquiry may be made into the premise & that the majority may be conferred upon the eldest captain in the militia, agreeable to the constitution before the passing of the before recited act & they as in duty shall pray for the prosperity of the Commonwealth.








William Helm Capt.









Nathl. Ralls Capt.









Jno Kincheloe Capt.









Thos. Sanford Capt.









W. Wiatt Capt.









H. T.(?) Hampton Capt.









Burr Peyton Capt.









William Ashmore (Capt)









Luke Cannon Capt.









William Linton Capt.









William Farrow Capt.

Dumfries, Va., 3 December 1788

Box 1, Folder 7, 
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Wm. Linton letter

(This letter is torn and parts illegible)


Deposition of William Linton aged 30 years taken at the request of Capt. William Helm in a matter of dispute between him & Jesse Ewell Esq. County _______of Prince William County.

At a meeting of the field officers & captains of Prince William County by an order of Colonel Jesse Ewell at the house of John Randolph sometime in October 1787 to lay of to each captain his company as the law required & after having met & done that business Colonel Ewell gave orders to the Captains to attend with their Companies at a General Muster at the same place on the 15th of November 1787. The Captains finding that there was no mode laid down by law to settle the rank of those officers whose commissions were of the same date & a vacancy then in the county for a Major applied to Colonel Ewell to point out some mode to them to settle theirs by, he told them he knew of no  mode prescribed by law for settling rank, on which the whole of the Captain there present except Mr. Charles Ewell, agreed to settle by a Fair & Impartial ballot, Colonel Ewell told them if they would wait he would write to the Governor & Council to point out a mode to settle rank by and for that purpose postponed the General Muster from the 15th to the (torn paper) of November 1787 that he might have time to write & receive an answer before the General Muster, on which the Captains appeared to be well satisfied supposing that Colonel Ewell would 
write to the Governor & Council get an answer & have the rank settled before he would apply to the Court to have a Major recommended, but  on the 7th of November as appears by record Mr. Charles Ewell is recommended to the Governor as Major, Myself & three other Captains being informed that Colonel Ewell had got Mr. Charles Ewell recommended as Major & finding that he had not wrote to the Governor as he had promised in October. Applied to Willoughby Tebbs Esq. Lieut. Colonel to lay a statement of the business before the Governor & Council which he did & which ___ ___ produced the regulations for the Militia Officers _____ into by the Governor & Council upon the 20th of December 1787, on the 29th November 1787 at the General Muster I applied to Colonel Ewell to know in what manner the Companies were to form the battalion as he had not wrote  as he had promised to get the rank settled  he told me he was in hopes that they would fall in promiscuously for once, in which I agreed as I believe all the Captains did from what I understood after his speaking to me except Mr. Charles Ewell, when we got on the parade & was about to form the battalion, Capt. Charles Ewell said he would not fall in _____ but that he would have ___ the right to the battalion it was immediately objected by Capt. Farrow & Myself saying that he had ____ ____  __ more than another as the rank was not settled & that Colonel Ewell had desired that the companies should fall in promiscuously  he per—ted that he would have the right & that Col. Tebbs had told him to take it, Col. Tebbs rode up & ___ & told Capt. Ewell he was mistaken, Col. Jesse Ewell then rode up & on finding Capt. Ewell contending for the right agreed that he should have it Capt. Farrow & myself complain & told Col. Ewell that he requested us to fall in promiscuously  & when we agreed supposed that no partial friend would have a ____ or words to that purpose he told us in reply that we might either march our men in to battalion or ___ as we thought best and gave Capt. Ewell the right. Colonel Ewell & myself went to Mr. Thos. ____ ___ __ Muster whose I mentioned to him something of his ___ Capt. Ewell to right, he said he must confess he was a little tardy there & further this deponent saith not.








William Linton

Prince William County to Wit:

 The above deposition being taken in presence of Colonel Jesse Ewell was sworn to by me this 9th day of December 1788.









Alex Lithgow

Dumfries, Va., 6 December 1788

Box 1, Folder 7
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Richard Graham letter

 
The deposition of Richard Graham of full age. Taken at the request of Col. Jesse Ewell in presence of Capt. William Helm. This deponent saith that as a Justice of Peace for Prince William County he was on the Bench when the Court were recommending Officers for the Militia of said County. And that after recommending Col. Thos. Lee as County Lieutenant, Col. Ewell as Colonel & Col. James Ewell as Lieut. Colonel. The Court were at a loss who to appoint or recommend as Major there being no certainty who was at that time the oldest captain and induced from deaths, resignations &c. there were no Captains of long standing in the County. This induced this deponent to propose that the court should look out for some officers that had served in the regulars to fill the places of Major and mentioned Capt. Charles Ewell as a proper person which seemed to be agreed to, but soon after one of the magistrates then on the Bench observed that as Col. Lee was in a low state of health it was probable that there would soon be three Colonels from the same family. Then this deponent mentioned Mr. William Tebbs as an Old Continental Officer the court thought he might do very well, he was accordingly sent for to know if he would serve accordingly. I agreed to act in that capacity – when the Court began to recommend the Captains, Col. Ewell was called on to give a list of the Captains & Lieutenants - which he did but from the want of the commissions it was impossible for the court to come at the rank of such captains as were then in existence – it was generally agreed that either Capt. Farrow or Capt. Helms was the oldest but as Capt. Farrow succeeded Capt. Fitzhugh and Captain Helm succeeded Capt. Maddox – And Triplett having died before Maddox (as the Court were then informed) it was taken for granted that Capt. Farrow was the oldest but upon this deponent asking Col. James Ewell if he thought Capt. Charles Ewell would act as first Captain he answered in the affirmative upon this he was recommended as first Captain but whether this was done on the same day that  were recommended this deponent does not recollect – but he remembers that in coming down from the Court House to dinner this deponent asked Captain Farrow if he was the oldest Captain he answered that he really was not certain, he then asked him what he thought of Capt. Charles Ewell as oldest Captain he said that as Capt. Ewell was an old Continental Officer he could have no objection  to him, or words to that purpose – On being interrogated by Col. Ewell this deponent says that the court had the Captains, Lieutenants, & Ensigns all listed off and put on the recommendation as they conceived they stood in seniority except Capt. Ewell who was intended by the court to be first captain.








And farther saith not









        Richard Graham

Prince William County to Wit, December 6th 1788 sworn to before

          Alexander Lithgow

Dumfries, Va., 6 December 1788

Box 1, Folder 7
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Jno Linton Jun. letter 


The deposition of John Linton Jun. in a dispute between Colonel Jesse Ewell and Captain William Helm deposeth and saith that early in the day that Mr. Lawson was recommended a Capt. over me, I was met by Colonel Ewell who ask me if I wished to command the Company I was then Lieutenant in, my answer was yes – he then ask me if I thought Mr. Nisbett would serve as Lieutenant in the Company I told him I believe he would not. Col. Ewell then told me that as Mr. Johnstone would be recommended as Lieutenant if I was Captain & that I might recommend as Ensign any person in the Company that I thought proper. I then told him of Mr. Gains which he seemingly approved of. We then parted & some time before the court broke for dinner I went to the Court House & was taken out by Col. Ewell & told that Mr. Tyler who was one of the Court objected to my being recommended Captain as not being old enough & that the Court thought of recommending Mr. John Lawson. I then told him if the Court thought proper to recommend Mr. Lawson that I must submit to their recommendation & further saith not.








Jno Linton Jun.

Prince William County to wit: 


The above deponent acknowledging that he is not twenty years of age until next January but Colonel Jesse Ewell objecting reports of his evidence respecting to same ____ put to the above deponent –which he at this time does not recollect – The above was accordingly admitted & sworn to before me this 6th of December 1788









Alex. Lithgow

Prince William County, Va., December 8th  1788

Box 1, Folder 7
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John Tyler Letter


John Tyler aged sixty three one of the sitting magistrates when John Lawson was proposed Captain over john Linton lieutenant, being deposed saith that Jesse Ewell told Capt. Carr that Mr. Overall had resigned his captains commission and that John Lawson was willing to accept of it & john Linton was a very young man this deponent answered that John Linton was in his one and twentieth year, Jesse Ewell replied John Linton was willing to give up to John Lawson , this deponent further saith that he told Jesse Ewell as John Linton was convenient he had best make application to him just as the court was about to rise to go to dinner Jesse Ewell told this deponent he had seen John Linton and he was willing to give up to John Lawson and this deponent saith as he left the bench he heard Jesse Ewell speak to the clerk but what he said he knows not & that the question never was, but to the court who should be Capt. in his hearing and further this deponent saith not.

   Henry Washington






John Tyler Sen.

Dumfries, Va., December 9, 1788

Box 1, Folder 7
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William Farrow Letter

       The deposition of William Farrow was taken in the presence of Wm. Helm & Jesse Ewell. Sometime in October 1787 Colonel Jesse Ewell collected the officers of the militia to meet at John Randolph’s in order to settle their rank. I according to orders met when several proposals was made. The officers in general proposed balloting for rank which was agreed to by all present except Capt. Charles Ewell.  Col. Jesse Ewell then said he must apply to the governor and council to point out some mode to settle the rank. Colonel Jesse Ewell then approved the general muster the 15 day of November following but on questioning said the time was full short when order was given to meet the 29th of  month. When we met the Militia was ordered under arms I ordered my men to  fall in at Randolph’s house where I joined Capt. Linton’s, we marched to the field which was near half a mile from the house when Capt. Linton made a halt to receive orders where he should parade the adjutant. In a short time rode to Capt. Linton and myself which was standing and ordered were to move to Col. Ewell where he was setting on his horse. At the distance of forty or fifty yards from us, the Captains I think collected at the same time and place. Col Jesse Ewell to the best of my remembrance said we might fall in for that time promiscuously. Asked Col. Jesse Ewell if he had received an answer from the governor. The Col. made answer no. I asked the reason the Col. said he would tell us all a bought it at another time and more further said those who did not choose to fall in on the side of Capt. Charles Ewell might march their company where they pleased on which I turned to my company in order to discharge them but on reflection thought I should lay myself open, Marched and joined Capt. Linton who joined Capt. Charles Ewell on the left. This deponent further saith that Mr. Richard Graham asked him which was the oldest Captain the said deponent or Capt Helm, I made for answer I did not know but as to saying I was perfectly satisfied with Capt. Ewell being the oldest Capt. I never made any such answer to the best of my knowledge and further this deponent saith not.






William Farrow








9 December 1788

Prince William County to Wit:


The within deposition being taken in the presence of Colonel Jesse Ewell was sworn to before me this 9th day of December 1788.









Alexander Lithgow

Dumfries, Va., December 9, 1788

Box 1, Folder 7
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John Williams’ deposition


This deposition of John Williams aged twenty one years or thereabouts being sworn, in a dispute between Colonel Jesse Ewell and Captain William Helm, this deponent deposeth and saith that he acted in the capacity of Deputy Clerk of the County Court of Prince William on the second day of September 1788 when Mr. John Lawson was recommended to his Excellency the Governor as a captain of a company of Militia in the said County lately commanded by Robert Overall. And further this deponent saith that when he began to enter the said order the Court rose for Dinner and some of the Justices (if not the whole) left the Court except Colonel Jesse Ewell, at that time a member of the Court, who waited and directed the said order, together with several others respecting the recommendation of Militia Officers to be entered on the minutes of the Court and further saith not.









John Williams









December 9th 1788

Prince William County to wit:


The above deposition being taken in the presence of Colonel Jesse Ewell & Captain William Helm was sworn to before me this 9th day of December 1788.



Alexander Lithgow

Dumfries, Va., 10 December 1788

Box 1, Folder 8, Reel 5027

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Alex. Lithgow deposition


I the subscriber being called on by Capt. William Helm to give my deposition in a manner of dispute at present depending between the said Helm & Col. Jesse Ewell – this subscriber being first sworn deposeth 7 saith, that at a court there was held for Prince William County he was on the bench as a magistrate for said county – that a nomination of officers was proposed and took place and that in the nomination a certain Charles Ewell son of James Ewell was nominated to some rank is an officer for the Militia of Prince William County, and that the said nomination to the best of this appointment. Knowledge was made by the before mentioned Jesse Ewell, but in what year, what month or what day this nomination took place this deponent does not remember & further saith not.








Alex. Lithgow

Prince William County – The above deposition was sworn to before me this 10th day of December 1788









Burr Harrison

Dumfries, Va., 13 January 1789

Box 1, Folder 7

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Letter from Jesse Ewell

       Honorable Sir,


In consequence of the advice of counsel of the 18th of December last (which you did me the honor to enclose to me) & of the unexpected want of recollection in some whose depositions have been forwarded to the Executive respecting my orders for arranging the Captains in Battalions on the 29th of November 1787. I have thought it necessary to send other proof of those orders & take the liberty of inclosing it to you to be laid before your honorable Board.


I expected that the testimony of the Adjutant with that of Mr. Richard Graham would be sufficient for me against the 4th charge exhibited by Capt. Helm but at the meeting to take depositions  Capt. Cannon mentioned that what he told me he recollected a few days before of the list of Officers given him, as arranged by the Court after consideration appeared doubtful & he could not insert it in his deposition. I was therefore obliged to call on Capt. James – when Capt. James read his deposition Capt. Farrow denied being present, alleging that he continued with his own company – yet he has given a circumstantial deposition. 

The appearance of a dispute on the parade convinced me that I had judged improperly when I desired in presence of some of the Captains, that they would fall in promiscuously – if I did not in the evening at Mr. Attwell’s satisfy Capt. Linton that I ought sooner to have adopted pro tempore the arrangement of the Court; I endeavored afterwards in conversations to convince him that it would have been highly improper to direct any other arrangement before an answer was received from the Executive.

Not withstanding the contradiction given to the 2nd charge by the clerk’s certificate & Mr. Wm. Carr’s deposition. The testimony of Mr. John Linton is introduced to support it – although length of time wears many impressions from the memory, what is recent & interesting cannot easily be forgotten – if Mr. Linton through inattention cannot recollect that I first mentioned Mr. Nesbitt as his Captain & afterwards as Lieutenant – the circumstance of stopping at the door of the Court House on a reposition  of his desire to be promoted, when I told him I did not know but the Court might recommend him notwithstanding his want of age & his full consent afterwards that Mr. Lawson should be recommended. I must suppose rather dissembled  than forgotten. Therefore I objected to his deposition rather than suffer him to insert in it his answers to my interrogatories. I have also enclosed my own affidavit, uncertain in what light it may be considered – if Linton had continued desirous of having his name mentioned to the Court with Mr. Lawson’s be certainly would have returned into the Court house to be present at the recommendation, or would have mentioned his desire to his relation Mr. John Tyler, or to some other person on the bench or attending the court.

By Mr. John Williams’ deposition it would appear that nothing was represented to the court – but the Court approved of the persons recommended before the entries were made, & no objection was offered in the evening at the reading of the orders – The names of the subalterns were given to me by their Captains James & Cannon – to fill the Captaincy I consulted with Col. Tebbs & Capt. William Linton the former was of opinion that it should be offered to Mr. Colin Campbell an old Lieutenant who then refused it – the latter could not inform whether Mr. Nesbitt would accept it, but thought it right that his brother John should be promoted, who at length consented that the line should be benefited by Mr. John Lawson’s experience.

It has been urged that the rules for adjusting the proceedings of Militia Officers establish an invariable rule of promotion according to seniority & it is expected the justices will not readily under & fill up further vacancies, until an explanation or some hint on the subject be received from the Executive.


I have the honor to be with the greatest respect. Your most obedient servant.









Jesse Ewell

Dumfries, Va., 13 January 1789

Box 1, Folder 7

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Letter from Jesse Ewell

         When I walked out of the Court House with Mr. John Linton Jun. early in the day on the 2nd of September 1788. I first mentioned to him that there would be only one objection against his promotion, which could never be made to him again as it was want of age, that Mr. Tyler thought a Captain ought to be of full age & that he the said Linton was in his twenty first year but had not completed it. After some little conversation I told him I did not know but the Court might recommend him notwithstanding his want of age, at which he repeated his desire to be recommended if agreeable to the Court. Then stopping at the door we retired again a small distance, & after I observed among other things, that the greater duty required of a Captain would balance the honor of the like, & urged that the line would be much more benefited by Mr. Lawson’s promotion, than by any ensign to his company, he consented without proviso or condition, & as it appeared to me with cheerfulness, that Mr. Lawson should be recommended to command the Company.








Jesse Ewell

Prince William County to wit:


Colonel Jesse Ewell made oath to the truth of the above before me this 13th January 1789








Richard Graham

Dumfries, Va., 13 January 1789

Box 1, Folder 7

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Letter from James Boag


At Colonel Jesse Ewell’s request, I deliver upon oath what I recollect to have passed at a muster on the 29th of November 1787 relative to the settling of the rank of the Battalion  - Our company (Capt Ewell’s) was drawn up some distance from the others; when Col. Ewell rode up and reviewed us. Almost immediately came up Captain Linton and Lieut. Campbell – Col. Ewell told them, that having the hounour to command that day, the companies were to arrange themselves, as described in the papers he held in his hand; this he claimed was the order in which the court had arranged them, but this was not to be a precedent, but the ranks would be afterwards settled to their satisfaction.


Words to this import was delivered by Col. Ewell when Captain Linton proposed to draw lots. To this Col. Ewell objected, and told Captain Linton to draw up as was ordered, or muster his men and leave the field. Upon this Col. Ewell delivered the papers to Adjuant Cannon, who rode up to them, as the deponent thinks, during this conversation. Adjuant Cannon took the papers, and as the deponent can recollect began to read – Though from some circumstance he left abruptly and our company some little time afterwards peaceably took the right of the Battalion.








James Boag

The above deposition was taken by consent of the parties and sworn to by Doctor James Boag of full age before me.









Richard Graham










January 13, 1789

Dumfries, Va., 13 January 1789

Box 1, Folder 7

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Letter from James Smith


Dumfries, Prince William County viz: 13 January 1789 – James Smith being sworn & examined by Richard Graham, justice of peace for the County. Deponent that he was at the general muster of Prince William County Militia in fall 1787 and remembered that before going from Randles house down to the field of parade standing in _____ with Capt. Charles Ewell then in nomination for Major & Mr. James James then Lieut. To Capt. Ewell; Captain Helm came up & inquired of Mr. Ewell if whether he intended to rank as Captain or major that day he answered uncertain yet which Capt. Helm offered he should determine before the men fell in. As should Mr. Ewell rank Major hr should in----- for ______. Mr. James then brushed Mr. Ewell aside with “Damm  how can you rank Major without a commission – when Mr. Ewell returned told  Mr. Helm “ I believe I shall continue my commission as Captain for this day” or words similar. Soon after Capt. Ewell’s company marched down to the field & formed, the other companies followed & ___ __ ____. Col. Jesse Ewell came in front of ___ company where Mr. James enquired what was about to be done (a ____ having arose amongst the officers about preceeding) The Col. answered he knew no other method to adjust the rank, than that the companies should fall in agreeable to the rule of court, till the claims should be established by some higher authority.” Or words to that amount, adding he had given orders to that purpose & that he had allowed those who were unwilling to fall in as ranked by the court to call their respective rolls & dismiss their men as soon after the whole of the companies marched & formed in battalions to the left of Capt. Charles Ewell’s company.



James Smith
Prince William County to wit;

The above deposition taken by consent of the parties and sworn to by Mr. James Smith being of full age before me.









Richard Graham









January 13, 1789

Rasberry Plain, May 30th 1789

Box 2, Folder 12

Governors Executive Papers –Beverly Randolph

George Quick plea

       Sir,


I take the liberty to enclose to your Excellency two petitions in favor of certain George Quick who is under sentence of death at Dumfries having signed one of them; any observations on his case would from me be superfluous. I am acquainted with near all the signers to the other petition; they are in general substantial farmers and men of respectable character. Should it please your Excellency and the Council to grant the prayer of the petitions the necessary orders on the subject will be conveyed to Dumfries by the bearer John Quick brother to the unfortunate young man.







I have the Honor to be with respect








Your Excellency’s most obedient servant








Ste Thos. Mason

May 30th 1789

Box 2, Folder 12

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

George Quick support petition

To his Excellency Beverly Randolph Esquire Governor of Virginia the petition of sundry inhabitants of the County of Loudoun.

We the Subscribers, whose names are underwritten, have for a long time been neighbours to & well acquainted with George Quick, late of the County of Loudoun, convicted of horse stealing at the District Court held at Dumfries. From long acquaintance with the Man, we beg leave to represent to your Excellency that, the same Quick is an extremely simple ignoramus descended of very reputable parents & until this unhappy event has always been considered as a very honest inoffensive one. His extreme ignorance, youth & inexperience, which on this occasion has rendered him the easy instrument of villainy, in the hands of another far more guilty than himself, has warmly interested all this Neighbourhood in his favour. Our knowledge of the fact for which he stands convicted & which was perpetrated in this Neighbourhood, authorized us to assure your Excellency that, the most guilty person has had artifice enough to screen himself from the punishment he justly deserved, and fix it upon a simple youth, who never would have thought of such a thing, but from counsel and artful persuasion of a certain Daniel Hart. Hoping (should your Excellency’s clemency be extended to him) that the long confinement & dread of inevitable death, which at this time must pray upon the mind of this unhappy wretch, will effectually deter him from offences of the like nature in future; we are induced humbly to supplicate from your Excellency, that Clemency in favour of this unfortunate youth.



George Smith (his mark)


Conrad Neeres (his mark)



Peter Jacobs (his mark)


Jonathan Conrad



Nicholas Osborn



John Shedacker (his mark)


Andrew Myers



John Clise



John Beearer



James McBride



John Lyons



Jeams Nealson (his mark)



Abraham Osborn



David Potts



Thomas Hall



John Demmory (his mark)



John Conrad



John Woolf



John Edwards(his mark)


Henry Keen (his mark)



Christian Millar



Jacob Miller



Robert White



Mahlon Hough



James Griffith



Samuel Clandisen




Isreal Thompson



Dumfries, Va., June 1, 1789

Box 2, Folder 6

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Jail Escape

To the Honorable the Governor & Council of Virginia

       Gentlemen,

The following criminals who were convicted of horse stealing at Dumfries, April Court, have made their escape out of the jail of the district comprising the Counties of Fairfax, Loudoun, Fauquier, & Prince William to wit: 

Jett Roach is a native of Virginia about twenty five years of age, near six feet high, had on when he made his escape an old ozmal coat, a knitt jackett, an old pair of brown beeth ceating overalls, an ozna. shirt, an old pair of yarn, stockings and a pair of mochisons better than half wore, talks very bold when challenged, he is well acquainted in North and South Carolina. 
George Quick about twenty one or two years of age, five foot seven or eight inches high, had on a short brown coat and jacket, an ozna. shirt, fustian collared linen or cotton trousers, a pair of blue yarn stockings and a pair of course shoes, he has a pretty round face, stammers gribish a good deal when spoken to, is of British extraction and was born in Loudoun County. Talks much in the British way; he had on a round felt hat about half worn, it is expected they will take the beach road to the Carolinas. Quick’s father lives at a place called Bearen Town, it is thought he or both will make that way.
This is an accurate a description of them as I can give. I have been advised to inform your Honour of this matter by the Honorable Mr. Bullitt & other gentlemen of this place.








I am with the greatest respect








Your most obedient servant








John Campbell  K. D.D.Jail

Mr. Dixon will publish after the  proclamation the above description of the criminals as marked with Collis Campbells name & ____ of office.

A. Blair   C.B.

Richmond, Va. June 12, 1789

Box 2, Folder 6

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Proclamation


Whereas Jett Roach & George Quick who were convicted of horse stealing at a District Court holder at Dumfries on the 15th day of May last, did on the 29th of the same month make their escape from the Jail of the said District. I have therefore thought fit by & with the advice of the Council of State to issue this my proclamation hereby offering a reward of fifty dollars to any person who shall apprehend & deliver to the public jailor at Dumfries either of the above named criminals.









Given under my hand as Governor








And under the seal of the Commonwealth









Richmond, this 5th day of June 1789









Beverly Randolph

Dumfries, Va., July 30, 1789

Box 2, Folder 12, accession #40287

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Commonwealth vs George Quick - Jail Escape

To His Excellency Beverly Randolph Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond


I Colin Campbell keeper of the Dumfries District Jail do hereby certify that David Bates and John Richardson both of Loudoun County did this day deliver into my custody a certain George Quick, who was convicted of horse stealing at a District Court held at Dumfries on the 15th day of May last, and the 29th of said month made his escape from the Jail of the said District in Company with a certain Jett Roach who was also convicted of horse stealing at the same time, as appears by his Excellency the Governors proclamation, and my advertisement.








Given under my hand as keeper of the









Said Jail at Dumfries this 30th July 1789









Colin Campbell




Dumfries, Va., August 1st  1789

Box 2, Folder 12, accession #40287

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Commonwealth vs George Quick - Jail Escape

To His Excellency Beverly Randolph Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond

       Sir,


George Quick who was convicted of horse stealing at the last Circuit Court held at this place & made his escape from the Jail of the said District the 29th of May last, was delivered to me the 30th July by a Mr. Bales & John Richardson of Loudoun County. He is now confined in my custody and await the further orders of your Excellency.








Sir, I have the honor to be your








  Excellency’s most obedient & most








    Humble Servant








      Colin Campbell   K. D. D. J.

Dumfries, Va., September 27th 1789

Box 2, Folder 12, accession #40287

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Commonwealth vs George Quick - Jail Escape

To His Excellency Beverly Randolph Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond

          I do humbly certify that Mr. Samuel Wood of Culpepper County hath this day delivered into my custody the body of Jett Roach who was convicted of horse stealing at the last District Court held for the District of Dumfries May last. And made his escape from the Jail of the said District on the 29th day of May.







Given under my hand this day and year aforesaid









Colin Campbell K.D.D.J.


He has committed several thefts in houses since his escape from this Jail, as will appear by a certificate in possession of Mr. Wood. He found him in the Jail of Burns County in North Carolina. Wood found his horse in Rutherford County, North Carolina in possession of Joshua Hampton. J. Roach had been branded & his ears cut for horse stealing in that State.








Colin Campbell

Dumfries, Va., September 29th 1789

Box 2, Folder 12, accession #40287

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Commonwealth vs George Quick - Jail Escape

To His Excellency Beverly Randolph Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond

       Sir,


Jett Roach who has been convicted at this District Court held in May last for horse stealing and made his escape from the Jail of the said District on the twenty-ninth day of the said month, was delivered to me last Sunday by a Mr. Samuel Wood of Culpepper County, who followed the said Roach to B------- County in North Carolina in order to recover a horse that he stole from him the Wood, Roach was in the Jail of B------ County when Wood got there, and had received punishment for theft committed there. The punishment both ears cropped and branded on both (he was whipped & pillared) he has been guilty of several thefts in the horse way in the neighbouring counties since he made his escape from this jail. I have been requested to give your Excellency this short sketch of this character by a number of gentlemen of and about this place. Therefore he now waits your Excellency’s further order. I have the honor to be your Excellency’s most obedient and most humble servant.








Colin Campbell K. D. D. J.

Dumfries, Va., October 1st 1789

Box 2, Folder 12 Accession #40287

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

John Linton Letter

         To his Excellency the Governor and the Honorable the Council of the State of Virginia


The memorial of John Linton humbly sheweth that in the year one thousand seven hundred and eighty three, your memorialist was in the nomination for the Inspector of Tobacco for the Town of Dumfries and was by the then Governor appointed one of the principal inspectors for that warehouse. That possessing the approbation of the community and being well satisfied of his capacity to execute his office. Your memorialist was induced to fix himself for a permanent residence in the Town of Dumfries by the purchase of a lot and erecting thereon buildings suitable for his family. The sum expended in which would have been laid out in lands had he not depended on enjoying the emoluments of his office during his good behavior. That he did exercise the office of inspector from the above mentioned time of his appointment (without hearing any complaints) until a nomination court held for the County of Prince William in September last, when that court thought proper to displace him unheard, and without his having had any previous notice of a charge – which conduct your memorialist humbly conceives was arbitrary and not warranted by precedent or authority; and has not only been destructive of his interest in the way above shewn but what is still more grating to him in his declining years – his good named which he hath always fairly supported is affected – Your memorialist having  then been deprived by the court of a hearing in a matter of such consequence  ___ to him, humbly prays that the charges against him if any may be brought before you, which is the only means he can devise of procuring Justice, and that unless ___ just cause be shewn to the contrary he may be reinstated in his office.








John Linton


We the subscribers merchants of Dumfries and others do hereby certify that the facts contained in the above memorial are true as we believe. Given under our hands this first of October 1789 excepting that respecting the notice not being given to Mr. Linton of which we cannot have knowledge.

A. Henderson




James Muschett

Timothy Brundege



Bernard Gallagher

James Murray




John Donnelly

Wm. Barnes




David W. Scott

Richard Scott




__ __ Trenis

Hugh Fergusson




James James

Gust. B. Campbell



Hector Alexander
Colin Campbell






Green Level, Va., October 1st 1789

Box 2, Folder 12 Accession #40287

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

William Helm letter

To his Excellency the Governor and the Honorable the Council of the State of Virginia
        Sir,


Enclosed you will find my Commission with thanks for your compliment, though beg the favour that you will not appoint me to any publick post at all for it is my wish until I can reconcile myself to lie a partisan to keep as close of publick posts as possible it is true I have made a small stroke at one of our grand party but I will promise him if he will excuse me for it I will do so no more. I have heard an old proverb that honesty is the lest policy; but I can venture to say an honest man cannot always come at justice.








From your obedient servant







      Wm. Helm – October 17th 1789

Copy of Commission enclosed

The Commonwealth of Virginia

To William Helm gentleman, Greetings:


Know you that from the special truth and confidence, which is reposed in your fidelity, courage, activity, and good conduct, our Lieutenant Governor (the Governor being absent, and having previously notified his intention of being absent to the Privy Council, and such intention having been entered on their Journals) upon the recommendation of the County Court of Prince William doth appoint you the said William Helm Captain in the Militia of the said County of Prince William to take rank as such from the 5th day of June 1787.


In testimony whereof these our letters are made patent. Witness the honorable BEVERLEY RANDOLPH, ESQUIRE, our said Lieutenant Governor, at Richmond, this 13th day of June 1787.


(Registered) T. Meriwether








(signed)
Beverley Randolph

Dumfries, Va. 1789

Box 2, Folder 12

Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

Commonwealth vs George Quick

To his Excellency Beverly Randolph Esq. Governor & Chief Magistrate of Virginia


We whose names are underwritten were present at the trial of George Quick late of the County of Loudoun, who was condemned for horse stealing at the District Court held at Dumfries, and although we were satisfied  that he had committed the fact, & that the sentence of the law could not have been different, from that which has been passed upon him, yet there appears to us such mitigating  circumstances in his case as in our opinion point him out a proper object of pardon. His youth, the great simplicity of his temper & manners, his former good character, the circumstance of his having been in this instance the dupe of an artful old knave & the means used to draw from  him that confession on which he was convicted, all strongly interested the feeling  of humanity in our minds, & prompt us now to address ourselves to your Excellency in his behalf & to solicit  for him, that mercy which we ___ ___persuaded you will take a pleasure in exercising when a youth such as this present themselves. We conceive the case of this unfortunate youth to be one _____ when the wisdom of our  constitution in vesting in the Executive a power of pardoning  offenders, & we are persuaded that the exercise of this power in the present case will be attended with no bad consequences that will give great satisfaction to many worthy citizens & will be displeasing to none. We therefore hope that this application will not be____ & that the unhappy youth may be returned to society against which he has for the first time offended.  


Edward Carter Jr.




Thos. Mason




Charles Marshall




Langhorn Dade



Ch. Simms




William Tyler



Thos Swann




John T. Mason



__ Brooke




__ Ellsey

Richard Brent




John Pope




John Love, Deputy Attorney for





The District of Dumfries

Dumfries, Va., March 12th 1790

Box 4, Folder 1

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph
Death of Col. Grayson

       Sir,


I take this early opportunity to inform you that Col. Grayson departed this life today between the hour of ten and eleven o’clock. I have the honor to be Sir. 

Your very obedient and humble servant

Thos Lee Jr.

Dumfries, Va., March 13th 1790

Box 4, Folder 1

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph
Death of Col. William Grayson

       Sir,


I find myself called upon to communicate to the Executive the very disagreeable intelligence of the death of the Honorable William Grayson, which happened at this place yesterday about eleven o’clock.








I have the honor to be








     Your obedient servant








         Alexander Henderson

Dumfries, Va., June 8th 1790

Box 4, Folder 9

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

       Honorable Sir,

The anxiety I have felt since arrested on charges exhibited by Captain William Helm has to render application to the Executive subject I conceive may have the same effect as would a formal memorial to the honorable board.


After several applications for trial & a disappointment occasioned by the indisposition of Col. Fitzgerald, every member appointed to constitute the court met in October court & in presence of the parties, examined the witnesses on both sides & took their depositions – everything appearing as set forth in my memorial which accompanied depositions taken in consequence of the advice of counsel of the 6th of November 1788, the unanimity of the court could not be doubted – unfortunately the papers intended to be forwarded to the Executive were lost in Major Brent’s Portmankau  & no copies retained.

Colonel  Fitzgerald was prevailed on to appoint another meeting which he fixed to the 15th of May when very few of the officers attended – in the afternoon I mentioned to Capt. Helm my apprehension of a disappointment, he said he did not come on that business for he had determined not to attend another meeting. I told him there was a necessity for having the business finished, he replied he had written to the Governor that he should do no more in it – I had before been informed that he enclosed his commission & desired the Court-Martial to forward it to his Excellency.

The opinion of that Court being buried in silence, he may suppose that if another trial can be obtained, his non attendance will give it an exparte appearance; but his witnesses are known & may be called upon at anytime.


Another full meeting of the officers first appointed cannot be had but in consequence of another order from the Executive therefore if it is improper to call for a certificate of the Court judgment, with the evidence on which it was founded viz. the depositions of all who were sworn on the trial taken by Commissioners appointed for that purpose. I hope those officers, or some of them, or any who could be easily convened, will be directed to proceed again without further delay. That the publick may be informed whether I had merited censure or not.

A view of the hideous garb in which the charges are dressed must shew me to be equally entitled to a speedy trial with those under criminal prosecutions.









I am with greatest respect Sir.









    Your very obedient servant









        Jesse Ewell

Dumfries, Va., August 7th 1790

Box 4, Folder 18, 

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph


Prince William County Court, August the 7th 1790. Ordered that Alexander Brown and Burr Harrison, gentlemen be recommended to his Excellency the Governor as proper persons one of whom may be appointed to execute the duties of Sheriff of this County.









Teste, Robt. Graham, Cl. Cur.

Dumfries, Va., September 7th 1790

Box 4, Folder 18

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph

       Honorable Sir,


Enclosed is an order of Prince William Court recommending me to the appointment of Sheriff. I therefore pray a commission as speedily as possible.









I am your obedient servant









  Alex Brown









    Sept. 7th 1790

Dumfries, Va., September 7th 1790

Box 5, Folder 3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Beverly Randolph


Prince William County Court, September the 7th 1790, Present, Richard Graham, Alexander Brown, Matthew Harrison, Alexander Lithgow, Bernard Hooe, Henry Washington, The Reverend Thomas Harrison and Willoughby Tebbs, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that a copy of the List of Justices &c now presented to the court be transmitted to the Executive for their inspection together with the following re-commendation.


Ordered that Philip Fitzhugh, John Brown, Richard Scott Blackburn, William Downman, Charles Tyler, John Brown (B.R.) and Charles Ewell gentlemen be recommended as proper persons to execute the duties of Justices of the peace in this County.









Teste, Robert Graham Cl Cur.

Dumfries, Va., January 29th 1791

Box 3, Folder 2

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Lee


By a late decision in the Court of Appeals the State is in possession of a large tract of land in this County known by the name of Bristoe Land. The late Mr. William Carr of this place has, ever since it was confiscated & the suit pending between the State and certain individuals, been receiving the rents. I suppose your Excellency and the Honorable the Council will appoint someone to receive the rents now due on behalf of the State as also to settle with the representatives of the late Mr. Carr. I shall if such an appointment is made be very glad to execute the business and at all times ready to receive your commands on the subject. I have the honor to be with great esteem your Excellency’s most obedient humble servant.








Thomas Lee Jr.

Dumfries, Va., 3 February 1791

Box 3, Accession #40611

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Lee

Commonwealth of Virginia vs James a Negro

 
At a Court of Oyer & Terminer held at the Court House of Prince William County on the 3rd Day of February 1791. Present Jesse Ewell, Mathew Harrison, Alexander Lithgow, Thomas Lee Sen., & John Macrae, Gentlemen Justices. 


James a Negro man slave the property of William Adie gentleman, Benjamin Coot a negro man Slave the property of John Lawson gentleman, & Peter commonly called big Peter the property of Capt. John Hedges being indicted for feloniously burglariously  entering the corn house of John Hedges & taking there out and carrying away two bushels of Indian Corn of the value of ten pence and being arraigned in open court upon their arraignment pleaded not guilty and thereupon the several witnesses against them were sworn and examined and upon consideration thereof the court are of opinion that the aforesaid James & Benjamin Coot are guilty of the said burglary & felony in the indictment said and that the said Peter is not guilty.

Therefore it is considered by the court that the said Peter be discharged out of prison & conveyed to his master and that the aforesaid James & Benjamin Coot be hanged  by the neck on the 12th day of March next between the hours of 10 & 3 o’clock until they be Dead and the court are of opinion that the aforesaid Benj. Coot is worth eighty five pounds current money & that James is also worth eighty five pounds current money which is ordered to be certified.









Teste,









      Robert Graham clerk court
Dumfries, Va., 10 February 1791

Box 3, Accession #40611

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Lee

Commonwealth of Virginia vs James a Negro

       To His Excellency the Governor and the Honorable the Council.


The petition of sundry inhabitants of the Counties of Prince William & Stafford humbly sheweth that Negro James a Slave the property of William Adie of Stafford County was lately condemned to suffer death for being convicted in stealing of corn from John Hedges, by the County Court of Prince William. And for as much as the said Negro James hath always heretofore behaved himself honestly & decently as became his station, therefore this being the first piece of ____ that he has ever been guilty of as far as has ever come to our knowledge. We beg leave to recommend him as an object of mercy in full belief that if he is now pardoned that he will never again commit assault of the like nature.








Given under our hands Feby 10th 1791

Richard Graham



William Barnes


Samuel Tebbs

Alex Lithgow



Howison Hooe Jr.

John Brown

Matthew Harrison


N. C. Hunter


Hugh Forbes

Thomas Montgomery


James Hore


William Williams

James James



Thomas Mountjoy

John  Macrae

George Brent



Travers Daniel


Travers Daniel Jr.

John Cooke



William Hereford


Daniel Carroll Brent
Jesse Ewell

From the information of the proprietor of Negro James, whom I have known for many years, concerning the character of said Negro James I am induced to join my mite in soliciting his pardon. I do it remorsefully having been one of those magistrates who sat in his trial & was compelled in the rigor of the law finding him guilty of the fact, to acquiesce in the sentence that has been passed on him.







Thomas Lee Jr.

Note on back of the letter reads – Mr. Blair will be good enough to make out a pardon for the within named Negro James.









Beverly Randolph









Feby. 21st 1791

Prince William County, Va., March 10th 1791

Box 4, Folder 1

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Lee
William Bullitt’s letter concerning Bristoe land

        Sir,


Upon the institution of the suit by Mr. Graham and others against the Commonwealth for Bristoe’s Lands in this County. The late Col. Foushee Tebbs and myself were authorized by the Assembly to receive the rents arising from the lands. Col. Tebbs from his time of life declining to act personally, and my other business not permitting me, we appointed the late Mr. William Carr and his partner Mr. Chapman of Dumfries to do the business. We were lead to this measure by their punctuality and attention to business, but more especially as they were the then agents for Mr. Bristoe. Tebbs & Chapman died and I  continued the business in the hands of Carr until his unexpected death, which happened last fall. His executors from a circumstance that seldom happens (his too great wealth) were prevented from qualifying to his will until our last court, and I have since applied to them, and they have promised in a few days to deliver me the rent ___ his account respecting their transaction. I shall then proceed to have the arrears (where they are not paid without) distrained(?) ___ so as to be able to get the business closed against the ensuing fall, when it will be my wish to decline the agency, My being better informed of the transaction respecting this business than perhaps any other, is my motive for proposing to continue in office for the present year. I wish the advice of your Excellency and the Honorable the Privy Council respecting the Tobacco in the hands of Carr’s executors. They are willing to it up, but I have declined and shall decline receiving it, until I am honored with your answer. It has been received at different periods, and generally, when of a much greater value, than it is at present. May it not be just that his estate should amount for it, at the value when received, and perhaps with interest I should have advised you earlier of the state of this business, had I not waited for the account and been deterred in some measure by a long and painful state of bad health. I have the honor to be with very great esteem your Excellency’s most obedient servant.









Cuthbert Bullitt

Dumfries, Va., March 30th 1791

Box 4, Folder 1

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Lee
List of Justices 


A List of Justices in the Commission of the Peace for the County of Prince William copying the days each were present in the several courts from August 1789 to August 1790 both inclusive. Court sat in session 6 days in August 1789, 2 days in September 1789, 2 days in October 1789, 6 days in November 1789, 2 days in December 1789, 2 days in January 1790, 2 days in February 1790, 6 days in March 1790, 3 days in April 1790, 3 days in May 1790, 4 days in June 1790, 1 day in July 1790, 6 days in August 1790
Howson Hooe – declines acting
William Tebbs – 1 day Aug 1789, 3 days Nov 1789, 1 day Dec 1789, 1 day Jan 1790, 1 day Feb 1790,3 days Mar

 

1790, 1 day Apr 1790, 1 day May 1790, 2 days Jun 1790, 1 day Aug 1790 – declines acting
Thomas Lawson – declines acting

William Carr – 2 days Aug 1789, 1 day Sep 1789, 5 days Nov 1789, 1 day Dec 1789, 1 day Jan 1790, 1 day Apr 



1790, 1 day Jun 1790

John Hooe – 3 days Aug 1789, declines acting

Lynaugh Helm – dead
William Alexander – declines acting

Jesse Ewell – 6 days Aug 1789, 2 days Sep 1789, 2 days Oct 1789, 3 days Nov 1789, 1 day Dec 1789, 1 day Jan

 1790, 2 days Mar 1790, 2 days April 1790, 2 days May 1790, 2 days Jun 1790, 1 day July 1790

John McMillian – declines Acting

John Tyler – declines acting

Alexander Brown – 3 days Nov 1789, 1 day Mar 1790, 3 days May 1790, 1 day Jun 1790, 6 days in Aug 1790, 



Sheriff
Benjamin Harrison – dead

George Graham – 4 days Aug 1789, 2 days Nov 1789, 2 days Feb 1790, 1 day Jun 1790, 1 day Jul 1790, 1 Aug 1790

Alexander Lithgow – 5 days Aug 1789, 2 days Sep 1789, 2 days Oct 1789, 5 days Nov 1789, 2 day Dec 1789,

2 days Jan 1790, 2 days Feb 1790, 5 days Mar 1790, 2 days Apr 1790, 3 days May 1790, 3 days Jun 1790, 1 day Jul 1790, 6 days Aug 1790
Mathew Harrison - 2 days Aug 1789, 2 days Sep 1789, 2 days Oct 1789, 3 days Nov 1789, 1 day Dec 1789,

2 days Jan 1790, 2 days Feb 1790, 2 days Mar 1790, 2 days Apr 1790, 2 days May 1790, 2 days Jun 1790

William Linton – Inspector

Robert Brown – Removed to Fauquier

Val. Peyton – dead

Bernard Hooe - 2 days Aug 1789, 1 days Sep 1789, 1 days Oct 1789, 1 days Nov 1789, 2 day Dec 1789,

1 days Jan 1790, 4 days Mar 1790, 1 days Apr 1790, 4 days Jun 1790, 1 day Jul 1790, 4 days Aug 1790.

John Pope – 4 days Aug 1789

William Edward Wiatt – Removed

Thomas Montgomerie – declined to qualify

Alexander Henderson – declined to qualify

Rev’d Spencer Grayson – declined to qualify
Rev’d Thos. Harrison – 2 days Aug 1789, 2 days Sep 1789, 1 day Nov 1789, 1 day Feb 1790, 2 days Mar 1790, 1

 day Apr 1790, 1 day Jun 1790, 1 day Aug 1790

Henry Washington – 1 day Aug 1789, 2 days Mar 1790

Robert H. Hooe – nothing given

Wm. Tebbs - 6 days Aug 1789, 2 days Sep 1789, 2 days Oct 1789, 2 days Nov 1789, 2 day Dec 1789, 2 days Jan 

1790, 2 days Feb 1790, 6 days Mar 1790, 1 day Apr 1790, 1 day May 1790, 4 days Jun 1790, 1 day Jul 1790, 6 days Aug 1790

John Macrae – 1 day Aug 1789, 6 days Mar 1790, 1 day May 1790, 2 days Jun 1790
Thomas Lee Sen. 6 days Aug 1789, 1 Sep 1789, 5 days Nov 1789, 2 days Dec 1789, 2 days Jan 1790, 6 Mar 1790, 3 


Apr 1790, 3 days May 1790, 4 days Jun 1790. 1 day Jul 1790, 5 days Aug 1790

At a Court Continued and held for Prince William County the seventh day of September 1790 – Present, Richard Graham, Alexander Brown, Alexander Lithgow, Mathew Harrison, and Willoughby Tebbs, Gentlemen Justices. Ordered that Philip Fitzhugh, John Brown, Richard Scott Blackburn, William Downman, Charles Tyler, John Brown, Charles Ewell gentlemen be summoned to his Excellency the Governor as proper persons to execute the office of Justices of the Peace in this County. And it is further ordered that the list of justices &c. was presented to the court to be transmitted to the Executive for their Inspection.








Teste – Robert Graham, Cl. Cur.

Dumfries, Va., 17 March 1792

Box 3, film page 0306, accession #40611

Governors Executive Papers – Lee

Commonwealth vs Benjamin Coot a Negro


At a Court called and held at the court house of Prince William County the 17th day of March 1792. Present, George Graham, Matthew Harrison gentleman, Alexander Lithgow, Thomas Lee Sen., John Macrae and Charles Ewell – Justices.


Benjamin Coot a negro man Slave the property of John Lawson gentleman, who was convicted of Felony and Burglary and condemned to die at a Court of Oyer and Terminer called and held at the Court House of the said county on the third day of February 1791 but escaped from Goal before execution could be done – upon him in pursuance of his said sentence was arraigned at the bar and thereupon the record of the proceedings formerly had against him being read it was demanded of him if he had or could say anything for himself why execution should not be done upon him in pursuance of his former sentence, he saith that he is the same Benjamin Coot in the said record mentioned, thereupon he is remanded to goal, And it is ordered that Execution of his former sentence be done upon him on Thursday the 26th day of April next between ten in the forenoon & two in the afternoon.



Absent – George Graham, gentleman


Then the court being informed of and having examined evidence as to the behavior of the aforesaid – Benjamin Coot since his escape from goal now upwards of twelve months, which appearing to be unexceptionable do order that the clerk transmit a copy of this record to the Executive with their prayer & recommendation of him to mercy. The business of the court being over the same is dissolved.









Signed, M. Harrison








A True copy Teste, Robert Graham, Cl. Court 

Dumfries, Va., 24 March 1792

Box 10 oversized, accession #40611

Governors Executive Papers – Lee

Commonwealth vs Benjamin Coot a Negro

         Dear Sir,


This will be handed you accompanied by the records of the Court of Prince William in the case of a Slave of mine who has been condemned to death by a sentence which I believe was rather occasioned by the severity of the law than the enormity of the offence. However he eluded the execution of his original sentence by making his escape from Gaol upwards of twelve months ago & being lately brought back the court were obliged to enforce the same by appointing a new day of execution but at the same time from the most ample testimony of the fellows good behavior during his absence (at Baltimore) & concerning the end of the law to have been fully answered by such proofs of reformation, the court have been induced to direct the record to be by their clerk transmitted to the Honorable the Executive with their prayer and recommendation of him to mercy.

As I am extremely anxious for the preservation of the fellow. I have taken the liberty of forwarding the papers immediately, and I flatter myself your humanity will induce you to have the matter decided as soon as possible.








I have the honor to be with great respect.









Dear Sir









    Your most obedient servant









       J. Lawson

Dumfries, Va., 21 May 1792

Box 3, Folder 3 accession #40611

Governors Executive Papers – Lee

Commonwealth vs Hugh Dowdall

         Virginia to wit: At a District Court held at Dumfries the 21st day of May 1792, Hugh Dowdall late of the Parish of Dettinger and County of Prince William labourer who stands convicted of felony was again led to the bar in custody of the keeper of the Publick Jail and thereupon the opinion of the general court being read to him in these words “Virginia to wit, at a general court held at Richmond, November 19th 1791.


The Commonwealth against Hugh Dowdall late of the Parish of Dettigen in the County of Prince William laborer, defendant, upon an adjournment from the District Court held at Dumfries.

This day came as well the attorney general as the counsel on behalf of the Defendant, who being fully heard and the transcript of the record being read and impressed. It is the opinion of the court that the judgment against the defendant is good and sufficient in law and that the plea of the said defendant in ___ of the jury’s verdict ought to be overruled which is ordered to be certified to the said District Court and it being remanded of him of any thing, for himself he had or knew to say why the court here to judgment and execution against him of and upon the premises should not now proceed he said he had nothing but what he had before said. Therefore it is considered by the court that he be hanged by the neck until he be dead and that execution of this judgment be made and done upon him the said Hugh Dowdall by the sheriff of Prince William County on Friday the twenty ninth day of June next between the hours of ten in the forenoon and two in the afternoon of the same day at the usual place of execution.







Teste, G. Brooke C.D.C.

Dumfries, Va., 23 May 1792

Box 10 oversized, accession #40611

Governors Executive Papers – Lee

         Dear Sir,


I have just seen & have signed a petition to your Excellency in behalf of the unfortunate Hugh Dowdle now under sentence of death for passing base coin. As he was committed by my warrant I beg leave to inform you that upon his examination I was reduced to doubtfulness with respect to the propriety of committing him if I could have had full confidence in the testimony of a certain Fitzsimons I should have discharged him – but that being suspicious & the presumption against Dowdle I thought he had better undergo the _eruting of a further investigation tho he might be innocent – than to be acquitted with impunity if guilty (of knowing it to be bare) – I did not attend his trial but have since heard one of his venire say that if it had not been for the reexamination of Fitzsimons before them he would have been acquitted & when he gave his voice on the presumption of his guilt he did not think it would take his life. It is said Fitzsimons was then entrusted with Dowdle’s goods (who was a pedlar) & that he has since actually run off with all his effects.

But if the unhappy criminal has been actually guilty. Has he not suffered more than adequate to the defence? To insure for several mor---- the ignoring & perturbation of mind consequent of his condemnation – to be sold of his all by the perfidy of his friend – and to be chained almost in one position to a cold floor during the extremity of the last winter – must exceed the torture of a thousand deaths. If in these circumstances life & liberty are desirable I hope he will find mercy at this extremity.







Your most obedient & humble servant. 








Jas Ewell

Dumfries, Va., 23 May 1792

Box 10 oversized, accession #40611

Governors Executive Papers – Lee

         Dear Sir,


The enclosed was left with me to be forwarded to you; & the petition mentioned therein, has I expect, been handed to you . As I was present at the trial of the unhappy person named therein whose sentence of death is to be executed on the 29th of June next. I beg leave to mention that the presumption of his guilt arose chiefly from a contradiction in the testimony of Fitzsimmons his pretended friend & partner in trade.

But admitting the prisoners guilt, that the punishment inflicted by law has not been executed on him, yet his sufferings have far exceeded the nature of his offence & should he find mercy he may yet become a useful member of society.









Your most obedient humble servant










Bertrand Ewell Jun.

Spence Grayson



Bernard Gallegher

John Cannon

George Murren



William Wyatt


Thos. Oliver

Thomas Chapman Jun.


James McDonald


Gui_ Hedges
William Smith



John Sowder


Joseph Botts

Alexander Howison


John Prince


Thomas Chapman

Richmond, Va., 11 June 1792

Box 10 oversized, accession #40611

Governors Executive Papers – Lee

         Dear Sir,


Upon reflection and examining the order of the General Court I find I was mistaken in the case of Dowdle: He was before M. Mercer and myself at the first district court at Dumfries. He was not convicted of the offence of coining base money but acquitted by the jury although the court were clearly of opinion he was guilty.


He was again found guilty of a crime of the same nature at the District Court of Dumfries at the term before the last. I can give no account of the evidence that appeared against him then as I was not there and had only to pass sentence against him the last term.






I have the honor to be with great regard Sir, Your able servant.










Richard Parker

Dumfries, Va., 12 November 1792
Box 4, Accession #40611

Governors Executive Papers – Lee

Elector to vote for President


We Charles Peyton deputy sheriff of Prince William County, William Philips sheriff of Stafford County & Joseph Thomas deputy sheriff of Fairfax County composing one entire district entitled by law to appoint an Elector to vote for a President & Vice President of the United States, do hereby certify and make known, that at an Election held on the first Monday in November, at the Court Houses of our respective counties, pursuant to law, the voters qualified to vote for an elector to chose a President & Vice President of the United States caused to be chosen one person to wit: Daniel C. Brent to represent the said district, as an Elector to vote for a President & Vice President of the United States. Given under our hands and seals this 12th day of November 1792








Chandler Peyton (Seal)









William Philips (Seal)









Joseph Thomas (Seal)

Dumfries, Va., 04 December 1792

Box 3, micro page 0070

Virginia Governors Executive Papers - Lee

          A Court Continued and held for Prince William County the 4th day of December 1792. On the motion of Bernard Hooe, sheriff of the county aforesaid to have the keys of the District Goal delivered to him by the Goaler of the District who holds his commission from the Governor and Council. The Goal for the District being also the county goal and it being enacted by the last assembly that in such case the Goaler of the County shall be the Goaler of the District. The Court determined that they had no power to act in such case.








Teste,









     Robert Graham Cl. Court

Dumfries, Va., 10 December 1792

Box 3, Folder 1, accession #40611
Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Lee

District Jailor at Dumfries

       Dear Sir,


Mr. Bernard Hoe the High Sheriff of this County concerning under a law of the last assembly, that as High Sheriff of the County, he is also Goaler of the District Goal and may be made answerable for the conduct of the District Goaler now acting as such who might be considered as his deputy and not wishing to run any risqué of being responsible for any but one of his own appointment demanded of the Goaler the keys of the Goal. They were refused and Mr. Hoe applied to the County Court to order them to be delivered to him. The Court determined that they had no powers to interfere. Mr. Hoe wishing to act up to his duty and at the same time with strict property has sent one of his deputies to Richmond hoping that as the Goaler now in possession of the keys was appointed by the governor & council under a law of the Legislature establishing District Courts which appears to have been repealed by an act of the last assembly they will take some order therein either by withdrawing their commission or referring the affair to the Legislature for their explanation. I have at the request of Mr. Hoe states the transaction to you and by a reference to the laws on this subject you will see the confusion it is in and be the better judge of the necessity of attending to it. I am, dear Sir, with great esteem your very obedient humble servant.








Thomas Lee Sr.
Dumfries, Va., 9 April 1793
Box 4, Folder #6

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Lee

Prince William County, Dumfries 9th April, 1793 – We whose names are hereunto subscribed do hereby certify that the bearer Christian bower hath been an inhabitant of this town for many years and hath conducted himself with sobriety and industry and we do believe him to be a very honest man.








John Scott, clerk








William Carr








Richard Graham 

Dumfries, Va., 14 May 1793

Box 4, Folder #6

Virginia Governors Executive Papers - Lee

District Court case of Philip Frye


At a District Court held at Dumfries the 14th day of May 1793. Philip Frye late of the Parish of Fairfax and County of Fairfax, laborer, who stands indicted of a misdemeanor, was led to the bar in custody of the keeper of the Public Goal and thereupon arraigned and pleaded not guilty to the Indictment and for his trial put himself upon God and the Country & thereupon came a jury to wit: George Chapman, John Hunter, Philip Dorrell, John Rickett, John Simpson, Thomas Sangster, Aaron Simpson, Joseph Simpson, Richard Ratcliff, Francis Copper, Jesse Moore, and William Simpson who being elected tried and sworn the truth of and upon the premises to speak and having heard the evidence upon their oath do say that the said Philip Frye is guilty of the misdemeanor aforesaid in manner and form as in the Indictment against him is alleged, and the said Philip Frye prays that judgment on the verdict aforesaid may be arrested and prayed for the following reasons 1st because it is not stated in the Indictment that the said Philip Frye did feloniously take and receive the goods therein mentioned 2nd because the jury ought to have assessed the fine which they have not done. 3rd because it is not stated in the Indictment that the principal felons or either of them, who are stated to have stolen the goods in the Indictment has been convicted thereof. 4th because the said Indictment is informed and insufficient but because the court here are not advised of their opinion on the matter of law arising on the errors in arrest of Judgment this day filed they do adjourn the same to the next General Court to be held in the City of Richmond on airscent? of the mov---- & difficulty of the case and it is ordered that the said Philip Frye may enter into a recognizance in this Court or before any two justices of the County of Prince William himself in the sum of fifty pounds and two securities in the sum of twenty five pounds each to be void on condition that the said Philip Frye do appear here on the first day of the next court and receive the Judgment of the said Court and he is remanded to Jail until he shall give such security








G. Brooke, D.D.C.

Dumfries, Va., 14 May 1793
Box 4, Folder #6

Virginia Governors Executive Papers - Lee

District Court case of George Gordon

At a District Court held at Dumfries the 14th day of May 1793. George Gordon late of the Parish of Fairfax and County of Fairfax, laborer, who stands indicted of a misdemeanor, was led to the bar in custody of the keeper of the Public Goal and thereupon arraigned and pleaded not guilty to the Indictment and for his trial put himself upon God and the Country & thereupon came a jury to wit: George Chapman, John Hunter, Philip Dorrell, John Rickett, Joseph Simpson, Thomas Sangster, Richard Ratcliffe, Jesse Moore, Francis Montgomerie, William Davis, Aaron Simpson & John Jackson who being elected tried and sworn the truth of and upon the premises to speak and having heard the evidence upon their oath do say that the said George Gordon is guilty of the misdemeanor aforesaid in manner and form as in the Indictment against him is alleged, Therefore it is considered  by the Court that the said George Gordon be remanded to Goal until he shall enter into a recognizance either in this Court or before any two justices of the County of Prince William himself in the sum of fifty pounds and two securities in the sum of twenty five pounds each to be void on condition that the said George Gordon be of good behavior for twelve months from this day. 








G. Brooke, D.D.C.
Prince William, Va., January 24th 1794

Governors Executive Papers - Lee

Edward Carter letter

Box 6, Folder 3 

To His Excellency Governor Lee, Richmond

       Dear Sir,


I again take the liberty of expressing to you my favorable sentiments of another gentlemen Mr. E. Brooke, who is about to apply to the council for the collection of the arrearages under the late law. His deportment ever since his residence here has been such as to entitle him to the approbation of all who know him. I am safe in declaring him a man of great integrity in private life, and one of qualified by education and professional experience to discharge the functions of the office with ability to success. I will cheerfully engage to enter myself as one of his pledges for the full discharge of the duties annexed to the appointment. 







With great respect I am








  Dear Sir your obedient servant








     Edward Carter

Make my love to your Lady   E.C.

Dumfries, Va., January 24th 1794

Governors Executive Papers - Lee

Thomas Blackburn letter

Box 6, Folder 3 

To His Excellency Governor Lee, Richmond

       Sir,


The bearer Mr. Edmund Brooke proposes to offer himself as a candidate for the collection of the Brigade District, under the late regulation of our legislature. Mr. Brooke tells me he has not the Honor to be personally acquainted with you – did you know him a recommendation would be quite unnecessary because you would be sensible that his character and attributes fully entitle him to the post he solicits. I have the pleasure to be well acquainted with Mr. Brooke & can assure you with the greatest truth that he is a gentleman of the best character of good connections & that I think no man has better attributes for the business he solicits.






I am with the greatest esteem & regards Dear Sir








Your most obedient servant








       T. Blackburn

Park Gate, January 24th 1794

Governors Executive Papers - Lee

Thomas Lee - Letter

Box 6, Folder 8 

To His Excellency Henry Lee Esq. Governor of Virginia, Richmond

     Sir,


My neighbour Mr. Henry Dade Hoe tells me he purposes making known to the Honorable the executive his willingness to act as Commissioner in the District under the late Law for settling with the Delinquent Sheriffs. 


I dare say, from the knowledge you have yourself of Mr. Hoe & his family, it would be unnecessary for me to say anything to you about him, but as he seems to wish it. I can, from my acquaintance with him say he is a man attentive to business, well acquainted with figures, has never been any way connected with the delinquent sheriffs of the district as their security or otherwise and is independent in his circumstances. Should he meet with the approbation of the Executive he will be able to give the most unquestionable security for the execution of the trust and I am persuaded will give the greatest satisfaction from his activity & attention to the business. I have the honor to be with the great esteem Dear Sir, Your most obedient servant.










Thomas Lee Sr.

Dumfries, Va., January 25th 1794

Henry D. Hooe letter

Box 6, Folder 3

Governors Executive Papers – Henry Lee

       Dear Sir,


I beg leave to make known to you my wish to be appointed to act as commissioner in the District of Prince William under the late law for settling with the Delinquent Sheriffs and if from our small acquaintance you should consider me a person with whom such a trust can be placed. I shall be thankful for the appointment and always acknowledge the favor all that I shall say for myself is that nothing in my power shall be wanting to promote the public good by a faithful discharge of my duty with every sentiment of esteem and respect. I have the Honor to be your Excellency’s most obedient servant.









Henry D. Hooe









25th Jan. 1794



Prince William County, January 25th 1794

Matthew Whiting Letter

Box 6, Folder 3

Governors Executive Papers – Henry Lee

       Dear Sir,


I take the liberty of introducing to you, Mr. Edmund Brooke, who is about to make application for the appointment of Collector of the Arrearages of Taxes for the Brigade District of Wht.


I am a member from a long and intimate acquaintance with this gentleman. I can with great safety recommend him as a person well qualified by his integrity and professional knowledge for the execution of the office and should it be necessary will become one of his securities for the discharge of his duty. I have the pleasure to be with great respect.








Sir, your most obedient servant









       Matthew Whiting

Fredericksburg Va., January 26th 1794
Box 6, Folder 3

Governors Executive Papers – Henry Lee

        Dear Sir,


I beg leave to introduce to your acquaintance my friend Mr. Edmund Brooke who is a candidate for the agency for the District including the County of Prince William he is a young gentleman who has been for several years in the Practice of Law and whose general knowledge of business must under most competent to execute in every instance all the duties of that office and from my knowledge of the propriety of his department in private life. I feel the most perfect confidence that his conduct will always justify any confidence which may be placed in him. Should he be fortunate enough to caperience(?) your approbation it will I know not only be flattering but especially serviceable to him on this occasion, and be assured that any mark of your countenance of him will be most greatfully acknowledged by one who is with the most perfect respect your most obedient servant.







(signature not legible  - looks like R. –rookey?)









Fredericksburg, Va. Jan. 26th 1794

Mannsfield, January 27th 1794

Mann Page Letter

Box 6, Folder 3

Governors Executive Papers – Henry Lee

       My Dear Sir,


The Bearer, Mr. Edmund Brooke is desirous of being appointed an agent to collect the arrears of taxes in Prince William County. I am well acquainted with him & can venture to recommend him as well qualified to fill the position on account of his integrity and activity.









I am Dear Sir,









   Your most obedient servant









      Mann Page

Park Gate, January 28th  1794

Governors Executive Papers - Lee

Thomas Lee - Letter

Box 6, Folder 8 

To His Excellency Henry Lee Esq. Governor of Virginia, Richmond

     Sir,


Col. Simms of Alexandria lately shewed me a memorial addressed to the Executive, that he has drawn up and had signed by several of the tenants on the land of the Commonwealth which I have been appointed to sell. I was summoned by one of the tenants on behalf of himself and the rest to attend the taking of depositions to support the claim set forth in the memorial; not conceiving it anyway connected with my duty I did not attend, but the day after the time appointed I rode over to see some of the tenants about their Replevy Bonds and found Col. Simms still engaged in taking depositions. From the information I have received admitting any of the memorialist to be possessed of a right to the claim they set up I am sure some of the signers to the memorial have not the least shadow of a title. From the cursory reading of the memorial and depositions, shewn me, there are facts stated which I am warranted to say are erroneous, and if the Executive think of acting on the memorial I hope they will let me have an opportunity of seeing both memorial depositions & collecting such information as will put the business in a fair point of view. For my own part I cannot but think if the tenants have any right to leases that a Court of Law is the proper place for them to seek redress if they are injured. The Commonwealth by selling their right and title to the land cannot in any degree weaken or lessen the tenants claim to leases. It was in a court of law that a number had their right to lease confirmed to them when the Commonwealth last ordered the land to be sold and some of the present signers to the memorial then tried and failed in proving before a jury any title to a lease and had their claims dismissed.

I have advertised the land to be sold the first Monday in May, I postponed it to that late period because at that time the land in this part of the Country has its best appearance and will be most likely to command a price equal to what I conceive its real value. The tenants have not yet taken their tobacco down, they promise to make payments so soon as they do which with what little I now have by me shall be forwarded to the treasury. I hope by March Court to have the accounts against the estates of Messrs. Bullit, Carr & Chapman in readiness to move against them. I have the honor to be Dear Sir, with great esteem Your very obedient humble servant.







Thomas Lee Sr.

February 8th 1794

Governors Executive Papers - Lee

Ewell vs Commonwealth

Box 6, Folder 7 

To the Honorable George Wythe, Judge of the High Court of Chancery


Humbly complaining your orators Charles Ewell, Alexander Compton, John Jackson, David Renoe, William Feagans, Bond Neale Brown, Jeremiah Ballenger, Alexander Ross, William Milstead, Dudley Petty, Hezekiah, Joseph Ballenger, Gustavous Scott, John Peyton Horton, Wm. Clinkscales, Margeret Foster, Catherine Davis & Benjamin Posey, tenants on the Bristows tract of land in Prince William County, Sheweth unto your Honor, that Robert Bristow late of Great Britain in or about the year 1745 being possessed of a tract of unleased land in the County of Prince William containing about seven thousand acres was desirous to settle tenants on said tract, and accordingly by his agent Colonel Henry Willis caused advertisements to be distributed and set up in different parts of the country inviting people to settle on said land which had been previously laid off into lots, containing from one hundred to one hundred fifty acres each according to the quality of the land. And promising all those who should settle on his lands leases for three lives or ninety nine years for the lots they should respectively settle on at the rent of five hundred and thirty pounds of Transfer Tobacco a lot, which advertisements were continued to be distributed and set up by Colonel Richard Blackburn who succeeded the aforesaid Colonel Henry Willis as agent for the said Robert Bristow and was never contradicted or countermanded by any of the subsequent agents of the said Bristow, but on the contrary was acknowledged by them to be valid and binding on said Bristow, and continued to encourage tenants to settle on said land on the terms mentioned in said advertisements until all the lots were settled and improved. That your orators have separately purchased from the first settlers on said lots or those claiming under them for valuable consideration, the lots on said tract which they are now respectively possessed, and were ind----  and encouraged to make such purchases from the repeated declarations and assurances of the agents of Bristow before the said land was confiscated and of the commissioners of the Commonwealth since the confiscation that the rights of those from whom they purchased were good. That the said Tract of land was confiscated until year 1779, but has remained unsold, and your orators have continued to hold & possess their respective lots paying to the Commonwealth the rent of five hundred and thirty pounds of transfer tobacco, and always expected peaceably and quietly to hold & enjoy their respective lots, according to the terms set forth on the before mentioned advertisements undisturbed by the Commonwealth or the agents of the Commonwealth; more especially as the right of some of the Tenants who put in their claims to the general court, on the return of the inquisition against the said Robert Bristow to the said Court were conf---- by said court which rights were in all respects similar to the rights claimed by your orators. All which foregoing facts are fully proved by the affidavits hereto annexed. But now so it is may it please your honor that by an act passed at last session of assembly, the Governor and Council were directed to appoint a commissioner to make sale of the said tract of land, and they have accordingly appointed Thomas Lee of Prince William County a Commissioner for that purpose, who has advertised a sale of said land to be made on the first Monday in May next and unless the just and equitable claims of your orators to leases for their respective lots on the terms & for the time specified with aforesaid advertisements are established previous to the sale they will necessarily be exposed to tedious & expensive law suits with the purchasers of said lands. The tender consideration whereof and for as much as your orators are remedy less by the strict rules of common law, and are only relievable  in this Honorable Court which has power to hear & determine the equitable claims of Citizens to confiscated property. May it please your honor to grant an injunction, ___ directed to the attorney for the Commonwealth & the aforesaid Thomas Lee to stay the sale of the lots of which your orators are respectively possessed until their claims can be heard & determined and finally to make such decree or order therein as to your honor shall seem just &c  let injunction issue to stay the sale, the plaintiffs giving security in the penalty of twenty pounds, commissions are awarded to take the examinations of witnesses – 8th of February 1794.









G. Wythe








A Copy – Teste Peter Tinsley C.H.C.C.

March 10th 1794

Governors Executive Papers – Henry Lee

Box 6, Folder 7 

Bristow Estate – Letter

To his Excellency the Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia, the memorial of Robert Bristow of Great Britain, an infant under the age of twenty one years by Richard Marshall Scott of Dumfries in the County of Prince William, attorney infact for Mary Bristow, John Ashell Bucknall and Richard Phillipson guardians of his person and estates most respectfully sheweth.


That your memorialist Robert Bristow was in the year 1779 and before that year seized and possessed of sundry tracts of land and a considerable number of slaves within the Commonwealth of Virginia concerning which proceedings in the nature of escheat and forfeiture were commenced and had, whereby as it has been supposed by some but which your memorialist cannot admit, the said tracts of land and slaves, became vested in the commonwealth, one of the said tracts of land situated in the county of Prince William, and containing between seven and eight thousand acres, and of good quality was not sold during the war but hath remained ever since the year 1779 under the management of the Commonwealth who or its agents hath received the rents and profits thereof, and a commissioner authorized and appointed in pursuance of an act of the last General Assembly of Virginia for selling the same, hath advertised the sale thereof to be on the first Monday in May next. A certain Charles Ewell and others severally claiming rights to leases for a long term of years, have obtained an injunction restraining the sale of those parcels of the said tract of land to which their claims extend till the further order of the court a copy of which bill and of the order of the court is herewith sent and thereunto your memorialist prays leave to refer – These claims apply to a large proportion of the land and the residue cannot be now sold so advantageously as they would be sold if the whole tract was sold in parcels at the same time, in consequence of the dispersed situation throughout the whole tract in which the lots are that are not subject to the aforesaid injunction. The justice of the aforesaid claims your memorialist doth not admit, and therefore expects will be satisfactorily proved to the court. Further your memorialist prays leave to state that many of the tenants on the said tract who had rights to leases for years or lives, have by various acts of waste and destruction and otherwise forfeited their rights to the same, under these circumstances it is not reasonable  to expect that the said lands will be sold for anything equal to their real value in the month of May next before which time the merits of the said injunction cannot be tried and decided nor call the tenants who have forfeited  their rights be dispossessed.  Your memorialist takes this opportunity to declare that under the treaty of peace with Great Britain and under the imperfect proceedings of escheat touching the said tract of land, he hath a right to hold and enjoy the same as his absolute property. And whether sold or not he shall take all lawful measures for recovering the same having been advised by very able counsel, a copy of whose advise was on a former occasion shown to your Excellency, that he hath a sure and good title to the said tract of land or that at all events he is entitled to the monies that shall be produced upon the sale of the same.  On this account he hath been induced to make the present application and he prays that the same may be considered and deeded. And that the proposed sale in May next may be suspended till the merits of the said injunction bill shall be heard and decided in court, and till the tenants who have forfeited their rights shall be dispossessed. And as in duly bound &c.







Richard Marshall Scott








     Richmond 10th March 1794

Park Gate, March 24th 1794

Governors Executive Papers - Lee

Thomas Lee - Letter

Box 6, Folder 8 

To His Excellency Henry Lee Esq. Governor of Virginia, Richmond

     Sir,


The letter you wrote me on the 18th ulto has been duly received. A day or two before a writ had been served on me to stay the sale of a considerable proportion of the Bristoe Land. This induced me to postpone the sale of the whole until the determination of the suit, thinking it most advantageous for the Commonwealth. I have attended several days since, to the taking of depositions by the Tennant’s Attorney. I have now to request a blank dedimus and subpoena may be shortly sent up to me for the purpose of taking some depositions on behalf of the Commonwealth. So soon as these are taken I shall do myself the honor of transmitting you as full a statement of the business as I am capable of, for the information of the Attorney General, & should it be thought necessary for me to attend for further information to him on the day of tryal I will do it. Several of the tenants inform me they have money to discharge their replevy bonds, but as their rents are in tobacco I have not thought myself authorized to receive anything else, it would facilitate the collection much if I was authorized to receive cash in lieu of the tobacco at the current market price. I have the honor to be Sir, very respectfully your very obedient servant.








Thomas Lee Sr.

Park Gate, Prince William County, January 11th 1796

Box 3, Folder 4, film page 0532, accession #40723
Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Robert Brooke

Recommendation of Militia Officers

To His Excellency Robert Brooke Esq.

     Sir,


Being a member of the Court of Prince William County, who first made the recommendation of officers to be commissioned for the second Regiment of the Militia given by the Law of 1793 to the County, and being also one who had the honor of meeting with the approbation of the court in being recommended, which subject & proceedings still remaining unconcluded and from the manner in which the court has been taxed with connivance & partiality in their proceedings by sundry memorialist to the Honorable the Executive, I feel myself as a member of that court & as an individual called on to support that character which has thus been attacked. I hope and trust, Sir, from your candor, that this letter may be laid before that tribunal who investigated the subject matter of the memorial. As a magistrate & a man I equally revolt at being governed by principles such as have been attributed to me among other members of the Court before alluded to. That the Court proceeded in fairness I beg leave to subjoin from the records the manner of their conducting the business & as to myself I beg to leave to state my construction of the law, which has governed me in my conduct, resulting from such a view and consideration of the subject as I gave it and which will ever be the governing principal of my actions and not such unworthy motives as are pleased to be annexed to them. The Law of 1792 entitled An Act for regulating the Militia of the Commonwealth in the fifth section directs the Officers to be Commissioned for the Regiments given by that Act, to the respective Counties, to be recommended by the Courts from the Militia Officers then holding Commissioners by grades & seniorities making use of the authoritative word shall. This Law was complied with by the Court of Prince William, previous to the meetings of the Assembly of 1793, and the Officers holding Commissioners above the number necessary to fill the active posts carved out by that Law became comprised under the sixth section of the same Law, as supernumeraries, and as expressed in said section may be recommended by the respective County and Corporation Courts to supply vacancies, without either in this, the preceding clause, or any other that I could discover, having the most distant blush or looking forward to any future original appointments for these supernumeraries, indeed not ever saying that the courts should be bound down to the unequivocal recommendation of them in supplying vacancies, of course in my mind leaving it on the accustomed broad bases and constitutional ground of the Courts recommending in future those characters, when such a duty should devolve upon them, as they in their judgment might think the fittest from the community at large. The amendatory Law passed in 1793 has nothing repealing on this subject in any part of it so far as respects those counties that had acted upon the preceding Law, on the contrary the first section of the Law, which with the following section only has reference to the preceding Law, expressly states “that whereas many county and Corporation Courts have failed &c” & in the second section still keeping in view the defaulting counties directs that the several county & corporation courts shall &c” nothing in either of these clauses or any other in this Law directs how the additional Regiment given by the 16th section shall be officered, in this instance also leaving it on the constitutional ground before alluded to. Having thus briefly stated to your Excellency my reasoning on and construction of the Law I must observe that it has appeared strange to me that in issuing the commissions a different decision should be given on the same Law in different counties. I am warranted in this observation by the commissions being issued on the recommendation of the Court of Fauquier & as General Blackwell has informed me in other Counties who had not acted on the Militia Law until after the second and amendatory Law was passed; That County, to my knowledge, then recommended from the character of their county at large, without having any reference to the directions of the Law of 1792 respecting the officering the first Regiment, a Remonstrance was sent to the Executive by the old Militia Officers, notwithstanding which commissions have long ago come up for those recommended by that court, and the very desirable situation of the Militia Law being carried into effect has taken place in that County whilst in this it remains in confusion and a bone of contest and animosity  existing in its place. So desirous am I to see our Militia Law attended to and carried into effect as also to see all grounds for animosity removed from among the Citizens of the County where I reside that should your Excellency and the council still continue to deem it a requisite of the Law that the supernumeraries should in the first place be commissioned for the additional regiment I pledge myself to submit to that opinion, hoping that it will be so plainly stated to the Court that no misconstruction of your meaning may take place by the interference of the officers already holding commissions in the Regiments under the Law of 1792, and who insist upon a  right of rising in the Regiment now to be officered.

From the last proceedings of the Court in this business the necessity of their being a speedy determination, so that commissions may issue, will be self evident. The Court has there divided the county into two districts and ascertains which district shall compose the 36th Regiment and which the additional, so that until this last regiment is officered the Militia will be at large without any control. I have the honor to be with all due respect.







Your Excellency’s most obedient Humble Servant.










Thomas Lee 
Dumfries, Prince William County, May 17th 1796

Box 3, Folder 11, accession #40723

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Robert Brooke

Escape of Charles Bruster from District Jail

To His Excellency Robert Brooke Esq.

     Sir,


Agreeable to an order of the District Court held at this place October last. I informed you by post of the escape of a certain Charles Bruster, who was committed to my Goal last September from the corporation of Alexandria for felony, & on the 18th August last broke Goal; but have not received the scrip of a pen from you, there for I have taken this opportunity by post again to describe the person of said Bruster to you. He is a man of about 30 years of age 5 feet 8 or 9 inches high, brown hair tied, had on when he broke Goal a chocolate cullered coat, fine black hat, shirt of Irish linning ruffled stripe mastoal(?). Nankean breeches, white cotton stockings, & black leather shoes tied with black fissittin (?) I hope you will receive this letter , & inform how I am to proceed.






I am with esteem your very humble servant








George Lane D.S. 
      & Goaler of P. Wm. County

Dumfries, Prince William County, June 3rd  1796

Box 3, Folder 7, accession #40723

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Robert Brooke

Commonwealth vs Dick

To His Excellency Robert Brooke Esq.


At a Court of Oyer & Terminer called & held at the Court House of Prince William County on Friday the third day of June 1796 for the trial of a Mulatto Slave named Dick for Felony. Present, Jesse Ewell, Alexander Lithgow, William Barnes, John Lawson & James Smith, Gentlemen Justices.


The said dick a mulatto man Slave belonging to John Macrae gentleman, being indicted of Felony for Feloniously and burglariously breaking & entering the warehouse of James & George Deneale, and four barrels of wheat flour of the value of ten pounds, and one barrel of kiln Indian meal of the value of forty shillings, the property of the said James & George Deneale from the said warehouse feloniously & burglariously stealing, taking & carrying away, and being arraigned in open court upon his arraignment pleaded not guilty, and thereupon the several witnesses against him were sworn and examined, and upon consideration thereof the court are unanimously of opinion that the said Dick is guilty of the felony aforesaid. Therefore It is considered by the Court that the said Dick (he not being entitled to the benefit of clergy having had it extended to him on a former conviction of grand larceny) be hanged on Saturday the ninth day of July next between the hours of Ten O’clock in the forenoon and two o’clock in the afternoon by the neck until he be dead & the court are of opinion that the said Dick is worth three hundred & seventy dollars current money which is ordered to be certified.





The business of the court being over the same is dissolved.








Jesse Ewell



A Copy Teste – John Williams C.C. P. W. County
Dumfries, Prince William County, June 25th 1796

Box 3, Folder 7, accession #40723

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Robert Brooke

Commonwealth vs Dick

To His Excellency Robert Brooke Esq.

        Sir,

Where the life of a fellow creature is involved, & at a time too when the general sentiment sanctions the opinion, that in all offences except murder the punishment is out of all proportion to the crime; more officially when applied to Slaves. I feel a confidence little short of absolute certainty, that your liberality & real for equal rights, will on this awful occasion induce you to intend your mercy, (that darling attribute of the duty) to a man whose life the tyranny of our laws have brought into jeopardy.

I am therefore Sir to solicit your pardon for a Slave of mine named Dick under condemnation by the County Court of Prince William. The circumstances (which I shall briefly relate) your humanity will weigh with grains of allowance. 


It came out on tryal, that there were four concerned in breaking the granary of Messrs. James & George Deneale (to wit) Phill, Anthony Kimbal, Dick & Moses & stealing thence, three barrels of flour & one of kiln dry’d meal.
The testimony adduced against Dick was depraved & perhaps illegal for the following reasons.
First, Phil, was selected as a witness & from his own confession was the actual breaker of the house & was moreover perjured being sworn to tell the whole truth & it has since come to light that he & Moses concealed two barrels of flour in my hay stack, which were stolen as above mentioned. Jury was not an approver. Secondly Tony Kendal (another witness) a free mulatto was examined on oath before a single Magistrate, & upon the tryal of Dick, his testimony was materially different, so much so that he was committed for perjury but escaped the punishment due for his offence by agreeing to remove out of the neighbourhood & this by special favour of the Court. It also appeared that Tony was as active as Dick in this affair, & therefore is not he an approver. In addition to the above  facts Phill acknowledged that he came to my house & waked Dick from his bed about two o’clock at night & that he brought with him the cutter of a plough, with which he broke the house. Upon the whole it appears evidently to my mind & to all who were present at the tryal that Phill was the prime mover of this villaing. 

If however, you should deem the above statement incorrect, or partial, Messrs. Deneale & others will readily certify the facts.  An should you think this form irregular I entrust your mercy & direction how to proceed, for this infatuated wretch that I may endeavor to satisfy you how far he merits your clemency. 

With the greatest respect 
I am your most obedient and very humble servant

John Macrae

Added at the bottom of the page – He robbed me some time ago of money for which he suffered the punishment of burning & whipping – except for this circumstance the court here inclined to favor him. Moses precisely in the situation of Dick (the burning &c. excepted,) was acquitted. Dick is sentenced to be hanged the first Saturday in July.










J.M.

Also written on the bottom (apparently by the Governor) “ On the subject of a pardon for Negro Dick – reprieved for two weeks”

Dumfries, Prince William County, July 9th 1796

Box 3, Folder 7, accession #40723

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Robert Brooke

Commonwealth vs Dick

       To His Excellency Robert Brooke Esq. Governor of Virginia. The petition of John Macrae & others hereto humbly sheweth, that resting confidently on your mercy & benevolence your petitioners beg leave to address you in favour of a mulatto man slave the property of J. Macrae named Dick who is under condemnation & sentenced to be hanged on Saturday the ninth day of July for burglary. Your petitioners in cases of this nature cannot but remark that the punishment is greatly disproportioned to the offence & that except for the powers vested in your Excellency of granting pardon much injustice sanctioned too by our laws would necessarily be committed. In the case then of Dick (although before allowed the benefit of clergy) your petitioner’s think him hardly circumstanced & with hearts fought with compassion recommended him to your mercy. He has scarcely arrived at manhood & at that tender age untaught by experience inconsiderate of consequences & when nature herself inclines to goodness & pleasurable  vice even those whole morals have been the best guarded by example & instruction often stray or rush into circumstances that claim the tear of pity. What then could reasonably be expected from an untaught Slave. The infinite disparity between such terrible punishment & petty larceny is now so clearly seen & detested that a reform of our penal laws is –outly to be wished for, indeed from a late bill (greatly to the honour of the mover) & to the joy of every benevolent heart your petitioners are taught to believe that the reform contemplated will be adopted in our legislature at their next session, so that perhaps Dick will be the last victim offered at the Bloody alters of the present code. Your petitioners therefore commit him into your hands & no doubt the same spirit of philanthropy will operate on your mind which gave use to the forgoing reflections. Under these impressions we claim your indulgence & in the character of Chief Magistrate we invoke your pardon & forgiveness for this unfortunate man. Your making our wishes will call forth our warmest acknowledgments & as in duty bound shall ever pray.
Alexander Lithgow




John Macrae

James Deneale





John Williams
Timothy Brundige




G. Deneale

David Boyle





Edward Duvall

Richard Tomlin





James James

William Dunnington




Mango M. Hancock

Jesse Ewell Sen.





Hector Alexander

J. Lawson





John Muschett

Wm. Barnes





Charles Tyler

George Lane





Arrenton Wickliffe

[ The front or envelope reads – Dumfries Va. – post paid 20 To Robert Brooke Esquire, Governor of Virginia – Also written on the front – “This letter contains a petition in favor of a man condemned to be hanged on Saturday – it is therefore hoped the post-master will send it to the Governor immediately, or it will be too late.]
(Note - Dick was pardoned July 9th 1796 – His punishment is not known)

Mathew Anderson Jail Escape

Dumfries District Court, 10 October 1799

Box 5, Folder 3

Governor James Wood


Ordered that the keeper of the Public Gaol of the District do certify to the Executive the escape of Matthew Anderson who stands indicted for horse stealing; specifying the time & manner of his escape together with a description of his person.









A Copy – Teste J. Lawson C.D.C.


In conformity to the annexed order of the Dumfries District Court. I George Lane, Deputy Sheriff & Jailor of the County of Prince William do hereby certify, that Matthew Anderson a prisoner who was indicted for horse stealing & confined in the jail of  the said County, did on the 27th day of September 1799 about three hours before day make his escape from the Jail of the said County by boring through the ceiling of his room & then through the roof with a screw auger & by tying his blankets together made his way down. Said Anderson is spare made, about six feet high, a little pitted with the small pox, grey eyes, long brown straight hair, speaks bold & confident, fair skin & I suppose him to be about thirty five years of age, had on when he broke jail, a wool hat, grey cloth coat, striped swansdown jacket, striped dark elastic overalls, & shoes much worn. 

Witness my hand this 27th Nov 1799.

Geo. Lane, D.S. & Jailor

of Prince William County

Fredericksburg, Va., December 19th 1799

Box 1, Folder 1, Accession #40936, RG-3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Monroe

        Sir,

Since my return home from Richmond I have received a letter from Col. Thos Lee in answer to one I wrote him from Richmond respecting the suit Bristoe vs the Commonwealth, the following is a copy of his letter to me. “I have received your favor from Richmond your former letter is now come to hand: When I was in Richmond in May last I gave the Governor all the information I was possessed of on the subject you have written about. This was done in writing which I presume he must have mislaid: however it was to this subject: the names of the commissioners appointed by the British Government to ascertain the value of the lands belonging to the refugees & confiscated during the American Revolution I have never been able to learn – their secretary’s name was Robert McKurgie – the names of the commissioners I presume might be found out by reference to a court calendar for the years 1783, 4, or 5. If that could not be done as it is possible that the commissioners and secretary may be dead or not now residing in the city f London we attached copy of the payment for the confiscated lands to the widow or heirs if Robert Bristoe in Virginia I suppose might be had from the records of the commissioners which no doubt is in some publick office in the city of London. I hope that information will be sufficient to enable the governor to take the necessary steps to process the evidence. I think it will be necessary to employ an agent in London to procure the necessary Testimony. The object of the controversy is considerable. I think I mentioned to you as a fit agent Mr. John Reynolds formerly of Tappahannock now in London as a proper agent.








I am very respectfully









Sir, your most obedient servant









John Minor, Jr.

Dumfries, Va., May 1800

Box 1, Folder 11, Accession #40936
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Petition in favor of Edmund Foster – was rejected by the Governor Monroe

To his Excellency James Monroe, governor of the commonwealth of Virginia. We whose names are hereunto signed beg leave to represent that Edmund Foster has been convicted during the present District Court of Dumfries for Horse Stealing and sentenced to undergo a Confinement in the Penitentiary House of two years and one day. That being present at the trial and having heard the same, we do consider him as a proper object for a pardon and recommend him as such to your Excellency.

Thomas Swann


Thomas T. Jones


Thomas Neale

Samuel Davis


John Davis


William Davis

Jacob Ridenour


Ludwick Shule?


David James

A---la Davis


Dixon Robinson


Thos. Lawson

Thomas Harrison


Charles Allen


Thomas Cooper

John Watson

Dumfries, Va., May 1800

Box 1, Folder 12, Accession #40936

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Monroe

Petition in favor of Edmund Foster – was rejected by the Governor

(This petition was rejected by Governor Monroe)

To his Excellency James Monroe, Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia. We whose names are hereunto signed beg leave to represent to your Excellency that Edmund Foster has been convicted during the present District Court of Dumfries, for Horse Stealing and sentenced to undergo a Confinement in the Penitentiary House of two years and one day. Having resided for several years in this neighbourhood in which the said Foster has lived, we take the liberty of stating that although he has been convicted of the above mentioned offence he has heretofore supported a character free from blemish, and from his youth and our knowledge if his character and conduct heretofore we incline to believe that if your Excellency will pardon him, he will become an useful member of society. We therefore recommend the said Edmond Foster to your Excellency as a fit object for a pardon and hope your Excellency will grant him the favor. That being present at the trial and having heard the same, we do consider him as a proper object for a pardon and recommend him as such to your Excellency.

Prince William County, May 1800

William Cundiff



Griffin Matthews


George Timmille

Garner Fortune



Cornelius Gaines


Colin Campbell

William Robinson


William Brown


George Brett

Richard Newman



Henry Jordan


Thomas Herndon

William Hampton


Presley Wigginton

Thomas Newman

Britton Sanders



Jas Newman


John Sanders

Charles Jordan



James Legg


Robert Latham

Hinson Garner



Leonard Brasfield

Walter Warder

Benjamin Skinner


John McCormick


James Beatty

Lewis Blackwell



William Reno


William Robinson

Benjamin Dilley



John Cox


James Jackson

James Graham



John Barnett


Nick Peers

Alexander Lee



Robertson Grey


John Ball

(signature not legible)


William - -ny


James Green

Moses Owens



Nathan _ _ eighley

W. _. Johnson

James _ _ agin



Leatham Leagin


Thomas Sparks

George Robinson



George Chapman


Joshua Owens

William Milton Jun.


Aaron Caton


William Aliff

John Dawkins



Isaac Faedgan


Isaac Cundiff

Amos Hawley



Enoch Hoff


Edward B. Jewell

Richard A. Oden



Aaron Chapman


Elyah Graham

Bryan Y. Cundiff



James Hankes


-----am Leary

Eli Newman



James Herndon


George Delgarne?

George Rogers



Richard B. Alexander

Lewis B. Whiting

William Hanes



John King


Obed. Harris

James Clark



John Ellis


Thomas Bristo

William Burnett



Craven Horton


Alex _______

Wm. Waddell



Reuben George


Redmon Grigsby

Andrew _ _ on



John Loach?


John Cloe

Thomas Mount



Joe Moore


Thomas Mount

Elijah Legg



Sam Barber


A. M. Monday

Robert Petty



George Legg


James Brown

David Aliff



Uriah Dunaway


John Collice

William Dung---



George Collice


Asel Lee

Fielding Marley



James Ellis


John Fulton

Hugh Glansey



Joseph Ellis


William Carrico

John McClanahan


Wm. Williams


T. Love

Craven Maddox



Peter Owens Jun.


William Davis

Enoch Calvert



William Maddox


James Bell

Enoch Foley



Thomas Leach


Dixon Robinson

Dumfries, Va., May 21st 1800

Box 1, Folder 12, Accession #40936
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        Sir,


Yours of the 1st instant I received some few days ago and should have answered the same sooner, had not some few of those fifty stand of arms been missing which was therein mentioned, however I can inform your Excellency that they are collected & deposited in this place subject to your further orders as to my giving a particular description of their situation I cannot well do it this far I can venture to report, take them in & they are the worse set of arms I ever see, they are not in a worse situation then when brought here & satisfied I am that three fourths of them are not worth repairing.





With respect & esteem I am Sir your obedient servant








Willoughby Tebbs

Dumfries District Court 10 October 1800

Box 4, Folder 12, Accession #40936

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Monroe


It appearing to the Court that Henry Howes who stands Indicted at this term for larceny has escaped from the Goal of Fairfax County, it is ordered that the same be certified to the Executive and that the Court here have reasons to believe the said Howes has gone to the State of Kentucky.








Teste
J. Lawson D.C.

Dumfries District Court 27 October 1800

Box 4, Folder 12, Accession #40936
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It appearing to the Court that Thomas Otway and John Pigot who were severally ordered by the Court of Hustings of Alexandria to be sent to this Court for trial on charge of Felony have severally escaped from the said Goal. It is ordered that the same be certified to the Executive.








Teste
J. Lawson D.C.

Dumfries, Va., May 27st 1801

Box 4, Folder 2, Accession #40936

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Monroe 

To his Excellency Governor Monroe, Richmond

       Sir,


At the present time at this place Abraham McDaniel was indicted for the murder of one James Billingsby. The Jury found him guilty of volunteer manslaughter, and fixed the term of his imprisonment to four years; and the court have this day passed sentence upon him, and adjudged him to solitary confinement for one third of that time – Viz: 483 days. The verdict may be regarded as rather favourable, for although the deadly blow was not given with any other weapon than the fist. The deceased  had not struck, and was evidently not upon his guard not expecting the blow when given.


The enclosed petition was put into my hands by the wife of the prisoner. How for the statement it contains may be true I am not informed – but I could not refuse to transmit it to you.






I am with due respect






Sir, Your most obedient servant






P. _ Tucker (this was Judge Tucker)

Dumfries, Va., December 7th 1801

Box 5, Folder 3, Accession #40936, RG3
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To his Excellency Governor Monroe, Richmond


At a Court held for Prince William County the 7th day of December 1801. An Inquisition taken before one of the Coroners of this County upon the body of Sarah a negro woman late the property of Isaac Farrow on the 7th day of November 1801 having been returned to this court and the said Farrow who was by the said inquisition found to have murdered the said Sarah having been committed to the Jail of this County for the said murder and to take his trial therefore according to Law by warrant under the hand and seal of James Ewell gentleman a Justice of the peace for the said County and he the said Farrow having escaped from the custody of the officer to whose custody he was committed as appears by the said warrant and the return thereon now among the files of the Clerk of the County & this Court to whose Jurisdiction the examination of the offender belongs having considered the premises doth order that the foregoing facts be certified to the Executive of this State in order to the adoption of such measures as may be devised for bringing the said Farrow to Public Justice and it is further ordered that the clerk of this County do forthwith transmit to the said Executive the aforesaid certificate.








Teste
John Williams, Cl. Cur.

Supr. Office, December 18th 1801
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To his Excellency Governor Monroe, Richmond

On subject of the collection of tax on Bristoe Estate

        Sir,


Enclosed I do myself the honor to send you a letter of the Collector of the District Tax in the County of Prince William relating to the tax on the Bristoe Estate and will thank you for that note to Mr. Lee the agent it may be thought proper. The District Tax Law exempts from tax the property which will be freely exempt by any law of note. The estate in question I suppose does not come under the exemption, it being property of a private nature, although in doubt as to ownership, and if the district tax reverts against the State, the profits will of course be payable to the other party. I deem it proper to present the subject to your consideration, confident that it will be candidly considered and that such measures will be directed as they appear proper. I suppose from what is said in the letter that Mr. Lee is in? for the tax if directed to pay it. The amount appears by the Collector’s Account to be $95.94.
I have the honor to be with great respect Sir,

Edward Carrington

Virginia High Court of Chancery, December 31st 1801
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Robert Bristoe of Great Britain an infant by Richard M. Scott of Virginia – Plaintiff

The Attorney General, Treasurer, Auditor of Public Accounts & Thomas Lee commissioner – Defendant


The bill in the suit above mentioned states that Robert Bristoe departed this life in 1776 leaving the plaintiff an infant about two years old, to whom he devised, with other property in Virginia, 7500 acres of land in the county of Prince William. That the inquisition taken before Henry Peyton, Sheriff of Prince William, is untrue and defective: that the plaintiff’s right is not barred or concluded thereby, as devisee of his father, because, first, Robert Bristoe in the inquest mentioned was not the plaintiff in this suit who on the 19th day of April in 1775, had not any right to the lands therein mentioned, his father being then alive, by whose will only, the plaintiff’s title commenced, secondly Robert Bristoe in the inquest mentioned is therein stated to have been in existence about thirty years before the year 1779, Thirdly the said Robert Bristoe in the same inquest mentioned is stated to be the owner of the said lands in the year 1779 when the inquisition was taken, when in truth he had been dead several years. Fourthly the said Robert Bristoe is found never to have conveyed the said lands to any one, when in truth by his last will, he had conveyed them to the plaintiff and then dead. Fifthly almost the whole of the said lands were possessed by tenants having leases or promises of leases, and had been so for many years, prior to the year 1779, and none of these tenants by leases are named, nor the several tenements described in the said inquisition. Sixthly the inquisition does not find expressly that the Commonwealth hath a right to the said lands but leaves it to be inferred or not that in the year 1783 a treaty of peace was made between Great Britain and the United States, the benefit of which particularly of the fifth and sixth articles, in protesting the right and title which the plaintiff had when it was made, is prayed to be extended to this case, that the Governor with the advice of the council, in pursuance of an Act of the General Assembly, passed in the year 1793, has appointed the defendant Thomas Lee, a commissioner for selling the said land, and prays that the sale may be inhibited, and for general relief. To this bill Robert Brooke esquire late Attorney General, Jaquolin Ambler late treasurer, John Pendleton late auditor for public accounts, and Thomas Lee, having put in their answers. The defendant Thomas Lee in his answer states that he is a stranger to most of the facts set forth in the bill. He submits to the court whether if the facts stated in the bill be true, they furnish any just cause of application to the court; that the plaintiff does not pretend that he was not at the time of the inquisition was taken, a British subject that the informalities in the inquisition, thou, they might be true, have availed the plaintiff as common law cannot entitle him to the interference of a court of equity; that the Court will not let in unimportant legal objection, to destroy the inquisition, which would have been as strictly right if it had escheated the lands as property of the plaintiff, as of his father, merely to give the plaintiff the benefit of the treaty of peace made long after; that in the belief of the defendant, the full value of the land of said Robert Bristoe in the county of Prince William, which was escheated, has been paid by the British Government to the plaintiff’s mother, as his guardian: Admits that the land in dispute is principally in the possession of tenants, some of whom appear in the General Court upon the return of the inquisition and put in their claims, which were decided on, and that he has collected rents. The answer of Mr. Pendleton merely states the payments made into the public treasurer, arising from the sale of the estate of the late Robert Bristoe, in the county of Gloucester, and on account of the rents of the Prince William estate. The answer of Mr. Ambler states only the payments made by the defendant Lee on account of the rents of the Prince William lands. Mr. Brook by his answer, neither admits nor denies that facts stated in the bill and refers to the answer of the other defendants to which answers the plaintiff has replied generally, and in the cause now stands for hearing.









Peter Tinsley

Richmond, Va., January 23, 1802
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By the Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia – A Proclamation


Whereas it appears to the Executive that Isaac Farrow, charged with murder, hath escaped from the Jail of the County of Prince William; and that Jacob Hersher alias John Rife, indicted for forgery, hath escaped from the jail of the district of Winchester. I have therefore thought fit, with advice of the Council of State, to issue this Proclamation, hereby enjoining all officers civil and military, and exhorting the good people of this Commonwealth, to use their best endeavors to apprehend and convey to the jails from which they respectively escaped the said Isaac Farrow and Jacob Hersher, alias John Rife, that they may be dealt with as the law directs.


Given under my hand as Governor, with the Seal of the Commonwealth annexed, at Richmond this 23rd day of January 1802 and of the Commonwealth the twenty sixth.









James Monroe


The above Jacob Hersher is about 45 years of age, five feet 6 inches high, black hair, big eyes, round shoulders, understands the German and English languages very well, had on when he made his escape a coarse linen hunting shirt, one fine linen shirt, one pair of country linen overalls, one pair of shoes and an old hat.

Certified under my hand this 15th October 1801




Edward Power, Jailor

Richmond, Va., 13 March 1802
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       Sir, 


Mr. Lee agent or escheator for the Commonwealth in the County of Prince William requested me to aid the Attorney General in sustaining the right of the Commonwealth against the claims of one Bristoe to a tract of land in the County of Prince William, which escheated to the Commonwealth. I have accordingly done all I could to promote the interest of the Commonwealth and mean to continue my exertions, particularly as I am informed by the Attorney General that it is the wish of the Executive that I should do so – But I beg leave to inform the Executive that I have yet received no fee in this case – indeed I have never before asked for one. Those years ago a Commission was issued to take some depositions in London which was thought important, and the Executive undertook to have their taken and I have heard did send over the Commissioners for that purpose but the depositions have not yet been taken. If the Executive has not already an Agent in London to attend to the business I beg leave to mention Mr. John Reynolds late of Tappahannock Irvin, American Counsel now at London as a fit person to discharge the Trust.







I am Sir very respectfully








Your most obedient servant








John Minor

Dumfries, Va., 22 May 1802
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(He was pardoned by the Governor 26 May 1802)

To His Excellency James Monroe Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond

      Sir,


Amongst the Criminals that have been convicted this term is one John Hair, a young man under twenty two years of age. He confessed his guilt and the jury have directed him to be confined in the penitentiary house one year, the lowest time they could confine him for grand larceny, which is his offence. He appears to us, and we have been assured his sincerity and determination  to lead a new life. He has made some very important discoveries against a set of atrocious rogues who have been ordered to be prosecuted and it is believed through him many villains may be brought to punishment was he to receive a pardon from the Executive which we strongly recommend, convinced it will be of considerable advantage to the community. Upon various examinations he was consistent with himself and his relations corroborated by other testimony and strong circumstances so that as far as we can pledge ourselves on the propriety of pardoning him. We wish the pardon to be made out and sent immediately that he may when brought up to receive sentence be enabled to plead it, and when he is at liberty he may make other discoveries before the rising at the court we have the honor to be your 

Excellency’s Humble Servants

Richard Parker

Arch. Stuart

Washington, June 3rd  1802
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Insurgent Negroes
        Dear Sir,


I observe that the resolution of the legislature of Virginia of January 23, in desiring us to look out for some proper place to which insurgent negroes may be sent expresses a preference of the continent of Africa or some of the Spanish or Portuguese settlements in South America: in which preference, and especially as to the former, I entirely concur on looking towards Africa for out object, the British establishment at Sierra Leone at once presents itself. You know that the establishment was undertaken by a private company and was first suggested by the suffering state of the blacks who were carried over to England during the Revolutionary War, and who were perishing with want and misery in the streets of London. A number of benevolent persons subscribed for the establishment of a company who might carry these people to the coast of Africa, and there employ them usefully for themselves and indemnify the company by commercial operations. Sierra Leone was fixed on as the place, the blacks then in England were carried thither and a vessel or vessels sent to Nova Scotia which carried to the same place the blacks who had gone to that country. The settlement is consequently composed of negroes formerly inhabitants if the southern states of our union, having asked a conversation on this subject with Mr. Thornton, the British Charges des Affairs here, he informs me the establishment is prosperous and he thinks there will be no objection on the part of the company to receive blacks from us, not of the character of common felons, but guilty of insurgency only, provided they are sent as free persons, the principles of their institution admitting no slavery among them. I propose therefore, if it meets your approbation, to write to Mr. King our minister in London, to propose the matter to the Sierra Leone Company who are residents in London, and if leave can be obtained to send black insurgents there, to enquire further whether the regulations of the place would permit us to carry or take there any mercantile objects which by affording some commercial profit might defray the expenses of the transportation. As soon as I can be favored, with your (Governor Monroe) sentiments on this proposition and your approbation of it, I will write to Mr. King that we may have the matter firmly arranged. Should any mercantile operation be permitted to be continued with the transportation of these persons so as to lessen or to pay the expense, it might become eligible to make that the asylum for the other description also, to wit the freed negroes and persons of colour. If not permitted, so distant a colonization of them would perhaps thought too expensive, but while we are ascertaining this point we may be making enquiry as to what other suitable places may be found in the West Indies, or the Southern Continent of the Americas, so as to have some other resource provided if the one most desirable should be unattainable. In looking out for another place we should prefer placing them with whatever power is least likely to become an enemy, and to use the knowledge of these exiles in predatory expeditions against us, Portugal and Holland could be of this character, but I wish to have your sentiments on both benches of the subject before I commit it by any actual steps. Accept assurances of my affectionate high esteem and respect.








Thomas Jefferson

Dumfries, Va., June 25th 1802
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        Sir,


Benjamin Hough Canby a person charged with murder and committed for further trial by an examining court held for the County of Loudoun in January last was held at the last term of the District Court in consequence of the failure of the persons whose names the clerk mention at the foot of this letter to attend and give evidence for the commonwealth, and at the next term he will be discharged for want of their testimony unless means can be covered of bringing them here. They are without property and too infirm to come otherwise than in a carriage. The old man besides his other afflictions I believe is blind.


Presuming that under these circumstances the Executive would see cause to authorize the proper office to hire a carriage & to pay their way under an assurance of being reimbursed out of the contingent fund. I pray a postponement of the trial & had a Capias ordered against them so as to enable the Sheriff to bring them even against their will. He is to be obliged therefore to bring them if means be furnished him. If an order ___ taken in this case begs the government, notice of it had better be transmitted to me that I may cooperate in contacting & sending the process.



Jacob Tawner & Elizabeth his Wife







With much respect I am your humble servant.








Benjamin Botts, attorney for 

for the Commonwealth in the

District Court of Dumfries

Dumfries, Va., 5 July 1802
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Nominations for Sheriff of Prince William County


At a Court held for Prince William County the 5th day of July 1802. Charles Tyler, Charles Ewell and William Barnes are nominated as proper persons to execute the office of Sheriff in this County.








Teste
John Williams Cl. Cur.

Dumfries, Va. - 29 May 1802

Dumfries District Court – John Butler

William H. Cabell – Governors papers
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John Butler late of the Parish of Cameron and County of Loudoun, laborer, who stands convicted of horse stealing was again led to the bar in custody of the keeper of the public gaol and thereupon it being demanded of him if anything he had or knew to say why the court here to judgment and execution should not proceed, and nothing being offered or alleged in delay of judgment. It is considered by the court that the said John Butler be imprisoned in the public gaol & penitentiary house of this Commonwealth for the term of five years and six months the period by the jurors in their verdict ascertained. And that he be kept in a solitary cell in the said gaol and penitentiary house on low and coarse diet for the space of one year. And it is ordered that the Sheriff of Prince William County do as soon as possible remove & safely convey the said John Butler from the gaol of this District to the said gaol and penitentiary house therein to be imprisoned & treated in the manner prescribed by the Act entitled “An Act to amend the penal laws of this Commonwealth. And in pursuance of the said Act the Court here certify that on the trial it appeared that the said John Butler was a man of bad character and notoriously reputed a horse thief which is ordered to be certified to the inspector of the said gaol & penitentiary house. And thereupon he is remanded to gaol.









Teste,










J. Lawson C.D.C.

Dumfries, Va. – 2 June 1803
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        Dumfries District Court the 2 June 1803


The report of William Tyler and William Morgan two of the commissioners appointed at this term to examine into the State of the Gaol erected for this District at Haymarket was returned in these words” In pursuance of an order of the honorable the District Court of Dumfries dated the 25th day of May 1803 directed to William Tyler, Henry Washington and William Morgan or any two of them. We the subscribers have viewed the Public Gaol erected for this District at Haymarket, and report to the court as follows. The situation of the gaol independent of the doors and windows we consider as sufficiently strong to secure the prisoners that may be confined therein. The doors to the criminal’s rooms are sufficiently strong, but improperly hung on the inside, and will jeopardize the life of the gaol here if they are not changed to the outside, and it’s our opinion that his life will not be sufficiently secured unless there are Iron Grates erected on the inside. There is a great space in the upper end of the Staple which receives the Bolt of the Locks & will enable the criminal to make his escape with the assistance of a small piece of iron calculated to the purpose. We do further report that there are five Doors and ten Windows in said Gaol, the outward Door we do also state is sufficiently strong, the other two in the Debtors Rooms are trifling and insubstantial, being made of thin Pine Plank, with very indifferent & small stock Locks, and the Doors are also hung on the inside, and can with the greatest ease be opened with a Pen Knife, or ten penny Nail, the four Windows in the Criminal Apartments are secure with double Iron Grates & sufficiently strong except as to two of the Windows, which have two or three bars in each broke, there are two indifferent Locks on the lower Doors and one good one. The rest of the Windows are considered to be sufficiently secure.

Haymarket, 30th May 1803










Wm. Tyler










Wm. Morgan

Dumfries, Va. – 12 September 1803
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At a meeting of the citizens of Dumfries held at the court house in the said town on the 12th day of September 1803 for the purpose of devising means for preventing the introduction of the Malignant Fever, which at this time unhappily prevails in the Town of Alexandria, on previous notice to you.


Resolved unanimously that Alexander Henderson be appointed chairman of the meeting and that John Williams be appointed secretary.


The meeting taking the aforesaid subject into consideration find that owing to the absence of Col. Tebbs the superintendant of quarantine for the Town of Newport, from this state they are unable to take all the efficient measures necessary at this alarming crisis. It is therefore unanimously resolved that the chairman of this meeting be and he is hereby requested to state the absence of Col. Tebbs to the Executive, and the absolute necessity of an immediate appointment of a proper person to perform the duties of Superintendant of Quarantine during his absence, and of the unanimous opinion of the meeting that Capt. George Williams will be a proper person citizen to perform that duty.


Resolved that Doctor John Spence, Doctor John Bronaugh and Doctor James Muschett be appointed a Board of Health that it be requested of them or either of them to examine every person who may come into town, and ascertain whether they may be infected with or capable of communicating the aforesaid fever and give immediate notice thereof to the committee of safety here after to be appointed by the meeting.


Resolved unanimously that a committee of safety be appointed for the purpose of preventing the introduction of the said Fever, and that the said committee do consist of James Muschett, Timothy Brundige, James Reid, Philip Dawe, and John Lawson or any two of them – that it be the duty of the said committee forthwith to provide a convenient house free from the communication of the inhabitants of the town or others, for the reception of such persons as shall be reported to them by the board of health to be dangerous to the health of the inhabitants or such as principles of humanity may require to be provided for. Also to procure one or more proper nurses to attend the sick.


Resolved unanimously that Philip Dawe be appointed a treasurer and that he solicit from the inhabitants of the town such contribution as they may chose to advance for the purpose of carrying out the execution of the resolutions  of this meeting and that he note the respective contributions made.


Resolved unanimously that a copy of these resolutions be sent to the Executive of this Commonwealth immediately by the chairman and that he likewise enclose another copy to the Mayor of Alexandria.









Signed by order of the meeting

A. Henderson, chairman

John Williams, secretary

Dumfries, Va. – 2 June 1803
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Condition of Hay Market Courthouse & Jail


At a Superior Court held at Hay Market for the District composed of the Counties of Loudoun, Fauquier, Fairfax and Prince William the 19th day of May 1804. Present, the Honorable Paul Carrington Junior Esquire, Judge.


On the motion of the Attorney for the Commonwealth it is ordered that Gwyn Page, Thomas Swann, William Tyler and Edmund Brooke Esquire or any three of them do view the present situation of the Court House and Lott, the Clerk’s Office and Gaol of the District generally as to the state of repair in which these buildings now are and report thereon to the Court.


June 1st 1804 – A report of Edmund Brooke, William Tyler and Thomas Swann Esquire, three of the commissioners appointed at this term to examine into the present situation of the Court House lot &c returned their report in these words “In obedience to an order of the humble the District Court of Haymarket hereunto annexed we have examined the present state of Gaol and Clerk’s Office of the said District, as also the situation of the Lott whereupon the Public Buildings stand and upon this review do report, that an additional door of iron grate is necessary to each of the criminal rooms for the safety of the Gaoler whose life otherwise would be exposed to danger in opening the doors of those apartments for the conveyance of necessaries to the criminals. Those grate doors we think should be hung on the inside of the rooms and the other doors on the outside thereof. The locks upon both doors of the criminal rooms are out of order and without strong new locks these rooms are insecure. The post of the outer door of the gaol being shrunk leaves the ketch at too great a distance from the bolt which may be remedied by a facing of iron, a pair of hinges is necessary to one of the Debtor Rooms, the door of which has fallen down in consequence of the hinges being broken. A floor over each of the Debtor Rooms we think would be convenient to the Gaoler and necessary for the preservation of the joist and floors below as well of the comfort of persons confined by preventing the snow and rains from being drifted into these rooms: The door to the upper stairs of the Gaolers apartment we think highly necessary to protect the same from the influence of severe Rains & Snows. The roof of the Clerk’s Office has lost several sheets of slate, which occasions it to leak and the slate being broken new sheets will be required to repair this loss, and without such repairs the office will be much injured. The Clerk’s Office in other respects is in good repair except a part of the cornice on the outside which being insufficiently nailed has fallen and which can easily be tacked on again. An additional press for the books and papers of the said office is required those belonging to the same being nearly full. With respect to the improvements necessary on the Lott upon which the Public Buildings stand. We think from the complaints expressed about the distance of drinking water that a well upon the said Lott would remedy this inconvenience and is a desirable object as well to the Clerk and Gaoler, whose convenience ought to be particularly considered, as to those who attend the Courts at their Sessions. An enclosure of Posts and Railing is an improvement which we also deem highly necessary to the Public Square to prevent the trespassed of stock and the intrusion of Suttlers whilst the Courts are sitting, which are frequently much incommoded  thereby – To make the repairs and alterations above specified and the improvements necessary on the Public Lott we think from the best estimate we are able to form from our own opinion and the judgment of others will require the sum of three hundred pounds at the least. Given under our hands this 31st day of May 1804.










E. Brooke










William Tyler










Thos. Swann

Which is ordered to be certified to the Executive of this Commonwealth forthwith.







Teste, J. Lawson C.D.C.

Prince William, Va., August 26th 1804
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To Daniel L. Hylton, Esquire, Clerk of the Council

 Sir, We have to request you to inform the Governor and Council of State that we duly received the Letter Patent appointing us commissioners for the County of Prince William to execute the act passed January 21st 1804 “for appointing Electors to chose a President and Vice President of the United States” – that we feel sensibly impressed with the confidence reposed in us by the Executive Council – and shall exert our best abilities to discharge with fidelity our duties as commissioners at the ensuing election.









We are, Sir, very respectfully









   Your obedient servants









     N.? Harrison










     John Spence

Dumfries, Va. – 1 November 1804
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Condition of Hay Market Clerk’s office


Hay Market District Court, November 1, 1804 – It appearing to the Court that the Clerk’s Office is not in a situation at this time for the safe keeping of the records and papers therein deposited or for the comfortable accommodation of the clerk residing there. It is ordered that William Tyler, John Williams, William Morgan, William Robinson, Andrew Heath Jun. and William Cundiff or any two or more of them do view the situation of the said office and report thereon to the court.


A report of William Cundiff, William Robinson and Andrew Heath Jun. three of the commissioners appointed this day to examine into the situation of the Clerks, returned their report in these words. “ In obedience to an order of the Hay Market District Court respecting the insufficiency of the Office thereto belonging for the preservation of the records and the accommodation of the clerk. We the subscribers are of opinion that to make the same sufficient as expressed above, that there be a floor of Plank two inches thick laid down and the Brick put upon that will prevent the dampness that now appears to arise and that for the lodging of the said clerk, it will be necessary that there be another story added and stair case with brick or stone at the bottom with a good cover of slate for the whole of the office the present one being insufficient.









William Cundiffe









William Robinson









Andrew Heath Jr.

Which is ordered to be certified to the Executive for this Commonwealth forthwith









Teste, J. Lawson C.D.C.

Dumfries, Va., 9 September 1805
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John Linton letter

          Sir, 

The death of Col. Thomas Lee late collector for the Commonwealth on Bristoe’s tract has left a vacancy in that office which I take the earliest opportunity of announcing my wish to obtain.


I shall take the liberty of transmitting a proper recommendation to satisfy the Executive that their  confidence will not be misplaced should they feel disposed to appoint me.








With respect I am sir








Your obedient servant








John Linton

Richmond, Va. – October 1805
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Bristoe Tract

       Governor Page


Sir, There is now depending in the Court of appeals a cause of great importance to the state. The suit is brought by Robert Bristoe to recover a tract of land in Prince William which is now in possession of the public. The value of the land itself I am told is many thousand pounds besides a large claim for profits. In a case of such magnitude I think the public interest would be promoted by employing assistant counsel. I am induced to make this suggestion  because it has been the practice of the Government in cases of great importance, & because too I am sanguine in my expectation of a result favorable to the state, yet the cooperation of tenants which the Commonwealth may be avail of cannot but beneficial. I am with the greatest respect your obedient servant.










Philip Norborne Nicholes

separate page – Oct 9, 1805 - The Council having received information from the attorney general that an appeal from the decision of the High Court of Chancery for the District of Richmond is now pending before the Court of Appeals. The Commonwealth against Bristoe’s heirs: On consideration of which the board deem it indispensible necessary from the magnitude and importance of the cause to the Commonwealth. That assistant council be employed in aid of the attorney general and do whereupon advise that Edmund Randolph & George Hay Esquires be paid fee of 40 dollars each with promise of an additional fee3 in case of success.

Richmond, 21 June 1806
Wm. Moncure letter - Bristoe Estate 
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Hancock Eustace collector of the rents of this estate belonging to Bristoe begs leave to submit to the Honorable the Governor & Council. The following remarks that since his appointment as collector aforesaid, he has by using every possible exertion in his powers collected 35,201 lb. tob. Which agreeable to instruction he sold for 124 cash per hundred, am. To $1235 96/100 which he communicated immediately thereafter to your Honorable Body and in sorry to state that on receiving in Stafford the governors letter of the 10th inst. he was allowed by the Executive only 5 per cent for making the collection effecting a sale of the tobacco for the highest obtained price in cash & paying the same into the treasury. Relieving as he does that the executive could not have been approved of the trouble _____ & expenses attending the business. He has thought it most advisable to write Richmond for the purpose or explain as well and as correctly as possible the nature of the business & having done so in person & several of your Honorable body – he has only to declare that from his expenses not less than 15 per cent for making the collection in tobacco which has ___- for ____ and is the article received & affecting the ___ and paying the money into the treasury would compensate him for his trouble - ___ is will be recollected that the annual rents do not exceed 30,000 lb. tob. That to inform the payment thereof the _____ is obliged in many cases to resist to legal process and that in those cases the trouble is much _____ as well by attending to the proceedings on such process as in ___ the expenses thereof.








The collector is with due respect








      &c. your obed. Serv.









Hancock Eustace

Richmond, February 27, 1806

William Moncure letter – Bristoe Estate
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Mr. H. Eustace agent for the Commonwealth in the management &c. of the estate or tract of land known by the name of Bristoe in Prince William advises me of his having already received on account ___ 30,000 wt. of tob. From which he is offered 221 cash or 241 ___ credit & being in doubt which price & mode of sale would be best, or most pleasing to the Executive for him a---- to ____ request their advise relative to the same, which I herewith take the liberty of doing. ____ you as a member of that honorable body remain with respect.










Your obedient servant










      Wm. Moncure

Dumfries, Va. - 4 March 1806 “Highly Important”

William H. Cabell – Governors papers
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     To William H. Cabell Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond


At a Court of Oyer and Terminer called and held at the Court House of Prince William County on the fourth day of March Anno Domini One Thousand Eight Hundred and Six for the trial of Fielding a Slave the property of Samuel Tomlin and Abel a Slave the property of Samuel Steele charged with burglary and felony. Present, Alexander Henderson, John Macrae, Charles Ewell, John M. Muschett & David Boyle, gentlemen justices.


Fielding a Negro man Slave belonging to Samuel Tomlin being indicted of Burglary and felony for burglariously and feloniously entering and breaking the mansion house and store house of John & Charles Hunton with an intent to commit a felony and from thence taking and carrying away sundry articles of the goods and chattels of the said John & Charles Hunton to wit: Six net purses of one dollar value a Remnant of Swansdown of the value of one dollar. One remnant of Casimore of the value of one dollar. One pair of Suspenders of the value of one dollar and twenty four silver dollars; And being arraigned in open court, upon his arraignment pleaded Not Guilty. And thereupon the several witnesses as well for as against him were sworn &c. examined and upon consideration thereof the court are unanimously of opinion that the said negro Fielding is guilty of the said burglary & felony. Therefore it is considered by the court that the said negro Fielding be hanged by the neck until he be dead, on the second Saturday in April next. And the court are of opinion that the said negro Fielding is worth the sum of three hundred dollars current money.









Teste, J. Williams Cl.Cur.


Ordered that a copy of the statement of evidence given on the trial of negro Fielding be transmitted to the Executive by the clerk forthwith which in substance is as follows to wit: The testimony in the case of negro Fielding a Slave &c. It was proved by Charles Hunton that the store of John & Charles Hunton was broken open and sundry goods and  some money taken out. It was proved by John Hunton and others that the culprit confessed he entered the store in the night time and took out the goods of John & Charles Hunton in the night time to the amount of more than twenty dollars. This confession was proved to have been made under an impression that he might  be favored in his punishment but his confession was supported by the proof of circumstances by other persons. Part of the goods and money taken were found in the possession of the culprit. One witness swore that the culprit was in a house three miles distant from the place where the crime was committed at midnight on the night the burglary was committed and was there also about daylight and she the witness had not missed the culprit that night and that they were in the habit of sleeping in the same house thou not together. Another witness swore that on the morning of the night this crime was committed he saw the culprit between the house in which the burglary was committed and the one in which the last mentioned witness said she saw him & that he then had some money and a part of the goods which were proved to have been stolen, and sold them to him and loaned him a part of the money which he afterwards returned believing the goods and money to have been stolen. It was proven by another witness that two days after the fact committed the shirt of the culprit was much blackened with soot and the culprit confessed that the mode he affected the entry of the house was by going down the chimney.”


The court which sat on the trial of Fielding a negro Slave condemned to death for the crime of burglary beg leave to express their wishes arising from the whole of the circumstances of the case. That it may be the pleasure of the Executive that the said convict should be transported instead of being executed according to the sentence the law has obliged them to pronounce on him.








J. Williams Cl. Cur.

Dear Sir,


I have copied this proceedings of the Court of Oyer & Terminer for the trial of Fielding, the second time thinking it possible that the first copy of proceedings which I transmitted to you might have miscarried








I am your obedient servant








       J. Williams









Dumfries, March 22nd 1806

P.S. – It will be gratifying to those interested to know if the Governor has read the copy of proceedings in this case.



J. W.

Prince William County Court - 5 May 1806

Governor Cabell’s Executive Papers

Accession #41135, Box 1, Folder 12

       
Ordered that the Magistrates of this County be summoned to the next court to take into consideration the propriety of recommending an additional number of Magistrates in this county and for the purpose of appointing an Escheator for this county.








Teste









John Williams, Cl. Cur.

Sheriffs return on forgoing Vizt.


“Executed on Charles Ewell, Edmund Brooke, Henry Washington, Bernard Hoe Sen., Gerard Alexander, James Ewell, Bernard Hooe Jr. and Robert H. Hooe









John Leachman D.S. for









     Wm. Downman”

“Executed on Wm. Grant, Thomas Harrison, Alexander Henderson, John Macrae, James Deneale, Thomas T. Page, Wm. Barnes, David Boyle & John Muschett








R. Cole D.S. for Wm. Downman”

Prince William County Court June 2nd 1806


Present, James Ewell, Bernard Hooe Sen., Alexander Henderson, Henry Washington, Robert H. Hooe, John Macrae, Charles Ewell, William Barnes, William Grant, Thomas T. Page, Bernard Hooe Jun, John M. Muschett, David Boyle, James Deneale and Gerard Alexander, Gentlemen Justices.


Ordered that the following gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as justices of the peace in this county vizt “Thomas P. Hooe, in the room of Bernard Hooe Sen who declines acting, Nathaniel Elliott in the room of William Grayson deceased, Washington J. Washington in the room of Edward Carter deceased, Gywnn page in the room of Alexander Bruce who is about to remove, Philip Alexander in the room of Thomas Lee Sen. Deceased, Samuel Jackson in the room of Jesse Ewell deceased and Townshend Dade.









Teste, J. Williams Cl. Cur.


Ordered that William Barnes be recommended to the Executive as an escheator for this county.









Teste, J. Williams Cl. Cur.

Hay Market District Court 

24th May 1806

Governor Cabell’s Executive Papers

Accession #41135, Box 1, Folder 11

Samuel Hawe conviction

Samuel Hawe late of the Town of Dumfries in the county of Prince William laborer otherwise called Samuel Hawes who stands convicted of horse stealing was again led to the bar in custody of the keeper of the public goal and thereupon it being demanded of him if anything further for himself he had or knew to say why the court here to judgment and execution of and upon the premises should not proceed and nothing being offered or alleged in delay of judgment. It is considered by the court that the said Samuel Hawe otherwise called Samuel Hawes be imprisoned in the goal and penitentiary house of this Commonwealth for the term of eight years the period by the jurors in their verdict ascertained. And that he be kept in solitary cell in the said goal and  penitentiary house on low and coarse diet for one sixth part of the said term. And it is ordered that the Sheriff of Prince William County do as soon as possible remove and safely convey the said Samuel Hawe otherwise called Samuel Hawes from the goal of this district to the goal and penitentiary house therein to be imprisoned and treated in the manner prescribed by the act entitled “an act to amend the penal laws of this Commonwealth and in pursuance of the said act the court certify that on the trial nothing appeared either in aggravation or extenuation of the offence of the said Samuel Hawe otherwise called Samuel Hawes nor did it appear that before the commission of the said horse stealing he was of good or bad character or that he had ever been convicted or tried for any felony or other infamous crimes which is ordered to be transmitted to the inspectors of the said goal and penitentiary house and thereupon he is remanded to goal.







Teste, _ anson C. D.C.









June 5th 1806

August 15th 1806 Virginia Penitentiary

Governors Executive Papers - Cabell

Accession number 41135, Box 2, Folder 3

Letter from Samuel Hawe

A list of the names &c of sundry persons united for the purpose of stealing plundering &c September 15th 1806

Edward or Ned Tolbert & his brother, whose Christian name I do not know, both White Men, live near the Occoquan Mills on this side of Alexandria.

Thomas Bowls, a Free Negro lives in Dumfries

David Arston, a Free Negro lives in Federal City

John Lenard a White Man lives near the Federal City

William Goleman, Free Negro lives near Richmond

Nelly Bullet, a Free Negro woman lives in Dumfries

John Belford a free Negro man lives near or in Falmouth

Jessey Tyler a Free Negro man lives near or in Fredericksburg

1 Slave negro man, belonging to James Hays in Dumfries, whose name I have forgot but think it is James, he is a dark fellow about 5 feet 8 inches high, 30 years of age, nockneeded ,who I know well by sight, also there is one other of Mr. Hays negroes that is one of the party, his name I have entirely forgot but know him also when I see him.

The horse saddle & bridle that I was convicted to the penitentiary for, was Mr. James Hays’ & stole by this nockneed slave of his & Thomas Bowls & brought to Nelly Bullets by them, at which place they found or were waiting William Goleman & the two Tolberts, they all were partners & connected, they let me have him and when I had sold him we were to divide the money among us all.

The men that stole Mr. Williams’ bay mare which he has not got yet, were John Belford, Wm. Goleman, Jessey Tyler, Nelley Bullet, David Arston, the two Tolberts & the two slave negroes of Mr. Hays’ about the last of last October. The ring leaders of this party were the two Tolberts, David Arston, Mr. Goleman & Jno Belford & David Arston and Wm. Goleman were the two, that made sale of her or swapped her to a man that lives within 4 or 5 miles of Culpeper Courthouse whose name I cannot recollect for my life. This Mr. Williams is clerk of Dumfries Court & was one that was so anxious for me to turn states evidence before I come away & the reasons I shall give at the bottom of this statement I did not.

Some time in September last Jno Lenard, David Arston, Jno Belford & Jessey Tyler delivered me a sorrel horse, they stole from Moss Tiller living in Alexandria, on King Street, to sell, and I swapped him for a bay mare with Mr. Richardson a merchant in Winchester Virginia, where I do suppose the horse is yet.

Some time in  November last Jno Lenard, David Arston, Jno Belford, Jessey Tyler & William Goleman, delivered me a bay horse, which they stole from a rack with the saddle & bridle on, in the Federal City just above the Presidents house near the seven buildings, the owner I now not for certain but they got me to make sale of him which I did, to Thomas Cary a barber in Fredericksburg, where I left the saddle & bridle until I called for it, at which place I do suppose it still is.

The way which they carry on their affairs, or mode of doing business is just this, the white men and all these I have named, have sworn into a confederacy, to be true to each other, & to steal all they can, & to make an equal division one with the other of all the profits arising from their different species of plunder. They get bill of sales for all, any & everything they so steal, that they want bill of sales for, from the white men, which they have ready to shew, if called on whenever they attempt to sell & generally two or more of them go together, & very frequently one of the white men, in order that if any suspicion should arise of the horses &c. being stole they may manage so as to swear the one that attempts to make the sale clear, or the property to be good, so as to clear the one charged, Then when they steal a horse or horses viz those to the north or south of Dumfries, meet at Nelly Bullets generally, or at Jno Belford’s near Falmouth in order to make exchanges of their different species of property viz those that have stole to the north, will receive from those from the south, what they may have stole & carry to the north & those from the south, run the property stole from the north southwardly so as to keep up a continual trade. Thomas Bridges now in the penitentiary was one of the same party, also a man that was discharged from the penitentiary a year or two ago by the name of Swilcher is another one, but passes by the name of Matt Davis about the Red House, or Hay Market, & was in Jail for robbing of Mr. Payne’s waggon from Fauquier of a good sum of money, at the time I was confined there to come here, which money he got & had with him in jail concealed in a twist of tobacco (the money taken was mostly in bank notes) as he himself informed me & told me that , that was the money; besides which, he had concealed in the same twist a good many counterfeit notes that were not filled up, two of the notes he had with him he got me to have changed for him as though they were my own while in jail, for fear if they saw him have any money at all it might cause them to suspect him or might prove the notes to be Mr. Payne’s or that which he had robbed his waggon of, which he said was in a little bag when he took it, that had been died with ____ & was all in notes except to about the amount of $8 which was in hard money & this twist of tobacco in which his money was concealed he generally had stuck away in his hay where he lay, so that, if it was seen no one would have any thought of what was in it, & when they first took him up (& searched him for the money he laughed & said he never was as close searched before) for he could not help it, to think they should be a searching of him be close & at the same time had the money in their hands & did not know it, he also told me he had been to Richmond & had got a permit to go into & see the penitentiary & that Mr. Mines had drove him away & would not let him go in & swore he would if he lived have satisfaction out of him whenever he got out of jail again, by stealing & running off his horses, which was also proposed & intended to have been done by Goldman & Briges & they wanted me to assist  so far as this, that they would take them, & for me to have run them or some of them off, which would have been done, had I not been taken at the time I was, for I was then waiting for Goldman to return, who was gone towards Petersburg to sell a horse he had stole. I was to wait at Michael Bowsers house in Richmond where all of these people stay, where they come about here, & keep stolen horses &c hid, that they may have with them, & he Michael Bowser knows all about them & their schemes, for I should have left here, had it not have been for him before I was taken, but he persuaded me to stay for Goldman who I had promised to do so & that he Bowser himself thought we might make a good spick on Mr. Mines horses this Bowser himself told me & if not or someone else, this same Bowser hides & conceals anything & everything they carry him, or steals & leaves about Richmond. This set by some means can & ___ get false keys to any lock they want a key for & go into stores, mills &c. whenever they see a good chance of making a good speck & take what they want & away with it what they plunder about Richmond they lodge with Michael Bowser, and what they take about Fredericksburg they leave or hid with John Belford & from Alexandria or in the neighborhood of Dumfries they leave with Nelly Bullet to take care of as to any particular species of or particular robbery they have this committed I cannot recollect of well enough to point it out, but only mention this, that it may be seen & known what they can & do,do; I have frequently seen goods & things they had, & told me they got them that way & I might, had I have taken more notice, known the whole circumstances of whom & when &c they have a great deal of dealings with the slave negroes also, about Alexandria, Fredericksburg, Dumfries & Richmond in short where ever they attempt to do anything & particularly Nelly Bullet & those around her as well as Jas Belford & this Michael Bowser & let them or any of their attempt what they will, they generally have some of them to assist them. I have mentioned above all of the horses that I know positively of my own knowledge they did steal, but more I have seen them with & were carried off & sold by one & another, that I do not recollect their accounts or takes to me, well enough to give any correct information on. One circumstance more of their transactions I recollect that may be service viz. I recollect to have seen Davey Arston, Nelly Bullet, Thomas Bowls, Wm. Goleman & the two Tolberts with a black mare, at the same time they let me have the horse I was convicted for, which was stolen, but by which of them or of whom I know not, they all claimed her jointly & David Arston went to Fredericksburg to sell her to Mr. Fitzhue or Mr. Alexander living was there, as he informed me he had promised to let them have such a one & one or the other I do expect he let have her, she was branded on her near buttock with the two letters J. H. as well as I recollect. I was very much persuaded to make this communication while I was in jail before I came here & should have done so, had it not have been for the persuasions of the two Tolberts & a good many of the others, who promised to clear me when my trial comes on, & did not, only Nelly Bullet who could do me no good by herself, she was summoned as an evidence against me, but would not appear nor did not, they then after I was convicted promised me pointedly to relieve me or rescue me from the Sheriff & Guard as they brought me to the penitentiary & begged very hard I should not tell which were the reasons & only ones I had for not making of it known before & supposed as I had not done it before my trial it could make but little odds to let it alone until I got here, where I could reflect what was best to be done & have wished for some time to have done it, & should but could not from my peculiar situation until now. There is a man (White) viz a white man that frequently is with the Tolberts & about Nelly’s by the name of Smith that is connected with them & does a good deal of the horse stealing business with them, also as I have understood. The man that gives the foregoing information is Samuel Hawe a free black man, convicted of horse stealing. Haymarket District Court, May term 1806 and sentenced to be confined eight years in the jail & penitentiary house.







Martin Mimms







August 15, 1806

Dumfries, Va., October 6, 1806 

Governors Executive Papers – Wm. Cabell

Accession number 41135, Oversized Box, Folder 13


Prince William County Court, September 1st 1806 – Ordered that the Magistrates of this County be summoned to the next court to nominate a surveyor in this county in the room of Henry D. Hooe deceased and to recommend officers to fill up vacancies in the 89th Regiment of Virginia Militia.










Teste,











J. Williams Cl. Cur.


Sheriffs return “Executed on Alexander Henderson, James Deneale, Wm. Barnes, Townshend Dade, John Muschett, Thomas Harrison, William Grant and Thomas T. Page.









R. D. Cole D. S. for Wm. Downman

Prince William County Court, October 6th 1806


Present, Alexander Henderson, Henry Washington, John Macrae, Wm. Grant, Bernard Hooe Jun., Townshend Dade, Washington J. Washington, Philip Alexander, Thomas P. Hooe, Gwynn Page, Thomas T. Page, Alexander Bruce, Charles Ewell, David Boyle & Samuel Jackson, Gentlemen Justices.


Ordered that the following persons be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as officers in the 89th Regiment Virginia Militia, Vizt. William B. Saunders Capt. Vice, Robert H. Little who refuses to accept of his commission, James Green lieutenant vice, Richard Brett who refuses to accept of his commission, William Wheeler lieutenant vice, John Brown removed, James Rose Jun. lieutenant, vice Elias Obannien promoted, Sanford Rogers ensign vice, Wm. B. Saunders promoted, Elias Newman ensign vice, Bryan Cundiff removed, Jesse Petty ensign, James Rose promoted.









Teste, J. Williams Cl. Cur.

1806, Dumfries Va.

Governors Executive Papers

Accession #41135, Box 2, Folder 11

The Petition of John Butler

       To his Excellency William H. Cabell Esq. and the Honorable members of the Privy Council of State.


The petition of John Butler humbly represents to your honorable body that at a court held for the District of Dumfries, beginning on the eighteenth of May 1802 he was convicted of Horse Stealing, and sentenced by the honorable judges then presiding, to undergo a confinement in the public jail and penitentiary house, for the term of five years and six months. 


Wherefore your petitioner humbly shews to your honorable body, that he has endured a painful imprisonment of near five years; during which time, he has ever endeavored to submit to the rules and regulations formed to govern him in his present situation; and to perform as much labor as he was able during the time; That he has long since been made to rejoice in the justice and mercy of the law under which he has suffered. And he has endeavored to testify his sincerity in this by discharging the duties of his station. Your petitioner further shews to your honorable body, that he has no person of near relation, only a wife and three small children, to gain a friendship for him, so as to procure him a petition from the parts where he has resided a few years in this state; he relies therefore, solely on the executive and the manner of his conduct since his confinement in this place; hoping that your goodness will incline your honorable body to extend mercy to him and his distressed family; and your petitioner will ever pray &c.









John Butler

31 March 1807 Virginia Penitentiary

Governors Executive Papers – Cabell
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Letter from Samuel Hawe

       Sir,


These few lines are to inform you that on reflection I recollect I omitted to mention a large bright bay horse that was stolen out of a lot in Baltimore last August was a year by David Arston & John Bellford,(who I particularly named in my communication some time ago) for which there was $100 reward advertised for him, he was sold by me to Mr. Jessy Simms who keeps the stage that runs morning and evening from Alexandria to the Federal City, who kept him as a stage horse, & had him in possession last summer when I was convicted to this place. He was taken out of a lott in Baltimore back of the old jail belonging as well as I recollect to Mr. Tygott his Christian name I think is (John) And is adjoining to or very near Colo Howards; feeling it to be my duty to give all the information that may be any wise useful to the community. I have taken the liberty to mention this to you hoping that you will give the same Colo Howard or Mr. John Tygott either of whom will redily know the horse by the circumstances I have named with this submission.








I remain your unhappy convict









Samuel Hawe

7 September 1807

Governors Executive Papers

Accession #41136, Box 4, Folder 7

Prince William County Court


Charles Ewell presented to the court a bond in the penalty of $24,000 to William H. Cabell, Governor of the Commonwealth dated the 3rd day of August 1807 in which Solomon Ewell Jr. and William Cundiff are his securities which bond is conditioned for the said Charles Ewell as agent for the Commonwealth within the counties of Loudoun, Fairfax, Fauquier, Prince William, Stafford and King George to truly and diligently collect account for and pay into the Public Treasury according to the provisions of an act of assembly passed the 19th of January 1807 entitled “An act to empower the executive to appoint persons to collect the arrears of taxes “And on the said Charles Ewells motion the court doth certify that it is their opinion the said Ewell and Cundiff are sufficient securities. 









Teste, J. Williams Cl. Cur.

Came before me Charles Ewell of the County of Prince William & made oath that he believes after paying his just debts he is worth fifteen thousand dollars. 

Given from under my hand this 1st July 1807

Henry Washington


Came before me William Cundiff of the County of Prince William & made oath that he believes after paying his just debts he is worth twelve thousand dollars. 

Given from under my hand this 4  Sep 1807.


Gwyn Page

Came before me Solomon Ewell Sen. of the County of Prince William & made oath that he believes after paying his just debts he is worth ten  thousand dollars. 

Given from under my hand this 7th day Sep  1807


David Boyle

19 September 1807

Governors Executive Papers – Cabell
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       To His Excellency William H. Cabell chief magistrate of the State of Virginia


The petition of John B. Anness and Walter Maddox of Prince William County humbly sheweth that they are confined in the jail of the said County of Prince William by virtue of a judgment of the court of the said county rendered on an indictment for an assault made on one Daniel Dorothy. That by the said judgment they were condemned to six months imprisonment in the said jail. That your petitioners were forced into the trial of the said indictment, when they were not prepared with testimony or they would have been enabled to have placed their cause in a very different point of view from the one, in which it appeared to the court & jury. That the assault for which your petition have their suffered & are still doomed to suffer without your interference was neither wanton or unprovoked that the injury done to the said Dorothy was inconsiderable & of short duration. That your petitioners ___ _____ unwilling to be bound with sufficient securities for the time to which they are still subject to confinement under the before mentioned judgment that they will keep the peace and be of good deportment. That your petitioners having suffered three months confinement pray that you will be pleased to grant them a pardon for the residue of the time & they are duty bound with even pray &c. &c.










September 19th 1807










John B. Anniss


We the undersigned inhabitants of Prince William County being acquainted with the circumstances of the assault mentioned in the foregoing petition & of the situation of the petitioners, humbly hope that their petition will be granted.



Subscribers Names



Subscribers Names

James Denele




Samuel Johnson





Jesse Woodyard




George Cockrell

Thomas Thornton




William Smith

Thomas Chapman



John Williams

James Hayes




John Bronaugh

Robert Hedges




James Triplett

Moses Duffy




Levi Scott

Chas Deane




William Tansil

Samuel Davis




Richard Tomlin

Lewis Dickenson




Wm. McClenahan

William Walters




George Williams

James Boswell




John Merchant

William Farrow




Jacob Merchant

Benjamin D. ______ Jr.



Seth Botts

Benjamin Pettit




John Lowe

John ____




Henry Brawner

William Hoar




Larkin Carr

John Mitchell




Alex Brawner

John Nelson




Austin Edrington

John B. Nelson




__ Ratcliffe – one of the jury

William Pettit




Jeremiah Dowell

William A. Pierce?



William Brawner

William Carper




Zachariah Glover

Solomon Hedges




John Fewell

James Griggs –one of jury



Thomas Cole

Jno Butler




Burr Williams

Withers Waller

Dumfries, Va., June 10, 1808

Governors Executive Papers – William Cabell
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On the trial of Capt. Alexander Howison which took place in Dumfries on the 14th & 15th day of December 1807. I was ordered to summon witnesses as well for the Commonwealth as the said Howison, which I did, but did not  prove the time I was necessarily engaged in performing that duty before the Court Martial, which was two or three days. The time which would have been consumed in writing certificates for the members of the Court Martial and the witnesses would not have amounted to more than one day.







Given under my hand this 10th June 1808









Phil D. Dawe

Sworn to before me this 10th June 1808


Dan L. Hylton

Dumfries, Va., September 3, 1808

Governors Executive Papers – William Cabell
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Court Martial of Enoch Renoe


At a meeting of the officers of the 36th Regiment Virginia Militia at the court house of Prince William County on the 3rd day of September 1808 pursuant to notice. Present:


Majors – Townshend Dade & Major Jno M. Muschett


Captains – Thomas Chapman, Richard Cole, Jas Hayes, Posey D. Grant, & Isham E. Hedges.

Lieutenants – James C. Denale, Samuel Cole, Joseph R. Lynn, Philip D. Dawe, Thomas A. Smith, & Richard 


Weedon

Ensigns – Colin Campbell, John Merchant, Joseph Smith, William Nelson, John Stone & George Weedon

Major Townshend Dade was called to the Chair, Ensign Colin Campbell appointed secretary.

Whereas it appears to us from reports in circulation (which if proved) we conceive that Colonel Enoch Renoe has been guilty of an offence which would vacate his commission and being forcibly impressed with an ---lecd  that the duty which we owe to our country and ourselves imperiously demands we should have the ---tter of the said reports enquire into by the proper tribunal where the said Renoe may have an opportunity of vindicating his character and by ----ing so justify us in holding our commissions under him Therefore they are resolved; That John Muschett, Thomas Chapman, Richard Cole, Isham E. Hedges, Philip D. Dawe, Thomas A. Smith, & Joseph Smith, be and they are hereby appointed a committee to wait upon Colonel Renoe or give him notice of the intention of the officers to make enquiry into the truth of certain reports which have been in circulation to the injury of his character and in case of the militia being called into actual service may be extremely injurious to the service of their country, in order that he may have an opportunity if he thinks fit to prevent such enquiry by a  resignation of his command. And that they report to a meeting of the officers on the 10th instant at 11 o’clock their proceedings in the premises, they are also required to report such other matters and things as they may deem necessary to a full investigation of the subject.

Townshend Dade – Major 2nd Battalion

Philip D. Dawe – Lieutenant 2nd Battalion 

Jno. M. Muschett – Major 2nd Battalion

Thomas A. Smith Lt. Infy. 1st Battalion

Thomas Chapman – Captain 1st Battalion

Richard W. Weedon – Lieutenant 1st Battalion

Richard Cole - Captain 1st Battalion


John Merchant – Ensign 1st Battalion

Posey D. Grant – Captain 2nd Battalion

Joseph Smith – Ensign 2nd Battalion

Isham E. Hedges - Captain 1st Battalion

William Nelson - Ensign 1st Battalion

Jas C. Deneale - Lieutenant 1st Battalion

John Stone - Ensign 1st Battalion

Samuel Cole - Lieutenant 2nd Battalion

George Weedon - Ensign 1st Battalion

Joseph R. Lynn - Lieutenant 2nd Battalion








Teste, Colin Campbell, Secretary

Prince William County Court


At an adjourned meeting of the officers of the 36th Regiment Virginia Militia on the 10th day of September 1808. 

Major Townshend Dade, Chairman & Ensign Colin Campbell, Secretary


Major –Jno M. Muschett


Captains – Thomas Chapman, Richard Cole, James Hayes, Posey D. Grant, & Isham E. Hedges.

Lieutenants –Samuel Cole, Joseph R. Lynn, Philip D. Dawe, Thomas A. Smith

Ensigns –John Merchant, Joseph Smith, William Nelson, John Stone & George Weedon


Thomas Chapman, Captain of 1st Battalion; James C. Deneale, Lieutenant 1st Battalion; and Richard W. Weedon, Lieutenant 1st Battalion, were absent. Chapman and Weedon being confined by sickness and Deneale upon business out of the county. But these gentlemen have desired it to be signified to the meeting that they were aware of its object and concurred in the resolutions.


The committee appointed by the members of the 3rd Inst. having returned a report of their proceedings under the order of the said members the same was read in the following words – “Your committee to whom it was referred to communicate to Colonel Renoe the resolutions of the officers assembled on the 3rd instant have according to order waited on him with a copy of the said resolutions which they offered to present to him but he pointedly refused to receive them and to your committee’s earnest request that he should adopt some measures to rescue his character from the stigma with which it is  blotted, or if he wishes rather to avoid the scrutiny that he should resign his command, he briefly replied that he would hold no communication with your committees or their constituents and that they were at liberty to pursue their own course” From the investigation which your committee have been able to make they are impressed with the conviction that the reports which are in circulation concerning Colonel Renoe are true. And it was their intention to have presented to you affidavits to verify this fact, but on their application to several who had means of correct information, although they confirmed the reports yet they expressed an unwillingness to make voluntary affidavits. And as your committee wishes not to present to you a partial view of the colonels case they have deemed it more proper to exhibit to you no other evidence than the record of the suit between Renoe and Barron which with the facts in the knowledge of many of this meeting it is thought will suffice to point out that course of conduct which it will be proper to pursue towards Col. Renoe. All which is respectfully submitted &c.



John Muschett


Philip D. Dawe






Thomas Chapman

Thomas A. Smith






Richard Cole


Joseph Smith






Isham E. Hedges.


Whereupon the said officers taking into their consideration that the interest of the 36th Regiment and their own Honour requires that Colonel Renoe should no longer command it and as doubts are entertained whether for the offence with which Colonel Renoe is charged a Court Martial can be held on him.


Therefore resolved that the annexed remonstrance be presented to the Executive of this Commonwealth immediately to the Governor and Council a copy of the same together with a copy of these resolutions and of those of the 3rd instant; also a copy of the record of the suit for slander brought in the court of this county by the said Renoe against Hendley Barron.


Resolved lastly that this meeting be adjourned to the 30th instant when it shall be again held to receive the communication of the Executive in reply to their remonstrance.









Townshend Dade, Chairman









Colin Campbell, Secretary

The Remonstrance of the undersigned officers of the 36th Regiment of Virginia Militia to the Honorable the Governor and Council of the Commonwealth of Virginia humbly represent


That your remonstrance have ever held in veneration and respect that principle of our government which pronounces a well regulated militia composed of the body of the people trained to arms, to be the proper natural and safe defence of a free state. That with a full sense of the importance of this maxim was an honest intention to contribute their powers towards promoting and carrying it into effect; they accepted the commissions which they now have the honor to bear. It was their and still is a sentiment strongly impressed on the minds and which they have ever cherished, that in order to ensure respect, obedience, promptitude and alacrity, on the part of the commanded. The character of the commander should be distinguished by integrity, honour, courage and dignity. When these qualities are wanting in the person of the superior, insubordination and contempt must reign with the superior.


And it is with a sensation peculiarly painful that the undersigned have found this idea realized in the regiment in which they hold commands. Colonel Enoch Renno the commandant of the 36th Regiment has been raised from the rank of an ensign to the highest office in the regiment without merit and solely on the principles of seniority. In the inferior commissions which he has borne, the circumscribed sphere of his action limited the extent of the exposure of his incapacity and weakness. But when Colonel Renno was elevated to the command of the Regiment, such of your remonstrant as then held commissions felt pained that their duty compelled them to yield obedience to one, who while as a man he could not command their respect. As an officer, daily proved to them that he wanted every quality which should have recommended him to his commission. They were not ignorant that the laws regulating the militia made inability a good course of removal from command but they were well aware that Courts Martial are in general but too much inclined to leniency, and that however egregiously incapable and unfit for command an officer’s general conduct may prove him, yet it may be most difficult to adduce proofs sufficiently strong to justify his removal; and for these reasons they forbore a prosecution.


A circumstance at length occurred too well calculated to rouse their indignation, to be passed over without notice. Colonel Renno was loudly and publicly charged with the commission of the hateful crime of willful and corrupt perjury. This rumour has circulated for some time and your remonstrant’s saw no efforts made by the colonel to vindicate his character either by demanding personal satisfaction of his accuser (who had publicly avowed himself) or by instituting a suit to clear away the aspersion under these circumstances they felt themselves bound to demand of the proper authority an investigation into the colonels conduct. But to this demand it was replied by the General of the Brigade that as the fact in which the perjury was said to have been committed had occurred more than two years before the application for arrest was presented, that therefore he was barred by a late act of assembly from convoking a Court Martial.


As shortly after or about this time Colonel Renno commenced an action of slander against Doctor Barron who had charged the perjury on him. Your remonstrant’s determine to await the event of this suit. That event has unfortunately justified every unfavorable impression which Colonel Renno’s general conduct had before made, and has too truly proved that he is alike deficient of the honour of an officer and the integrity of a man.


The defendant in his plea fully justified the charge and set out wherein the perjury had been committed; on the trial, he, in the outset declared his abandonment of the plea of “Not Guilty,” which his counsel put in, and wholly relied on his justification.


This cause came on for trial at the last June term of the County Court of Prince William, and after a very full and fair investigation, the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff of “one cent damage,” which on the remonstrance of the plaintiff’s counsel was afterwards altered to seven dollars, in order to charge the defendant with the costs. It is not without a sensation of shame for the sword which Colonel Renno has disregarded that your remonstrant’s declare that it seemed the universal opinion of the crowd assembled at the trial, among whom were NINE of your remonstrant’s that he had been fully guilty of the detestable crime of which he had been accused.


If anything could add to the infamy of this scene, it is, that during the retirement of the jury, the Colonel was discovered in the act of endeavoring to tamper with them. Notwithstanding his long course of incapacity, and notwithstanding his late public exposure to disgrace and infamy. Your remonstrant’s were still disposed to observe delicacy towards Colonel Renno. A regard to their own honor and respectability both as officers and gentlemen, required that they should neither be commanded by, nor associated with him. With this view a convention of the officers of the regiment was held, at which all the officers were present but EIGHT, of whom two were nearly connected by affinity with the Colonel and the rest were necessarily absent, though it is well known that some of their opinions correspond with those of your remonstrant’s. The officers composing this meeting with the single exception of one, concurred in the resolutions, whereof a copy is respectfully submitted to your Honorable Body, in which it is proposed to Colonel Renno either to resign his commission, or to seek an investigation unto his conduct before a military tribunal. These resolutions have been presented to the Colonel by the committee therein named: and although, to save his feelings they are couched in terms of delicacy he has refused to read them and with shameless confidence has set this officers at defiance, relying as your remonstrant’s verily believe on the limitation which barred his prosecution before a court martial.


Such is the man with whom your remonstrant’s are necessary associated and to whose command as officers they must submit. Such is the man to whom is committed the care, the superintendence, and organization of a Regiment of the State of Virginia. Such is the man under whose orders and with whom at their head they may perhaps be lead on to defend their country. Your remonstrant’s do verily believe that if this man is retained at the head of the Regiment, the mostly serious evils will result to that body of militia which composes it, for it is their entire belief that in such event, all those offices who can do so, will resign their commissions, and that decent and respectable men cannot be found, who would be willing to supply their vacancies. Thus their situates is truly embarrassing, a disobedience of their superior officer is unbecoming their character and would expose them to the penalties of the law, a submission to his command subjecting them to division and contempt.


Under these circumstances from a regard to the public good and their own honor, and from no private pique or resentment (for they feel none) have the undersigned brought the case before your Honorable body.


If it be your opinion that Colonel Renno is still liable to a prosecution before a court martial, it is respectfully hoped that you will order measures to be taken to affect this desirable object. But if on the other hand it be true that he cannot be so prosecuted for the reasons for which the General of this Brigade has already refused to convoke a court martial. Then it is earnestly entreated that your Honorable Body will remove from command in the militia a man who stands as a blot on it.



Townshend Dade



Major 2nd Battalion



John M. Muschett


Major 1st Battalion



Thomas Chapman


Captain 1st Battalion



Richard Cole



Captain 1st Battalion

Posey D. Grant



Captain 2nd Battalion

Isham E. Hedges



Captain 1st Battalion

Samuel Cole



Lieut. 2nd Battalion

Joseph R. Lynn



Lieut. 2nd Battalion

Phil. D. Dawe



Lieut. 2nd Battalion

Thomas A. Smith



Lieut. Lt. Infy. 1st Battalion

Colin Campbell



Ensign Lt. Infy. 1st Battalion

John Merchant



Ensign 1st Battalion

John Stone



Ensign 1st Battalion

William Nelson



Ensign 1st Battalion

Joseph Smith



Ensign 2ndBattalion

George Weedon



Ensign 1st Battalion










Attest, Colin Campbell, Secretary

A Copy of the proceedings of Rennoe vs Barron


The Commonwealth of Virginia, to the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: We command you that you take Hendley Barron if he be found in your bailiwick, and him safely keep, so that you have his body before the justices of our said County Court, at the Court House, on the first day of June Court next to answer Enoch Renoe of a plea of trespass on the case. Damages ten thousand dollars and have then there this writ. Witness John Williams, Clerk of our said court this 1st day of May 1807 in the 31st year of the Commonwealth.









John Williams

Endorsed “For Slander and bail required   Harrison p.g.

Sheriffs return “Executed May 2nd 1807 Samuel Cole D.S. for Charles Ewell

And A Rules held in the office June 1807 continued

An A Rules held in the office July 1807 declaration filed and continued

The following is a copy of the declaration vizt.


“Prince William County – Enoch Renno complains of Hendly Barron in custody &c of a plea of trespass on the case. For that whereas the said Enoch now is a good true honest faithful citizen of the Commonwealth and as such a good true honest & faithful citizen from the time of his nativity hitherto hath always behaved had and governed himself and hath always until the speaking & publishing of the words hereafter mentioned been held and esteemed as such by all his neighbours & all other persons to whom he was anyways known and hath never yet been guilty nor until the time of speaking and publishing of the several false feigned scandalous, malicious and opprobrious words hereafter mentioned to have been spoken & published by the said Hendley to of and concerning the said Enoch been suspected to have been guilty of perjury, subornation of perjury or any such hurtful crime. By means of which said premises he the said Enoch before the speaking and publishing of the several false feigned, slanderous, malicious & opprobrious words hereafter mentioned had deservedly obtained & procured for himself the good opinion & credit of all persons to whom he was known to wit, at the county aforesaid. And whereas one Isaac Farrow before speaking & publishing of the several words hereafter mentioned stood charged with the crime of Murdering one of his Slaves & the said Isaac was then in custody for such crime & was endeavoring to procure his acquittal by proving his innocence at the Coroner’s inquest held upon the body of the Negro aforesaid & Whereas the said Enoch was called upon to give testimony in behalf of said Isaac before the jury in answer to such questions as should be asked him and Whereas the said Enoch at the examining court was qualified to speak the truth the whole truth and nothing but the truth to wit at the county aforesaid. Yet the said Hendley well knowing the premises but greatly envying the happy state and condition of the said Enoch & contriving and maliciously intending wrongfully & unjustly to hurt, prejudice & injure the said Enoch in his aforesaid good name, fame & reputation & to bring him into public scandal ignominy and disgrace & to cause him to be esteemed & reputed amongst his neighbours & other good & worthy citizens of this Commonwealth to be a man guilty of perjury & to cause him to undergo the pains & penalties by the laws of this state made and provided against persons guilty of perjury, after deposing as aforesaid to wit on the (blank) day of (blank) 1805 at the county aforesaid in a certain discourse which he the said Hendly then and there had with the said Enoch of and concerning him the said Enoch in the presence & hearing of divers good & worthy citizens of this Commonwealth & of & concerning his the said Enoch evidence he the said Hendly then & there falsely & maliciously, said, rehearsed & proclaimed & loudly published these false feigned, scandalous, malicious & opprobrious words follow to of & concerning the said Enoch & his evidence aforesaid in the presence and hearing of those citizens that is to say Enoch Renno is perjured, meaning that the said Enoch had been guilty of willful & corrupt perjury in his evidence aforesaid & I will (meaning that he the said Hendly would) prove it & he (meaning the said Enoch) is a perjured villain (meaning that the said Enoch) had been guilty of perjury in his evidence aforesaid. And whereas afterwards to wit on the day and year aforesaid at the county aforesaid the said Hendly with further malice towards the said Enoch maliciously contriving & intending as aforesaid falsely and scandalously reported asserted and declared of & concerning the said Enoch in the presence and hearing of other citizens of this Commonwealth that he (meaning the plaintiff) was a perjured man & I (meaning the defendant can prove it. By publishing these false scandalous & malicious words the good name fame & reputation of the plaintiff have been injured to the damage of $10,000 dollars & therefore he brings suit.











Peyton p.g.

And at Rules held in the office August 1807 – Rules to Plead

And at Rules held in the office September 1807 – Continued for Plea

And at Rules held in the office October 1807 – Judgment and a writ of Inquiry awarded.

And at a Court continued and held for said county March the 10th 1808. This day came the Plaintiff by his attorney and on motion of the Defendant by William A. G. Dade his attorney who pleaded not guilty to which the plaintiff replied generally. It is ordered that the judgment and writ of Inquiry awarded in this case be set aside and the cause was continued.


And at a court continued and held for said county the 10th day of June 1808. This day came the parties by their attorneys and the defendant filed Special Pleas to which the plaintiff replied generally and joined the issues. Whereupon came a jury to wit: Francis Dunnington, Nelson Mason, John Merchant, William Davis, George Huber, John McIntosh, John Galloway, Richard C. Lord, Thomas Larkin, William Smith, Henson Simpson, and George Cockrell who being tried & sworn the truth to speak of and upon the issues between the parties aforesaid joined withdrew to their chamber and afterwards brought in the following verdict “We of the jury find the issues for the plaintiff & seven dollars damages & Francis Dunnington “ which verdict the plaintiff prayed might be recorded and judgment thereon to him be given. Therefore it is considered by the court that the plaintiff recover against the said defendant the said sum of seven dollars the damages aforesaid in form aforesaid by the jurors aforesaid assessed and also his costs by him about his suit in that behalf expended and the said defendant  may be taken &c.

The following is a copy of one of the Special pleas filed (the other being lost)


“Hendley Barron ads. Enoch Renoe – In Slander – And the said Hendley by his attorney comes and defends the wrong and injury when &c. and says that he is not guilty of the premises aforesaid whereof the said Enoch hath above complained against him the said Hendley and of this he putteth himself upon the country &c and for further plea why the said Enoch should not maintain his action aforesaid against him the said Hendley he the said Hendley saith that the said Enoch his action aforesaid ought not to have and maintain because before the speaking and publishing the words in the first court mentioned to wit on the 7th day of November 1801 at the inquest held over the body of Sarah a Negro Woman Slave the property of Isaac Farrow found by the said inquest to have been murdered by Isaac Farrow, the said Enoch was duly sworn to give evidence to said Jury of Inquest and on his examination being interrogated by one of the said jurors whether he knew anything of the murder of said Sarah or had seen her between the hours of (blank) of the day on which she was alleged to have been murdered he the said Enoch in reply to said interrogatory on his oath aforesaid falsely & corruptly answered that he knew nothing of said Murder and that he had not seen said Sarah on the day on which she was alleged to have been murdered – And afterwards to wit at an examining court held on the 13th day of February 1802 to enquire whether the said Isaac Farrow had been guilty of the murder of said Sarah he the said Enoch having been duly sworn as a witness on said examination on his oath aforesaid did depose and say that on the day on which said Sarah was alleged to have been murdered to wit the 20th day of October 1801 between the hours of (blank) he the said Enoch had seen said Sarah and that she was then alive and sitting near the corner of the kitchen for which reason he the said Hendley did say that the said Enoch had taken contrary and contradictory oaths and therefore was perjured as he the said Hendley lawfully might say for the cause aforesaid and this he is ready to verify. Whereupon he prays judgment if the said Enoch his action aforesaid against him this defendant ought to have and maintain. And for further plea in this behalf the said Hendley in that the said Enoch his action aforesaid against him ought not to have and maintain because he says that on the day on which an inquisition was held by the Coroner of Prince William County to wit on the 7th day of November 1801 aforesaid to inquire by what means Negro Sarah who had been found dead was slain or died after the said jury had been duly sworn and impaneled and while they were engaged in making the inquest aforesaid the said Enoch was duly and legally sworn to give evidence before said jury touching the subject then under their consideration and being so sworn he was asked by the jury aforesaid “Whether he knew any concerning the death of said Negro Sarah or of her having been slain by one Isaac Farrow “ who was then and there charged and suspected of having perpetrated said murder to which interrogatory he the said Enoch on his oath aforesaid falsely & corruptly did depose and say that he knew nothing of the death of said Negro Sarah and of her having been slain by said Isaac and that in short he knew nothing about her” When in fact he the said Enoch knew much about the death of said Negro Sarah and much about her having been slain by said Isaac for which cause he the said Hendley  did say that the said Enoch had been guilty of perjury as he the said Hendley legally might say for the cause aforesaid and this he is ready to verify Wherefore he prays judgment if the said Enoch his action aforesaid against him the said Hendley ought to have and maintain.






Dade p. g.






Teste, John Williams Cl. Cur.

22 September 1808
Governors Executive Papers – William Cabell

Accession #41135, Box 7, Folder 10

Letter from David Boyle

       Prince William County to wit:


This day Townshend Dade, Major of the 2nd Battalion of Militia  in the 36th Regt. came before me a justice of the peace for the said county and made oath that on the 5th day of September 1807 at the draft of the quota required by the Executive of this State from the said 36th Regt. it did appear to him and he does verily believe that the failure to raise the said quota by voluntary enlistment rather than by Lott, as  was required by the Executive, arose solely from the misconduct and incapacity of Col. Enoch Renno who commanded that regiment a larger number than was required from the battalion commanded by this affiant, actually offered their services but the offer was rejected by the said Renno. Col. Renno rarely appears on parade without displaying a want of the skill and information necessary to an officer. And in short this affiant does think that his whole deportment as an officer displays a general incapacity and unfitness for command.








Given under my hand this 22nd September 1808









David Boyle

Dumfries, Va., 1 October 1808

Governors Executive Papers – William Cabell

Accession #41135, Box 6, Folder 2

Letter from Colin Campbell 

       To Honorable Alexander McCrae, Lieutenant Governor, Richmond


At an Adjourned meeting of the officers of the 36th Regt. convened to receive the answer of the Executive to the Remonstrance in pursuance of an order of the last meeting.


Major John M. Muschett in the chair – Whereas it is stated to this meeting that it is the opinion of the Executive that Col. Enoch Renoe cannot be constitutionally removed from his command without the judgment of a court martial, and that the perjury charged in the remonstrance cannot constitute a ground of arrest: but that of his inability as therein charged is substantiated by affidavit they will order an arrest.


Resolved therefore that the secretary be directed to enclose to the Executive, the affidavits of Major’s Townshend Dade and John M. Muschett, with a letter stating the reasons of the officers for adopting this step.









John M. Muschett

Attest Colin Campbell, Secretary

Dumfries, Va., 1 October 1808

Governors Executive Papers – William Cabell

Accession #41135, Box 6, Folder 2

Letter from Colin Campbell 

       To His Excellency the Lieutenant Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia, Richmond


Sir, I am instructed by the officers who lately Remonstrated to you against the conduct of the commandant of the 36th Regt. (Col. Enoch Renoe)  to say that they have never received an answer from you to that Remonstrance, but having been informed from good authority that the Executive do not thank that they can constitutionally remove Col. Renoe from his command without the intervention of a court martial. And understanding that the charge of incapacity is that on which the Executive alone can order an arrest, they have directed me to forward to you the enclosed affidavits in support of that particular charge in their memorial, and if these affidavits should be deemed by you sufficient to warrant an arrest, they entreat that immediate orders to that effect may be issued.


A particular anxiety is felt that there should be no delay in this business as the training of the officers of this regiment, will be held on the 10th inst. It is also respectfully suggested to the Executive that in the event of a court martial being ordered great convenience will arise from it at some place in this county. As the evidence will of necessity be voluminous, and it will be both expensive and troublesome to carry the numerous witnesses who may be required to a remote distance from their residence.








I am your obedient servant









Colin Campbell

P.S. It is requested that the answer to this may be directed to me in Dumfries.  C.C.

22 September 1808

Governors Executive Papers – William Cabell

Accession #41135, Box 7, Folder 10

Letter from David Boyle

       Prince William County to wit:


This day personally appeared before me a justice of the peace for said county Major John M. Muschett of the 36th Regiment, Virginia Militia and made oath that he verily believes from his acquaintance with Col. Enoch Renno since he succeeded to the command of the said regiment that he the said Renno has discovered a total incapacity to discharge the duties attendant thereon, and that before a military tribunal the same could be satisfactorily proved.







Given under my hand this 22nd day of Sept. 1808








David Boyle

March 19, 1808

Governors Executive Papers – William Cabell

Accession #41135, Box 8, Folder 1

Letter from Hancock Eustace with Bristoe Rents

To The Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Sir, Your letter of the 9th just received and now before me, and in reply I have to inform you that my silence here to you has proceeded, first from a daily expectation of receiving further advice of counsel in my agency as it respected the representatives of my predecessor, and secondly from the very reduced price of tobacco at the time and ever since I completed my collection of the rents due from the tenants on the Bristoe Tract of Land for the year 1806. I wrote you last spring that the representatives of my predecessor refused to go into a settlement in the way proposed in my instructions from the Executive & solicited further instructions, to this communication. I have as yet received no answer and am therefore intently at a loss what steps to pursue in this part of my business. If my predecessor is answerable for all the rents which became due during his agency I have thought it unnecessary for me to attempt a settlement with the tenants or to ascertain what might be due from them to him. The tobacco I have collected is now in my possession, subject to the disposal or order of the Executive permits me to assure you Sir & though you the Council of State, that every exertion has been made by me, not only to collect the rents as they have become due, but to sell the tobacco now in my possession. Below you have a list of the tenants, names and the amount of rent due from each and requested.

James Kemp 

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

William Gray

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

James Purcell

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

Samuel Purcell

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

Jesse Barron

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

Anderson & Hall
  
500 lbs. crop tobacco

Phillip Spiller
  
  500 lbs. crop tobacco

George Fegan
  
500 lbs. crop tobacco

Moor Hoof
  
  250 lbs. crop tobacco

Jesse Ewell

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

Alexander Compton
1250 lbs. crop tobacco

Charles Ewell

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

Stephen King

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

John Linton

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

Francis Taylor

  500 lbs. crop tobacco

Wm. Farrow

  500 lbs. crop tobacco

John Jackson

1200 lbs. crop tobacco

John Sutton

1167 lbs. crop tobacco


Rodham King

1000 lbs. crop tobacco

John Maddox

5500 lbs. crop tobacco

David Reno

1333 lbs. crop tobacco

Larkin Murphy

  500 lbs. crop tobacco

Hezekiah Dunnington
  500 lbs. crop tobacco

Wm. Hambleton

1000 lbs. crop tobacco








I am Sir with the utmost


  4000





Respect your obt. Servt.


  9533





Hancock Eustace



12667

26,200 ttl

Undated letter

Governors Executive Papers – William Cabell

Accession #41135, Box 8, Folder 10

Abraham McDonald Petition

       To his Excellency the Governor of Virginia


The humble petition of Abraham McDonald sheweth that your petitioner was sentenced by the District Court at Dumfries to go and remain at the penitentiary house for the term of four years for killing James Billingsley of Fauquier County with a blow of his fist which was done, and caused to be done by irritating and improper threatening language on the part of the said Billingsley, he declaring he would have your petitioners life if a weapon could be procured that would do it. And accordingly got a pair of Taylor’s shears apparently for that purpose, this your petitioner was informed of by one of the witnesses and advised to be on his guard as he conceived his life to be in danger, in consequence whereof, your petitioner gave the unhappy blow which put a period to the existence of the said Billingsley. Now your humble petitioner together with a distressed wife and three helpless children (one of them born blind) prayeth and beggeth that your Excellency would extend mercy to him, and in compassion to the distressed and deplorable situation his helpless family, would remit his punishment and liberate him on a shorter period than by law he was adjudged to serve; a number of his neighbors acquainted with him in the county wherein he lived have annexed their signatures in his behalf, which he humbly hopes will incline your Excellency to compassionate the distress and grant the petitioners humbly request, and your petitioners will ever pray.

__ Pickett



George Riley


John Jacobs

Charles Graves



James Sowers


John Graves

Samuel Ashby



W. Edmunds


Lewis Wood

Jno Bir---ett



Luke B-----


D. Hansbury

John Chapman



William Hooe


Jacob Scott

Jas. Hampton



Henry Brown


William Monroe

Edmund Newman


Nathan McPherson

Frederick Hampton

(Two additional pages of signatures were not transcribed)



Dumfries, Va.  May 11th 1809

Box #1,  Folder 11, Accession # 41223, RG3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler

Prince William County Court, April 3rd 1809


Ordered that the Magistrates of the County be summoned to the first day of May court next to recommend to the Executive fit and proper persons to act as Magistrates in this County in the room of William Downman Gent. deceased and Thomas P. Hooe Gent. deceased and to fill up vacancies which have occurred in the 36th and 89th Regiments Virginia Militia.








Teste
J. Williams Cl. Cur.


Sheriffs returns “Executed on Robert Graham, Samuel Jackson, James Deneale, John Macrae, Alexander Henderson, Thomas Harrison, William Grant, David Boyle, Thomas Page.








John M. Tyler D.S. for Wm. Barnes


Executed on John Brown, Henry Washington, W. J. Washington, Charles Ewell, Gerard Alexander Jr. and Charles Tyler.








J. Leachman for Wm. Barnes.


Executed on James Ewell, Bernard Hooe Jr., and Gerard Alexander.








Wm. Shaw D.S. for Wm. Barnes

Prince William County Court, May 1st 1809


Present, Henry Washington, Robert H. Hooe, John Macrae, Charles Ewell, William Grant, Thomas T. Page, Bernard Hooe Jr., James Deneale, David Boyle, Philip Alexander, Samuel Jackson and Robert Graham gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following Gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be Commissioned as justices of the peace in this county, Vizt. William H. Winters in the room of Thomas P. Hooe deceased, Zachariah Ward in the room of William Downman deceased, Thomas Newman in the room of Spencer Ball removed & George Smith in the room of John M. Muschett deceased.








Teste
J. Williams

Dumfries, Va.  March 29th 1809

Box #1,  Folder 4, Accession # 41223

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler

To the Clerk of the Executive Council, Richmond

Prince William County Court, January 2nd 1809


Ordered that the Magistrates of this County  be summoned to the next Court to recommend proper persons to the Executive to be commissioned as Magistrates in the room of Townshound Dade deceased and George W. Lindsay removed.








J. Williams Cl. Cur.


“Sheriffs Return”  In obedience to the within I have summoned Charles Tyler, W. J. Washington and John Brown.





Wm Shaw D.S. for Wm. Barnes


Executed on Thomas Harrison, Alexander Henderson, William Grant, John Macrae, David Boyles, Thomas T. Page, James Deneale, Samuel Jackson, John M. Muschett and Robert Graham.








John M. Tyler D.S. for William Barnes

Prince William County Court, February 6th 1809


Ordered that the following Gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Justices of the Peace in the County Vizt. John Fox in the room of Townshoun Dade deceased and Robert Welch in the room of George W. Lindsay removed.








Teste
J. Williams Cl. Cur.

Richmond, Va. 1809

Box #1,  Folder 4, Accession # 41223

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler


“In pursuance to an Act of the General Assembly. In an Act to amend an Act entitled an “Act to organize and establish a Superior Court of Law in each County of the Commonwealth” and also an Act supplemental thereto passed in the last General Assembly. It is advised that the Judges of the General Court be allotted in the following manner to wit is to say: Northumberland, Lancaster, Richmond, Westmoreland, King George, Stafford, Prince William, & Fairfax

Dumfries, Va. May 1st 1809

Box #1,  Folder 12, Accession # 41223

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler


The Governor submitted to the board a recommendation of Magistrates made by the County Court of Prince William, February 6th 1809. Upon examination and consideration whereof, it appearing by the Sheriffs return that all the acting magistrates of said county had not been postponed under the order of the said court of the 2nd January proceeding the said recommendation, and it not appearing that a majority of  said Magistrates were present when said recommendation was made, the Board do therefore advise that the said recommendation appears not to have been made pursuant to the law in such cases, and that the same shall therefore be referred back to the court of said county with a request that they shall cause the number or names of the magistrates present when such recommendation was made to be certified to the Governor, if their number will contribute a majority of the whole number of the acting magistrates of said county, then otherwise that said court may proceed to make another recommendation conformably to the law

Dumfries, Va.  June 2nd 1809

Box #2,  Folder 1, Accession # 41223

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler

     Sir,


The following recommendations were sent down to Richmond sometime in February last, and as no Commissions have come to hand, I take the liberty of forwarding them a second time.








Your obedient servant









John Williams

Prince William County Court, January 2nd 1809


Ordered that the Magistrates of this County be summoned to the next Court to recommend to the Executive proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates in the room of Townshond Dade deceased and George W. Lindsay removed.


“Sheriffs Return”  In obedience to the within I have summoned Charles Tyler, W. J. Washington and John Brown.





Wm Shaw D.S. for Wm. Barnes


Executed on Thomas Harrison, Alexander Henderson, William Grant, John Macrae, David Boyles, Thomas T. Page, James Deneale, Samuel Jackson, John M. Muschett and Robert Graham.








John M. Tyler D.S. for William Barnes

Prince William County Court, February 6th 1809, Present: Alexander Henderson, Charles Ewell, William Grant, Thomas T. Page, Jno M. Muschett, James Deneale, David Boyle, Samuel Jackson, and Robert Graham gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following Gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Justices of the Peace in the County Vizt. John Fox in the room of Townshoun Dade deceased and Robert Welch in the room of George W. Lindsay removed.








Teste
J. Williams Cl. Cur.

Dumfries, Va.  December 18th 1809

Box #3,  Folder 5, Accession # 41223

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler

To William Hooe Esq. representative from King George County, Richmond

     Dear Sir,


I enclose to you the certificate of my father Jesse Davis authenticating the services of my two uncles John Davis and Presley Davis who died in the late revolutionary war. I am their heir at law and have not obtained their bounty in land that the State of Virginia gave to all her officers. Not the time Virginia sold to conscripts all the lands on the north side of the Ohio she made a reservation of all the lands between the little meanny and the Sioto rivers for her officers and soldiers. There is unappropriated   lands in that Reserve yet and if you can get my uncles’ land warrants for me they are to be located in that reserve. The certificate I enclose to you is certified by the magistrate where my father resides and also confirmed by general Charles Scott a meritorious officer in the last year – and if the governor and council will do me justice they will grant my lands – there are two modes of obtaining warrants one by applying to the governor and usual which is the most proper way – the other to petition the legislature to grant the warrants this is the manner in which my father obtained his lands and I have obtained patents on them – congress appears to have very disposition to compensate her old officers and I hope that the assembly of Virginia will not refuse to act in a similar way – congress has passed a law last year giving all persons their heirs the time of three years to get their lands. I will forever remember the favour if you will exert yourself in getting the land. You are acquainted with my father and uncles and no doubt you distinctly recall when they enlisted. I will refer to your sir to select the most judicious mode to apply for the warrants let the warrants issue in the names of the parties my two uncles and you will please to bring the warrants home with you – I shall remain in Alexandria until next spring you will please to write me a letter informing me of the fate of my business direct your letter to Alexandria.








With Respect








Thomas M. Davis


I do hereby certify that the certificates of Jesse Davis, Nicholas Minor  J P N C & the confirmation of Chas Scott late Brig. Genl. in the Continental Army was received by me enclosed in this letter at the Post Office Richmond.








January 4th 1808








Will Hooe Jr.

February 6th 1810

Box #3,  Folder 11, Accession # 41223

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler


The Governor laid before the Board a letter from Hancock Eustace agent for the Commonwealth in the management of the Bristow Estate, dated February 6th 1810 which letter is directed to be filed and thereupon it is advised that the said Eustace be instructed to sell with as little delay as possible the tobacco belonging to the Public, now in his hands & hereafter collected for cash, or on a credit of ninety notes with good ___ negotiable at some bank within the limits of Virginia or the District of Columbia provided in his opinion a better price can be obtained on such credit than by selling the same for cash.

Prince William County Court May 6th 1811

To George Wm. Smith, Lieutenant Governor of Virginia

Box #1,  Folder 5, Accession # 41324
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It appearing to the Court by an inquisition taken before John Brown gentleman one of the Commonwealths justices of the Peace for Prince William County as well by evidence & heard by the Court on the examination of Marmaduke C. Leigh that Negro Edmund lately belonging to the heirs of Edward Carter  deceased hath been lately murdered by one Joseph Steel under circumstances of peculiar and aggravated barbarity, that the said Steel hath fled from justice and notwithstanding every effort to arrest him he hath not been taken, but is believed to be still lying hid somewhere in the State. Therefore on the motion of the Attorney for the Commonwealth it is ordered that the above facts be certified to the Lieutenant Governor & Council of this Commonwealth in order that measures may be by them adopted to bring the said Steele to Justice.



Teste,








John Williams Cl Cur








Dumfries, Va.

Lieutenant Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia - A Proclamation

Court of Prince William proclamation against Joseph Steel

Box #1,  Folder 6, Accession # 41324, 11 May 1811

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – George William Smith

By the Lieutenant Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia

A Proclamation


Whereas it has been certified to the Executive by the Court of Prince William that by “An Inquisition taken before John Brown, one of the Commonwealth Justices of the Peace for said County, as well as by evidence heard by the Court on the examination of Marmaduke C. Leigh that a Negro Edmund, lately belonging to the heirs of Edward Carter deceased hath been lately murdered by one Joseph Steel under circumstances of peculiar and aggravated barbarity, that the said Steel hath fled from justice and notwithstanding every effort to arrest him he hath not been taken, but is believed to be still lying hid somewhere in the State.” I have therefore thought fit with the advice of the Council of State, to issue this Proclamation, hereby offering a reward of One Hundred Dollars, to any person or persons, who shall apprehend and convey to the Jail of the said County of Prince William, the said Joseph Steel: And I do moreover enjoy all officers, Civil and Military, and exhort the good people of the Commonwealth to use their best endeavors to apprehend and convey to the Jail aforesaid, the said Joseph Steel, that he may be dealt with as the Law directs.








Given under my hand as Lieutenant








Governor with the seal of the  








Commonwealth annexed, at Richmond,








This 11th day of May 1811








Geo. Wm. Smith

Buckland, Prince William County, Va. July 3rd 1811

Box #2,  Folder 4, Accession # 41324, 11 May 1811

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – George William Smith

From Capt. Hampton of a troop of cavalry, Prince William County

       Sir,


I beg the privilege of introducing the following gentlemen to your notice as officers, to fill the vacancies which have taken place in the Troop of Cavalry, which I have the honor of commanding, in the 2nd Regiment. & 2nd Division Militia; owing to the removal of Larkin N. Sanders 1st Lieut.  William P. Neale cornet, out of the county. Robert Brown Jun. 1st lieutenant, Bernard Hooe Jun. 1st lieut. And Lewis Blackwell cornet.  Those gentlemen were selected by the troops, and having a personal acquaintance with all of them, have no hesitation in saying. They possess my confidence, are qualified, and will discharge their duty with promptness and fidelity. Being anxious for those gentlemen to be commissioned immediately, in the cause of my making this procedure. 

I am Sir.







Very respectfully your most obedient servant









John Hampton

Governors Executive Papers

Wilson Cary Nicholas

Box 2, Folder 1

Commonwealth vs Bryant Johnson

Prince William Court March 6, 1815


The Grand Jury returned into court with sundry presentments and an indictment against Bryant Johnson “A True Bill” having nothing further to present were discharged. The following is a copy of the indictment.

Commonwealth vs Johnson

Prince William County to wit:


The jurors of the county aforesaid upon their oath present that Bryant Johnson of the said county, mail driver, on the (blank) day of (blank) in the year 1815 with force and arms at the county aforesaid in and upon one Thomas T. Page, then being one of the Commonwealths Justices of the Peace for the county aforesaid, in the peace of God and of the said Commonwealth and in the due execution of his said office then and there also being, did make an assault and him the said Thomas T. Page then and there did beat wound and ill treat so that his life was greatly despaired of; and other wrongs to the said Thomas T. Page then and there did to the great damage of the said Thomas T. Page and against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth.

Thomas T. Page gent






Heath   Atto

Prosecutor Prince William County




Pro. Rep.

“A True Bill

         Philip Warder foreman”

Commonwealth vs Johnson

Prince William County to wit:

  
This day came Thomas T. Page before me the subscriber a justice of the peace in and for the county aforesaid and made oath. That the within mentioned Bryant Johnson has fled from justice, and is resident in the District of Columbia.







Given under my hand this 28th September 1815










Wm. Barnes

Commonwealth vs Johnson

Copy of Summons

 
The Commonwealth of Virginia – To the Sheriff of Prince William County Greetings. You are hereby commanded to summon Bryant Johnson to appear before the justices of our County Court of Prince William at the Court house in the Town of Dumfries on the first day of June Court next to answer an indictment found “A True Bill” against him by the Grand Jury at March Term last for an assault on Thomas T. Page one of the Commonwealths Justices of the Peace for the County of Prince William while in the due execution of his office. And have then there this writ. Witness Philip D. Dawe clerk of our said court at the Court House aforesaid this 17th day of March 1815 and in the 39th year of the Commonwealth.









Phil. D. Dawe


Sheriffs return “Not found   W. R. Chapman D.S. for E. Brooke.”

Prince William County Court, June 5th 1815 continued until tomorrow

Prince William County Court, June 9th 1815, alias summons awarded

Copy of Alias Summons:

The Commonwealth of Virginia – To the Sheriff of (blank)County Greetings. You are hereby commanded to summon Bryant Johnson to appear before the justices of our County Court of Prince William at the Court house in the Town of Dumfries on the first day of August Court next to answer an indictment found “A True Bill” against him by the Grand Jury at March Term last for an assault on Thomas T. Page one of the Commonwealths Justices of the Peace for the County of Prince William while in the due execution of his office. And have then there this writ. Witness Philip D. Dawe clerk of our said court at the Court House aforesaid this 16th day of June 1815 and in the 39th year of the Commonwealth.









Phil. D. Dawe

Sheriffs return “No Inhabitant of my bailiwick, W. R. Chapman D.S. for E. Brooke”

Prince William County Court August 8th 1815, Capias awarded against the Defendant

Copy of the Capias:

The Commonwealth of Virginia – To the Sheriff of Prince William County Greetings. We commanded you that you take Bryant Johnson if he is found in your bailiwick, and him safely keep so that you have his body before the justices of our said County Court at the Court House, on the first Monday in November next to answer an indictment found “A True Bill” against him by the Grand Jury at March Term last for an assault on Thomas T. Page one of the Commonwealths Justices of the Peace for the County of Prince William while in the due execution of his office. And have then there this writ. Witness Philip D. Dawe clerk of our said court at the Court House aforesaid this 18th day of August 1815 and in the 40th year of the Commonwealth.









Phil. D. Dawe

Sheriffs return “No inhabitant of my bailiwick as I understand. W. R. Chapman for Edmund Brooke”









Teste, Phil D. Dawe Cl Cur.

Governors Executive Papers

Wilson Cary Nicholas

Box 2, Folder 1

Commonwealth vs Bryant Johnson

To His Excellency Wilson Carey Nicholas Esq.

       Dear Sir;


Sometime in the month of February in the present year I was applied too as a magistrate for Prince William County by Zachariah Ward of the Town of Occoquan for a peace warrant against a certain Bryant Johnson who at that time resided in the same place ---- after examining the witnesses against him I found it necessary to require security for his appearance at our next court and --------- he drew a pistol from his pocket and -----------. I pursued the legal mode by ordering the constable to summon all the bystanders if necessary so as to take him in custody – this was refused by the constable as well as the populace --- and although there was no occasion for me to have hazarded my life to secure him – yet I could not bear to see the laws of my country treated with contempt and I pursued him determined he should not completely escape – when near enough to him he collared me with one hand and flashed a loaded pistol within six inches of my breast ---- I then __ him with four strong men to take him to jail but through carelessness of the officer he was permitted to escape. He escaped to the District of Columbia so as to ___ any attempt that may be made to recover him.


I hope, and believe Sir, it is in your power to have him delivered to your order and placed in the jail of this county for trial, of this you will ___ if in your power to do so – I hope you will be prompt in making an example of him – for unless  some active means are ___ - we might as well be without law in this part of the world – please inform me ___ soon. I am ----- ------ -----








T. T. Page








May 2nd 1815

Governors Executive Papers

Wilson Cary Nicholas
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Edmund Brooke Letter


To his Excellency the Governor of Virginia and the Honorable Members of the Privy Council of Virginia. The Memorial of Edmund Brooke respectfully Sheweth:


That your Memorialist was appointed a Magistrate for the said County in the year of our Lord ever since which time his services in discharge of the duties incident thereto have been incessant and laborious. The only reward which he has received for these services, in dependently of that which he has felt for having discharged a public duty was the office of High Sheriff of the said County, which in the usual rotation of that office among the Magistrates of the County, devolved on him in the month of November 1814, when he qualified to a Commission sent up for him, by giving Bond and Security in the Court of said County according to law, on the 8th day of the said month of November. Your Memorialist having some important business to transact in Great Britain which required his personal attention, he embarked from this Country early in the month of July last, with a positive determination to return in the month of October following for the purpose of being here in time to renew his obligation for the discharge of the duties of the Sheriffety for another year with the view his expedition was hurried; and he embarked from that Country in the month of September last, in due time to have accomplished this object, but, unfortunately, contrary winds, and a series of disasters seldom experienced at sea at any other season before prevented his return till about the middle of November last. Hearing that a new Commission was sent up for him, he attended Prince William Court in the month of December for the purpose of qualifying to it, when, to his utter astonishment, he found out that a Commission had also been sent for James Deneale the next Magistrate entitled to succeed your Memorialist, by whom a vigorous opposition being made on the ground of your Memorialist claim to the office being superseded and annulled by his commission of a later date. The said Court of Prince William refused to qualify your Memorialist and permitted the said James Deneale to qualify. Whereby he is deprived of the benefits of the said office for one year. Your Memorialist begs leave to state that the inconvenience which has resulted to him has arisen from two orders of the Court of Prince William which will appear from a Certificate of the Clerk of the said County herewith sent on which the appointment of  Mr. Deneale was predicated. The first of these orders made at October Court states that your Memorialist was absent beyond the seas a circumstance totally unnecessary and improper to have been stated before history of service expired. The other order made on the 7th of November his term of service not expiring till the 8th, stating that he was still beyond the high seas and not likely to return, at which time your Memorialist was within the jurisdiction of the United States on the American Coast using every exertion to get here. The said court in deciding this question being of opinion that they were bound to give a preference to Mr. Deneale in consequence of his commission being of a later date, your Memorialist has no remedy without the interoperation of your Honorable Body, to whose his case is humbly submitted, under the hope that that justice will be rendered him which he is entitled to, and your Memorialist is duty bound shall ever pray &c.









E. Brooke

Governors Executive Papers

Wilson Cary Nicholas

Box 2, Folder 10

Edmund Brooke Letter 

To Honorable Peter Daniel or in his absence any member of the Privy Council, Richmond


When I had the pleasure of seeing you a few days ago at the City of Washington, you had the goodness to promise that you would enquire and let me know on your return to Richmond. Whether it was too late now to apply to the Executive to resend an appointment lately made by the Court of Prince William County of Mr. Deneale as Sheriff. Whereby I have been deprived of the evolvements of that office a year sooner than I ought to have been – not having had the pleasure of hearing from you. I take the liberty of addressing to you a letter inclosing a memorial and sundry documents whereby you will fully understand the subject, and shall esteem it a particular favour if you will lay them before the Executive for their decision. I have understood that there was a case in the County of Jefferson or Berkeley precisely in point with mine where the Executive reinstated the former Sheriff. If this can be done it would be more agreeable to me having favored it to a man who is at present out of employment but if this cannot now be done I hope at the end of Mr. Deneale’s first year I can again receive the appointment. Your mention to this business in my behalf will confer an obligation on me, which will be increased by a letter addressed to me informing me of the result. My address will be Hay Market, Prince William.

Accept the complements of the season and believe me in ____.









Your Friend & Subject









      E. Brooke

P. S. – Mr. Wm. Barksdale of Richmond who was a passenger with me if necessary will prove that I was on the American Coast the 1st of November.

Governors Executive Papers

Wilson Cary Nicholas

Box 3, Folder 6

 To the Governor of Virginia


Your memorialist David Boyle encloses the annexed copies from the records of the County Court of Prince William to your Excellency and the executive council in order to shew that in the late nomination of fit persons to fill the office of high sheriff of the County of Prince William your memorialist was wrongfully and improperly omitted in that nomination by the said court.


That it will be seen by the enclosed copies that your memorialist is an older acting justice of the peace than either James Deneale or Gerard Alexander the persons nominated by the said court – that it will be seen by the papers in the office of state – that the commission of your memorialist as a justice is equal with that of those persons who have been nominated.


That the uniform practice of the several county court to recommend the several justices to the Executive in due rotation according to the time of their service has given to your memorialist, as he conceives a higher claim to the office, than the persons above named. That the County Court aforesaid in making the nomination which your memorialist complains of has not passed by your memorialist because of any objection to him in relative to character, or because of the higher claims of those nominated, on the ground of greater services of office rendered by them, but upon the erroneous principle that they are first entitled to the office because they have been first named in the commission and that there qualification to the commission relates back to the date of the commission itself.


Your memorialist if time be given him will be able to make out proof the most satisfactory by the records of the court by the evidence of bar, and the officers of the said court – and many others – that as far as character, and services as a justice, rendered as well in court as out of it will ___ your memorialist to the office of sheriff before those, who have been nominated by the court – that your memorialist is so entitled – that the county court in order the more effectually to___ the interest and views of those whom they have nominated – has disregarded the law, which requires that three fit persons should be recommended to the executive to fill the office of sheriff, and it will be seen that the said court has recommended but two – and his was done in order to exclude wholly your memorialist from any competition  with those nominated. Because according to the principal adopted by the court its self, if more than two were nominated your memorialist must have been the third.


Your memorialist therefore concurs that in the manner of the nomination, the law has been manifestly disregarded – and upon the principle uniformly adopted by the county court therefore, and governing all the county courts in like cases, and upon the ground that length of service gives claim to the office that your memorialist is entitled thereto in the present instance and that in the nomination complained of has been unjustly and improperly permitted – that of this your memorialist will be able to produce the most satisfactory evidence if the commission be delayed and the county court be required to make the nomination to the office of sheriff as the law requires.









David Boyle









Dumfries, Prince William County

Governors Executive Papers

Wilson Cary Nicholas

Box 3, Folder 6

Prince William County Court December 5th 1815


James Deneale produced to the Court a commission from the Governor appointing him Sheriff of the County bearing date the 22nd November 1815 in the following words Vizt. The Commonwealth of Virginia To all to whom these presents shall come Greetings. Know ye that it having been duly certified to us that Edmund Brooke, Sheriff of Prince William County has failed to qualify according to law and the court of the said county having in June last nominated James Deneale as a fit person to fill the office of Sheriff, our Governor, with the advice of the Council of State and according to the law in that case made and provided, doth hereby constitute and appoint the said James Deneale Sheriff of the said County. In testimony whereof, these our letters are sealed with the seal of the Commonwealth and made patent. Witness Wilson C. Nicholas Esq. your said Governor at Richmond, on the twenty second day of November in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and fifteen and fortieth of the Commonwealth.








Wilson C. Nicholas   (seal)

And offered to qualify as Sheriff and Edmund Brooke the Sheriff for the year 1814 that being the first year of his service likewise desired permission of the court to qualify as Sheriff under a commission dated August the 19th 1815 in the following words &c. Vizt. “The Commonwealth of Virginia To all whom these present letters shall come, greetings: Know ye that Edmund Brooke the present Sheriff of Prince William County, having signified his consent to continue in office another year, our Governor, with the advice of the Council of State, doth hereby commission him the said Edmund Brooke to continue in the said office of Sheriff until the expiration of two years from the date of his first qualification, pursuant to law. In testimony whereof these our letters are sealed with the seal of the Commonwealth and made patent.  Witness Wilson C. Nicholas Esquire, our said Governor at Richmond, on the nineteenth day of August in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and fifteen and fortieth of the Commonwealth.








W. C. Nicholas

But the Court refused Brooke and permitted Deneale to qualify on the ground that the subsequent commission of Deneale had superseded and annulled that of Edmund Brooke and that the said Brooke had failed to give bond & security at November Term last and that failure having been certified to the Governor by the Clerk of this Court, and the Clerk having with the certificate aforesaid transmitted a copy of an order of the court made on the 7th November last in the following words Vizt. “Edmund Brooke gentleman High Sheriff of this county touching whom it was certified to the Governor and council at October Court last that he was absent beyond seas not having returned and it not appearing to the Court that there is any prospect of his early return from beyond seas aforesaid. It is therefore ordered that James Deneale and Gerard Alexander gent. Be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.” Whereupon the said James Deneale took the oath of Sheriff of this County as prescribed by law and the oath to support the constitution of the United States the oath forgiving assurance of fidelity to this state and the oath to suppress dueling and entered into and acknowledged three bonds with security according to law which bonds are ordered to be recorded.








Teste, Phil D. Dawe, Cl. Cur.

Memo - Edmund Brooke gent. Qualified under his first commission as Sheriff on the 8th November 1814








P. D. Dawe,  Cl. Cur

Governors Executive Papers

Wilson Cary Nicholas

Box 3, Folder 6

Prince William County Court November 7th 1815


Edmund Brooke gentleman High Sheriff of this County touching whom it was certified to the Governor and Council at October Court last that he was absent beyond seas, not having returned and it not appearing to the Court that there is any prospect of his early return from beyond seas as aforesaid. It is therefore ordered that James Deneale and Gerard Alexander gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.









Teste, Phil D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Edmond Brooke gent. Has not qualified to his second commission as sheriff which bears date 19th August 1815.









Phil D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Dumfries, Va., April 24th 1820

John Linton letter – 36 Regt. Militia

Box #1,  Folder 6, Accession # 41324

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – George William Smith

Letter from Jno Linton, Col. Com. 36th Regt, Prince William Militia









Prince William County









April 24th 1820

To His Excellency

The Governor of Virginia

Richmond

Sir,


Since my appointment as full boss of the two Regiments that have been consolidated in this County. I found that there was a number of vacancies as to the Officers in both Regiments, Occasioned by death, resignation & removal, as soon as I qualified to my commission I informed the County Court of the circumstance & they made an order summoning the Magistrates of the County to their last November Court at which time, all the vacancies that had occurred were filed so far as a respectable County Court could fill them, by making recommendations to the Executive of the best character that could be selected in the County which recommendation the Clerk of the Court informed me was sent on to Richmond soon after the residing of the Court, but from some cause which I am unacquainted with no commissions have yet been sent to the Officers for the want of which the Regiment as well as the Publick in case of a sudden call for men would be seriously embarrassed not having at this time more than half the number of officers that the Regiment is entitled to, & many of the companies have only one commissioned officers , & one company is entirely without officers or non commissioned officers and the men in that company district not enrolled at all, of course a true return cannot be made this spring as the law directs of the real strength of the Regiment. I have lately received from the Brigadier orders to summon the officers of the Regiment to a central point in the county for the purpose of being trained by the Brigade Inspector, but from the smallness of the present numbers, and the absence that always happens, owing to unavoidable circumstances that the number meeting the Brigade Inspector will be so small as to deaden all Military Pride and undulation  among the few that meet and in a great measure, defeats the intention of the law, but at the same time incurs all the expense of pay allowed the Brigade Inspector.


From the moment I received my commission I have done everything in my power to get the Regiment completely officered but not having succeeded. I conceive a since of duty impels me to address this letter to Your Excellency & request the attention of the Executive to the subject and do hope that they will take such steps as they may in their wisdom deem proper.





With very great respect






I am your Excellency’s Obedient Servant







John Linton bat com







of 36th Regt. Prince William Militia.

(Answered 6 May 1820)

Dumfries, Prince William County Va., 29 February 1820

Box #1, Folder 1, Accession # 41887
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To John Burfoot Esquire

Clerk of the Privy Council

Richmond, Va.

        Sir, 

Since my appointment to the command of the 36th Regt. Of Militia I have not been able to ascertain what is the uniform declared by the Executive for the Militia Officers of the State as I suppose there is an order recorded in the Journals of the Council saying what the uniform is that have been fixed on by the Executive. 

I have to request that you will enclose me a copy of the order in without which all the new appointed officers as well as myself are at a loss to know what is the real uniform prescribed for the Militia.







Your immediate Attention will much Oblige







Sir your Obet.







John Linton, Dumfries

Dumfries, Prince William County, February 12th  1820

Letter from John Linton to C. W. Gooch, Adjutant General, Richmond

Report of Consolidation of 89th & 36th Regiments

Box #1, Folder 11, Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Sir. 


The enclosed proceedings of the board of officers are now sent on to your office as a continuance & close of a report made by me on the 18th of last September of their proceedings in relation to the Consolidation of the two Regiments in the County agreeable to direction contained in your two letters the first of dated 19th of last August and the other the 7th of October following.








I am , Sir very respectfully









Your Obet. Serv.










John Linton ___







Commandant of the 36th Regt. Virginia Militia.


At a Meeting of a Board of Officers of the 36th Regiment of Virginia Militia held by an adjournment at Thomas Davis’ Tavern in Prince William County on the 2nd day of October 1819 for the purpose of designating which of the two troops of Cavalry now existing in said Regiment shall be Continued and for the further purpose of designating the officers to such troop as shall be Continued.

The following Order was made Viz.


“Colonel John Linton who was authorized at the last meeting to correspond with the Adjutant General on the above mentioned subject, not having received any communication from him. It is ordered that this board be adjourned to the next Regimental Court of Inquiry for the 36th Regiment.








Teste – Phil. D. Dawe Cl Cur


At a Regimental Court of Inquiry for the assessment of fines for the 36th Regiment Virginia Militia held at the house of Robert Appleby in the County of Prince William on the 27th November 1819

The following order was made Viz:


Ordered that the two troops of Cavalry in the County be consolidated and that Lieu O command, Wm. R. Chapman command the same. It is further ordered that on the day of the next Regimental Muster a  board of Officers will convene for the purpose of discharging the surplus of the Company, if any exist, so as to produce the least inconvenience to his men, and that they parade at Randolph’s old field near Presley Davis’ on the 2nd Saturday in April next.







Teste – P.D. Dawe Cl Cur


Dumfries, Prince William County Court, April 2nd 1820

Box #2, Folder 3, Accession # 41887
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Robert Wallace Letter

To Thomas M. Randolph Esq.

Governor of Virginia, Richmond









Dumfries, March 28th 1820

Dear Sir,


My relation, Mr. Robert Wallace of Fauquier, has desired me to introduce him to your acquaintance as a candidate for the command of the Regt. Of Artillery attached to the Division of Militia to which he belongs. It becomes me to speak of him with delicacy & reserve; and I shall confine myself to relating what I have heard of his pretensions, and to a reference to the letters he will forward to you.


I am informed that when a boy of about 16 years of age, he left his parents, and joined a corps of Militia ordered to the neighborhood of Hampton to repel the incursions of the enemy. He was in the battle that occurred in the vicinity of that place; and I am told, acquitted himself with considerable credit. He is said to have developed strong features of the military character in this his first essay. The complimentary letter of Major Corbin, however is the best testimony in relation to his conduct in his short campaign at Hampton. You will, no doubt be furnished with that letter. He obtained afterwards the appointment of Cadet in the Military Academy at West Point. His proficiency and conduct there, will be made known to you by documents which I presume, he will transmit to you. After leaving the Academy at West Point, he preferred a civil profession to command in the military peace establishment, and has become a member of the Bar. As to his capacity & qualifications severally I beg leave to refer you to those letters that he will no doubt procure and send you.








I am very respectfully your obedient servant









J. Macrae.

P. S. I shall avail myself of an opportunity soon (now that I suppose you are somewhat relieved by the rising of the legislature) to answer your very kind and most grateful letter of the 12th of July last.









J. M.

(Four other letters in this file were not copied. Letter one was from John P. Duval written 3 April 1820. Letter number two was from West Point written June 22nd 1817. Letter three from Buckland Va. written by John Love dated June 1st 1820. Letter four from Warrenton Va. from John Robert Wallace written 31 March 1820.)

Prince William County Court, July 3rd  1820

Box #2, Folder 7, Accession # 41887
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Note

  To Thomas M. Randolph Esq.

  Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Ordered that Washington J. Washington, Philip Alexander and Zachariah Ward, gentlemen, be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County. 








Teste – Phil. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Dumfries, Prince William County Va.  March 5th  1821

Box #3, Folder 12, Accession # 41887
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Recommendations for Justices


At a Court of Quarterly Sessions held for Prince William County, November the 7th 1820. Present, Charles Ewell, Gerard Alexander, William Smith and Jesse Ewell, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the Magistrates of this County as summoned to the first day of March Court next to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in this County.

Sheriffs Returns


In pursuant of the within order I have summoned Charles Ewell, Philip Alexander, Gerard Alexander, Charles Ming, Robert H. Little, Edmond Brooke, Thomas Newman, John M. Tyler, John Hooe Jr. and Robert H. Hooe which are all Magistrates in that part of the County above Cedar Run and Occoquan.






Henry Brewer D.S.









for  W. J. Washington


“Executed on James Deneale, Thos Chapman, John Linton and Wm. Smith, Jno Bronaugh has not been a resident of the County of Prince William he at present being a member of the Legislature.









W. R. Chapman D.S.









for W. J. Washington


Executed on Jno Fox, William M. Craig, Zachariah Ward, Michael Cleary & William Barnes.









Jno Tansill D.S.









for W. J. Washington


The two last returns contain all the Magistrates in the lower District of Prince William County.









Wm. R. Chapman D.S.









for W. J. Washington

The following is a copy of a letter from Thomas T. Page Esq. to John Tansill.


“Sir your letter to me of this m----- was received in which your request I would acknowledge the service of the summons this I wish it was in my power to do, but believing it would answer no purpose as the law directs the mode by which business of this kind is to be over had you have come to my house in my absence your having a written notice would have justified you in making a proper return, but your doing this by a person not sworn to do the duties of Sheriff will in my opinion be of no effect however you can see whether the court will admit it or not I should not have attended if it had been regularly served.








I am respectfully your obedient









Thomas T. Page









March 6th 1821

The following is a copy of the affidavit of William R. Chapman on the back of the forgoing letter.

Prince William County to wit;


William R. Chapman personally appeared before me a Justice of the Peace for said County and made oath that he is well acquainted with the handwriting of Thomas T. Page and that the within letter and signatures is his own handwriting and that the summons allowed to in the within was to March Court 1821 to recommend Justices of the Peace for said County, and that the said Page is a Justice of the Peace for said County. Given under my hand this 5th day of March 1821.









John Linton








Copies Teste









P. D. Dawe Cl Cur


At a Court of Quarterly Sessions held for Prince William County, March 5th 1821. Present Charles Ewell, Robert H. Little, John Linton and William Smith, Gentlemen Justices.


Ordered that the following gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates in this County. Viz. Gerard Alexander Jr. in the room of Humphrey Peake removed George W. Jackson in the room of Jesse Ewell removed in the Upper District of this County. Robert Hooe Jr. removed to the Bar. Jas Gallagher in the room of Thomas Lawson removed, and Francis H. Dunnington the Court believing an additional Magistrate necessary near the Seat of Justice.









Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Dumfries, Prince William County Va. 6th  June 1821

Box #4,  Folder 5, Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph Esq.

(the following letters and notes were mixed in this folder)


His Excellency, Thomas M. Randolph Esq.

Governor of Virginia, Richmond








Dumfries, June 6th 1821

Sir,

At a quarterly court held for this county on Monday last Mr. Edmond Brook was nominated to act as next High Sheriff for this County to the exclusion of myself, the circumstances of which will be communicated to the Executive by a Memorial which is now preparing and which will be transmitted in the course of a few days.








Respectfully Yours,








Obt. Servant








Philip Alexander

Prince William County

Remonstrance of Phillip Alexander against the nomination of  Sheriff

June 7th 1821 – Dumfries Va.



To the Executive of Virginia

The memorial of the undersigned respectfully sheweth: That he considers himself entitled, according to law usage & right, to precedence, instead of Edmond Brooke, in the late nomination of persons by the County Court of Prince William to fill the office of Sheriff of said County; and that he thinks this will appear manifest from the following statement of facts derived from the enclosed record, and upon a reference to the Act of Assembly “relating to the appointment & duties of Sheriff.”

It will be seen upon an inspection of said record, that said Brooke was commissioned, for a second year, as sheriff, in August 1815, and that, owing to his own default, that is to say, believing the contrary, & failing to qualify within the time required by law, James Deneale was commissioned in November of that year, upon the nomination of said Court, and was permitted to qualify in preference to said Brooke, at the ensuing December term of said Court; and that said Deneale, Gerard Alexander and Washington J. Washington upon the nominations of said County, have successively, for two years each, filled the said office of Sheriff in the County aforesaid, since the said Brooke held it.

It is thus shewn that, therefore, said Brooke has not been considered as entitled to hold said office since his first years service; and your memorialist believes that he would have entirely abandoned his pretensions to said office but for the expectation of extraordinary profits to be derived from it the ensuing year, in the collection of levies to defray the expense of erecting the public buildings at the new seat of the Court of said County.

It is too plain to require, or to admit of argument, your memorialist thinks, that Mr. Brooke cannot maintain his pretensions upon the 6th section of the Act of Assembly aforesaid; for by authority of that section, the Sheriff “may, with his own consent and the approbation of the Executive, be continued for two years” in office; and his appointment now, would not be a continuance in, but a resumption of said office, because six years have elapsed, and three sheriffs have intervened, since he held it. Indeed, the plain literal import, as well as the apparent policy of the said 6th section, and the general tenor of the said Act not only discontinuance, but utterly exclude all pretensions on the part of Mr. Brooke to appointment to the said office at the present time.

The rotation in said office, and the regular order of succession to it by the Justices of the Peace, according to established usage, being founded on principles of justice and considerations of policy too evident to need exposition, your memorialist will not presume that the Executive will make an appointment thereto, out of turn, unless for some personal objection to him who claims priority, or precedence. No such objection will be made to your memorialist. But it is said that Mr. Brooke’s case is an exception – for that he ought now to have the said office for one year more, not having, when he was commissioned last, been continued in it for two years. But your memorialist would ask why? Mr. Brooke was not continued in office a second year in consequence of his own default, not only in omitting to qualify, but in an absolute breach of duty, under the said Act; and having served his term, agreeably to law he stands now in the same situation in relation the order of appointment as if he had held the said office for two years – unless, indeed his said default entitles him to precedence. If this case were an exception, a Justice of the Peace may when he finds the office of Sheriff unprofitable, or inconvenient, decline accepting it altogether, or hold it for only one year, and wait, for any place of time, to watch a favorable opportunity, and claim it for the period he has refused, or renounced it; for surely the rejection or resignation of the office, would not entitle him to less consideration than if he had forfeited it by his own default.


Your memorialist, therefore prays that he may be commissioned as Sheriff of the County aforesaid for the next year, & that, consequently the said Brooke’s precedence in the said nomination may be disregarded.





Philip Alexander








Dumfries, June 7th 1821

Prince William County Court, June 4th 1821


Ordered that Edmund Brooke, Phillip Alexander and John Fox gentlemen be recommended to the Executive to be commissioned as Sheriff for the County of Prince William for one year next ensuing the term of the present Sheriff, it appearing to the Court that the aforesaid Edmund Brooke has acted as High Sheriff in this County but one year.


The Magistrates who voted in favor of this order are as follows for Edmund Brooke – John Bronaugh, Griffin Stith, John Linton, James Deneale, Gerard Alexander, Thomas Chapman, Charles Ming, John Fox, William Barnes and Jesse Ewell – those who voted against Edmund Brooke are as follows, William M. Craig, Michael Cleary, Philip Alexander, William Smith and Zachariah Ward.








Teste – Phil D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County, June 5th 1821


Whereas a contention is likely to take place between Edmund Brooke and Philip Alexander relative to the right of the Sheriffety in the County of Prince William for the ensuing year, to which the said Brooke has been nominated by the Court at this June term 1821, and it is deemed necessary by the said Brooke that the Executive should be informed of the ground on which the Court proceeded in making the said nomination, the undersigned Magistrates give the following statement of facts: - In the fall of 1814 the said E. Brooke qualified as High Sheriff in the County of Prince William – In the Spring of 1815 the said Brooke being carried across the Atlantic by necessary business and the Court being under an impression at the time the nomination of sheriff was made for that year, that the said Brooke would not return in time to qualify again (in which it appeared afterwards that they were mistaken) he was left out of the nomination that year, to which he was justly entitled, and James Deneale was appointed in his stead. The said Brooke returning in the fall of the same year in due time to qualify to the Commission, claimed the right to the same, but Mr. Deneale being commissioned, and having entered into a contract with Deputies, although he had not yet qualified, the court were then of opinion, that they could not interfere.


The Court being now of opinion that the said Brooke is justly entitled to the office for one year, having had a great share of the public duties in the said county, have thought proper to place him first in the nomination.




Given under our hands this 5th day of June 1821








John Linton

James Deneale








Jesse Ewell

John Fox








William Barnes

John Bronaugh


The above certificate explains the ground upon which the Court proceeded in placing me first on the nomination for the Sheriffety in addition to which I have only to observe that they have only done what they ought to have done upon the expiration of Deneale’s term of service, to which they were not urged by any solicitation  on my part, which circumstance ought not to operate to my prejudice.









E. Brooke

To Thomas M. Randolph Esquire

Governor of Virginia, Richmond

Dumfries, June 10th 1816

To his Excellency the Governor and Humble Members of the Privy Council of Virginia the Memorial of Edmund Brooke respectfully sheweth. -  That your memorialist was appointed a Magistrate many years ago for the County of Prince William, in the discharge of which duties his services have ever once been incessant and laborious – Living at the distance of nearly thirty miles from the Court House of the County, in a populous neighbourhood, where there were but few Magistrates. There has seldom ever occurred any business of difficulty which required the (agency?) of a Magistrate, to which his attention has not been called. The only reward for these services independently of that which he has felt for having discharged a public duty, was the office of sheriff, which in the usual rotation of that office among the County Justices, devolved on him on the month of November 1814 on the 8th day of which month, as will appear from a certificate of the clerk of said County herewith presented, he qualified by giving Bond and security according to Law – Your Memorialist having some important business which called his attention beyond sea, left this County early in the Summer of last year, after constituting and appointing competent deputies to perform the duties if the office during his absence, and with a declared intention of returning in due season to renew his obligation in the Fall – It so happened however, that from (centracs?) ruined, and a series of disasters beyond his control, seldom ever witness at sea before, his return was delayed till about the middle of November a few days after the Court day of the County – Finding on his return a new consent sent out for him, he attended at December Court for the purpose of again qualifying when, to his great surprise, he was informed, that in consequence of sundry reports made by the court of the County during his absence to the Executive, calculated to impress upon their minds a belief that your memorialist would not return till the spring, a commission was awarded for James Deneale, who had been nominated by the Court to fill that office, by then a vigorous opposition being made by Council employed for that purpose against the pretensions of your memorialist, the Court decided that his commission superseded the one previously issued for your memorialist, and he was thereby deprived of the profits of the office one year, which the common usage of the County, the Executive appointment, and long and laborious services justly entitled him to your memorialist because further to represent to your Humble Body, that at November Court, when the statement was made by the Court, no vacancy had actually taken place in the Office of Sheriff, the County had sustained no inconvenience whatever from his absence which was of short duration, and although the Court were sensible at December Court when Mr. Deneale was permitted to qualify, that his appointment had been predicated upon a mistaken apprehension with respect to your memorialist situation at the time the statement was made by them, the commission which was given to Mr. Deneale annulling the one that had been previously issued for your memorialist, they could afford him no relief until the annual recommendation  to fill the next vacancy, which was made on the 3rd day of the present month, whereby, and from the accompanying transcript of the record of March Court of Prince William County, herewith presented, your Honorable Body will be enabled fully to understand the grounds of your memorialist claim, and relying on the justice of your decision in the principals, your memorialist, as in duty bound, shall &c.





E. Brooke








June 10th 1816

Prince William County Court


At November Court 1814 Edmund Brooke gentleman qualified as Sheriff of Prince William.








Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, June 3rd 1816


Ordered that James Deneale, Gerard Alexander and Edmund Brooke gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as Proper Persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.








Teste – Phil D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, November 8th 1814


Edmund Brooke gent. produced to the Court a Commission appointing him Sheriff of this County and took the oath of Sheriff of this County prescribed by law and the Oath to Support the Constitution of the United States and for giving assurance of fidelity to this State and also the Oath to suppress dulling.








Teste – Phil. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court November 7th 1814


Edmund Brooke & others to Governor three bonds were acknowledged by said Brooke, Cundiff, Leachman & Chapman and ordered to be recorded as to them. And on the 8th November 1814 the said bonds were acknowledged by Charles Ewell & ordered to be recorded as to him.








Teste – Phil. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court October 3rd 1815


It appearing to the satisfaction of the Court that Edmund Brooke, Sheriff of this County is beyond sea, the same is ordered to be certified to the Executive.








Teste – Phil D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court November 7th 1815


Edmund Brooke gentleman High Sheriff of this County touching whom it was certified to the Governor and Council at October court last, that he was absent beyond seas, not having returned and it not appearing to the court that there is any prospect of his early return from beyond seas as aforesaid it is therefore ordered that James Deneale and Gerard Alexander Gent, be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.








Teste – Phil. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court December 5th 1815


James Deneale produced to the Court a Commission from the Governor, appointing him Sheriff of this County bearing date the 22nd day of November 1815 in the following words: The Commonwealth of Virginia – To all to whom these presents shall come, Greetings – Know Ye that it having been duly certified to us that Edmund Brooke sheriff of Prince William County has failed to qualify according to law, and the Court of the said County having in June last nominated James Deneale as a fit person to fill the office of Sheriff, our Governor with the advice of the council of state and according to law in that case made and provided, doth hereby constitute and appoint the said James Deneale sheriff of the said County. In Testimony whereof these our letters are sealed with the seal of the Commonwealth and  made Patent, Witness – Wilson C. Nicholas Esq. our said Governor at Richmond on the twenty second day of November in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred fifteen and fortieth of the Commonwealth









W. C. Nicholas


And offered to qualify as Sheriff, and Edmund Brooke the Sheriff for the year 1814 that being the first year of his service. Likewise desired permission of the Court to qualify as Sheriff under a commission dated August the 19th 1815 in the following words: 


The Commonwealth of Virginia – To all whom these present letters shall come – Greetings, Know Ye, that Edmond Brooke the present sheriff of Prince William County having signified his consent to continue in Office another year, our Governor with the Advice of the Council of State doth hereby commission him the said Edward Brooke, to continue in the said Office of Sheriff until the Expiration of two years from the date of his first Qualification pursuant to Law. In Testimony whereof these our letters are sealed with the seal of the Commonwealth and made potent. – Witness Wilson Nicholas Esquire our said Governor at Richmond, on the nineteenth day of August in the Year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and fifteen and fortieth of the Commonwealth.








W. C. Nicholas


But the Court refused Brooke and permitted Deneale to qualify on the ground that the subsequent commission of Deneale had superseded and annulled that of Edmund Brooke, and that the said Brooke had failed to give bond and security at November term last and that failure having been certified to the Governor by the Clerk of this Court, and the clerk having with the Certificate aforesaid Transmitted a copy of an order of Court made on the 7th November last in the following words, Edmund Brooke, Gentlemen high sheriff of this County touching whom it was certified to the Governor and Council at October Court last, that he was Absent beyond seas not having returned, and it not appearing to the Court that there is any prospect of his early return from beyond seas as aforesaid it is therefore ordered that James Deneale and Gerard Alexander gent. be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County. Whereupon the said James Deneale took the oath of Sheriff of this County as prescribed by law and the oath to support the Constitution of the United States the oath for giving assurance of fidelity to this State and the oath to suppress dueling and entered into and acknowledged three bonds with surety  according to law which bonds are ordered to be recorded,

Prince William County Court, June 3rd 1816


Ordered that James Deneale, Gerrard Alexander and Edmond Brooke gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.







Teste – Phil. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, July 7th 1817


Ordered that Gerard Alexander, David Boyle, and Washington J. Washington gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.





Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, July 6th 1818


Ordered that Gerard Alexander, Washington J. Washington & Philip Alexander gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.





Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, June 7th 1819


Ordered that Washington J. Washington, Philip Alexander & Zachariah Ward gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.





Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, July 3rd 1820


Ordered that Gerard Alexander, Washington J. Washington & Philip Alexander gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.





Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur


This Record was intended to have been sent down with the memorial but was forgotten.

To Governor Randolph –


Mr. Harrison was in possession of this record when I transmitted the memorial of Major Alexander in which it should have been enclosed if I’d have got it. He promised to forward it immediately but has failed to do so, and has just delivered it to me. I hope it will arrive in time.







Very Respectfully Yours,



June 9th 1821



J. Macrae

Prince William County Court, September 4th  1821

Box #5, Folder 2, Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Note
Luke Cannon and George Williams are recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be continued as Inspectors of Tobacco at Quantico Warehouses.



Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur
Prince William County Court, September 4th  1821

Box #5, Folder 2, Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Note


Ordered that Joseph R. Gilbert and Henry Fairfax be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as additional Inspectors of Tobacco at Quantico Warehouses.








Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, December 3rd 1821

Box #5, Folder 3, Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Recommendation – Justices Prince William County


At a Court of Quarterly Sessions continued and held for Prince William County, August the 8th 1821. Present – Charles Ewell, Zachariah Ward, William Smith, and Michael Cleary, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the Magistrates of this County be summoned to the first day of October Court next to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in this County.

Sheriffs Returns


Pursuant to the written order I have summoned Charles Ewell, Edmond Brooke, Gerard Alexander, Philip Alexander, Jesse Ewell, Charles Ming, John Hooe, Robert H. Hooe, Robert H. Little, John Linton and Griffin Stith, Gentlemen Justices which are all in that part of the County of Prince William above Cedar Run & Occoquan.









Henry Brewer D.S. for









W. J. Washington


Executed on Thomas Chapman, Thomas T. Page, William Barnes, Jno. Fox, William M. Craig, Michael Cleary, Zach. Ward, William Smith, John Bronaugh.









John Tansill D.S. for









W. J. Washington


At a Court held for Prince William County, October 1st 1821 – Present, Charles Ewell, Edmund Brooke, William Barnes, Thomas T. Page, Zachariah Ward, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell and Michael Cleary, Gentlemen Justices.

Ordered that the following gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in this County Viz: Gerard Alexander  Jr. in the room of Humphrey Peake removed from the County, Charley Hunton in the room of Jno. M. Tyler deceased. Robert Hamilton in the room of Thomas Newman deceased. Robert Brooke in the room of Gerard Alexander Sen. about to remove, William A. Linton in the room of James Deneale deceased. George Sweeny in the room of Thomas Lawson removed from the County.








Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur


A List of the Justices of the Peace in Prince William County Viz:




Robert H. Hooe


Charles Ewell




William Barnes


Thomas T. Page




Edmund Brooke


Gerard Alexander




Philip Alexander


Zachariah Ward




John Fox


Robert H. Little




Charles Ming


John Linton




John Bronaugh


William Smith




Thomas Chapman

John Hooe




Jesse Ewell


Griffin Stith




Michael Cleary


William M. Craig

Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, December 3rd 1821

Box #5, Folder 6, Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Note


Thomas Nelson is appointed Surveyor of this County in the room of William Cundiff, deceased.








Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, Dumfries, Va. 15 March 1822

Box #6, Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Coroner Nominations

 To Thomas M. Randolph Esquire

 Richmond


Ordered that Joseph R. Gilbert and Charles Ming be nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Coroners in the County. It appearing to the Court that it is necessary that more than one Coroner should be in the County.





Teste – P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, Dumfries, Va. May 18th  1822

Box #6, Folder 8,  Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Petition for Jesse Davis

To the Governor and Council of Virginia


We the undersigned (many of us) who witnessed the trial of Jesse Davis who was convicted and sentenced to one years imprisonment in the Public Jail and Penitentiary House of Virginia under the act to Reduce into one act the several acts against malicious or unlawful shooting, stabbing, maiming and disfiguring, for shooting one Cumberland Pearson, beg leave to represent that we consider the said Davis a fit subject for the mercy of the Executive because we consider that the said Jesse Davis although he was not justified under the strict letter of the first section of that statute (which is very broad in its terms) that still from the wanton and unprovoked abuse and violence which was offered to the wife of the said Davis on the same day and in his own house as appeared from evidence on the trial that he the said Davis did not do more than other men would have done who had a proper respect for the character and feelings of a wife. The undersigned would further represent to your Honorable body that they consider the aged father of the convicted person has some claims upon your clemency so far as it is consistent with the duty imposed on you by the office you occupy; he having been a soldier in the Revolution, and in those times which tried men’s souls, sustained the part allotted him with credit to himself and faithfulness to his Country. The prisoner was also unanimously commanded to mercy by the vani---- who convicted him on the return of their verdict.


John Gibson Jr.


Phil D. Dawe


Danl. Thornberry


Barnaby Cannon


M. B. Sinclair


Nathaniel Tyler


Bern. Hooe Jr.


John Hamill


Jess Paterson


Wm. King


John Mitchell


Wm. S. Jones


Enoch Calvert


Daniel Carter


John Tansill D.S.


Francis Ware


Samuel Barron


Reuben Calvert


H. Barron


Elijah Thornberry


John Barron


James Thornberry

Nathaniel English


Mathias Dade


Wm. Linton


William Fairfax Jr.

William Brawner


Enoch Renoe


Elias Grimsley


Philip Langfitt


Richard Scott


Jno. Merchant


Lewis Johnson


W. Brammill


Geo. W. Dulaney


Joseph R. Gilbert


Joseph Jones


Elijah Green


William Thompson


William Dawe


George Huber


Samuel Anderson


John Stith


Love Scott


Thomas Merchant


William Merchant

Joseph Merchant


Jas B. Hays


Wm. D. Dowell


James Allen


Moses Lynn


Compton Arrington

Andrew Smith


Evan Arrington


Colin Hayes


B. C. Payne


----------------------


Thos. Cockrell


Robert Boley


----------------------


Isham E. Hedges


James Howison


John Warden


Keland Moss


Arch Lawson


----------------------


Wm Harrison


Wm. Mayhew


Alex Lawson


Joseph Peddish


James Reid


Wm. Crosby


---------------------


-------------------


James Carter


Jas B. C. Thornton

Hugh C. Davis


Theron Davis


H. M. Smoote


Saml. Milstead


Jno. W. Williams


Edmd R. Voss


Allen Muschett


Arrington Evans


D. K. Forzie


John Carney


Wantsford Evans


Henry W. Carrol


Jesse Paterson


Thomas Nelson


Thornton Mountjoy

Elias Adams


John Webster


A. M. Clarke


------------------


George Boswell


J. Merchant


John W. Fitzgerald

Samuel J. Tebbs


Wm. Washington


Thos ---------


Lewis Dickinson


John B. Cannon


----------------------

---------------------

Wm. Carter


John Kincheloe


D. Kincheloe

Redmon Foster


Wm. B. -----------


Robert Hooe

John Paterson


Jeremiah Chappel


F. H. Muschett

Thomas Chapman

George Williams


Willoughby Tebbs

Thomas Maddux


T. Lawson




Prince William County Court, Dumfries  Va. July 13th  1822  

Box #7, Folder 1,  Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Notary Public

Dear Sir,


I take this liberty of asking your attention to a small matter in which we are somewhat inconvenienced in this place. There has not been a Notary Public in this place since 1812 when the office became vacant by the death of Robert Alexander. I will take it as a particular favour if you will interest yourself in having Mordacai B. Sinclair a very worthy and respectable young man appointed by the Executive to supply the vacancy. The law does not require the recommendations of the County Court as prerequisite to the appointment. I shall be pleased to hear from you on the receipt of this.








Yours Respectfully








H. Harrison

Prince William County Court, Dumfries  Va.  August 19th  1822  

Box #7, Folder 3,  Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph


Thos. M. Randolph Esq., Sir, _____ ______ position prevented me from qualifying as high sheriff of the County of Prince William at the last court having now recovered and intending to qualify at September court doubts have arisen  whether  I can qualify on the commission now in the Clerk’s Office, or whether a new commission must issue as two months will have elapsed on the 21st this month from the date. This is respectfully submitted for your answer which may be addressed to the Clerk of the County.








Your Obedient Servant








Philip Alexander








August 17, 1822

Prince William County Court, Dumfries  Va.  August 19th  1822  

Box #7, Folder 3,  Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Prince William County, Va.


At a Court of Quarterly Sessions continued and held for Prince William County the 8th day of August 1822. Present, William Barnes, John Fox, William M. Craig and George W. Jackson, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the magistrates of this county be summoned to the first day of the next court to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates for the County of Prince William in the room of William A. Linton and James Foster who refused to qualify.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Sheriffs Returns – “In compliance to the within order I have summoned Robert H. Hooe and John Hooe, Gentlemen Justices.







James Fewell, Deputy Sheriff








for E. Brooke

“In compliance to the within order I have summoned Philip Alexander, Gerard Alexander Jr., Charles Ming, Washington J. Washington, Jesse Ewell, Robert H. Little, and Robert Hamilton which together with those summoned by James Fewell deputy are all the magistrates in that part of Prince William County above Cedar Run and Occoquan.







Wm. P. Cundiff D.S.








for E. Brooke

“Executed on John Fox, William M. Craig, George W. Jackson, Thomas T. Page, William Barnes, Michael Cleary, Zachariah Ward, William Smith, James W. Macrae, James Gallagher, John Linton & Thomas Chapman.




Jno Tansill D.S.








for E. Brooke








Teste
P. D. Dawe  Cl. Cur.


At a Court held for Prince William County, September 2nd 1822. Present, William Barnes, Philip Alexander, Jno Fox, William Smith, Thomas Chapman, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Michael Cleary, Gerard Alexander, Robert Hamilton, James Gallagher, George W. Jackson, James W. F. McCrae and Griffin Stith, Gentlemen Justices.


Ordered that the following Gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates for the County Viz: Richard Foote in the room of James Foster who refuses to accept and James Gwatkin in the room of William A. Linton who refuses to accept.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

A List of Justices of the Peace in Prince William County

Robert H. Hooe



Charles Ewell *


William Barnes

Thomas
T. Page



Washington J. Washington
Philip Alexander

Zachariah Ward



John Fox


Robert H. Little

Charles Ming



John Linton


William Smith

Thomas Chapman


John Hooe


Jesse Ewell

Griffin Stith



Michael Cleary


Wm. M. Craig

Gerard Alexander



Charles Hunton


George W. Jackson

Robert Hamilton



James Gallagher


James W. Macrae








Teste
P. D. Dawe

· Charles Ewell is in the State of Kentucky at present consequently the Sheriff could not execute the order of Court upon him.   








Philip D. Dawe Cl Cur.



At a Court held for Prince William County, September the 2nd 1822. Luke Cannon and George Williams are recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be continued as Inspectors of Tobacco at Quantico Warehouses.


Ordered that Joseph R. Gilbert and Henry Fairfax be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as additional Inspectors of Tobacco at Quantico Warehouses.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


At a Court held for Prince William County, September 2nd September 1822. Ordered that Mordeaci B. Sinclair be recommended to the Executive as a proper person to be commissioned as Escheator for this County.



Teste
P. D. Dawe  Cl. Cur.


Prince William County Court, Dumfries, Va. October 17th  1822

Box #7, Folder 6,  Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Inspector of Tobacco

To Thomas M. Randolph Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Prince William County Court, October 7th 1822 Joseph R. Gilbert is nominated to the Executive as a proper person to be commissioned as Inspector of Tobacco at Quantico Warehouse in the room of George Williams who has accepted an office under the Government of the United States.








Teste   P. D. Dawe  Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, Dumfries Circuit Court, May 18th 1822  

Box #8, Folder 1,  Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

Commonwealth of Virginia vs Jesse Davis – Venire to Mercy


We the Jury find the Prisoner Guilty of the First Court in the Indictment and sentence him to one years imprisonment in the Penitentiary.


We each and all of us further recommend him to the mercy of the Executive.








Joseph R. Gilbert, foreman









Thos. Lawson C.C.


This paper was presented to the Court by the Venire on the trial of Jesse Davis this day & is by direction of the Judge to be filed among the papers in the case, and the clerk is authorized to give a copy thereof to the Prisoner if required – which is accordingly done.








Thos. Lawson  C.C.

Prince William County Court, Dumfries, 1822

Box #9, Folder 33,  Accession # 41887

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas M. Randolph

To his Excellency the Governor & to the Honorable member of the council of the Commonwealth of Virginia.


The memorial of the subscriber respectfully sheweth that at the last October monthly term of Prince William County court, an order was made to summon the Justices of the peace for said county to attend at the Court House of said County on the first day of November court to supply such vacancies as existed in the Militia, by recommending to your Honorable body fit and suitable persons to be commissioned as officers of the same.


In obedience to the said order Twelve only of the Justices of said County did repair to the Court House for the purpose above specified and proceeded to recommend to the Executive, certain persons to be commissioned as officers of the 36th Regt. Virginia Militia. Among their vacancies which existed was that of Lieutenant Colonel, rendered so but two days before the aforesaid recommendations were made, by the resignation of Philip Alexander Esq. who had been commissioned as the Lieut. Col of the 89th Regt. Before the late consolidation  of the 36th and 89th Regts. was effected. By the _____ pursued by the court, that part of our county which heretofore constituted the 89th Regt. would be wholly without an officer taken from their own body, and they would be placed under the command of  men with whom they have but a partial acquaintance.


Your memorialist begs leave respectfully to state that when the court proceeded to make these nominations, he was necessarily absent from the county, attending a relative who was ill & whose recovery was despaired of, and an effort was made to sustain his pretensions in his absence, by a friend who though him worthy of the promotion. There were three candidates for the appointment of Lieut. Cols., and your memorialist having served as an officer in the militia for several years without any impetration of disqualification as he believes, and feeling the pride of a soldier, cannot but acknowledge his mortification that the successful candidate for the favour of the court was taken from the ranks without more military experience than your memorialist & placed above him.


Your memorialist considers that the pretensions of Major Chapman and himself were placed on equal grounds by a nomination made to your Honorable body by the court of this county in August last, by reference to which, it will appear that Thomas Chapman was recommended as Lieut. Col. to the 36th and your memorialist as Lieut. Col. to the 89th Regt. by the unanimous vote of a full court, at which time too, Mr. Gibson was an unsuccessful candidate for the station now sought by him since that time the consolidation of the two regiments has been effected, and as your memorialist verily believes, was produced by a schism which unhappily exists in the county, growing out of its peculiar situation, and has contributed to produce very great and general discontent.


Prince William County is divided into two distinct parts by natural boundaries, the considerable streams of Cedar and Occoquan Runs, and if the claim of either Major Chapman or Mr. Gibson is sustained by the Executive, it will be a source of great dissatisfaction to all those who inhabit the upper section of this county for, as Col. Linton the commandant of the Regt. lives in Dumfries, the officers and soldiers in that part of the Regt. lately known as the 89th will consider it oppressive, and will calculated to alienate their affections from the lower part of their county, if the second officer in command be also selected from the same point, thereby giving to that little town as much control over the military,  as she has for a long time exercised over the civil concerns of the county. Your memorialist thinks it due to himself to state that Mr. Gibson lives in Dumfries and Major Chapman within a few miles thereof, while your memorialist lives in the upper section of the said county, Twenty miles from Dumfries and near the centre of the county: this statement is respectfully submitted to shew the views with which the late nomination was made, and the temper by which the Honorable Justices seem to have been actuated. There were three ballots before an Election was made, which stood thus on the ballots respectively viz.

1. Chapman 4


Hooe 4



Gibson 4

2. Chapman 3


Hooe 4



Gibson 5

3. Withdrawn


Hooe 5



Gibson 7

thus securing Mr. Gibson’s Election but by one vote.


Your memorialist begs leave respectfully to state that there were but FOUR Justices present from the upper part of the county, and EIGHT from Dumfries and its vicinity, and the friends of Major Chapman, after he was withdrawn, determined to have a Town’s Man in preference to any officer in the upper section of the county however well qualified, threw their interest in the scale of Mr. Gibson, who as before observed, was taken from the ranks, and placed above your memorialist who feels much military pride & has studiously endeavored to honour the commission of which he has been thought worthy and has not wished or expected to derive any nominal honour from empty and high sounding titles. Major Chapman has attained that period of life which exempted him from the performance of militia duty, whilst your memorialist, aged twenty five years, hopes and expects to be enabled to render much service to his country, should it be her misfortune to be again involved in war. Your memorialist begs leave to add toward the maintenance of his claim, that he is the oldest commissioned officer in the late 89th Regt. now known as one of the Battalions of the 36th Regt. under the late unfortunate consolidation, which seems to have been effected thru the agency of a discontented few, to oppress the many who have not been willing to acknowledge their supremacy.


Your memorialist therefore prays, that taking the premises fully into consideration, you will be pleased to refer the case again to the Court of Prince William, or pursue that course which to your Honorable body seems best calculated to afford a proper stimulus to martial pride, and to produce a well organized militia, who having confidence in their officers, may be usefully employed, to defend, when necessary, the rights of an invaded or insulted country.








John Hooe Jr.

Prince William County Court, Dumfries, Va. January 6th , 1823

Box #1, Folder 5,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Jr. Esq.


Dumfries  Va. February 22nd 1823




To James Pleasants Esq.




Governor of Virginia




Richmond

Prince William County Court, January 6th 1823.


Ordered that the Magistrates of this County be summoned to the first day of the next Court to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates to supply Vacancies which have occurred in the Commission of the Peace in this County.








Teste
Phil D. Dawe  Cl. Cur.


I William P. Cundiff, deputy sheriff for Philip Alexander, Sheriff of Prince William County, do hereby certify, that according to an order of the County Court of Prince William bearing date January 6th 1823 directing the Magistrates of the said County to be summoned to the 1st day of February court following for the purpose of recommending Proper Persons to be Commissioned as Magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in the Commission of the Peace in the said County. And in pursuance of another order of the said Court dated 6th January 1823 directing the Magistrates of the said County to be summoned to the 1st day of February Court following for the purpose of recommending Proper Persons to be Commissioned as Officers to supply Vacancies which have occurred in the 36th Regt Virginia Militia. I summoned the following Magistrates of the said County to attend on the 1st day of February court aforesaid for the purposes aforesaid Vizt. Robert H. Hooe, Edmund Brooke, W. J. Washington, Charles Ming, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Gerard Alexander, Charles Hunton, Robert Hamilton, Richard Foote and James Gwatkin,





Wm. P. Cundiff D.S. for








Philip Alexander


Agreeably to the orders above mentioned the following Magistrates of Prince William were summoned to the 1st day of February Court 1823 for the purpose above mentioned Vizt. William Barnes, Thomas T. Page, John Fox, William Smith, Thomas Chapman, Michael Cleary, William M. Craig, George W. Jackson, James Gallagher, James W. Macrae, Charles Ewell









John Tansill D.S. for








Phil Alexander

Prince William County Court, February 3rd 1823


Present, Charles Ewell, William Barnes, William Smith, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Gerard Alexander, Charles Hunton, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, James Gallagher, Richard Foote, & James Gwatkin gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following gentlemen, be nominated to the Executive to be Commissioned as Magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in this county Vizt. James Foster in the room of Robert H. Little removed and Thomas Beale Hamilton in the room of John Linton deceased.








Teste
Phil D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


A List of the Magistrates in the County of Prince William, February 3rd 1823


Robert H. Hooe

Charles Ewell

William Barnes


Thomas T. Page

Edmund Brooke

W. J. Washington


John Fox

Charles Ming

Wm. Smith


Thomas Chapman
John Hooe

Jesse Ewell


Griffin Stith

Michael Cleary

Wm. M. Craig


Gerard Alexander

Charles Hunton

Geo. W. Jackson


Robt. Hamilton

James Gallagher

James W. Macrae


Richard Foote

James Gwatkin







Teste
P. D. Dawe   Cl. Cur.

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. March 29, 1823

Box #1, Folder 8,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Jr. Esq.

Escaped Prisoner from Brentsville Jail

       Sir,


I have to inform your Excellency that on the night of the 28th inst. Enoch Calvert a prisoner confessed in the Jail of Prince William County (who had been sent on by an examining Court to be tried for Highway Robbery) made his escape there from, and is now going at large: Calvert is about 5 feet 10 inches high, sparse made and bow legged, red hair, light coloured eyes, and a florid complexion.







I am very respectfully your obedient servant








Abraham Millan, Jailor

(The letter was mailed at Brentsville Va. – April 3rd 1823 – 12 ½ cents postage)

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. April 9th  1823

Box #2, Folder 1,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Jr. Esq.

By the Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia – A Proclamation


Whereas it has been represented to the Executive by the Jailor of Prince William County, that a certain Enoch Calvert, who had been secured to the Jail of said County for further trial, by an Examining Court thereof on a charge of highway robbery, did on the night of the 28th Ulto. make his escape from the said Jail and is now going at large: I here therefore thought proper, with the advice of the Council of State, hereby to offer a reward of one hundred & fifty dollars to any person or persons who shall apprehend and convey to the Jail of Prince William County the said Enoch Calvert: And I do moreover require all officers civil and military, and exhort the good people of the Commonwealth to use their best endeavors to apprehend the said Calvert, that he may be dealt with as the law directs.








Given under my hand as Governor, and








under the seal of the Commonwealth








 at Richmond, this 9th day of April 1823.









James Pleasants


Enoch Calvert is about 5 feet 10 inches high, sparse made & bow-legged, red hair, light coloured eyes and florid complexion.

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. June 20th  1823

Box #2, Folder 1,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Jr. Esq.

Sheriff Nominations


To James Pleasants Jr. Esq. Governor of Virginia, Richmond. Ordered that Philip Alexander, John Fox and Charles Ming gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as sheriff of this county.








Teste    P. D. Dawe   Cl  Cur

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. August 15th  1823

Box #2, Folder 1,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Jr. Esq.

Recommendations 

Prince William County Court June 4th 1823, 

Present, Charles Ewell, John Fox, Charles Ming, George W. Jackson, & James Foster, gentlemen justices.

Ordered that the Magistrates of this County be summoned to the 1st day of August Court next, to recommend proper persons to be Commissioned as Magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the for said county.







Teste
P. D. Dawe  Cl. Cur.


Sheriffs Returns “Executed upon William Barnes, James W. F. Macrae, William Smith, James Gallagher, William M. Craig, Thomas Chapman, Charles Ewell, & John Fox.








John W. Williams D.S.








for Philip Alexander


Executed on John Hooe, Robert Hooe, E. Brooke, Jesse Ewell, Robert Hamilton, Griffin Stith, Gerard Alexander, James Gwatkins, James Foster, Charles Ming, & Richard Foote.








James Fewell D. S. 








for Philip Alexander


Executed on Washington J. Washington, Charles Hunton, 

William P. Cundiff D.S.

for Philip  Alexander


Executed on Michael Cleary, George W. Jackson, William Barnes and James Gwatkins.








Jno Tansill D.S.








for Phil. Alexander

Prince William County Court August 4th 1823


Present, Charles Ewell, William Barnes, Edmund Brooke, Charles Ming, John Fox, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Charles Hunton, Robert Hamilton, George W. Jackson, Gerard Alexander Jr., James W. F. Macrae, and James Gwatkin gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following Gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as Proper Persons to be added to the Commission of the Peace to supply vacancies in this county Vizt: John Hutchison in the room of Robert H. Little removed, Lawrence G. Alexander in the room of Thomas T. Page deceased, Thomas Nelson Jr. in the room of Zachariah Ward deceased, and Redmon Foster in the room of Thomas B. Hamilton who refuses to qualify.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


A list of Justices of the Peace in the County of Prince William: Robert H. Hooe, Charles Ewell, William Barnes, Edmund Brooke, W. J. Washington, John Fox, Charles Ming, William Smith, Thomas Chapman, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, William M. Craig, Gerard Alexander, Charles Hunton, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, James Gallagher, James W. Macrae, Richard Foote, James Gwatkin, James Foster & Philip Alexander who is now Sheriff of the County.








Teste
P. D. Dawe

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. September 12th  1823

Box #3, Folder 3,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Esq.

Inspector of Tobacco

To James Pleasants Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Prince William County Court, August 2nd 1825 Ordered that Luke Cannon and Joseph Gilbert be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned Inspectors of Tobacco at Quantico Warehouse








Teste   P. D. Dawe  Cl Cur

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. April 5th  1824

Box #4, Folder 8,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Esq.

Justice Recommendations

Prince William County Court, April 5th 1824 – Present, John Fox, Richard Foote, James Gwatkin and James Foster, gentlemen justices.

Ordered that the Magistrates of this County be summoned to the first day of May Court next to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates in this County to supply vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the peace, and be recommended proper persons to be commissioned as officers in the 36th Regiment Virginia Militia to supply vacancies which have occurred in said Regiment.







Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Sheriffs returns, “Executed on Griffin Stith, James Foster, Redmon Foster, Robert Hamilton, W. J. Washington, Charles Hunton, Richard Foote, John Hooe, Lawrence Alexander, James Gwatkins, Edmond Brooke, John Hutchison, Charles Ming, Jesse Ewell, & Richard Foote.







James Fewell D.S.








for Phil Alexander


Executed upon William M. Craig, Thomas Nelson Jr., Charles Ewell, William Smith and James Gallagher.





Jno W. Williams D.S.









For Philip Alexander


Executed on John Fox, James Gwatkin, William M. Craig, Thos. Chapman, George W. Jackson, William Smith, James Gallagher, Charles Ewell, Michael Cleary.








Matthias Cole D.S.









for P. Alexander


At a Court held for Prince William County, May 3rd 1824. Present, Edmund Brooke, John Fox, Charles Ming, Griffin Stith, Jesse Ewell, Charles Hunton, John Hooe, Robert Hamilton, Richard Foote, John Hutchison, Thomas Nelson, James Gwatkin, Lawrence G. Alexander & Redmon Foster, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned occurred in the commission of the peace – Viz: Joseph R. Gilbert in the room of James W. Macrae who is disqualified by accepting an appointment under the Government of the United States – Charles S. Carter in the room of Robert H. Hooe resigned and Seaton W. Norris in the room of Gerard Alexander removed.








Teste
Phil D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


A list of Justices in the County of Prince William – Charles Ewell, Edmund Brooke, W. J. Washington, John Fox, Charles Ming, William Smith, Thomas Chapman, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, William M. Craig, Charles Hunton, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, James Foster, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson Jr., & Redmon Foster.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. July 2nd  1825

Box #4, Folder 10,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Jr. Esq.

Sheriff Nominations 


To James Pleasants Jr. Esq. Governor of Virginia, Richmond. Ordered that Charles Ewell, John Fox, and Charles Ming gentlemen, be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as sheriff of this county.








Teste    P. D. Dawe   Cl  Cur

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. September 24th  1824

Box #5, Folder 7,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Esq.

Inspector of Tobacco

To James Pleasants Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Prince William County Court, August 2nd 1825 Ordered that Luke Cannon and Joseph Gilbert be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned Inspectors of Tobacco at Quantico Warehouse








Teste   P. D. Dawe  Cl Cur

Brentsville, Va. November 24th 1823 (date on letter has 1823 but should be 1824 ?)

Box #6, Folder 3,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Esq.

Commonwealth vs Burgess

Dear Sir, 


I have just returned home and learn with astonishment and regret that the record and petition in the case of the Commonwealth vs Burgess has not reached the General Court, and that court has adjourned .


The very precautions which I had used to secure the safe transmission of this paper to Richmond, have defeated my object. I had originally intended to commit the paper to the mail boy, but I was induced by the repeated subjections of Judge Dade, not to trust a matter of such momentous importance to a mode of conveyance in itself precarious and uncertain.  According with this suggestion and that which myself as well as others considered most prudent & entrusted the record and petition to the care of a gentlemen in Dumfries who was about to go to Fredericksburg who informed me that Mr. P. Harrison would go to Richmond in the course of that week (which was the 1st of the Session of the Superior Court) would take it down. I wrote by him a letter to Mr. H. enclosing the paper in question, requesting him to take charge of it; and moreover, if he should not go to Richmond immediately, that he would put it in the hands of some gentleman going in the stage, or else send it by mail immediately. On Thursday of that week I saw Judge Dade in Dumfries who informed me that there had been no court & that he would be obliged to go down. The next day I want to Fredericksburg and discovered that Mr. H. had not sent the papers. He informed me that he had met with no opportunity of sending it down; that, from the circumstance of the court not having met on the previous ---day, it would certainly sit the _____ weak or the first or second day of which he would go down, and would take the paper and bring it before the General Court.


You will thus perceive that I have used all diligence to transmit this paper, that anyone would have thought necessary under the circumstances. I could not go to Richmond myself that was not to be expected, as I have not received and do not expect to obtain any compensation for the services which I have rendered; or may render, in behalf of the unfortunate wretch who employed me to defend him.


I a case like this I do not doubt that the Execution will upon application respite sentence of death passed by the court below, until the petitioner of the prisoner for a writ of error can be acted upon by the General Court, at its next session. I have therefore referred a petition to the Executive for a respite, which I enclose. Please take it to Richmond with you and present it to the Executive, and explain the circumstances alluded to the Governor  & Council.


I am not absolutely certain that the General Court has adjourned from the information I have read. But have supposition should cause me to prepare for the event I might be again disappointed. With assurances of my regard  I am in hast, 

Yours with respect

George W. Macrae

Dumfries, Prince William County, 27 November 1824

Box #6, Folder 3,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Esq.

Commonwealth vs Burgess

To the Executive of Virginia


The petition of the undersigned respectfully sheweth that he has been condemned to death by the Superior Court of Law of Prince William County for the alleged perpetration of the crime of Murder in the first degree; that before the said court he moved for an arrest of judgment in said case because of Sundry Errors in the proceedings therein, and also for a new trial on the ground that the facts and circumstances proved in evidence did not constitute the crime of murder; That the said court overruled his said motion, but spread the matters whereon it was founded upon the record, and your petitioner obtained a copy of said record, and prepared a petition to the General Court for a writ of Error which he employed every endeavour  that his situation would admit to transmit, in time, to the last mentioned court; but he is informed, that owing to the uncertainty of the period at which a General Court would be formed and a disappointment and delay by a private conveyance his said petition for a writ of Error did not reach Richmond until after the adjournment of the said Court. That it is his absolute right to apply for said writ of Error, and it would be contrary to Law, Justice and humanity to deny him the exercise of that right; and it would be equivalent to a total abnegation of his right; to allow him under the circumstances stated to be put to death, without having an opportunity of laying his case before the highest criminal tribunal of his country: that your petition may, or may not, be entitled to a writ of Error, it is the opinion of respectable counsel that he is; but that is a question which the General Court alone is competent to determine, the only inquiry for the Executive being whether a fellow citizen may not, without the interposition sought be put to death contrary to the law of the land, and whether he has not been placed in this jeopardy by an accident which he could not anticipate or prevent. Wherefore your petitioner humbly & earnestly prays that sentence of death in his case may be respite, until the General Court can act upon it.








Joseph Burgess

Dumfries, Prince William County, November 14th 1824

Box #6, Folder 3,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Esq.

Commonwealth vs Burgess

      Dear Sir,

Enclosed I transmit to you, by the politeness of Mr. Lawson, a transcript of the Record of the proceedings and judgment had in the case of the Commonwealth vs Burgess, in the Superior Court of Prince William County – Having been informed by Mr. L. that you are about to go to Richmond. I take the liberty of requesting that you will take charge of the above mentioned transcript and place it in the hands of one of the members of the General Court, in order that the application for a writ of error to reverse the judgment of the court below, which is superadded thereto may be considered and attend upon at some convenient period during its present session.

Being desirous of preparing a written argument on this case, for the purpose of exhibiting it to the General Court through the same medium with the transcript of the Record and not having had a convenient opportunist of doing so heretofore. I shall be glad if you will intimate to the judge to whom you may deliver the transcript of the record, that it is the wish if the Council for the Applicant that the consideration of his petition may be postponed to as late a period of the session of the Court as may be convenient, in order that his council may have time and opportunity to prepare an argument and transmit it to Richmond to be submitted to the consideration of the court along with the application for a writ of Error.

I presume that frequent opportunities will be afforded of doing this before the end of the first week of the session of the court, through the medium of the stage communication between Fredericksburg to Richmond – About that time therefore the argument may be expected. Should it not be received the court must act upon the marked transcript and petition, unless some member of the bar in Richmond, impelled   by motions of humanity (and these alone have prompted me to this course) will act the part of the good Samaritan in behalf of the unfortunate wretch who now lies in our county prison sinking under the horrors of approaching destruction. 


It is with great difference sir that I pursue the course which I have adopted in behalf of the prisoner: but when I consider that I am one of his counsel, and much more when I believe that his is a case of homicide which probably ought not to be capitally punished agreeably to the meaning and intention of the ___ ___. I cannot hesitate to encounter the responsibility and trouble which attend the proceeding, however sensibly I may feel their might and inconvenience.


Not having had an opportunity of consulting with Col. Cannon my associate in this case, owing to our mutual absence ____ county, is the reason why I have not ____ an argument to be presented with the petition. My ___ for a safe conveyance of the transcripts and _____  ___ me to send them to you now without the argument. 


Please tender my respects to Mr. H. and accept the assurances of the esteem ___.







Yours very respectfully








Geo. W. Macrae

November 29th 1824

Box #6, Folder 3,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Esq.

Commonwealth vs Burgess

Dear Sir, 


I have received a letter from Judge Dade, who (after expressing his chagrin that there should have been a disappointment in the formation of a General Court) request that I will submit to the Governor & Council the propriety of reprieving a man who has been sentenced, to be hung by the Superior Court of Law for Prince William until after the next session of the General Court.


The name of the Criminal is Joseph Burgess & his execution is fixed for the 10th December. He says that the man excepted to an opinion of the Court, and that he intended to apply for a writ of Error.


In case the reprieve should be granted, he requests that one copy of the order should be addressed to Warder Williams, deputy sheriff, to be directed to Dumfries, and that another be sent to Mordecai Sinclair, Clerk & William R. Chapman another deputy, to be delivered to the Post Office, Brentsville, Prince William.







Wm. Brockenbrough







November 29th 1824

Dumfries, Prince William County, June 11th 1825

Box #6, Folder 3,  Accession # 42046

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James Pleasants Esq.

Commonwealth vs Burgess

To the Honourable the Governor and Council of the State of Virginia


Knowing that the ear of mercy is ever open to those who bring themselves properly within its hearing a will unnecessary for one whose claim to that mercy has better foundations than the feelings of humanity to take up your important time with any other remarks than those immediately appertaining to the case he now seeks to bring your consideration.


At the October session of the Superior Court of Prince William County, Joseph Burgess was arraigned at the Bar of that Court upon the charge of Murder in the first degree. The Council for the Prisoner (one of whom I was) believing that the evidence did not make out the crime of which the jury had found him guilty and discovering also some defect in the indictment – memo for a new trial and filed errors in arrest of judgment – the court disagreeing with the counsel a ____(?) the _____ and effect of these questions that had been raised for its consideration, proceeded to pass  sentence of death upon the Prisoner, protracting the execution of that sentence until the tenth day of December 1824, with the venue of allowing the counsel for the Prisoner sufficient time to bring a petition for a writ of Error the question of Law that arose upon his trial before the General Court. A record of the case was there by order of the court made out, but owing to an unexpected delay on the part of the gentleman to whose care the record was entrusted, it did not reach Richmond during the Session of the Court. And a ___ ___ the record had reached Richmond could not have acted upon in any other way than by framing a similar petition to your Honourable body, as there was no court for the transaction of any business of the motion of the case just spoken (off?)


Your petitioner knowing that the life of a citizen is involved would be doing injustice to your Honourable Body to support that under these circumstances you would hesitate about granting that which is humbly prayed for, a Respite until thirty days after the session of the General Court.


Thereby allowing to the court sufficient time to consider of the question which will then be brought under its consideration and affording the unfortunate mater who is now under sentence of death an opportunity of _______ in time (if the court should think proper to grant it) a writ of Error.


Leaving it with that tribunal to decide whose known prerogative is mercy your petitioner will conclude this petition with a prayer for the peace and happiness of this Commonwealth.








N. Tyler








for Joseph Burgess

To Alexander Botts, Richmond

Dear Sir,


Although unacquainted with you I have taken the liberty of addressing this letter to you, as you are one of the persons to whom the annexed petition is addressed and as you were originally from the county one of whom inhabitants is the man under sentence of death. I have therefore thought it best to direct this letter to you and to request that it would be immediately attended to as we have no time to lose the twelfth day of December being the day fixed for his execution. Should the Governor and Counsel think proper to grant the respite you will confer a favour by directing the envelope in which the respite may be mailed to me at Brentsville, Prince William County.


I have just received information of fact that the record did not reach Richmond in time for Judge Holmes and have written this in a great hurry you must therefore ____ ____ (not legible)







I am with great respect your Obt. Servant.








Nath. Tyler

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. August 2nd  1825

Box #7, Folder 4,  Accession # 42046
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Inspector of Tobacco

To James Pleasants Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Prince William County Court, August 2nd 1825 Ordered that Joseph Gilbert & John W. Williams be recommended to the Executive as Inspectors of Tobacco at Quantico Warehouse. Luke Cannon and Francis Cannon are recommended to the executive as additional inspectors of tobacco at Quantico Warehouse.








Teste   P. D. Dawe  Cl Cur

Dumfries, Prince William County, June 11th 1825
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Commonwealth vs Burgess

Sir,


Permit the occasion to warrant the liberty which I shall take in making you this communication, and soliciting an enquiry which, under other circumstances, might be deemed perhaps impertinent, if not disrespectful.


The transmission of the record of the proceedings in the case of the Commonwealth vs Joseph Burgess, tried in the last October Superior Court of this county, was entrusted to a gentleman of the bar residing in Fredericksburg, who was so kind as to offer to take charge of the papers and present them before the General Court which was then about to sit. The court did not sit, and you are aware that, on that ground, the Executive indulge the prisoner with a respite next July.


I had presumed that the record had been lodged with the proper officer, but upon enquiry of the above mentioned gentleman, he informs me that he merely lodged the papers with the Executive, and suggests that they may still be in the hands of the clerk of the Executive Council.


Although I seriously doubt that the papers have in this reached their proper destination, yet pardon me sir, that the responsibility and consequent solicitude which I feel, as one of the counsel of the prisoner, tempt me to obtrude upon you the enquiry whether the record above mentioned has been lodged with the proper officer of the general court, and further to make the request that you will cause information to be given me immediately, directed to Dumfries, Prince William County in relation to this matter.


I have the honor to be Sir, with the highest consideration.








Your obedient servant








George W. Macrae


(the following written on back of this letter) Burgess is under sentence of death but was respite until 2nd Friday of July next. Thomas condemned to 2 years penitentiary – No respite to same time.

Brentsville, Va. June 24th 1825 
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List of Magistrates

Prince William County Court, May 2nd 1825, Present, Charles Ming, John Hooe, Charles Hunton, and John Hutchison, gentlemen justices.

Ordered that the Magistrates of this county be summoned to the first day of the next court to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the peace for this county and to recommend such other justices as the court may deem necessary.







Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


Sheriffs Return – “Executed on John Hutchison, Philip Alexander, Lawrence G. Alexander, John Hooe, Redmon Foster, James Foster, Charles Hunton, Charles Ming, Robert Hamilton, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Washington J. Washington, L. Carter & Foote.








Wm. R. Chapman D.S.









for Charles Ewell


Sheriffs Return – “Executed on Gwatkin, Jackson, Cleary, Craig & Fox.








Mathias Cole D.S.









for  Charles Ewell


“Executed on Smith, Gilbert, Gallagher, Nelson, and a copy left at the house of Thomas Chapman.








Jno W. Williams D.S.








for  Charles Ewell

Prince William County Court June 6th 1825


Present, Philip Alexander, Charles Ming, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Charles Hunton, George W. Jackson, James Foster, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson Jr., John Hutchison, James Gwatkin and Redmon Foster, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the peace in this county, vizt  Stuart G. Thornton in the room of Edmund Brooke removed and James B. T. Thornton in the room of Seton W. Norris removed.








Teste
P. D. Dawe


A list of Magistrates in Prince William County June 6th 1825: W. J. Washington, Philip Alexander, John Fox, Charles Ming, William Smith, Thomas Chapman, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, William M. Craig, Charles Hunton, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, James Gallagher, Richard Foote, James Gwatkins, James Foster, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson Jr., Redmon Foster, Joseph R. Gilbert & Charles S. Carter.








Teste
P. D. Dawe

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. November18th  1825
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Sheriff Nominations 2 term


To James Pleasants Jr. Esq. Governor of Virginia, Richmond. Ordered that Charles Ewell, Charles Ming and William Smith gentlemen, be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as sheriff of this county.








Teste    P. D. Dawe   Cl  Cur

Brentsville, Va. February 17th  1826
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Recommendations for Office

Prince William County Court, January 3rd 1826


Present, Charles Ming, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith and Redmon Foster gentlemen justices. Ordered that the Justices of this County be summoned to the first day of February Court next to recommend proper persons to be added to the commission of the peace for this County to supply vacancies which have occurred therein.









Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl Cur.


Sheriffs return’s “Executed upon Thomas Chapman, William Smith, Joseph R. Gilbert, James Gallagher, John Fox, James Gwatkins, George W. Jackson, Michael Cleary and Thomas Nelson Jr..









Mathias Cole D.S.









For Charles Ewell


“Executed on John Hooe, Charles Ming, Griffin Stith, Jesse Ewell, Charles Hunton, John Hutchison, Stuart G. Thornton, Richard Foote, Redmon Foster, James Foster, Robert Hamilton, James B. T. Thornton and Lawrence G. Alexander.









James Fewell D.S.









For Charles Ewell


Ordered that the following gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the peace for this county Viz. John Fitzhugh in the room of Philip Alexander removed, James French in the room of William M. Craig resigned and Henry A. Barron in the room of Washington J. Washington removed.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


The following is a list of the Justices of the Peace in the County of Prince William Vizt. Charles Ewell (now sheriff), John Fox, Charles Meng, William Smith, Thomas Chapman, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, Charles Hunton, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, James Gallagher, Richard Foote, James Gwatkin, James Foster, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson Jr., Redmon Foster, Joseph R. Gilbert, Charles S. Carter, Stuart G. Thornton, and James B. T. Thornton.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Richmond, Va. 13 February 1826

Box #1, Folder 5, Accession #42267

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler Esq.

By the Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia – A Proclamation


Whereas it has been represented to the Executive by order of the Court of Prince William County, upon the return of an Inquisition held on the 30th January, over the dead body of a certain Charles Mann, a free man of colour, and other evidence exhibited, that a most evil and unprovoked murder was committed on the body of said Mann, by one John Anderson, who it is believed has escaped from the Commonwealth, and is now going at large: I have therefore thought proper with the advice of Council of State, to offer a reward of two hundred and fifty dollars to any person or persons who will apprehend and convey to the County of Prince William aforesaid the said John Anderson: And I do moreover require all officers Civil and Military, and exhort the good people of the Commonwealth to use their best endeavors to cause the said fugitive to be apprehended, that he must be dealt with as the law directs.






Given under my hand as Governor






And under the Seal of the Commonwealth






At Richmond, this, 13th day of February 1826








John Tyler (SEAL)


John Anderson is a stout man, about six feet high, and upwards of sixty years of age, with red hair interspersed with grey, bald head, and florid countenance – he is much addicted to intoxication.

Brentsville, Va. February 7th  1826

Box #1, Folder 5, Accession #42267

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler Esq.

Inquisition – body of Charles Mann

Information of a Murder in Prince William County

Prince William County Court, February 7th 1826


Upon the return of an inquisition held on the 30th day of January 1826 according to law in the County of Prince William over the dead body of a certain Charles Mann a Free Man of Colour and other evidence exhibited to the Court, the Court are of opinion that a most cruel and unprovoked murder was committed on the body of the said Mann by one John Anderson who is believed has escaped from the Commonwealth and the Court being of opinion that this information should be communicated to the Executive doth direct the Clerk of this Court to enclose to the Executive a copy of this order.


The said John Anderson is a stout man, about six feet high, and upwards of sixty years of age, with red hair interspersed with grey, bald head, and florid countenance – he is much addicted to intoxication.

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. May 27th 1826

Box #1, Folder 12, Accession #42267

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler Esq.

To His Excellency John Tyler, Governor of the State of Virginia

      Sir,


I beg leave to solicit your attention to the petition of Elijah Campbell herewith presented, and signed by some of the most respectable gentlemen in the Counties of Fauquier and Prince William, among whom are James Gwatkins Esquire who was the committing magistrate and who signed the petition because he does not consider the evidence strong enough to have warranted the conviction of the prisoner – and Charles Ming, Esquire a justice of the peace who sat at the examining court. Doctor Thornton, also a justice of the peace for the County of Prince William, and Thomas Ingram Esq., one of the oldest and most respectable justices in the County of Fauquier, to most of these gentlemen Mr. Campbell has been known for a length of time and has born a very fair and reputable character. In addition to which he is the only support on which his mother, an old and respectable lady can rely. If in the discharge of your duty and the exercise of your better judgment, you can and will release the petitioner you will I have no doubt render but an act of Justice to an individual and gratify a number of the inhabitants who have not signed his petition.






With very great respect and high esteem







I remain your obedient servant








James G. Bryce 

To his Excellency John Tyler Governor of the State of Virginia


The Petition of Elijah Campbell an inhabitant of the County of Prince William humbly praying sheweth to your Excellency. That on or about the twelfth day of August eighteen hundred and twenty five your petitioner was committed to the jail of the aforesaid County upon a charge of horse stealing. Your Petitioner acknowledges that he was found in the possession of the horse said to be stolen from one James Martin also an inhabitant of said county. But your Petitioner utterly denies that he came in possession of said horse in any other manner than by purchase. Your Petitioner avers most solemnly that he brought said horse from a man calling himself a drover, and that in consequence of the ignorance of your Petitioner he failed to take a bill of sale from said drover. But your Petitioner being conscious of his own innocence and believing that he had purchased the horse from an honest man, carried the horse home, and used him in a publick manner for some eight or ten days, when he was informed by the owner of this horse that said horse had been stolen. Your Petitioner (word not legible) gave him up and believed the matter was all settled until four months when on the 12th day of August above named your Petitioner was taken before a magistrate and committed to jail, where in consequence of the in disposition of the Honorable William A. G. Dade, the justice of the superior court of law for said County of Prince William, Your Petitioner was confined until the seventeenth of the present month before he could have his final trial, when contrary to his and the anticipations of all of his friends he was pronounced guilty by the jury sworn to try him.


Your Petitioner knowing that he has been unjustifiably condemned looks up with confidence to your Excellency as the only person or tribunal in which the laws of this state have vested the power under such circumstances  to administer & pardon which if not extended to him will deprive an aged and widowed mother of her sole and only support.


Your Petitioner has always, from his infancy maintained as upright and fair a character as any man in the community until blemished by the suspicion of the present theft with which he stands convicted – As will more fully appear to your Excellency by a reference to the number of very respectable persons who have signed this petition with and in consideration of the premises humbly prays that your Excellency  will relieve him from the judgment of the Court, (which is that he be confined in the Public Jail & Penitentiary house for the space of five years and your Petitioner will ever pray.








Brentsville, May 19th 1826








Elijah Campbell


We the undersigned Inhabitants of the Counties of Prince William and Fauquier beg leave to solicit pardon in behalf of Elijah Campbell, an inhabitant of the County of Prince William, from his Excellency the Governor and his honorable council.

Dudley Fitzhugh – Fauquier


Samuel Blackwell

Thomas Ingram – Fauquier


Beverly Smith

Thomas W. Edmonds – Fauquier


Henry Thornberry

Jas Edmonds




R. H. Philips

Andrew Turner




Phil Carter

Lloyd Nolan




Jno Williams

Ambrose Hord




Jno L. Fairfax

John R. Edmonds




Charles Ming J.P.

William B. Edmonds



James B. T. Thornton J.P.

Rice Hooe




Phil D. Dawe clerk of P.Wm Co.

Jas Gwatkin J.P.




Jas B. Hayes

William Tansill




Basil Brawner

Prince William County Court, Dumfries, Va. April 5th  1826
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Arms for his Company

To John Tyler Esq. Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia

        Dear Sir,


Sometime during the last winter I had the honor of submitting to the Executive of Virginia an application for arms on behalf of a Volunteer Artillery Company in the 2nd Regt. And 2nd Division Va. Militia, commanded by myself a Capt. The application and the grounds upon which it was urged will be found I presume filed in the Executive office, as also a bond to the Executive signed by myself and others as a security for the said preservation of such arms as the Executive might grant.


I am aware that the former application was rejected by the Executive upon grounds which I need not recapitulate, and which I do not purpose or which to controvert. It is merely the object of this communication. To modify the application of the last winter, under the hope on the part of the Company, that the Executive will make such conditional grant of the arms as will at once obviate their principal objections and difficulties, and prove acceptable to the Company.


It will appear from the Requisition a Com. Of Ordinance, that we ask for 1 piece of Artillery & 75 swords, with suitable equipment. Should the Executive continue to doubt the policy of allowing arms, (under the circumstances upon which our application is urged)  because of the expense of equipment and transportation, the company would be satisfied to receive the piece of ordnance and 70 or 75 swords without equipments, and they agree to pay the cost of transportation. Under this modification of their former application they indulge the hope that the Executive will make no difficulty in giving them the only means of improvement in the Military Art, and the chief guarantee if the prosperity of the Corps.


I would further mention that two pieces of Artillery were formerly granted to a company of artillery raised in the adjacent County of Stafford in the 2nd Regt. And 2nd Division of Artillery – Believing that one piece of cannon to a company would be sufficient for the purpose of exercise and instruction. I will venture respectfully to suggest to the Executive the expediency of ordering one of the Pieces now in possession of the above named Company to the County, for the use of my Company. Such a engagement would be satisfactory to my company as well as economical on the part of the Commonwealth.








I have the honor to be, sir,








with great respect your









obedient servant









Geo. W. Macrae










Prince William County

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. August 18th 1826
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Justices

Prince William County Court July 3rd 1826


Present, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith and Charles Hunton, gentlemen justices. Ordered that the magistrates of this County be summoned to the first day of August Court next to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the peace in this county and to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as officers to supply vacancies which have occurred in the 36th Regt. Virginia Militia.









Teste
P. D. Dawe  Cl Cur

Prince William County 


Sheriffs return, Executed, Michael Cleary, George W. Jackson, John Fox, John Fitzhugh, James French, William Smith, Joseph R. Gilbert, Thomas Chapman and Thomas Nelson Jr.

 Mathias Cole, deputy sheriff for Charles Ewell 


Executed on John Hooe, G. Stith, J. Hutchison, Jesse Ewell, Stuart G. Thornton, C. S. Carter, Charles Hunton, Henry A. Barron, Robert Hamilton, James Foster, R. Foster, R. Foote, J. B. T. Thornton, & Lawrence G. Alexander and Charles Ming.







James Fewell, deputy sheriff for Charles Ewell

Prince William County Court, August 7th 1826


Present, Charles Ming, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, Charles Hunton, George W. Jackson, James Foster, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson Jr., Redmon Foster, Charles S. Carter, James B. T. Thornton, John Fitzhugh & Henry A. Barron gentlemen justices.


Ordered that Simon Luttrell be nominated to the Executive as a proper person to be commissioned as a Magistrate of this county in the room of James Gallagher deceased and that Francis H. Dunnington be recommended as a proper person to be commissioned as a Magistrate. It appearing to the court that another Magistrate is requisite in this county.








Teste     P. D. Dawe Cl Cur

Prince William County


A List of Justices of the Peace in the County of Prince William, August 7th 1826 – Charles Ewell (now sheriff), John Fox, Charles Ming, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, Charles Hunton, George W. Jackson, James Foster, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson Jr., Redmon Foster, Charles S. Carter, James B. T. Thornton, William Smith, John Hooe, Robert Hamilton, Richard Foote, James Gwatkin, Joseph R. Gilbert, Stuart G. Thornton, James French, Thomas Chapman, John Fitzhugh & Henry A. Barron gentlemen justices.








Teste    P. D. Dawe  Cl Cur

Brentsville, Va. September 25th 1826
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To His Excellency John Tyler, Governor of Virginia

       Sir, 


At the present term of the Superior Court of Prince William County, Dennis McCarty has been sentenced to imprisonment in the Penitentiary for the term of five years, upon his conviction of Murder in the second degree. His jury in open court unanimously expressed their wish that he should be recommended for a pardon. This I do with great alacrity; not only from the circumstances that probably excited the sympathy and compassion of the Jury, but mainly because I am not satisfied with him being convicted. I am sure that in law he ought to have been regarded as guilty of murder in the second degree; and I am strongly impressed  with the opinion that he is not guilty of any degree of felonious homicide. But that he ought rather to be regarded as having slain his adversary in his own defence. There consideration will I  hope entitle him to the clemency of the Executive. With high respect I have the honour to be








Your obedient servant









Wm. A. G. Dade

Prince William County Court, Dumfries, Va. November 22nd 1826
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Sheriff Nomination 

Prince William County Court, November 6th 1826


Ordered that Charles Ming, William Smith and Thomas Chapman gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be Commissioned as Sheriff of this County.








Teste
P. D. Dawe

Direct the Commission to Brentsville.

Park Gate, near Brentsville, Va.,  September 25th  1826
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To the Governor & Council of the Commonwealth of Virginia

       Gentlemen,


I enclose a letter from the Hon: Wm. A. G. Dade recommending Dennis McCarty, who was tried before him, & convicted of murder in the second degree, to the clemency of the Executive. I beg leave to add my humble testimony in his behalf. I was, indeed, one of the counsel of the Prisoner; but I am not conscious that I am actuated, or influenced by professional zeal; and, if I be, I have the satisfaction to know that numbers of enlightened & impartial citizens who are not, concur in my opinion. It will be seen by the papers which will be laid before you, that the Judge, & nearly all the Bar, & People of this County who heard the trial, declare that the Prisoner ought to be pardoned, and not only so, but that he ought to have been acquitted; and that a Gentleman who, with strong prejudices against the accused, had undertaken to aid the prosecution, abandoned it from a conviction of its injustice. The Jury, as if conscious of the uproar of their verdict, unanimously, & spontaneously, in open court before their discharge, recommended the Prisoner to mercy. Several of them, after their dispersion, declared that they considered the homicide justified upon the principle of self defence, but had yielded their opinions in deference to others, or to avoid confinement, upon the expectation of a pardon; and it is believed, that they were too much influenced by the supposed state of public sentiment, which, when they were impannelled was decidedly hostile to the Prisoner, but which, without the knowledge they being completely cut off from all communication with the people, had been entirely reversed by the investigation. The Bystanders who heard the trial being under no such restraint, with very few exceptions produced by particular prejudices, or influences, earnestly recommended a Petition of Pardon, and, when one was prepared in conformity with their wishes, eagerly pressed forward to sign it; and among the names will be found several venire men who had been challenged & rejected because they had formed, & expressed a decided opinion against the Prisoner but who had the candor to listen to the truth, and the magnanimity to acknowledge their error. I will not trouble you with an explanation of the causes of the extraordinary & envenomed prejudice which was excited against the Prisoner, first in Loudoun & afterwards in Prince William; enough has been shown to prove its existence, and to make us deplore its effects; and enough, I am sure, to demonstrate the wisdom, & humanity of lodging the power of pardon in your hands, and the propriety of its exercise in this case. Very respectfully your obedient servant.








I am, Gentleman,









Jno Macrae

P. S. Messrs Taylor & Mason, my colleagues in the County’s case, will also address the Executive in his behalf, and will forward the papers referred to by me in this letter.









J. M.

Brentsville, Va.,  September 28th  1826
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Commonwealth of Virginia against William Winkfield otherwise called Will Winkfield defendant


Virginia: Pleas before the Honorable the Judge of the Superior Court of Law for Prince William County, in the said Superior Court of Law, on the 28th day of September 1826


Be it remembered that on the same term, to wit; on the 18th day of September 1826, Stephen French, foreman, Philip Warder, Francis M. Lewis, William M. Lewis, Benjamin Johnson, Richard A. Brett, Redmon Foster, Simon Luttrell, Peyton Mills, William B. Davis, John Stone, Joseph R. Lynn, John P. Fairfax, Henry Slade, Thomas Luttrell, Joshua Taylor, Seymour Lynn and Joseph C. Lynn were sworn a Grand Jury of inquest for the body of the County and having received their charge withdrew and after some time returned into Court and amongst other things presented an Indictment against William Winkfield, otherwise called Will Winkfield, for murder, a true bill”, which Indictment is in the words following Viz:


“Virginia third Judicial Circuit Prince William County, to wit; The Jurors for the Commonwealth for the Superior Court of Law for the County of Prince William being one of the Counties composing the third Judicial Circuit for the State of Virginia being impaneled sworn and charged do upon their oaths present that William Winkfield, otherwise called Will Winkfield late of the County aforesaid laborer not having the fear of God before his eyes but moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil, on the second day of July in the year one thousand eight hundred and twenty six at the County aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of the Court with force and arms feloniously, willfully, deliberately, premeditatedly and of this malice aforethought made an assault on one Suckey Gray a free woman of Colour in the peace of God and of the Commonwealth then and there being, and he the said William Winkfield otherwise called Will Winkfield with a Hoe which he then and there held in both his hands of him the said William Winkfield otherwise called Will Winkfield, struck, beat and bruised the said Suckey Gray on the back part of the neck and  head of her the said Suckey Gray feloniously, willfully, deliberately, premeditatedly and of his malice aforethought, giving to the said Suckey Gray on the neck and head of her the said Suckey Gray then and there with the said Hoe one mortal blow of which she the said Suckey Gray then and there died, and so the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do say that the said William Winkfield (otherwise called Will Winkfield) the said Suckey Gray in manner and form aforesaid, feloniously, willfully deliberately, premeditatedly and of his malice aforethought did kill and murder against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such cases made and provided.


2nd  And the Jurors aforesaid on their oaths aforesaid do further present that William Winkfield (otherwise called Will Winkfield)  labourer late of the County aforesaid not having the fear of God before his eyes but moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil, on the second day of July in the year one thousand eight hundred and twenty six at the County aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of the Court with force and arms feloniously, willfully, deliberately, premeditatedly and of this malice aforethought made an assault on one Suckey Gray a free woman of Colour in the peace of God and of the Commonwealth then and there being, and he the said William Winkfield otherwise called Will Winkfield) with the right fist and hand of him the said William Winkfield (otherwise called Will Winkfield), in and upon the neck, throat and head of her the said Suckey Gray then and there being with the fist and hand of him the said William Winkfield (otherwise called Will Winkfield struck, beat, bruised and choked the said Suckey Gray on the neck of her the said Suckey Gray, feloniously, willfully, deliberately, premeditatedly and of his malice aforethought giving to her the said Suckey Gray on the neck and head of her the said Suckey Gray then and there with his fist and hand one mortal wound of which she the said Suckey Gray died, and so the Jurors aforesaid on their oaths aforesaid so say that the said William Winkfield (otherwise called Will Winkfield) the said Suckey Gray in manner and form aforesaid, feloniously, willfully, deliberately premeditatedly and of his malice aforethought did kill and murder against the Peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the Act of Assembly of Virginia in such cases made and provided.


Edward Ellis sworn to give evidence to the Grand Jury, john Gibson Jr. attorney for the Commonwealth for the Superior Court of Prince William County








M. B. Sinclair C. Ck.


Endorsed “True Bill, Stephen French foreman” Whereupon the said William Winkfield, alias Will Winkfield, was led to the bar in custody of the Keeper of the Public Jail and thereof arraigned and pleaded not guilty to the Indictment and for his trial put himself upon God and the County and thereupon he was remanded to Jail.


And at another day, to wit; In the said Superior Court of law the 25th day of September 1826. The said William Winkfield (otherwise called Will Winkfield) was again led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff and thereupon came the venire who were summoned for this trial and the panel of the venire and the bystanders having been exhausted and only six jurors having been by him elected, there upon the Sheriff was ordered to summon eighteen fit and discreet persons from the legally qualified freeholders of this County to appear here tomorrow morning at ten o’clock to serve as jurors upon the said trial, and the six jurors (who were elected having been sworn the truth to speak of and upon the premises were put in charge of one of the Deputy Sheriffs attending the Court who was first sworn to keep them together without separation except on occasions of indispensable necessity, and not to hold any communication with them himself nor permit others to communicate with them but on like occasions, and to bring them into court tomorrow morning at ten o’clock, and thereupon the Prisoner was remanded to Jail.


And at another day, to wit; In the said Superior Court of law the 26th day of September 1826. The said William Winkfield (otherwise called Will Winkfield) was again led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff and thereupon the said six jurors from yesterday were brought into court by the Deputy Sheriff to whose charge they were committed and the tales awarded for summoning eighteen jurors to attend this day from whom to complete a Jury for the trial of said William Winkfield otherwise called Will Winkfield being returned executed, thereupon came the Jurors summoned as aforesaid and they being exhausted and only four jurors having been elected by the Prisoner, is therefore ordered that Sheriff do from the legally qualified freeholders of  this county summon twelve fit and discreet persons to appear here tomorrow morning at ten o’clock to serve as jurors upon the said trial; and the four jurors who were elected having been sworn the truth to speak were together with those sworn yesterday put in charge of one of the Deputy Sheriffs attending the Court who was first sworn to keep them together without separation except on occasions of indispensable necessity, and not to hold any communication with them himself nor permit others to communicate with them but on like occasions, and to bring them into court tomorrow morning at ten o’clock, and thereupon the Prisoner was remanded to Jail.


And at another day, to wit; In the said Superior Court of law the 27th day of September 1826. The said William Winkfield otherwise called Will Winkfield was again led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff and thereupon the said ten jurors who had been elected by him and sworn brought into Court by the  Deputy Sheriff to whose charge they were committed yesterday, and the tales awarded in this case for summoning twelve fit and discreet persons from the legally qualified freeholders of  this county  to attend here this day at ten o’clock to serve as jurors upon the said trial of the prisoner  being returned executed, thereupon came the jurors summoned as aforesaid and two of them being by him elected were sworn the truth of and upon the premises to speak, and a full jury being formed to wit;  John Kincheloe, Charles Chick, Benjamin Dyer, Richard Philips, Moses Mathews, Benjamin Pridmore, George Copin, Moses Arnold, Rowland Florance, John Lee, William Abel, and William Bridwell, and from the truth of and upon the premises to speak, and having heard the evidence as well on behalf of the Commonwealth as the Prisoner were sent into their chamber there to remain under the care and in the custody of the Sheriff of the Sheriff until tomorrow morning ten o’clock, two of the Deputy Sheriffs attending this Court having been first sworn to keep them together without separation except on occasions of indispensable necessity, and not to hold any communication with them himself nor permit others to communicate with them but on like occasions, and to bring them into court tomorrow morning at ten o’clock, and thereupon the Prisoner was remanded to Jail.


And now there this day, to wit; In the said Superior Court of law, for Prince William County on the aforesaid 28th day of September 1826. The said William Winkfield (otherwise called Will Winkfield) was again led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff and the Jury sworn in this case of and upon the premises to speak were brought into court by the Deputy Sheriff to whose care they were committed yesterday and the said jury having fully heard the arguments of counsel upon their oath do say that he is guilty  of Murder in the second degree and that he shall receive Corporal punishment by the infliction of nine stripes on his bare back well laid on; it is therefore considered by the Court that the said William Winkfield, otherwise called Will Winkfield, do receive on his bare back at the public whipping post ninety stripes to be well laid on, of which number thirty stripes shall be inflicted on tomorrow  between the hours of ten A.M. and two P. M. thirty other stripes on the fourteenth of the next month and thirty others on the thirtieth of the same month; And further, that he be sold as a slave and banished without the limits of the United States and that in the mean time he be remanded to Jail there to abide the punishment by stripes to which he hath been adjudged, and the order of the Executive in further execution of this sentence. Memorandum, The distribution of the punishment by stripes was made at the special instance of the prisoner and on his representation that from the present infirm state of his health his life might be endangered from the infliction of the whole number of stripes at one and the same time.








Teste
M. B. Sinclair C. S. Cu

Prince William County, July 31st 1826

Box #2, Folder 7, Accession #42267

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler Esq.

Commonwealth vs Dennis McCarty

To John Tyler Esq. Governor of Virginia

“Endorsed  a true bill” Samuel M. Edwards foreman”


Superior Court of Law for Prince William County, September 23rd 1826, The Commonwealth of Virginia against Dennis McCarty defendant, On an Indictment.


The Jury sworn in this case on the second day of this term were again brought into Court in the charge of the Sheriff to whose care they were committed yesterday, and thereupon the prisoners counsel stated to the Court that the infirmity of his health still continued and moved that he might not be brought out; but that the trial might proceed without him this day until he shall be able to be set to the bar, having declined a suspension of the trial which was proffered by the Court, to which the Attorney for the Commonwealth assented. And the jury having fully heard the arguments of counsel retired to their chamber to consider of their verdict, and having agreed, the said Dennis McCarty was led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff whereupon the said jury returned into court and upon their oaths do say that the said Dennis McCarty is guilty of murder in the second degree and they do ascertain the terms of his imprisonment in the public jail and penitentiary house of this Commonwealth to be five years; and thereupon  he was remanded to Jail – Memorandum the jury in open Court stated it to the Court to be then wish unanimously that the prisoner should be recommended for a pardon.








Teste
M. B. Sinclair Clerk

Virginia: Tenth Judicial Circuit, Loudoun County, to wit:


The Jurors for the Commonwealth for the Superior Court of Law for the County of Loudoun being one of the Counties composing the tenth Judicial Circuit for the State of Virginia being impaneled, sworn affirmed & charged do upon their oaths and affirmation present that Dennis McCarty late of the parish of Shelburn & County aforesaid laborer not having the fear of God before his eyes but being moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil on the twenty third day of December in the year eighteen hundred and twenty four at the Parish & County aforesaid & within the Jurisdiction of this Court with force and arms feloniously, willfully, deliberately, by premeditation and of his malice aforethought made an assault on one James Beatty in the peace of God and of the Commonwealth then and there being and he the said Dennis McCarty with a knife which he then & there held in the right hand of him the said Dennis , stabbed, struck & thrust the said James Beatty in the left side of him the said Beatty, feloniously, willfully, deliberately, by premeditation and of his malice aforethought giving to him the said James Beatty on the said left side of him the said James Beatty then and there with the said knife one mortal wound of the breadth of three inches and depth of six inches of which the said James Beatty then and there died; and so the jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, so say that the said Dennis McCarty the said James Beatty in manner & form aforesaid feloniously, willfully, deliberately, premeditatedly and of his malice aforethought did kill and murder against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the Act of the General Assembly in such cases provided.



Richard H. Henderson attorney for the







Commonwealth for the Superior Court of Law for







The County of Loudoun
Witnesses

Robert Patten, Balaam Osburn

William Smarr, Wm. Gulie &

William Simpson sworn to give evidence to the Grand Jury, July 31st 1826





Jno A. Binns  D.C.

Prince William County, September 28th 1826

Box #3, Folder 10, Accession #42267

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler Esq.

Petition for the Pardon of Dennis McCarty

To John Tyler Esq. Governor of Virginia

      Sir,


We have the honor to enclose to you a copy of the indictment against Dennis McCarty lately tried in the County of Prince William on a charge of Murder – together with a copy of the verdict of the jury, and a memorandum of their wish, as unanimously & voluntarily impressed as  the foot of it “That the Prisoner should be recommended for a pardon” & witch at their request was entered upon the record.


We enclose also a petition from the Members of the Bar who were present at the trial, accompanied by a special statement from Col. Cannon, who was associated in the prosecution with the Commonwealth’s Attorney – And also a petition of the Citizens of Prince William County who were present at the trial – This petition was spontaneously drawn up by every one of the petitioners themselves, and immediately signed, as we are informed by almost every one present.


We appeared as counsel for the accused , and from the commencement of the case witnessed a very unusual degree of prejudice and incitement against him – This we believe may be attributed in a great measure to the course pursued by the Coroner of the County before whom the inquest was held – Who under a mistaken sense of duty, determined that he should receive no testimony whatever on the part of the accused; and reduced to writing only such parts of the statements of two witnesses for the Commonwealth, as made most strongly against him – It is not overlooked that these statements exaggerated by rumor & repeated for a period of twenty one months without the opportunity of contradiction & would have produced an impression very difficult to remove & contributing in no little degree to the verdict which has been rendered.


Under a false conviction on our part, that the testimony, presented clearly a case of justifiable homicide, we should immediately have applied to the court, for a new trial – and that the able and distinguished judge who presided would without difficulty have granted a new trial, we have strong reason to believe – but the very reduced and critical state of the Prisoners health, effectually opposed a course, which must of necessity have added several months to the very long confinement which he had already suffered – And determined us on an appeal to the Executive of the Commonwealth in which we feel the fullest confidence of speedy relief; & which can scarcely be considered less honorable to the Prisoner himself, resting as it will upon the unanimous & unsolicited recommendation of the jury by whom he was tried – supported by the opinion of the able and experienced judge who presided – The concurring opinions of the Bar who were present – and the almost unanimous expression of numbers & most intelligent By-Standers – am writing to declare that he ought to have been acquitted. And “that he ought to have been acquitted”, on our part we feel, after the most minute & patent examination of the testimony, not the least shadow of doubt.


We would respectfully beg leave further to add that the situation of the Prisoners health & his long confinement, render an early decision on this application, very desirable.






with very great respect Sir, we have 

the honor to be your obedient servants 


Thomas F. Mason


R. J. Taylor

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va.  1 January 1827

Box #3, Folder 10, Accession #42267

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler Esq.

Prince William County Court, January 1st 1827 – Ordered that the magistrates of this County be summon to the first day of the next court to recommend proper persons to the executive to be commissioned as magistrates in the County, to supply vacancies in the commission of the peace by the resignation of Henry A. Barron and the removal of James French.








Teste
J. Williams D.C

“Executed on all the Justices in the County



James Fewell



John W. Williams



P. Norvill 

deputies for Charles Ewell

Prince William County Court February 5th 1827


Ordered that the following gentlemen be nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as magistrates in this county; Vizt: Thomas R. Hampton in the room of Henry A. Barron resigned, Richard B. Tyler in the room of James French removed and Thomas B. Hamilton in the room of Charles Ewell removed.









Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cu,

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. January 1827
Box #3, Folder 10, Accession #42267

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler Esq.

Petition of the Bar of PW for Pardon of Dennis McCarty

To the Governor and Council of the Commonwealth of Virginia


The Subscribing members of the Bar of the Superior Court of Prince William County, present at the trial of Dennis McCarty -  found guilty of murder in the second degree on the body of James Beatty – beg leave to recommend the said Dennis McCarty to mercy of the Executive – they consider his case as one in which, under all circumstances the power of pardoning ought to be exercised – and that rational doubts may be entertained whether the act on which he was convicted, amounted to more than justifiable homicide. 
 B. Hooe

Wm. B. Tyler, 

George W. Macrae
 Nathaniel Tyler, 

Barnaby Cannon

  James G. Byrce.


At the request of John Gibson Esq. who prosecuted for the Commonwealth in the Superior Court of the County of Prince William. I united with him in the prosecution of Dennis McCarty charged with the murder of James Beaty I engaged in the prosecution with strong prejudices against McCarty owing from the representations I had received of the circumstances under which the homicide had been committed, after a patient examination of the testimony as will in behalf of the prisoner as of the Commonwealth so strong was the impression made upon my mind that it was a case of justifiable homicide that I abandoned the prosecution.








Barnaby Cannon

Prince William County Court, Brentsville, Va. January 1827

Box #3, Folder 10, Accession #42267

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Tyler Esq.

Petition of the Citizens of Prince William for the Pardon of Dennis McCarty


We, the undersigned, Citizens of Prince William County, who were present at the trial of Dennis McCarty of the County of Loudoun charged with the murder of James Beatty, are of opinion that the homicide was justifiable upon the principle of self defence although he has been convicted of murder in the second degree, and that he ought to be pardoned; and we accordingly, earnestly recommend the said McCarty to the Executive of the Commonwealth for a total remission of the punishment to which he has been sentenced.


William Craig


Simon Luttrell


Thomas Luttrell


A. Millan


Baylis Grigsby


John Williams


A. B. Carver


N. B. Butler


Robert L. Nalls


R. B. Harrison


Strother Renoe


Saml. Davis



Edward Harding


A-----
Terrill


John Hall


Sanford W. Pickett

Wm. C. Alexander

John Florance


George Shirley


Epram__ Rust


William Reno


Burr Howison


W----- Johnson


Timothy Brag/Bray


John S. Howison


P. D. Dawe C.C.C.

Sam Owens


Charles Ming 


James Craig


Isaac Reno


Tom--- Daly


Herndon Blackwell

Geo N. Reno


Evan J. Owens


Wm. Smith


Armistead OBanon


Samuel P-------


Wm Pettry


James Terrell


Geo. W. Duglass


Wm. Brawner


Geo. Green


John Tanner


R. B. Meck----


E. Fa-------


John Roper


John Barron


Wm. Taylor


A. _. Klatz


Thurman _______

John Hooe Jr.


Henry G. Butler


Brice Thomas (?)


Wm. Goodwin


Wm. Simpson


Jas W. Washington

Peter Smith




William Bronaugh commissioner of Loudoun County


Thos. F. Tebbs


John H. Carter


Brentsville, Va. April 3rd 1827

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 1, Folder 5

William B. Giles Esquire, Governor of Virginia, Richmond

      Sir:


Having been informed by Mr. Jno. Williams of this place that he is about to make application to the Executive for the office of Notary Public for this county which has become vacated by the resignation of Mordecai B. Sinclair Esq. the hitherto incumbent, it gives me pleasure to say of Mr. Williams that he is a gentleman whose purity of character, exemplary moral, and correct habits would guarantee fidelity in the discharge of the duties of any office which he might be appointed to fill; and that several years service as deputy clerk in the Clerk’s Office of this county has given him an acquaintance with practical law and legal transactions, which, with his legal information derived from “the books”, will I’m sure amply qualify him to fill the office of Notary Public with requisite ability.








With great respect









Geo. W. Macrae

Brentsville, Va., May 23rd  1827

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 1, Folder 7

Commonwealth of Virginia vs Cambridge alias Hawley (Halley sometimes written)


Commonwealth of Virginia against John Cambridge alias John Hawley, Virginia: Pleas before the Hon: Judge of the Superior Court of Law for Prince William County at the Court House of said County the twenty second day of May one thousand eight hundred and twenty seven.


Be it remembered that at the same term; to wit; on the 14th day of May 1827 Stephen French, foreman, Francis M. Lewis, Moses Cockrell, William M. Lewis, Robert Hamilton, George E. Green, Anderson B. Carter, Benjamin Johnson, Simon Luttrell, Christopher E. Cushing, Joseph R. Lynn, Landon Carter Jr., Walter King, Peyton Mills, Seymour Lynn, Joseph E. Lynn, Thomas Fortune and John S. Trone were sworn a Grand Jury of inquest for the body of the said County and having received their charge withdrew and after sometime returned into Court and presented an Indictment against John Cambridge alias John Hawley “a true bill” which Indictment is in these words “Commonwealth of Virginia, Prince William County, to wit; Third Judicial Circuit. The Jurors of the Commonwealth of Virginia of and for the body of Prince William County upon their oaths do present that John Cambridge alias John Hawley a Freeman of Colour late of the County aforesaid labourer on the sixteenth day of March in the year one thousand eight hundred and twenty seven about the hours of twelve o’clock in the night of the same day with force and arms at the County aforesaid the dwelling house of one Theron W. Newman in the said dwelling then and there being then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal and carry away and then and there with force and arms Eight pieces of Bacon of the value of ten dollars of the goods and chattels of the said Theron W. Newman in the dwelling house then and there being found then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal and carry away against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia and the form of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided. And the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do further present that the said  John Cambridge alias John Hawley a free man of colour late of the county aforesaid labourer on the sixteenth day of March in the same year aforesaid about the hour of one o’clock in the night of the same day with force and arms in the County aforesaid the meat house of one Theron W. Newman the same being within the cartilage of the dwelling house and being parcel of the dwelling house of the said Theron W. Newman there situate feloniously and burglariously did break and enter with intent the goods and chattels of the said Theron W. Newman in the said meat house within the cartilage of the said dwelling house and being parcel of the dwelling house then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal take and carry away and then and there with force and arms ten pieces of Bacon of the value of twelve dollars of the goods and chattels of the said Theron W. Newman in the same meat house within the cartilage of the said dwelling house then and there being found, then and there feloniously and burglariously did steal, take and carry away against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia and against the form of the Act of the General assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided.


And the Jury aforesaid upon their oath aforesaid do further present that the said John Cambridge alias John Hawley late of the County aforesaid labourer on the night of the sixteenth day of March in the year eighteen hundred and twenty seven in the county aforesaid with force and arms in the meat house of one Theron W. Newman feloniously did steal take and carry away nine pieces of bacon of the value of ten dollars the same nine pieces of Bacon at the time of Committing the felony aforesaid being the property of the said Theron W. Newman against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia and against the act of the Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided.


Theron W. Newman sworn in Court to give evidence on this Indictment – John Gibson attorney for the Commonwealth for the Superior Court of Law for Prince William County – M. B. Sinclair  clerk.


And thereupon the said John Cambridge was led to the bar in Custody of the Keeper of the Public Jail and thereof arraigned and pleaded not guilty to the Indictment and for his trial put himself upon the County; whereupon came a jury to wit; John Lee Sen., Benjamin Pridmore, Redman Foster, James Florance, Rut Johnson, William H. Dogan, John Dogan, William P. Cundiff, James B. Ewell, John D. Lee, William Brawner and Richard Davis Jr. who being elected tried and sworn the truth of and upon the premises to speak upon their oath do say that the said John Cambridge alias John Hawley is guilty of burglary in manner and form as in the Indictment against him is alleged and that he shall receive Corporal punishment by the infliction of twenty stripes on his bare back well laid on. And thereupon he is remanded to Jail.


And mow here this day, to wit; on the aforesaid 22nd day of May 1827 the said John Cambridge, alias John Halley was again led to the bar in custody of the keeper of the public jail and it being demanded of him if anything for himself he had or knew to say why the Court should now proceed to pronounce judgment against him according to law he saith that he hath nothing but what he has before said. Therefore it is considered by the Court that the said John Cambridge, alias John Halley do receive on his bare back at the public whipping post twenty lashes to be well laid on, this day between two and four o’clock, and further that he be sold as a slave and banished without the limits of the United States, and that in the mean time he be remanded to Jail there to abide the punishment by stripes to which he has been adjudged, and the order of the Executive in further execution of the sentence.








Teste
M. B. Sinclair  clerk

Brentsville, Va. September 10th 1827

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 2, Folder 7

William B. Giles Esquire, Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Prince William County Court, August 6th 1827, Ordered that the magistrates of this County be summoned to appear here on the first day of the next court to recommend proper persons to be commissioned as magistrates to supply vacancies that have occurred in the commission of the peace in this County,







Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


Sheriffs return “Executed on Jesse Ewell, Simon Luttrell, James Gwatkin, John Fox, Thomas Chapman, Thomas Nelson Jr. and a copy left at the house of John Fitzhugh.







James H. Reid D.S. for Charles Ming”


“Executed on Cleary, Foster, Jackson, Gilbert, Smith







Mathias Cole D.S. for Charles Ming”


“Executed on Charles Hunton, Charles S. Carter, Griffin Stith, Stuart G. Thornton, Jno Hutchison, Thomas B. Hamilton.







P. Norvill D.S. for Charles Ming”


“Executed on Redmon Foster, James B. T. Thornton, Robert Hamilton, & John Hooe.







James Fewell D.S. for Charles Ming”


Endorsed “I acknowledge the service of the within R. Foote, L. G. Alexander.

Prince William County Court, September 3rd 1827


Ordered that the following Gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as magistrates for this county Vizt: Benjamin Johnson in the room of Thomas R. Hampton who refuses to qualify, Richard H. Philips in the room of Francis H. Dunnington who died without qualifying and James B. Ewell in the room of Richard B. Tyler who refuses to qualify.








Teste
Jno Williams D.C.

Brentsville, Va., November 13th  1827

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 3, Folder 1

To Governor of Virginia, Clerk of Executive Council, Richmond, Va.


At a Court of Quarterly Session held for Prince William County on November 5th 1827. Present were Jesse Ewell, Michael Cleary, Richard Foote, Charles S. Carter & Thomas B. Hamilton, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that Charles Ming, William Smith & John Hooe Jr. be nominated to the Executive as proper persons, either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.








Teste
P. D. Dawe  C.C.

Dumfries Va.,  December 8th  1827

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 3, Folder 1








Park Gate, near Brentsville








December 8, 1827

To His Excellency Wm. B. Giles

     Sir:


I had the favour to receive your letter of the 26th of October & 3rd of November last. I was last seventh proceeding in the executive of the commission assigned me by the Executive when I was arrested by your letter of the said ulto I have however ascertained that a satisfactory title cannot be at present obtained for the land originally selected as a site for the Arsenal; and no proceedings have as yet been taken, or even promised to perfect the title. So much of the Land for the other site recommended by Judge Green & myself as belonged to Lee’s heirs, has been lately sold under a decree of the Superior Court of Chancery for the Fredericksburg District, & has been bought by a Gentlemen, who it is understood, will convey it to the Commonwealth for the purpose mentioned at the maximum price fixed by the Executive. The sale has been effected under the provision of the Act concerning Guardians, & 1st  Rev. Code, 409-10, and I am informed, upon good authority, that all the proceedings have been regular. I shall, however, obtain from the Chancery office a copy of the Record in the first, & examine it myself. This Land & Lee’s heirs embrace only a part of the site recommended; and the other part, which is very important to the defence, & convenience of the establishment, belongs to Mr. Wm. Horner of Warrenton, who will not take less than 100 dollars per acre for it. This part contains from 4 to 6 acres. It lies between Lee’s land & the Turnpike Road & forms the northern Rope of the hill chosen for the site of the Arsenal. This with so much of Lee’s land as I think should belong to the establishment, will probably embrace about fifteen acres. Hereto enlarge the boundaries to the extent to include a spring at the foot of the hill, which supplies good water, & will be convenient in the erection of the Buildings; and any surplus which may be hereafter ascertained can be sold by the Commonwealth for much more than it will cost her. The important object to be attained by the purchase of so extensive a surface will be the repulsion to a proper distance of tippling houses & other places of corrupt resort, and the complete separation, when necessary of the soldiers from the Citizens. Besides, it would afford space for the operation of industry & for exercises with a view to health & efficiency. Large gardens & extensive walks, elegantly embellished, might be formed without any expense; and I need hardly add that they would evidently contribute to the health & comfort of the Guard as well as to its efficiency.


As Mr. Horner will not sell at your maximum & with a view to clear all difficulty or doubt on the care to be given to respectfully suggest the expediting of recommending to the General Assembly the passage of an Act authorizing the condemnation, in the usual mode, of so much land as may be required; with a profit, however, in order to meet the contingency & excessive verbration, that the Executive might then take it, or not, in his discretion. I am authorized, indeed to say that the law need not be any objection to the creation of the arsenal at either of the sites recommended; further the Citizens of Warrenton would make up any difference between the sum which the owners demand & that which the Executive would allow, but I presume it will not be considered compatible with the dignity or honour of a great Commonwealth to haggle for a few acres, or to impose a public charge upon a few individuals.





I am Sir with great respect your obedient servant








J. Macrae

Dumfries, Va. December 30th  1827

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 3, Folder 5

To W. H. Richardson Esq. C.C., Richmond

       Sir,


As I am not a subscriber to the “Enquirer, I did not see till yesterday your advertisement of the large Map of Virginia. I was in Philadelphia last summer when this map was sec’d by The Philadelphia Society there. I applied to the Enquirer for a copy but he had none for sale. I fear my application is now too late – but if you could procure a copy, and inform me you have laid it by for me, I will immediately transmit you the $20 for it – And set the favour of my friend Captain Macrae when he attends the Anti - Jackson convention next month to bring it up with him – or it might be sent by Captain Jenkins in his return back to Alexandria, - Relying on your goodness to address this trouble.







I remain respectfully yours








John Spence

Brentsville, Va., March 13th  1828

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 4, Folder 1

To William B. Giles Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Prince William County Court, February 4th 1828. Ordered that the Sheriff summon the Justices of this County to attend on the first day of next court for the purpose of making a recommendation of other persons to be appointed and commissioned justices of the said County to supply vacancies which have occurred therein.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


Sheriff’s Returns “Executed on Jno Hutchison, Jesse Ewell, Thomas B. Hamilton, S. G. Thornton, G. Stith, C. S. Carter.








P. Norvill D.S. for Chas. Ming


“Executed on John Hooe Jr., R. Foote, Robert Hamilton, Lawrence G. Alexander, R. Foster.








James Fewell D.S. for Charles Ming


“Executed on Cleary and Foster – Jno W. Williams D.S. for Chas. Ming”


“Executed on Jackson, Smith, Gilbert & Philips – Mathias Cole D.S. for Charles Ming”


“Executed on Jno Fitzhugh, John Fox, Thomas Nelson Jr. and James Gwatkin.








James H. Reid D. S. for Charles Ming


At a Court of Quarterly Sessions held for Prince William County the 3rd day of March 1828. Present at this time Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, Richard Foote, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson Jr., Redmon Foster, Joseph R. Gilbert, Charles S. Carter, Thomas B. Hamilton, Benjamin Johnson, Richard H. Philips and James B. Ewell, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following Gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be added to the Commission of the Peace to supply vacancies which have occurred in this county Vizt: James W. F. Macrae in the room of Simon Luttrell removed, William A. Harrison in the room of Thomas Chapman deceased, and Howson Hooe in the room of Charles Hunton removed.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., June 2nd  1828

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 5, Folder 3

Prince William County Court, June 2nd 1828, Present, Jesse Ewell, Richard Foote, John Fitzhugh, John Hutchison, Charles S. Carter, and Thomas B. Hamilton, gentlemen justices.

Ordered that the magistrates of this County be summoned to the first day of August Court next, to recommend to the Executive proper persons to be commissioned as magistrates to supply vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the peace for this County.







Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Sheriffs returns “Executed on Wm. Smith, Thomas Nelson Jr., George W. Jackson, Michael Cleary, James Foster, James Gwatkin, John Fox, Jno Fitzhugh, Jos. R. Gilbert, & R. H. Philips.







James H. Reid D.S. for Chas. Ming

Executed on John Hutchison, Jesse Ewell, Charles S. Carter, Thomas B. Hamilton, Griffin Stith, Stewart G. Thornton.




P. Norvill D.S. for Chas. Ewell

Executed on R. Foote, L. G. Alexander, Jas. B. T. Thornton, R. Foster, John Hooe, Benjamin Johnson, R. Hamilton, Jas B. Ewell.







James Fewell D.S. for Charles Ming

Prince William County Court, August 4th 1828


Present, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, Robert Hamilton, James Foster, John Hutchison, Thomas Nelson Jr., Redmon Foster, Joseph R. Gilbert, Benjamin Johnson, & James B. Ewell, gentlemen justices.


Ordered that the following gentlemen be recommended to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates in this county to supply vacancies which have occurred in the Commission of the Peace Viz: James W. F. Macrae in the room of Simon Luttrell removed, William Cleary in the room of Richard H. Philips deceased, George G. Tyler in the room of Charles Hunton removed and William A. Harrison in the room of Thomas Chapman deceased.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl.Cur.


A list of Justices in Prince William County, John Fox, Charles Ming now Sheriff, William Smith, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Griffin Stith, Michael Cleary, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, Richard Foote, James Gwatkin, James Foster, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson Jr., Redmon Foster, Joseph R. Gilbert, Charles S. Carter, Stuart G. Thornton, James B. T. Thornton, John Fitzhugh, Thomas B. Hamilton, Benjamin Johnson and James B. Ewell.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., November 3rd 1828

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 5, Folder 9

To Governor of Virginia, Clerk of Executive Council, Richmond, Va.


Prince William County Court, November 3rd 1828. Ordered that William Smith, John Hooe Jr. and Jesse Ewell be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.









Teste
P. D. Dawe C.C.

Brentsville, Va. February 24th 1829

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 6, Folder 6

William B. Giles Esquire, Governor of Virginia, Richmond

     Dear Sir:


At a Court held for the County of Prince William on the 3rd day of November 1828, the subjoined order was made which was transmitted to the Executive and William Smith was Commissioned as Sheriff of said County, who gave bonds in due time awarding to law; since which time, the said Smith hath departed this life. And as it is desirable that a successor to the present Sheriff whose term expires the first week in March next should be appointed as early as possible. I have thought it expedient to make you this communication.






Very Respectfully







Your Obedient Servant








P. D. Dawe clerk









Prince William County

Prince William County Court, November 3rd 1828


Ordered that William Smith, John Hooe Jr. and Jesse Ewell be nominated to the Executive as proper persons, either of whom may be Commissioned as Sheriff of this County.







Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va. September 8th 1827

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 7, Folder 7

William B. Giles Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond

     





Brentsville, Prince William County, Sept. 3rd 1829

      Sir,


Your communication of the 18th last month covering an order of Council on the subject of distributing arms to Volunteer Companies of Infantry, was only received a few days since owing to my absence from home, which circumstances will account for the delay in answering the same – There  is but one Regiment in this County, and but one Volunteer Company of Infantry attached to that Regiment – Whether the company would be willing to secure arms subject to the condition referred to in your communication. I have not been able to ascertain since the receipt of your letter before alluded to but will lose no time in endeavoring to get that information through the Captain of the Light Infantry Company attached  to the 36th Regiment and when obtained will communicate the result without delay – The strength of that Company in May last was seventy eight, 3 officers and 75 privates. No arms of any description in their hands.







Very respectfully your obedient servant







John Gibson Jr.







Col. Commandant 

36th Regiment Virginia Militia

Brentsville, Va., November 2nd 1829

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 7, Folder 10


Ordered that John Hooe Jr., Jesse Ewell and Michael Cleary be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of the County.








Teste 
P. D. Dawe

Brentsville, Va. February 24th 1830

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 8, Folder 6

William B. Giles Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond

     Sir:


In conformity to an Act of Assembly, entitled “An Act to reduce into one, all Acts and parts of Acts relating to the “Appointment and duties of Sheriffs” passed January 11, 1819.


I do certify that John Hooe Jr. who was appointed sheriff of Prince William County, by commission bearing date the 10th December 1829, has failed to give bond and security as required by the 3rd section of that act – It is expected that he will qualify at our next March Court.








I remain respectfully








Your Obedient Servant








   P. D. Dawe  Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., March 18th 1830

Governors Executive Papers – William Branch Giles

Accession #42310, Box 8, Folder 17

To the Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Prince William County Court, March 1st 1830. The Court doth recommend to the Executive, James H. Reid & Benjamin Johnson as fit and proper persons to be commissioned to the execute the office of Coroner within our County.








Teste
P. D. Dawe

Brentsville, Va., 9 November 1830

Box # 2 , Folder # 3, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.

To his Excellency John Floyd, Governor of Virginia, Richmond or to The Clerk of the Executive Council.

Prince William County Court November 1st 1830. Present, Michael Cleary, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, Richard Foote, Redmon Foster, James Gwatkin, Thomas B. Hamilton, Benjamin Johnson, and Thomas C. Thornton, gentlemen justices.

Ordered that Jesse Ewell, Michael Cleary and George W. Jackson be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County, One Justice Dissenting.







Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.
When the nomination of Sheriff was about to be made this day a letter was presented to the Court from John Fox asserting his right to be nominated in the room of one of the persons named in said nomination. But it appearing to the Court that the said Fox has heretofore refused to Act as a Magistrate, and it farther appearing that for years past he has been mentally disqualified from acting and still continues so, they refused for these reasons to notice his application.







Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., 9 November 1830

Box # 2 , Folder # 3, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.

To his Excellency John Floyd, Governor of Virginia, Richmond

      Sir,


Enclosed you will receive copies of two records, one in the case of the Commonwealth against Slave Eliza, the other against Slave George; both of whom have lately been condemned to death by the County Court of Prince William.









Very respectfully









your obedient servant









P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., 16 November 1830

Commonwealth of Virginia vs George

Box # 2 , Folder # 3, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.


At a Court of Quarterly Sessions continued and held for Prince William County the 4th day of November 1830. Present, George W. Jackson, Richard Foote, James Gwatkin, Redmon Foster, and John Fitzhugh, gentlemen justices.


The Court proceeded as a Court of Oyer and Terminer to the trial of negro man Slave George the property of David Jamison charged with Felony and Burglary (the called court heretofore summoned having failed to meet) and assigned John P. Philips his counsel, Whereupon the attorney for the Commonwealth came into court and filed an information against him in these words Vizt.


“Virginia, Prince William County to Wit: Be it remembered that John Gibson Jr. attorney for the Commonwealth for the County of Prince William cometh here this fourth day of November in the year Eighteen Hundred and Thirty into a Special Court of the Commonwealth of Oyer and Terminer composed of the justices of the peace of the County of Prince William duly organized according to the provisions of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided for the trial of Slaves charged with Treason or Felony and for the said Commonwealth giveth the Court to understand and be informed that a certain Negro Man Slave named George late of the County aforesaid the property of one David Jamison of the County aforesaid about twelve o’clock at the night of the twenty first day of July in the year aforesaid, being a person of a wicked mind and disposition, feloniously and burglariously did break and enter the meat house of one Stephen French in the County aforesaid with intent the goods and chattels of the said Stephen French in the said meat house then and there being which said meat house was within the cartilage of the Mansion house of the said Stephen French and parcel thereof, with intent the goods and chattels of the said Stephen French in the said meat house then and there being then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal take and carry away and then and there with force and arms divers pieces of meat, to wit, Bacon, of the goods chattels and property of the said Stephen French in the same meat house then and there being found then and there feloniously and burglariously did steal take and carry away against the Peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided. And the said attorney giveth the court further to understand and be informed that in the day and year last aforesaid at the County aforesaid about the hour of twelve o’clock at night of the same day with force and arms a certain Negro Man named George late of the County aforesaid the property of one David Jamison of the said County the dwelling house of the said Stephen French there situate then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal take and carry away and then and there with force and arms divers pieces of meat to wit, Bacon of the value of thirty dollars of the goods chattels and property of the said Stephen French in the same dwelling house then and there being found then and there feloniously and burglariously did steal take and carry away against the Peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided.








John Gibson Junior Attorney








for the Commonwealth for the County








of Prince William
And upon the information aforesaid the said George was arraigned and upon his arraignment pleaded not guilty and for his trial put himself upon God and this Court. And the Court proceeded to examine Sundry Witnesses for the Commonwealth. On consideration whereof are unanimously of opinion that the said George is guilty of the offence wherewith he stands charged. It is therefore considered and ordered by the Court that he be remanded to Jail the place from whence he came and there to remain until the day of his Execution and from thence taken to the place of Execution and hanged by the neck until he be dead on the first Friday in January next between the hours of 10 o’clock in the morning and four o’clock in the afternoon of that day. And the Court is of opinion that the said George is worth $450.


The following was the Evidence taken in this case: Commonwealth against George a Slave the property of one David Jamison charged with Burglary.


Stephen French a witness on behalf of the Commonwealth states on oath that on the night of the twenty first day of July 1830 his meat house was broken open by forcing the lock and a quantity of Bacon taken there from, he thinks to the value of thirty dollars, but in the value he only speaks from impression; the meat house is not more than twenty four feet from his dwelling house and in the same enclosure with the dwelling house, was in the meat house the preceding evening and it was then when he left it locked.


Lawrence G. Alexander another witness states that the prisoner at the Bar he thinks on the twenty second day of last month’s October, confessed to him without any threat or inducement that he the prisoner with another Slave had broken open the meat house of Stephen French and taken there from Bacon.


James Fewell states in substance the same as L. G. Alexander, and adds that prisoner said he got four pieces of the meat & another slave got five or six pieces.






John Gibson Jr. attorney for the Commonwealth






         for Prince William County Court

And the Court recommends the said George to the mercy of the Executive.

The following papers are filed in the case Vizt. “Prince William County to ; 

To John Weedon constable of the said County, Whereas Stephen French of the said county hath this day made information and complaint upon oath before me John Fitzhugh a Justice of the peace for the said county, that some time in the month of July he thinks about the 21 day of the month a certain quantity of Bacon was feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the meat house of him the said Stephen French in the county aforesaid and that he hath just cause to suspect and doth suspect that David Jamisons servant George. Major William Ashmores servant Ben & Mrs. Sigismunda Alexander servant Jacob of said county (after forcing the lock of the meat house feloniously did steal take, and carry away the same. These are therefore to command you forthwith to apprehend them the said slaves and to bring them before me or some other Justices of the Peace to answer unto the said information and complaint and to be further dealt with according to law. Herein fail you not.




Given under my hand and seal this 22nd day of September 1830






Jno. Fitzhugh




Executed the 5th October 1830 – Jno. C. Weedon, Constable


To the Sheriff of Prince William County, or the keeper of the Jail of said County. Prince William County to Wit: These are to command and require you, in the name of the Commonwealth to receive into your Jail the bodies of Jacob a slave of Segismunda Alexander, and George the slave of David Jamison of the County aforesaid, taken and brought before us for felony and burglary by them committed in breaking and entering the meat house of Stephen French of said county and carrying away from thence a certain quantity of Bacon about four hundred weight. You are hereby required to keep the said Jacob & George safely, without Bail or Mainprize until discharge by due course of law.






Given under our hands and seals this 5th day of October 1830








Thomas Nelson (SEAL)








Thomas C. Thornton (SEAL)

Prince William County to wit:

      To the Sheriff of said County


Whereas Negro George a Slave of David Jamison & Jacob a slave of Mrs. Alexander of this county was this day committed to the Jail of this County for have broken the meat house of Stephen French and taking there from say about 400 lbs. weight) it appearing to me that the felonious offence wherewith they stand charged ought to be examined into by the county court therefore on behalf of the Commonwealth I require that you summon at least eight of the justices of your county to meet at the Court House on Monday next & then & there to hold a court for the examination of the fact with which the said persons as is by law required & directed & that you have then there this warrant.






Given under my hand & seal 5th day of October 1830








Thomas Nelson (SEAL)






Executed – B. Cole deputy sheriff for Jno Hooe Jr.


I Philip D. Dawe clerk of the County Court of Prince William, do hereby certify, that the foregoing is a true copy of the record of the proceedings in the case of the Commonwealth against Negro George.
Given under my hand this 9th day of November 1830.







P. D. Dawe  Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., 16 November 1830

Commonwealth of Virginia vs Negro Eliza

Box # 2 , Folder # 3, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.


At a Court of Quarterly Sessions continued and held for Prince William County the second day of November 1830. Present, Richard Foote, Redmon Foster, and John Fitzhugh, Thomas C. Thornton & John W. Williams, gentlemen justices.


The Court this day proceeded as a Court of Oyer and Terminer to the trial of negro girl Eliza the property of Anna Ward charged with Felony and Burglary (the called court heretofore summoned & having failed to meet) and assigned Nathaniel Tyler her counsel, Whereupon the attorney for the Commonwealth came into court and filed an information against her in these words Vizt.


“Virginia, Prince William County to Wit: Be it remembered that John Gibson Jr. attorney for the Commonwealth for the County of Prince William being present here in court this second day of November in the year Eighteen Hundred and Thirty  gives the court to understand and be informed as a Special Court of the Commonwealth of Oyer and Terminer composed of the justices of the peace of the County of Prince William duly organized according to the provisions of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided for the trial of Slaves charged with Treason or Felony and for the said Commonwealth giveth the Court to understand and be informed that a certain Negro girl  named Eliza late of the County aforesaid the property of one Anna Ward of the County aforesaid on the seventh day of September in the year aforesaid, about twelve o’clock at night of the said last mentioned day being a person of a wicked mind and disposition, with force and arms at the county aforesaid the dwelling house of one Anna Ward there situated feloniously and burglariously did break and enter with the intent the goods and chattels of the said Anna Ward in the said dwelling house then and there being then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal take and carry away  and then and there one trunk containing silver coin and bank notes to the value of one hundred and forty two dollars. To wit money in silver coin to the value of three dollars and bank notes to the value of one hundred thirty nine dollars of the goods chattels and property of the said Anna Ward in the dwelling house aforesaid then and there being found feloniously and burglariously did steal take and carry away against the Peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided.

 And the said attorney giveth the court further to understand and be informed that a certain Negro Man named Charles late of the County aforesaid the property of one Sarah Courtney  of the said County aforesaid being a person of wicked mind and disposition on the night of the seventh day of September in the year aforesaid about the hour of twelve o’clock before the committing of the said felony and burglary in manner and form aforesaid. To wit on the seventh day of September in the year aforesaid about the hour of twelve o’clock at night of the same day with force and arms at the county aforesaid did feloniously and maliciously incite move procure, aid and abet, counsel here and command the said Negro girl Eliza to do and commit the said felony and burglary in manner and form aforesaid against the form of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided and against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth.








John Gibson Junior Attorney








for the Commonwealth for the County








of Prince William


And upon the information aforesaid the said Eliza was arraigned and upon his arraignment pleaded not guilty and for his trial put himself upon God and this Court. And the Court proceeded to examine Sundry Witnesses for the Commonwealth. On consideration whereof are unanimously of opinion that the said Eliza is guilty of the offence wherewith he stands charged. It is therefore considered and ordered by the Court that he be remanded to Jail the place from whence she came and there to remain until the day of her Execution and from thence taken to the place of Execution and hanged by the neck until she be dead on the first Friday in January next between the hours of 10 o’clock in the morning and four o’clock in the afternoon of that day. And the Court is of opinion that the said Negro Eliza is worth three hundred dollars.


The following was the Evidence taken in this case: Commonwealth against Slave Eliza the property of one Anna Ward charged with Burglary. The evidence of Anna Ward – On Tuesday night the seventh of September 1830 a trunk belonging to her the said Anna Ward containing in bank notes ninety dollars which was in a small red Moroceo pocket book a good deal worn and forty or forty five dollars in bank notes in a linen bag, the latter was in five dollar notes, there was some silver in the trunk but amount not known was taken from her house. The Thursday night after the said Tuesday night she had occasion to go in a chest which contained the said trunk and after searching for the key of the chest which could not be found another key was found which opened it and she then discovered the trunk with the contents to be gone and upon calling upon her servants to come to her the others came but the prisoner did not knowing that no stranger knew where the key was and could not have been in she charged prisoner with it, who positively denied having taking the trunk but upon witness stating to her that she believed her guilty and that she would send for Mr. Clary (who is a justice of the peace) for her son and son in law and that she was sure she had the money & that it would send her to jail, and upon asking her what she had done with the trunk she replied she had given it to Grandison Turner, she then told her she did not expect she had given it to Turner as witness had understood Turner was gone, but she insisted she had given it to him, and that he had promised for fifty dollars to carry her (and another slave) to a free State to get married. Prisoner then told where the key of the trunk was, and upon witness going to the place described found the keys. Prisoner further said when she took the trunk out Tuesday night she concealed it till everyone had gone to bed when she met Turner at the stable who took the trunk to Mrs. Courtnies and said he had opened the trunk he said there was not fifty dollars in it but forty two dollars and a half and she must go back and get more she said she then returned and took a small trunk that witness used to keep change in and said she took from the pocket of witness the key of the latter trunk & the watch of the witness which was hanging over a mantel piece in the room & carried both to Turner who told her as she said that the watch was not worth much and would be missed early in the morning and that the small change would also be missed too early in the morning. Whereupon she said she brought back the latter trunk and the watch. On Wednesday morning witness discovered in the small trunk a number of papers receipts untied and laying loosely in the trunk which witness cannot then account for. Prisoner said she had carried her clothes out Tuesday night in order to go off and her clothes were found next morning bundled up. Prisoner said Grandison Turner was gone to his uncle Thomas Turner in the neck.


William A. Williams another witness for the Commonwealth.. When witness got a note from Mrs. Ward to attend he did so on the Friday morning after the Tuesday night before spoken of, and on his way with prisoner to Mr. Clary’s the justice of peace she the prisoner acknowledged she had taken the trunk and witness neither threatened her or promised any advantage in order to obtain said confession. Prisoner also made to his witness a statement in relation to Grandison Turner corresponding in substance with the statement made by Mrs. Anna Ward. Which evidence is ordered to be made a part of the record








Jno Gibson Jr.








Attorney for the Commonwealth

At a Court of Quarterly Sessions continued and held for said County, November 4th 1830. Eliza a negro Slave who was on the second day of this court condemned to death for felony and burglary is recommended to the mercy of the Executive.

To James S. Jackson constable to execute:

The following papers are filed in this case. Prince William County to wit: To the Keeper of the Jail of said county.  Whereas Eliza a Negro girl the property of Anna Ward. Charles Grandison Turner and a Negro man Slave named Charles the property of (blank space) hath been arrested on a charge of felony. Therefore on behalf of the Commonwealth I command you that you receive the said Negro girl Eliza, Charles Grandison Turner and negro Charles into your custody in the said Jail, there to  remain till they be delivered from your custody by due course of law. Given under my hand and seal at the said county this 11th day of September 1830



Michael Cleary (seal)

Prince William County to Wit:


To the Sheriff of said County – Whereas Charles Grandison Turner, a servant girl named Eliza, the property of Anna Ward, and a negro man Slave named Charles the property of (space blank) and lately in the employ and occupancy of Sarah Courtney hath this day been committed to the Jail of the said county of Prince William by my warrant, charged with felony and it appearing to me that the felonious offence wherewith they stand charged ought to be examined into by the county court, therefore, on behalf of the Commonwealth. Inquire you, that you summon at least eight of the justices of your said county, to meet at the Court House on Saturday the 18th of September 1830 and then and there to hold a court for the examination of the fact with which the said Charles Grandison Turner, the servant girl Eliza, and the said negro man slave Charles stands charged, and for such other purposes concerning the premises, as is by law required & directed and that you have then & there this writ. Given under my hand and seal at Occoquan in the County aforesaid this 11th day of September 1830.








Michael Cleary (seal)

Sheriffs return on the last mentioned warrant,g

Executed – B. Cole D.S. for Jno. Hooe Jr.


I Philip D. Dawe clerk of the County Court of Prince William do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of the record of the proceedings in the case of the Commonwealth against Eliza. Given under my hand this 9th day of November 1830








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., 16 November 1830

Petition for pardon of Jacob Rolls

Box # 2 , Folder # 4, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.


To the Honorable the Executive of the Commonwealth of Virginia – The petition of the undersigned who were jurors impaneled in the case of the Commonwealth vs Jacob Rolls, tried in the Superior Court of Law of Prince William County at its November term 1830, and who upon their oaths were constrained to find a verdict of guilty against said Rolls, would respectfully represent, that though by their verdict aforesaid they had subjected said Rolls to the punishment which the laws have annexed to his office, yet they feel convinced that, from the evidence in the case and other circumstances connected with the defendant his standing and family, that punishment would in its severity, if inflicted, be greatly more than commensurate with the degree of criminality of the offence charged against him. The evidence before the undersigned was wholly circumstance and it is in proof before them that the said Rolls has heretofore  been the character of an industrious, honest & thrifty man. He is moreover the parent of eleven children whom he has supported by his hard earnings, exclusively, and who are all too young to make their way in life, (the oldest not being over 14 years of age. The defendant is not more than 45 or 50 years of age, and if he be guilty of the petty offence, of which the undersigned, from the evidence, were compelled to convict him, he has yet time to profit by the severe admonition which their verdict has furnished him, and they do verily believe from their general information of his character and standing in society, that he will if pardoned by your honorable body, yet here to resume the disgrace and _gnoming of his offence, and to leave to his unfunded  family the merit of a name purified and reestablished by repentance and subsequent  , and good conduct. To this end your petitioners would respectfully recommend him to the mercy of the Executive believing as they do, that the severity of his punishment, if inflicted will be much greater than the degree of his criminality, and that his circumstances, and conduct heretofore afford the presumption that he will hereafter within the pale of the law, if not within the limits of moral rectitude. Our petitioners need make no appeal to your sympathies a poor man with a very young family of dependent children, dependent as well for their reputation as their support presents a picture so eminently the subject of compassion as to render such an appeal unn-------. All which is respectfully submitted to the consideration of your honorable body the undersigned jurors who were impaneled and found the verdict in the case aforesaid.








Thomas Cocke








Walter Keys








John Stone








Thomas Norman


The punishment ordered to be inflicted in the above case was three months imprisonment & stripes; apart that relating to stripes has been inflicted.

To the Executive of Virginia


We the undersigned who are made acquainted with the character &c of Jacob Rolls, the person referred to in the foregoing petition, and the circumstances of his trial do fully concur in the said petition, and respectfully recommend the said Rolls to the mercy of the executive.

George W. Macrae, attorney

James Craig


Daniel Ratcliffe, attorney

Edward Hord



Robert Hord


Jas E. Williams

P. Norvill, deputy sheriff


Jesse Cockrell


Jas B. Hayes

Edward T. Ratcliffe


William M. Lynn


Robert B. Merchant

A. H. Smith



John F. Reid


Richard W. Wheat M.D.

Robert Alexander



Phil Carter


Vincent Stonnel

Samuel Cockrell



Francis Colbert


W. Colguhoun

Samuel C. Boyton


James A. Colquhoun

A. Morgan

John Fox



H. Speake


Wm. Blaking

M. D. Murphey



Daniel K. Forgey


John A. Stangle

Thos Towles



Alexander Wedderburn

James B. C. Thornton MD

Thomas Chapman


Richard Speake


Wm D. Dowell

Geo Renoe



Chs. Renoe


Wm. Purcell

Elias King



Robert H. Ming


B.  Cole D.S.

David Jameson



Tho. Hord attorney

G. Washington attorney

Jno W. Williams J.P.


Thompson Lynn


____ McDuffee

Brentsville, Va., 17 May 1830

Clemency Petition of John Carney

Box # 3 , Folder # 5, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.

To his Excellency John Floyd, Governor of Virginia, Richmond

Commonwealth of Virginia vs John Carney


We the undersigned, who were members of the jury impaneled in this case try the prisoner John Carney, who pleaded guilty of the charge of Larceny and of which charge we as jurors did not hesitate to find him guilty, nevertheless, as men, cannot withhold our names from an application to the Executive of Virginia to extend to the prisoner that clemency which belongs to their office under the constitution of the state and by the laws of the land. The undersigned are impressed, with the opinion, from the facts and circumstances developed in the progress of this cause, that although they were forbidden, on their consciences as jurors, to award a verdict of acquittal to the prisoner, yet the prisoner presents many claims to mercy. Among other facts and circumstances they would suggest that the prisoner has been in confinement in the jail of this county (Prince William) for the space of fourteen months, during the far greater portion of which, it appears, that he in vain sought a trial of his offence, to which he pleaded guilty before the Examination Court. He has a large family of children & a wife dependant on him, and he has already suffered more than one half of the punishment to which under the law & the facts of his case, we were constrained to consign him. We therefore the undersigned, who were jurors as aforesaid in the said case of The Commonwealth vs John Carney aforesaid, this day tried before the Superior Court of Prince William County, in which case we found him guilty of the crime of grand larceny, and fixed his term of confinement to two years, do recommend him to Executive clemency for the above mentioned reasons, by which we could not be influenced as jurors to the acquittal of the prisoner.







Signed, May 17th 1830 by







Francis Hooe







Charles J. Fox







William Ashmore







Walter Keys







John G. Rubleman

Brentsville, Va., 24 November 1830

Commonwealth of Virginia vs George

Box # 2 , Folder # 4, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.

To His Excellency John Floyd Esquire, Governor of Virginia, Richmond or Clerk of the Executive Council

     Sir,


The Court of the County of Prince William has desired me to ask if you have received the recommendations of William H. Tebbs & Albert Newman who were recommended to the Executive to be Commissioned as Magistrates in this County at August Court last.








Teste
P. D. Dawe
Brentsville, Va., 09  September 1831

Recommendations for Appointment 

Box # 5 , Folder # 1, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.

Prince William County Court, September 5th 1831


A Poll taken for the election of 3 Magistrates for this County by the Court of Prince William County the 5th day of September 1831 to supply vacancies that have occurred in the commission of the peace for said County.

CANDIDATES

Frederick Muschett    Jesse E. Weems    Jas H. Reid        George Weedon    Jas M. Tyler            Chas J. Fox

Chas Ming
       Geo. W. Jackson   Chas Ming
    Chas Ming  
      Robt. Hamilton   Michl. Cleary

Michl Cleary
       Robt. Hamilton      Michl Cleary   Robt. Hamilton     Jno Hutchison   J.B.T.Thornton

Geo. W. Jackson
       Richard Foote       G. W. Jackson  James Foster          L.G. Alexander            2

Richard Foote
       Jno Hutchison       Richard Foote   Thos Nelson          J.B.T.Thornton

James Foster
       Chas S. Carter       James Foster     J. B. T. Thornton   T.B.Hamilton

Law. G. Alexander     Jno Fitzhugh         Jno. Hutchison   Thos B. Hamilton  Geo. G. Tyler

Thomas Nelson          Thos. B. Hamilton Law. Alexander  Benj. Johnson       Wm. H. Tebbs

Chas S. Carter 

7
        Thos. Nelson      Geo. G. Tyler                 7



Jno Fitzhugh


        Chas S. Carter    Thos C. Thornton

Benjamin Johnson

         Jno Fitzhugh     Jno W. Williams

Thos C. Thornton


        Benj. Johnson   Albert Newman

Jno W. Williams      

        Geo. G. Tyler               11
 


Wm. H. Tebbs


        Thos C. Thornton

Albert Newman


        Jno W. Williams


14


        Wm. H. Tebbs





        Albert Newman






     16




Whereupon James H. Reid, Frederick H. Muschett and George Weedon are nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be Commissioned as Magistrates in this County to supply vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the peace.







Teste
P. D. Dawe   Cl. Cur.

List of Justices in Prince William County, September 5th 1831 – John Fox, Charles Ming, John Hooe Jr., Michael Cleary, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, Richard Foote, James Foster, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson, Redmon Foster, Charles S. Carter, Stuart G. Thornton, James B. T. Thornton, John Fitzhugh, Thomas B. Hamilton, Benjamin Johnson, James B. Ewell, George G. Tyler, Thomas C. Thornton, John W. Williams, William H. Tebbs, Albert Newman.







Teste
P. D. Dawe  Cl. Cur.

Prince William County Court, August 1st 1831


Ordered that the Sheriff summon the justices of this county to attend on the 1st day of the next court for the purpose of recommending other persons to be appointed and commissioned justices of this county to supply any vacancies which have occurred in the commission of the peace for said county.







Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.


Sheriffs returns – “Executed on Robert Hamilton, Thomas B. Hamilton, George G. Tyler, Stuart G. Thornton, John Hutchison, Charles S. Carter.







James D. Tennille D.S. for Jesse Ewell, Sheriff


Executed on Thomas Nelson, John Fitzhugh, John W. Williams, Michael Cleary, John Fox, James Foster, Thomas C. Thornton, & George W. Jackson







B. Cole D.S. for Jesse Ewell, Sheriff


Executed on John Hooe Jr., Benjamin Johnson, Redmon Foster, J. B. T. Thornton, A. Newman, R. Foote, Charles Ming, James B. Ewell, William H. Tebbs, Lawrence G. Alexander.







B. Brawner D.S. for Jesse Ewell, Sheriff








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., 07 November 1831

Recommendations for Appointment 

Box # 5 , Folder # 1, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.


At a court of quarterly session held for Prince William County the 7th day of November 1831. Ordered that Jesse Ewell, Michael Cleary & George W. Jackson be nominated to the Executive as proper persons either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.








Teste
P. D. Dawe

Brentsville, Va., 14  December 1831

Recommendations for Sheriff

Box # 5 , Folder # 4, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.


At a Court held for Prince William County the 5th day of December 1831. Present, John Hooe, James B. T. Thornton, Benjamin Johnson and Albert Newman, gentlemen justices.


The Court proceeded again to nominate a Sheriff for this County and the following poll was taken and admitted to record Viz:


“A Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William on the 5th day of December 1831 for nominating a Sheriff for said County.” Present, John Hooe, James B. T. Thornton, Benjamin Johnson & Albert Newman, gentlemen justices.

PERSONS NOMINATED

Jesse Ewell present Sheriff

Michael Cleary


George W. Jackson

John Hooe



John Hooe


John Hooe

Jas B. T. Thornton


Jas B. T. Thornton

Jas B. T. Thornton

Benjamin Johnson


Benjamin Johnson

Benjamin Johnson

Albert Newman



Albert Newman


Albert Newman

Whereupon Jesse Ewell, Michael Cleary and George W. Jackson are nominated to the Executive, either of whom may be Commissioned as Sheriff of this County.








Teste
P. D. Dawe Cl. Cur.

Brentsville, Va., 27 December 1831

Recommendations for Appointment

Box # 5 , Folder # 5, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.

    Dear Sir,


I return to you the Sheriffs commission for the commission with a view of having inserted in it how long he shall continue in office in said commission. This mark X where the missing appears.








P. D. Dawe

Brentsville, Va. 8th November 1831

Commonwealth vs George – A pardon

Box # 5 Folder #7, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.


At a Court of Quarterly Sessions continued and held for Prince William County the 8th day of November 1831.


Present, Michael Cleary, John Hutchison, Stuart G. Thornton, Thomas C. Thornton, and John W. Williams, gentlemen justices.


The Court proceeded this day as a Court of Oyer and Terminer for the trial of Negro man George the property of the Heirs of Samuel Weaver deceased charged with felony and burglary (the called court heretofore summoned having failed to meet) and assigned Bernard Hooe as his counsel. Whereupon the attorney for the Commonwealth came into Court and filed an information against him in these words “Virginia, Prince William County, to wit: Be it remembered that John Gibson junior attorney for the Commonwealth for the County of Prince William being present here in court this seventh day of November in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty one gives the court to understand and be informed as a special court of the Commonwealth, of Oyer and Terminer composed of the justices of the peace of the county aforesaid duly organized according to the statute of the general assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided for the trial of Slaves charged with treason or felony, that a certain negro man Slave named George late of the County aforesaid the property of the heirs of Samuel Weaver deceased of the County aforesaid on the twelfth day of September in the year aforesaid about twelve o’clock at night of the said last mentioned day being a person of wicked mind and disposition with force and arms at the County aforesaid the store house of one George A. Collis, there situated feloniously and burglariously did break and enter with intent the goods and chattels and property of the said George A. Collis in the said store house then and there being, then there feloniously and burglariously to steal take and carry away, and then and there thirty five pounds brown sugar, seven and a quarter pounds loaf sugar, twelve pounds soal leather, one piece upper leather, six cakes shaving soap, one phial peppermint, one silk cravat, one cloth waistcoat, one silver watch and one pair shoes of the value of twenty dollars of the goods chattels and property of the said George A. Collis in the store house aforesaid then and there being found, feloniously and burglariously did steal take and carry away against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth, and against the form of the act of the general assembly of Virginia, in such case made and provided.


And the said attorney giveth the court further to understand and be informed that a certain Negro man named George late of the county aforesaid the property of the heirs of Samuel Weaver late of the county aforesaid on the night of the twelfth day of September in the year aforesaid with force and arms at the county aforesaid the store house of one George A. Collis there situated, feloniously did enter with intent the goods and chattels of the said George A. Collis  Collis in the said store house then and there being, then there feloniously and burglariously to steal take and carry away, and then and there thirty five pounds brown sugar, seven and a quarter pounds loaf sugar, twelve pounds soal leather, one piece upper leather, six cakes shaving soap, one phial peppermint, one silk cravat, one cloth waistcoat, one silver watch and one pair shoes of the value of twenty dollars of the goods chattels and property of the said George A. Collis in the store house aforesaid then and there being found, feloniously and burglariously did steal take and carry away against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth, and against the form of the act of the general assembly of Virginia, in such case made and provided.








John Gibson junior, attorney for the 








Commonwealth for the County of








Prince William.

And upon the information aforesaid the said Negro man slave George was arraigned and upon his arraignment pleaded not guilty, and for his trial put himself upon God and this Court and the Court proceeded to examine sundry witnesses for the Commonwealth. On consideration whereof and arguments of counsel  are unanimously of opinion that the said George is guilty of the offence wherewith he stands charged, It is therefore considered and ordered by the court that he be remanded to Jail from whence  he came, and there to remain until the day of his execution and from thence taken to the place of execution and hanged by the neck until he be dead on the second Friday in February next, between the hours of 10 o’clock in the morning and 3 o’clock in the afternoon. And the court is of opinion that the said Negro George is worth $400. The following evidence was taken in this case “Commonwealth against George a Slave – upon a trial for breaking open a store house in the County of Prince William the property of one George A. Collis.


Henry M. Tooms a witness on behalf of the Commonwealth, Prisoner confessed to him he did break open the store house of George A. Collis and showed him where he got in and where he got out, said he had taken there from amongst other things a silver watch which he said he had hid under a wheat stack, prisoner had in his possession when taken a phial of peppermint and one or cakes of shaving soap, which prisoner also said he had taken out of said store house. Witness had seen the store house before he met with prisoner, the window panes were broken before and on the night of the 12th September 1830 one wooden bar which was nailed with ten penny nails was wrentched open – witness used no promises or threats to induce prisoner to confess, but the confession was a voluntary one – witness further states some persons present said to prisoner he had as well confess, it would go no harder with him, whether that was said before or after the confession witness is not positive.


Mr. Collis another witness proves that the articles mentioned in the information were taken from his store on the night of the 12th September 1830 and some others, that when prisoner was taken he had a phial of peppermint and some cakes of soap. Witness recognized both the soap and peppermint to articles taken from his store house. Prisoner showed witness how he got in and how he got out, he forced of he said the bar at the window which was nailed with ten penny nails, and prisoner said he went out at the door by forcing back the bolt thereof. Witness stated to prisoner that if it was in his power to get him off with a whipping he would do so, but whether he told prisoner so before or after the confession he does not recollect.


Charles a Slave examined was sent before prisoner was arrested, by his mistress, and young master to look if he could find any of the articles which had been taken from the store of Collis and he did go towards the trading yard where some of Mrs. Weavers people were at work, and where they had been at work for some days, and found a bag of brown sugar with one loaf, about one hundred yards there from, next to the Hay Stacks, but does not know who put it there. George the prisoner had run away that morning and returned that night.


Harriet a Slave examined. Witness saw prisoner with some bars of soap, cake and ammons  the same week and before he was arrested.


Mr. Weaver – When prisoner was arrested and taken to Collis Store, witness was present and heard several persons say to prisoner it would be better for him to confess and amongst them was Collis, and that was said before prisoner did confess, he thinks Collis said he would be willing to let him off with whipping.







Jno Gibson Jr. attorney for the Commonwealth







for Prince William County, Nov. 8th 1831


Which is ordered to be made a part of the record. And the Court unanimously recommended him to the mercy of the Executive so far as to commute the punishment to transportation.







Teste
P. D. Dawe

Brentsville, Va., 12  December 1832

Recommendations for Sheriff

Box # 8 , Folder # 7, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.


Prince William County Court December 3rd 1832. “A Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William this 3rd day of December 1832 for the election of a proper person to be Commissioned as Sheriff of said County of Prince William.

CANDIDATES

Michael Cleary



George W. Jackson

Robert Hamilton

John Hooe Jr.



John Hooe Jr.


John Hooe Jr.

Albert Newman



Albert Newman


Albert Newman

George Weedon



George Weedon


George Weedon

Jas Foster



Jas Foster


Jas Foster



Whereupon Michael Cleary, George W. Jackson, and Robert Hamilton are nominated to the Executive either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.







Teste
Jno. Williams Cl. Cur.



Brentsville, Va., 07 January 1833
Recommendations for Appointment

Box # 9 Folder #1, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.


Prince William County Court, January 7th 1833. A poll taken for the election of a proper person to be commissioned as Coroner of this County was taken and ordered to be recorded as follows.

CANDIDATES



John W. Williams


Robert Hamilton



John Hooe Jr.



John Hooe Jr.



Benjamin Johnson


Benjamin Johnson



John Fitzhugh



John Fitzhugh



Richard Foote



Richard Foote

Whereupon John W. Williams and Richard Hamilton were nominated to the Executive either of whom may be commissioned Coroner




Jno Williams C.C.



Brentsville, Va., March 9th 1833

Recommendations for Appointment

Box # 9 Folder #5, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.

Prince William County Court, February 4th 1833


Ordered that the Sheriff summon the Justices of this County to attend on the first day of the next court for the purpose of electing and making a recommendation of other persons to be appointed and commissioned justices of this county.


Sheriffs return “ Executed on Charles Meng, James B. Ewell, Redmon Foster, J. B. T. Thornton, Benjamin Johnson, Richard Foote, Jno Hooe Jr. and Frederick H. Muschett.








Thos J. Shaw D.S. for Jesse Ewell


“Executed on Robert Hamilton, Thomas B. Hamilton, Albert Newman, Stuart G. Thornton, Geo. G. Tyler, John Hutchison, Charles S. Carter








Jas D. Tennille D.S. for J. Ewell, sheriff


“Executed on Lawrence G. Alexander, M. Cleary, G. W. Jackson, James Foster, George Weedon, Jno. W. Williams, Thomas C. Thornton, John Fox, Jno. Fitzhugh, and Thomas Nelson








Samuel Tansill D.S. for J. Ewell

Prince William County Court March 4th 1833


The following poll was taken and ordered to be recorded, to wit: “Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William this 4th day of March 1833 for the election of proper persons to be commissioned as magistrates for the said County of Prince William.”

CANDIDATES

Jesse E. Weems


         Mason L. Weems


   Thomas Foster 

Thomas Nelson


          Thomas Nelson

Jno: Fitzhugh


          Jno: Fitzhugh

Jas. B. Ewell


          Jas. B. Ewell

John W. Williams

          John W. Williams

Geo: Weedon


          Geo: Weedon


Whereupon Jesse E. Weems and Mason L. Weems are nominated to the executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates in this County.








Teste
Jno: Williams Cl. Cur.

Prince William County Court March 5th 1833

Ordered that the following be certified


To the Executive with the nomination of Magistrates made yesterday Vizt: “ The Magistrates of the County were summoned by an order of February Court to Attend on the 1st day of March Court, to nominate persons as Justices of the Peace for this County, that order or summons was executed on all the Justices of the County except Charles S. Carter Esq. – but that in consequence of the extreme inclemency of the weather but few of the acting justices attended at March Court, and, that five only of said Justices were on the bench when Jesse E. Weems and Mason L. Weems were nominated to the Executive to fill the vacancies occasioned by the resignation of James . Reid and Frederick H. Muschett (said Reid resides at Brentsville and Muschett within three miles of Brentsville & above it – that Jesse E. Weems resides near Dumfries and 12 or 14 miles from Brentsville, and Mason L. Weems resides at Occoquan and about 16 miles below Brentsville) The notice to Charles S. Carter Esq. was left at his dwelling house, but not given to any white person nor was its object explained to any person on the premises. Mr. Carter being in Richmond as a member of the General Assembly; that but one Magistrate resides in Brentsville where the services of such an officer are daily required & especially during the Sessions of the Court; and that one is a practicing Physician hourly subject to be called away on professional duty.” 
Present when the above order was made – Jno Hooe Jr., Robt. Hamilton, Thos Nelson, Redmon Foster, James B. T. Thornton, Jas B. Ewell, Jno W. William and Wm. H. Tebbs – Gentlemen Justices.







Teste
Jno Williams  Cl. Cur

Brentsville, Va., 12 August 1833

Recommendations for Appointment

Box # 11 Folder # oversized, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd, Esq.

Governor of Virginia, Richmond, Virginia

Received in Richmond 15 August 1833


Prince William County Court, July 1st 1833 – Ordered that the sheriff summon the Justices of this county to attend on the first day of the next court, for the purpose of electing and making a recommendation of other persons to be appointed and commissioned Justices of the said County.









A Copy









Teste, Jno Williams Cl Cur

Sheriffs Returns.


Executed on James Foster, George W. Jackson, Lawrence G. Alexander, John Fitzhugh, Thomas Nelson, John Fox, John W. Williams, George Weedon, Jesse E. Weems.






John C. Weedon deputy for Michael Cleary, Sheriff


Executed as to James B. Ewell, Charles Meng, William H. Tebbs, Richard Foote, John Hooe, Redmon Foster, James B. T. Thornton and Benjamin Johnson.






Law. L. Waugh deputy for Michael Cleary, Sheriff


Executed on John Hutchison, Stuart G. Thornton, Jesse Ewell, Albert Newman, Robert Hamilton and Thomas B. Hamilton & Charles S. Carter & George G. Tyler not found.






Thomas J. Shaw deputy for Michael Cleary, Sheriff

Prince William County Court, August 5th 1833


A Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William the 5th day of August 1833 for the election of proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates for the said County of Prince William.

CANDIDATES

Allen Howison     Andrew M. Chancellor    Howson Hooe    John F. Jackson     Zebulon Kankey    John B. Cannon    Robt. Williams

Charles Meng        Robert Hamilton  
   John Hutchison      James Foster       Jesse Ewell           Robert Hamilton  Jesse E. Weems

Jesse Ewell             John Hutchison          
  William H. Tebbs    Thomas Nelson        Richard Foote        Redmon Foster       Jas B. T. Thornton

Robert Hamilton   Thomas Nelson     
   John Hooe
George Weedon     Thomas Nelson

     John Fitzhugh

Richard Foote         James Foster 


                  Jesse E. Weems    Redmon Foster

     James B. Ewell

James Foster         John Hooe 




              Jas B. T. Thornton

     William H. Tebbs

John Hutchison     George Weedon



              John Fitzhugh

     Albert Newman

Redmon Foster      Jesse E. Weems



              James B. Ewell

Jas. B. T. Thornton





             Albert Newman

John Fitzhugh





             George Weedon

James B. Ewell





             Jesse E. Weems

William H. Tebbs

Albert Newman

John Hooe

Whereupon Allen Howison, Andrew M. Chancellor and Zebulon A. Kankey are nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates in this County.






Copies







Teste, John Williams Cl Cur

The following is a list of Magistrates in the County of Prince William: John Fox, Charles Meng, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, George W. Jackson, Robert Hamilton, Richard Foote, James Foster, John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson, Redmon Foster, Charles S. Carter, Stuart G. Thornton, James B. T. Thornton, John Fitzhugh, Thomas B. Hamilton, Benjamin Johnson, James B. Ewell, George G. Tyler, John W. Williams, William H. Tebbs, Albert Newman, George Weedon, & Jesse E. Weems.






A Copy








Teste, Jno Williams Cl Cur

  Letter – Redmon Foster
Box #14, Folder 4, Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd

Brentsville, Va. September 3, 1833

To The Governor & Council, Richmond, Virginia







Brentsville, Va. September 3rd 1833

Gentlemen, I have been informed by the Clerk since the last nomination of Justices, for the County of Prince William, that the Magistrates were not duly summoned – Myself and others would prefer a re-nomination., hoping you will send the matter back to us if you think in your wisdom best to do so.







Yours Respectfully







Your Obedient Servant







Redmon Foster of Foston

Letter – James Foster J. P.

Box #, Folder , Accession #42665

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Floyd

Occoquan Va. September 6, 1833

To his Excellency John Floyd Governor of Virginia,  Richmond, Virginia

Sir, It is not only agreeable to the Court of this Prince William County, but it is desirous  by many of its numbers as well as myself, that the nominations for Justices made at August Court, may be returned unacted upon – there was an informality in the summoning of the Justices not known to the Court at the time of making the nominations. One of the nominated has avowed his determination not to serve and another is now ascertained is in the service of the U. S. as a Mail Contractor. If it shall seem well to the Executive and Council to return the nominations referred to it will rather save __ occasion the existing Justices time.







Respectfully,







Jas Foster J. P. of Pr. Wm. Cty.
Occoquan, 6 Sept 1833

Prince William County, May 6th 1834

Magistrate Nomination

Box #1, Folder 3 , Accession #42998

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Littleton W. Tazewell

Prince William County Court, May 6th 1834 – Ordered that the Sheriff summon the Justices of this County to attend on the first day of June Court next, for this purpose of electing and making a recommendation of other persons to be appointed and commissioned Justice of the said County to supply vacancies in the Commission of the Peace.








A Copy









Teste – Jno Williams Cl Cur

Sheriffs Returns – “Executed on J. B. T. Thornton, Redmon Foster, Benjamin Johnson, Robert Hamilton, Albert Newman, S. G. Thornton, G. G. Tyler, Thomas B. Hamilton, William H. Tebbs, Charles Ming, James B. Ewell, John Hutchinson, Jesse Ewell and John Hooe Jr.









Thos. J. Shaw, deputy sheriff









    for M. Cleary, Sheriff

“Executed on Robert Williams & Charles S. Carter by leaving a copy at their residences.









Thos. J. Shaw, deputy sheriff









    for  M. Cleary, Sheriff

“Executed on Thomas Nelson, Jno Fitzhugh, Lawrence G. Alexander, James Foster, George Weedon, John Fox, John W. Williams, William S. Colquhoun and Jesse E. Weems.









Jno C. Weedon, deputy sheriff

And at a Court of Quarterly Sessions held for Prince William County the 2nd day of June 1834. The Court proceeded to elect proper persons to be appointed & commissioned Justices of this County & the following Poll was taken and ordered to be recorded to wit:

“ A Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William this 2nd day of June 1834 for the election of proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates for the said County of Prince William.

CANDIDATES

Allen Howison



John F. Jackson


Andrew Chancellor

Jesse Ewell



Jesse Ewell


_______________

Robert Hamilton



Robert Hamilton


_______________

Jas Foster



Jas Foster


_______________

John Hutchison



John Hutchison


_______________

Redmon Foster



Redmon Foster


_______________

James B. T. Thornton


James B. T. Thornton

_______________

John Fitzhugh



John Fitzhugh


_______________

James B. Ewell



James B. Ewell


_______________

William H. Tebbs



William H. Tebbs


________________

Albert Newman



Albert Newman


________________

George Weedon



George Weedon


________________

Jesse E. Weems



Jesse E. Weems


________________

William S. Colquhoun


William S. Colquhoun

________________


Whereupon Allen Howison and John F. Jackson are nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates for this County.







Copies








Teste – Jno Williams  Cl Cur


The following is a list of Magistrates now in the County of Prince William Viz: John Fox, Charles Ming, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Robert Hamilton, James Foster, John Hutchison. Law G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson, Redmon Foster, Charles S. Carter, Stuart G. Thornton, James B. T. Thornton, John Fitzhugh, Thomas B. Hamilton, Benjamin Johnson, James B. Ewell, George G. Tyler, John W. Williams, William H. Tebbs, Albert Newman, George Weedon, Jesse E. Weems, Robert Williams, & William S. Colquhoun.







Teste – Jno. Williams  Cl Cur

Prince William County, May 7th 1834

Hugh Davis application for Land Bounty

Box #1, Folder 4 , Accession #42998

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Littleton W. Tazewell
State of Virginia, Prince William County


On the 26th day of February 1834 Hugh Davis a soldier of the Revolution aged 79 years appeared in person before me James Foster a Justice of the Peace for aforesaid County and being first duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists states as follows Viz: That in 1776 he enlisted in the Continental Army for 3 years under Captain Geo. McCormick of the 13th Virginia Regiment commanded by Col. John Gibson – that they marched to Fort Pitt (now Pittsburg) in the State of Pennsylvania and after remaining in that Neighborhood some time were marched to the Main Army under Washington in the Neighborhood  of Philadelphia and attached to the division of General Mecklenburg, that he was in the Battles of Germantown, Brandywine, Mammoth &c and continued in the Army till the end of his 3 years enlistment in 1779 and was discharged and started home with others of his company – That in Philadelphia he met with H. Lee to whom he was well known – that Lee asked him where he was going – he replied he was going home. Lee then proposed to him that if he would join his Legion and induce the two men with him to join also for and during the War, he should have a sergeants command and a promotion as soon as a vacancy occurred – to this he agreed and they all enrolled themselves for and during the War, and he assumed the command of a sergeant and retained it until he was wounded by a Ball thru his knee in a skirmish with enemy near Trenton in Jersey and rendered unfit for further duty and discharged – that he is a cripple from said wound to this day said Davis states that he was a sergeant under Captain McCormick during his first 3 years enlistment and service and was paid and drew land (200 acres) as a sergeant as will appear by a reference to the public records at Richmond, but that for his last enlistment under Lee’s for and during the War he has not received anything in any shape. He would further state that during his service in Lee’s Legion he acted as a sergeant in Capt. Rudolph’s Company of Horse – after he was wounded which was in the fall of 1779 and placed in the Hospital, Lee came on to the South leaving orders for him and others, then unable to March should if able come on to Virginia, in the Spring and be reported to an officer (he thinks a Mr. Lewis) in Leesburg in Virginia – that in the spring he having got something better was brought on to Leesburg and reported and examined, declared disabled permanently and discharged as unfit for further duty – He says he had at one time written testimony to prove all he here states but that it has all being since been lost or destroyed – He now asks to be allowed the Bounties and emoluments provided under the Law of October 1780. He expects the Land already received (200 acres) to be divided from any bounty now allowed him in Land.








Hugh Davis

Sworn and subscribed before me this day & was above written.




Jas. Foster


I John Williams clerk of the Court of Prince William County, certify that James Foster is a Magistrate in and for Prince William County, in the State of Virginia, and that the foregoing signature purporting to be his is genuine.


On testimony whereof I have hereinto affixed my seal of office and subscribed my name this 6th day of March, in the year 1834.



John Williams

State of Virginia, Prince William County


On this 1st day of December 1833 personally appeared before the subscriber a justice of the peace for aforesaid county Benjamin Strother a Revolutionary soldier aged 80 years who being first duly sworn according to law testifies as follows Viz – that he was a soldier in Maj. Henry Lee’s Legion for the War, and well knew Hugh Davis in said service as a Sergeant in Captain Rudolph’s company of Horse in said legion – said Davis entered said legion in 1779 in the Neighborhood of Philadelphia for the War and acted as a sergeant until he was disabled in the latter part of said year by a Ball thru his knee, which so crippled him as to render him unfit for service and he was finally discharged – Having known said Davis ever since said deponent states that said Davis is a cripple to this day from the wound then received in the service.





Sworn to and subscribed the day and year aforesaid before me.







Benjamin Strother








Jas Foster

Petition – Alfred Arrington

Box # 1, Folder 4, Accession #42998

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Littleton W. Tazewell
Prince William County, May 19th 1834

To His Excellency L. W. Tazewell Esq.







Governor of Virginia

The undersigned citizens of Virginia and inhabitants of the County of Prince William most humbly represent to your Excellency that sometime in May 1832 a certain fellow citizen whose name is Alfred Arrington was committed to the Penitentiary of said state for the alleged crime of maiming or otherwise injuring George Redmond another citizen of this commonwealth and for brevity’s sake we omit troubling your Excellency with the circumstances connected with the Reencounter, but as the said George Redmond now in his calm and cool consideration sees and knows that he himself was partly the instigator which prompted the said Alfred Arrington to act in self defence. He the said George Redmond having entirely recovered from his wounds and through a conscientious conviction of his being in part the aggressor most humbly entreats to have his name recognized among the signers that your Excellency with the most confidence would take this our humble petition under your most compassionate consideration and issue an order for his release and your humble petitioners as in duty bound will ever Pray.

George Redmond





Francis Egan

Thompson Gossom




William Windsor

Thos H. Steele





John M. Clark

Hugh C. Davis





William Gossom

William P. Selecman




John Gaustin

Thomas Davis





Presly Davis

James Johnson





John Coulter

Callahan M. Carty




William Lewis

William Patterson




John Gossom

Basil Brawner

(Note on back 23 May 1834 – Advised that no pardon be granted.)

Occoquan Va., May 19th 1834

Petition for pardon of James Smith (convict)

Box # 1, Folder 6, Accession #42998

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Littleton W. Tazewell
To His Excellency L. W. Tazewell Esq.

The petition of James Smith respectfully sheweth that he (Petitioner) has at the present term of the Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery for the County of Prince William, been found Guilty of passing a counterfeit half dollar to a certain Mrs. Davis of said county which will appear of record for which offence he has been sentenced to confinement in the Penitentiary of said State for the term of ten years. Petitioner further states, that at the time he passed the said counterfeit he was in company with a certain John McNamee, at the house of said Davis, and that your petitioner being without money applied to said McNamee to pay his (petitioner’s) bill for lodging, and that your petitioner paid to the said Davis, the money then loaned to him by the said McNamee which is the same charged as base, and counterfeit.  Your petitioner further sheweth he was not acquainted with said McNamee until a short time before he met with him at the house of said Davis, and that he was entirely ignorant of the quality of the piece of money then borrowed, and that there was no Evidence before the jury to prove any base connection between your petitioner and said McNamee other than that they lodged together at the house of said Davis and are seen together, on the next day. Your petitioner does not presume to contradict the verdict finding him guilty. He prays your Excellency to consider the circumstances which under it possible that your petitioner may not be guilty of the offence of which he is now convict. That your petitioner was in company with a stranger, and that as he your petitioner is a foreigner, and altogether ignorant of the value of the different coins current in the Commonwealth and may be easily imposed upon – Your petitioner further sheweth that there was no money found on him at the time he was apprehended, and that it is scarcely probable that any rational being would hazard his personal liberty, and what is dearer than life itself his character for the small sum of Half a Dollar. Your Petitioner would further present that if the sentence about to be pronounced against him be fully executed, his wife and helpless child, who are now with him in a strange land, will be poor and friendless, exposed to all the horrors of poverty, not being entitled to even the benefit of the Poor Laws which are in force in this Commonwealth. Your petitioner, therefore respectfully prays the benefit of that wholesome provision of the law which places in your hands meet in those cases when there is a doubt as to the Guilt of those who are under sentence of punishment, or where their case may be one of extreme hardship as is your petitioner’s – Your petitioner prays your Excellency to direct (by your warrant) the proper officer to permit your petitioner to go at large, quiet and discharged of the condemnation before named.

We the undersigned members of the Bar, Officers of the Court, Jurors in the above case and Citizens of the County of Prince William &c consider the case of the petitioner above named to be one of extreme hardship, and do therefore recommend him to the clemency of the Executive of Virginia.

William B. Tyler


N. Tyler


John W. Tyler

Geo. H. Carter


James Hooe

Arrington Evans

Redmon Foster


Jno Williams

Thos. Nelson,  J.P.

John F. Deakins


Law. S. Waugh

Wm. Goodwin

Alexander Evans


John Simpson

H. Molair

Chap Renoe


Jas Norman

Mason French

P. Norvill


Baylis Grigsby

Allen Blackwell

George Robinson


John Windsor

William W. West

Jesse McIntosh


Jesse Green

William S. Fewell

A. Sinclair


William F. Matthews
James Fewell

James Purcell


Thos. B. Gaines

Wm. B. Harrison

Jas Keys



William Florance

Jno Fitzhugh   J.P.

Robert Bates


John J. Beavers

James B. T. Thornton  J.P.

Robert Hamilton  J.P.

Obed. Cornwell

John Tansill

Thomas Davis


John Brawner

John W. Williams

James A. Colquhoun

Henry Chapman

Horace Weybourn

Richard W. Weedon

William Calvert

Alexander H. Warters

Henry Love


Washington Journell
Hiram King

Foushee Tebbs


Richard P. Scott

Moses Copin

Robert B. Merchant

Saml. J. Tebbs

G. H. Cockrell

Lawrence Cole


Richard Anness

Thomas Key

Thomas Mountjoy

John Anness

Uriah Mitchell

James Lee


Alexander Beevers
John Matthews

Henry Brawner


Clarkson Colbert

Samuel Botts

Robert Alexander


John Carney

John Stone

Allen Able

Petition of James Smith

To the Governor of the State of Virginia


Upon the trial of the within named Petitioner it appears that he was traveling in company with the within named John McNamee that they arrived at the Town of Occoquan in the evening and the petitioner went to the Tavern of Davis and engaged lodging for himself and McNamee whom he called his comrade. He then left the Tavern and after an absence of sometime returned in company with McNamee. They lodged together and on the following morning the Petitioner gave to the wife of Davis the counterfeit fifty cent coin mentioned in the Indictment in payment for the lodging and received twenty five cents in change. The Petitioner &  McNamee left Occoquan together and took the Fredericksburg Road to which place they had previously inquired the way.  Mrs. Davis in a short time after their departure gave the half dollar which she had received by the petitioner to her husband who immediately pronounced it a counterfeit. The Petitioner & McNamee were pursued and arrested, No money was found on the petitioner but some twenty counterfeit fifty cent pieces were found in possession of McNamee a part of which were an unfinished state and all including the pieces passed to Mrs. Davis were palpable counterfeits. No attempt was made on the trial to prove that the acquaintance between the petitioner and McNamee was recent and casual. Had that fail been proved he would doubtless have been acquitted and if he can now make the appeal of  respectable testimony I would recommend him to mercy.








Jno Scott

The petitioner is a native of Ireland.

Sheriff Nominations 

Box # 3, Folder 4, Accession #42998

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Littleton W. Tazewell
Prince William County, March 23rd 1835

To His Excellency L. W. Tazewell Esq.


I do certify that at the November term of the County Court of Prince William in 1834. Robert Hamilton, James Foster and John Hutchison were nominated to the Executive, either of whom might be commissioned as sheriff of said County of Prince William, and also that by a commission under the hand of the Governor of this Commonwealth dated the 19th day of November 1834 said Robert Hamilton was commissioned to execute the said office of Sheriff for the said county, “to take effect from the expiration of the term of the present sheriff, and to continue in office until the first Quarterly Court to be holden for the said County, in the year one thousand, eight hundred and thirty six” – as appears from the commission to that effect now in this office. – that the said Robert Hamilton failed (on account of sickness) at March term 1835 to qualify and enter into all the Bonds directed by law to be executed – and also that I have received intelligence from respectable persons that said Robert Hamilton departed this life on Thursday the 19th of the present month. I further certify that James Foster one of the Gentlemen Justices nominated to the Executive, was at September Court 1834 duly elected to the Office of Commissioner of Revenue for this County for the year 1835, and that at October Court 1834 said Foster qualified to the said Office and entered into Bond accordingly. I also further certify that it has been the custom of the County Court of this County to appoint persons Commissioner of the Revenue, who were at the same time holding the office of Justice of the Peace, and I believe they think the office not incompatible with each other.





Given under my hand at the Clerks’ Office of





Prince William County Court this 23rd day of March 1835








J. Deakins, Deputy Clerk of 








Prince William County Court

Brentsville, Prince William County, March 23rd 1835

Sheriff Nominations 

Box # 3, Folder 4, Accession #42998

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Littleton W. Tazewell
Brentsville, Va. May 5th to Littleton W. Tazewell Esq. Governor of Virginia, Richmond Va.




Prince William County Court, April 7th 1835 – Ordered that the Sheriff summon the Justices of this County to attend on the first day of May Court next, for the purpose of electing and making a recommendation of other persons to be appointed and commissioned Justices of the said County.


Sheriffs Returns – “Executed on C. Ming, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, John Hutchison, R. Foster, S. G. Thornton, J. B. T. Thornton, T. B. Hamilton, B. Johnson, J. B. Ewell, G. G. Tyler, W. H. Tebbs, A. Newman, R. Williams & Allen Howison






Thos J. Shaw, deputy for J. Foster, Sheriff


“Executed on Jno Fox, M. Cleary, L. G. Alexander, Thos Nelson, Jno Fitzhugh, Jno W. Williams, George Weedon, Jesse E. Weems and William S. Colquhoun.





William S. Fewell, Deputy for James Foster, Sheriff


And at a Court held for Prince William County, the 4th day of May 1835. Then the Court proceeded to elect proper persons to be appointed and commissioned Justices of this County, whereupon the following Poll was taken and ordered to be recorded as follows to wit: “A Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William this 4th day of May 1835 for the Election of proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates for the said County of Prince William.

CANDIDATES

William H. Dogan  Samuel H. Janney  James W. Tyler  Frederick Foote  Alfred Ball    Zebulon A. Kankey

Allen Howison
   Allen Howison
   George Weedon
   Allen Howison
   Wm. H. Tebbs        Jesse E. Weems

Jesse E. Weems
   Wm. H. Tebbs
     Wm. H. Tebbs
    Jesse E. Weems
    James B. Ewell      George Weedon

George Weedon
    Benjamin Johnson    Benj. Johnson
    James B. Ewell
    John Fitzhugh        James B. Ewell

Benj. Johnson
    John Fitzhugh
      S. G. Thornton
    John Fitzhugh
    Stuart Thornton     Thomas Nelson

Thomas Nelson
    Stuart G. Thornton   Thomas Nelson
    Redmon Foster
    Redmon Foster

Law. G. Alexander
    Redmon Foster         John Hutchison
    Law G. Alexander

John Hutchison
    Law G. Alexander

    John Hooe

John Hooe
    John Hutchison



    John Hooe

Whereupon Samuel H. Janney, William H. Dogan and Frederick Foote are nominated to the Executive as proper persons to be commissioned as Magistrates of this County.








Copias








Teste – John Williams Cl Cur

The following is a list of the acting Magistrates, now in Prince William County Viz: John Fox, Charles Meng, John Hooe, Jesse Ewell, Michael Cleary, James Foster (Sheriff), John Hutchison, Lawrence G. Alexander, Thomas Nelson, Redmon Foster, Stuart G. Thornton, James B. T. Thornton, John Fitzhugh, Thomas B. Hamilton, Benjamin Johnson, James B. Ewell, George G. Tyler, John W. Williams, William H. Tebbs, Albert Newman, George Weedon, Jesse E. Weems, Robert Williams, William S. Colquhoun, Allen Howison.





Teste – John Williams Cl Cur

Prince William County, June 4th 1835

Brentsville Election – Militia Officer

Box # 3, Folder 8, Accession #42998

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Littleton W. Tazewell
To the Executive of the State of Virginia


At the recent election held at Brentsville in Prince William County, on Saturday the 23rd day of May 1835, to supply the vacancy in the office of Major of the 26th Regt. Virginia Militia occasioned by the removal, out of state, of Major John Johnson, there were eighteen officers entitled to vote present, including the Colonel and Lt. Colonel of said Regt. Of those present nine voted for Capt. Robert Williams to fill said vacancy. The law requires that a candidate shall receive a majority of the votes of the officers present. I was absent at Baltimore at the time of the election though presented by a friend as a candidate for the suffrages of the officers present at that time, and the circumstance will account for my delay in making this communication. These are the material facts of the case, and I respectfully request of the Executive that they may be taken under consideration, and that such course and decision be taken and had thereon as are demanded by law and my rights in the premises.








George W. Macrae








Capt. Arty. 2nd D. Va. Ma.








Attached to 36th R. V. M.

P. S. 


I understand that the Colonel and Lt. Colonel of 36th Regt. declined voting at the election mentioned in the reverse page, stating at the time that they did not think they had a right to vote for officers of an inferior grade.




G. W. Macrae








Capt. &c.


I was present at the above mentioned election, and I certify that the facts represented on this and the preceding page are truly & correctly stated.

William S. Fewell, Lieut of








Arty. Attached to 36th Regt.








June 4th 1835

Prince William County, May 14th 1834

Petition for Bounty Land – Hugh Davis

Box # 3, Folder 8, Accession #42998

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Littleton W. Tazewell
To his Excellency Littleton Tazewell, May 14th 1834


This soldiers name is on the wrong register. Col. Grayson received for Hugh Davis, a certificate for  74. 8. 6 the balance of his full pay as soldier of Infantry, of the Continental line, July 2nd 1784 (an auditors certificate.)


Hugh Davis has received 200 acres of land, for 3 years service as sergeant


The declaration, or oath of the said Davis has been filed which sets forth, that he enlisted and served 3 years in Gibsons Regt. &c and after his discharge re-enlisted, in Lees Legion in 1779 for the remainder and acted as sergeant in the said Legion, until he got wounded and disabled – in 1780 he was discharged, as unfit for duty &c.


Benjamin Strother says that Hugh Davis enlisted for the remainder in Lees Legion, in 1779, and was wounded, and finally discharged from the service.








Respectfully  submitted








John H. Smith  coroner &c

Dumfries Va., April 9th 1836

Governors Executive Papers – Wyndham Robertson

Accession # 43097, Box # 2, Folder 6

To the Governor & Council of Virginia

    Sir:


In ordinary times I should not make this communication, but in order to gain time for a proper understanding & thorough conviction by the people of Virginia of the Conspiracy of Moderate Abolitionist & temperate Jacksonmen against the Property of the South, and Peace of the Union. I hold it expedient polite & just to dispute the legality of the vote just taken in Prince William County on the grounds that the election at the Dumfries Precinct was not opened until 4 P.M. Tuesday and which according to Law should have been opened on the same day as at the Court House (Monday).


I have to request in time a non writ of Election as the last was continually violated. I have written to Mr. Baxter the Attorney General & hope his opinion may be favorable to the grant of the writ.








W. S. Colguhoun








     one of the Candidates

Prospect Hill, Prince William County, November 16th 1836

Governors Executive Papers – Wyndham Robertson

Accession # 43097, Box # 2, Folder 6

To the Governor & Council of Virginia


About a week past I wrote to your Honour’s praying to suspend sending a Commission to John Fox gentlemen, for the Sheriffatty of Prince William County until I could prove to your satisfaction why the said John Fox should not be commissioned.


Herewith you will find a full statement made out by the Clerk of Prince William County Court of the nominations from the year 1822 up to November 1835.


Your Honour will discover that John Fox gentleman was 2nd in nomination at June Court 1822 and that he was 2nd in nomination at June Court 1823 and that he was also 2nd in nomination in 1824 – here it might be well to remind your Honours, Charles Ewell, was placed at the head of the nominations Charles Ewell many years past had been commissioned and acted as Sheriff of this County and a few years before he was nominated in 1824 he the said Charles Ewell removed from this county to the State of Kentucky leaving his wife in Fauquier County and on his return for his wife, owing to deaths & other causes he found the Sheriffatty in regular rotation would soon come to his turn a second time, and became back to Prince William County & remained until he was nominated at June Court 1824 and commissioned in due form.


Whether John Fox gentleman took umbrage at the Court (which he had just cause) for putting Charles Ewell at the head of the nomination, after removing out of the State with a bonafied intention there to remain is not for me to say; But so it was that John Fox gentleman referred to act as a Justice of the Peace from that time – had John Fox gentleman aborted his right at November Court after C. Ewells term, there is not the least doubt but he would have been first in nomination and duly commissioned. But it appears he did not make his claim until November Court 1830 at which time the court by an order refused to nominate him for certain reasons therein set forth – So that it fully appears John Fox gentleman has refused to act as a Magistrate for the last twelve years past. I feel confident that had all the Court have known the circumstances herein set forth they would not have put John Fox gentleman in nomination at all; at least one of the court has stated to me he would not under all the circumstances heretofore set forth as well the certificate of the Clerk of the County Court I presume I am entitled to the Commission.







Very respectfully your obedient servant








John Hutchinson 

Prince William County, November 17th 1836

Governors Executive Papers – Wyndham Robertson

Accession # 43097, Box # 2, Folder 6

To the Governor & Council of Virginia


We the subscribers having been Neighbours to Capt. John Fox during the last several years do hereby certify that during that time he has been fully competent to discharge the duties of High Sheriff of the County. We consider him well qualified for that office and in our opinion is justly entitled to a Commission for acting in that capacity for the succeeding two years.







Given under our hands the 10th Nov. 1836








Seymour Lynn








James Arnold








John Stone








John Pearson








Thompson Lynn

   Richmond Va., November 22nd  1836
Governors Executive Papers – Wyndham Robertson

Accession # 43097, Box # 2, Folder 6

To the Governor & Council of Virginia

The Affidavit of John Fox given this 22nd day of November 1836


The Affiant saith that he never did wave his right to the Sheriffatty of Prince William County. And that he has acted as a Magistrate in said County, every year for twenty seven years past. That if he ever did fail to claim his right to the said office. He was prevented from doing so by that affliction which his God was pleased to send upon him.








John Fox

Prince William County to Wit:


This day John Fox personally appeared before me a Justice of the Peace, and solemnly affirmed that the above affidavit is true to the best of his knowledge and belief.

Given under my hand this 22nd day of November 1836







Joseph Tate Mayor of 







& Justice of the peace in & for said City.

Occoquan Va., March 11th 1837

Governors Executive Papers – Wyndam Robertson

Accession # 43097, Box 3, Folder 3

Prince William County, State of Virginia

To his Excellency the Governor of Virginia

      Sir,


I hereby resign my Commission of Justice of the Peace for the aforesaid County. Please regard it as vacated.


Respectfully Your Obedient Servant




James Foster, 10 March 1837

Brentsville, Va., September 21st 1836

Governors Executive Papers – Wyndham Robertson

Accession # 43097, Box # 4 oversized, Folder 2

List of Magistrates in Prince William County

To Wyndham Robertson Esquire, 

Acting Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia

Richmond, Va.

Names


Date of Commission
Date of Qualification
Remarks

John Fox

not given

Nov. 9, 1809

Charles Ming

Sept. 30, 1812

Nov. 3, 1812

John Hooe

Apr. 16, 1816

May 6, 1816

Jesse Ewell

Aug. 16, 1817

Sept. 1, 1817

Michael Cleary

June 10, 1819

Aug. 2, 1819

Sheriff 1833

George W. Jackson
Feb. 02, 1822

Mar. 4, 1822

Died in April 1834

Robert Hamilton

Feb. 02, 1822

Mar. 5, 1822

Died in March 1835

Richard Foote

Sept. 20, 1822

Oct. 7, 1822

Died in Feb. 1834

James Foster

Mar. 15, 1823

Jun. 3, 1823

Sheriff April 1835

John Hutchison

Sept. 02, 1823

Nov. 3, 1823

L. G. Alexander

Sept. 02, 1823

Nov. 3, 1823

Thomas Nelson

Sept. 02, 1823

Nov. 3, 1823

Redmon Foster

Sept. 02, 1823

Nov. 3, 1823

Charles S. Carter

May 26,
1824

July 5, 1824

Removed in 1834

Stuart G. Thornton
July 08, 1825

Sept. 5, 1825

Jas. B.T. Thornton
July 08, 1825

Sept. 5, 1825

John Fitzhugh

Feb. 21, 1826

Mar 6, 1826

Thomas B. Hamilton
Feb. 27, 1827

June 5, 1827

Benjamin Johnson
Oct. 30, 1827

Nov. 5, 1827

James B. Ewell

Oct. 30, 1827

Nov. 5, 1827

George G. Tyler

Oct. 28, 1828

Feb. 3, 1829

Thomas C. Thornton
Jul 02, 1830

Aug. 2, 1830

Resigned June 3, 1833

John W. Williams
Jul.02, 1830

Aug. 2, 1830

Wm. H. Tebbs

Dec. 4, 1830

Jan. 3, 1831

Removed Nov. 1835

Albert Newman

Dec. 4, 1830

Jan. 3, 1831

F. H. Muschett

Dec. 28, 1831

Apr. 2, 1832

Resigned 1833

George Weedon

Dec. 28, 1831

Feb. 6, 1832

Jesse E. Weems

Apr. 01, 1833

May 6, 1833

Robert Williams

Jan. 29, 1834

Feb. 3, 1834

Wm. T. Colguhoun
Jan. 29, 1834

Mar. 3, 1834

Allen Howison

Jul. 22, 1834

Aug. 4, 1834

Frederick Foote

Jun. 29, 1835

Aug. 3, 1835

Samuel H. Janney
Jun. 29, 1835

Aug. 3, 1835

Occoquan, Va., August 10th  1837

Box 1, Folder 11Accession#43151

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – David Campbell

To Governor Allen (copied verbatim including the name of the governor)

       Honored Sir,


You I have no doubt will be sum what surprised to receive a few lines from an individual whom can claim neither private nor personal acquaintance with you having a request to make of your honour Viz it amounts nearly to this thair  is a certain piece of land in Prince William called and by the name of the free tract said land has been thus called and nown for a number of years if I was to say 60 to 80 I should not depart from truth. It was once a heavy piece of timber land having bean pilfred by different individuals for a number of years and possessioned by no person except by a free negro and A. Mr. Gaten Arrington of this County as also a poor woman by the name of Elizabeth Whalen at whos I instance and request I sed you this small epistle.


Thair is sum persons in this county whom has reacently removed to it from the lower part of it by the name of Wm. S. Barbee and A. Chanciler the former having taken the benefit of the act and the latter a respectibe man wishes this poor individual turned of of the pace whom by dint of aconaing and industry has raised 7 porly children I appeal to your govenar as an honoured man I apeal to as just man under the presiding circumstances wheather or no she is to be turned of the insuing year requesting it as a favour for you to drop a few lines addressed to myself at this place having once bean owned by a Mistress Kee, Otis husband of said Mrs Kee among other emigates to this cuntry has had not taken the oath of allegiance as far back as the revilutoonally war of which Washington the intoomed commanded hoping you will comply with this my small reques when time and leasure will admit and say wheather or those individuals whom has paid the tackses to support governent and in quiot posseon for 28 or 30 yeas shall be thus molested.








Respectfully Your Obt. Ser.








And Friend









Thos. B. Barnes

( Note, the above was copied verbatim including the name of the governor)


The answer on back of letter – “Inform Mr. Barnes that his letter has been received and that the Executive has no authority whatever to act upon the subject which he has brought to its notice.









W. H. M.

Richmond, Va. December 1837

Accession#43151

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – David Campbell

Abstracts of statements from the clerks of the County Courts, shewing the number of marriage licenses granted by them in the years 1817, 1827, and 1837, and the number of the persons obtaining them who could not write their names.

Counties below the head
marriages  could not    
marriages  could not
marriages  could not

of tide water

1817
    write          
1827
    write    
1837
    write

Accomack

68
    24

103
   37

71
   19

Brunswick

43
    03

30
   05

32
   06

Caroline


51
    12

69
   NG

47
   14

Charles City

15
    06

26
   06

13
   03

Chesterfield

61
    08

60
   18

85
   25

Dinwiddie

49
    14

38
   09

18
   03

Elizabeth City

18
    04

39
   14

31
   14

Essex


30
    08

48
   11

27
   09

Gloucester

NG
    NG

54
   16

35
   16

Greenville

20
    07

17
   03

20
   04

Isle of Wight

40
    16

64
   28

43
   15

James City&Williamsburg
12
    00

12
   02

07
   00

King & Queen

NG
    NG

NG
   NG

37
   07

King George

35
    08

22
   08

17
   07

King William

41
    15

28
   05

29
   08

Lancaster

34
    06

22
   05

25
   06

Matthews

22
    09

32
   07

37
   09

Middlesex

09
    04

19
   00

10
   02

Nansemond

50
    15

46
   21

50
   22

Northumberland

44
    25

43
   23

42
   21

Nottoway

24
    01

26
   01

NG
   NG

New Kent

09
    02

21
   01

21
   06

Princess Anne

44
    18

53
   12

67
   27  

Prince George

29
    05

26
   07

24
   08

Prince William

51
    18

38
   13

30
   10

Richmond

21
    08

12
   03

22
   08

Southampton

77
    21

84
   31

42
   14

Spotsylvania

79
    03

30
   04

39
   05

Stafford


19
    04

39
   13

31
   14

Surry


28
    05

32
   15

28
   12

Sussex


37
    08

49
   15

38
   08

Westmoreland

33
    12

36
   09

45
   19

Warwick

NG
    NG

NG
   NG

NG
   NG

York


10
    04

26
   12

11
   05

Norfolk Borough

65
    09

79
   17

70
   12

Williamsburg

NG
    NG

NG
   NG

NG
   NG



1226
    338

1463
   422

1301
   415
 

Abstracts of statements from the clerks of the County Courts, shewing the number of marriage licenses granted by them in the years 1817, 1827, and 1837, and the number of the persons obtaining them who could not write their names.

Counties between the
marriages  could not    
marriages  could not
marriages  could not

Head of tidewater &

Blue Ridge

1817
    write          
1827
    write    
1837
    write

Albemarle

72
    14

77
    15

100
     25

Amelia


25
    06

20
    03

19
     02

Amherst


45
    08

45
    12

40
     07

Bedford


95
    24

104
    21

72
     16

Buckingham

NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Campbell

NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Charlotte

45
    12

48
    04

39
     07

Culpepper

71
    14

81
    12

31
     00

Cumberland

44
    08
 
35
    03

32
     04

Fairfax


36
    12

39
    09

21
     02

Fauquier


101
    23

94
    11

75
     10

Fluvanna

29
    09

32
    02

24
     05

Franklin


72
    21

63
    14

63
     23

Goochland

56
    06

36
    05

26
     01

Greene


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Halifax


89
    26

95
    27

87
     22

Hanover


45
    11

60
    12

41
     10

Henrico


116
    22

98
    20

88
     15

Henry


28
    09

32
    03

38
     06

Loudon


147
    31

94
    25

94
     21

Louisa


56
    14

46
    05

42
     10

Lunenburg

46
    11

45
    09

36
     10

Madison


30
    13

31
    16

21
     11

Mecklenburg

64
    15

51
    07

41
     06

Nelson


36
    06

50
    14

47
     07

Orange


41
    09

50
    09

29
     01

Patrick


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Pittsylvania

105
    27

103
    30

94
     17

Powhatan

24
    01

32
    00

21
     01

Prince Edward

36
    02

44
    06

43
     06

Rappahannock

NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Fredericksburg

24
    05

20
    02

NG
     NG

Petersburg

46
    07

48
    11

60
     24

Richmond

32
    06

44
    11

NG
     NG

Lynchburg

20
    02

25
    02

NG
     NG 



1676
    376

1652
    320

1324
     269

Abstracts of statements from the clerks of the County Courts, shewing the number of marriage licenses granted by them in the years 1817, 1827, and 1837, and the number of the persons obtaining them who could not write their names.

Counties between the
marriages  could not    
marriages  could not
marriages  could not

Blue Ridge &

Alleghany

1817
    write          
1827
    write    
1837
    write

Augusta


136
    19

134
    25

110
     15

Alleghany

NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Berkley


58
    08

54
    15

69
     07

Botetourt

89
    16

89
    17

87
     16

Bath


17
    00

34
    01

28
     03

Clarke


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Frederick

113
    21

110
    24

54
     05

Hardy


53
    13

39
    10

45
     05

Jefferson

54
    11

76
    15

57
     08

Morgan


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Page


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Rockingham

97
    23

121
    18

102
     20

Roanoke


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Shenandoah

139
    33

106
    31

72
     15

Warren


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG



826
    158

835
    167

706
     110

Abstracts of statements from the clerks of the County Courts, shewing the number of marriage licenses granted by them in the years 1817, 1827, and 1837, and the number of the persons obtaining them who could not write their names.

Counties west of the
marriages  could not    
marriages  could not
marriages  could not

Alleghany

1817
    write          
1827
    write    
1837
    write

Brooke


47
    03

49
    05

51
     02

Braxton


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Cabell


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Fayette


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Floyd


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Giles


23
    06

36
    16

23
     07

Grayson


18
    00

39
    07

39
     15

Greenbrier

39
    07

44
    04

55
     10

Hampshire

73
    19

62
    09

31
     05

Harrison


95
    22

140
    32

122
     24

Jackson


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Kanawha

55
    18

73
    23

83
     16

Lee


27
    10

39
    08

35
     11

Lewis


28
    07

36
    05

44
     06

Logan


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Marshall


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Mason


NG
    NG

NG
    NG
    
NG
     NG

Monongalia

61
    12

79
    09

102
     15

Monroe


59
    21

51
    10

76
     11

Montgomery

42
    14

55
    15

46
     09

Mercer


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Nicholas


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Ohio


66
    05

78
    14

111
     07

Preston


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Pendleton

35
    16

45
    21

68
     17

Pocahontas

NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Randolph

24
    04

45
    14

45
     05

Russell


25
    10

NG
    NG

30
     12

Scott


28
    15

49
    22

42
     10

Smyth


NG
    NG

NG
    NG

NG
     NG

Tyler


18
    06

26
    05

39
     05

Tazewell

27
    10

37
    11
 
43
     23

Washington

81
    25

NG
    NG

78
     19

Wood


32
    07

44
    08
    
64
     11

Wythe


56
    18

71
    19

56
     13



954
    255

1098
    257

1283
     253

Total


4687
    1127

5046
    1166

4614
     1047

Brentsville, Va., September 3rd 1838
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Virginia Governors Executive Papers – David Campbell

Virginia, Prince William County Court, September 3rd 1838. The court proceeded to elect a proper person to be appointed and commissioned a justice of the peace for this county, whereupon the following poll was taken, and ordered to be recorded as follows, to wit: “A Poll taken by the county court of Prince William County, this 3rd day of September, 1838 for the election of a proper person to be commissioned as Magistrate for the said County of Prince William.

The Candidates were  E. J. Spence, Henry Fairfax, Z. A. Kankey, William Cockrell, Jas. A. Evans, Charles H. Hunton, John Gray and Seymour Lynn.

Justices Charles Ming, John Hutchison, Thomas Hamilton, George G. Tyler, James D. Tennille, and Thomas H. Fowke voted for Charles H. Hunton.

Justices Lawrence G. Alexander, James B. Ewell, Jesse Weems and Frederick Foote, voted for Z. A. Kankey.

Justices Thomas Nelson & Samuel H. Janney voted for Henry Fairfax.

Justices Redmon Foster & Allen Howison voted for James A. Evans.

Justices John Fitzhugh, Benjamin Johnson and Albert Newman voted for John Gray.

Justices Jno. W. Williams & George Weedon voted for Seymour Lynn.

Justice William S. Colquhoun voted for E. J. Spence.

Justice Jesse Ewell did not vote.

E. J. Spence 1 vote, Henry Fairfax 2 votes, Z. A. Kankey 4 votes, Jas. A. Evans 2 votes, Charles H. Hunton 6 votes, John Gray 3 votes, Seymour Lynn 2 votes, and William Cockrell no votes. Whereupon, Charles H. Hunton, is nominated to the Executive, as a proper person to be commissioned as a Magistrate in and for this County.







A Copy – Teste – J. Williams C.C.

The following is a copy of the order of court to summon the Justices and the Sheriffs returns thereon made to wit:

Prince William County Court, August 8th 1838. Ordered that the Sheriff summon the Justices of this County to attend on the first day of the next court for the purpose of electing and making a recommendation of other persons to be appointed and commissioned Justices for the said County.







A Copy – Teste – J. Williams C.C.

Sheriffs Returns – “Executed on Lawrence G. Alexander, John Fitzhugh, Samuel H. Janney, A. H. Sanders, William S. Colquhoun, Jno W. Williams, J. E. Weems, Thomas Nelson and George Weedon.







T. M. Farrow D.S.

“Executed on Charles Meng, John Hooe Jr., Jesse Ewell, Jno Hutchison, Thos. B. Hamilton, Stuart G. Thornton, Benjamin Johnson, Albert Newman, Redmon Foster, James B. Ewell, James B. T. Thornton, Robert Williams, Allen Howison, James D. Tennille, Thomas H. Fowke, Frederick Foote, George G. Tyler and James W. F. Macrae.







William F. Purcell  D.S.








Teste – J. Williams C.C.

Virginia, Prince William County Court, September 3rd 1838. “Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William County, the 3rd day of September 1838 for the election of a surveyor of said county





CANDIDATES

Thomas Nelson



Philip Warder


Thomas Chapman

John Fitzhugh



Charles Meng


Wm. S. Colquhoun

Thos. B. Hamilton


John Hutchison

Jno. W. Williams



Lawrence G. Alexander



George Weedon



Redmon Foster

Allen Howison



Benjamin Johnson

Samuel H. Janney


Geo. G. Tyler






Albert Newman






Frederick Foote






Jas D. Tennille






Thomas H. Fowke

Whereupon, Philip Warder is nominated to the Executive as a proper person to be commissioned as Surveyor of this County.”








A Copy -   Teste -    J. Williams C.C.

The following are copies of Certificates filed by Mr. Warder to Wit:


“Fairfax County, Virginia – Mr. Philip Warder having represented to me that he has been nominated and appointed by the County Court of Prince William, as surveyor for said county; this is therefore to certify, that I have examined the said Philip Warder on theoretical & practical surveying and hereby certify that I consider him able to perform the duties of County surveyor. Given under my hand this 6th day of September 1838.








Jno. H. Halley








Surveyor of Fairfax County


“”Fauquier County, to Wit: I certify that I have examined Mr. Philip Warder of the County of Prince William, on his knowledge of theoretical and practical surveying and believe him qualified to perform the duties of Surveyor of the County. Given under my hand this ninth day of September 1838.








Charles Kemper Jr.








Surveyor of Fauquier






Copies – Teste – J. Williams C.C.







10 September 1838

Brentsville, Va., 4 March 1839

Commonwealth vs Landon a Slave, Convicted & sentenced to Death

Accession#43151

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – David Campbell


Virginia, Prince William County to Wit: Be it remembered that John Gibson, attorney for the Commonwealth for the County of Prince William cometh here into court this fourth day of March eighteen hundred and thirty nine, into a special court of the Commonwealth of Oyer and Terminer, composed of the Justices of the Peace for the county aforesaid duly organized according to the provisions of the act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided for the trial of slaves charged with treason or felony, and for the said Commonwealth giveth the court to understand and be informed that a certain negro man slave named Landon late of the county aforesaid, the property of one Williams Bowers of the County of Fauquier on the tenth day of February in the year aforesaid not having the fear of God before his eyes, but being moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil, with force and arms at the County aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this court, did feloniously, willfully, and maliciously set fire to the Jail of the County of Prince William, situated in the Town of Brentsville against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the act of the general assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided.







John Gibson attorney for the Commonwealth

 





for the County Court of Prince William

(Record sent to Governor – Prisoner convicted & sentenced to death on the 4th Friday in April next)

Virginia, 

Prince William County Court, March 4th 1839.


The Court proceeded as a court of Oyer and Terminer to the trial of Landon, negro man Slave the property of William Bower charged with felony (the called Court heretofore summoned having failed to meet) William T. French Esquire was assigned counsel for the Prisoner. And the Attorney for the Commonwealth came into court and filed information against the said Landon in these words, to wit:

Prince William County to Wit:


Be it remembered that John Gibson attorney for the Commonwealth for the County of Prince William, cometh here into Court this fourth day of March eighteen hundred and thirty nine, into a Special Court of the Commonwealth of Oyer and Terminer, composed of the Justices of the Peace for the County aforesaid, duly organized, according to the provisions of the act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made, and provided for the trial of Slaves, charged with treason or felony, and for the said Commonwealth giveth the Court to understand and be informed that a certain Negro man Slave named Landon, late of the County aforesaid, the property of one William Bowers of the County of Fauquier, on the tenth day of February in the year aforesaid, not having the fear of God before his eyes, but being moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil, with force and arms at the County aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this Court, did feloniously, willfully and maliciously, set fire to the jail of the County of Prince William, situated in the Town of Brentsville against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided.








John Gibson attorney








for the Commonwealth








in the County Court for 








Prince William County


And upon the information aforesaid the said Slave Landon was arraigned and upon his arraignment, pleaded not guilty, and for his trial put himself upon God and this Court, And the Court proceeded to examine sundry witnesses for the Commonwealth; On consideration whereof, the Court are unanimously of opinion, that the said slave Landon is guilty of the offence, with which he stands charged. This therefore considered and ordered by the Court, that he be remanded to jail, the place from whence he came, and there remain until the day of his Execution, and from thence, taking to the place of Execution and hanged by the neck until he be dead, on the fourth Friday in April next, between the hours of 10 o’clock in the morning and 4 o’clock in the afternoon of that day.


And the Court are of opinion that the said slave Landon is worth $900. And the Court recommends the said Slave Landon to the mercy of the Executive.


The following was the evidence taken in this case Commonwealth vs Landon for burning the jail of Prince William County.

Commonwealth vs Landon

Summary of the evidence.

Wm. S. Fewell sworn to give evidence in behalf of the Commonwealth stated as follows:

On the morning after the servant was put in jail Sunday morning; I proposed to Mr. Purcell that we should go over and look at the Negro – do not recollect the hour – met with Mr. Evans – went into the jail – got to the head off the stairway. I recollect I first called to him and he remarked that there was a house on fire and on being questioned as to where the fire was, remarked that he did not know – that the old man supposed to be the man taken out of jail the evening before, said he intended to set a house on fire that night – He said he thought he heard a fire somewhere – he said this way, but witness did not know where, as he could not see prisoner – went down stairs to see where the fire was, and someone opened the door of the adjoining room – after asking Mr. Clifford the jailor for the key – The room adjoining was unoccupied and the key in the door. The prisoner was in the front room – and the fire was supposed to have communicated there – The witness discovered no signs of fire until the adjoining room door was opened of the adjacent room – The witness cannot say that there were no signs of burning there before – He saw evidence of fire having been once applied by accident or otherwise but does not know when. He says that prisoner denied having set jail on fire and remarked that if he did it must have been accidental, that he smoked his pipe and then went to sleep – Saw nothing of handkerchief.

T. M. Farrow’s Testimony


On the day the prisoner was committed the witness was not present – he came in that evening and examined the room – I discovered there was a place burned in the centre of the room or nearly so, but I took no notice of that – he then examined the place where the fire was supposed to have been communicated – he did not discover the burnt place before that he recollects of – Witness is Deputy Sheriff and had occasion to visit jail frequently – he discovered there had been a piece of cotton or silk burned in the hole – could not say which – This was discovered in the room where the fire was communicated – On the day set apart for call Court I went to examine and found some coarse linen – partly burned linen cloth, this was discovered by running a stick down into the hole which had been burned – The piece or roll was about the size of a walnut.


Prisoner said to Servant Woman who questioned him in hearing of witness, that he did not set the house on fire – that it must have caught from the coal in his pipe, but anyone in jail would try to get out – Prisoner had a bundle of clothes in room with him – Coat &c. – The window had been prized at in the room where prisoner was and the facing started – Witness will say that prisoner did it.


J. A. Evans acting in behalf of Commonwealth proves the facts as stated by William Fewell.


Overton a colored man Slave charged and sworn says – In the morning about one half an hour by sun, Sunday Morning, I passed by the door of Jail and prisoner asked for coal of fire to light his pipe – Witness asked him if he could not wait until after breakfast – Prisoner said he could, after breakfast he gave him the fire by permission of the Jailor who first objected and afterwards assented – which day was the Sunday on which the Jail was fired – Mr. Clifford says about 7 o’clock, he was in the room, when Overton came into his room and asked for fire to light the pipe of prisoner – The Servant took coal of fire to the prisoner – about one hour and a half afterwards the witness says that the Gentlemen Messrs Evans, Fewell and Purcell came to the jail to see prisoner – Mr. Fewell then sent to witness for Key – supposed the jail had been on fire sometime – Thinks more than half an hour – The room where he was locked and there was little appearance of fire elsewhere.


Mr. J. F. Reid witness in behalf of the Commonwealth says, as soon as he heard the alarm of fire, he went to the Jail and entered the room adjoining the one where prisoner was and saw fire burning in the ceiling – he directed some hands in applying water to extinguish the flames – and think from appearances that the fire originated in the room of prisoner, do not think that the fire could have been communicated by anyone except somebody in the room where prisoner was. 

The Following is a copy of the Warrant:

To James Purcell a Constable of Prince William County to Wit:


Whereas George W. Clifford of the County of Prince William aforesaid, hath this day made complaint upon oath, to me John Fitzhugh one of the Commonwealth Justices of the Peace, for the County aforesaid, that on this 10th day of February 1839, the Public Jail of Prince William County, in the Town of Brentsville, was willfully and maliciously set on fire, and burnt and that he hath just cause to suspect and doth suspect that a certain Negro Slave named Landon now confined in said Jail as a runaway, and supposed, to be the property of William Bower of the County of Fauquier, did feloniously willfully and maliciously set fire to and burn the said Jail.


These are therefore, in the name of the Commonwealth, to require you immediately, to apprehend the said Landon, and to bring him before me or some other justice of the peace for the said county, to be examined concerning the premises wherewith he is suspected. Given under my hand and seal this 10th day of February 1839.






Jno Fitzhugh J.P. (SEAL)

The following is a copy of the Mittimus

Prince William County to Wit:

To the Sheriff or any Constable of the said County and to the keeper of the Jail of the said County. These are to command you the said Sheriff or Constable in the name of the Commonwealth to convey and deliver into the custody of the said keeper, of the said jail, the body of Landon a Negro supposed to be a runaway, the property of Wm. Bower, charged before me with setting on fire and burning the Jail of Prince William County – And you the said jailor, are hereby required to receive the said Landon into your jail and custody and him there safely keep, till he shall thence be discharged by due course of law. Given under my hand and seal this 10th day of February in the year 1839, and in the 63rd year of the Commonwealth.







Jno Fitzhugh  J. P. (SEAL)

Brentsville, Va., March 14th 1839

Box #5, Folder 7, Accession#43151

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – David Campbell

To the Honorable David Campbell, Governor of Virginia


Your petitioners beg leave to represent to your honour that the Negro man slave Landon whose condemnation by the County Court of Prince William County held at the Court House of said County on the 4th day of March 1839 was the property of Wm. Bower of Fauquier County Virginia. That said negro man was committed to jail on the 9th day of February 1839 as a runaway to be retained until his masters should apply for him. That on the 10th of same month as will appear by the evidence transmitted to your honour, the felony was committed no doubt for the purpose of liberating himself and not with that malicious intention which actuates the mid-night incendiary – in this your petitioners find sufficient reason for an extenuation of the crime. Your petitioners beg leave further to represent that the mitigating circumstances were such that the court declares their determination not to condemn the slave to capital punishment without recommending him to the mercy of your Excellency. This they have done with a confident belief that this mercy will be extended to him & his punishment commuted to transportation. Your petitioners deem it unnecessary to say more or to use any other mitigating or excusatory circumstances believing that your honour will not, under the recommendation of the court given under the circumstances herein before mentioned refers the interposition asked at your hands.


MEMBERS OF THE BAR


CITIZENS GENERALLY


(N.?) F. Cleary




Fras. T. Hooe


Thos. J. Murray




Jno Mosby

Wm. B. Tyler




Geo. A. Farrow Dep. Sheriff

Richard Payne




T. M. Farrow

J. M. Conway Jr.




Saml. Tansill

A. G. (S.?) Tebbs




James Fewell

Jno. S. Byrne




Robt. C. Leachman

John W. Tyler




P. D. Lipscomb

F. R. Love




Thos. Foster


Wm. T. French




C. Hunton


B. Ward





James A. Evans


G. Washington




G. W. Clifford








Wm. S. Fewell

B. Hunton, D. Clerk

William Larkin

William R. Leachman

J. Williams (clerk)

Dumfries, Va., March 14th 1839

Letter from J. E. Weems – petition for Slave Landon

Box 4, Accession#43151

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – David Campbell

To David Campbell Esq.

       Sir,


I take the liberty of addressing you on a subject of much importance. I say important; I feel it as such, and hope you will grant my petition.


A slave by the name of Landon, the property of Capt. Bowers was tried at Brentsville on Monday the 4th inst. for firing the Jail – two of the members of the court & self thought his case came under the Act of Feb 12th 1829, which entitled him to benefit of clergy. Not being satisfied in my mind with the valuation of damages assessed by incompetent judges, I could not conscientiously consent to a verdict of guilty, but with the provision that the justices setting with me on his case would recommend him to your mercy & that his punishment be changed from death to transportation. Also that the Commonwealth’s Attorney assured me, the prayer of the court would be granted by you as heretofore.


I assure you I feel truly concerned, his case I thought & still think a peculiar one nor would I for my right hand have assented to the verdict but with the above named provision, & assurance being granted. Unless his punishment be mitigated I shall feel condemned, but relying upon your benevolence.







I have the honour to be very respectfully








Your Obedient Servant









J. E. Weems

Quantico near Dumfries Va., May 20th 1840

Box 1, Folder 6, Accession #43419

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas W. Gilmer

      Sir,


I have the honor to state that in order to comply with a requisition made on me.  I was compelled to resign my commission of Magistrates of Prince William County on the 5th inst. of which I did.  I have given due notice to the court thereof.







I am very respectful







    Your obedient servant







        Wm. Colquhoun

Dumfries, July 14th 1840

Box 1, Folder 9, Accession #43419

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas W. Gilmer

Letter Rejected – 16 July 1840

      Sir,


As a Captain in the Virginia Militia & the Company I command is without any kind of arms for protection. I would ask you if thair is not old muskets which is no use to the state that mite be giving to me for distribution, to my men. I ask then for thair is a great uneasiness in our County about the negroes as is in other counties. I have from 80 to 100 men in my company & if at any time I should be order out for the defence of the county- how would we appear before a gang of Negroes – or other persons. I ask & make this request for 100 muskets & if I can get them I want them ____







I am your humble servant








Geo. N. Cockrell

Richmond, September 1st  1840

Box 3, Folder 1, Accession #43419

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Thomas W. Gilmer


The Negroes now confined in the Penitentiary for transportation. I have seen and value them as follows, taking into consideration everything (by which I mean the disadvantage any person who purchases them will have to labour under in selling them) there are 14 men 18 to 30 years old stout & likely though some are badly learned from whipping.  These I value at five hundred and fifty dollars each. There are two men 19 & 24 years old, almost valueless on account of one of them having a very large men or swelling on the neck & the other is afflicted with a fistulous, they are on that account of very little value as they would not be sold, but at very low prices. There is one negro man 43 to 45 years old from Mecklenburg County said to be at times somewhat deranged, therefore I think he will be of very little value to the man who may purchase, as disclosing might be made by him. There is one man 35 years old said to be a Blacksmith, he is whipped in a horrid manner which is a great eyesore and renders him less unsalable. I value him at Eight Hundred Dollars. There is one man by the name of Jarret 25 years old, sick with bilious fever, he is worth five hundred dollars (if well.) There are four Negro men between 40 and 50 years old. These I value at three hundred and seventy five dollars each. There are two Negro Girls I value at four hundred and fifty dollars cash, and two that I value at four hundred dollars each and there are two old women 38 to 40 years old, one of them having one of her feet nearly burned off. I value them at two hundred and fifty dollars (together) as I have observed above taking all things into consideration the valuation which I have given. I consider a fair one. The Negro man with a wen or swelling on the neck and the fellow having a fistulous would not sell for more than two hundred and fifty dollars each provided they are bought to market and sold at auction & the Negro man from Mecklenburg County said to be deranged would not sell for more than four hundred dollars if there was no doubt of his being of sound mind.








Respectfully your Obt. Serv.








   R. H. Dickinson, Auctioneer of








    Late firm of Templeman & Dickinson

May 16th 1840

Slaves Confined in the Penitentiary for Sale and Transportation

With Valuations by the Courts

NAME
     SENTENCED
             VALUE

NAME

SENTENCED
         VALUE

Sentenced in 1838

Albert
      Cumberland County
$950

Jane

Spotsylvania County
$750

Sentenced in 1839

Nancy
      Accomack County
$700

John

Norfolk 


$800


Arthur
      Norfolk

$1000

John

Jefferson County

$700

Landon
      Prince William Co.
$900

Peter

Augusta County

$1000

John
      Spotsylvania Co.
$1000

Thomas

Buckingham County
$700

Phil
      Fredericksburg
$1500

John

Fredericksburg

$900

Henry
      Fredericksburg
$1000

Harrison

Fredericksburg

$1000

Nelson
      Fredericksburg
$900

John

Charles City

$900

Jarrett
      Loudoun County
$800

Stephen

Louisa County

$850

Sentenced in 1840

Malinda
     Southampton Co.
$150

James

Rockbridge County
$750

Nelson
     Rockbridge County
$250

Charlotte
Clarke County

$500

George
     King & Queen Co.
$550

Arena

Greensville County
$375

Jim
     Greensville County
$700

Alfred

Fairfax County

$900

Valuation of 29 Negroes convicts now confined in the Penitentiary for transportation beyond the limits of the United States

Name

Age

Value

Name

Age

Value

Phil

25

$650

Arnol

24

$650

Nelson

30

$600

Nelson

42

$350

Arthur

18

$650

Henry

21

$650

Albert

24

$650

John

23

$650

John

23

$650

Jim

23

$650

Alpherd

29

$600

Harrison

20

$650

Jim

23

$650

Henry

21

$650

George

35

$450

Stephen

23

$650

Jack

40

$400

Landon  

35 (blacksmith)
$800

Ned

25

$600

John

42

$350

Jarrett

25 (very sick)
$450

Jacob

43 (Mecklenberg)$300

John

24

$300

John

19 (neck swelling)$200

Nancy

18

$500

Arena

40

$250

Malinda

20

$500

Jane

20

$475

Charlotte
15

$450

Nancy

38 (burned foot)
$075

August 16th 1840 total valuation of Slaves
$14,800.00

R. H. Dickinson

Brentsville, Va. November 12th 1842

Box 1 Folder 3

Governors Executive Papers – John M. Gregory

To the Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia

(This letter very hard to read)

       Dear Sir,


The undersigned respectfully represents that at the last Nov. term held for the County of Prince William. The court proceeded to nominate to your Excellency three persons named in the commission of the peace for said County one of whom there nominated being approved by the Governor & is to be commissioned to execute the office of Sheriff in said County. Your memorialist further represents that a certain Thomas Nelson the undersigned and Stuart G. Thornton were the three Justices in the Commission of the Peace who were nominated by the Court and according to the usage of the Commonwealth if there was no valid objection to the first named Justices in said nomination would receive the Commission as Sheriff. Your memorialist is however advises & believes that there are objections of a grade character against the said Nelson being commissioned as Sheriff which he will briefly detail leaving the decision of the question to your Excellency on a full knowledge of facts about which it is proper your memorialist should state there is no controversy. It appears then from the records of this County Court Office of Prince William County. That said Thomas Nelson was appointed Justice of the Peace for said County and on the 3rd day of November 1823 qualified as such 1822 clerk’s certificate – And that he was commissioned by the Governor of Virginia as County Surveyor of said County and qualified as such on the 16th day of September 1831. Now your memorialist is advised that the office of Justice of the Peace and County Surveyor are incompatible offices; and that for one person to hold & enjoy both at the same time is prohibited by the Law & the constitution of the Commonwealth. And that by statutory enactment the legislature has declared that the necessities of an office in compatible with another office held by the several individuals in a vacation of the first office. Your memorialist therefore insist that said Nelson by accepting the office of County Surveyor vacated the office of Justice of the Peace and is not now and was not when recommended by the Court a Justice of the Peace __  __, and as such entitled to be nominated or commissioned as High Sheriff for the County of Prince William. Your memorialist does not propose to address an argument in support of his views to the Executive department of the Commonwealth as he considers that to be entirely necessary. But he begs ___ as matter of conscience to refer to some authority as con------ of his opinions. 1st article 3rd __ of the constitution of the state declares that the legislative executive & judiciary department of the government shall be separate and distinct __ that neither exercise the powers properly belonging to the others. Nor shall any person exercise the powers of more than one of those at the same time. Now your memorialist insists that the office of County Surveyor is firmly ex---tion in its character. That he executes orders of ---y under the discretion of the County Court, is answerable to said Court of which he is a member, under acts in _______ to said court, and that the offices of Justice of the Peace & County Surveyor are incompatible one being judicial and the other Executive and the latter being in subordinated to the former. And that if this be true the law of 1822 vacated the commission of justice of the peace as ___  as said Nelson accepted the office of County Surveyor. The County Surveyor holds his commission from the executive of the Commonwealth and keeps an office ___ your memorialist would further remark that the General Court of Virginia has decided that office of deputy clerk and Justice of the Peace to be incompatible and your memorialist cannot but think the ___ of the County Surveyor a much strange case. See Comm. Vs Shenard(?) 4th ___ p. 643.  Comm. Vs Tate 3rd ___ p. 802.  Amory vs Justices of Gloucester ___. The June term 1826. Your memorialist has ___ his duty to present these objections to the said Nelson being commissioned as high sheriff for the County of Prince William having ___ to the wisdom of the executive to settle the question according to its view of the laws & the constitution of the Commonwealth.








R. Foster








Nov 12, 1842

Prince William County, November 6th 1843

Box 2, Folder – Nov. 1 - 20 Accession #

Governors Executive Papers – James McDowell


Prince William County Court, November 6th 1843, “Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William, this 6th day of November 1843, for the election of a proper person to be commissioned as Sheriff of said County of Prince William.

CANDIDATES

THOMAS NELSON

REDMON FOSTER
STEWART G. THORNTON

Benjamin Johnson

Benjamin Johnson
Benjamin Johnson

Allen Howison


Allen Howison

Allen Howison

John C. Weedon


John C. Weedon

John C. Weedon

Richard W. Wheat

Richard W. Wheat
Richard W. Wheat


Whereupon, Thomas Nelson, Redmon Foster & Stewart G. Thornton are nominated to the Executive either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.”








J. Williams C.C.

Prince William County, April 1st   1844

Box 377, Folder #2, Accession #43419

Governors Executive Papers  James McDowell


Prince William County Court, Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William County this 1st April 1844, for the election of a surveyor for said county. 

CANDIDATES

GEORGE WASHINGTON



JOHN LATHAM

John Hooe Jr.





Jesse Ewell

Lawrence G. Alexander




Redmon Foster

John Fitzhugh





George G. Tyler

George Weedon





Albert Newman

Robert Williams





James D. Tennille

Allen Howison





Seymour Lynn

Frederick Foote





Benoni E. Harrison

James W. F. Macrae




Basil Brawner

Addison H. Saunders

Richard W. Wheat

John C. Weedon

Zebulon Kankey

Charles G. Howison

William F. Purcell


Whereupon George Washington is nominated to the Executive as a proper person to be commissioned as surveyor of this County.








Teste – J. Williams C.C.

Brentsville, Va., June 27th 1844

Box 377, Folder #4, Accession #43419

Governors Executive Papers - James McDowell

To James McDowell Esq. Governor of Virginia

       Sir;


At the April term of the County Court of Prince William. I was elected by the Justices, county surveyor, to fill the vacancy occasioned by the demise of Philip Warder. A copy of my nomination has been duly forwarded to the Executive, as I am informed; and I now take occasion to forward the certificates of two adjacent county surveyors, in obedience to the requisitions of the law, in such cases made & provided. These certificates would have been forwarded at an earlier day, but for my absence from the State of Virginia and in consequence of this circumstance. I did not even know of the nomination until my return a few days ago. I mention this in explanation of the delay intervening between the date of the nomination 7 the transmission of the certificates. Hoping the certificates may be satisfactory & sufficient I shall hope for you early, favourable attention to be subject. – with high respect.








I remain








Your most obedient servant








G. Washington

Prince William County, November 5th 1844

Box 378, Folder #4, Accession #

Governors Executive Papers – James McDowell


Prince William County Court, November 5th 1844, “Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William, this 5th day of November 1844, for the election of a proper person to be commissioned as Sheriff of said County of Prince William.

CANDIDATES

REDMON FOSTER

STUART G. THORNTON
JAMES B. T. THORNTON

John Hooe Jr.


John Hooe Jr.


John Hooe Jr.

John Fitzhugh


John Fitzhugh


John Fitzhugh

Robert Williams


Robert Williams


Robert Williams

William F. Purcell

William F. Purcell

William F. Purcell


Whereupon, Redmon Foster, Stuart G. Thornton, and James B. T. Thornton are nominated to the Executive either of whom may be commissioned as Sheriff of this County.”








Teste – J. Williams C.C.

Brentsville, Va., March 2nd 1846

Letter from R. M. Weir to the Governor

Box 379, Folder #2

Governors Executive Papers – James McDowell

        Dear Sir,


Permit me to congratulate you upon your promotion one which I have long expected of that or one of a higher grade, and also permit me to beg of you if you have any situation to give me one if it is ever so small as I am in a bad situation as I have been farming for the last three years and have been losing constantly and I am at last entirely wound up know not how to support my Family. I would accept any situation that was respectable and I would leave my Family here. At next Court everything I possess will be sold. I can accommodate myself to all most any business and if you will give me a situation I will exert every nerve to be worthy of it and if you cannot be pleased to give me a recommendation as I must turn out in the Spring and get a situation. I can get a strong recommendation for Honesty, Capability and Energy. I earnestly trust you will do what you can for me. Please let me hear from you directly.







Yours most respectfully








R. M. Weir

Buckland, Va., January 17th  1847

Letter from T. B. Warder

Box 1, Folder #1

Governors Executive Papers – William Smith








Fauquier County, Va.








January 15th 1847

       Dear Col.


A request is made of me by the faculty of Saint College Missouri for all the data respecting my unfortunate and afflicting career during the last 15 months. The circumstances respecting my trial, and pardon by the Executive, in order to make them the subject of a published narrative.


To comply with this request place me in the necessity of troubling you to procure me, from the executive department copies of the petitions to the executive to wit. That of the 4th Street Church Saint Louis – That of the Church in Warrenton – The statement &c. of Col. J. M. Mason and the petition signed by about 1000 of my neighbours & acquaintances residing about Morrisville, Walnut Branch, Greenwich and their surrounding neighborhoods. I do not desire a copy of the names appended to these petitions, except those of the two church petitions which are very few, simply the officers of the churches.


There are other petitions which were laid before the Executive, still more important than the above, but of them I retained copies & of course do not desire them to be copied and sent to me.


Please hand or send the enclosed to William Smith Esq. the Governor. And If it should not be compatible with your entire convenience to attend to the above request please impose the task on Mr. J. W. Tyler or some other friend. Whatever costs may be encountered shall be promptly refunded.








Very Respectfully your friend








     & obedient servant








         T. B. Warder

P. S. If it be in your power to obtain those papers soon please enclose them to me at Buckland.









T. B. W.

(The copies were sent to Col. Smith January 28th 1847)

Brentsville, Va., March 1st 1847

Recommendation for Surveyor of Prince William County

Box 1, Folder #1

Governors Executive Papers – William Smith


In Prince William County Court, March 1st 1847. Present, Jesse Ewell, Benjamin Johnson, George G. Tyler, Albert Norman, George Weedon, Allen Howison, James D. Tennille, John C. Weedon, Seymour Lynn, Charles G. Howison, Silas B. Hunton, Charles E. Norman, James B. T. Thornton, Stewart G. Thornton, Addison H. Saunders, Benoni E. Harrison and Basil Brawner, gentlemen justices.


A Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William County this 1st day of March 1847, for the election of a surveyor for the said County.

CANDIDATES

William W. Monroe



Thomas Chapman

Jesse Ewell




Stewart G. Thornton

Benjamin Johnson



Addison H. Saunders

George G. Tyler




Benoni E. Harrison

Albert Newman




Basil Brawner

George Weedon

Allen Howison

James D. Tennille

John C. Weedon

Seymour Lynn

Charles G. Howison

Silas B. Hunton

Charles E. Norman

James B. T. Thornton

Whereupon, William W. Monroe is nominated to the Executive as a proper person to be commissioned as surveyor of Prince William County.

Brentsville, Va., April 10th 1847

Letter from J. Williams clerk of Prince William

Box 380, Folder #5

Governors Executive Papers – William Smith

       Dear Sir,


By request I herewith enclose the certificates of two County Surveyors as to the qualifications of William W. Monroe who hath been recommended to the Executive by the County Court of Prince William as fit and proper person to be commissioned as County Surveyor for Prince William County; and I am also requested to say that our late county surveyor G. Washington has vacated his office by moving from the State of Virginia to the State of Ohio.







Most Respectfully







      Your Obedient Servant







            J. Williams, clerk of 

              Prince William County Court


I hereby certify that I have this day examine Mr. William W. Monroe of Prince William County, on his theoretical, and practical, knowledge of surveying. I am satisfied with his theoretical knowledge of the art. I believe he requires only practice to make him a good surveyor.

Given under my hand this third day of April 1847


Charles Kemper S. F. C.


Mr. William W. Monroe of Prince William County appeared before me this day and was examined upon the theoretical and practical part of surveying. His theoretical knowledge of the art is satisfactory; He requires only practice to make him a good surveyor.







Given under my hand this third day of April 1847








William Barber S. S. C.

Brentsville, Va. November 7th  1849

Box #393, Folder 1, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd


In Prince William County Court, November 7th 1849. Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William this 7th day of November 1849, for the election of a  proper person to be commissioned as a sheriff of said County of Prince William.

CANDIDATES

Jas. B. T. Thornton


John Fitzhugh


Benjamin Johnson

Benjamin Johnson


Benjamin Johnson

Benjamin Johnson

A. Howison



A. Howison


A. Howison

B. E. Harrison



B. E. Harrison


B. E. Harrison

Whereupon Jas. B. T. Thornton, John Fitzhugh, & Benjamin Johnson are nominated to the executive as, either of whom may be commissioned sheriff of this county.








Teste
J. Williams clerk

Buckland, Prince William County Va. December 20th  1849

Box #393, Folder 1, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

      Mr. D. J. Delaplane


Dear Sir:



   In your letter of the 14th instant, you inform me that you are an applicant for the office of inspector of flour in the city of Richmond, which office will be filled by the Governor in July next, and also that a report that you were a Whig before you removed to Richmond has been circulated, designed to prejudice your claims to that appointment. I am surprised that any one should have been so reckless as to have made such a charge.


It gives me pleasure to state that I have known you ever since you were a mere boy, and that prior to your removal to Richmond you lived with me for a year or two, and that in all that time you were a Democrat, warm, decided and reliable. I have reason to believe that since that period you have been equally earnest and steadfast in the good old cause of Democracy.


It will be a source of much pleasure to me to hear of the success of your application, not only because you have always been a consistent Democrat, but because I have every reason to believe, that if appointed, you would discharge your duties satisfactorily to those interested.








Very respectfully yours, &c.








Charles H. Hunton








Buckland, Prince William County








December 20th 1849

Brentsville, Va. January 17th 1850

Box #394, Folder 2, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agness – Letter

To the Governor

       Sir,


Herewith enclosed I send a copy of the record in the case of “Commonwealth vs Agness: a slave, convicted of murder & sentence to be hung on the 10 May, next. On reading the record you will observe that Agness, alleged that she was with child, & the court being in doubt as to the truth of her allegation put off the day of her execution, till the 10 May, next, so as to ascertain the truth or falsehood of her allegation with certainty, & to give the Executive an opportunity, to postpone her execution further, if it should turn out to be true, that she is with child.








Most respectfully








Your obedient servant








J. Williams

Brentsville, Va. January 17th 1850

Box #400, Folder 1, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes – Trial Transcript

     For the Governor of Virginia


Virginia, Prince William County Court, January 7th 1850. Present at this time, John Fitzhugh, Allen Howison, Seymour Lynn, Basil Brawner and Charles E. Norman, Gentlemen Justices.


The Court proceeded as a Court of Oyer & Terminer to the trial of Agness, a negro woman slave the property of the late Gerard Mason, charged with having willfully, deliberately, maliciously & with malice aforethought, killed and murdered her master Gerard Mason, by striking him repeated blows on the head with an axe. Eppa Hunton & Francis L. Smith Esq. appeared as counsel for the Commonwealth, and the Court assigned Daniel Jasper Esq. counsel for the accused. Whereupon the said Agness was led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff of this County, arraigned & upon her arraignment pleaded not guilty, & for her trial put upon God & this Court. And the Court proceeded to examine sundry witnesses, as well for the Commonwealth as the prisoner, upon consideration whereof the Court are unanimously of opinion that the said Agness is guilty of murder. Therefore it is considered by the court that she be hanged by the neck until she be dead. And thereupon she is remanded to jail & the case is continued over till tomorrow morning 9 o’clock. And in Prince William County Court, January 8th 1850. The court proceeded as a Court of Oyer and Terminer to the trial of Agness, a slave, pursuant to adjournment. Whereupon the said Agness was led to the bar in custody of the jailor of this county, & thereupon the said Agness alleging that she had discovered herself to be with child about five weeks since, & from the inspection of said Agness by the Court, & the statement of several Physicians who had examined her at their request, the Court being still in doubt as to the correctness of the allegation of the prisoner. It is therefore considered & ordered by the Court, that the said Agness be remanded to jail the place from whence she came & there to remain till the day of her execution and from thence taken to the place of execution, on Friday the 10th day of May 1850, between the hours of 10 o’clock in the morning and 4 o’clock in the afternoon of that day. And the court are of the opinion that the said Agness is worth $450. The following is a copy of the evidence taken in this cause, which was ordered to be made a part of the record, to wit: “Commonwealth vs Agness – Testimony of Lewis Weston examined for the Commonwealth; as I was prepared to go to mill Mr. Ragan said if there was any way of going up he would like to go too. I then told one of my sons to go over to Mr. Mason & get his canoe, & if he was not at the house not to go after him but get someone to help push his canoe off so as I might carry a quantity – my son went directly over & found the door of the kitchen open, fire in the house & kitchen, and house shut up & locked, & someone lying there & knowing the customs of the place, & raised the mat at the door.


I goes over with Mr. Ragan after the return of my son, and takes the key from under the mat where it always lay, and unlocked the door & went in & takes the cover & threw it back without touching Mr. Mason, & see him laying there & the blood all around him smoking & Mr. Ragan come & we both pronounced him dead. Then I made my son go after Dr. Saunders, & tell all he saw that Mr. Mason was there murdered dead, & told Mr. Ragan not to touch nothing till others came. Then I was standing on the steps & told my son not to stop to saddle horse, time was short & then I saw three or four negroes coming down the hill. One or two disappeared & only two came down which was the prisoner Agness & Priscilla her mother – then I named to them, when they came down & she Agness spoke to me first & I asked her what made her kill her master. She said what? I ask again – She made very strange of it in a kind of shout & says you don’t say master dead & her mother says Agness you know you have killed your master & what use denying it & Agness then says yea I have killed him. I asked her what did she kill him for – She said her mother had come up after her to get her masters breakfast & she went in there & her master told her something about an axe, why it was not sharp, & then she brought it in & showed him it was not sharp, he her master had taken his gun down & cocked it & made some attempts to shoot her -  in the scuffle she took the gun out of his possession & put it up in the rack, master she said was sitting on the side of the bed when she picked up the axe & struck him - & she found that she had killed him & gave him the second lick – she then put him in bed & put him in the position in which witness found him. Witness is near neighbour to deceased – and frequently was there & when he found body of deceased he was lying in a natural position as if there had been no scuffle. He was lying in bed – the forepart  of the bed was not tumbled – laying in a little hollow with his feet crosswise bed – his feet crossed – his head was lying on one side & the blood was spattered against the wall with much blood under his head – smoking – there was no blood upon the floor when I went – had all his clothes on but his shoes – deceased was lying between the covering as if he had gone to bed – there was no blood on the outside covering nor anywhere else except where the wall was spattered & under his head – there was no appearance in the room of a scuffle – the little supper table was setting at the foot of the bed where the deceased lay with cups &c on it – deceased some time previous had his shoulder mashed & collar bone broken. Witness saw the deceased as above the Wednesday before Christmas. Witness got at the house of deceased short time after 12 m:  Cross examined by accused – Witness sent his son over to house of deceased about 12 o’clock – prisoner said that deceased wanted to handle her & she would not submit to it & with this he took the gun down – she says she took the gun away & put it up – and then she took the axe & killed him. I think prisoner said something about the axe but am not positive – she was in two or three scuffles but took the gun away once, deceased took the gun down cocked it & said he would shoot her – prisoner was told to set there until Dr. Saunders came – there was no counterpane under deceased that I recollect, he was lying on his back with his head on one side – face towards the wall, was dressed in ordinary dress except shoes – had on over coat I judge – it was his habit to lie down with his overcoat on – deceased takes lolls through the day at different times.


Reexamined by the Commonwealth: Saw deceased in the morning across creek about breakfast time probably about eight.








Lewis Weston”


Dr. A. H. Saunders a witness on the part of Commonwealth says Mr. Weston’s little boy came after me on the 19th or 20th December & stated his father had sent for me that Mr. Mason was dead. I went as soon as I could in company with R. Stonnell & Henry Selecman, when I got there I went up to his bed & found Mr. Mason dead with his scull mashed in & blood & brains running out, some of which were some six inches from his head – there was no blood in any other part of the room except on the wall deceased was lying in bed between the covering – shoes off – no blood on outer covering – thinks from the position of body in bed – from the blood & brains, that the blow was received while deceased was in bed – prisoner spoke of having murdered her master and was sorry for it – that deceased had taken down the gun with the avowed intention of shooting her – she took the gun from him and put it up in the rack – before the scuffle for the gun deceased had the axe brought in to see whether it was dull – the axe was setting near the fireplace, he attempted to seize the axe or did seize it – but she took it away before he could use it, & struck him while upon his feet or standing. I asked how it was possible there was no blood on the floor where he was standing, if she struck him there – she said he fell upon the bed – she saw it was all over with him and struck him again. Head was much mashed – I could not make up my mind that there was more than one blow – Bed was six feet from fireplace – accused stated that bed clothes were down towards the foot when deceased fell – deceased was near the bed when struck – accused said that some weeks before the deceased had had her whipped by Abram & she said at that time of the whipping if any one attempted to whip her again she would destroy or kill the person who did it. Abram is negro foreman for deceased she spoke of the cruelty of the whipping & that her master being disabled made Abram whip her – deceased had been severely wounded by a fall of his horse some four or five weeks before his death upon examination I found his shoulder and collar bone broken & shoulder bone dislocated – deceased was still laboring under his disability & four or five days before his death could not raise his right arm or mount his horse without assistance – witness acted as Coroner & summoned a jury of inquest their verdict has been returned to court & will speak for itself.


Cross examined by counsel for accused – accused said deceased took the gun down to shoot her for disobedience in not making fire – she said in excuse the axe was dull, she also spoke of her master wanting to use her & she would not submit to it – accused did not say door was locked with those two in the house – deceased had no regular house servant – on this occasion she said she had just been brought into the house – the other servant having  run away the evening before.

A. H. Saunders”

T. M. Gossom, witness for Commonwealth – says I stayed at house of deceased the night before his death – in the  morning he got up a little before day & I asked why he got up so soon he said he wanted to go on the hill where his servants were & asked me to go – I said I was unwell & did not want to go – he said get up & put on your young legs & go – I said I would – I put on my clothes – there was whiskey in  the decanter and deceased said I must drink with him and deceased went into the cellar and drew more whiskey – He got the sugar and I think we drank twice – I told him I wanted to go but he would not consent – I looked out of the door and saw mother of accused and He told her to come up and she came up I then went home & left them talking together – deceased was a little intoxicated he had drank three times before I left. I went over to Mr. Mason’s after his death, body of deceased was lying or inclining on right side – saw no blood on the counterpane, two blankets & sheet that were over body – and there was no blood or appearance of blood in any part of the room except on the wall opposite his face and on the pillow underneath his head. I asked accused why she killed her master she said she did not intend to do it but found he was killed and thought she would give another lick to put him out of his misery – I said Agness why did you kill your master when you was able to do anything with him she pleased she said she did not intend to hit him so hard – she said he had attempted to shoot her & she had taken the gun from him and put it up in the rack & then he got hold of the axe and she took it from him & struck him with it – while standing – deceased was still suffering from the fall of his horse & complained of ill health.

Cross examined by counsel for accused – accused said deceased wanted to use her & that she brought the axe for her master to see whether it was dull – accused was not regular house servant – said deceased was standing when she struck him & that he fell on the bed – she said she put deceased under the bed clothes & covered him up as he was found – no appearance of blood as if he had been moved & all the blood was on under bed clothes – no counterpane under him.








Thomas M. Gossom”

Richard Stonnell Jr. witness for Commonwealth: says I went down with Dr. Saunders & met with several servants belonging to Mr. Mason and Dr. Saunders asked questions about the murder of their master – when I reached the house the accused was sitting on the steps crying – Dr. Saunders, I think asked her something about the murder of her master, she told how she did it and why she did it – she said deceased had required her to bring in the axe and asked a dammed bitch why she did not have the axe ground – she said deceased attempted to turn up her clothes & whip her & she resisted saying she was no child to be whipped in that way – He told her then, she should not serve him if he could not correct her and accused replied she did not wish to serve him – he went and took the gun twice and accused took it away each time. He then got hold of the axe and she took that away and struck him with it & knocked him on the side of the bed & finding she had wounded him so bad that he would not recover she struck him again & finished him – deceased was lying in bed as if he had laid there to sleep & the appearance of the bed was the same, & his feet were wrapped up – In turning up the bed clothing I found his shoes off & something wrapped round his feet, I think from the bed clothing deceased could not have walked with that wrapping round his feet – There was no blood in the room except on the wall and round his head – There was a mixture of blood and brains spattered on the wall also on the axe.


Cross examined by counsel for accused – The axe with blood was found in the hands of Bill cutting wood – did not understand that accused said deceased wanted to use her – did not hear accused say that bed clothes were turned down, when she struck deceased – can’t say positively that wrapping round feet of deceased was separate from bedclothes but it appeared to be.









Richard Stonell Jr.”


Richard Atkinson for Commonwealth – says that last Tuesday I went to jail with young Mr. Mason who called up accused and asked her if she had killed her master – she said yes – He asked her where he was standing when she struck him – she said on the floor near the bed – she said she killed him the first blow – accused said when she struck deceased the blood gushed out at first blow.


Cross examination by counsel for accused – There was no threat on the part of young Mason or any undue means made use of to obtain the testimony.









Richard Atkinson”


Ben negro slave property of the late G. Mason, witness for Commonwealth says shucking corn time accused said if her master laid his hands on her she would knock him in the head with a club – Agness, Eliza, & himself was present – Witness was not present when murder was committed.


Cross examined by counsel for accused – Eliza is about as large as accused – accused gave no reason for the threat but said if he was to beat her she would knock him in the head – Milly was there also, she is smaller than witness.


Hugh Hammill witness for accused says – I went to G. Mason’s soon after he was killed – went in & looked at deceased & took hold of his collar and raised him up – lying mostly on his back, inclined a little to the right – his hands lay across his breast & his feet crossed – Mr. Selecman & witness got there next after Weston, his head seemed mush mashed & his ear drove in & knocked loose round the socket – I saw accused & asked her why she murdered deceased she said, he had taken the gun maybe twice & cocked it to shoot her – she had taken it away & put it up – she said he sent her out to cut wood & she stayed too long for him, he asked her why she stayed – she said the axe was dull – He told her to bring the axe & said that was a pretty axe, when there was a grindstone on the place – she said she could not grind it herself – He wanted to turn up her clothes and take privilege with her, she told him she was too old for that now – he got hold of the axe & swore he would kill her & she caught hold of it too & took it away & struck him – but had no thought of killing him, but after she saw how badly she had hurt him she thought she would strike him again & finish him – at the first blow she said he fell on the bed – she covered him up locked the door & went after her mother – she says mother told her to go & let Mr. Weston know and not run off – the next day at the inquest there was much contention whether he was struck on the bed or standing – I went to accused & asked her why there was no blood on the floor & outer covering – she said he fell on the bed & she covered him with the bed clothes which were turned down some of them on the floor, the bed has not been made up just as he got out of it – she said she was the only one concerned and no one else had anything to do with it – she said there were one or two pretty severe scuffles about the gun – and witness saw several scratches on the cheek and jaw & under the chin of deceased – deceased was at witnesses shop evening before and witness saw no scratches then – witness told accused if anyone else was concerned in it, she had better come out & till all about it, that she might become evidence & save her from being hung.


Cross examination by Commonwealth Attorney – The scratches seemed to be fresh and not done by shaving – they seemed to be done with finger nails – The blood had caked upon face of deceased – I noticed these scratches more particularly after he was shaved.


Re-examination by Counsel for accused – deceased was at witnesses shop evening before his death – He came to put a band on & spring in flask & took hold of me, pulling me about as he generally did, when drinking – complained of having discharged blood & was injured in a fall some time before, but was getting better – He caught hold of me with both hands – saw no difference in either hand, but he made no great exertion.









Hugh Hamill ”



Teste
J. Williams

29th April 1850 – It is again advised that the Executive do not interfere: - If, however, it should hereafter be shewn, by evidence filed previous to the day of execution, that this woman is pregnant, or believed to be so, then it is advised that she be reprieved from time to time, until that fact is established, and if established so, until one month after her delivery, and no longer.







Reprieved until 19th of July 1850







J. B. Floyd – April 30

(The following written at the end of document) 

Received January 22nd 1850

Convict declares herself pregnant

Day of execution May 10th 

Advised that the execution do not interfere with the sentence of the court

April 19, 1850 wrote to sheriff to state whether convict appears to be pregnant

April 30th 1850 respited to 19th July

July 16th 1850 no further interference

Brentsville, Va. March  1850

Box #397, Folder 1, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes – Letter

To the Governor

       Sir,


We the subscribing citizens of Prince William and adjacent Counties being of opinion from the peculiar circumstances attending the homicide of Mr. Gerard Mason that the extreme penalty of the law should not be inflicted upon the negro woman, Agnes under sentence of death for the same, do earnestly present the case to the attention of the Executive, and recommend that the punishment be changed to transportation. Given under our hands March 1850

A. P. Lynn



Isaiah Fisher


H. H. Davis

Wileman Thomas



G. W. Clifford


James Norman

Lucien B. Lynn



J. E. Weems Jr.


Thos. J. Smoot

Thomas Pettit



Craven Peake


Caleb F. Stone

Perez Richmond



Wm. W. Avery


Minor Maxfield

Henry R. Avery



Isaac Newton Lynn

John W. Chapman

Lewis Carney



Charles E. Keys


T. W. Tansill

Jno Matthews



Benjamin F. Thomas

Nelson Hammond

Thomas G. Waring


Hugh Hammill


__ Suddath

Robert Beach



Lewis Pearson


Enoch Fair

M. A. Simmons



Wilemon Cornwell

William H. Duvall

Jos. Janney



John H. Janney


Ahikam Westerman

John Towles



Joseph C. Brown


William Ragan

William Frazer



Moses Mathews


Samuel Davis

James Gray



James Maddox


William Cleary

Brentsville, Va. March 1850

Box #397, Folder 1, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes – Letter

To his Excellency, John Floyd Governor of Virginia

       Sir,


We the subscribing citizens of Prince William and adjacent Counties being of opinion from the peculiar circumstances attending the homicide of Mr. Gerard Mason that the extreme penalty of the law should not be inflicted upon the negro woman, Agnes under sentence of death for the same, do earnestly present the case to the attention of the Executive, and recommend that the punishment be changed to transportation. Given under our hands March 1850

__ Weedon


Wm. Edward Lipscomb

Robert C. Leachman

L. Lynn



H. P. Carter


Wm. W. Monroe

J. E. ______


Dade Hooe


Thos. N. Carter

J. D. Hooe


Basil Cole


Redmon Foster

Jno S. Storke


Joseph J. Cockrell

George W. Tennille

Geo. F. Carney


William B. Brawner

John Gray

Edwin Gaines


Richard W. Weedon

John H. Austin

Wm. G. Austin


James M. P. Newby

Edward Shepherd


Gro. M - -_on

Brentsville, March 22nd 1850

Box #397, Folder 1, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes – Letter

To the Governor

       Sir,


We the subscribing members of the bar of Prince William County being of opinion from the peculiar circumstances attending the homicide of Mr. Gerard Mason that the extreme penalty of the law should not be inflicted upon the negro woman, Agnes under sentence of death for the same, do earnestly present the case to the attention of the Executive, and recommend that the punishment be changed to transportation. Given under our hands March 1850








John Luttrell








John P. Phillips








J. C. Moncure








M. B. Sinclair








(signature not legible)








B. Ward








Gilbert P. Minor








Thomas M. Monroe








Saml. Chilton








B. Tebbs Jr.

Brentsville, Prince William County Va. April 2nd  1850

Box #399, Folder 1, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes – Letter

To the Governor

       Sir,


The undersigned are justices of the peace for the County of Prince William and respectfully represent to your Excellency that we were of the court who set on the trial of a negro slave (Agnes) charged with killing her master Gerard Mason, we further represent to your Excellency that from the evidence and circumstances in the case, we passed sentence of death against her, under a thorough conviction, that she committed the murder willful and premeditated, whilst he was in bed, and the strong presumption asleep, we deem it our duty thus to represent the case to you, because a petition is in circulation (which have been signed by a number of persons from other counties and by many who did not hear the trial,) asking your interposition, we cannot believe it such a case as will justify interference on the part of the executive.







We are very respectfully yours








Basil Brawner

A. Howison

John Fitzhugh

Occoquan, Prince William County Va. April 19th 1850

Box #399, Folder 3, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes – Letter

To the Governor

       Sir,


In the case of negro woman Agnes now under sentence of death for May 10 in this county I have to state to you that a petition now being signed by many citizens for a change of the punishment to transportation and I very respectfully request that no decision by the Executive be made in her case until the petition and other documents shall be by me presented in person about 26 or 27 inst.








Very respectfully








Jos. Janney

Brentsville, Va. April 25th 1850

Box #400, Folder 2, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanan Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes - Letter

To William H. Richardson Esq., Secretary of the Commonwealth, Richmond, Va.

      Dear Sir, 


Your communication was received by the last mail and I embrace the first opportunity to answer it. I have endeavored (as far as practicable ) to investigate the situation of Agnes in regard to pregnancy and although some of the symptoms would authorize the belief that such was not her condition yet I would be very unwilling to say that there was wanting others which would lead to that conclusion from her own statement pregnancy has advanced about four and half months and so great is the uncertainty of the symptoms at that stage that I think much caution should be exercised in the expedition of any desired opinion when so much (as I concur) is at stake.


You will clearly perceive from the above remarks that there are doubts on my mind on the subject of Agnes’s condition.







Very respectfully your obedient servant








Jas. B. T. Thornton, sheriff








    of Prince William County & M.D.

Brentsville, Va. May 4th 1850

Box #411, Folder 3, Accession # B1055892

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanon Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes - Letter

To His Excellency John B. Floyd, Governor of Virginia, Richmond, Va.

      Dear Sir, 


I was much surprised to learn from Mr. Janney that you had not received any communication from this place in regard to the situation of Agnes. Immediately upon receipt of the letter of Mr. Richardson I called upon Dr. James B. T. Thornton our high sheriff and a physician of regular practice & good standing to examine Agnes and make of an opinion  upon her alleged pregnancy. Dr. Thornton made two cervical examinations and wrote to Mr. Richardson immediately embodying his opinion therein. He sustained that his opinion is that while some of the symptoms indicate a state of pregnancy others were wanting to justify a positive conclusion that she was so.  But due to the circumstance of the case it was extremely hazardous to venture an opinion that she was not pregnant and of course without child. I hope you will act on this case immediately as the day of execution is next Friday, Please send an answer Tuesday next that it may be sure to reach us.








Yours very respectfully








G. W. Clifford








Jailor, Prince William County

Brentsville, Va. July 11th  1850

Box #411, Folder 1, Accession # B1055893

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Buchanon Floyd

Commonwealth vs Agnes - Letter

To His Excellency John B. Floyd, Governor of Virginia, Richmond, Va.

      Dear Sir, 


In reply to a letter received yesterday from Mr. Richardson. I would state that the prisoner Agnes was mistaken in regard to her situation. She was very much swollen all the winter & spring & Dr. Thornton (who examined her) says it is very natural that she should have come to the conclusion that she was pregnant, indeed it was the opinion of all who saw her at that time, but now the swelling has left her, it is evident she is not in that situation.









Very respectfully









G. W. Clifford









Jailor of Prince William County

Brentsville, Va. November 5th  1851

Box #411, Folder 1, Accession # B1055893

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Joseph Johnson


In Prince William County Court, November 5th 1851. Poll taken by the County Court of Prince William this 5th day of November 1851, for the election of a  proper person to be commissioned as a sheriff of said County of Prince William.

CANDIDATES

John Fitzhugh



Benjamin Johnson

George G. Tyler

Jas B. T. Thornton


Jas B. T. Thornton

Jas B. T. Thornton

A. Howison



A. Howison


A. Howison

Charles G. Howison


Charles G. Howison

Charles G. Howison

B. E. Harrison



B. E. Harrison


B. E. Harrison

Whereupon John Fitzhugh, Benjamin Johnson and George G. Tyler are nominated to the executive, either of whom may be commissioned sheriff of this county.








Teste
J. Williams clerk

Brentsville, Va. February 23rd 1852

Box #411, Folder 1, Accession # B1055893

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Joseph Johnson

To Joseph Johnson Esq., Governor of Virginia, Richmond, Va.

      Dear Sir, 


Our present High Sheriff has been in office one year & recommended at the November Court last, a copy of which recommendation was sent to you, by mail, but the said Sheriff’s commission has not come to hand – permit me to enquire, whether it is necessary for him to be commissioned again, or will he hold over under the new constitution & schedule – please send us an answer by our next court, which sets next week (in haste)





very respectfully









J. Williams C.C.

Brentsville, Va. May 6th 1854

Accession # B1055893

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Joseph Johnson

Nominations for two coroners in Prince William County


Poll taken by County Court of Prince William County this 2nd day of May 1854 for the election of two coroners for the county, the court being of opinion that two coroners are necessary.

Candidates

James D. Tennille





George G. Tyler

Leymon Lynn






Leymon Lynn

Benoni E. Harrison





Benoni E. Harrison

Edwin Gaines






Edwin Gaines

George H. Cockrell





George H. Cockrell

Levi C. Lynn






Levi C. Lynn

Candidates

George F. Carney






Hector Kincheloe

Leymon Lynn






Leymon Lynn

Benoni E. Harrison





Benoni E. Harrison

Edwin Gaines






Edwin Gaines

George H. Cockrell





George H. Cockrell

Levi C. Lynn






Levi C. Lynn

Whereupon the Court doth recommend to the executive James D. Tennille and George G. Tyler for the 3rd and 4th District of said County and George F. Carney & Hector Kincheloe for the 1st and second District of said County as fit and proper persons to be commissioned to execute the office of coroner within this county. George W. Clifford lately commissioned coroner removed from county.









Teste
P. D. Lipscomb, clerk

Occoquan, Va. June 29th  1854

Box #421, Folder 2, Accession # B1055893

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Joseph Johnson

To George W. Meneford Esq., Richmond

       Sir,


I enclose to you several certificates about ten days ago, the object of which was to draw upon the communication to find amount coming to the Company I command. Not having heard from them and feeling uneasiness about them I hope you will pardon me for again troubling you for this that, you will write me immediately and let me know if you have yet received said certificates also receipt for freight upon guns.







And very much oblige








Yours respectfully









Isaiah Fisher

(On the back of the above document letter – “Capt. Isaiah Fisher writing from Occoquan, Prince William County has not received a letter he expected from the Secy. Comm. July 3, 1854 – Informed of the Secy. absence & that the Secy’s letter of June 26th directed to him at Brentsville probably contains the information he sought – requested to enquire at that office & inform the Secy. of the result.”)

LaGrange near Thoroughfare, Prince William County

Thursday, February 1st 1855

Box #425, Folder 2, Accession # B1055893

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Joseph Johnson

His Excellency, Joseph Johnson

       Sir;


To day for the first time, though I have been a justice nearly twenty years, the duty devolved on me to hold an inquest on the body of a man who was shot in the breast with a rifle on the afternoon of the 30th ult: and died of the wound made by the ball from the rifle in about twenty four hours after the ball entered the right side of the breast. The hole in the breast of the body and the evidence received by the jurors and myself make it clear and can determine that one William J. Sinclair held in his hands and discharged the rifle which placed the ball in the right breast of the body examined. I don’t deem it necessary to advent to or trouble you with the particulars, except to say the murdered man’s name was James Hewitt and that he was murdered in the yard of an unlawful grazing which at the moment was shut up and when none was present except the murderer and the murdered, his son a youth under natural age and one other man and the man and  youth was at the moment the rifle was discharged some five to ten steps from the murderer, who seeing the man and youth advancing on him ran off and being at the base of the Bull Run Mountain soon reached it and has not been seen or heard of to the knowledge of any who attended the examination since that is all who were present at the examination said they had not seen or heard of him since. The murderer William J. Sinclair as the verdict of the Inquest make him, is a young man from thirty to thirty five years of age, nearly or quite six feet high, long muscular arms and legs, quite a strong man, not corpulent, but stout, light hair and it is thought gray eyes, if any notable mark, none who I have spoken with respecting recollect. If it is your province to make proclamation and offer a reward on the certificate of a justice or coroner. I hope on receipt you will offer as much for the apprehension of the said William J. Sinclair as the law authorized, and I __ you (and shall certify all I have and shall say as justice) many members of the Jury and every spectator present united with me, except one, the unhappy Father of the said Sinclair. This is not the first act of this kind perpetrated by said Sinclair, some few years since he shot the husband of his sister in one of his arms, making him an invalid forever, and as it said would have been killed had not he had a bundle of goods he purchased at store in his hands. Which and his arm shaded his breast.







To all the forgoing I certify.

B. E. Harrison, J. P. 

for Prince William County

Brentsville, Va.  July 5th 1856

Box #3,  Folder 5, Accession # 36710, Reel #4196

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Henry Wise

George W. Mumford Esq.

     Dear Sir:


I received, thro mail, twenty one copies of the last Session Acts of the General Assembly of Virginia, and yesterday – The Commissions for the Justices came safely to hand.








Respectfully









P. D. Lipscomb, clerk

Richmond, Va.  July 5th 1856

Daniel Delaplane -Testimonials

Box #4,  Folder 4, Accession # 36710, Reel #4196

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Henry Wise

Testimonials furnished Daniel S. Delaplane of Qualifications for the Office of Flour Inspector – Falmouth and Coty of Richmond. 

I have been well acquainted with Mr. Daniel S. Delaplane for the last ten or twelve years, a portion of which time he was a student of mine at the New Baltimore Academy.

I have entire confidence in him, as a young gentleman of sobriety, industry and moral rectitude, and one who would not undertake a business for which he did not believe himself qualified. As to his qualifications for a flour inspector, of course I cannot speak positively, as I am not possessed of such qualifications myself; but I can say he has had the best opportunity for the acquirement of such qualifications, his father being one of our best millers, and his son, the subject of this recommendation, having been engaged with him a considerable time in that business.








John Ogilvie








New Baltimore, Fauquier County








March 22, 1842


I have been intimately acquainted with Mr. Daniel S. Delaplane for about three years. I hesitate not to say I consider him one of the most skillful millers of my acquaintance, possessing every qualification requisite and necessary for the office of flour inspector.









James L. Anderson









Fredericksburg, Braganza Mills









March 29, 1842


At the request of Mr. Daniel S. Delaplane, I take pleasure in stating that I have been acquainted with him ever since he came to this place to act as principal miller for Mr. Joseph B. Ficklen, and that so far as I know or believe, his conduct has been most correct and exemplary. His character as a practical miller stands very high, and as a judge of flour, few are thought to be his superior; and if the justices of the county court of Stafford should think it proper to displace the present inspector in this place, I am decidedly under the impression Mr. Delaplane would make a good inspector and perform the duties satisfactorily.









Murry Forbes









Falmouth, April 2, 1842

To the Justices of Stafford County.

      Gentlemen,


Understanding that Mr. Daniel S. Delaplane is a candidate for the office of flour inspector in the town of Falmouth, and having been requested to give my opinion as to his capacity, &c., I take pleasure in stating that Mr. Delaplane was raised in about two miles of my residence in the County of Prince William, and has always been esteemed as a meritorious, industrious and exemplary young man. He has the benefit of his father’s instructions and experience as a miller, who is decidedly the best miller I know and a first rate judge of flour; and I have no doubt if Mr. Delaplane should receive the appointment, that he will give entire satisfaction to all interest concerned,







I am very respectfully your obedient servant








John W. Tyler








      April 3rd 1842


Mr. Delaplane has been in my employment as deputy inspector for more than two years, in which capacity he has acquitted himself with great ability; and I cannot doubt, from his experience and business qualifications, he would be found perfectly competent to fill the office contemplated.








John England








Flour Inspector

 Dear Sir,


Having been informed that in the event the appointing power shall decide not to confer the appointment of flour inspector for Richmond upon the present incumbent, and in that event alone, you wish to be considered a candidate for the place, and having been asked to express my estimate of you, I with great pleasure comply with that request.


With the special duties of the office my line of life has given me no opportunity of acquaintance, and I can therefore say nothing more as to your qualifications for them, save that I have understood your occupations have for many years been such as peculiarly to fit you for it.


As to your intelligence, integrity, business habits, gentlemanly bearing, &c., it is with great pleasure that I express my high estimate of them, and declare my full belief that any trust which may be conferred upon and assumed by you will be most faithfully discharged.








Truly yours, &c.








John S. Caskie


I have know Mr. Daniel S. Delaplane for several years, and consider him a sober and industrious young man, and attentive to his business. Having been employed, I presume, the greater part of his life as a practical miller, he is of course a good judge of flour and every way well qualified to discharge the duties of flour inspector.








William C. Beale








Fredericksburg, August 23, 1842

       Dear Sir,


I duly received your favor of the 24th instant, and note contents. In reply I have to say, that from my knowledge of the opportunities you have enjoyed of acquiring a knowledge of flour and its manufacture, I have no doubt that you are entirely qualified to execute the duties of flour inspector at Falmouth or any other place with judgment and correctness.


I also take pleasure in saying, that after having known you from your early youth I believe your moral character to be unexceptionable, and that if you should be appointed to the office you seek, your decisions would be as uniformly just as would those of any other person. I am not aware that my recommendation will have the least weight, as my acquaintance in Falmouth is very limited, but you have my best wishes for success of your application for the office of flour inspector.








I remain, yours respectfully,








Thomas Smith








Buckland (Prince William County)








August 31st 1842

     Mr. D. S. Delaplane

          Dear Sir,


   In your letter of the 14th instant, you inform me that you are an applicant for the office of inspector of flour in the city of Richmond, which office will be filled by the Governor in July next, and also that a report that you were a Whig before you removed to Richmond has been circulated, designed to prejudice your claims to that appointment. I am surprised that any one should have been so reckless as to have made such a charge.


It gives me pleasure to state that I have known you ever since you were a mere boy, and that prior to your removal to Richmond you lived with me for a year or two, and that in all that time you were a Democrat, warm, decided and reliable. I have reason to believe that since that period you have been equally earnest and steadfast in the good old cause of Democracy.


It will be a source of much pleasure to me to hear of the success of your application, not only because you have always been a consistent Democrat, but because I have every reason to believe, that if appointed, you would discharge your duties satisfactorily to those interested.








Very respectfully yours, &c.








Charles H. Hunton








Buckland, Prince William County








December 20th 1849

University of Virginia, January 12th 1857

Box #6, Accession #36710, Reel #4201, pages 0595, 0596

Virginia Governors Papers – Henry A. Wise


Pardon me, My Dear Sir, for writing to you on a subject which may be entirely beyond your jurisdiction but the urgency of the case demands it. 


You know that to study anatomy without subjects for demonstration is so fruitless as Geometry without diagrams & this is our case just now.  There has been so unusual dearth of Medical subjects. This session both here & in Richmond, but more particularly our object in writing you is to obtain, if possible, an order from you for the bodies of some negroes who will be hung on the 18th prox. In Prince William County, Virginia. I would be very much indebted to you. If you will let me know whether it is possible to succeed in this enterprise in which I have the hearty co-operation of our whole class & thou our professors are not aware of it. I’ve no doubt they too would favour our request.


If we obtain your permission the bodies will be brought either by a committee of medical students or someone who we can trust.


Pardon me for troubling you with so extraordinary a matter, but I hope that your regard for this institution will ensure your permission.









Very truly your obedient servant.









T. R. Roberts

Address  T. R. R.   University of Virginia

Brentsville, Va.  January 26th  1857

Box #6,  Folder 4, Accession # 36710, Reel #4200, pages 0311, 0312

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Henry Wise


It is hereby certified that we James G. Draney and George W. Mitchell officers who conducted an election held on the 24th day of January 1857, in our County of Prince William and in district No. 3 by the votes of said district, qualified according to law, caused to be  chosen a justice of the peace of said district to supply the vacancy caused by the resignation of William Brawner a justice of the said district, namely Lewis B. Butler to act  as a justice of the peace in said district and county and that the said Lewis B. Butler was duly elected according to law.






Given under our hands the 26th day of January 1857







James G. Draney







G. W. Mitchell


Teste
P. D. Lipscomb

Brentsville, Va.  January 26th  1857

Box #6,  Folder 7, Accession # 36710, Reel #4198, pages 0663 - 0675

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Henry Wise

Commonwealth vs Nelly & Others


Pleas at the Court House of Prince William County before the County Court of said County on Tuesday the 6th day of January 1857. Be it remembered that at this time same term to wit at a court held for the County on Monday the 5th day of January in the year 1857.


Present, Seymour Lynn, John C. Weedon, William W. Thornton, John Underwood and John B. Grayson, gentlemen justices.


The Court proceeded as a Court of Oyer and Terminer, to the trial of Nelly, Betsy, James, Elias and Ellen, negro slaves the property of the late George E. Green, charged with having willfully deliberately and with malice aforethought killed and murdered the said George E. Green, on the night of the 24th December 1856. Eppa Hunton Commonwealths Attorney appeared as counsel for the Commonwealth and the Court assigned Charles E. Sinclair Esq. as Counsel for the Prisoner Nelly; Douglass Tyler Esq. as counsel for the prisoner Betsy; Nathaniel Tyler Esq. as counsel for the prisoner James; J. M. Forbes Esq. as counsel for the prisoner Elias; and John P. Philips Esq. as counsel for the prisoner Ellen. Whereupon the said Nelly, Betsy, James, Elias and Ellen, were led to the bar in custody of the sheriff of this county, arraigned and upon their arraignment pleaded not guilty and for their trial put themselves upon God and this Court. And the court proceeded to examine George B. Tyler one of the witnesses for the Commonwealth whereupon the said trial was continued until tomorrow morning 10 o’clock.


And now at this day to wit. At a county court held for the said County of Prince William at the Court House on the same day and year first herein mentioned to wit on Tuesday the 6th day of January 1857.


Present, Seymour Lynn, John C. Weedon, William W. Thornton, John Underwood and John B. Grayson, gentlemen justices.


The Court according to adjournment proceeded to the trial of Nelly, Betsy, James, Elias and Ellen, negro slaves the property of the late George E. Green, charged with having willfully, deliberately and with malice aforethought killed and murdered the said George E. Green on the night of the 24th of December 1856. The said Nelly, Betsy, James, Elias, and Ellen were again led to the bar in custody of the sheriff of this county and the court proceeded to examine sundry other witnesses for the Commonwealth.


On consideration whereof the court is unanimously of opinion that the said Nelly, Betsy, James, Elias and Ellen are guilty of the murder wherewith they stand charged and it being demanded of them, if anything they had or knew to say why the court here to judgment and execution against them of and upon the premises should not proceed, they having said nothing why the court should not proceed to judgment and execution. Therefore it is considered by the Court that they the said Nelly, Betsy, James, Elias and Ellen be each hanged, until they be dead and that execution of this judgment be made & done upon them the said Nelly, Betsy, James, Elias and Ellen by the sheriff of this county on Friday the thirteenth day of February next between the hours of 10 0clock in the morning and 4 o’clock of the afternoon of that day.


And thereupon the said Nelly, Betsy, James, Elias and Ellen are remanded to jail, the place from whence they came and there to remain till the day of their execution, and from thence taken to the place of execution and hanged until they are dead on the day and between the hours aforesaid.


And the Court are of opinion that the said Nelly is worth nothing; the said Betsy is worth $300.00 the said James is worth $800.00 the said Elias is worth $600.00 and the said Ellen is worth $500.00. 


The Court also directs that each of the counsel aforesaid by the Court to defend the prisoners be allowed the sum of twenty five dollars to be paid by the administrator of George E. Green deceased. The following was the evidence taken in this cause, to wit; Commonwealth vs Nelly, James, Betsy, Ellen and Elias. George B. Tyler for the Commonwealth being sworn says one of my women told me Mr. Green’s house was on fire. I went over as soon as I could – on the way I met prisoner Elias – I asked him where Mr. Green was – he replied he was in the house – I asked why Mr. Green could not get out of the house – he said he did not know – when I got there I saw five or six of my boys there – some two or three of Mr. Hutchison’s and two or three of Luther Lynn’s – I ask them if Mr. Green was out and one of my boys Peter pointed to him in the flames. I saw him in the flames myself as soon as I reached the house – I saw the prisoner Nelly and asked her how the house caught five – she said she did not know that some of them were asleep and the others on the bed and when she came out the house was falling in – I staid then some hour or so – in a few minutes Mr. Luther Lynn and G. A. Hutchison came – We all left after staying some hour or two with the agreement to meet there next morning – went over next morning about nine o’clock – a good many persons met there – some twenty perhaps – Mr. Lynn went up to where the remains of Mr. Green lay and found his keys and watch and we concluded he was burned while dressed and that he was murdered – Soon after I heard there were traces of blood, leading from the house, we traced it some 150 or 200 yards, we found a place where there seemed to have been a scuffle and we concluded he had been murdered there – There was more blood there – we then questioned the prisoners about it. Mr. Norris told Jim he was the murderer – Jim said he did not do it. Jim had a cut in the top of his head – they searched the house and found a jacket which the old woman said was Jim’s or Elias’s it was cut in several places and covered with blood – the jacket was then put on Jim and fit him and fit over a cut Jim had in his back – the cut in the jacket being right over the cut in his back – could not tell whether the cut in the back was made with an axe or a knife – thought at first it was a knife – I was one of the jury of inquest and we took the prisoners out separately to question them about it – Asked old Nelly first . Dr. Ewell conducted the inquest and swore the prisoner as witnesses (Counsel for defense object to this testimony) Dr. Ewell asked Nelly to tell all she knew about the murder of Mr. Green – She said they had done it;  meaning the  five prisoners, that he was a bad master and they were tired living with him – she said  the other four prisoners went in to the house and caught him – she said at first she struck with something she did not know what finally said it was an axe – She then said the deceased got up and ran off out of the house – they pursued him with shovels, axe and sticks till they killed him – as he was going out of the house he got the axe from her and I think said he struck Jim with the axe – after killing him they dragged him back put him in the house and set fire to it – said nothing about what occurred in their house before they went in to make the attack – We then called on Jim – I think he said substantially what Old Nelly had said. Betsy was then called she knew nothing about it – Ellen said the same thing – Elias said substantially what Nelly and Jim had said – All these prisoners were sworn before being examined 


CROSS EXAMINED – Met Elias about half way between my house and Mr. Green’s – said he was coming to let me know of the fire – I live about half mile from decedent and in sight. I hear Ellen and Elias are twins, don’t know their ages. I would think they were not over fourteen years of age – each one of the female prisoners had blood on their dresses – would not say positively as to Ellen but believe there was – When I saw the body in the flames it seem to be burnt up – saw the skeleton – could not recognize it as the body of Mr. Green or tell whether it was a white or black man – no mark on the skeleton by which it could be recognized – The flesh was all burnt off the bodies – when I first saw it – found the remains of a watch and a key – the key fitted the meat house door of decedent  - it was about 8 ½ o’clock P. M. on the twentyfourth December I first saw the fire – sent my boy Peter to go for the neighbors he took Elias with him.







Geo. B. Tyler


Luther Lynn being sworn says on evening of 24th December I had gone to bed my wife discovered the fire she waked me up. I discovered it was at Mr. Greens – got my horse and started over there and had got 2 or 300 yards and met Mr. Tyler’s boy and prisoner Elias coming after me they told me the house was burned down and Mr. Green burned in it – When I got there I found  Mr. Green burned in it – When I got there I found Mr. Tyler, Mr. Hutchison and some negroes belonging to us three – they pointed to the remains of the body the house had burned down then – the prisoner Nelly was out at the burning house. I asked her if she had gone to bed – said she had not – when she discovered the fire the roof was about falling in – ask her if she heard her Master holler – she said no – Did not see Jim, Betsy, and Ellen that night – don’t think they came out of the cabin that night while I was there – we concluded to go home that night and meet there next morning at ten o’clock – Thought from the situation of the body something was wrong. The body was not in his usual sitting room but in a shed part of the house where he had his cooking done. He could not have gotten into this shed room from his sitting room except through a window without going out doors – this shed room had one out door – his sitting room had two doors – one an outdoor, the other leading into a room having two outdoors. When I reached Mr. Green’s next morning found some twenty persons there – found the dogs or something had turned the remains of the body round some three feet – found his back bone – part of his head – his hips and shoulders and his entrails – all connected together – upon scratching about in the ashes where he lay found his meat house and bureau keys, watch, suspender buckles, and buttons off his clothes – I told several that something was wrong – he had evidently not gone to bed and would have gone out of doors when the house took fire – I recognized the watch by the chain as the watch of George E. Green the case and crystal had melted out of shape – I tried the large key in the meat house door and it fit it – some one of the company on looking round found traces of blood leading from the house towards the barn – we followed it down towards the gate some 150 yards within ten yards of the gate – there we found a place where something had been butchered – there were traces of a struggle and a good deal of blood. There was no puddle of blood but traces of blood scattered about – found corn stalks over the fence covered with blood as if they had been removed from the place of scuffle – found no weapons at this place. We then discovered traces as if the body had been dragged from this place back towards the house, there were marks of blood on each side of the lane in several places between that place and the house – some one of the company took prisoner Nelly and carried her down to the spot where the scuffle seemed to have occurred, was not present – think Beverly Hutchison and Robert Lewis took her down – asked old Nelly what she struck her master with – she said with an axe – asked her to get it – she went under the bed and got it – this axe (now in court) is the one – the axe was very bloody – the axe and the helm covered with blood as if you had been butchering something with it – no mark of brains on the axe – This Jacket (now in court) was found under another bed in same house which was an out house where the prisoners slept – I asked Nelly whose jacket this was – she said Jim’s who admitted it was his. I made him take off the one he had on and put on this – when he took off his jacket I found his shirt and his shoulders cut and his shirt bloody – found that the hole in this jacket fit just over the cut in his shirt and with blood. The blood on the jacket I suppose came from a wound in Jim’s head about two inches long obliquely across the crown of his head it went to the bone I suppose – I examined the clothes of all the prisoners and they were more or less bloody except Elias, don’t think there was any blood on his – there was found a jacket which was said to be his on which there was blood – about the sleeves – Elias was not there at that time was about the right size for Elias – Nelly is the mother of Betsy – Betsy the mother of Jim, Ellen and Elias – Have understood from the deceased the two last are twins – I asked Elias how they came to kill their master – He said he was such a bad master they could not live with him and concluded to kill him – The four Betsy, Jim, Ellen and Elias were to go in and tie him and Nelly was to come in and knock him in the head – said when they went in he was lying down before the fire, all four jumped on him and commenced tying him – got him partially tied and Nelly came in and struck him with the axe and by some means he got loose and got axe from her, got out of the house – went off in the direction when they killed him – there were several bruises on the yard gate which I asked him to explain – he said his master was striking at them with the axe and struck the gate – his master got off and went down to the place where they killed him they then dragged him back put him in the shed room and set fire to the house. They then took Elias off before the inquest their sitting – ask him how they killed their master – he said he used a shovel chiefly – sometimes a piece of nail with which he helped the others to kill him, that he put the shovel and piece of nail in the burning house, found a shovel in the ashes next morning covered with something supposed to be blood – Jim first said he cut his head in cutting in the woods the axe falling on his head but afterwards when before the inquest and frequently afterwards he said his master did it with the axe in the scuffle. Elias and the old woman Nelly said their master would not let them go to meeting, starved them and did not clothe them. Examined and found in their cabin two pieces of bacon, two spare ribs, some sausage meat, some lard, right smart sugar and coffee, probably twenty pounds of sugar, some molasses and tea – they were well clothed , never saw a more comfortable negro house, it was weather boarded and sealed inside – two beds down stairs and two up stairs all comfortable with an unusual quantity of wearing apparel hanging up on the bedsteads was a tester curtained off very well – altogether they seemed as well taken care of as any slaves in the county – I considered Mr. Green as one of the best of masters – I made no threat or promise of any kind to either of the negroes to induce them to confess.

CROSS EXAMINED – Mr. Green was between 54 and 56 years of age was always subject to dissessia – was a pretty stout man tall tolerably good muscles – weighed about 160 pounds, worked regularly when able as any negro on the place.







Luther L. Lynn

B. F. Pattie for the Commonwealth being sworn says – As constable I arrested under a warrant of a Justice the five prisoners on the 25th December last – they were afterwards put in charge of guards and taken one by one before the jury of inquest. Nelly was taken first – She was sworn by Dr. Ewell after being charged about the penalties of perjury – I was sent for as an officer to act in this case – a warrant was placed in my hands against the five prisoners and I brought them to jail – Coming to jail they confessed to me – The prisoners Betsy and Ellen – I asked to know their agencies in killing their master – I asked them if they struck any blow – they said they did not but helped to tie Mr. Green – The wagon kept considerable noise and I did not feel certain I had understood Betsy – I went to see her since and asked her if I had understood her to say she helped to tie her master on the night of 24 December. She said she had said so to me – The whole five confessed an agency in the murder – Elias said he did not strike his master but helped to hold his masters legs in tying him. I searched the house of the prisoners after I brought them to jail and found a dress bloody and a piece of cotton very bloody – as if blood had been wiped up with it.

B. F. Pattie


P. D. Lipscomb being sworn says – A few days after the prisoners were committed to jail I visited them and asked them to state all the circumstances of the murder – Nelly at first commenced the statement about the bad treatment of their Master – did not allow them enough to eat – did not allow them any privileges and said they should get in his corn during the holidays – she admitted that they all killed their master but did not tell the particulars – the prisoners were all in the same room and heard his statement – I told her I regarded Mr. Green as a mild good man. She said I knew nothing about him – that he had taught school up there and treated the children so bad  none of them liked him. Mr. R. G. Davis asked me if I believed such dammed lies as she was telling – I told him my object was to hear her statement in her own way and would judge of its truth afterwards – Mr. Davis then told Jim to get up and make a statement of the circumstances – he commenced without any hesitation about the bad treatment of their master and so on – as well as I recollect he stated their object was to get Mr. Green to sell them.


They concluded to go in the house and were afraid to say anything about selling them until they took hold of him – Mr. Green always had his gun convenient where he could put his hand upon it and if any noise occurred at night he would go out and shoot low on the ground. He said it was not convenient for them to get in between where the gun was and Mr. Green and they took hold of him and tied him and then asked him to sell them. I think Jim said his master refused to sell them but said that they would all be hung for what they had done – Jim in answer to a question said Nelly struck him first with an axe – he then broke loose from them wrested the axe from the hands of Nelly and struck him on the top of his head, he Jim then run – Mr. Green got out of the house and run 50 yards or more, where he (Jim) got back to where his master fell they (meaning the other four prisoners) had him – he did not seem disposed to tell the particular circumstances of the killing and I did not press him – I asked him if his master begged for his life – he said he did not at the place where he was killed – I asked if he begged in the house – he evaded it, but gave me to understand he did not – I asked if any one struck him after he fell, Elias said Jim struck with a shovel after he was down – I asked Elias what he did in the matter – he said he held his masters legs. I supposed he meant in the effort to tie his master – I am not certain whether Jim said they dragged the body back after he was killed. I made no promise or threat of any kind to induce their confession. I only said I should be in count when they were tried – the other prisoners Betsy and Ellen said nothing about the killing of their master one way or another.


Cross Examined – Jim said nothing until told to get up by Mr. Davis. I understand Mr. Davis is one of the guard appointed by the sheriff to protect the Jail – the prisoners were lying down when I went in, several around the door told me to tell them to get up but I did not feel disposed to be harsh to them or use any authority with them – when I had this conversation there were several persons present I can’t say how many because my face was in one of the squares of the grating and my back to those who were there and when I turned most of them had gone – don’t suppose there were any thing like fifty there nor thirty there might have been a dozen but I can’t tell how many. The prisoners showed no fear but those who spoke talked of the occurrence in a heartless manner – Nelly and Jim said if it was to go over again they would not do it – Nelly did not seem to exert any influence over the others – She was the principal spokes woman until Davis made the remark which brought Jim up – on the second visit of witness the prisoner seemed to show penitence for the deed committed.









P. D. Lipscomb


Luther Lynn recalled – Lives near the deceased don’t know the ages of Ellen and Elias but have heard they were between fifteen and sixteen years and I think that is their age – Says it is usual for parent slaves to exact obedience from their young children and to correct them.









Luther L. Lynn


R. G. Davis being sworn says – I asked Nelly if they had entered into a plot to kill their master – She replied they had entered into a plot for the purpose of killing their master on the night previous (Tuesday night) – I asked if any were engaged in the plot besides the five prisoners – She said no – this conversation was in the presence of the other four prisoners – This confession was made without any promise or threat of any kind on my part – I told her after this she had better prepare to meet her God – She said she was all right on that question.

Cross Examined – Elias said he did nothing but help to hold his masters legs.








R. G. Davis

Bristoe Station, Prince William County Va.  24th January 1857
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Honorable Henry A. Wise

      Dear Sir,


Among the five convicts for the murder of Green now under sentence of death in the County are two under fourteen years of age. Some who attended the trial and heard the evidence are impressed with a strong conviction that the two children might have been instigated by their seniors. Threats might have been used even to the peril of their lives and they induced in this way to take part in the infamous deed. In these events the children of this unfortunate group have scarcely more than passed the age of accountability. From these circumstances being a citizen of the Commonwealth of Virginia of which you are the governor I take the liberty of writing you this line in the hope at least that the execution of the two children may be stayed by our interposition until such a time as may be agreeable to your own views of propriety. Perhaps the confession of the three eldest may throw some light on the comparative innocence of the children and then your path to the exercise of the Executive Clemency may be made plain as the Milky Way. As Jeanie Dean’s said to Queen Caroline, Acts of mercy are the acts which guide our own exit from the World.


It is not in my power to speak by authority of popular sentiment touching this affair in Prince William. It is probable however that except for false alarms, and reported insurrectionary attempts in Kentucky and Tennessee the children would have been recommended to the interference of your Mercy.


I am a humble individual probably unknown to the gubernatorial chair of Virginia. I do not concern myself in public affairs. I formerly ministered in the Presbyterian Church of Snow Hill Md. For ten years. The late Genl. Bailey knew me well. Henry Wilson of Washington is one of my most intimate friends and Mrs. Tully Wise informed me some nights ago at the house of my old Westover acquaintance of my having baptized one of your children. These facts may possibly  inspire confidence that this simple appeal proceeds from no improper source.







With distinguished consideration 








I remain yours &c.









Thomas B. Baless

Brentsville, Va.  February 9th 1857
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        Hon.. Henry Wise

        
I have this day received a respite for Ellen and Elias negro slaves condemned to be hanged on the 13th instant, which order of the court will be suspended, until the day found in the respite.








Your obedient servant








Thos. K. Davis








Sheriff of Prince William County

Brentsville, Va.  February 9th 1857
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        Dear Sir,


Your letter of the 6th inst. Was received this morning, in answer to which I have to inform you that the Sheriff has received the respite for the two slaves Ellen & Elias condemned to be hung on the 13th.








Very respectfully








P. D. Lipscomb clerk








of Prince William County

Bacon Hall near Gainesville, Va.  February 13th 1857
Box #7,  Folder 3, Accession # 36710, Reel #4200, pages 0561- 0565
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        His Excellency, Henry Wise

        Governor of Virginia


Dear Sir, I feel it a duty incumbent on me as a citizen of Prince William County, and of the neighborhood in which the murder of George E. Green was perpetrated by his negroes, to address you at this time in relation to the two, Ellen and Elias, which you have thought proper to respite until 22 May.  I do not know upon what ground you considered it your duty as Governor of Virginia to respite those negroes, nor is it necessary for the purpose of this communication that I should know but I am perfectly certain that no petition has been for respite or pardon circulated for signatures or signed by a single respectable man in this county. I am in a position to know what I write. A number of the court before which they were tried residing in the neighborhood in which this most brutal murder was committed and in the everyday intercourses with men of all classes and from every part of this county.


The question for recommending these two (Ellen and Elias) for consideration to transportation beyond the limits of the U. S. was brought before the court after they had been convicted and sentence of death had been pronounced but the court refused to recommend them – petitions have been spoken of in my presence and I have heard others say they heard them spoken of, but I have not seen one nor have I seen a man in the county who has seen one and I will here add that every man I have heard speak upon this subject and I have heard many expressed his determination not to sign a petition should one be handed for signature. You will therefore readily conclude that your proclamation to our sheriff ordering suspension of sentence of death in the cases of death of Ellen and Elias caused to say a great surprise in this community they had been convicted upon their own confession, each one made separately, after a trial as fair and impartial as prisoner, ever had or one of the most cold blooded and brutal murders that had ever been perpetrated. 


If you will examine the evidence you will find they (all five) went most deliberately to work, tied Mr. Green to his chair and the old woman Nelly began by striking him on his head with an axe; that he succeeded in wresting the axe from her after she had given him several blows, and defended himself retreating – that they all pursued near two hundred yards, Ellen and Elias, doing their utmost to stay his progress and they now (since your respite) say that Ellen held one leg and Elias the other, whilst the older one completed the murder – the question as to how they became enlisted in the plot was put to – two both before & since respite was announced to them, Ellen & Elias say now, as they all said before, that the old woman proposed it first and everyone agreed to it. Neither persuasion nor threat having been used towards either one of them by any one at anytime.


Upon examination of the evidence of L. L. Lynn one of the witnesses (a man living in view of Green’s house. You will find that these two (twins) were fifteen years old last spring – They were now, therefore, near sixteen years old, the woman Ellen is of large size for a woman, and very well developed physically – probably as well developed as she ever would be. The boy Elias is smaller in stature but admitted by all to be the most intelligent of the set. You can form some idea of the confidence his master placed in his power of mind and body given the fact that Elias drove his 4 horse wagon when delivering his crop of peanuts at our R.R. Depot at distance of 8 miles from his farm.


I have now given your Excellency some of the facts in regard to the matter and as a citizen in the immediate neighborhood and of this most fiendish murder, who saw way more madenoustic day after the murder being on the spot – a member of the court who heard the whole trial – and a man in that every day intercourse with men from all parts of our country. I certainly have had every opportunity to form an idea of the justice of the sentence upon these negroes – and I can but say that it is a perfectly just sentence and that any further interference on the part of your Excellency, with its execution would be an improper control of our own county business. An interference never contemplated in the forming of our constitution to be given to the Governor.








With just respect








Most obedient








J. B. Grayson

P.S. – I have understood since this letter was written that a petition had been sent your Excellency – signed by W. E. Gaskins and others – gotten up by W. E. Gaskins and also that you have been addressed by John P. Phillips in a petition in behalf of Ellen and Elias.

William E. Gaskins in a resident of the County of Fauquier and has no interest of any sort in Prince William, has no more right to petition your Excellency in regard to this our own County business, than I have to advise that you do not allow your overseer in Accomack to whip one of your negroes there, who disobeyed him.

John P. Phillips a lawyer of Warrenton was (with four other lawyers) assigned by the court as counsel to defend these five negroes. They were as ably defended as prisoners everywhere – of which you can form some idea from the fact that two entire days were occupied in the trial although tried jointly and each Negro confessed the murder – so that I am equally at a loss to know what Mr. John P. Phillips interest in the matter now consists in.

Should your Excellency desire to communicate for information or otherwise, with our County men the clerk of the County Court P. D. Lipscomb or the Commonwealth Attorney Eppa Hunton will give reliable information.

Should you wish to know anything further from me upon the subject – address Gainesville, Prince William County, Virginia







With respect







Your obedient servant







J. B. Grayson

Richmond, Va. May 1857
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To the Senate and House of Delegates of the General Assembly of Virginia:

       Gentlemen,


In compliance with the constitution, I proceed to state the particulars of the several cases of reprieve or pardon granted, and of punishment commuted, since my last communication on the subject, with the reasons which induced me to grant or commute the same.

1. At the last session of the general assembly, I asked the attention of that body to the case of Eben Lipscomb, a prisoner, who was convicted of the crime of murder, and sentenced to be hung. At that time it was stated that such was the conflicting character of the testimony on the trial, that it was doubtful whether the accused was not insane at the time of the commission of the offence, and whether he was not so still. I recommended the passage of a law to provide for the institution of proceedings, to ascertain the fact of lunacy, as well after sentence of condemnation, as now authorized by law before sentence, in order that the prisoner, if adjudged insane, might be sent to a lunatic asylum. The general assembly having made no provision upon the subject, and my mind having been satisfied of the insanity of the convict, I granted him an unconditional pardon. He has since been sent to the Eastern Asylum and received as a lunatic.

2. On the 29th of February 1856, I pardoned also George Cunningham, who was condemned by the circuit court of the city of Norfolk to twelve months’ imprisonment in the city jail on a charge of whipping a female while in a state of intoxication.

31. Two slaves Elias and Ellen, were condemned to be hung by the county court of Prince William for the crime of murder, were reprieved by me on the sixth of February last, and the execution of the sentence was ordered to be postponed until the 22nd day of May, to enable me to consider deliberately what punishment should be imposed. 

In this case five slaves were implicated in the murder of their master. All were members of the same family; grandmother, mother, brother, and two children, Elias and Ellen. They are twins, about 14 years old, and were supposed to be acting under the influence and instigation of the older slaves. The three oldest were executed, which I deem all sufficient for public justice and example; and in consideration of the youth and feeble intellects of the prisoners, I ordered their punishment to be commuted to sale and transportation beyond the limits of the United States.

Brentsville, Va.  April 22nd  1857

Eppa Hunton Letter

Box #7,  Folder 5, Accession # 36710, Reel #4201, pages 0790, 0791
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To Hon. Henry A. Wise, Governor of Virginia

     Sir,


I beg leave to co-------d to your favorable consideration Mr. D. R. Blacklock of Alexandria whose friends are anxious to secure his appointment as Director in one of the Banks of that city. He is a member of a large mercantile firm and has the entire confidence not only of the citizens of Alexandria but of all this region of country & is regarded as a man of fine business qualifications, strict integrity, and gentlemanly  deportment.  He took friends in favor of the L--------- as early as ______ canvass of 1855 and since then has been an active man in our party. I do not think a better appointment could be made. Again commending him earnestly to your favorable consideration I am.









Yours very truly









Eppa Hunton

Brentsville, Va.  September 26th   1857
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It is hereby certified that we George F. Carney and Robert Weedon officers who conducted an election held on the 26th day of September 1857, in our County of Prince William, and in District No.1, by the voters of said district, qualified according to law, caused to be chosen a justice of the peace of said district, namely Henry Love to fill the vacancy caused by Wm. C. Merchant a justice of the peace in said district, having accepted an office under the General Government, and to act as a justice of the peace in said district and county, and that the said Henry Love was duly elected according to law. 

Given under our hands the day and year aforesaid.









George F. Carney









Robert Weedon

October 27th 1857

Excuses made by Commissioners of Revenue for failing to return their books in time.

Box #9,  Folder 4, Accession # 36710, Reel 4204
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       Dear Sir,


In conformity with the 16th section of the 8th chapter of the acts of 1855-56. I herewith transmit to you a report of such Commissioners of the Revenue who failed to deliver copies of their books to the Sheriffs within the time prescribed by law. And whose pay was suspended in consequence thereof but who were afterwards paid upon the excuses placed opposite their names and the time of paying the same.

Counties

Commissioners

Time of Payment

Excuse

Westmoreland
Thomas Parker

August 5th 1856

Protracted sickness

Dinwiddie
William Bishop

August 7th 1856

Protracted sickness

Caroline

William J. Murray
August 19th 1856

Having assed his licenses before he









received orders & instructions, had









to reassess them as they were all









wrong.

Upshire

John D. Rapp

August 20th 1856

Protracted sickness

Marshall

Eli Talbert

August 20th 1856

Snow drifts &c. were such as to









render roads impassable

Alexandria
P. C. Claughton

August 20th 1856

Illness & death of son & absence









of clerk from his office, when the









books were ready

Loudoun
T. M. Wrenn

August 26th 1856

Weather such as to render it 









impassable for him to attend to









his duties

Dinwiddie
Robert G. Boissea--
August 28th 1856

Sickness & inclement weather

Scott

J. T. Lane

September 6th 1856
Law requires taxes for county 









purposes to be included in books &









court failed to lay the levy in time.

Elizabeth City
George Cooper

September 9th 1856
Books ready in time & tendered to









sheriff,  he refused to receive them.

Loudoun
George K. Fox

September 22nd 1856
Bad weather, snow & ice such as to









render roads impassable.

Scott

Robert Steele

September 23rd 1856
Weather, snow & ice prevented 









him from traveling.


Nelson

P. J. Hill


October 2nd 1856

Weather, snow &c. prevented him









from traveling.

Carroll

Wm. H. C. Bolt

October 11th 1856
Same as above

Bedford

John Beard

October 11th 1856
Same as above

Staunton

R. W. Stevenson

November 5th 1856
Commissioner didn’t qualify until









March Court 1856.

Page

C. B. Modeset

November 8th 1856
Weather and disappointment in 









procuring assistance.

Gloucester
R. C. Haywood

November 11th 1856
Commissioner didn’t qualify till 









March court 1856

Accomack
Spencer Drummond
November 13th 1856
Sheriff refused to take advantage of









the delay.

Prince Edward
Watkins Duprey

November 19th 1856
Sheriff refused to take advantage of









the delay.

Patrick

G. P. Sandifer

November 19th 1856
Commissioner not elected in time 









to qualify till 18 February 1856

Patrick

F. G. Smith

November 19th 1856
Protracted sickness

Braxton

Lewis Perrin apt. comm..
November 20th 1856
Inclement weather of  long duration

Richmond City
Edwin Barton

November 25th 1856
Sickness

Bath

Charles S. Miller

November 25th 1856
Bad weather & sickness

Highland
Daniel McNulty

December 2nd 1856
Inclement weather of long duration

Fauquier

Wm. B. Butler

December 8th  1856
Illness of self and wife.

Montgomery
Wm. H. Ragan

December 13th 1856
Commissioner not elected till late 









in February 1856


Shenandoah
Jno J. Grandstaff

December 17th 1856
Snow & ice, roads impassable

Fauquier

N. T. Ashby

December 20th 1856
Snow & ice, roads impassable

Cabell

Greenville Harrison
December 20th 1856
Snow & ice, roads impassable

Hampshire
A. W. Alverson

December 31st 1856
Snow & ice, roads impassable

Hampshire
James Candy

December 31st 1856
Snow & ice, roads impassable

Nicholas

Kyle Bright

January 7th 1857

Commissioner did not receive his 









books till March 1856 having been









delayed on the way

Putnam

Nelson Hundley

January 8th 1857

Family illness & inclement weather


Randolph
P. Collett

January 8th 1857

Old sheriff refused to qualify, new 









sheriff didn’t qualify till 28 July 56

Shenandoah
J. Watson

January 15th 1857

Inclement weather, death in family

Essex

Evan Rice

January 15th 1857

Inclement weather of long duration

Petersburg
J.M.B. Stewart

January 16th 1857

Delay caused by comm.. being 









elected Sergent & new comm.









having to be elected.

Fairfax

John B. Hunter

January 17th 1857

Comm. Retained books in order to 









Extend County levy, but excuse









not being deemed very good

Prince William
R. F. Brawner

February 16th 1857
Inclement weather long duration

Pocahontas
John Waugh

February 23rd 1857
Old sheriff didn’t qualify & new









sheriff qualified 1 July 1857

Logan

Peter H. Dingess

March 2nd 1857

Sickness

Bath

Benjamin T. Wallen(?)
June 23rd 1857

Old sheriff refused to qualify &









would not take the books



The Commissioners and their excuses would have each been reported to your Excellency at the time they were paid had it been deemed  at all requisite by the Auditor, but he considered a report which would embrace them all as in this instance, would be amply sufficient. It is proper to state that no excuse was deemed good unless supported by the affidavit of the Commissioners.









J. M. Bennett









Auditor of Public Accounts


I have approved the divisions of the Auditor in these cases because they are made & deem reasonable. Hereafter the Auditor will please report the delay & the reasons &c. before two commissions we paid in each case.









H. A. Wise

LaGrange near Thoroughfare, Va.  

Prince William County, October 27th 1857
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Henry Wise Esq. Governor of Virginia
       Dear Sir,


I have been called on today by two of my neighbours in person with the names of at least twenty others to a memorial to you as Governor  remonstrating against a petition which will be presented to you to reprieve William D. Bevier who was sentenced at our last Circuit Court for three years confinement in the penitentiary. The residents of Haymarket where Bevier resided and in the suburbs of which the stacks were burnt only learned today that a petition to you was circulating and immediately  they drew up a memorial and all the men who live in Haymarket who were at home except two signed it, and started two gentlemen with it to get the names of the residents of the neighbourhood around to it, and particularly to call on me and request me to drop you a line stating the fact that the memorial will be forwarded to you next week with the names of at least nine out of every ten citizens of Prince William County presented signed it besides the names of the residents of Haymarket. When the two gentlemen who had it, called on me today there were to it the names of several of our best men in every sense of the word, in fact every person they had presented it to as they stated to me but two had signed it, and I have no hesitation in signing.  I believe at least nine out of ten in Prince William will sign if it is presented to them, therefore I write heartily with the memorialist, that in this (inst.) that you receive the petition before you receive the memorial, you will not act on it, nor finally grant the prayer on the petition. In haste and under fatigue, your faithful constituent.

C. E. Harrison

N. B.
My residence is four miles from Haymarket and the memorial had only been presented to a few persons who reside immediately on the road between my residence and Haymarket when it was shown to me, it will numerously signed

Richmond Va., July 9th 1858

Box #13,  Folder 5, Accession # 36710, 
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Prisoners in the Penitentiary of Virginia and on Public Works, who were sentenced for terms over Five Years, and who were Fifty Years Old, when received, without regard to length of sentence, dates when received. Where sentenced, Crimes, Sentences and ages when received Penitentiary June 9th 1858

Names


when received
where from
offence
         sentence
age     remarks

John Robinson (Col)
11 Nov 1844
Richmond City
burglary

life
27     2nd offence

William Norment

25 Sep 1845
Caroline Co.
rape on dau.
18
47     

Moses Smart

08 Apr 1847
Carroll Co.
pass counterfeit
15
54     2nd offence

John A. Blevins

18 Dec 1848
Richmond City
carrying off slaves life
53      4th offence

Allen Ewing

18 Dec 1848
Richmond City
carrying off slaves10
42     2nd offence

Jack Norval

29 Aug 1849
Loudoun Co.
stabbing

15
16    on canal

John F. Schenberger
18 Dec 1849
Richmond City
murder 2nd deg.
18
29

Robert Mills (col)
01 May 1850
Halifax Co.
murder 2nd deg.
09
39    on canal

J.A.H.W.R. Armstead
08 Jul 1850
Richmond City
horse stealing
10
27    on canal

John Hays

14 Nov 1851
Richmond City
murder 2nd deg.
12
23

Alexander Combs
22 May 1851
Russell Co.
murder 2nd deg.
10
52

William A. Brown
24 Jun 1851
Stafford Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
42

Mich. Cherry

14 Oct 1851
Norfolk Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
51

John Conway

22 Nov 1851
Lewis Co.
rape

10
38

Joseph P. Davis

22 Dec 1851
Charlotte Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
26

Frederick Stoffer

07 May 1852
Berkeley Co.
burglary & Arson 12
27

Ellick Brooks (col)
15 Oct 1852
Caroline Co.
robbery

10
24    on canal

Meletus Scott (col)
20 Sep 1852
Buckingham Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
43    on canal

John Mills (col)

09 Nov 1852
Fauquier Co.
house breaking
08
20    with French

Barthelomew Maloney
07 Dec 1852
Augusta Co.
rape & other crimes
40
31

John Spratley (col)
10 Dec 1852
Frederick Co.
murder 2nd deg.
08
27    on canal

James McIntire

10 Dec 1852
Harrison Co.
murder 2nd deg.
08
34

Norment Queen

26 Apr 1853
Richmond City
carnal knowledge
20
41

Robert Gill

10 May 1853
Marion Co.
horse stealing
06
20    2nd offence

Bartley Lee

30 May 1853
Doddridge Co.
murder 2nd deg.
12
22

Bradley Yance

02 Jun 1853
Fairfax Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
25

George M. Smith (col)
09 Jan 1854
Washington Co.
rape on slave
06
31    on canal

William Patton (alias)
21 Jan 1854
Kanawha Co.
murder 2nd deg.
13
26   “Wm. Whalen”


Washburn Ashby

23 Nov 1854
Richmond City
hiding slave
10
41   2nd offence

Tom Harris (col)

22 Dec 1854
Petersburg City
receiving stolen-
10
42   on canal

Robert Evans (col)
18 Feb 1854
Petersburg City
house breaking
15
36  2nd offence

Wingfield Butcher (col)
18 Feb 1854
Petersburg City
house breaking
life
28  3rd offence

Francis Horan

06 Jul 1854
Ohio County
felonious stabbing 10
29

James H. Ames

22 Nov 1854
Accomack Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
21

George Francis

09 Dec 1854
Ohio County
murder 2nd deg.
18
32

Lewis Armstead (col)
12 Dec 1854
Frederick Co.
assault with intent08
37  on canal








to kill white man


Louis Romette

24 Apr 1855
Norfolk Co.
cow stealing
06
30

A. J. Parsons

29 Apr 1855
Cabell Co.
store breaking
08
24  2nd offence

John W. Thornton
30 Apr 1855
Richmond City
murder 2nd deg.
07
30

John Goodfellow

18 May 1855
Prince George 
murder 2nd deg.
08
33

John Varenberg

18 May 1855
Harrison Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
52

William H. Ewell

06 Jun 1855
Princess Ann Co
murder 2nd deg.
09
46

Martha Dixon (col)
13 Jun 1855
Charles City
murder 2nd deg.
18
18  on canal

John W. Vaiden

13 Jun 1855
Lunenburg Co.
vol. manslaugt.
04
64

Robert D. Dickey

21 Jun 1855
Fairfax Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
31

George W. Crump
05 Jul 1855
Alexandria Co.
murder 2nd deg.
12
23

William H. Spurr

06 Jul 1855
Fayette Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
23

Andrew J. Copenhaver
06 Jul 1855
Frederick Co.
murder 2nd deg.
15
26

Thomas Ames (col)
17 Jul 1855
Northampton Co
wounding/beating06
25  on canal

John Decker

03 Aug 1855
Norfolk City
murder 2nd deg.
10
22

Ruffin T. Freeman
28 Sep 1855
Brunswick Co.
slave stealing
04
52

Samuel McDonald
30 Sep 1855
Hampshire Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
19

Henry Abbott

20 Oct 1855
Richmond City
grand larceny
15
24  2nd offence

Barney Handlin  

same as above - name used as an alias by Henry Abbott

James A. Wilson

23 Oct 1855
Loudoun Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
35

John Miller

24 Nov 1855
Kanawha
horse stealing
03
60 escaped Ohio








& grand larceny

      penitentiary

William Boon (col)
13 Nov 1855
Southampton
murder 2nd deg.
18
24  on canal

Peyton Grimsley

26 Nov 1855
Fairfax Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
27

James Bradley (col)
28 Nov 1855
Petersburg City
murder 2nd deg.
20
42  2nd offence


Samuel Coogle (col)
08 Mar 1856
Not Given
rape

12
21   with French

Henry C. Hunter

15 Oct 1856
Richmond City
grand larceny
06
56  2nd offence

Meckens Reynolds
16 Apr 1856
Patrick Co.
murder 2nd deg.
10
56

Edmond Thomas (col)
15 May 1856
Loudoun Co.
murder 2nd deg.
11
38  on canal

Frank Lazier

25 May 1856
Ohio County
rape

20
33

Lawson Winesburg
25 May 1856
Ohio County
rape

20
23

John Coneal

25 May 1856
Ohio County
murder 2nd deg.
18
30

William Burch

04 Jun 1856
Alexandria 
burglary

09
27escaped Wash City

Wm. H. Lambden
30 Jun 1856
Norfolk City
abducting slaves
7  2/3 
27

Edward J. Duffel

30 Jun 1856
Lynchburg City
murder 2nd deg.
08
21

Lott Mundy (col)

18 Aug 1856
Richmond City
aiding slaves to esc.15
33

Nancy Crowley (col)
06 Oct 1856
York County
murder 2nd deg.
12
12  on canal

Benjamin Hughs

06 Oct 1856
Halifax Co.
murder 2nd deg.
08
52

Edmund Wilkerson
15 Oct 1856
Marshall Co.
store breaking
06
23

George Kelley

25 Oct 1856
Isle of Wight
larceny

07
44

Justin Ford

06 Nov 1856
Albemarle Co.
murder 2nd deg.
15
33

Samuel Boyers

13 Nov 1856
Jefferson Co.
murder 2nd deg.
6 ½ 
25

Ed Dunnavant

15 Nov 1856
Prince George 
burglary& larcny.06
22

Samuel Howard

21 Nov 1856
Alexandria
murder 2nd deg.
05
50

George B. Johnson
14 Apr 1857
Richmond City
stealing a slave
06
41

William Nelson

27 Apr 1857
Patrick Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
17

William H. Keene
29 Apr 1857
Fairfax Co.
murder 2nd deg.
10
43

Fielding Jones

09 May 1857
Nelson Co.
murder 2nd deg.
15
19

George Goodrich

29 May 1857
Alexandria
murder 2nd deg.
18
40

William Nelson (col)
23 Jun 1857
Botetourt Co.
murder 2nd deg.
08
23  on canal

John McKinney

23 Jun 1857
Kanawha Co.
aiding slave to esc.06
38

Austin Duval

23 Jun 1857
Kanawha Co.
burglary & larceny08
24

George Dade (col)
23 Sep 1857
Prince William
burglary

10
30  on canal

Wm. Jones

09 Oct 1857
Nelson Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
27

Thomas T. Owen

14 Oct 1857
Halifax Co.
rape on daughter
11
39

Thomas J. Hardy

16 Oct 1857
Richmond City
rape 3rd offence
20
30

Alexander Neale

03 Nov 1857
Loudoun Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
60

Abram Womack

09 Nov 1857
Halifax Co.
10 counterfeit notes 02
73

James Rush

14 Nov 1857
Augusta Co.
rape

17
35

James Shiflett

03 Dec 1857
Albemarle Co.
grand larceny
02
50

Augustus Baird

27 Nov 1857
Ohio County
grand larceny
03
53

Alonzo C. Turner

06 Jan 1858
Lynchburg City
murder 2nd deg.
18
25

Wm. B. Smither

22 Jan 1858
Essex Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
29

Job Self alias Chennault
10 Mar 1858
Caroline Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
33

George Gordon

12 Nov 1858
Brunswick Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
26

Benjamin Delbridge
12 Mar 1858
Brunswick Co.
murder 2nd deg.
06
36

Zeph. Shifflett

25 Mar 1858
Monroe Co.
burning saw mill
07
23

Alex. Cottingham

20 Apr 1858
Northumberland
murder 2nd deg.
15
50

Everett Eskew

22 Apr 1858
Putnam Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
27

Thomas Fox (col)

22 Apr 1858
Allegheny Co.
murder 2nd deg.
10
35  on canal

Sarah Freeman

29 Apr 1858
Sussex Co.
murder 2nd deg.
05
47

Edmond Lee

29 Apr 1858
Norfolk Co.
carrying off slaves 25
38

James Flynn

29 Apr 1858
Norfolk Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
22

Edward B. Ledbetter
29 Apr 1858
Sussex Co.
rape

10
23

Joseph Owens

01 May 1858
Essex Co.
murder 2nd deg.
12
46

David Davis

19 May 1858
Morgan Co.
murder 2nd deg.
18
44

Joseph F. Walter

01 Jun 1858
Spotsylvania
house breaking
10
53alias Blockman

Robert Pullen

12 Apr 1858
Richmond City
house breaking
08
NG alias Wheeler


Dempsey Jones (col)
21 Oct 1857
Nansemond Co.
murder 2nd deg.
06
24  on canal

Charles Granger (col)
21 Sep 1857
Henrico Co.
grand larceny
08
40  on canal

Charles Green (col)
24 Jul 1857
Richmond City
grand larceny
10
19  on canal

Ned Lee (col)

24 Jul 1857
Richmond City
grand larceny
life
28  3rd offence

Zachariah Davis

11 Jun 1857
Petersburg City
forgery

07
28 2nd offence(canal)

John Valentine (col)
31 Mar 1857
Amelia Co.
malicious wound. 10
30 2nd offence

James Lester

17 Dec 1856
Bedford Co.
murder 2nd deg.
10
35 2nd offence(canal)

John Roberts (col)
11 Aug 1856
Lynchburg City
stealing a mule
07
29  2ndoffence (canal)

John Campfield

16 Apr 1856
Richmond City
burglary

10
29  2nd offence

Wm. Jackson (col)
20 Mar 1856
Richmond City
burglary-larceny
10
29 2nd offence(canal)

George Buardly (col)
23 Jan 1856
Culpepper Co.
store breaking
07
30 2nd offence(canal)

James Stevens (col)
11 Jan 1856
Fredericksburg
grand larceny
08
23 2nd offence(canal)

John W. Unger

29 Oct 1855
Ohio County
forgery

07
21  2nd offence

Joseph Smith

06 Jul 1853
Norfolk City
passing counterfeit 07
36  2nd Indictment

Wm. B. O. Franklin
15 Mar 1854
Carroll Co.
petit larceny
06
32  2nd offence

John Hussey

20 Apr 1854
Norfolk Co.
grand larceny
09
39  2nd offence

Joseph Needham

31 Oct 1854
Botetourt
horse stealing
07
24  2nd offence

John E. Watkins

13 sep 1855
Goochland
murder 2nd deg.
10
44

Name of Free Negro- Frank Gwynn


Date – June 10th 1858

What Crime – Felonious wounding a white man

Where Sentence – Henrico County

Period of Time – 10 years

Height – 5 feet 6 ½ inches
  Age – 24  Complexion - nearly black   
Eyes – black
Hair - black

Marks & Scars – small scar on inner corner of each eye & one on left eye brow and a small one over the

 said brow, born in Henrico County, Virginia.

Name of Free Negro- John Thomas Smith

Date – June 24th 1858

What Crime –cutting & stabbing

Where Sentence – Petersburg City, Virginia
Period of Time – 3 years

Height –
 5 feet 6 ½ inches Age – 38   Complexion – pale yellow     
Eyes –black   Hair – dark brown

Marks & Scars – scar from a burn on the right leg inside above the ankle, scar on calf of left leg, and one 

near & above the ankle of same leg & outside, and one below and 2 above the ankle on inside of same leg, born in Prince Edward County, Virginia.

Name of Free Negro- James W. Lockart

Date – June 29th 1858

What Crime – grand larceny

Where Sentence – Alleghany County, Virginia   Period of Time – 2 years

Height –
  5 feet 7 ¼ inches    Age –25 Complexion -
yellow
Eyes –hazel    Hair - black 

Marks & Scars – scar on right arm above wrist, a small on right thumb, also on right shen, one on top of

 
each great toe. The nail of right one split. Born in Allegany County, Virginia.

Name of Free Negro-Margaret Lucas      Date – July 2nd 1858

What Crime – murder in the second degree

Where Sentence –Frederick County, Virginia    Period of Time – 5 years

Height –
5 feet 2 inches  Age – 30  
    Complexion – dark yellow   Eyes –black
Hair - black

Marks & Scars – a scar under chin from a cut and a small one on left wrist nearly round in form. Born in

 Frederick County, Virginia.

Name of Free Negro- Eli Ellis
Date – July 5th 1858

What Crime – store breaking and larceny

Where Sentence –Surry County, Virginia
Period of Time – 4 years

Height –
 5 feet 7 inches   Age – 36    Complexion –dark yellow   Eyes –black    Hair - black

Marks & Scars – a small scar on each wrist and one under side of nose, born in Surry County, Virginia

Name of Free Negro-William H. Thompson 
   Date – July 13th 1858

What Crime – abducting a slave

Where Sentence –Isle of Wight
Period of Time – 10 years

Height –
 5 feet 2 ½ inches   Age – 19   Complexion -
dark   Eyes – black    Hair - black

Marks & Scars – a small scar on left shin: born in Burlington, New Jersey

Name of Slave – Lewis (White) Slave   Date – June 17th 1858

What Crime – Arson

Where Sentence – Richmond City
Period of Time – Transportation

Height –
 5 feet 5 ¾ inches    Age – 31   Complexion -
 nearly black  Eyes – black
   Hair - black

Marks & Scars – two scars from a burn on breast grown up in welts, born Butler Co. N.C.

Name of Slave – William (Jones) Slave   Date – June 21st 1858

What Crime – wounding a white man

Where Sentence – Prince George County
Period of Time – Transportation

Height –
 5 feet 1 ½ inches  Age –30  Complexion –yellow  Eyes – brown   Hair - black

Marks & Scars – left arm has been broken near elbow joint & set crooked, scar below left hip joint from a

 boil, born in Prince George County, Virginia

Name of Slave - George
Date – July 20th 1858

What Crime – assault to kill master

Where Sentence –Accomack County, Virginia   Period of Time – Transportation

Height –
 5 feet 1 ¾ inches   Age –23  Complexion  – nearly black  Eyes – black Hair - black

Marks & Scars – one scar on top of left arm near elbow joint & one on left wrist, born Accomack Co.

Name of Slave - 
Simon
Date – July 23rd 1858

What Crime – attempted to kill overseer

Where Sentence –Spotsylvania County, Virginia
Period of Time – Transportation

Height –
  5 feet 3 ½ inches   Age – 59   Complexion -
 black
Eyes – black   Hair - black

Marks & Scars – Born in Spotsylvania County, Virginia and thought to be sound

Name of Slave - 
George
Date –  July 28th 1858

What Crime – burglary

Where Sentence – Richmond City
Period of Time – Transportation

Height –
  5 feet 4 ½ inches  Age – 19   Complexion -
black
Eyes –black   Hair - black

Marks & Scars – a small scar on each arm above wrist. Small bumps on each side of face over the jaw bone 


like warts, mostly on right side, born Richmond City.

Name of Slave - Napoleon
   
Date – July 30th 1858

What Crime – assault on white man

Where Sentence – Lynchburg City
  Period of Time – Transportation

Height –
 5 feet 11 ½ inches   Age –  22    Complexion – yellow     Eyes – dark brown  Hair - black

Marks & Scars – scar on right wrist near joint, small scar on right arm a few inches above the first, several 

scars on left arm about the elbow, the third finger on left hand has been severed, both legs from the knees down are covered with scars from sores and injuries. 


William H. Thompson who came for abducting slaves is from New Jersey and I suppose Governor Wise will not send him out of prison as no other free negro has as yet sent out who came for any offence connected with adduction.


There is a girl of 15, Mary, from Loudoun County, received since the last Negroes were sent out. Who I suppose the Governor will let remain for the present.


Margaret Lucas the above named will in a few months be confined, and probably increase her family.


James Mercer, alias John Mercer was received July 26th 1858 is for a second offence and ought not to be sent out until after he is identified and sentenced to the additional 5 years. He was discharged on the 21st day of September last from the first term.

D. S. Morgan

July 29th 1858


The free negroes Margaret Lewis & William H. Thompson mentioned in the foregoing list are retained in the penitentiary according to the recommendation of Col. Morgan; the remaining ten are ordered to be delivered to the President of the James River & Kanawha Company.








George W. Mumford








Sec. of the Commonwealth

Prince William County, July 9th 1858
Box #13,  Folder 7, Accession # 36710, 
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       My Esteemed friend


Will you please examine the Act – passed April 2nd 1852 authorizing our constable to be elected in each district, and also the Act passed June 2nd 1852 authorizing the County Court (when necessary) to have an additional constable in each district, and the law passed at the last session – authorizing one constable in each district – and say whether the last Act repealed the Act of June 2nd 1852 granting the County Court when necessary to have an additional constable. There is a division of opinion in my County on the above question, and as I am one of the members that ___ the power of the County Court has not been revoked. I appeal your information. I have based my opinion on the constitution; 4th Article 16 Section and deny that the last act passed has referred or in any way named. The act passed June 2nd 1852 and if I am right of yours that act has not been repealed please let me hear from you by return mail – With my best wishes for your health and prosperity I remain your to serve.








Seymour Lynn

1859, Box #22,  Folder 8, Accession # 36710, 

List of men with John Brown in Jail 
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White Men were – John Brown, New York; Aaron C. Stephens, Connecticut; Edwin Coppic, Iowa; Oliver Brown, New York; Watson Brown, New York; Albert Haslet, Pennsylvania; William Lennan, Maine; John Cook, formerly Connecticut here lately, got off – (John Cook escaped for a while but was captured and hung along with the Negroes); Stewart Taylor, Canada; Charles P. Tidd, Maine; William Thompson, New York; Dolph Thompson, New York; John Hager, brought up in Virginia born in Ohio; Jerry Anderson, Indiana.

Negroes – Dangerfield Newby, Virginia formerly, last couple of years Ohio; O. P. Anderson, Pennsylvania; Emperor, New York formerly South Carolina; Leary from Oberlin Ohio formerly (not legible) Copeland, same as the above named Leary.

April 27th 1859, Warrenton, Va.

Pardon of John Cornwell

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Henry Wise

To the Honorable Governor Wise

       Dear Sir,


I visited the state prison the first of this month, and saw there a convict by the name of John Cornwell from Prince William County. I have known the old man for more than twenty years, he was sent there for the murder of a man at Brentsville, when he (Cornwell) was drunk, he had been drunk for several days and had been blacked and cuffed about by several; on the day, he committed the murder and when he stabbed the man he supposed it was one of those who had played him during the day. When sober I knew him to be a hard working and as good disposed old man as ever lived, he is now I suppose sixty years old and if the old man could be released and spend the remainder of his days with his family. I know it would be a heaven on earth to him and his old wife. Gov. if I have done wrong in writing on this subject please forgive me for it is caused both by the head and heart – for when I saw the old gentleman my feelings were such as I never had before. I do not suppose a dishonorable charge of any grade can be brought against the old man except the one for which he is now imprisoned. I will again by that you will pardon me if I have committed an error in writing you on this subject.








Your True Friend








Wm. B. Brawner

Prince William County, December 10th 1859

Box #22,  Folder 6, Accession # 36710, 
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Letter received in Richmond December 19th 1859

To the Honorable Governor Wise

       Sir,


A Virginian by birth, by residence and by interest and sympathy, I hope I will not be suspected of treachery to the State, in laying the following facts before you.


I have during the last week visited different sections of Virginia, and have become convinced that public sentiment is hourly changing in favor of the criminal Cook. I may mention as illustrative of what I assert, that I have been in four houses during the last day, and that inmates of all expressed the utmost anxiety for a change of sentence.


It is believed that Cook has a peculiar mental organization which marked him out as the fit tool of designing traitors, and that he was rather a deluded victim than an inbred criminal. It is thought we are strong enough to show mercy, and that if Old Brown had given Cook a quarter and with it a double portion of his spirit, we would have nothing to fear. And that since the Arch Traitor is executed, mercy may be extended to the repentant criminals and an extensive neutral element and the North may be conciliated.


I am convinced from what I have seen that if you defer for a few weeks, the execution of Cook, that you will be satisfied that a great reaction has taken place in the public feeling towards him. And if such course is possible you will be as I believe the most popular man not in a section, but in the totality of the Union.


I am a Presbyterian Minister, residing in Buckingham County and temporarily in Prince William County.







I am with much respect








William Stoddard

Bay Side  Flushing Queens Co. L. I. , December 1859

Box #22,  Folder 8, Accession # 36710, 
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To his Excellency Governor Wise

       Sir,


I have to apologize for intruding on your Excellency’s time by addressing you on a subject that has caused you so much trouble of mind but my feelings urge me to a duty which is to express to you Sir, the very great respect and admiration of the superior and energetic measures that you have taken to preserve the peace and welfare of your noble old state and punish those who so justly merited their fate. Your Excellency may rest assured that in the North are men who feel with you and the inhabitants of Virginia in the trying situation that you Sir and they have been so lately placed and will assist both with their hands and hearts with the pen and word ready to assist and support the good old state of Virginia her laws and the lives of her loyal and generous hearted inhabitants. I sir for one feel the highest respect for her laws and institutions. My heart will always beat warmly towards the South and noble and hospitable and ever generous hearted people of the Southern States. Then allow me to press on your Excellency’s mind the facts that the City of New York alone are thousands of true friends to the South and have immense assemblage for a union meeting to express their determination to preserve the rights of your state and the union and every state in its own rights. Yes Sir even in Boston the very hotbed of abolitionism they have come forth forty thousand strong hearts as champions to maintain the South in her rights and her laws preserved and her property secured and her honor vindicated. Your Excellency may best assured  that if a single arm could assist that arm would be stretched forth to your aid if every man in this wide union shrank from task.







With sentiments of the highest respect







I am your Excellency’s obedient servant








William E. Stoddard

Mason County, Virginia, July 15th 1859

Commonwealth vs William Bevier

Box #1, Folder 8, Accession #36787

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

To John Letcher Esq. Governor of Virginia

     Dear Sir,


In the letter I had the honor of receiving from you regarding the case of Bevier you stated that it was necessary that you should have the evidence taken in the case of the Commonwealth vs William Bevier.


I have accordingly obtained it and herewith transmit it for your examination. In making this communication I will save you trouble by being as brief as possible.


It is very certain that Bevier had been very much harassed and persecuted by Hulfish and that for a length of time – and admitting the guilt of the former, the lost of the latter amounted according to his own statement amounted to only $125.


I therefore hope and trust, that although he was guilty, that you will consider he has already suffered sufficiently for the magnitude of the offence – and I here renew my appeal to you given sympathies for his distressed wife and poor little helpless innocent children.


If you should release him, you will have many others as well as myself under lasting gratitude. With profound respect I have the honor to subscribe myself.








Your humble servant








T. P. Hereford M.D.

(The following is the answer written on the back of the envelope – “This application is rejected. The prisoner is beyond all question guilty of the offence.  John Letcher, March 1st 1860”) It also must be noted that Gov. Wise also rejected appeals April 21st 1859 and July 20th 1859.

Brentsville, Prince William County, Virginia, July 15th 1859

Box #20, Folder 1, Accession #36787
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To John Letcher Esq. Governor of Virginia

Hon. John Letcher,

       Dear Sir,


Mr. Martin Maddox of Alexandria solicits the appointment of “Inspector of Vessels” entering the Port of Alexandria. And I take great pleasure in announcing to your favorable consideration the application of Mr. Maddox being satisfied that if you should confer upon him the favor sought, you will find in him a most excellent and efficient officer. He possessing every qualification necessary to enable him to discharge faithfully the duties of said office. Mr. M. has I believe been a consistent Democrat for a number of years, and was a strong friend to you both before and since your nomination for governor.


If it shall be your pleasure to confer upon Mr. Maddox the position he seeks, the favor will be appreciated by






Your friend and obedient servant







W. G. Brawner

Egypt,  Prince William County, Virginia, September 26th 1859

Box #19, Folder 7, Accession #36787
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To John Letcher Esq. Governor of Virginia

Hon. John Letcher,

       Dear Sir,


Having been informed that Mr. Martin Maddox of Alexandria is desirous to obtain the appointment of “Inspector of Vessels” entering the Port of Alexandria. It is with great pleasure that I can recommend him to your favorable consideration for the position. I have known him favorably for many years, his energy, fidelity and gentlemanly deportment eminently qualify him for the office, and should you favor him with the appointment (I doubt not but that he will discharge the duties faithfully, and honorably) it will be considered as a personal favour.








Yours Respectfully,

B. Brawner

Penitentiary of Virginia, February 18st 1860

Pardon of John Cornwell

Box #1, Folder 8, Accession # 36787, Misc. Reel 4705

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

To John Letcher Esq. Governor of Virginia










        Sir,


At the request of Col. Lynn of Prince William County I herewith submit to you the following statement in relation to James Cornwell a convict sentenced to this Institution by the Circuit Court of Prince William County, for 16 years confinement for the crime of murder in the 2nd degree.


The said James Cornwell was received here the 10th day of November 1856, was at the time of his reception 56 years of age, has been feeble during his confinement unable to perform any profitable labor. His deportment as a prisoner has been unexceptionable; and without a knowledge of the grounds upon which his conviction was established, but in view of his conduct in this place, his feeble health and old age, the officers here with whom I have conversed, concur with me that he is a proper subject for the exercise of Executive Clemency.








With great respect I am yours &c.








J. F. Pendleton Supt. of Va. Penty.

Penitentiary of Virginia, February 21st 1860

Pardon of John Cornwell
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This paper to accompany pardon application


Pleas at the Court House of Prince William County before the Circuit Court of said County on the 16th day of October 1856. Be it remembered that at this same term to wit, at a Circuit Court held for the County of Prince William, at the Court House on Monday the 13th day of October, in the year 1856. George Weedon, foreman, Hector Kincheloe, Burr Glascock, William F. Hodgkin, Austin B. Weedon, Christopher Windsor, Samuel Troth, James Maddox, George A. Cannon, Thomas Jones, John Fair, Thompson Fairfax, Alexander Pearson, Benson Davis, Hampton Brenton and Benjamin Johnson were sworn a Grand Jury of Inquest for the body of this County, and having received their charge, withdrew and after sometime returned into Court and presented an Indictment against James Cornwell for Murder (A True Bill) which indictment is in these words. To wit; Prince William County to Wit, In the Circuit Court of said County. The jurors of the Commonwealth of Virginia in and for the body of the County of Prince William and now attending the said Court upon their oaths present that James Cornwell on the twenty eighth day of August in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty six, with force and arms in the county aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of the said court, in and upon one Thomas Turner in the Peace of God and the said Commonwealth, then and there being, feloniously and willfully and of his malice aforethought, did make an assault, and that the said James Cornwell with a certain knife of the value of twenty five cents, in his right hand then and there had and held, him the said Thomas Turner, in and upon the left side of the abdomen of him the said Thomas Turner, then and there, feloniously, willfully an of his malice aforethought, did strike and thrust giving to the said Thomas Turner then and there with the knife aforesaid, in and upon the aforesaid left side of the abdomen of him the said Thomas Turner one mortal wound of the breast of three inches and of the depth of three inches of which said Mortal Wound, the said Thomas Turner from the said twenty eighth day of August in the year aforesaid until the second day of September in the year aforesaid in the County aforesaid did languish and languishing did live. On which said second day of September in the year One Thousand Eight Hundred and Fifty Six the said Thomas Turner in the County aforesaid of the said, mortal wound died; and so the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do say that the said James Cornwell the said Thomas Turner in manner and form aforesaid feloniously willfully and of his malice aforethought did kill and murder against the  peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia.







Eppa Hunton









Attorney for Commonwealth


Upon the evidence of William F. Renoe, Samuel F. Davis and L. A. Jennings of Prince William County. Sworn and sent to give evidence to the Grand Jury by the Court.


And at the same day to wit: At a circuit court held for the said County of Prince William at the Court House on Monday the 13th day of October 1856 James Cornwell late of the County of Prince William who stands indicted of Murder was set to the bar in custody of the jailor of this court arraigned of the said murder and pleaded not guilty of the indictment, whereupon  came a jury to wit: Landy Dowell, Samuel T. King, B. G. Moxley, James Smith, David S. Robinson, Oscar F. Pattie, Michael House, Moses Lynn, Henry Calvert, Albert M. Arrington, Thomas R. Alexander, and Minor Fairfax who being elected tried and sworn the truth of and upon the premises to speak and having partly heard the evidence were with the consent of the prisoner committed to the custody of the Sheriff of this County who is directed to keep them together without communication with any other person and to cause them to appear here tomorrow morning at 10 o’clock Whereupon an oath was administered to William E. Goodwin sheriff of this County and Thomas K. Davis his deputy to the following effect you shall well and truly to the best of your ability keep this jury and neither speak to them yourselves nor suffer any other person to speak to them touching every matter relative to this trial until they return into court tomorrow and the said James Cornwell is remanded to Jail, Tuesday October 14th 1856 James Cornwell late of the County of Prince William who stands indicted of Murder was again led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of this Court and the Jury sworn for his trial to Wit: Landy Dowell, Samuel T. King, B. G. D. Moxley, James Smith, David S. Robinson, Oscar F. Pattie, Michael House, Moses Lynn, Henry Calvert, A. M. Arrington, Thomas R. Alexander, and Minor Fairfax were brought in to court by the sheriff of this county and having fully heard the evidence upon their oath do say that the said James Cornwell is guilty of Murder in the second degree and they do ascertain the time of his imprisonment in the public jail and penitentiary house to be sixteen years and the said James Cornwell thereupon moved the court to set aside the said verdict and grant a new trial under the indictment aforesaid which motion the court doth overrule to which opinion of the court the prisoner expected and tendered his bill of exception which was received signed and sealed by the court and ordered to be made part of the record in this cause whereupon he is remanded to jail, and now at this day to wit: Of a Circuit Court held for the County of Prince William  on the same day and year first herein mentioned to wit: Thursday October the 16th 1856 James Cornwell late of the County of Prince William who stands convicted of murder in the second degree was again led to the bar in custody of the jailor of this county and thereupon it being of him if anything for himself he had or knew to say why the court here should not now proceed to pronounce judgment against him according to law and nothing being offered or alleged in delay of judgment it is considered by the court that the said James Cornwell be imprisoned in the public jail and Penitentiary House of this Commonwealth for the term of Sixteen years the period the Jurors in their verdict ascertained and it is ordered that the Sheriff of this County do as soon as possible after the adjournment of this court remove and safely convey the said James Cornwell from the Jail, of this court to the said public jail and penitentiary house therein to be kept imprisoned and treated in the manner directed by law and the court doth certify that on the trial of the said James Cornwell nothing appeared to the court either in aggravation or extenuation of the offence of the said James Cornwell nor did it appear that before the commission of the said offence he was of bad or good character or that he had ever been convicted or tried for any felony or other infamous crime and thereupon the said James Cornwell is remanded to Jail, and upon the application of the prisoner James Cornwell who suggests that he intends to apply for a writ of error in this case the court doth order that the execution of the sentence pronounced against him at this time be postponed for twenty days after the rising of the court.







Teste








Milton Fitzhugh, clerk

Richmond Va. 1st October 1860
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Names and description of the twenty seven free negroes and nine slave convicts remaining in the custody of the James River and Kanawha Canal Company, on the 1st day of October 1860.

Name of Free Negro-Frank G. Wynn      Date Received – June 10th 1858

What Crime – wounding a white man

Where Sentence –Henrico County, Virginia    Period of Time – 10 years

Height –
5 feet 6 inches  Age – 24  
    Complexion – nearly black   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-John Th. Smith      Date Received – June 24th 1858

What Crime – wounding cutting &c.

Where Sentence –Petersburg City, Virginia    Period of Time – 3 years

Height –
5 feet 7  inches  Age – 36  Complexion – pale yellow   Eyes –black
Hair – dark (No.2)

Name of Free Negro-Eli Ellis      Date received – July 5th 1858

What Crime – store breaking

Where Sentence –Surry County, Virginia    Period of Time – 4 years

Height –
5 feet 7 inches  Age – 36  
    Complexion – dark yellow`   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Jack Norvell      Date Received – August 29th 1849

What Crime – stabbing

Where Sentence –Loudoun County, Virginia    Period of Time – 15 years

Height –
5 feet 7 inches  Age – 16  
    Complexion – brown   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Miltus Scott      Date Received – September 20th 1852

What Crime – murder 2nd degree

Where Sentence –Buckingham County, Virginia    Period of Time – 18 years

Height –
5 feet 6 inches  Age – 43  
    Complexion – dark   Eyes –black
   
Hair – black (No.2)

Name of Free Negro-John W. Spratly      Date Received – December 10th 1852

What Crime – murder 2nd degree

Where Sentence –Frederick County, Virginia    Period of Time – 8 years

Height –
5 feet 1 ½  inches  Age – 27  Complexion – black      Eyes –black
Hair – black ()

Name of Free Negro-Tom Harris      Date Received – 22 December 1853

What Crime – receiving stolen goods

Where Sentence –Petersburg, Virginia    Period of Time – 10 years

Height –
5 feet 7 ¼  inches  Age – 42    Complexion – black   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.2)

Name of Free Negro-Lewis Armistead      Date Received – 12 December 1854

What Crime – assault to kill &c.

Where Sentence –Frederick County, Virginia    Period of Time – 8 years

Height –
5 feet 8 inches  Age – 37  
    Complexion – yellow  Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Scotland Fields      Date Received – 7 November 1855

What Crime – malicious stabbing

Where Sentence –Lynchburg, Virginia    Period of Time – 5 years

Height –
5 feet 10 ¼  inches  Age – 36   Complexion – yellow  Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Jas H. Stevens      Date Received – 11 January 1856

What Crime – grand larceny

Where Sentence –Fredericksburg, Virginia    Period of Time – 8 years

Height –
5 feet 5 ¼  inches  Age – 28   Complexion – black   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-George Bundy      Date Received – 23 January 1856

What Crime – store breaking &c.

Where Sentence –Culpepper County, Virginia    Period of Time – 7 years

Height –
5 feet 6 ½  inches  Age – 30   Complexion – yellow  Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.2)

Name of Free Negro-William H. Jackson      Date Received – 20 March 1856

What Crime – burglary & larceny

Where Sentence –Richmond County, Virginia    Period of Time – 10 years

Height –
5 feet 2 ½  inches  Age – 29   Complexion – black  Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Redmon Thomas      Date Received – 15 May 1856

What Crime – murder 2nd degree

Where Sentence –Loudoun County, Virginia    Period of Time – 11 years

Height –
5 feet 5 ¾  inches  Age – 28  Complexion – black   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-John Roberts      Date Received – 11 August 1856

What Crime – stealing a mule

Where Sentence –Lynchburg County, Virginia    Period of Time – 7 years

Height –
5 feet 3 ¾  inches  Age – 29  Complexion – brown   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-James Parker      Date Received – 18 October 1856

What Crime – grand larceny

Where Sentence –Winchester, Virginia    Period of Time – 4 years

Height –
5 feet 4 ½  inches  Age – 18   Complexion – brown   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Peter Hines      Date Received – 19 March 1857

What Crime – robbery

Where Sentence –Henrico County, Virginia    Period of Time – 4 years

Height –
5 feet 6 ¾  inches  Age – 18   Complexion – yellow   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1

Name of Free Negro-Thomas Freeman      Date Received – 19 March 1857

What Crime – robbery

Where Sentence –Henrico County, Virginia    Period of Time – 4 years

Height –
5 feet 5 ½   inches  Age – 30   Complexion – dark   Eyes –black
Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Ned Young      Date Received – 21 April 1857

What Crime – burglary &c.

Where Sentence –Lunenburg county, Virginia    Period of Time – 5 years

Height –
5 feet 4 ½   inches  Age – 22   Complexion – dark gingerbread   Eyes –black Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Ransome Haywood      Date Received – 29 April 1857

What Crime – stabbing

Where Sentence –Surry County, Virginia    Period of Time – 5 years

Height –
5 feet 4 ¾    inches  Age – 47   Complexion – nearly dark    Eyes –black Hair – black (No.2)

Name of Free Negro-Charles Green      Date Received – 24 July 1857

What Crime – grand larceny

Where Sentence –Richmond, Virginia    Period of Time – 10 years

Height –
5 feet 5 ¾  inches  Age – 19   Complexion – black   Eyes –black Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Charles Grazer      Date Received – 21 September 1857

What Crime – grand larceny

Where Sentence –Henrico County, Virginia    Period of Time – 8 years

Height –
5 feet 8   inches  Age – 40   Complexion – black   Eyes –black Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-George Dade      Date Received – 23 September 1857

What Crime – burglary

Where Sentence –Prince William County, Virginia    Period of Time – 10 years

Height –
5 feet 4 ½   inches  Age – 30   Complexion – yellow   Eyes –gray   Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-John Jenkins      Date Received – 25 March 1858

What Crime – grand larceny

Where Sentence –Jefferson County, Virginia    Period of Time – 3 years

Height –
5 feet 10 ½   inches  Age – 30   Complexion – nearly black   Eyes –black   Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Thomas Fox      Date Received – 22 April 1858

What Crime – murder 2nd degree

Where Sentence –Alleghany County, Virginia    Period of Time – 10 years

Height –
5 feet 3 ¾    inches  Age – 35   Complexion – black   Eyes –black   Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Henry Thacker      Date Received – 17 May 1858

What Crime – house breaking

Where Sentence –Richmond, Virginia    Period of Time – 3 years

Height –
5 feet 7 ¾    inches  Age – 28   Complexion – light yellow   Eyes –brown   Hair – black (No.1)

Name of Free Negro-Nancy Crowley      Date Received – 16 October 1856

What Crime – murder 2nd degree

Where Sentence –York County, Virginia    Period of Time – 12 years

Height –
4 feet 2 ¾    inches  Age – 12   Complexion – yellow   Eyes –black   Hair – black 

Name of Free Negro-Mary Tines      Date Received – 3 June 1857

What Crime – grand larceny

Where Sentence –Norfolk City, Virginia    Period of Time – 5 years

Height –
5 feet 4 ½   inches  Age – 18   Complexion – yellow   Eyes –black   Hair – black 

Richmond Va. 1st November 1860
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A list showing the names, number and classification of the Free Negro and Slave Convicts now in the custody of Rosser & Laurnis and who have been re-hired to said Rosser & Laurnis for the year 1861 at the same rates as those herein before mentioned.

No1    Free Negro Men



No.2 Free Negro Men

Robert Evans




Burwell Clayton

Henry Jackson




Samuel Brittenghan

James Armstead





James Ellis




No. 2  Slaves

John Gaines




Jim from Culpepper

Benjamin Cane




Spencer Gilbert







Jim from Rockingham

No. 1 Slaves




John Red

Jim – from Prince William

David







Mathew





Women

Jack





Mary

Ben





Mary Jane Mills

Taylor Brown




Ellen

Spoll





Narcissa

Philip

George

Isreal


Making six number 1 free negro and ten  no. 1 Slave Men – 16 at the rate of $175 each per annum: two No.2 free negro Men and 4 no. 2 Slaves making six at the rate of $95 each per annum: four Women at the rate of $50 each per annum.

Prince William County, Virginia, October 16th  1860

Pardon of John Cornwell
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Dear Governor, according to promises when we parted, I was to write you in this month respecting the case of James Cornwell a convict in the Penitentiary  to remind you of the petition from our County for his pardon.


Please look into the papers – the petition Doctor Patterson certificate and Mr. Pendleton’s also. Since my return home I have been asked by numbers of our best citizens why Cornwell was not pardoned. My answer was I hoped it would be done yet at a proper time. They preferred to sign a petition for his release – but if I understood you right you said it was not necessary to send any papers more. The Citizens of our County are anxious to have Cornwell released believing that the poor old creature has already suffered a full satisfaction to the law. They think it was a harsh judgment when first given and when we reflect that it is the first felony ever committed by him we feel safe in believing he would never commit another. Cornwell is about sixty years old has a wife about his age who seems almost broken hearted. The penalty I think is sixteen years, four only has passed, twelve more to serve and according to the view of your doctor and all human reason he never can live to serve the time.


I know you are a feeling man and a proper judge of the law – and will do what is right in the premises. I shall therefore content myself to trust the whole matter to your sound judgment hoping you may remember us for good in behalf of the poor old affected prisoner and grant his reprieve.


I am pleased to hear that we have a hope to get rid of that old Cancer the James River & Kanawha Canal  I suppose we shall see each other again this winter. 

With my best wishes for your health and prosperity I remain as ever your friend







(L. or S.?) Lynn

Penitentiary of Virginia, October 25th 1860

Pardon of Bevier
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Commonwealth vs. Bevier


Pleas at the Court House of Prince William County before the Circuit Court of said County on the 12th day of October 1857.


Be it remembered that at this same term to wit: at a Circuit Court held for the County of Prince William, at the Court House on Monday the 12th day of October in the year 1857. Lucien B. Norvill foreman, John Fair, James G. Draney, Theodore Bodine, Levi C. Lynn, Chapman Copin, Austin B. Weedon, William Wakefield, John C. Weedon, Moses Lynn, Joshua Taylor, William M. Lynn, John Arnold, William Davis, (of Job), Hector Kincheloe and John A. King were sworn a grand jury of inquest for the body of this County and having received their charge, withdrew and after sometime returned into court and presented “An Indictment against William D. Bevier, for burning Hay and Wheat Stacks, a true bill, which Indictment is in these words. Ninth Judicial Circuit, Prince William County to wit: In the Circuit Court of said County. The Jurors of the Commonwealth of Virginia in and for the body of the County of Prince William and now attending the said Court upon their oaths present that, William D. Bevier of the said County on the Twentieth day of September in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty seven in the said County did feloniously and maliciously burn a certain stack of Hay which  was then of the value of Twenty Five Dollars, and a certain stack of wheat which was of the value of One Hundred and Twenty Five Dollars, the property of Garret Hullfish against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia. And the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do further present that William D. Bevier of the County of Prince William on the twentieth day of September in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty seven in the said County did feloniously and maliciously burn a certain other stack of hay the property of Hullfish, which was then of the value of twenty five dollars against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia. And the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do further present that William D. Bevier of the County of Prince William, on the twentieth day of September in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty seven, in the said County, did feloniously and maliciously burn a certain other stack of wheat the property of Garrett Hullfish, which was then of the value of one hundred and twenty five dollars against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia.








Eppa Hunton Attorney








for the Commonwealth in said Court


Upon information of Reuben Lee, G. W. Smith, Garrett Hullfish, James H. Popkins and T. W. Turner of Prince William County, sworn and sent to give evidence to the Grand Jury by the Court.








M. Fitzhugh, clerk








October 12th 1857

Penitentiary of Virginia, October 25th  1860

Pardon of John Cornwell
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        To His Excellency John Letcher Esq. Governor of Virginia


I am requiring by Gov. Letcher, by a message from the keeper of the Penitentiary, to report on the health of James Cornwell a convict therein. He was brought to the prison on 10 May 1856, for the term of 16 years for murder in the 2nd degree, from the County of Prince William. He was an old inebriate only his tone & vigor had been impaired by bad habits. He is infirm and melancholy & suffers greatly mentally from confinement, appetite, and occasional diarrhea. His physical condition is probably as good now as when brought to the prison, but he is useless for labor. He is well behaved & humble, and seems harmless. He is frequently in the hospital.


I am also required by the same message to report on the convict John Owen a convict from Pittsylvania for the term of 3 years from the 22nd June 1859.


He is an infirm old man, the subject of desperation & incurable hernia 7 is often an inmate of the hospital. He is useless for labor, dejected, and melancholic. He is also very humble & well behaved. 








Very respectfully &c.









W. A. Patterson, Surgeon of the









   Penitentiary of Virginia
Prince William County, February 1860
Pardon of John Cornwell
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       Commonwealth of Virginia vs James Cornwell


After the jury had rendered their verdict in this case the Council for the Prisoner moved the Court to set aside the verdict, and to grant the prisoner a new trial because the Jury were not justified from the evidence in finding a verdict of murder in the second degree and fixing the period of the prisoners confinement in the Penitentiary at sixteen years and secondly because an instruction given by the court to the jury was erroneous, which motion the court overruled – and on the motion of the prisoner the court certifies that on the trial of the prisoner the following facts were proved. That on the 28th day of August last the prisoner came to the Town of Brentsville, in the County of Prince William, about eleven o’clock A.M. – that when he arrived there he was sober, but that in the course of the day, he became intoxicated, and it was further proved that when in that condition he had very little self control, and in a great measure like one deprived of his senses – that about sundown of the said day the prisoner, and a man named John Renoe were in the Tavern of a man named Davis, in the Town of Brentsville, when they got into a fight, that the deceased, whose name was Thomas Turner, came into the Tavern about this time and finding the prisoner down, and Renoe on top of him, he aided the Brother of Renoe to separate the combatants, which they succeeded in doing and Renoe then went out of the Tavern onto the porch - a few minutes after this a man by the name of Fair came to the Hotel of Davis and saw the prisoner on the porch of the Hotel rearing as he expressed himself, when he asked him what was the matter, and he the prisoner replied, God dam him he would cut out his guts, Fair then went into the Bar room of the hotel, when the deceased asked him to take a drink, which he did and the prisoner then came up, and said can I take a drink too, to which the deceased replied certainly and the prisoner and deceased both took a drink about this time, the prisoner remarked to deceased if he took John Renoe’s part he could whip him, at the same time clinching the deceased, the deceased then told him not to tear his clothes off, to which the prisoner replied he would tear the hide off the deceased. The deceased then told the prisoner if he the deceased struck him once he would not find John Renoe fooling with him – The deceased then discovering a knife in the hands of the prisoner pushed him off, then the prisoner stabbed the deceased in the left side letting out his bowels and penetrating his bladder, of which wound the deceased died on the 2nd day of September following. The prisoner after stabbing the deceased went out of the house saying God dam you if I have not given you enough. I can come back and finish you, and was in a short time thereafter found by the Officer who arrested him under an open porch of the Hotel leaning on a Hogshead. After the testimony was through, the attorney for the Commonwealth, declined to prosecute the prisoner for murder in the first degree, but argued before the jury that he was guilty of Murder in the Second Degree, and the council for the defense argued and insisted before the jury, that such was the condition of the mind of the prisoner, that he was incapable of knowing right from wrong, owing to the effect of the liquor he had drunk and ought to be acquitted. After the argument was over the Court felt to be its duty to instruct the Jury as to the law in reference to drunkenness as an excuse for crime, and accordingly instructed the jury as follows: That in prosecutions for murder in the first degree as it was necessary for the Commonwealth to prove a willful, deliberate and premeditated purpose to kill - evidence that the prisoner was so drunk as to be incapable of forming such purpose, was admissible in proof to shew that the accused had not committed the specific offence of murder in the first degree, but that in prosecutions for murder in the second degree on voluntary manslaughter, proof that the party was drunk, and that the crime was committed, while the intoxication lasted and was its immediate result, was inadmissible as an excuse for the commission of such crimes, and that it mattered not what was the degree of intoxication of the prisoner, if he was maddened by the quantity drunk, yet if he committed the crime during the fit of intoxication, it was no excuse in prosecution for murder in the second degree or voluntary manslaughter. So which ruling and opinion of the court the prisoner excepted, and prayed that this his bill of exceptions may be signed, sealed and enrolled which is accordingly done.









John Tyler


The above is a true copy of the bill of exceptions in the case of the Commonwealth of Virginia against James Cornwell.   Teste, Milton Fitzhugh, clerk, Circuit Court of Pr. Wm. Co.

Penitentiary of Virginia, October 25th  1860
Pardon of Bevier
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Commonwealth vs Bevier


The evidence of Garrett Hulfish for the Commonwealth being sworn says – On Sunday (yesterday) two weeks ago I had been walking round my lot, Mr. Mount who had previously shown me an order of the Court by which I had been appointed one of a patrol said he wishes me to go down to Bevier’s, that there was a large collection of Negroes, and wishes me to help him to disperse them. I objected having no coat on. We went down to his shop where there was a large collection of Negroes, one of whom was insolvent and we took him in charge, we passed the Prisoner who was sitting in his yard in his shirt sleeves. Our reason for taking the said Negro along was he said he had pass and Mr. Smith had it. Mount left the negro with me to go after hand cuffs. While I was standing there heard loud talking at Mr. Bevier’s, and by the time we hand cuffed him someone remarked that Bevier had a pistol in his hand. Mr. Bevier made a great many threats. I did not understand all, he abused the patrol – there was Mount – Hulfish he was no better. He would protect his property in spite of Hell. He was then walking in the street in front of his house. I saw what I thought was a pistol. I took particular notice of what he said – made no reply –he used many oaths and my name was mixed up with them. I was then about 50 yards from Bevier. Mr. Mount then asked me for a horse so he could get a warrant. Bevier was too abusive – among other remarks he said he would have his revenge, that I thought I had him once – but he would have me yet before the Devil got him. His reference was I suppose to some fracas we had some two or three years since – I left while he was talking in that way. This was half hour by sun or an hour - Between seven and eight o’clock that evening I was sitting in my house and heard the cry of Fire. I went to the door and saw it was my Hay Stack on fire. I returned to the room a few minutes – saw the stack was in full blaze – and could not save anything – others were going to the fire – after pacifying my wife who was much alarmed I went out to the burning Hay Stack, this stack was some 25 or 30 yards from the Turnpike road in a little lot, this lot was cultivated in corn and potatoes – the potatoes directly at the stack – A stable stood on the lot just on the side of the road and was a part of the fence line between the road and the stack of hay. The stack of hay was completely enveloped in flames when I reached it and burned down after some considerable time. I left and went to my house before it had been burnt down to pacify them at the house. After being at the house I suppose ten minutes perhaps, I walked leisurely down the stack again went nearly to the stack was apprehensive my wheel right shop might be fired. I went into it – shut the door and was sitting there in the dark thinking on the fire, and heard a scream as of women or children of the cry of fire – heard a number of persons running – went out and discovered my wheat stack on fire. This fire was directly in a line from my House to the railroad and was about midway between the Turnpike and railroad – about three hundred yards perhaps from my house – about the same distance or a little further from the burnt Haystack. I went to my house and ordered my boys and my son to go down to the fire and save what they could if they could not save the grain to save the rails. I went near the burning wheat stack and fearing my wife who was sick would hear of it and become alarmed went back. I afterwards went down. My friends had pulled down a stack part rye and part wheat and saves it. The stack of wheat burnt entirely up. We tried to save a part, were unsuccessful, the Haystack burned was worth $25. I think it was Timothy hay. The wheat stack as it stood I considered worth $125. Saw nothing of the Prisoner after I had left him at the door with his threats until the next day about 10 o’clock. I went to Justice Carters next morning about 8 o’clock. I had sent to Mr. Harrison for a warrant before day fearing the prisoner would escape but was informed I could not get a warrant without going to his house. I then went to Mr. Carters and got a warrant, as I returned saw Bevier noticing me as I came back, as if he was looking for me – judge he saw me I judge from his position he was at work in his shop he was soon after arrested. 

Cross examined – Mr. Lee was at the fire when I got there, he was not the first that caused me to suspect the prisoner, afterwards I think I went to Lee and he gave me additional cause to suspect prisoner – Did not see prisoner at the fire – the first information I got was not stated as coming from Lee. Mr. G. W. Smith told me he had seen Bevier as he believed coming from the fire with Mr. Lee’s coat on – Then I made some enquires of others asked Mr. Lee where his light coat was – he replied to tell you the truth Mr. Bevier had it – I told him he had better give me all the information he could – He said Bevier asked him for his coat – Lee did not then tell me he saw Bevier set fire to the stack – I did not then ask him – I asked him why they changed coats – I would not be positive whether he said Bevier wanted it, or some other cause. I think he said they changed coats going down the road. I heard Lee say before the Magistrate for the first time that Bevier set fire to my stacks – Lee told me about changing coats at his house after the fire. I did not charge Lee with the offence – did not hear anyone else – I think it was talked about that night that Lee was the offender – when I asked Lee about the coats he manifested no signs of concern that I saw, seemed to think it was a pity or shame or something of that kind to burn my stacks. I believe Mr. Bevier was the guilty one and not Lee, because Lee never had any grudge against me – Bevier had – Near the Negroes around Bevier’s Store were several white men, Popkins and old Mr. Lee – I do not recollect seeing young Lee in Town that day – He lives about 800 yards or about beyond the wheat stack burnt – Mr. Bevier is at times very quiet – On this Sunday evening he was very talkative and was I think intoxicated to some extent but cannot say to what extent – He was not so drunk as not to know what he was doing. Bevier seems always angry when we performed our duty as patrol because we interfered with what he called his friends. He has not spoken to me since our difficult some years ago – I have heard him speak of the patrol as interfering with his business, they dealt with him. The store has changed hands – I cannot say when the change took place. Mr. Stryker kept the store on the Sunday referred to. Mr. Stryker I think kept the store last Christmas.







Garrett Hulfish

Reuben Lee for the Commonwealth says 


On Sunday evening the 20th September after Mr. Stryker locked his store and went off the prisoner proposed to me to take a walk with him to Mrs. Warings to get the store key. I told him I must go home – he said I must go with him – I went with him, he went to the door and knocked and asked Mrs. Waring & Mr. Stryker and neither one appeared – we then returned to the store – He proposed to go back to Mr. Waring’s perhaps Mr. Stryker might be there – I said I wanted to go home – he said I must go with him and asked me to change coats – and I did so, then Bevier went up into his shop and asked Uncle Bud a black man to give him some matches. I asked what he was going to do with matches – He said he was going to burn Haymarket. I said I would not go with him if that was he was going to do – He then said he wouldn’t do it – said we would go – went passed Mrs. Waring’s and came near or to Mr. Hulfish’s stable. He said stop while I go in here to do a job. I told him to come on and I passed down the road slowly. I looked around and saw Mr. Hulfish’s stack of Hay on fire. I said to Mr. Bevier who was at the stack, what are you doing – he replied with an oath he was going to burn Hulfish and Mount – and if I made any alarm or stir he would shoot me on the spot and being afraid of the man and not knowing what to do I ran through Mr. Hulfish’s corn home. Mr. Bevier called to me to stop or he would ruin me. – I continued going and came near Mr. Hulfish’s wheat stacks. Bevier called to me to stop and give him a match. I told him I had none I continued on home and he followed me. I went to my house and by the time I entered my door, Bevier was there and came in with me. I lighted the candle. Bevier asked me to give him some matches – I told him I could not – then he begged me for two matches to light him up his shop room – I told him I would not nor could not – Mr. Bevier went to the mantelpiece and got three or four matches and went out of my house – I went to the door and told Mr. Bevier not to do any more damage tonight that it would be found out on him. He said he would not – I said then for God’s sake and for my sake do not. He went in the direction of his house or Haymarket – I then went to bed – fell into a dose and my dream awoke me. My house was lighted through. I said my God my house is on fire – jumped out of bed went to the door and found Hulfish’s wheat stack on fire. I put on my pants & shoes and went to assist Mr. Hulfish about his Wheat – did not ask Bevier why he wanted to trade coats – he did not say why – the wheat stack is in the way I went home that night from the hay stack – when I got to the burning wheat stack Mr. T. A. Smith, G. W. Smith, Popkins, Stryker and my Father, Mr. Hulfish’s son, Mr. James McDonald, and Mr. Shirley were there as far as I can recollect and they were all except some servants.

Cross Examined


Mr. Bevier and myself first met on Sunday early in the afternoon – We drank some – I felt my liquor a little – did not mention my wife’s name in that company. She was in Fairfax an expected her home on the following Saturday – did not expect to go after her – Mr. Bevier drank with me at Stryker’s Store – Bevier sent for the key and got it, Mrs. Bevier was at meeting I think that day – Bevier eat veal and eggs – it was after dinner but I eat with him – we took something to drink before eating and after – we had the store key about an hour – did not see Hulfish or Mount that evening – Bevier was  not very tipsy – about 2 or 3 o’clock I parted with Bevier and saw him again about night – passed the interval at my fathers who lives in town. My father and Bevier both told me about the patrol being at Beviers – Heard before that Bevier was mad with Hulfish – my father told me this at the fire. I had no particular conversation that night about the fire. Hulfish asked me about it at my house about 11 o’clock having gone home after my coat. Told Hulfish that night I knew who did it – He did not press me to tell him who did it – Had a small fight with Popkins – he wanted to know what time I went to sleep – had time to take a right smart nap before the fire at the wheat stack. Popkins insinuations about the fire caused the fight – don’t remember the particulars of fight – when I got to the burning stack I said it was a great shame – told the congregation that night that Bevier set fire to the Hay Stack and came to my house for matches and I refused. Hulfish heard him. This was after Hulfish came to my house the second time about one o’clock – Told Mr. Hulfish I knew who did it – it was about dark when we first went to Mrs.Waring’s – I suppose he wanted to get liquor – I am positive we went together till we came to Hulfish’s stable – I did not stop but went slowly on till I saw the fire – did not make the alarm because I was afraid he would do me harm. I did not stop at Mr. smith’s Kitchen on my way down the street with Bevier, did not ask for matches – had no matches in my pocket – said nothing to Bevier about taking revenge on Hulfish – I did not try to put the fire out at the Hay stack because Bevier made such threats I was afraid to do anything – I was about 25 yards from five of Hay Stack when I first saw it.









Reuben M. Lee

James W. Mount being sworn for Commonwealth says:


Know nothing of the fire – was not in the place when it occurred. On Sunday evening the 20th ultimo saw a large gathering of Negroes round the shop partly occupied by the prisoner – the prisoner keeping a Tailor Shop above stairs and Stryker a Whiskey Shop below – I went after Mr. Hulfish to go with me to make them leave – We went up there and one was imprudent and we took him and brought him down to Smith’s Store, intending to carry him before Grayson the nearest magistrate but being informed he was not at home we released him, we went back the second time – As we were going back saw the prisoner go into the store, and he brought out a pistol and threatened if we came up there he would shoot us – we being unarmed we halted and went no further – prisoner ran on a good deal – walked up and down the street – just outside his yard and said he would protect his property and the Negroes. I then got a horse & went up to Mr. Harrisons to see if I could not have him arrested. When I returned the Hay and Wheat stacks of Mr. Hulfish were on fire – did not hear any threats of revenge.

Cross Examined


When I returned I went to the fire – Prisoner on Sunday evening was drunk or sober – did not hear Lee say anything about the fire – when I got to the wheat stack Lee was there – someone asked Lee at the fire if he knew anything about the fire and I think. I am confident he answered, he did not – saw no fight with Lee – staid at the fire two or three hours or maybe four off and on. When this question was asked Lee, Mr. Shirley, G. W. Smith, McCormick & myself were there – did not see Lee about Bevier’s that evening – I went for a peace warrant – I did not see Lee do anything at the fire – Heard no talk that night that Lee had anything to do with the fire.









J. W. Mount

G. W. Smith for the Commonwealth says:


When I was standing on my porch on the 20th September about dusk, saw the prisoner and Lee walk down the street, and in very little while they returned – Then I saw Bevier going down by himself – after a little while I saw a light shining on the Church, I thought then it was my Brothers house on the Railroad burning – started to go there when I got against Miss Sarah Saunders I found the light was down the street. I went down the street and found Mr. Hulfish’s hay stack on fire, while standing there no great while I saw Mr. Hulfish’s wheat stack on fire. I went over to the burning stack of wheat when I got there no one was at the fire except those that went with me from the other fire. Mr. Popkins got there with me or may be a little before in a few minutes. I went over to my Brothers stack yard about 600 yards from Hulfish’s stack of wheat – saw no one about my brothers stack yard & concluded to go back to the fire – when I got against Mr. Mount’s stable I stopped – I heard someone get over the fence making a noise and saw Mr. Bevier go along with Mr. Lee’s coat on – I watched him until he went into his back door, our stack yard is on the North side of the Turnpike, and as I got near Mr. Mounts stable saw the prisoner – a street comes up from the Church and strikes the Turnpike near Mr. Mounts stable – The prisoner after getting over the fence, went through our field until he struck his own lot, went through his own lot and into his back door. I could see the five at wheat stack when I was standing when I first saw prisoner, did not speak to prisoner – I went back to the fire and I recollect Popkins, McCormick, Hulfish, Lee and others were at the fire.

Cross Examined


Saw  Mr. Bevier when he passed our porch second time going down the street and saw he was alone. I doubt it was quite half hour from the time I saw the first light till I saw the second – I don’t know what the time was – don’t know whether it was over fifteen minutes – I found lee at the fire when I returned from Mount’s stable. I do not recollect any particular conversation with Lee that night at the fire. We were all talking a good deal with one another. Popkins and I went to his house toward the latter part of the burning and after my return from Mounts stable – Stack was burning more than two hours – I went down to see if Mr. Bevier’s coat was there – when I first saw Lee at the fire he had got Bevier’s coat on – I found his Coat at Lees. The coat he Lee had on was a black casting coat. I think when I first saw Lee he was in his shirt sleeves, he went home and came back with a coat on. I asked Lee at his house if he knew anything about the fire, he said he did and if called before the court he would tell – did not hear Lee say that night that Bevier set fire to the stacks. Lee said Bevier asked him to swap coats, told Shirley I had seen Bevier at Mount stable – don’t think the moon shone that night – think the night was not cloudy much but don’t recollect. When I saw Bevier get over the fence was within a few feet of him. Told Shirley as I went to the fire I saw Lee with Bevier coat on, it was a light colored coat kind of frock – kind of cotton goods. Hulfish came and asked about Bevier having Lees coat, don’t think Hulfish went to Lees House more than once.

Thomas S. Shirley for Commonwealth says:


On 20th September saw Bevier in street with his coat off and pistol in his hand and heard him say he would have revenge out of Hulfish before the Devil got him. Hulfish and Mount were then at Smith’s Store, probably about 7 ½ o’clock that night was told that there was fire up town, went out and saw Hulfish’s hay stack on fire – went down immediately some fifteen or twenty were there when I got there, had not been at the haystack more than fifteen or twenty minutes before I saw the wheat stack on fire – I went down the street & to my own hay stacks and in about ½ hour went to the burning wheat stack – went to it several times during the time it was burning.

Cross Examined:


Met with G. W. Smith that night at one time in the street while the wheat stack was burning. I think I was standing at Mounts corner – Saw Mr. Lee at the fire – saw a fight between Lee and Popkins, a small matter and soon over, did not hear Lee say that night who set fire to the stacks, when I first saw Lee think he had no coat on. No person in my presence to my recollection charged Lee with setting fire to the stacks cannot say whether Bevier was tipsy that evening or not he walked straight – this was about ½ hour by sun I was in my house or about it that evening did not see Lee that evening till I got to the fire – Mr. Smith told me on the street that he had been in Bevier’s lot an had seen him go into his house by the back way with a light speckled coat on which looked like the one Lee had worn, don’t recollect that I told this to anyone at the fire, there was much excitement there during the night it was spoken of. I think Smith told it at the fire. I live about 250 yards down the Pike from Bevier. & about 400 yards from the haystacks – The night was a clear star – light one I think. Sun shone in the evening – don’t recollect a cloud.









Thomas S. Shirley

James H. Popkins for the Commonwealth says:


Sunday evening on 20th September Mr. Smith, Stryker and myself were standing on Smith’s porch and saw two persons passing. Mr. Stryker remembered they were going to Gainesville to get liquor as he had his shop locked and his key in his pocket these two were Bevier and Lee – While we were talking in 10 or 15 minutes I suppose they returned – passed on back and as we supposed turned the corner round Smith’s Store in about 5 minutes one of them Bevier returned, it was said, Lee also returned but I did not see him it was tolerably dark, some five minutes after that we saw light shining on the Church. Stryker had left – Smith and myself started toward the Church and when he got to the corner discovered the fire and said he thought it was Hulfish’s Haystack – We went to the fire and opposite Hulfish’s. I gave the alarm and found the Haystack so far burnt that we could not save it, after being there 5 minutes or longer. We discovered a fire in direction of Church, several of us made to it directly. I was the second white person that reached it. G. W. Smith I think got there before me and some servants, and thought and still think it was fixed on two sides – we went to work to save the Rye Stack – while removing this stack and when we had got within three feet of the ground Lee came up in his shirt sleeves and made strangely of the fire and I said to him you damned scoundrel, you had a hand in this if you did not do it – He struck at me and I struck him and we had a scuffle. Lee helped to move the rest of the Rye Stack after he got there. There was a difference arose in the evening about Hulfish and Mount arresting a Negro opposite Strykers Store. I walked up towards Bevier seemed a little angry, thought he was in liquor, his wife requested him to drive the Negroes away that she had been to Church and heard two good sermons and was utterly astonished to find so many Negroes around the Shop door. Bevier then went in Stryker’s Store as it was called. I heard Stryker say Oh William don’t take that out, alluding to a pistol and said something about liquor – supposed he accused Bevier of being in liquor. Bevier came out with pistol first came towards me and then towards his house – Mount then called me to his corner – when I got near there heard Bevier call Hulfish’s name and say he would have revenge out of him before the Devil got him. After we had moved the stack of rye and the fence I felt dissatisfied and like we ought to do something and proposed we should go down  and search Lee’s bed to see if it had been tumbled. When we went down the door was locked – we went round to back window and got in and found the bed had been tumbled. We went back to the fire and someone asked Lee why he did not wear his coat and he said when he woke up the light was shinning in his room and he first supposed his house was on fire, and he found the fire at the wheat stack and went to it without taking time to put his coat on. We were still dissatisfied about the coat and Hulfish and myself went back to Lee’s house and made him produce the coat he said he had Bevier’s coat. I thought not and requested to see, and he produced Bevier’s coat – I then asked him who did that firing. He said he would tell when called on by the Court.

Cross Examined:


The coat of Bevier was folded up in a chair, am not able to say whether there were two sheets – but the bed felt like it had been laid in. We had no light – it felt like a feather bed – had a light when he produced coat at the door. I asked why he had Bevier’s coat he said Bevier asked him to change coats at the shop when Bevier passed down the street second time don’t know whether he had on Black Coat or not  I have been unable to determine – it did not strike me then he had on Lee’s coat. Lee in going down the street if he desired to go into Smith’s Kitchen could have gone into it and out of it without passing by the front of Smith’s house in going down street there was a back way to go in and come out. From the time I saw light at haystack till the fire broke out at wheat stack was probably ten minutes. Maybe not more than five minutes not ½ hour. Wheat stack some 3 or 400 yards from Bevier’s. Bevier that Sunday evening I thought was in liquor – don’t remember positively that Lee said Bevier set fire to the stacks – think I heard something of it from someone there.









Jas H. (his mark) Popkins

Thomas W. Turner for Commonwealth says:


I was deputed constable to arrest Bevier. Monday night while I was guarding the prisoner Mr. Foley told Bevier he thought it would go hard with him. Bevier then asked Foley if there was any chance to make a compromise with Hulfish. Foley replied he thought the case had gone too far, it was a Commonwealth case. On Tuesday morning before breakfast Bevier asked me to carry him around to see his family before I brought him to jail. I carried him around. He asked leave to go into his wife’s room, I agreed. He had not been in long before I heard someone touch the ground as if he had jumped out. I ran round and found Bevier going through the lot on north west side of his house. I ran him about 300 yards and caught him or he stopped. I told him when I got in 15 steps of him if he did not stop I would shoot him, and he stopped – he had about 40 yards start in the beginning of pursuit.

Cross Examined:


When Bevier was arrested he was on his bench in his shop at work. I did not tell him what the warrant was for. He was informed of the nature of the warrant by the magistrate reading the warrant. The trial commenced between 2 and 3 o’clock in the afternoon, after justice ordered Bevier to Jail I had no guard until that night, That night had a guard of several men. He was in the room with his wife not more than a minute or two – I arrested Bevier about 9 or 10 o’clock Monday morning – Charles Thomas gave me the warrant.








Thomas W. Turner


The forgoing is a correct copy of the evidence taken in the case of Commonwealth vs Bevier from the records in Prince William Circuit Court.








Milton Fitzhugh, clerk

Penitentiary of Virginia, October 25th  1860

Pardon of Bevier

Box #2, Folder 3, Accession # 36787, Misc. Reel 4703-4707

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

Commonwealth vs Bevier


And on which day, the said William D. Bevier late of the County of Prince William, who stands indicted of felony, was led to the Bar in custody of the Sheriff of this County, thereof arraigned and pleaded not guilty to the indictment, and for his trial, put himself upon the Country, Whereupon came a jury to wit: Gideon Warne, A. N. Doane, E. E. Claggett, Walter Keys, Robert G. Maddox, John D. Davis, John H. Austin, Matthew Davis, Edwin W. Latimer, John Read, William Goodwin and Francis Robertson, who being elected, tried and sworn, the truth and upon the premises to speak and having partly heard the evidence, were with the consent of the prisoner, committed to the custody of the Sheriff of this County, who is directed to keep them together without communication with any other person, and to cause them to appear here tomorrow morning 9 o’clock, whereupon an oath was administered to Thomas K. Davis, sheriff of this County to the following effect “you shall well and truly, to the best of your ability keep this Jury, and neither speak to them yourself, nor suffer any other person to speak to them touching any matter relative to this trial until they return into Court to-morrow, and the said William D. Bevier is remanded to Jail.


And now at this day to wit: At a Circuit Court held for the said County of Prince William, at the Court House on the same day and year first herein mentioned to wit: Tuesday 13th day of October 1857 William D. Bevier late of Prince William County, who stands indicted of Felony, was again led to the Bar in Custody of the Jailor of this Court, and the Jury sworn for his trial, to wit: Gideon Warne, A. N. Doane, C. C. Claggett, Walter Keys, Robert G. Maddox, John D. Davis, John H. Austin, Matthew Davis, Edwin W. Latimer, John Read, William Goodwin and Francis Robertson, were brought into court by the Sheriff of this County and having fully heard the evidence upon their oath do say, that the said William D. Bevier is guilty in manner and form as in the Indictment against him is alleged, and they do ascertain the term of his imprisonment in the Public Jail and Penitentiary house to be three years: and thereupon the said William D. Bevier moved the Court to set the said verdict aside and grant him a new trial upon the indictment aforesaid which motion the Court doth overrule and thereupon it being demanded of the said William D. Bevier if anything for himself he had or knew to say why the Court should not now proceed to pronounce judgment against him according to law, and nothing being offered or alleged in delay of judgment it is considered by the Court that the said William D. Bevier be imprisoned in the Public Jail and Penitentiary House of this Commonwealth for the term of three years, the period by the Jurors in their verdict ascertained. And it is ordered that the Sheriff of this County do as soon as possible after the adjournment of this court, remove and safely convey the said William D. Bevier from the Jail of this court to the said Public Jail and Penitentiary house therein to be kept imprisoned, and treated in the manner directed by law. And thereupon the said William D. Bevier is remanded to jail.








A Copy,









Teste
M. Fitzhugh, clerk

Penitentiary of Virginia, October 25th  1860

Pardon of Cornwell

Box #2, Folder 3, Accession # 36787, Misc. Reel 4703-4707

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

To His Excellency John Letcher, Governor of Virginia

      Dear Sir,


I am advised today, by Mr. (Simms?) the member of the legislature from the County of Prince William, that you require from me a statement of the physical condition of Cornwell a prisoner in the Penitentiary from the said county sentenced for 18 years for murder in the second degree. He is an old man of infirm health and hypochondical humble and well behaved. He is not much more feeble than when incarcerated but despondent, always thinks himself sick and often wishes to be prescribed for, and to take physic. He is not then indulged, from its impropriety and is thankful for any little seeming prescription, and particularly for changes of diet. He is not fit to be engaged in any of the workshops and is kept employed as one of the scavengers about the rooms and yard. His age and broken constitution render it certain that he cannot survive the period of his sentence of incarceration.







Very Respectfully Yours







W. A. Patterson, Surgeon







of the Penitentiary of Virginia


“On his reexamination today I omitted to get his Christian name but there is no other Cornwell in this prison.”






W. A. P.

Richmond Va., June 25th  1860

Box #3,  Folder 5, Accession # 36710, 

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Letcher


A list of free negroes and slave convicts delivered to Robert F. Bibb and David  by Bibb-contractors on the Covington & Ohio Railroad from the 10th day of October 1859 to the 25th day of June 1860, including those transferred by N. B. French to said Bibbs.

Name

  Delivered
Received
Crime

Sentenced
Sentence     $        

Hengfield Butcher 10 Oct 1859
18 Feb 1854
House Breaking
Petersburg
Life
  97.22


William H. James
  10 Oct 1859
25 Apr 1859
Burglary

Richmond
3 years
122.22

Harrison Jarrett
  10 Oct 1859
11 Jul 1859
Murder

Augusta

18 years 122.22

William F. Jones
  10 Oct 1859
01 Sep 1859
Attempt Rape
Preston

18 years 122.22

James Jones
  10 Oct 1859
19 Sep 1859
House Breaking
Richmond
1 year
  94.20

Rachael Watson
  10 Oct 1859
17 Feb 1859
Larceny

Alexandria
5 years
  55.31

Fanny Peters
  10 Oct 1859
01 Jun 1859
House Burning
Rockingham
7 years
  55.31

Delaware
  10 Oct 1859
14 Jul 1859
Burglary

Cumberland
Transpt.
  03.56

Randall

  10 Oct 1859
24 Jul 1859
Burglary

Petersburg
Transpt. 122.22

Edmond

  10 Oct 1859
09 Aug 1859      attempt to poison
Charles City
Transpt.
122.22

Ned

  10 Oct 1859
23 Aug 1859
Rape

Fredericksburg
Transpt.
122.22

Pompey

  10 Oct 1859
07 Sep 1859
Murder

Dinwiddie
Transpt. 122.22

Andrew

  10 Oct 1859
19 Sep 1859       assault on white manPrince Edward
Transpt. 122.22

Davy

  10 Oct 1859
27 Mar 1859
Burning Factory
Lynchburg
Transpt. 122.22

Judy

  10 Oct 1859
05 Oct 1859
Not Given
Petersburg
Transpt.   18.33

Alberta

  10 Oct 1859
05 Oct 1859
Not Given
Madison

Transpt.   30.56

Thornton Bundy
  07 Dec 1859
20 Oct 1859
Larceny

Fredericksburg
5 years   103.83

Elijah Powell
  07 Dec 1859
21 Oct 1859
Stabbing

Southampton
5 years
103.88

Mat Maho
  07 Dec 1859
10 Nov 1859
Cutting &c
Rockingham
1 year
  92.69

Isaac Davis
  07 Dec 1859
03 Dec 1859
Manslaughter
New Kent
1 year
  44.51

Martha Dixon
  07 Dec 1859
13 Jun 1855
Murder

Charles City
18 years
  26.56


Wash

  07 Dec 1859
07 Nov 1859
Arson

Patrick

Transpt.
103.88

Robert

  07 Dec 1859
21 Nov 1859    assault on white manRichmond
Transpt.
103.88

Rose

  07 Dec 1859
02 Sep 1859
Murder

Campbell
Transpt.
  26.56

Willis Lockley
  01 Jan 1860
14 Oct 1857
House Breaking
King & Queen
5 years
  25.00

John Miles
  01 Jan 1860
09 Nov 1852
House Breaking
Fauquier

8 years
  87.01

Ned Mickens
  01 Jan 1860
21 Sep 1857
Stabbing

Petersburg
3 years
  72.22

John Poolman
  01 Jan 1860
09 Feb 1858
Burglary

Accomack
4 years
100.00

John Roane
  01 Jan 1860
06 Aug 1856
Burning Stacks
Accomack
5 years
100.00

Munroe Butler
  01 Jan 1860
20 May 1856
Robbery

Prince George
5 years
100.00

Nathan

  01 Jan 1860
04 Jan 1858
House Burning
Buckingham
Transpt.
100.00

Levi

  01 Jan 1860
20 Feb 1858
Manslaughter
Middlesex
Transpt.   63.05

Jacob

  01 Jan 1860
09 Mar 1858
House Burning
King William
Transpt.
100.00

Sam

  01 Jan 1860
31 Mar 1858
Murder

Henrico

Transpt.
100.00

Carrol Minnis
  10 Feb 1860
13 Dec 1859
Larceny

Charlotte
3 years
  88.76

Franklin Wills
  10 Feb 1860
15 Dec 1859
Burglary

Berkley

1 year
  88.76

Mathew Rand
  10 Feb 1860
22 Dec 1859
Murder

Williamsburg
18 years
  88.76

Scott

  10 Feb 1860
10 Dec 1859
Not Given
Charlotte
Transpt.
  88.76

Miles

  10 Feb 1860
19 Dec 1859
Stabbing

Henry

Transpt.
  88.76


Charles

  10 Feb 1860
28 Dec 1859     attempt to poison
Hanover

Transpt.
  88.76

Reuben

  10 Feb 1860
13 Dec 1859
Stabbing

Albemarle
Transpt.
  88.76

Ned Lee

  10 Feb 1860
24 Jul  1859
Larceny

Richmond
Life
  88.76

Spenr. Pennington 10 Feb 1860
24 Dec 1858
Robbery

Petersburg
10 years
  88.76


Ransome Hasket
  10 Feb 1860
31 Jan 1859
House Breaking
Surry

3 years
  88.76

Marshal Ross
  10 Feb 1860
06 Feb 1859
Larceny

Hampshire
4 years
  88.76

Jim Tyler
  10 Feb 1860
24 Feb 1859
Burglary

Warren

6 years
  88.76

John Coapland
  10 Feb 1860
25 Feb 1859
Larceny

Petersburg
2 years
  88.76

Fleming Burnette
  10 Feb 1860
25 Feb 1859
Forgery

Petersburg
3 years
  88.76

John Parris
  10 Feb 1860
20 Aug 1858
House Entry
Alexandria
3 years
  88.76

Andrew Strawder
  10 Feb 1860
01 Sep 1858
Mal. Stabbing
Rockingham
3 years
  88.76

Emanuel Taylor
  10 Feb 1860
16 Sep 1858
Larceny

Campbell
2 years
  88.76

Irby Hasket
  10 Feb 1860
29 Sep 1858
Stabbing

Surry

5 years
  88.76

Wm. Reynolds
  10 Feb 1860
31 Jan 1857    aiding slave to escapePittsylvania
5 years
  88.76

William Boon
  10 Feb 1860
13 Nov 1855
Murder

Southampton
18 years
  88.76

Madison Goings
  10 Feb 1860
01 Feb 1860
Cutting &c.
Augusta

2 years
  88.76

Isreal

  10 Feb 1860
27 Jan 1859
Assault &c.
Richmond
Transpt.
  88.76

Jim

  10 Feb 1860
04 Nov 1858
attempt to escape
Prince Edward
Transpt.
  88.76

Jim Fox

  10 Feb 1860
26 Nov 1858
Murder

Fluvanna
Transpt.
  88.76

Tom

  10 Feb 1860
04 Dec 1858
Murder

Loudoun
Transpt.
  88.76

Harry

  10 Feb 1860
07 Dec 1858
Murder

Halifax

Transpt.
  88.76

Henry Myers
  10 Feb 1860
26 Oct 1858
Beating &c.
Culpepper
Transpt.
  88.76

Lamb

  10 Feb 1860
20 Jan 1860
Arson

Norfolk

Transpt.
  88.76

Noah

  10 Feb 1860
24 Jan 1860
Assault &c.
Page

Transpt.
    5.20

Lucy

  10 Feb 1860
16 Apr 1859
Poisoning
Prince William
Transpt.
  22.19

Sarah Ann
  10 Feb 1860
15 Mar 1859
Arson

Spotsylvania
Transpt.
  22.19

Fanny

  10 Feb 1860
13 Oct 1858
Poisoning
Botetourt
Transpt.
  22.19

Tom Graves
  25 Jun 1860
18 Feb 1860
Cutting &c.
Petersburg
2 years
  51.76

Austin Rich
  25 Jun 1860
01 Mar 1860
Shooting
Richmond
2 years
  51.76

Emanuel Rich
  25 Jun 1860
27 Mar 1860
Arson

King George
7 years
  51.76

James Winston
  25 Jun 1860
19 Mar 1860
Rape Attempt
Bedford

10 years
  51.76

Thomas Cooper
  25 Jun 1860
31 May 1860
Larceny

Augusta

5 years
  51.76

Henry Vaughn
  25 Jun 1860
06 Jun 1860
Larceny

Nelson

1½ years  51.76

George Poulson
  25 Jun 1860
16 Jun 1860
House Breaking
Accomack
3 years
  51.76

Billy

  25 Jun 1860
16 May 1860
House Breaking
Clarke

Transpt.
  51.76

Jim

  25 Jun 1860
17 May 1860
Rape Attempt
Isle of Wight
Transpt.
  51.76

Hannabal
  25 Jun 1860
22 May 1860
Arson

Williamsburg
Transpt.
  51.76

Fanny

  25 Jun 1860
20 Feb 1860
Poison Attempt
Richmond
Transpt.
  25.88

(Note – Because of the lack of room for a remarks column above I will list the remarks here: Hedgefield Butcher “Run off & after captured 3 months confined; Harrison Parrett “captured Feb. 16, 1860, sick from time to time of his recapture, till returned to penitentiary where he died; James Jones ‘discharged Sept. 19, 1860; Slave Delaware “killed Nov. 5th 1859 by the slip of a bank”; Mat Maho “discharged 10 Nov 1860; Isaac Davis “died 26 Oct 1860”; Willis Lockley “died 1st April 1860”; John Miles “discharged 9 Nov 1860”;Ned Mickens “discharged 21 Sep 1860”; slave Levi ‘died 17 Aug 1860”; Franklin Willis “discharged 15 Dec 1860”; Spencer Pennington “ leg fractured 1st Aug 1860 since which time he has been unable to work”; Emanuel Taylor “ discharged 16 sep 1860”;  Save Noah “ died 29 Feb 1860)

Richmond Va.,  July 23rd 1860
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We John Letcher, Governor of the State of Virginia and Thomas Rosser and John W. Larrius contractors on the Covington and Ohio Rail Road, agree that the said following Free Negroes and Slaves, who have heretofore been sentenced to the Penitentiary or ordered to be employed on the Public Works to wit: 

Robert Evans sentenced by the Hustings Court of Petersburg for 15 years from the 18th day of February 1854 for house breaking and larceny, aged 36 years.

Henry Jackson sentenced by the County Court of Loudoun County for 2 years from the 19th day of April 1859 for store breaking, aged 23 years.

Burwell Clayton sentenced by the Court of Cumberland County for 2 years from the 4th day of June 1859 for house breaking, aged 55 years.

Charles Allen sentenced by the Court of Accomack County for one year and six months, from the 9th day of June 1859 for grand larceny, aged 28 years.

Jim sentenced by the County Court of Prince William County to sale and transportation, from the 30th day of March 1859, aged 46 years.

Jim sentenced by the County Court of Culpepper County to be hung, which sentence has been commuted by the governor to labor on the public works, from the 4th day of April 1859, aged 37 years.

David sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Richmond, to sale and transportation, from the 25th day of April 1859 for attempting to kill his overseer, aged 22 years.

Spencer Gilbert sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Petersburg to sale and transportation from the 29th day of April 1859 for murder in the 2nd degree, aged 60 years.

Jim sentenced by the County Court of Rockingham County, to sale and transportation, from the 3rd day of May 1859 for burning a barn, aged 55 years.

Mathew sentenced by the Hustings Court of Richmond City to sale and transportation from the 16th day of May 1859, for burglary, aged 23 years.

Jack sentenced by the County Court of Caroline County, to sale and transportation from the 20th day of May 1859 for arson, aged 22 years.

Ben sentenced by the County Court of Caroline County to sale and transportation from the 20th day of May 1859 for arson, aged 34 years.

John Red sentenced by the County Court of Amherst County to sale and transportation from the 7th day of June 1859, for murder, aged 28 years.

Mary sentenced by the County Court of Frederick County to sale and transportation from the 8th day of September 1857, for poisoning, aged 16 years.

Mary Jane Mills sentenced by the County court of Loudoun County to sale and transportation from the 12th day of June 1858 for burning a barn, aged 15 years.

Ellen sentenced by the County court of Rappahannock County, to sale and transportation from the 25th day of August 1858, for infanticide, aged 20 years.

James Armstead sentenced by the Hustings Court of Richmond City, for one year from the 20th day of February 1860, for store breaking, aged 17 years.

James Ellis alias James Rix sentenced by the Hustings Court of Richmond City for 5 years from the 25th day of October 1858 for grand larceny, aged 31 years.

John Gaines sentenced by the Circuit Court of Mecklinburg County for one year, from the 25th day of June 1860, aged 25 years.

Taylor Brown sentenced by the Hustings Court of Richmond City to sale and transportation from the 22nd day of June 1860, for malicious wounding, aged 21 years.

Spott sentenced by the Hustings Court of Lynchburg to sale and transportation from the 29th day of June 1860, for grand larceny, aged 20 years.

Phillip sentenced by the County Court of Madison County to sale and transportation from the 12th day of July 1860, for murder, aged 55 years.

Narcissa sentenced by the County Court of Pittsylvania County to sale and transportation from the 1st day of March 1860 for poisoning, aged 22 years.

The said Thomas Rosser and John W. Larrius now having the sixteen named of the said convicts in their custody and employment, are to take the remaining seven into there charge immediately, and to employ them all on the said work in conformity to an act of the General Assembly passed April 7th 1858, entitled “An act providing for the employment of negro convicts on the public works.” And according to the rules and regulations prescribed by the governor (hereto annexed) a copy of which is furnished the said Rosser and three dollars and thirteen cents to wit: Robert Evans, Henry Jackson, Burwell Clayton, Charles Allen, Jim of Prince William County, Jim of Culpeper, David, Spencer Gilbert, Jim of Rockingham, Mathew, Jack, Ben, John, Red, James Armstead, James Ellis, John Gaines, Taylor Brown, Spott and Phillip each at the rate of one hundred dollars hire for one year; and the said Mary, Jane Mills and Ellen at the rate of forty five dollars hire for one year; and the said Narcissa at the rate of fifty dollars for one year.

The said sum of one hundred and three dollars and thirteen cents, being the hire for all the said convicts to be paid into the Treasury of the Commonwealth on the 1st day of January 1861. And in case the term of confinement of any convict shall expire before the termination of the hiring or the return of the prisoner to the penitentiary, the said contractors shall previously notify the governor, so that the proper order may be made in time for the discharge of the convict, but the said contractors shall in no case discharge a prisoner upon his own order: and in case where the term of hiring expires before the time of imprisonment the said contractors shall return the said convicts to the penitentiary or transfer them on the 31st day of December 1860, as may be required by the governor, at the cost of the said contractors, according to law and the regulations aforesaid: and they shall also return to the penitentiary all the manacles, chains &c. which they may take with the prisoners, when they are discharged. 

In testimony thereof we have hereto set our hands and seals the 23rd day of July 1860







Thomas Rosser (SEAL)







John W. Larrius (by Thos. Rosser)  (SEAL)







John Letcher (SEAL)

Brentsville Va.,   July 23rd 1860
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To his Excellency the Governor of Virginia

       Sir:


I hereby tender my resignation of the office of the Justice of the Peace for the County of Prince William for the term expiring on the 1st day of August next, to take effect from and after the Tuesday the 24th inst.









Wm. W. Thornton

Brentsville Va.,   July 20th  1860
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Hon. John Letcher

       Dear Sir:


I have been informed that G. W. Wise Esq. will not be reappointed to the office he now holds of Inspector of Vessels in Alexandria. If this is so I desire to recommend for the place Mr. James Fossett of the same city.


Mr. Fossett’s appointment will give almost universal satisfaction in Alexandria. He is diligent in the discharge of his duties and given satisfaction always when entrusted with public duties. He is poor with a large family of children, most of them girls and actually needs the place. His democracy is as old as he is and he has been always among the most active and zealous members of the party in his city. His honesty and felicity have never been in question.


I cannot recommend him too highly or too strongly to your consideration and earnestly hope you will give him the place. You could not put in better hands or bestow it where it is more needed.








Yours very truly








   Eppa Hunton


This recommendation is made especially on the grounds that Wise will not be re-appointed. I do not wish to see him removed but if he is then I hope to Fossett will be appointed.

Richmond, Va., October 25th  1860
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We John Letcher, Governor of the State of Virginia and Robert F. Bibb and D G. Bibb contractors on the Covington and Ohio Railroad agree that the said contractors shall employee on the said public work the following Free Negroes and Slaves. Who have heretofore been sentenced to the Penitentiary and considered to be employed on the public works to wit: Willis Lackley sentenced by the court of King and Queen County for five years from the 14th day of October 1857 for house breaking, aged 18 years;  John Miles sentenced by the Court of Fauquier County for eight years from the 9th day of November 1852 for house breaking, aged 20 ½ years;  Ned Mickens sentenced by the Court of Petersburg for three years from the 21st day of September 1857 for malicious stabbing, aged 36 years;  John Poolman sentenced by the Court of Accomack County for four years from the 9th day of February 1858 for burglary, aged 23 years;  John Roane sentenced by the Court of Accomack County for five years from the 6th day of August 1856 for burning stacks, aged 18 years; Munroe Butcher sentenced by the Court of Prince George County for five years from the 20th day of May 1856 for robbery, aged 23 years;  Nathan sentenced by the Court of Buckingham County to transportation from the 4th day of January 1858 for house burning, aged 40 years;  Levi sentenced by the Court of Middlesex County to transportation from the 20th day of February 1858 for manslaughter, aged 22 years; Jacob sentenced by the Court of King William County to transportation from the 9th day of March 1858 for house breaking, aged 22 years;  Sam sentenced by the Court of Henrico County to transportation from the 31st day of March 1858 for murder, aged 39 years;  Carrol Minnis sentenced by the Court of Charlotte County for three years from the 13th day of December 1860 for assaulting a white man with intent to kill, aged 36 years;  Lucy sentenced by the Court of Prince William County to transportation from the 16th day of April 1859 for poisoning, aged 45 years;  Sarah Ann sentenced by the Court of Spotsylvania County to transportation from the 15th day of March 1859 for arson, aged 17 years;  Fanny sentenced by the Court of Botetourt County to transportation from the 13th day of October 1858 for poisoning her master, aged 35 years.


The said Robert F. Bibb and D. G. Bibb now having the ten first named of the said convicts in their custody and employment, are to take the remaining thirty two into their charge immediately, and to employ them all on the said work in conformity to “An act of the General Assembly passed April 7th 1858 entitled “An Act providing for the employment of Negro Convicts on the public works,” and according to the rules and regulations prescribed by the Governor (hereto annexed) a copy of which is furnished the said Bibbs, for and in consideration of the sum of Three Thousand Six Hundred and forty dollars & eighty two cents to wit: Willis Lackley, John Miles, Ned Mickins, John Poolman, John Roane, Munroe Butcher, Nathan, Levi, Jacob, Sam, Carrol minis, Franklin Wells, Mathew Rand, Scott, Miles, Charles, Reuben, Ned Lee, Spencer Pennington, Ransome Hasket, Michael Ross, Jim Tyler, John Copeland, Flemming Burnett, John Paris, Andrew Strawder, Emanuel Taylor, Irby Hasket, William Reynolds, William Boon, Madison Goings, Isreal, Jim, Jim Fox, Tom, Harry, Henry Myers, Lamb, Noah, each at the rate of one hundred dollars hire for one year: and the said Lucy, Sarah Ann, and Fanny, at the rate of seventy five dollars hire for one year. The child of the said Sarah Ann being ten months old to go with her and to be well taken care of and provided for by the said Bibb.


Franklin Wells sentenced by the Court of Berkeley County for one year from the 15th day of December 1859 for burglary and larceny, aged 24 years;  Martin Rand sentenced by the Court of Williamsburg for eighteen years from the 22nd day of December 1859 for murder, aged 30 years;  Scott sentenced by the Court for the city of Richmond to transportation from the 10th day of December 1859, aged 45 years;  Miles sentenced by the Court  of Henry County to transportation from the 19th day of December 1859 for malicious stabbing, aged 37 years;  Charles sentenced by the Court of Hanover County to transportation from the 28th day of December 1859 for attempting to poison, aged 20 years;  Reuben sentenced by the Court of Albemarle County to transportation from the 13th day of December 1859 for stabbing a white man aged 47 years;  Ned Lee sentenced by the Circuit Court for the City of Richmond for life from the 24th day of July 1857 for larceny, aged 28 years;  Spencer Pennington sentenced by the Court of Petersburg for ten years from the 24th day of December 1858 for robbery, aged 25 years;  Ransome Hasket sentenced by the court of Surry County for three years from the 31st day of January 1859 for house breaking and larceny aged 32 years;  Michael Ross sentenced by the court of Hampshire County for four years from the 6th day of February 1859 for larceny, aged 25 years;  Jim Tyler sentenced by the court of Warren County for six years from the 24th day of February 1859 for burglary, aged 23 years;  John Copeland sentenced by the Court of Petersburg for two years from the 25th day of February 1859 for larceny, aged 28 years;  Fleming Burnett sentenced by the Court of Petersburg for three years from the 25th day of February 1859 for forgery, aged 22 years;  John Davis sentenced by the court of Alexandria City for three years from the 20th day of August 1858 for entering a house with intent to steal, aged 40 years;  Andrew Strawder sentenced by the Court of Rockingham County for three years, from the 1st day of September 1858 for malicious stabbing, aged 32 years;  Emanuel Taylor sentenced by the County Court of Campbell County for two years from the 16th day of September 1858 for larceny, aged 23 years;  Irby Hasket sentenced by the court of Surry County for five years from the 29th day of September 1858 for unlawful stabbing, aged 39 years;  William Reynolds sentenced by the County Court of Pittsylvania County for five years from the 31st day of January 1857 for aiding slaves to escape, aged 24 years;  William Boon sentenced by the court of Southampton County for fifteen years from the 13th day of November 1855, for murder aged 24 years;  Madison Goings sentenced by the Court of Augusta County for years from the 1st day of February 1860, for unlawful cutting, aged 54 years;  Isreal sentenced by the Hustings Court of Richmond City to transportation from the 27th day of January 1859 for wounding a white man with intent to kill, aged 36 years;  Jim sentenced by the Court of Prince Edward County to transportation from the 4th day of November 1858 for attempting to rape a white woman, aged 17 years; Jim Fox sentenced by the Court of Fluvanna County to transportation from the 26th day of November 1858 for murder, aged 24 years;  Tom sentenced by the Court of Loudoun County to transportation from the 4th day of December 1858 aged 18 years;  Harry sentenced by the Court of Halifax County to transportation from the 7th day of December 1858 for murder,  aged 30 years;  Henry Myers sentenced by the Court of Culpeper County to transportation from the 26th day of October 1858 for beating a white man, aged 25 years;  Lamb sentenced by the Court of Norfolk County to transportation from the 20th day of January 1860 for arson, aged 20 years;  Noah sentenced by the Court of Page County to transportation from the 24th day of January 1860.

Richmond Va. 1st November 1860

Box 7, Folder 2, Accession #36787

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher


A list of Free Negroes and Slave convicts in the Penitentiary for hire 8 January 1861

Names

      Received        Crime

County
       Age
length color
Sentence

Wiley Jackson
      Sept. 5th 
murder 2nd deg.  
Charlotte       18
5 ft 9   mulatto
16

Henry F. Thomas
      Aug. 15th 
wounding
Cumbrln.       27
5 ft 8   dark
1

Richard Walker
      Aug. 29th 
wounding
Dinwiddie     20
5 ft 8   mulatto
8

Benj. Hargrove
      Sept. 27th 
wounding
Surry
        32
5 ft 8   black
3

Solmon Pence
      Oct. 18th 
larceny

Nansemond  19
5 ft 6   black
3

John Pence
      Oct. 18th 
larceny

Nansemond  26
5 ft 8   black
3

James Scott
      Oct. 23rd 
stabbing

Bath
        28
4 ft 11 black
2

Samuel Hubbard
      Oct. 25th 
stabbing

Westmlnd      26
5 ft 8   illegible
7

Trelly Jubille
      Nov. 13th 
cutting &c.
Accomack     20
5 ft 4   dark
3

Dudley Richardson    Nov 21st 
cutting &c.
Danville
        24
5 ft 1   black
2

Henry Lovill
       Nov 21st 
burglary

Danville
        29
5 ft 2   black
1

SLAVES

Tom

      Sept. 21st 


Amherst
        42
5 ft 6   black

Bill

      Oct. 13th 


Jefferson        19
5 ft 8   black

J------

      Oct. 3rd 


Dinwiddie      25
5 ft 2   black

John Rickes
      Nov. 10th 


New Kent      32
5 ft 6   mulatto

Lee

      Nov. 27th 


Amelia
        27
5 ft 4   black

Oscar

      Dec. 5th 


Loudoun        19
5 ft 4   mulatto

Densen

      Dec. 11th 


Pr. Wm.
        37
5 ft 5   black

Lewis

      Dec. 18th 


Richmond      42
5 ft 3   black

Brentsville, Va., December 29th 1860
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Hon. John Letcher

      Dear Sir,


Mr. John H. Brent of Alexandria was a year ago displaced as Director of the Farmers Bank under circumstances somewhat gulling to his feelings though you certainly did not mean I am sure to reflect imperiously on him. I write you to urge upon you the propriety of re-_____ him in that position. Mr. Brent has been a good and true Democrat all his life and has the confidence of the business men of Alexandria to as great an extent as any citizen of the city.


He was proposed as a private director and rejected because he was a Democrat. Hoping you will appoint him I am






Yours &c. &c.









Eppa Hunton

Penitentiary of Virginia, Richmond, January 14th 1861

Pardon of John Cornwell
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On the requirement of Governor John Letcher I state that John Cornwell a prisoner in the penitentiary from the County of Prince William is an old and infirm man, he is well behaved though hypocondiacal & melancholy, has never rendered any efficient labor, any is not capable of much. His health has not been materially impaired by confinement, but his digestion is feeble & his bowels often disorderly. 








W. A. Pattison, Surgeon








of the Penitentiary

Penitentiary of Virginia, January 23rd 1861

Pardon of James Cornwell
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Pleas at the Court House of Prince William County before the Circuit Court of said County on the 16th day of October in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty six George Weedon, Foreman, Hector Kincheloe, Burr Glascock, William F. Hodgkin, Austin B. Weedon, Christopher Windsor, Samuel Troth, James Maddox, George A. Cannon, Thomas Jones, John Fair, Thompson Fairfax, Alexander Pearson, Benson Davis, Hampton Brenton and Benjamin Johnson were sworn a Grand Jury of Inquest for the body of this County, and having received their charge, withdrew and after sometime returned into Court and presented an Indictment against James Cornwell for Murder “A True Bill” which indictment is in these words following to wit; Ninth Judicial Circuit, Prince William County to Wit, In the Circuit Court of said County. The Jurors of the Commonwealth of Virginia in and for the body of the County of Prince William and now attending the said Court upon their oaths present that James Cornwell on the twenty eighth day of August in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty six, with force and arms in the county aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of the said court, in and upon one Thomas Turner in the Peace of God and the said Commonwealth, then and there being, feloniously and willfully and of his malice aforethought, did make an assault, and that the said James Cornwell with a certain knife of the value of twenty five cents, in his right hand then and there had and held, him the said Thomas Turner, in and upon the left side of the abdomen of him the said Thomas Turner, then and there, feloniously, willfully an of his malice aforethought, did strike and thrust giving to the said Thomas Turner then and there with the knife aforesaid, in and upon the aforesaid left side of the abdomen of him the said Thomas Turner one mortal wound of the breast of three inches and of the depth of three inches of which said Mortal Wound, the said Thomas Turner from the said twenty eighth day of August in the year aforesaid until the second day of September in the year aforesaid in the County aforesaid did languish and languishing did live. On which said second day of September in the year One Thousand Eight Hundred and Fifty Six the said Thomas Turner in the County aforesaid of the said, mortal wound died; and so the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do say that the said James Cornwell the said Thomas Turner in manner and form aforesaid feloniously willfully and of his malice aforethought did kill and murder against the  peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia upon the evidence of Wm. F. Renoe, Samuel F. Davis and L. A. Jennings sworn and sent to give evidence to the Grand Jury by the Court.

Eppa Hunton







Attorney for Commonwealth in said Court


Upon the evidence of William F. Renoe, Samuel F. Davis and L. A. Jennings of Prince William County. Sworn and sent to give evidence to the Grand Jury by the Court.


And whereupon the James Cornwell laborer, late of the County of Prince William who stands indicted of murder was set to the bar in custody of the jailor of this court arraigned of the said murder and pleaded not guilty of the indictment, whereupon  came a jury to wit: Landy Dowell, Samuel T. King, B. G. Moxley, James Smith, David S. Robinson, Oscar F. Pattie, Michael House, Moses Lynn, Henry Calvert, Albert M. Arrington, Thomas R. Alexander, and Minor Fairfax who being elected tried and sworn the truth of and upon the premises to speak and having partly heard the evidence, were with the consent of the prisoner committed to the custody of the Sheriff of this County,  who is directed to keep them together without communication with any other person and to cause them to appear here tomorrow morning at 10 o’clock, Whereupon an oath was administered to William E. Goodwin sheriff of this County and Thomas K. Davis his deputy to the following effect you shall well and truly, to the best of your ability keep this jury and neither speak to them yourselves nor suffer any other person to speak to them touching any matter relative to this trial until they return into court tomorrow and the said James Cornwell is remanded to Jail. 
And at another day “to wit” at a Circuit Court held for said County on the 14 October in the year 1856, James Cornwell late of the County of Prince William, who stands indicted of Murder, was again led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of this Court and the Jury sworn for his trial to Wit: Landy Dowell, Samuel T. King, B. G. D. Moxley, James Smith, David S. Robinson, Oscar F. Pattie, Michael House, Moses Lynn, Henry Calvert, A. M. Arrington, Thomas R. Alexander, and Minor Fairfax were brought in to court by the sheriff of this county and having fully heard the evidence upon their oath do say that the said James Cornwell is guilty of Murder in the second degree and they do ascertain the time of his imprisonment in the public jail and penitentiary house to be sixteen years and the said James Cornwell thereupon moved the court to set aside the said verdict and grant a new trial under the indictment aforesaid which motion the court doth overrule to which opinion of the court the prisoner expected and tendered his bill of exception which was received signed and sealed by the court and ordered to be made part of the record in this cause whereupon he is remanded to jail.

 At which day to wit: At a Circuit Court held for the County of Prince William  on the 16th day of October 1856 James Cornwell late of the County of Prince William who stands convicted of murder in the second degree was again led to the bar in custody of the jailor of this court and thereupon it being demanded  of him anything for himself he had or knew to say why the court here should not now proceed to pronounce judgment against him according to law and nothing being offered or alleged in delay of judgment it is considered by the court that the said James Cornwell be imprisoned in the public jail and Penitentiary House of this Commonwealth for the term of Sixteen years the period the Jurors in their verdict ascertained and it is ordered that the Sheriff of this County do as soon as possible after the adjournment of this court remove and safely convey the said James Cornwell from the Jail, of this court to the said public jail and penitentiary house therein to be kept imprisoned and treated in the manner directed by law and the court doth certify that on the trial of the said James Cornwell nothing appeared to the court either in aggravation or extenuation of the offence of the said James Cornwell nor did it appear that before the commission of the said offence he was of bad or good character or that he had ever been convicted or tried for any felony or other infamous crime and thereupon the said James Cornwell is remanded to Jail.

 The following is a copy of the evidence: Wm. F. Renoe for Commonwealth says. I was up at Mr. Davis’ at the Show on Thursday in August. Mr. Davis was not at home and Mrs. Davis asked me to stay until he came - I told her I would - I hadn’t been there over 15 minutes before the deceased asked me to set him out something to drink. I did so and the deceased, the prisoner and Mr. Fair all drank and the deceased paid me – as I turned around to put up the decanter heard the prisoner say something to deceased – don’t remember what the deceased said if you don’t behave yourself damn you I’ll make you – the prisoner replied I’ll cut your guts out, as he said so he walked up to deceased and then walked back to near the peace he started from – the deceased examined Bill I am a ruined man – I said ruined how Tom? – he replied that man has cut me to death. I said no I reckon not Tom – he Bill I am a dead man- get over the counter and go for the doctor – I then got over the counter between the prisoner and deceased – as I got over I saw the prisoner with a knife in his hand and that the deceased was cut – I went on after the doctor and when I returned with him the deceased had fallen at the place I left him standing. The wound was in the left side of the abdomen. When I returned the prisoner was coming out of the porch door.

CROSS EXAMINED – When deceased told the prisoner to behave himself they were standing some distance apart – The prisoner walked up to deceased and made a blow – saw a fight between the prisoner and John Renoe some short time before the stabbing (about half an hour) The prisoner was intoxicated, was very drunk – I don’t think he knew altogether what he was about – I heard a fuss in Davis’ and went in and found the prisoner and John Renoe fighting – I caught hold of Reno and said for God sake behave yourself and don’t strike an old man – Then Cornwell struck John two or three times while I was parting them and the deceased came up and said don’t hold one man and not the other – the deceased and I parted them – When I went up the prisoner was down and John Renoe on him but not hurting him much – I don’t know that I saw a lick struck until I took hold to part them – then they both exchanged blows – The deceased helped me to take John away from prisoner – he taking prisoner and I John Renoe – When I came back in about fifteen minutes John Renoe was asleep on porch bench.








Wm. F. Renoe








 (his X  mark)

Samuel Davis for Commonwealth – On the evening of the Circus I was coming back to the show and met Mr. Wm. Renoe who said he was going after the Doctor – I walked upon the porch of Mr. Davis and met the prisoner – heard someone groan and heard the prisoner say God Damn You if I have not given you enough I can come back and finish you, and he walked on out with his knife in his hand – I went in and took the candle off the counter and looked at the deceased lying on the floor and said Mr. Fair this man is cut open, the prisoner has cut him open – the deceased was cut on the left side of the abdomen – the knife in prisoners hand was a short knife – The prisoner seemed very drunk.








S. F. Davis

James Fair for Commonwealth – I came up to the show about sundown – the prisoner was on the porch of Mr. Davis alone rearing – I asked him what was the matter he said God damn you I’ll cut your guts out and I went on in without saying more to him. The deceased was there and asked me to drink and I took a drink and walked out – the prisoner came in and said can I take a drink too, the deceased said certainly Mr. Cornwell – I went out and did not see whether the prisoner drank or not – I heard the prisoner running on and heard the deceased say to him behave yourself – the next I heard was the prisoner said God damn you I’ll cut your guts out – the deceased at once exclaimed I am a ruined man – I went in and found the deceased on the floor – I did not see the prisoner after I went in – The prisoner was pretty hot in liquor – I have known him for years we were on friendly terms.







Jas. Fair







(his mark)

Wm. E. Goodwin for Commonwealth – I went in with Dr. Jennings and asked who cut the deceased and was told it was the prisoner and took a light and went out and found the prisoner under the platform of Mr. Davis behind a large hogshead leaning on it – I asked him what he was doing there – he said nothing – I told he has cut the entrails out of deceased – He commenced talking about Rives and said they had been trying to black him again and damn him if had not – told me not to come near him – I grabbed him and as I did it he run his hand in his pocket – I took his hand out – he had a knife in his pocket the same before the Court – John A. King and myself took him in the house and tied him – He did all he could to prevent our tying him – he had been drinking a good deal & seemed to be intoxicated. I doubt whether he knew what he was about – when he is drinking, he is in a great measure deprived of his senses. I was present sometime last spring when Rives & the prisoner had a difficulty and the prisoner stabbed Rives or Rives was stabbed and the prisoner was said to have done it. I suppose the prisoner went under the porch to hide himself. I should suppose the prisoner drinking as he was, ought to have had sense enough to know it was wrong to cut a man but I don’t know whether he had or not.







Wm. E. Goodwin

Dr. Jennings for the Commonwealth – I was the surgeon called upon to dress the wounds of deceased. I found the wound in his groin about 3 inches in length obliquely across his left side of the abdomen – it seemed as if the knife entered into the lower part of the wound and cut up – the wound penetrated through the cavity of the belly and when I saw  him nearly all his intestines were out. I restored them to their proper position with the assistance of Dr. Vowles and we closed the wound. Soon after he expressed a desire to pass his water, the catheter was introduced and blood passed showing the knife had penetrated the bladder. Blood continued to pass at every introduction of the catheter for about 24 hours for about 24 hours after we drew off clear urine – after that for some time the catheter passed nothing until the morning preceding the day of his death when matter passed from which time he gradually sunk until the next morning Tuesday when he died – He was stabbed the 28th day of August on Thursday night. It was about 8 o’clock when I first saw him. I am satisfied he died from suppuration of the bladder caused by the wound. He died on Tuesday morning next (word smeared) the infliction of the wound about ½ past 8 o’clock. His mind was perfectly clear from the time he was stabbed until a few minutes before he died. On the evening he was stabbed when one found his bladder was cut. Dr. Vowles & myself told him he must die we did not think there was a possible chance for him to recover. He said he was satisfied he was going to die – he told Mr. King he owed him some money and wanted him to go to Mr. Jones where he had some barrels & pay himself 7 the balance he wanted to go to James Fair & his wife & daughters. The Justice Mr. Thornton was then called in and took down the dying declaration of the deceased in writing – on the evening before he died Dr. Thornton whom I had requested to see him told him he must die and ask him if he had anything to say in addition to what he had stated on the evening he was stabbed, the deceased said as well as he recollected he had no addition to make, he was asked to state again who it was that stabbed him, he replied Mr. Cornwell & without the slightest provocation. After we found the catheter passed clear water I had some hope he might recover – that the bladder would heal – although I knew it was very seldom the case. I think I communicated this hope to the prisoner.







L. A. Jennings

R. G. Davis for Prisoner – On the night of Circus I started for the show. I called in to see Mr. Davis & walked in the corner of the bar room – several persons were there – John Renoe , the prisoner 7 the deceased – a fight ensued between the deceased, Rives and the prisoner – Mr. Rives came in and separated them – cannot say whether the deceased participated in the fight or was trying to separate them – in a few moments I left and when I returned I saw the deceased on the floor stabbed & Dr. Jennings was putting his intestines back.







R. G. Davis

Prince William County, Virginia, January 1861

Pardon of James Cornwell
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To His Excellency Henry A. Wise, governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia


The undersigned citizens of the County of Prince William respectfully represent that at this October term 1856 of the Circuit Court of Prince William County, James Cornwell was convicted of murder in the second degree and sentenced to imprisonment in the penitentiary for the term of sixteen years. That the circumstances attending the offence for which he was convicted, shew that it was the result of a fit of intoxication, into which he had fallen, and that there was no malice or ill will existing between the said Cornwell and the deceased. The evidence in this case was put upon the record and accompanies this petition, and a writ of error having been refused by the court of appeals, the said Cornwell was sent to the penitentiary for the term aforesaid. Your petitioners state that Cornwell is about sixty years of age, had always resided in the county of Prince William, and up to the time of this unfortunate __ had been the character of an honest peaceable and industries citizen, that he has a wife and three children, your petitioners believe he is under the circumstances of his case, a fit subject for Executive clemency. They therefore pray that your Excellency may grant to the said James Cornwell a pardon for the residue of the term of his imprisonment.

J. M. Savage



W. H. Simpson


Wm. A. B. Smith

John H. Lynn



John Arnold


Newton Woodyard

P. D. Williams



Bernard Arnold


L. A. Jennings

R. Cooper



E. B. Ellicott


Francis Robertson

Thomas Homes



Caleb S. Davis


W. G. Brawner

Benjamin Cooper



Owen W. Latimer

Lucien A. Davis

William F. Hodgkin


C. T. Jardelia


Thomas R. Newman

Robert A. Calvert



Richard J. Reid


Frederick P. Williams

M. M. Roseberry



J. T. Leachman


B. P. Mitchell

Charles G. Howison


Robert Weedon


Robert E. Leachman

John King



B. H. Shackleford

John P. Phillips of Fauq.

A. Nicol




Matt Davis


Benson Davis

John D. Davis



Edward McEwing

John Keys

Ludwell Whalon



Jno T. Williams


Vernon Davis

James W. Davis



John Carter


Alexander Pearson

Wm. Mankin



Thomas Pettit


F. C. Davis

Wm. Arrington



Road Loveless


George W. Garner

William Renoe



C. Renoe


Hedgeman Carney

John Bland



W. H. Smoot


C. W. Holland

James R. Webster



John Cross


Edward Harding

Rezin Webster



E. Gaines


James Fewell

James Cornwell



E. B. Trenis


W. J. Manuel

Robert P. Nutt



E. W. Petty


A. H. Keys

John M. Payne



C. A. Nelson


C. B. Tebbs

Wm. J. Hixson



P. D. Lipscomb


F. P. Brawner of Culpeper

Moses Hixson



J. L. Hammett


J. K. Davis

George F. Carney



Joseph Curl


William B. Carter

George B. Adams



John Doughty


Wm. E. Lipscomb

John C. Weedon



Jas Howison


James Keys

W. W. Davis



Wm. E. Goodwin


T. W. Tansill

J. R. Purcell



E. Nelson


R. Foster

John Fair



Isaac Florence


Hugh B. Draney

Charles R. Goodwin


C. Cooper


Thomas H. Dowell

John C. Deats



William Goodwin

John R. Goodwin

Lucien E. Powell



L. C. Lynn


William Lynn

Thomas H. Cornwell


Robert W. Wilkins

John F. Renoe

Northumberland Pearson


Samuel Davis


William F. Renoe

William Posey



Elias E. Conner


James W. Moore

William J. Bryant



John J. Beavers


William Beavers

John H. Purcell



Reuben C. Reid


Henry Bryant

James Vowles



Roy Cornwell


John Mathews

Leroy Lynn



Weldman N. Chapel

S. T. King

Montreville Cornwell


A. King



J. R. Cornwell

Wm. W. Thornton


Isaac W. Davis


Richard M. Weir

Moses Lynn



M. Fitzhugh


Wm. Brawner

Samuel Wolverton


John T. Suthard


Richard D. Shacklette

R. F. Brawner



Caleb Simpson


J. B. Grayson

L. B. Butler



R. G. Davis


Wm. C. Tolson

George H. Lynn



T. Fitzhugh


W. Washington


Alexander Reno



F. Clayton Williams

F. M. Lewis

Benjamin H. Cockrell


Henry Love


Robert Molair

Wm. Wright



Cassius Foley


Thomas R. Alexander

John Finch



Andrew J. Carter


Lewis Mountjoy

Thomas P. Hixson


Wm. W. Monroe


Bernard Person

George M. Abel



John Cornwell


E. A. Maxfield

R. L. Waring



Chapman Copin


A. Howison

James Abell



Basil Cole


L. Cole

Charles F. Norman


Benson L. Pridmore

John Molair

Obed. Cornwell



George A. Bowling

Elijah Abel

James A. Cornwell


James Florence


Miner Fairfax

L. B. Norvill



Daniel Crump


Solomon Brill

Jno Williams



Hugh  Davis


Edward M. Spilman

John D. Dogan



Thomas N. Berryman

Thos. C. Frasher

M. N. Lynn



James Larkin


Addison Rollins

Horace Cole



Wm. Lynn


R. G. Maddox

L. F. Lynn



John R. Kincheloe

James M. Barbee

William Bell



Charles Davis


Peter Cornil

James S. Fair



William W. Suthard

Matthew Finegan

John Suthard



E. J. T. Clark


Joshua Taylor

Waller Molair



A. J. Davis


D. B. Kincheloe

Kendrick B. Cole



A. B. Weedon


D. W. Allan

C.M.Copen



Madison Finch


John Higbie

Foster M. Finch



John Cross


Thomas Chamberlin

G. W. Gregg



Samuel Caten


G. M. Ivy

Henry A. Duvall



A. M. Arrington


John A. Davis

Richard T. Mattocks


G. W. Fitzhugh


Henry Robinson

David S.
Robinson


B. G. D. Moxley

I William Fitzhugh, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Prince William County do certify that Moses Lynn, Samuel T. King, Minor Fairfax, Thomas R. Alexander, B. G. D. Moxley, David S. Robinson and A. M. Arrington who signed the following petition were jurors in the case of the Commonwealth vs James Cornwell.








M. Fitzhugh, clerk







Richmond, Virginia, January 23rd 1861

Pardon of John Cornwell
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At the October Term 1856 of the Circuit Court for Prince William County, John Cornwell was found guilty of murder in the second degree, and sentenced to sixteen years imprisonment in the Penitentiary. The prisoner is upwards of sixty years of age, and according to the certificate of Doctor Pattison, surgeon of the Penitentiary is infirm, hypocondiacal  and melancholy, and has never rendered any efficient service. Previous to the commission of this offence he sustained the character of a peaceable industrious, quiet and unoffensive man. The delegate in the General Assembly from the County of Prince William, and two hundred and forty two of the most respectable citizens of that county, as I am assured by the delegate, now apply for his pardon. In consideration of his previous good character, his infirm health, his advanced age, the propriety his deportment since his confinement. I have determined to discharge him as I consider the law has been fully vindicated.








John Letcher








Jan 23rd 1861

Richmond, July 10th 1861

Executive Department
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     To the Sheriff or Jailor of the County of Fauquier

          Dear Sir,


The Governor has been informed by the British Consul here that an Irishman named Henry Green is detained in the jail of Fauquier County in consequence of his refusing to enlist in a military body. He is stated to be a British subject not naturalized in this country. The governor desires to be informed whether there has been or is any such person in your jail & the facts relating to the case. It is desirable to obtain full information that it may be communicated to the consul for his Government. A speedy answer is requested.









Very respectfully









George W. Mumford









Secy. of the Commonwealth

Brentsville, Prince William County, July 15th 1861
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Honorable John Letcher, Governor of Virginia, Dear sir as the Militia of Virginia has been called into service and by your proclamation the Sheriff of each County has been released for the use and benefit of the State in the Collection of the Revenue and as the Colonel of the Militia of this County will not “Release any” Deputy. I therefore respectfully ask that your honour will release Edwin Nelson & Francis J. Cannon the Deputies now qualified and that, have been acting as Deputies for me in the County of Prince William, as it is important to the interest of Virginia that they should continue if this should meet with your approbation please let me hear from you as the business of the County is in want of their attention.








Yours Very respectfully








Wm. E. Goodwin








Sheriff of Prince William County

Richmond, Virginia, July 16th 1861

General Orders – Executive Department
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In the requisition for the Militia called for by the President of the Confederate States & embraced in the proclamation of the Governor of the 15th instant. The following classes of persons will be exempt from the call:


First, all operatives employed in the manufacture of arms, ammunition or other munitions of war, and woolen goods for the troops, & the persons superintending them, whether the manufacture be for the Confederate States or for the State of Virginia; In each case the person or persons employed must obtain the certificate of the Military Officers or department employing him or them, before the exemption will be allowed.


Second, All officers of Banks & other Branches who shall be certified by the President thereof to be necessary for carrying on the operation of the institution.


Third, Overseers of Farms, who shall produce the certificate of their employer or other authorized agent that they are so employed.


Fourth, All millers necessarily and personally employed in any grist mill, upon the production of a certificate of their being so employed by some justice of the peace of their County or Corporation.


Fifth, The Police force of the Cities of Richmond, Staunton & Fredericksburg, upon the production of a certificate of their office from the mayor of such city or town respectively.


Sixth, Persons necessary to the operation & running of Rail Roads and the repair of their rolling stock. Also those necessary to the operation of Telegraph Lines upon the production of certificates from the President or superintendent of such Railroads or the manager of such Telegraph Lines.


In addition to these exemptions persons are authorized to obtain members of Volunteer Companies for the War out of the ranks of the Militia Companies under the proclamation of the Governor calling for three thousand men until that number are obtained and when such a volunteer company is organized the persons enrolled therein are to be exempt from the Militia duty, upon producing the certificate of the Captain of such company.


All officers enrolling the Militia or Mustering them into service are hereby ordered to allow the exceptions herein mentioned & give a written discharge to those who may have been enrolled or mustered into service when satisfied that the parties are entitled to exception.








By order of the Governor

Orange Court House, Virginia July 17th  1861
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To Hon. John Letcher, governor of Virginia

      Dear Sir,


Under your proclamation for the Militia of this County to be reposition at Manassas to General Beauregard. The Colonel of this County has ordered John S. Rose my Deputy Sheriff to Manassas. You will please inform me if he is exempt from that duty as I contend that he was under your proclamation some time since – if not, will you be so kind as to release him as now is the time to collect the taxes. Our business is so unmanaged that I cannot get along without him.  Your immediate attention will greatly oblige your Obedient Servant,




Jas L. Robinson, Sheriff




  Orange County, Va.

Brentsville, Virginia July 19th  1861
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To Hon. John Letcher

      Dear Sir,


In the proclamation of the 16 inst. in regard to the call of the Militia there is various discussions in regard to the Third Article. Is an overseer exempt that labors a part of the time on the plantation or not? I desire to know whether I am exempt. I are employed by my mother to oversee both of her plantations and have been employed by her for 3 years, and she is not able to control the servants on the farm. Please inform me of the meaning of that article in the next mail.  

By so doing you will oblige yours &c.


Isaac Kline

Prince William County, Virginia July 20th  1861
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To Hon. John Letcher, Richmond, Virginia

      Sir,


Although this letter comes from an unknown name I beseech you to read it. I am a Presbyterian Minister & have no object in deceiving you.


I can well understand that profound policy necessitated the call for the Militia. It was desired to stimulate the volunteer movement, and to show our enemies that we were a united people. Tho perhaps for convenience of draft.  I presume there are other reasons which are not patent to an outsider. Amongst those reasons it is not supposed that increasing the means of defence by the Militia per se had any part. For in battle they are worthless.


I have always believed that this call would be temporary. I write now to lay before you some facts which may be deemed worthy of attention. The oats are rotting in the fields, the ploughing of the corn is not ended, the people made small crops of wheat, & straw there is little, and the hay is rapidly being lost. I fear I am in bounds when I say that millions a day are being lost, or soon will be.


The people can pay no taxes & there will be such a famine as occurred in Ireland, unless something is done. I speak in behalf of the common people. In Middle Southern Virginia the men can go & leave Negroes to do the work, but here where the farms are small & there are few Negroes, the work must be left undone.


Before the call for the Militia, I heard of $5.00 a day offered for hands. Imagine what it must be now. 


If a leave of absence for three weeks or even two could be granted, the oats might be half saved & the grass more than half. I was at one of the points of rendezvous yesterday, and saw men who told me they were ruined by this call. But not one complaint did I hear. 


Honored Sir, You love your people & your people love you. Help them in their distress. Let them save their hardly made crops, that they and their families may not starve. Give them a temporary respite at least, and thousands of hearts will bless you. It is believed that the ends for which the Militia were called have been attained. All have volunteered who will be made by this to do it. And the enemy now knows that all have taken up arms against him.


I respectfully refer to Dr. Hoge, to Mr. Richard Dibrell, & to my brother, Lt. B. S. Ewell as regards my character. I am respectfully.



William Stoddert

Confederate States of America War Department 

Richmond, Virginia July 24th 1861
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J. E. McMullen has permission to visit Manassas & Winchester upon his honor as a man, that he will not communicate in writing or verbally, or publication, any fact ascertained by him. He goes for the body of one who was killed in battle.









L. P. Walker









Secretary of War

Battlefield near Manassas,  July 24th 1861

Box #16, Folder 5, Accession # 36787, RG-3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

     Gov. Letcher,


Dear Sir, You are aware that I am exempt from all military service even in time of war, being clerk of the County Court. I nevertheless entered the field on the 17th of April & have been rendering such service since as I could. I offered to resign the Clerkship of the Court, but a full court of the Justices refused to accept my resignation as I had left as Deputy Wm. A. Burnett one of the best Clerk’s in the State. Mr. Burnett writes me that they are about to compel him to serve in the Militia. If he is forced to go, there is no one I can get in his place and it would result in forcing me to quit my Company now one of the largest & best in the State & go home, or let the office be closed till the Court could be convened to appoint a clerk pro tem. As I am by law exempt, but am in fact in the field, can you not treat me as a substitute for Mr. Burnett and direct M. G. Harman not to draft him? If so please drop a line to Harman at once. Burdett is really a member of my Company, but by a By Law of the Company & a unanimous vote before we left home he was permitted to remain in the office as my Deputy. All I ask is that you will now ratify the unanimous wish of my Company & of the County Court of my County.


My official report to Gen. Whitig will perhaps fall under your eye soon, and you will see we did our duty on Sunday last. My battery was the first in the fight & was under fire from 14 guns for several hours. We were badly cut up, but held our own till all our ammunition was gone and I think we did the enemy more damage than any other 100 men in our army. They shattered one of my guns which I have turned over to be sent to Richmond for repairs.









Respectfully,   

J. D. Imboden

(The Governor wrote on the back of the letter “W. A. Burnell Exempt”

Head of Holeston, Smyth County, Va., July 31, 1861
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      Gov. Letcher, Sir.


Some of my friends advise me to write to you asking you to let my son come home from Manassas Junction he went on with Captain A. G. Penalton recruits he volunteered on Saturday and left on Monday he was persuaded to do it I have been so troubled that I cannot eat or sleep he is 17 years old one year younger than the law requires him to be he never mustered in his life never was drilled one moment I think I could have got off after him but my friends persuaded me to let him go on  with them others said you would send him back to me, they did not want to let any of them off please to let him come home he is the only son I have I buried two daughters  in seven days and to gave up my only son now is more than I bare myself are both sick her (-----) is so great for her brother that medicine will do her cough no good I have three daughters we live on the rail road between two shanties  where the hands are passing all hours of the night I live in search all the time for _____ the ____ _____ in where they ____ we are alone when my son was here I felt safe we have two families here that we are taking care of their husbands volunteered and left them five in one family and four in the other it hurts my feelings very much to them that I helped to ___ and the volunteers gave sometime to ___ ___ ___ my money with them and ___ __ I as they passed on and had to gave up my one son I have no farther mother now to call on they have all passed away I must call on you to sympathies with a broken hearted mother one of our ministers said you was man of fine feeling that you had pardon some of the convicts before their time was out and thought you would not refuse to grant my request if you discharge my son pleas to gave him something to show that he got off honorably he is a good and faithful son all ways has been born his own expenses home if you will let come Mr. A. G. Penalton the Capt. of the command & I ___ raised in one male _____ he is much a respected man he will not refuse to let off my son name is John D. Buchanan if you will let him come home please write and tell me when you will send him my hope rest on you can make my house happy or miserable he weak breasted is not able to be what the have to do I hope you will write as soon as this reaches you let me know what you will do please do not refuse me if you do I cannot live my trouble will be to great Direct your letter to Me very ____ grant my request and God will creson you with blessings I hope I hear from you as my mind is so destroubled.








Yours truly









Mary G. Buchanonu

Abington, Virginia July 29th  1861
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       Hon. John Letcher:


Dear sir I have been requested by a number of citizens to ask that you forward some half dozen pairs of the “Hand-Cuffs” said to have been captured from the Hessians at Manassas a few days since by our army. Should you do so, they will be deposited in the Clerk’s Offices of this and adjoining counties; and will doubtless have an excellent effect in bringing out scores of hardy Mountaineers as Volunteers for the Army.


If you consent, please send per Express to this place, and I will see that they reach the proper destinations.









Yours very respectfully,









H. W. Baker

Brentsville, Virginia July 27th  1861
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To his Excellency the Governor of Virginia

      Dear Sir,


On behalf of the indigent of this county, I write you for the purpose of obtaining the release of L. F. Lynn, who is one of the overseers of the poor of this county from military duty. Your proclamation of the 13th inst. calling out the Militia embraced the overseers of the poor, while your proclamation of the 17th did not exempt them. It appears to me that they are a class who’s services are so much needed at home as any other class embraced in your proclamation of the 17th inst. Indeed it has been upon the faith of the assurance that these men will remain at home and provide for the families of the needy that many a poor man has volunteered his services in defense of his country, when under these circumstances he would have considered it his duty to remain at home for their support. With the view also the County Court of this County in making a large appropriation for the support of the families of the poor whose natural guardians should go into the service, directed its expenditures by said overseers. To exempt this class of persons would interfere but little with the service, as nearly all of them are already exempt because of age or otherwise. To propose sending any more of them into the service would be to deprive the poor to a great extent of the provisions made for them by the county. Mr. Lynn is the only one in the County not now exempt from military duty. While this is the case, because of his peculiar locality it is more important that his service should be retained as an overseer than any other of his associates. He is appointed in a district bordering the Potomac where a large portion of the inhabitants derive their support from the wood cut by them and sold in Washington and Alexandria markets. The war and the blockade having cut off the whole of their usual support many of the men having volunteered their service in defense of their country. Those at home are left dependant. Indeed it is almost a matter of necessity that Mr. Lynn’s service should be retained by them. And should you not feel authorized to make the release general throughout the state, I am sure from the peculiar circumstances of this case, it will be considered by you as an exception and entitled to exceptions. You will much oblige by giving this your early and favorable consideration.








Yours very respectfully

A. Nicol 

Camp near Manassas Junction, July 26th  1861

Rockbridge Rifle Company
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      Governor Letcher Sir:


I thought that I would write to you and see if I could get a transfer from the Rockbridge Rifle Company to the Rockbridge Artillery Company. I have two brothers in that Company, and they need more men I believe, besides the Rockbridge Rifle Company got thirty new recruits yesterday and I think they could easily spare me. You would confer great favor by so doing. I have been with the artillery company for some time. I was detailed to help to man a twenty four pounder which was under Capt. Pendleton’s command.









Yours Truly









S. P. N. McCampbell

P.S. Please let me know as soon as convenient.

        

S. Mc

Manassas, Virginia, July 29th  1861
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     Gov. Letcher

          Sir, The undersigned officers of the companies of the 33rd regiment of Virginia Volunteers respectfully ask that Capt. John R. Jones of Company I of this regiment be appointed Lieut. Col. of the regiment. Capt. J. is a military graduate, has had many years experience as instructor of tactics and has seen service. He has the confidence of officers and men. The regiment is composed of men from his own and adjoining counties in the valley of Virginia, has recently been organized, and has no field officers except that of Col. A.C. Cummings.




Respectfully

W. D. Rippetoe – Capt. company H. 33rd Regt. Va. Vol.

G. W. Allen -  Capt. company H. 33rd Regt. Va. Vol.

Jno L. Pitman – 1st Lieut.  company H. 33rd Regt. Va. Vol.

V. Ripley – 2nd Lieut.  company H. 33rd Regt. Va. Vol.

George Buck – 2nd Lieut. Prov. Army Va. Co.

R. Fadely – 2nd Lieut. Prov. K. 33rd Regt. Va. Vol.

John Daily 3rd Lieut. ___Guards.

M. Shules – 3rd Lieut. Commanding Co. H. 33 Regiment

Jno Gatewood – Capt. Co. C. Va. Vols.

Jno H. Grabill – Lieut Co. C. 38th Regt.

George Huston – 1st Lieut. Co. I. 33rd Regt.

4 Captains & some Lieuts. Are absent.

Camp near Manassas, July 30th  1861

33rd Reg. Va. Vol.
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    Hon. Judge Brockenborough

      
 Dear Sir: I enclose a petition by the commissioned officers of this regiment asking that I be appointed Lieut. Col. Of the Regiment. Also the request of Col. Cummings endorsed by the Genl. of our Brigade. I have command of the largest company in the regiment, and no regiment in the army suffered as much as the 33rd in the recent fight. Out of 400 men taken into the fight we had 46 killed and 114 wounded – total 160.


The 33rd is composed of companies from the 10th Legion – a Col. And Major have been assigned – neither of whom is taken that section of the state – No Lieut. Col. has yet been assigned – You will please read the enclosed papers and present them to the Governor. It is all important that the Regt. be immediately fully officered.  It’s efficiency depends upon it. You will confer a great favour by presenting my application at once, and getting an immediate decision.








Very Respectfully









John R. Jones

P. S. My Company is from Rockingham

Seville, Madison County, Va., July 30th  1861
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To His Excellency the Governor of Virginia


Knowing the multiplicity of cares imposed on you; it was with great reluctance I asked your attention to the effect on our community at large; the ____ call made upon the Militia which elicited your respectful response to mine (of 17th inst) referring to the relief by certain exceptions made by proclamation of the 16 to the relief of Millers, Overseers &c.  since that time one obstacle follows another, to the proper adjustment of things. I am an old man that always attends to my own business; After my children had all left me my son Wm. M. Simms (39 years old) returned to live with me. Who I employed as my regular overseer to attend to my Farm Carding Machines. Assist me about the Post Office &c &c. Upon the first call, he marched Madison Court House with knap sack, gun &c. The call being found to be premature he returned home, with orders to be there again the next week. In the mean time, the orders of the 16th exonerating Millers, Overseers &c. was made by your Excellency, when I wrote to the officers my peculiar situation & sent them a certificate of the regular employment of my son. But it seems in consequence of more applications being made by sons & son in law, than they thot right; they decided that they all should go to Manassas & then test their claim to exception from duty. My son returned home quite unwell and as soon as he was well again, he went by the way of Gordonsville to Manassas. Upon getting there, he found the Madison Militia had not arrived there (stopping near Culpeper Court House) through the aid of his acquaintance Col. Deane his application for release from service, Certificate &c. was laid before Col. Sterret; and learned from him that he was very much engaged & meant to send this & other applications to your Excellency to decide on. I do not censure the Militia Officers for the course they have thot proper to pursue, but will say the course adopted in the different counties, have been very irregular; and in many cases have put individuals to much unnecessary trouble. If Col. Sterret sent my sons application, I presume he will send my certificate &c. Should your Excellency exonerate my son from duty. I presume you will notify Col. Sterret of the fact; or would it be asking too much, to ask the report made to me, at this office as it would save us some suspense & much trouble. 

From your obedient & humble servant 

Wm. Simms of Madison P.M. at Seville

Executive Department, Richmond, July 10th 1861
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To the Sheriff or Jailor of the County of Fauquier County

       Dear Sir,


The Governor has been informed by the British Consul here that an Irishman named Henry Green is detained in the Jail of Fauquier County in consequence of his refusing to enlist in a Military body. He is stated to be a British subject not naturalized in this Country. The Governor desires to be informed whether there has been or is any such person in your jail & the facts relating to the case. It is desirable to obtain full information that it may be communicated to the Consul for his Government. A speedy answer is requested.








Very Respectfully








George W. Mumford








Secy. of the Commonwealth

Camp near Manassas, July 31st  1861

33rd Reg. Va. Vol.
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       Governor Letcher Sir:


I have the honor to inform you that there is not now and has not been a Lt. Col. assigned to the 33rd Regt. of Va. Volunteers.  Capt. J. R. Jones of the Regt. is a competent officer is acceptable to the regiment. It is sufficient for me to say that Capt. Jones is qualified in every respect to fill the office of Col. or Lt. Col.  The regiment is made up from Shenandoah and the adjoining counties.  Capt. Jones’ company is from Rockingham and I think the section from which the regiment comes is entitled to at least one field officer.








Respectfully,

A. C. Cummings

Col. 33rd Regt. Va. Vol.


I concur with Col. Cummings respecting the qualifications of Capt. Jones.








T. J. Jackson








Brig. Genl. R.A.C.S. 

Camp at Fairfax Station, August 1st 1861
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To all whom it may concern:


We the undersigned Field Officers of the 10th Regiment Virginia Volunteers, do hereby certify that Charles A. Sprinkel has been the regularly commissioned and acting Captain of “Co. G.” known as the “Valley Guard” of said Regiment – said company being called into service on the 18th of April, 1861, and was in the fight near Manassas Junction, on Sunday July 21st 1861. This Company comprised a part of the detachment taken that day from the 10th Regiment, and was exposed to a heavy fire from the enemy, in which they had two men killed and five wounded.


We also certify that Capt. Sprinkel has been merchandising in Harrisonburg for several years, and has always sustained a high character for integrity; and at the time he was called into service, held the position of Superintendent of Public Schools.






S. B. Gibbons – Col. 10th Reg. Va. Vols.






E. T. H. Warren – Lt. Col. 10th Reg. Va. Vols.






Saml. T. Walker – Major 10th Reg. Va. Vols.

Stafford County Virginia, August 5th 1861
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To His Excellency Gov. Letcher
    
Dear Sir, I take the liberty to write you a few lines as I wish you to fairly understand the state of things in this county. The Militia has been called out in camp four times & kept out by order of Col. Holmes without any benefit to the state whatever & taking all the men of families from their crops leaving them to destruction & receiving no benefit on their lands. Stafford has furnished considerable more than her number of volunteers but it seems she gets no credit for them. Fauquier County is credited by volunteers from Stafford and so has King George. Fredericksburg and Prince William County also have been credited for Stafford men.  Sir it maybe just but I think it’s very unfair Stafford is fully entitled to her men they are serving the state. There is young men enough to over fill the number without the credit from other counties. The majority of the men in this county are poor men & if the draft must come, take the young men without families with her volunteers. Stafford is not able to stand a draft, it will take nearly all & further the men are not willing to serve under Colonel Homes. Fill his place with some other man. In haste respectfully yours.






Joseph Wine

Camp near Manassas, August 23rd 1861

49th Regt. Va. Vol.
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       Governor Letcher Sir:


Some time I wrote an application for a Lieutenancy stating reasons &c. to wit, that I had been a member of the “Southern Guard” (University of Virginia) served at Harpers Ferry. Then as Drill Master at the University School – then as private in Col. Murray’s Company (then Captain) – fought in the Battle of Manassas &c. – Since then Col. Smith commanded the Regt. – has appointed me Adjutant – acting, he says, under a recent ordinance of the Virginia Convention allowing sergeants, corporals or privates to be thus promoted – I now write asking information on the subject – at the same time begging that, if I am entitled to a commission, you will have it forwarded.


Enclosed you will find the Col’s appointment which was read as evening pa----le and since then I have been acting adjutant.








Yours Respectfully









Walter Weir

Camp Bartow, Near Manassas Junction, August 20th 1861

1st Regt. Ky. Vols.
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       Sir,


Capt. Fitzhugh will show a letter just received from his wife. Which he will at once explain to you his wishes. I cheerfully give my consent & will see to his company being well attended to.









Yours Respectfully









Thomas H. Taylor









Lt. Col. Comp. 1st Regt Ky. Vol.

Camp Bartow, Near Manassas Junction, August 20th 1861

1st Regt. Ky. Vols.
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       Hon. L. P. Walker

       Secretary of War S.C.

       Richmond, Virginia


Dear Sir, You will pardon me for encroaching upon your time which I know is so much occupied but it must be done for humanity sake.


I have just received a note from my wife informing me of a very severe and perhaps fatal injury to one of my children also stating that if I wished to see him alive to come at once: This I am anxious to do and appeal to you for a furlough which General Johnston refused me although I had the consent of Col. Thomas H. Taylor and General Jones.


My wife with four small children followed me from Kentucky several weeks after I had volunteered my services to the Southern Confederacy -  leaving many friends and relatives in that State in order to be near me. I received marching orders and had to leave her in a large city almost destitute of friends – At my request she left for King William to remain among strangers to her – when she met with the accident to one of her little ones referred to above. Do I beseech you not for me alone but for that wife and babes which are as dear to me as yours – grant me this simple and justifiable request and I shall ever hold you in grateful remembrance as a Patriot and a Christian.







Very Truly & Respectfully Yours &c.







Capt. L. H. Fitzhugh







Company Davies Rangers







1st Regiment Kentucky Volunteers

Camp Bartow, Near Manassas Junction, August 30th 1861

1st Regt. Ky. Volunteers
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Hon. Jno Letcher, Governor of Virginia

       Dear Sir,


I write to inform you that I have made application to the Secretary of War for the appointment of Major in the 1st Regt. Ky. Volunteers.


If you can do anything for me in order to secure that position for me I will be under many obligations to you and ever esteem you as a true friend of your








Obedient Servant








Capt. L. H. Fitzhugh








Comd Co. C. (Davies Rangers)








1st Regmt. Ky. Volunteers

June 17th 1861

Manassas Station & Orange Telegraph Line

Box #17, Folder 4, Accession # 36787, RG-3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

The Commonwealth of Virginia to John W. Carroll(?) Dr.


Expenditures for the construction of the line of telegraph between Manassas Station on the Orange & Alexandria Railroad & Winchester Va.

To Cash paid  the following for Vouchers:

Voucher No. 001
Geo. Miller

381 ¼ 
Voucher No. 002
C. W. Countz

26.75

Voucher No. 003
G. W. Roseberry

  37.00
Voucher No. 004 Thos. W. Lake

  3.00

Voucher No. 005 R. A. Lang

  32.00
Voucher No. 006 C. S. Harris

  1.00

Voucher No. 007 C. D. Lang

  31.00
Voucher No. 008 Elizabeth Iden

  6.58

Voucher No. 009 D. B. Hall

    1.40
Voucher No. 010
E. H. Campbell

  3.55

Voucher No. 011 John Chapman

177 ½ 
Voucher No. 012 Jas C. Davis

  2.25

Voucher No. 013 E. Newman

    9.25
Voucher No. 014 Foster & Company
    .50

Voucher No. 015 A. & H. Keister

    3.57
Voucher No. 016 B. C. Shacklett

  1.38

Voucher No. 017 H. Kinsell

    3.00
Voucher No. 018 Thos. M. Lake

10.18

Voucher No. 019 Beller & Burnett

    1.13
Voucher No. 020 George K. Crabill

  2.25

Voucher No. 021 Amanda Biggs

    2.50
Voucher No. 022 Robert Wells

  6.50

Voucher No. 023 Henry Sisco

  12.25
Voucher No. 024 J. M. Miller

  8.40

Voucher No. 025 Wm. Yates Sr.

    8.50
Voucher No. 026 Jas Magales

    .31

Voucher No. 027 Jas Cowling

      .75
Voucher No. 028 J. Sussinger

  1.25

Voucher No. 029 J. F. Johnson

    1.16
Voucher No. 030 L. E. Balthis

  3.01

Voucher No. 031 John Tyler

      .19
Voucher No. 032 N. H. Frank

  1.09 ½ 

Voucher No. 033 Jas. M. Gates

  69.50
Voucher No. 034 Zew & Pirkey

  1.71

Voucher No. 035 Jos Snapp

  59.31
Voucher No. 036 Mr. Buckmaster

    .12 ½ 

Voucher No. 037 Jacob Hoffman

    1.50
Voucher No. 038 George Bushnell

  4.00

Voucher No. 039 D. Anderson

    2.00
Voucher No. 040 Hall & Company

  1.87

Voucher No. 041 L. T. F. Grim

    2.75
Voucher No. 042 C. Ligmund

  6.00

Voucher No. 043 A. Davis


    3.00
Voucher No. 044 B. Manley

  8.75

Voucher No. 045 S. Shirley

    2.00
Voucher No. 046 S. Shirley

  3.75

Voucher No. 047 S. Shirley

  27.00
Voucher No. 048 S. Shirley 

19.50

Voucher No. 049 S. Shirley

    1.87
Voucher No. 050 A. K. Shirley

  3.00

Voucher No. 051 S. Shirley

      .75
Voucher No. 052 C. B. R---ss

  6.00

Voucher No. 053 C. S. Harris

    6.32
Voucher No. 054 J. R. Jenkins

10.75

Voucher No. 055 J. Valentine

  37.50
Voucher No. 056 C. Chandler

  1.50

Voucher No. 057 Wm. A. Yates

  58.50
Voucher No. 058 Jas Venable

57.00

Voucher No. 059 Clapsaddle

    3.35
Voucher No. 060 J. Corder

28.00

Voucher No. 061 Buckmaster & Company
    4.34
Voucher No. 062 S. Funkheuser

  1.00

Voucher No. 063 J. S. Carner

  36.41
Voucher No. 064 D. Stickley

  4.67

Voucher No. 065 D. J. Miller

  35.00
Voucher No. 066
Jno Lucas

  5.00

Voucher No. 067
C. Norman

    5.00
Voucher No. 068
F. Wells


13.50

Voucher No. 069
E. Beam


    2.00
Voucher No. 070
E. Bean


  4.00

Voucher No. 071
P. Askins

  10.00
Voucher No. 072
H. Thompson

  2.00

Voucher No. 073
A. Butler

  13.50
Voucher No. 074
H. Carter

  8.50

Voucher No. 075
J. L. Miller

    5.00
Voucher No. 076
M. M. Breener?

11.50

Voucher No. 077
L. E. Swartzwelder
  33.37
Voucher No. 078
G. W. Keller

  2.17

Voucher No. 079
C. Mitchell

    3.00
Voucher No. 080
George Taylor

10.00

Voucher No. 081
R. W. Cooley

    2.50
Voucher No. 082
R. Newman

  2.50

Voucher No. 083
A. Allen


      .75
Voucher No. 084
Benj. Henry

40.00

Voucher No. 085
A. Henry

    4.00
Voucher No. 086
D. Jenkins

40.00

Voucher No. 087
Jno Jackson

    2.50
Voucher No. 088
Geo. Gray

12.50

Voucher No. 089
Jas Shipe

    2.50
Voucher No. 090
L. Fleet


  2.50

Voucher No. 091
P. Collins

    2.75
Voucher No. 092
J. Snapp


49.80

Voucher No. 093 Clark & Bell

    1.00
Voucher No. 094 Cart Henry

45.50

Voucher No. 095
D. Kimmer

  19.00
Voucher No. 096
George Henry

33.00

Voucher No. 097
Nelson Henry

  48.50
Voucher No. 098
G. Glammer

  4.00

Voucher No. 099
Jas Groves

  15.00
Voucher No. 100
J. F. Brown

35.00

Voucher No. 101 J. C. Cammer

  11.00
Voucher No. 102
Henry Quartz

43.00

Voucher No. 103
R. Henry

    3.00
Voucher No. 104
N. Henry

  4.00

Voucher No. 105
Thomas Kilpatrick
    8.50
Voucher No. 106
B. McKeiver

  3.00

Voucher No. 107
Jas Magales

112.25
Voucher No. 108
J. Benner

  3.50

Voucher No. 109
W. D. Maddux

  40.00
Voucher No. 110
S. M. Adams

  1.50

Voucher No. 111
T. M. Lake

  24.64
Voucher No. 112
T. M. Lake

17.00

Voucher No. 113
J. H. Rector

  11.25
Voucher No. 114
H. Grove

  1.00

Voucher No. 115 B. S. Shacklett

    9.71
Voucher No. 116
B. T. Bradford

  1.25

Voucher No. 117
J. Harrill


    3.25
Voucher No. 118
J. E. Flemming

  7.16

Voucher No. 119
Hammock

    5.00
Voucher No. 120
J. C. Richardson

99.50

Voucher No. 121
S. Rickard

363.50
Voucher No. 122
Jno Murphy

  2.25

Voucher No. 123
A. Ferney

    4.00
Voucher No. 124
R. W. Bray

  2.00

Voucher No. 125 F. W. Updike

    2.62 ½ Voucher No. 126 Thos Spinks

23.75








Total Amount
$2035.39 ¼ 

To Cash paid A. B. Luding for Voucher #127



      24.00

To Cash paid J. Knight for Voucher #128




        5.75

To Cash paid Jas M. Bennett for Voucher 129



        5.25









$2070.39

Add Error in Voucher No. 72





         1.00

Add Error in Voucher No. 112





         1.00









$2072.39

Deduct Error in Voucher No. 107





         4.00









$2068.39

June 17th 1861 By Cash received of J. R. Dowell



$2000.00
Balance Due J. W. Carroll






      68.39
Manassas Station, August 31st 1861
1st Regt. Ky. Volunteers
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         To Hon. Jno Letcher, Governor of Virginia

       
We are informed that you contemplate organizing a regiment of Infantry at Montgomery County. If so, we respectfully recommend to you Capt. James C. Taylor of that County as a suitable person for the Lieutenant Colonelcy of that Regiment. Hoping you may appoint him we are very respectfully your obedient servants.








James M. Wade Adjutant









4th Regt. Va. Vols.








John C. Wade, Lieut.









Co. G. 4th Regt. Va. Vols.

Gainesville, Prince William County, September 2nd  1861
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       Sir,


When Virginia seceded from the old rotten abolition government, I held a chaplain’s commission in their navy. Being not only a slave owner, but in the fullest sense of the word, Southern in all my feelings & interest, after being satisfied by Capt. Barron (an acquaintance of long standing) and by the ordinance of the convention to the same effect, that if I would apply to you for a commission in the Southern Navy, I should be received. I addressed a letter to you on the 10th of last July, formally & after the mode (& language prescribed by several officers of the Confederate Navy) making such application. I have waited long, and received not a word of reply – hence I take the liberty to trouble you again with the same request.









Very Respectfully









Your Obedient Servant









 T. J. Harrison

State of Virginia, April 18th 1861
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William H. Moore’s Services as Foreman of the Forging Dept. at the Harpers Ferry Armory from 1st of April to date – 16 days - $2.60 per day $211.60

Prince William County to Wit:  I L. B. Butler a Justice of the Peace in and for the County of Prince William in the State of Virginia, certified that Wm. H. Moore whose name is recited in the above account as a public creditor of the State of Virginia, personally appeared before me, in my county, aforesaid and made oath that the same is just and true and the time charged also is correct, and that no payment has been heretofore made by the United States for the same, or by the State of Virginia, or Confederate States, and that the creditor will not hereafter claim it from the United States and further that in the pending struggle between the Confederate States of America and the United States he has united himself with the C.S.A. and in good faith intends to adhere to their course against the enemies of the C.S.A.





Given under my hand this 29th day of August 1861







L. B. Butler J.P.

Fairfax Court House

Fairfax County, Virginia

August 30th 1861


The services charged in this account were rendered as stated for the United States at the Harpers Ferry Armory in April 1861, which was then under my Superintendence. The amount is chargeable under the late Ordinance of the Virginia Convention to the State and approved for.








Alfred M. Barbour








Late Superintendent

Richmond Virginia, 1861


Received of the State of Virginia forty one dollars and sixty cents (41.60) in full of the above account.






Wm. H. Moore

Camp near Manassas, September 11th 1861

38th  Regt. Va. Volunteers
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      Gov. Letcher, Sir:


Acting under an act passed by the convention, empowering the Cols. Of Regiment to appoint their Adjutants and Commissary. I have appointed Albert G. Smith my Adjutant & Wm. B. Edmonds my Commissary. I wish to have them if it meets your pleasure commissioned as such. I hope you will excuse me for troubling you, but it really seems so hard for the Virginia Officers to get anything done by the Confederate Officers, that we have determined not to trouble them, but look to the highest authority in our own state. We can’t get Adjutants from the Lieutenants of companies because they are elected from favoritism and are perfectly ignorant.








Yours Obedient Servant 

C.C. Edmonds 

Col. 38th Regt. Va. Vol.

Warrenton, Va., September 24th 1861

Box #18, Folder 1 Accession # 36787, RG-3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

    Dear Col.


Your democrats have the desirable knack of securing comfortable positions; and I have a favour to ask at your hands in that line of practice.

 B. H. Shackelford of this place was wounded in the battle of the 18th at Bull Run whilst fighting gallantly at the head of his company (he is captain of the Warrenton Rifles) his wound, tho not dangerous, is quite serious, and although he has returned to his command, he will probably be discharged for laborious service and will have a relapse.

His friends are anxious to have him promoted, and as there are two or three vacancies in Majorities – I wish to get your influence to have him appointed Major in some of the regiments. There is a vacancy in (Gov.?) Smith’s regiment which is composed of Fauquier and Culpepper companies. Captain Shackelford is known well to all this region and would be highly acceptable.

You are doubtless acquainted with Howard Shackelford. He is a man of note in this region of country and ranks foremost in publick confidence here. For intelligence, general information – integrity and courage he has no superiors. This appointment would meet universal approval.

I do not know how you can second my wishes; but any influence you can bring to bear in securing this appointment. Will be looked upon as an act of personal kindness to your early college friend.

A. Marshall

Culpeper Court House, Va., October 28th 1861
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His Excellency John Letcher, Governor

       Dear Sir:


In the general prostration of all professional pursuits, and hoping too to contribute something to our cause, in a position where I may be most efficient. I have concluded to apply for a staff appointment in our army. I am told that there are places to be filled in the Commissary Department, & perhaps in the Quartermaster, Pay &c.  Having been two years with an Army in Utah & somewhat observant of the details of its management, I think I can be serviceable in this way. With an assistant adjutant I had special occasion to know something; on account of our military complications in Utah.


Independent of an earnest desire to be engaged in the public service at this crisis, I am wholly now unemployed and have been, some time having relinquished connection with the press. You will pardon me for adding that all of my property (not much anyhow) is tied up by the war & myself and family at expense.


Some position affording a decent maintenance and bearing some relation to my capacity for usefulness would be most gratefully held by me. I have recently seen appointments made by you in our volunteer organization, & trust it may be in your power to give me something in the line suggested. In any event, I trust you may find it agreeable to procure for me one, should there be an opening in the Confederate Service proper. Should you have any other disposable appointment, to which I am suited, than those indicated, I would be glad of that. Anything rather than this state of inactivity I am in.


The uniform kindness and regard with which you have treated me and the valuable assistance given me heretofore with the late government, with my own feelings of the highest respect for you, in public and private must plead my apology for thus freely addressing you, amid the grave and pressing duties by which you are surrounded.


I returned from Manassas this morning. Everything was quite there, the theatre of interest having been transferred to the Upper Potomac. Reports conflict as to the extent of Col. McDonald’s defeat at Romney; but the reverse was certainly serious.


Hoping favorably soon to hear from you. I am with the highest respect.









Charles E. Sinclair 

Salem Jail, Va., August 8th 1861
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To the British Consul, Richmond, Virginia

       Sir,


I was apprehended, July 20th by part of a Cavalry Company under the command of General Wise. The general belongs to the Southern Confederacy. Since that time I have been in six jails; and there is some probability of being in the seventh before long. The cause of my apprehension and detention I know not, as I have never had a trial; and if there is any charge against me I could not obtain one here in justice to myself, as I am far removed from my friends and destitute of money. My object in addressing you, is to secure through you the protection guaranteed to every British subject. My claim to that protection rests on the following grounds. First I am an Irishman by birth. Second I have never been naturalized, never owned allegiance to any State in the Union, nor do I now.  Third, I never belonged to any military organization either North or South. I claim therefore, as a subject of the British Government, the protection of that Government and trust that you will secure release as soon as possible.








Signed, Jeremiah Hare or Hand

N.B. – When being arrested they shot four times at me – took from me a horse, saddle and bridle.









J. H.

Centreville, December 16th 1861  

Headquarters Loudoun Artillery
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     His Excellency, Governor Letcher

         My Dear Sir,


Having no flag for my company and it being the first in the state to tender you its services for this war. I have the honor to apply for a Virginia Flag, which you will please order sent to me by my friend Major Fairfax,


I regret being absent from my Battery when you were at Centreville presenting flags for Virginia Troops.








Respectfully & truly








  Your friend








     Arth L. Rogers








        Loudoun Artillery

Near Manassas, January 20th 1862

Winter Quarters, Va.

Box #20, Folder 3, Accession # 36787, RG-3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

     To his Excellency Gov. Letcher

        
Sir, I notice in the Richmond Dispatch of Jan. 18th that the House of Delegates has passed a bill for the construction of a Rail Road connecting the Orange and Alexandria and Manassas Gap Railroads, with the Richmond Fredericksburg and Potomac Rail Road. Not knowing who is to be the chief Engineer for the location of this new road, and being unacquainted with the authorities controlling the management of the  of the survey. I am under the necessity of troubling you with this communication.

I know not whether the Road under consideration is to be built by a civil or military board. If by the latter I should like to be detailed as assistant engineer to run a compass transit, level , or fill any other post in the surveying party. I have followed the profession of a civil engineer in Georgia for the last five years, and now experience a natural longing for the old business . I can produce any amount of credentials as to character and qualifications I am a member of Capt. A. S. Cutts’ Battery from George and think that during the Winter at least, I can serve the country better by building Rail Roads demanded by military necessity than by lying idle in Winter Quarters. If you think this communication worth noticing, please hand it to the Board or Chief engineer having charge of the survey. My address is Manassas – Care of Capt. A. S. Cutts.













Very Respectfully,








J. D. Harris

Manassas Junction, January 27th 1862

13th Virginia Regiment
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     Hon. Gov. Letcher


Sir, At the request of many of my men I trouble you for a little information. Will a company formed of volunteers whose term of service expires on the 17th of April next be accepted to man the Batteries around Richmond?


Will a company so formed be accepted to man stationary batteries at any other point – if so will they be entitled to furlough &c under the act of convention provided they enlist for the war for two years? The men forming such a company are very desirous to engage in this branch of service and respectfully ask such information as you deem necessary.







My Address – Manassas Junction







     13th Va. Regt.







          Yours very respectfully








 Wm. Wallace Bird








      Lieut. Comm. Co. D. 13th Va.

From Headquarters 13th Va.

April 9th 1862

To Capt. Chestney

A A Genl. 4th Brigade

         In reply to request from Brigade Head Quarters to furnish such information in relation to the condition & prospects of my regiments in reference to re-organization I respectfully state that the present term of service of four of my companies will expire on the 17th of the present month of another on the 19th & of three others on the 18th of May. The remaining company is for the war. The re-enlisted men of the regiment are all under the Confederate law & propose to go into other branches of service & other divisions of the Army if permitted. Not more than five percent intend to remain in the present regiments but only about 60 have re-organized themselves into a new company & elected officers; the rest have mostly enrolled their names in Artillery & Cavalry companies & scattered all over the “Confederate States” & continued that by the terms of the confederate law they have the right to do so. The re-organized company is for Artillery. If the re-enlisted men are not allowed to change their branch of service it will produce considerable dissatisfaction for a time at least. With a view to enable me to act advisedly in relation to the reorganization of my regiment I respectfully ask of the higher authorities, a speedy answer to the following inquiries.

1st Will the re-organized company be permitted to leave the regiment when their present term of service expires without an order authorizing them so to do from the Sec. of War.

2nd Will the re-enlisted men who have not re-organized into companies, be permitted to leave the regiment as the end of their present term to go in search of the companies they propose to attach themselves to & if not will they be permitted to form new companies after that time.

3rd If the re-enlisted men under the confederate law are kept in my regiment & joined with the drafted men from the state militia how are field officers to be elected, the confederate law allowing all the men to vote for field officers & the Va. Law ---- the company officers

4th What disposition is to be made of the men who refuse to re-enlist, will they be allowed to return to their homes, or are they to be retained until further orders.








I am very Respectfully








James A. Walker








Lt. Col. Commandant 13th Va.

Adgt. General’s Office

April 12th 1862


To His Excellency Gov. Letcher,  Sir., You will please excuse a very report brief report on papers of Col. Gibbons.


First – Some measures should be promptly taken to correct the mischievous and disorganizing policy of the late Secretary of War in sending officers to enlist men from the Volunteer Force of the State into the Confederate Service; If it cannot be done otherwise, it is not competent for congress to remedy the evil and provide for leaving the Volunteers so enlisted, in the Volunteer Corps of the State. See especially the letter of the Commandant of the 13th Regiment.


Second – See the letter of Col. Gibbons 10th Regiment


If possible the elective principle should be banished from the Army – it is worse than a pestilence  - May not Congress correct this also.


Altho it may be inconvenient  - Yet it is of the utmost importance to have Col. Gibbons Regiment (the 10th) re-committed from the Valley. It is entirely composed of Valley men, & knowing them as well as you do – it is scarcely necessary to say that this measure would very much conduce to its harmony and efficiency – If the Regiment could be transferred to General Jackson’s command, which is between their homes and the enemy, that also is every way desirable. The Regiment is now on the Rappahannock, a climate fatal in summer to men from the west. The Militia from the Valley are with him.

It is provided in the 7 Sect. act 10 February last, that the companies shall elect their officers when their terms of service expires – but many desire to elect sooner, that they may participate in the election of field officers. Being in the Confederate authorities authorize these elections whenever it is expedient to make them.

The whole subject is complicated by the conflicting laws of congress and our legislature – and nothing but the exercise of authority made indispensible by the exigencies of the case can disentangle it.

If General Lee can afford time for it. I respectfully recommend a conference with him, as the only chance so far as I can see of correcting the difficulty.







Very Respectfully Your Obedient Servant








Wm. H. Richardson  A.G.

Richmond, Va. January 1862

Virginia Penitentiary
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We John Letcher, Governor of the State of Virginia, and Thomas Steers agree that the said Thomas Steers shall employ the following free negroes and slaves, who have been heretofore sentenced to the Penitentiary, to sale and transportation, on to labor on the Public Works of this State; to wit.


Ned Young sentenced by the County Court of Lunenburg County for 5 years from the 21st day of April 1857 for Burglary &c. aged 22 years.


Robert Evans sentenced by the Hustings Court for the City of Petersburg for 15 years from the 18th day of February 1854 for Housebreaking &c. aged 36 years.


Lewis Armstead sentenced by the County Court of Frederick County for 8 years from the 12th day of December 1854 aged 37 years.


Mary Tines sentenced by the Hustings Court for the City of Norfolk for 5 years from the 3rd day of June 1857 for Grand Larceny aged 18 years.


Napoleon sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Lynchburg to sale and transportation from the 30th day of July 1858 for assault with intent to kill a white man aged 22 years.


Jim sentenced by the County Court of Prince William County to Sale and Transportation from the 30th day of March 1859 aged 46 years.


David sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Richmond to Sale and Transportation from the 25th day of April 1859 aged 22 years.


Spote alias Patrick Henry sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Lynchburg to Sale and Transportation from the 29th day of June 1860 aged 20 years.


George sentenced by the County Court of Fluvanna County to Sale and Transportation from the 3rd day of August 1860 aged 35 years.


Spencer Gilbert sentenced by the Hustings Court for the City of Petersburg to Sale and Transportation from the 29th day of April 1859 aged 60 years.


John Red sentenced by the County Court of Amherst County to Sale and Transportation from the 7th day of June 1859 aged 28 years.


Ellen sentenced by the County Court of Rappahannock County to Sale and Transportation from the 25th August 1858 aged 20 years.


Bill Shepherd sentenced by the County Court of Fauquier County for 3 years from the 6th day of February 1861 for Burglary aged 41 years.


Tapley sentenced by the County Court of Fairfax County to Sale and Transportation from the 5th day of March 1861 for Poisoning aged 16 years.


Jim Scott sentenced by the County Court of Bath County for 2 years from the 23rd October 1860 for Unlawful Stabbing aged 28 years.


Lee sentenced by the County Court of Amelia County to Sale and Transportation from the 27th November 1860 for Arson aged 27 years.


Oscar sentenced by the County Court of Loudoun County to Sale and Transportation from the 5th day of December 1860 for Arson aged 19 years.


Sam sentenced by the County Court of Berkley County to Sale and Transportation from the 29th December 1860 for Attempt to Rape aged 18 years.


Lewis sentenced by the County Court of Albemarle County to Sale and Transportation from the 16th January 1861 for Burglary aged 25 years.


Charles Granger sentenced by the County Court of Henrico County for 8 years from the 21st September 1857 aged 40 years.


Benjamin Hargrove sentenced by the County Court of Surry County for 3 years from 27 September 1860 for Manslaughter aged 32 years


Carrol Minnis sentenced by the County Court of Charlotte County for 3 years from the 13th December 1859 for Larceny aged 20 years.


Frank Gwynn sentenced by the County Court of Henrico County for 10 years from the 10th June 1858 for Wounding a White Man aged 24 years.


Scott sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Richmond to Sale and Transportation from the 10th December 1859 aged 45 years.


Hannibal sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Williamsburg to Sale and Transportation from the 22nd May 1860 aged 17 years.


Miles sentenced by the County Court of Henry County to Sale and Transportation from the 19th December 1859 aged 37 years.


Edmund sentenced by the County Court of Charles City County to Sale and Transportation from the 9th August 1859 aged 17 years


Ned sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Fredericksburg to Sale and Transportation from the 23rd August 1859 aged 58 years.


Davy sentenced by the Hustings Court of the City of Lynchburg to Sale and Transportation from the 27th March 1858 aged 15 years.


Philip sentenced by the County Court of Madison County to Sale and Transportation from the 12th July 1860 aged 35 years.


Jim sentenced by the County Court of Culpeper County to Sale and Transportation from the 4th April 1859 aged 37 years.


Thomas Handy sentenced by the County Court of Accomac County for 5 years from the 12th March 1861 for Grand Larceny aged 22 years.


Ben sentenced by the County Court of King George County to Labor on the Public Works from the 25th February 1861 aged 16 years.


Jeff Booker sentenced by the County Court of Stafford County to Sale and Transportation from the 13th March 1861 aged 36 years.


Tully Iubiller sentenced by the County Court of Accomac County for 3 years from the 13th November 1860 for wounding &c. aged 20 years.


Jerry sentenced by the County Court of Sussex County to Sale and Transportation from the 10th August 1860 aged 56 years.


Anthony Pritchell sentenced by the Hustings Court for the City of Petersburg for 3 years from the 22nd June 1861 for Horse Stealing aged 21 years.


Edward Seldon sentenced by the Hustings Court for the City of Lynchburg for 1 year 6 months from the 8th December 1861 for Grand Larceny aged 24 years.


Tony Vaughn sentenced by the County Court of Buckingham County for 5 years from the 18th October 1861 aged 18 years.


Peter sentenced by the County Court of Gloucester County to Sale and Transportation from the 15th May 1861 aged 36 years.


William sentenced by the County Court of Prince Edward County to sale and Transportation from the 28th December 1861 for Murder in the Second degree aged 35 years.


Sam sentenced by the County Court of Nottoway County to Sale and Transportation from 8th April 1861 aged 27 years.


Jim Sample sentenced by the County Court of Accomac for 5 years  from the 17th November 1861 for Burglary aged 25 years


Fanny Peters sentenced by the County Court of Rockingham County for 7 years 4 months & 2 days from 7th June 1859 for Arson aged 17 years.


Ann Weaver sentenced by the County Court of Southampton County for 3 years from the 26th November 1861 for Arson aged 18 years.


Rose sentenced by the County Court of Campbell County to Sale and Transportation from the 2nd September 1859 for Murder aged 23 years.


Alberta sentenced by the County Court of Madison County to Sale and Transportation from the 5th October 1859 for Arson aged 14 years.


Malinda sentenced by the County Court of Caroline County to Sale and Transportation from the 25th February 1861 for Arson aged 20 years.


James Brown sentenced by the County Court of Prince George County for 2 years from the 12th July 1861 for Grand Larceny aged 36 years.


The said Thomas Steers having had possession of the following named convicts named in the foregoing list: to wit: Ned Young, Robert Evans, Lewis Armstead, Napolean, Jim, David, Spote alias Patrick Henry, George, Spencer Gilbert, John Red, Bill Shepherd, Tapley, Jim Scott, Lee, Oscar, Sam, Lewis, Charles Granger, Ben Hargrave, Mary Tines and Ellen since the 1st day of January last; is to have full possession of the remainder of said negro convicts as soon hereafter as they can be removed from the Penitentiary, and may employ them on such work connected with the manufacture of iron or salt or both of them as to him shall seem proper, and in conformity to an Act of the General assembly passed December 7th 1861 providing for the hire out of the Negro convicts confined in the Penitentiary, for such purpose, and according to the rules and regulations prescribed by the Governor, for and in consideration of the sum of four thousand three hundred and fifty dollars: to wit Ned Young, Robert Evans, Lewis Armistead, Jim of Prince Edward, David , Spote alias Patrick Henry, George, Spencer Gilbert, John Red, Bill Shepherd, Tapley, Jim, Scott, Lee, Oscar, Sam, Lewis, Charles Granger, Ben Hargrave, Carrol Minnis, frank Gwynn, Scott, Hannibal, Miles, Edmund, Philip, Jim, Thomas Handy, Jeff Booker, Tully Iubille, Jerry, Pritchett, Ed Sheldon, Tony Vaughn, Peter, William, James Brown, and Sam at the rate of one hundred dollars each, hire until the 31st day of December 1862 and the said Mary Tines, Ellen, Fanny Peters, Ann Weaver, Rose, Alberta Malinda, Ned, Davy, Ben and Jim Sample, at the rate of Fifty Dollars each until the said 31st day of December 1862.


The said sum of Four Thousand, Three Hundred and Fifty Dollars being the hire of all the said convicts, to be paid into the Treasury of the Commonwealth on the 1st day of January 1863.


And where the term of confinement expires before the termination of the hiring, or return of the said prisoners to the Penitentiary, the said Thomas Steers shall previously notify the Governor in order that the proper order shall be made in time for the discharge of the convicts: but the said Thomas Steers shall in no case discharge a prisoner on his own responsibility or order; and in cases where the term of the hiring expires before the time of imprisonment the said Thomas Steers shall return the said convicts, or transfer them as required by the Governor, at the cost of the said Thomas Steers according to law and the regulations aforesaid. In every case of the discharge or death of a convict, the hire shall be abated from the time of such discharge or death. And the said Thomas Steers shall also be required to return to the Penitentiary all the manacles chains &c. which he may take with the prisoners when they are discharged. In testimony whereof we have hereto set our hands and seals this 13th day of January 1862.






Teste,  John Letcher  (SEAL)








           Thos. Steers   (SEAL)

Manassas, Va.  January 29th 1862

6th Regt. Va. Cav. , Camp G. W. Smith, Manassas
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Governor Letcher

      Dear Sir,


The call of the State of Virginia to the Volunteers is before this Regt. for response. Respectfully ask whether the companies now in the field will be allowed to re-organize or more planning to elect new officers if they wish to do so also what will be the probable result of their deliberation of the assembly as regards the changing from one arm of the service to another whether individuals can re-enlist in Cavalry who have served in infantry and whether men will be allowed to any time for vacation and in what may & have heard no one speak against enlisting for the rear and believe that if the volunteers be allowed to re-organize or can have a small vacation before the spring campaign opens will cheerfully enlist. I for one never to expect or wish to shun the service as long as a Yankee treads the confederate soil. Excuse me sir for his troubling you but you are my chief magistrate I know of no one to whom I would apply for answers to the above question to yourself of all kinds of subjugation save me from that caused by my native state  to hear from you soon. I am your obedient servant,








Lt. B. Wigginton

Moores Hospital Manassas Junction, February 17th   1862
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Governor Letcher

      Dear Sir,


I know that at this particular time you are busily engaged with the affairs of State and have no time to spare. I will try & be brief.


On the 23rd day of April last, my-self and Company entered our Services to you, to repel the invading enemy. I left my business, my wife and a widowed mother with six children all dependent upon me. I am executor on my father’s estate. At the time of his death, him & my-self were doing business together, and he willed that the business should continue, but in consequence of my leaving home the business was closed. Our accounts are all standing open, and of course we must sustain great loss. Now I am called upon to re-enlist, and I would gladly respond, but what is to become of my business. I am held responsible for all that belongs to the estate. That is my sureties are bound. I am not one of that class alluded to by the edition of the examiner. I do not urge the plea that I have served my term. I think that all should go particular the volunteer. I would be glad if I had 90 days to attend to my business, please give me some advice on the subject. Pardon me for trespassing upon your time. I am young and have no father to go to for advice, and I know no other more capable of giving it than your-self. Awaiting your reply I remain your most obedient servant.









W. C. Davis









Co F 18th Reg. Va. Vols

Direct to Moores hospital Manassas Junction

(Answer to letter – He must decide between his own excuses and the call of his Country)

Brentsville, Prince William County, December 23rd  1861
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      Hon. John Letcher, Governor of Virginia

         Sir,


In the discharge of my official duty, I have to inform you that one John W. Park, a white man, charged with feloniously stealing two boxes of shoes of the value of one hundred dollars, the property of E. B. Stuart, committed to jail of this county on the 30th November 1861 by L. B. Butler, a justice of the peace – also on John Wood, a white man charged with the murder of one William Tillett a white man, committed to the jail of this county on the 30th November 1861 by L. B. Butler a justice of the peace, did forcibly break and escape from said jail in the night of the 20th December 1861, and I have not been able to arrest or find them.


Said Park is about five feet ten inches high, rather dark complexion, about twenty five or twenty eight years of age and slender person – And said Wood is about five feet ten inches high, very stoutly made, dark complexion and about twenty five years of age – and both of them are presumed in the Army of the Confederate States.









William E. Goodwin









Sheriff of Prince William County

Answer by John Letcher on the back side of the above letter


Escaped from Prince William jail, John W. Park charged with larceny, and John Wood charged with murder. – Offer a reward of fifty dollars for the first named & $100 for the last named.









J. L.









Dec. 26, 1861

Camp near Centreville, January 27th 1862

8th Regt. Va. Vol.
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To His Excellency the Governor of Virginia

      Honored Sir,


In times like the present, true patriots are willing to endure hardship & privations, influenced by no other motive than love of freedom & hatred to Yankee despotism. We were introduced to their acts of preservation on Manassas field, and more recently paid them our respects at Leesburg on the 21st October. You know Sir of the gallant display of heroism and bravery of the 8th on that memorable day. Many of their homes were within a few miles of that place in which wives children and all dear in life or which their hearts affections are centered, were protected, and if beaten back, oh what honor would be visited on them , hence with what tenacity they clung to their position, and succeeded in driving back the dastard foe.


A few, nay, many of those same veterans, who are anxious to be engaged in their Country’s Service. Yet to by twelve months absence, render a proximity to home almost a necessity, on account of the helplessness of their families. Are willing to voluntarily to enlist for the war provided they be allowed to do service in Loudoun County, on the border. There is now in Loudoun a company of Richmond artillery. And if in your honors opinion we can be provided with like arms, artillery, yet if not prudent to give us artillery we will accept any arm of the service so as to locate near Leesburg. I will proceed at once to organize and officially inform you of the facts.





I am with the greatest respect your most obedient servant








W. E. Garrett








Company I, 8th Regt. Va. Vol.

N. S. not being familiar with military law, I have addressed this to you, if however it now properly belongs to the Secretary of War I trust you will forward the request to him. And to arrange it that our company may at once be organized with that understanding, for in it, beats many true hearts for the Southern Cause, which will otherwise be exempt from necessity. And I’ll warrant we will cling to that position with ever greater tenacity than the noble 8th did, when attacked by the Vandal foe. And defend our sacred homes as well the border from their foul invasion.








With great respect &c.








 W. E. Garrett

Please attend to this as soon as practicable.

Camp Walker, Manassas Junction, January 29th 1862

Company D 13th Virginia Inf.
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To His Excellency John Letcher, Governor of Virginia

         Dear Sir,


I have read in the Richmond papers, that troops are desired to man the fortifications of Richmond. I have been in the service of the Confederate States since April court, & desire to remain in the service; but my health has become so impaired that I am compelled to either to seek service in some other department, or claim a discharge. The latter I am unwilling to do. I request that you give me a place in one of the Batteries about Richmond, if you can do it.


I can refer to the Col. of my Regiment, Col. gibbons, or any of the citizens of Harrisonburg, Rockingham County, of which I am a native resident.


My time of service will expire on the 18th of April, next, at which time I will be ready to enter into any other duty assignment.






Hoping to receive a reply as soon as possible, I am, sir,







Very respectfully your obedient servant







 
Wm. S. Rohr

Address:

Wm. S. Rohr

Co. G. 10th Regt. Va. Vol.

Comm of Col. C. B. Gibbons

Manassas Junction, Va.

Manassas Junction, February 10th 1862

10th Virginia Regt.
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To His Excellency John Letcher, Governor of Virginia

         Dear Sir,


I wish to know if I can procure arms for a Cavalry Company, should I raise one, as State Troops, for one year, or two years, or for the war, I am not particular which. I am understood that the Confederate Government will not receive Cavalry unless they are armed with at least one kind of arms let me know at your earliest convenience as I wish to raise the Company immediately if I can get them armed.








Yours Respectfully








Thos. J. Pennybacker








10th Va. Regt.

Camp Walker, Manassas Junction, February 16th 1862

Company D 13th Virginia Inf.
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To His Excellency John Letcher, Governor of Virginia

         Dear Sir,


Prior to the Act of Assembly lately passed for raising Virginia’s quota of troops, the volunteers who had enlisted under the Act of Congress had very generally commenced associating with a view to Company Organization. Often with a view to change into another arm of the service – as infantry into artillery, and the like. A difficulty arises as to the effect of the Act of Assembly upon such proposed organizations. For instance – there are two companies in a regiment from each of which 35 men re-enlist under the Act of Congress – and these men propose to associate and form a new company – will this be permitted – or will the men who have re-enlisted, or shall re-enlist be required to remain in their old companies as skeletons to be filled by draft under the Virginia Act. All who re-enlist will probably do so under the Act of Congress for the sake of the “bounty and furlough”. The residue will stand a draft. The Act of Congress, and the regulations of the Sec. of War thereupon seem clearly to contemplate, and indeed require the re-enlisted men to organize themselves into companies and regiments before their present term of service expires. Is there any conflict between this Act and these regulations, and the Virginia laws. And if so, which prevails. Under the Act of Congress the re-enlisted men seem to have the right to select their companies & then voluntarily to associate into battalions or regiments. The Virginia Act proposes to preserve the old company organizations by supplying the place of those who fail to re-enlist by a draft. If those who re-enlist under the Law of Congress can leave their old companies, in many cases no skeleton will be left. It is of importance to those who propose to organize companies to know what are the rights of those who have re-enlisted. I have taken the liberty therefore to address you on the subject, and will gratefully accept any information you may cause to be given me. My address is “Manassas Station.”








With much respect








Frank V. Winston








1st Lieut. Co. D. 13th Va.Inf.

Camp Walker, Manassas Junction, February 12nd 1862

Company D 13th Virginia Inf.
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To His Excellency Gov. Letcher


Your Excellency will please inform me whether the infantry, of the present twelve months volunteers, is at liberty, according to the Act which has lately been enacted, to re-enlist in any other branch of the service. There is much doubt and contrariety of opinion on the subject among the officers, and nothing definitive or satisfactory can be gained from them. Some of them say we can, under the present law, join artillery or cavalry, others say not. By answering this, and cleansing of doubt connected with the subject, you will greatly oblige me, with many others.








Respectfully,








Your obedient servant








J. W. Valentine








Company D, 13th Regt. Va. Volunteers









Manassas

Camp Walker, Manassas Junction, March 6th 1862

Camp A. 10th Regt. Va. Vol.
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      Gov. Letcher, Sir:


I take the paines to write to you for information in regard to reiterating I have served in 10 Regt. Va. Vols the past year, and now I wish to join the 33 Va. For good reasons. Some say I cannot leave the Regt. I now serve in. Others say I can reenlist in any regiment I prefer hoping I will receive the above information required. I will close yours very respectfully.









George M. Spengler









Manassas Junction









Camp A 10, Regt. Va Vol

Please answer as early as possible

The Plains, Fauquier County, March 8th 1862

Camp A. 10th Regt. Va. Vol.
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       Hon. John Letcher

           Dear Sir,



Having been a citizen of the District of Columbia for the last three years and when the enrolment of the district militia took place was compelled to take the oath of allegiance to the federal government. Two weeks after the battle at Bull Run I succeeded in making my escape to Virginia fearing I would be compelled to take up arms against my native state. I now come under the militia law of this state and have been ordered to enroll my name in the service by adjutant Howard Gibson of this district, not knowing how to act in this case I would be glad to have your instructions. While in Washington I was engaged in mercantile business – please address myself pr adjutant H. Gibson on the subject at your earliest convenience.






I have the honor to be your









Most obedient servant &c









Philip A. Tracy

Richmond Virginia Penitentiary 1862

Commonwealth of Virginia vs William J. Sinclair

Pardon request rejected
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Pleas at the Court House of Prince County before the Circuit Court of said County. On Tuesday the 11th day of May in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty eight. Be it remembered that heretofore to wit: at a Circuit Court held for the said County on the 13th day of October 1856, George Weedon foreman, Hector Kincheloe, Burr Glascock, William F. Hodgkin, Austin B. Weedon, Christopher Windsor, Samuel Toth, James Maddox, George A. Cannon, Thomas Jones, John Fair, Thompson Fairfax, Alexander Pearson, Benson Davis, Hampton Brenton and Benjamin Johnson were sworn a grand jury of inquest for the body of this County and having received their charge, withdrew and after some time returned into court and presented an “Indictment against William J. Sinclair for Murder “a true bill” which Indictment is in the words following to wit:

Ninth Judicial Circuit

Prince William County


In the Circuit Court of said County, the jurors of the Commonwealth of Virginia in and for the body of the County of Prince William and now attending the said Court upon their oaths present that William J. Sinclair in the thirtieth day of January in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty five with force and arms in the County aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of the said Court in and upon the body of one James Hewitt in the Peace of God and the said Commonwealth then and there being feloniously, willfully and of his malice aforethought, did make an assault; and that the said William J. Sinclair a certain gun, called a rifle of the value of ten dollars, then and there charged with gun powder and one leaded bullitt which said rifle, he the said William J. Sinclair in both his hands then and there had and held, then and there feloniously, willfully, and of his malice aforethought did discharge and shoot off to against and upon the said James Hewitt, and that the said William J. Sinclair, with the leaden bullitt aforesaid, out of the rifle aforesaid then and there by the force of the gunpowder aforesaid by the said William J. Sinclair discharged and shot off as aforesaid, then and there feloniously, willfully, and of his malice aforethought did strike, penetrate and wound the said James Hewitt, in and upon the right side of the body of him the said James Hewitt, giving to him the said James Hewitt, then and there, with the leaden bullitt aforesaid  as aforesaid discharged and shot out of the rifle aforesaid, by the said William J. Sinclair in and upon the right side of the body of him the said James Hewitt, one mortal wound; of which said mortal wound he the said James Hewitt from the said thirteenth day of January in the year aforesaid, to the thirty-first day of January in the year aforesaid, in the County aforesaid did languish and languishing did live;  An which said thirty first day of January in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty five aforesaid the said James Hewitt, in the County aforesaid of the said mortal wound died. And so the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do say, that the said William J. Sinclair, the said James Hewitt in the manner and form and by the means aforesaid feloniously, willfully and of his malice aforethought, did kill and murder against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

Upon the evidence of William Corum of Fauquier County, William Hewitt, H. F. Triplett and Alexander Jeffries of Prince William County, sworn to give evidence to the Grand Jury by the Court.








Eppa Hunton








Attorney for Court in said County

And at another day to Wit: at a Circuit Court held for said County on the 15th day of the month last mentioned in the year 1856. William J. Sinclair late of the County of Prince William, who stands indicted of murder was led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of this Court, thereof arraigned and pleaded Not Guilty to the indictment whereupon on the petition of the said William J. Sinclair, and for reasons appearing to the Court, his trial is postponed until the next term, and the said William J. Sinclair is remanded to jail.

And at another day to wit: At a Circuit Court held for said County on the 11th day of May 1857 William J. Sinclair late of the County of Prince William, who stands indicted of murder was again led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of this Court and the Jury sworn yesterday for his trial were brought into court by the sheriff of this county, and having fully heard the evidence, upon their oaths do say that the said William J. Sinclair is guilty of murder in the first degree in man and form, as in the Indictment against him as alleged, and the said William J. Sinclair is remanded to Jail.

And at another day to wit: at a circuit court held for said county on the 13th day of May 1857 William J. Sinclair late of the County of Prince William against whom the jury has rendered a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree was again led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff of this County and submitted a motion to set the said verdict aside and grant him a new trial, and the court not being yet advised what opinion to give, doth take time to consider thereof, and the said William J. Sinclair is remanded to jail. And at another day to wit: at a Circuit Court held for the said County on the 14th day of May 1857 William J. Sinclair late of the County of Prince William, against whom the jury has rendered a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree, was again led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff of this County, and the Court having maturely considered the motion for a new trial, it is for reasons appearing to the court, ordered that the verdict of the jury be set aside and that a new trial be had upon the Indictment aforesaid and thereupon the said William J. Sinclair is remanded to jail. And at another day, to wit, at a Circuit Court held for the said County, on the 13th day of October 1857. William J. Sinclair late of the County of Prince William who stands indicted of murder, and to whom a new trial was awarded at the last court, was again led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff of this County, whereupon on the motion of the said William J. Sinclair and for reasons appearing to the court his trial is continued until the next term, and the said William J. Sinclair is remanded to Jail. And another day to wit: at a Circuit Court held for the said County on the 10th day of May 1858 William J. Sinclair late of Prince William, who stands indicted of murder, was led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of this Court, whereupon came a Jury to Wit: Thomas R. Newman, James W. Davis, Robert F. Stonnell, William Long, George A. Bowling, Zebulon Sullivan, John C. Parker, Joseph Creel, William F. Davis, Isaac W. Davis, George Davis & Joseph Brown, who being elected, tried and sworn the truth of and upon the premises to speak and having partly heard the evidence, were with the consent of the prisoner committed to the custody of the sheriff of this county, who is directed to keep them together without communication with any other person and to cause them to appear here tomorrow morning at nine o’clock; whereupon an oath was administered to Thomas K. Davis sheriff of this county, to the following effect. “ You shall well and truly, to the best of your ability, keep this jury, and neither speak to them yourself, nor suffer any other person to speak to them touching any matter relative to this trial until they return into court tomorrow “And the said William J. Sinclair is remanded to Jail.

And now at this day to Wit: At a Circuit Court held for the said County, on the same day and year first herein mentioned to wit: on the 11th day and year first herein mentioned to wit: on the 11th day of May 1858, William J. Sinclair late of Prince William County, who stands indicted of murder, was again led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of this Court and the Jury sworn yesterday for his trial were brought into court by the Sheriff of this County, and having fully heard the evidence, upon their oath do say, that the said William J. Sinclair is guilty of Murder in the Second degree, and do ascertain the term of his imprisonment in the Public Jail and Penitentiary house to be five years; and thereupon it being demanded of him if anything for himself he had or knew to say, why the court here should not now proceed to pronounce judgment against him according to law, and with nothing being offered or alleged in delay of judgment, it is considered by the court, that the said William J. Sinclair be imprisoned in the Public Jail and Penitentiary house of this Commonwealth, for the term of five years the period by the jurors in their verdict ascertained.

And it is ordered that the Sheriff of Prince William County do, as soon as possible after the adjournment of this court, remove and safely convey the said William J. Sinclair from the Jail of this County to the said Public Jail and Penitentiary house therein to be kept imprisoned and treated in the manner directed by law. And the court doth certify that on the trial of the said William J. Sinclair nothing appeared to the court either in aggravation or extenuating of the offence of the said William J. Sinclair nor did it appear that before the commission of the said offence he was of bad or good character or that he had ever been convicted or tried for any felony or other infamous crime, and thereupon, the said William J. Sinclair is remanded to Jail.

Commonwealth vs Sinclair – Upon examination

William Corum for Commonwealth


I the deceased, his son & the prisoner were at the Store of Mr. Triplett in Prince William County – the deceased called for half pint of liquor – the deceased his son & myself drank it – we had been there about half an hour – the deceased called for another half pint, first as the liquor was set out, the prisoner came in the, the deceased said to the prisoner won’t you take something to drink – the prisoner drank with the deceased, in a very short time the prisoner said he had no money, told Triplett he had a rabbit he had shot  with his rifle, for which Mr. Triplett gave him half pint of whiskey, the prisoner, the deceased, young Hewitt & myself drank it in about an hour by my estimation. Mr. Triplett said his feet were cold & he went to dinner, we walked out & Triplett locked the door. The prisoner, the deceased, young Hewitt & myself started home. The prisoner commenced projecting with his rifle with young Hewitt. The prisoner pointed his rifle at young Hewitt seemingly in play. Hewitt caught hold of his rifle & shoved it away. I think the rifle was not cocked – in this time the prisoner had advanced 5 or 6 steps from young Hewitt, the deceased exclaimed Mr. Sinclair I hope you are not going to shoot anyone hear. The prisoner exclaimed, yes dam you I’ll shoot you – with that he fired the contents of his rifle into his body a little on the right side. The prisoner was between 5 & 6 steps from the deceased when he fired. The prisoner then threw the butt of his rifle on the ground and commenced loading it. I then hollered for a (word not legible). Seeing what he had done I advanced upon him and he caught up his rifle by the barrel & said to me dam you stand back or I’ll kill you. He then started in a pretty swift run with his rifle in his hands. I pursued him some 15 or 20 steps by my estimation – saw I could not apprehend him – went back to see the deceased – I found him lying on his face in the snow just as I got there Mr. Triplett came up & a few seconds after Mr. Jeffries came up. Young Hewitt from the time he let go the prisoner’s rifle up to the fire was standing back some three or four steps. The deceased was entirely unarmed as was the above company (word?) except the prisoner. The deceased lived about 24 hours from the time he was shot.








Wm. W. Corum

William Hewitt for Commonwealth


Mr. Corum, my father, (the deceased) and myself started out hunting, we went down to Mr. Triplett in a short time after we got there the prisoner came, we took something to drink after we got there in about half hour after that we all came out and I started home – When I got along Mr. Jeffries I turned and went back, when I walked up the prisoner allowed he had as good a friend as anybody else there (meaning his rifle) he took it up and cocked it and pointed it at me. I took hold of it – I followed him back about 10 steps holding on to the rifle – The prisoner told me to let go his rifle he did not intend to shoot anybody – He let the cock down – I let go the rifle & he set the back on the ground – After I let go the rifle I turned to go to the spring I heard somebody  - I took to be the prisoner say stand back and that is all I know about it. Just then the prisoner fired his rifle and I turned back and found my father was shot – when I first saw him after he was shot he was standing – when I turned around the prisoner was loading his rifle and he said I have killed one dammed rascal and I am going to kill another before I leave here. Mr. Corum & myself ran up to try to get him – we pursued him about 15 steps – he jumped the fence and we came back & when we came back the deceased had fallen – this was the 31st January I think of last year – My father lived about 24 hours after he was shot – The ball from the rifle entered the right side. My father was unarmed – when I turned to go to the spring the prisoner was about 10 steps from the deceased. And when I turned back after the fire the deceased was in the same place and had not advanced on the prisoner.

Cross Examined


Mr. Jeffries is between there and four hundred yards from Triplett’s – don’t know what induced me to turn back – found them in or about the same place talking friendly – we had a small bull dog there belonging to my father – did not hear my father say he would make the dog seize the prisoner, did not hear Corum say it – did not hear Corum say he was armed – my father had no club or stick in his hand nor had Corum or myself – The first time I heard the prisoner say stand back was when I turned to the spring – he said so I think some three or four times – don’t recollect that he said stand back or ill shoot you – don’t know to whom he said it. I was about same distance they were off – I was in sight of the parties but had my back turned – when I turned round father was nearest to prisoner. Corum farthest off – my father was I think 10 steps off. The snow was two inches deep – it might have been more – the dog followed me up to Jeffries when I first started – Mr. Jeffries came in a very short time after father was shot I did not hear father say anything to prisoner after I came back more than friendly talk – don’t recollect hearing father say don’t shoot me – the shooting took place about half or three quarters of an hour by the sun I suppose it was two hours or two & a half before the shooting that Triplett said he must go to dinner while I was holding the prisoners rifle he backs and followed him up – did not then turn him around.


I was duly sober, had taken two small drinks out of what was brought. My father was not drunk but felt what he drank. Corum was sober, but may have felt his liquor. The prisoner was sober. We all drank a pint or a pint and a half before Triplett left. We were near an hour in drinking it – Corum, my father & myself had drunk nothing before getting to Triplett’s – it was on Tuesday – I shall be 23 next May.








William (his mark) Hewitt

Haywood Triplett for Commonwealth


It was on the 30th of January 1855 that Mr. Corum the deceased, & Wm. Hewitt called at my store house in Prince William County and called me down from the house and asked if I had anything to drink – if so to let them have some – I drew them sum in a pint cup (nearly half pint) They had been there about fifteen minutes when the prisoner came in – He had his rifle with him and a rabbit – they invited him to drink with them & he did so, their conversation then turned upon their hunt & the game they had seen, the prisoner was then invited by either the deceased or Mr. Corum to treat, he said if I would take his rabbit he would treat – he had no money. I took the rabbit and treated the company. Mr. Corum asked what I gave for rabbits, my reply was, I was not in the habit of buying – either the deceased or Corum asked the use of prisoner’s gun to shoot at a mark. I think for a treat as soon as they had shot they returned to the store and called for ½ pint and it was set out – I began to get tired and asked them to leave the store. I wanted to go to dinner and was cold – the deceased was at first disinclined to go and I asked the prisoner and Corum to lead him out – they did so and I locked the door and went to the dwelling house about fifty yards from the store. I had been there some time I took no note how long. I heard some talking in the direction of store and told some of my family to look and see who was there – the reply was the men had not left yet alluding to those I had left there. They said they were standing near the spring house which faces the store house door and within a few yards of the store house. I had been in the house perhaps an hour and a half. I won’t say positively. I  rose and made a step towards the window to see whether they had gone at that moment I heard a report of a gun. I looked out of the window & saw Mr. Sinclair who was holding his gun to his shoulder as if he had just fired it take it down. I saw nothing in view at that moment but the prisoner & his gun. Some of my children came running in and said the prisoner had shot Mr. Hewitt. I immediately went out into the yard and looked in the direction where I had first saw the prisoner with his gun up and saw the prisoner was retreating from the shot and young Hewitt & Corum advancing upon him. Corum was in advance of Hewitt calling out murderer – stop the murderer – I stood in amazement a few minutes supposing they were enacting a farce to induce me to come down, or trick often used in the mountains for that purpose. When the prisoner got in front of my house about 50 yards from the store. Mr. Corum put his hand behind him and remarked if you do not stop I will shoot as if he was going to draw a pistol but did not present any. The prisoner then started in a run and Corum & Hewitt returned to the deceased. Hewitt was not dangerous and kept in the background. Hewitt who had fallen – I run down to his assistance and Corum and Jeffries or Wm. Hewitt assisted me in taking him into the store house. I sent Wm. Hewitt to Mr. Harrison the nearest justice. A physician Dr. Miller was sent for. The ball entered the deceased on the right side under the nipple to the best of my knowledge. He lived about 24 hours from the time he was shot which was about hour or ¾ of an hour by the sun. On Tuesday I think the 30th of January 1855 – the deceased was lying about ten feet from the place where I saw the prisoner standing with his gun up to his face – it might have been more – the ball lodged in the body of deceased.

Cross Examined


Heard no noise that I recollect now which induced me first to look out of window. I had heard no noise or quarreling of any kind up to that time. I did not see any of the party from the time I went to the house until I saw the prisoner with his gun up – at this time the prisoner was back of the store house – From my window I can see the front & back and one side (the other side) of the store house. The route the prisoner was retreating was his nearest way home. The deceased was somewhat crippled and walked with a cane. They had a bull dog with them. Saw no club or cane in the hands of any of them, only judged the deceased had a cane because he usually walked with one – the deceased did not abuse me, but made use of a black guard remark to me. He was a helpless old man. The deceased was not drunk but felt his liquor and when in liquor he is noisy & boisterous. The prisoner was not drunk by any means. I should judge the prisoner was sober. The other two were sober I think. Mr. Jeffries got to the deceased near about the time I did. There might have been several persons there that came after the shooting but don’t recollect certainly. The family of the deceased came that night – when I got on the ground I asked Corum what made prisoner shoot deceased he said he did not know. I then asked Wm. Hewitt, who said all he knew about it was they were talking something about character. I asked the old man and he said he could not tell – the old man said to Corum you have been the cause of this and Corum said James don’t say that you will hang me, the impression on my mind was that Corum had invited Hewitt out to hunt and that caused it. I went on and heard no more.






Haywood F. Triplett

Alexander Jeffries for the Commonwealth


Don’t  recollect the dates on the evening that deceased was shot. I went out as usual to get my wood. I heard some talking down at Mr. Tripletts. I stood a very little time before I heard  prisoner say stand back or I’ll shoot you and then heard report of gun and then I turned round and said to my wife somebody is shot at Tripletts. Very soon I saw Mr. Corum & Wm. Hewitt had followed the prisoner up to triplets barn. I thought they were about to overhaul him – were close to him – he caught his rifle by the barrel and drew it back as if he was going to strike – Mr. Corum & Hewitt returned to deceased I suppose. The  prisoner got over Triplett’s fence & fell. I never saw him any more until I saw him at the examination before a justice at Brentsville. I went down as fast as I could to Tripletts and helped the deceased in the store house.

Cross Examined


Had heard loud talking but did not appear to be quarreling or anything of that kind. The deceased was lying about half way between the store house and the barn. When the prisoner was hunting he generally went by the barn in going  home. My house is not over two hundred yards from Triplett’s store. Can hear Triplett talking in his ordinary voice. Saw nothing of dog. Prisoner said stand back twice – he might have said it oftener.  The ball entered the right side cutting the lowest rib.









Alex (his mark) Jeffries

Richmond, Va. June 1862

Virginia Penitentiary list of prisoners (partial)
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John A. Blevins, 18 December 1848, sentenced at Richmond City, to 15 years for a third offence for carrying off slaves, born in Hawkins County, Tennessee, age 53 years, 5 ft. 6 ½ inches high without shoes, white complexion, sallow color hair, blue eyes


James H. Ames, 22 November 1854, sentenced to 18 years, in Accomack County for murder in the second degree, born Virginia, age 21 years, 5 foot 7 inches tall without shoes, white complexion, sandy hair and blue eyes.


Andrew J. Parsons, 29 April 1855, sentenced to 3, 5, and 8 years in Cabell County for store breaking, born Cabell County, Virginia, 5 foot 9 ½ inches high without shoes, age 24 years, white complexion, sandy hair, and hazel eyes.

John Varenberg, 18 March 1855, sentenced to 18 years in Harrison County for murder in the second degree, born in the country of Belgium, 5 foot 8 ½ inches high without shoes, age 52 years, white complexion, brown hair and blue eyes.

William H. Ewell, 6 June 1855, sentenced to 9 years in Princess Ann County for murder in the second degree, born Princess Ann County, age 46 years, 5 foot 9 ½ inches high without shoes, white complexion, dark hair and blue eyes.

Robert D. Dickey, 21 June 1855, sentenced to 18 years in Fairfax County for murder in the second degree, born Halifax County, aged 31 years, 5 foot 5 inches high without shoes, white complexion, light hair and blue eyes.

John E. Watkins, 13 September 1855, sentenced to 10 years in Goochland County for second degree murder, born in Goochland County, age 44 years, 5 foot 9 ½ inches high without shoes, white complexion, light hair and blue eyes, feeble condition.

James A. Wilson, 23 October 1855, sentenced to 18 years in Loudoun County for second degree murder, born in Fauquier County, age 35 years, 5 foot 9 ½ inches high without shoes, fair complexion, brown hair and black/gray eyes, feeble condition.

Henry Abbott  aka B. Handlin, 20 October 1856, sentenced to 15 years in Richmond City for  grand larceny, born in lower Canada, age 24 years, 5 foot 5 inches high without shoes, fair complexion, black hair and grey eyes.

Benjamin Hughes, 10 October 1856, sentenced to 8 years in Halifax County for murder in the second degree, born Halifax County, age 52 years, 5 foot 9 ½ years old, white complexion, dark hair and black eyes.

George Johnson, 14 April 1857, sentenced to 6 years in Richmond City for stealing a slave, born King George County, aged 47 years, 5 foot 9 ½ inches high without shoes, light complexion, and blue eyes.

William S. Sinclair, 10 June 1858, sentenced to 5 years for murder in the second degree in Prince William County, born Fauquier County, aged 35 years, 5 foot 9 ½ inches high without shoes, cinnamon complexion, dark hair and blue eyes

Mississippi Depot, Manassas, Va., November  1861

File marked 29 October 1862 (misfiled)
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Mississippi Depot,




Richmond, November 12th 

To the Editors of the Examiner:


I beg leave to call your attention to the following note, just received from the Chief Clerk of the Mississippi Depot, at Manassas. Is there no remedy for these outrages and robberies? I have employed agents to accompany the cars in many instances, but what can one man do on a wearisome trip, in rain and darkness and hunger, by night and day, in watching for organized band of railroad thieves. Neither mercy nor pains have been withheld in attempting to convey the generous contributions of the Mississippians to the soldiers on the Potomac, but you see with what result. Nor are our goods the exception. Every State represented, and everybody meet, engaged in a task like mine, have similar complaints. What are we to do?







Respectfully, 

C. K. Marshall








Mississippi Depot

Manassas, Va., November 11th 1861

Dr. C. K. Marshall, Richmond       

        Dear Sir: Is there no possible plan that can be devised to prevent the goods that you ship from Richmond for this depot being stolen. Not a single car comes here without bundles or boxes broken open and pillaged of all or part of the contents.








Very Respectfully, 

E. E. Armstrong 

Richmond, Va. 21 November 1862

Engineer & Pay Office March 6th 1862

14 Law Building, Franklin Street

Counties delinquent in furnishing their quota of Slaves and requesting the law be enforced
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          To His Excellency John Letcher, Governor of Virginia


I have the honor to submit for you information the subjoined statement, furnished by Mr. Lamb, Gov. Agent, of the number of slaves received and receipted for by him to present date, which have been impressed from the Counties called upon to furnish “slaves for labor on the fortification and other works necessary for the Public Defence,” under An Act of Assembly passed October 3, 1862.

County

Quota

Slaves Furnished

Deficit 

Amherst

260


145

115

Albemarle
540


000

540

Appomattox
180


109

071

Bedford

450


274

176

Buckingham
300


204

096

Campbell
400


204

196

Charlotte
230


197

033

Cumberland
210


197

013

Fluvanna
140


101

039

Halifax

350


263

087

Louisa

350


241

109

Nelson

190


109

081

Pittsylvania
580


410

170

Prince Edward
320


303

017

Total Number of Slaves Called for
 4500

Total Number of Slaves Furnished   2757

Total Number of Slaves Deficit
 1743


You will observe that all of the Counties named in the list are delinquent, and none have furnished their full quota. Albemarle, thus far, has proved entirely delinquent. It is presumed that any of them which furnished laborers for the public defense under former calls have been credited in accordance with the Act of Assembly referred to, with the number so furnished. 

In view however of the failure of most of these counties to respond as promptly and fully as it was anticipated they would do so, to the call made upon them, and the great and urgent necessity and importance of having the requisite force upon the works as earliest day practicable. I beg leave most respectfully to call your attention to the __ Section of the Act of Assembly before mentioned, and to express the hope that your Excellency will cause the law to be enforced in every delinquent county.

It may be proper to remark that in some of the Counties, great imposition has been practiced (accidentally or unaccidentally it is to be hoped) by the owners sending slaves physically unfit for labor, and entirely worthless thereby subjecting the Government to much additional trouble and expense in returning them to their owners. It is to be hoped that your Excellency will as far as it is in your power, have this evil corrected and that the sheriff be instructed to impress none but able bodied men.

This deemed necessary in the opinion of Lt. Col. W. H. Steers, Chief Engineer Construction, to make a call for an additional force of 5,000 slaves to work on the fortifications, and in compliance with his request I have prepared a list of the Counties which will most probably be called upon to furnish this number, a copy of which I give herewith Viz:

COUNTY

SLAVES


COUNTY

SLAVES

Augusta


250 slaves


Mecklenburg

300 slaves

Brunswick

225 slaves


Montgomery

100 slaves

Botetourt

100 slaves


Madison


200 slaves

Culpeper

200 slaves


Nottoway

200 slaves

Caroline


400 slaves


Orange


200 slaves

Essex


150 slaves


Patrick


075 slaves

Franklin


300 slaves


Pulaski


050 slaves

Fauquier


300 slaves


Page


025 slaves

Green


075 slaves


Prince William

050 slaves

Hanover


225 slaves


Rockbridge

150 slaves

Henry


225 slaves


Rockingham

100 slaves

King William

100 slaves


Rappahannock

150 slaves

King & Queen

150 slaves


Roanoke


100 slaves

Lunenburg

150 slaves


Spotsylvania

350 slaves

Stafford


100 slaves

Total Slaves Called for




5,000

Deduct – Fauquier, Prince William and Stafford

   450

Balance






4,550









I have the honor to be









   Very Respectfully









      Your Obedient Servant










John B. Standard










1st Lt. Engineers 

Office of Richmond & York River Rail Road Company November 20th 1862
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To Governor Letcher

       My Dear Sir:


I received the enclosed from Major Berkley. I know Major B. well and know that his statement may be relied upon. If you act upon his suggestion, send the convict his note.








Respectfully truly yours









Ro: L: Montaque

Prince William County, October 6th  1862
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        Dear Montaque,


I am lying here wounded near home & am harassed daily by hearing of raids made by squads of Yankees picking up our sick & wounded men through this County. They took one of our sick Lieutenants out of a bed at my house some 2 weeks ago & forced him off on horseback & he dropped from his horse & died before they had gotten 20 miles. If I could get a proper man to make up a party in these mountains I could put a stop to it completely. 


If Governor Letcher will release William Sinclair who has nearly completed his term of imprisonment in the Penitentiary he could now render his Country efficient service. He is a very determined man, a splendid rifle shot & could raise a party of efficient men to follow him.  He was sentenced for five years to the Penitentiary for killing a man in a drunken quarrel & will be out in May next. If you can get him released please do so as you may rest assured you will be serving our cause greatly by putting a man against the enemy who will be worth 10 common men. If you succeed in having him released tell him it was at my intercession & get him to report to me at once as I have a long range rifle for him. I am getting on pretty well with my wound, which is not dangerous but will lame me for some time.









Truly your friend









   Edmund Berkeley









     Maj. 8th Va. Regt.

Richmond Virginia
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House of Delegates of Virginia 1861 – 2

Accomack  -  
G. T. Garrison


Albemarle -  
Frank Minor, M. L. Anderson

Alexandria - 
Wm. G. Cazenove

Alleghany - 
Samuel Carpenter

Amelia - 
Richard Irby


Amherst - 
Jno. Dudley Davis

Appomattox - 
Thomas H. Flood


Augusta - 
Hugh W. Sheffey, Wm. M. Tate

Barbour - 
Wm. Johnson




 & James Walker

Bath - 

Samuel Carpenter


Barbour - 
William Johnson

Boone - 

Isaac McDonald


Buchanan - 
not given

Bedford - 
Edw. Burks & Alex. Jordan
Berkeley - 
B. L. Kitchen & ___ Small

Botetourt - 
Jno. Anderson, Green James
Braxton - 
Duncan McLaughlin

Brooke - 
Wm. H. Crothers


Brunswick - 
R. M. Mallory

Buckingham - 
P. W. McKinney


Cabell - 

Albert Laidley

Calhoun - 
T. A. Williams


Cumberland - 
Ro. Dabney

Campbell - 
R. C. Saunders, R. J. Davis
Caroline - 
George Tyler

Carroll - 
William Kyle


Charles City - 
V. Vaden

Charlotte - 
Wood Bouldin


Chesterfield - 
Charles T. Friend

Clarke - 

William A. Bradford

Clay - 

Duncan McLaughlin

Craig - 

Jno Anderson, Green James
Culpeper - 
James Barbour

Dinwiddie - 
Henry C. Worsham

Doddridge - 
not given

Elizabeth City - 
Jas. W. Eustis


Essex - 

George T. Wright

Fairfax - 
O. W. Hunt


Fauquier - 
J. M. Forbes, Richard Payne

Fayette - 
John J. Coleman


Floyd - 

Valentine Thrash

Fluvanna - 
R. E. Nelson


Franklin - 
Peter Saunders Jr, Andrew Brooks

Frederick - 
G. W. Ward, M. R. Kaufman
Giles - 

Wm. Eggleston

Gilmer - 
T. A. Williams


Gloucester - 
Warner T. Jones

Goochland - 
Jno. C. Rutherford

Grayson - 
Samuel McCamaut

Greenbrier - 
Mason Mathews


Greene - 
Jno. L. Woolfolk

Hampshire - 
A.W.McDonald Jr., Chas Blue
Hancock - 
G. Mac. Porter

Hanover - 
Francis G. Taylor


Hardy - 

Charles Williams

Harrison - 
J. C. Vance, J. D. Davis

Henrico - 
Z. S. McGruder

Henry - 

Jno. F. Wootten


Highland - 
Wm. W. Fleming

Halifax - 
Jno. R. Edmonds, Geo. H. West
Isle of Wight - 
James L. Wilson

James City - 
V. Vaden


Jackson - 
Daniel Frost

Jefferson - 
A. R. Boteler, Andrew Hunter
Kanawha - 
JamesH. Brown, __ Ruffner

King & Queen - 
George T. Wright


King William - 
J. H. Daniel

Lancaster - 
Addison L. Carter

Lee - 

James Bayse

Lewis - 

G. J. Arnold


Logan - 

Isaac McDonald

Loudoun - 
Burr Noland, Matthew Harrison
Louisa - 

Wm. G. T. Nelson

Lunenburg - 
Jno. Orgain Jr.


Madison - 
Jas. L. Kemper

Marion - 
 F. H. Smith, Richard Fast

Marshall - 
R. Swan

Mason - 

Lewis Wetzel


Matthews - 
A. B. Evans

Mecklenburg - 
Wm. Baskervill


Mercer - 
R. A. Richardson

Middlesex - 
A. B. Evans


Monongalia - 
Jos. Snider, Leroy Kramer

Monroe - 
Wilson Lively, Jno. Rowan
Montgomery - 
Rice D. Montague

Morgan - 
not given


Nansemond - 
Nathaniel Riddick

Nelson - 
H. N. Coleman Jr.

New Kent - 
V. Vaden

Northumberland – Addison L. Carter

Nicholas - 
Duncan McLaughlin

Nottoway - 
Richard Irby


Norfolk City - 
Richard Baker Jr.

Norfolk Co. - 
Sam’l Murdaugh, Sam’l Wilson
Northampton - 
E. J. Spady

Ohio - 

Andrew Wilson, Thomas Logan
Orange - 
Jno. L.Woolfolk

Page - 

John R. Booten


Patrick - 
John Staples

Pendleton - 
James Boggs


Petersburg - 
Charles F. Collier

Pittsylvania - 
Jno Gilmer, A. S. Buford

Pleasants - 
not given

Pocahontas - 
Jas. Lockridge


Powhaton - 
Ro. Dabney

Preston - 
Wm. B. Zinn, Chas. Hooten
Princess Anne
not given

Prince Edward - 
T. T. Treadway


Prince George - 
George E. Rives

Prince William - 
Seymour Lynn


Pulaski - 
Jno G. Cecil

Putnam - 
not given


Randolph - 
not given

Raleigh - 
John J. Coleman


Rappahannock - 
Jno. G. Fletcher

Richmond City - 
Jno O. Steger,Wyndham Robertson
Richmond Co. - 
Willoughby Newton



& Thomas H. Wynne

Ritchie - 
not given

Roane - 

Daniel Frost


Roanoke - 
Colin Bass

Rockbridge - 
S. M. Reid, Francis Anderson
Rockingham - 
Chas. Grattan, John C. Woodson 

Russell - 
Isaac Vermillion




& John H. Hopkins

Scott - 

Jas. Franklin


Shenandoah - 
Philip Pitman, John Gatewood

Stafford - 
J. H. Daniel


Surry - 

George E. Rives

Sussex - 
William T. Lundy

Smyth - 

Charles J. Shannon

Southampton - 
Joseph H. Prince


Spotsylvania - 
Douglas H. Gordon

Taylor - 

not given


Tazewell - 
Harvey George, Thos. Gillespie

Tucker - 
not given


Tyler - 

not given

Upshur - 
D. T. t. Farnsworth

Warren - 
Samuel W. Thomas

Washington - 
David B. Clarke


Wayne - 
 David Dunn

Warwick - 
Jas. W. Eustis


Wirt - 

T. A. Williams

Wise - 

James Franklin


Williamsburg - 
Jas. W. Eustis

Westmoreland - 
Willoughby Newton

Wyoming - 
Isaac McDonald

Wood - 

John W. Moss


Wythe - 

Robert Crockett

York - 

Jas. W. Eustis

Richmond Va., April 7th 1863

Governors Executive Papers – Letcher

Box 26, Folder 1

Governors Proclamation for Election 

By the Governor of Virginia a Proclamation


By the Ordinances of the Convention and the laws of this Commonwealth it is prescribed that elections shall be held on the fourth Thursday of May next, being the 28th day of the month for the following officers, to wit:


For the election of Governor, Lieutenant Governor and Attorney General, and for members of the House of Representatives of the Confederate States for each Congressional District in this State. In these elections the qualified voters of all the Counties, Cities and Election Districts entitled to Representation in the Commonwealth may vote at the several places of voting prescribed by law, and also the qualified voters who may be in the military service of the State or of the Confederate States may vote at such place or places within the Regiment as the Commandant of such Regiment shall designate, whether such regiment be within the limits of this state or not; the qualified voters in any company or battalion unattached, or on detached service may vote in like manner: And the qualified voters of any county or Corporation absent thereupon because of the presence of the public enemy may vote at the Courthouse of any County or Corporation in the State where they may happen to be on the day of said Elections.


For the election of a Member of the Board of Public Works for the third district. In this election the qualified voters of the following counties and cities are entitled to vote: Viz


The Counties of Prince William, Alexandria, Fairfax, Fauquier, Loudoun, Jefferson, Clarke, Warren, Page, Shenandoah, Hardy, Frederick, Hampshire, Berkeley, Morgan, Pendleton, Randolph, Barbour, Upshur, Tucker, Braxton, Lewis, Doddridge, Tyler, Wetzel, Marshall, Ohio, Brooke, Hancock, Ritchie, Gilmer, Wood, Wirt, Mason, Jackson, & Pleasants. Also the qualified voters of any County or Corporation of said district absent there from because of the presence of the public enemy may vote at the Courthouse of any county or corporation in the State where they may happen to be on the day of said election.


For the election of the Senators in the State Senate for the second class, being the counties, cities and election districts composing the first, third, fifth, seventh, ninth, eleventh, thirteenth, fifteenth, seventeenth, nineteenth, twenty-first, twenty-third, twenty-fifth, twenty-seventh, twenty-ninth, thirty-first, thirty-third, thirty-fifth, thirty-seventh, thirty-ninth, forty-first, forth-third, forth-fifth, forty-seventh, and forty-ninth districts as designated in the fourth section of the fourth article of the constitution of the State. And for the election of members of the House of Delegates for all the Counties, Cities and Election districts in the State entitled to representation. In these elections the qualified voters who are authorized to vote in the election of Governor, as herein before designated, are also entitled to vote.


Therefore I, John Letcher, Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia, by virtue of authority vested in the Executive by law, do hereby proclaim and make known that all the elections, herein before mentioned, shall take place on the day designated, at the places prescribed and in the mode prescribed by law; and, in conformity to a request made by me. The President of the Confederate States has issued an order to all Commandants of camps, posts and detachments in Command of Virginia Troops, requiring them to give their aid in the due execution of the ordinance of the Convention and of this act providing for these elections.


Superintendents of elections at Military posts who may be appointed to conduct any of said elections, by making requisitions upon the public printer, stating the number of voters who will probably be polled in the election to be held by them, will be furnished with poll books properly headed and with extinct from the laws necessary for their direction and guidance.


The Act of Assembly and Ordinance of the Convention therein referred to are appended to this proclamation. Officers civil and military will be regulated by the requirements therein prescribed.


Given under my hand as Governor and under the seal of the Commonwealth of Virginia, this 6th day of April 1863 in the 87th year of the Commonwealth.








John Letcher


By a joint resolution of the General Assembly passed on the 30th of March last it is provided “that in such of the Counties of the Commonwealth as are in the occupation of the public enemy so that the session of the County Court cannot be held therein & commissioners of elections cannot be appointed it shall be lawful should such counties be temporarily or otherwise restored to our control on the day of the next ensuing elections & the County Court shall not have time to act for any Justice of the Peace to appoint commissioners of elections & cause such elections to be held in pursuance of the laws now in force.”


By an act passed on the 24th of March last it is provided “that whenever by reason of the presence or power of the public enemy no election can be held at the courthouse of any county it shall be lawful for the Commissioners or freeholders present & agreeing to act as commissioners at any regular place of voting in said county to appoint a conductor at such place if none be present, who shall be vested with the same powers & take the same oaths, be subject to the same penalties & perform the same duties as now provided by law.

Camp near Petersburg, March 8th  1863

Letter from Edmund Berkeley for Sinclair

Box #27, Folder 4, Accession # 36787, RG-3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – John Letcher

     Gov. Letcher, Dear Sir.


I see that you have been pleased during the past 12 months to pardon several convicts who have partly served out their several terms of imprisonment in the Penitentiary. This has emboldened me to lay before you the case of one which has nearly completed his term of imprisonment and whose family being without our lines is now in a state of suffering for the common necessaries of life. I refer to the case of Wm. Sinclair of Fauquier County who was sentenced to a term of 5 years imprisonment for the killing of Mr. Huet in a drunken quarrel & whose term will expire in the month of May next. Sinclair has a large family & provisions are so high that they are in a needy condition. As I know they living near me. Sinclair is a stout able bodied man a splendid rifle shot & would make a good soldier would I am sure like to take a part against his Countries Enemies before this war is concluded. Believing his to be a suitable case for the exercise of your Clemency I would respectfully call your attention to it.









Respectfully Yours.









Edmund Berkeley









Major 8th Regt. Va. Vol.

July 1st 1863, Richmond Virginia

List of Prisoners in State Penitentiary

Box 27, Folder #1

Governors Executive Papers – Letcher


Penitentiary of Virginia, July 1st 1863 – The following named and described Free Negroes Convicts, and Slave Transports were this day delivered to Joseph R. Anderson & Company to be employed in the manufacture of Iron & C & C at the works of said Anderson & Company in the County of (blank) in pursuance of a contract entered into between the said Joseph T. Anderson & Company and his Excellency the Governor of Virginia dated the 1st day of July 1863 – Twelve in Number

James Bradley – November 28th 1855 sentenced at Petersburg to 20 years for 2nd degree murder, age 42 years, black complexion, black hair, black eyes, 5 foot 4 ½ inches high, scar over the right eye on forehead.

George Dade – September 23rd 1857 sentenced at Prince William County to 10 years for burglary, age 30 years, complexion yellow, black hair, greenish gray eyes, 5 foot 4 ½ inches high, small scar on upper lip, also one at the root of the nail on 2nd finger of left hand.

William Cook – March 20th 1863 sentenced at Rockingham County to 2 years for felony in stealing pork, age 25 years, mulatto complexion, black eyes, dark hazel eyes, 5 foot 5 ½ eyes, one scar on the back of the left hand, and one on the right knee, and a half circle in indi--- on the right arm just below the elbow.

Joseph Graves alias Joseph Green – March 30th 1863 sentenced at Petersburg to 1 ½ years for felony in stealing goods, age 21 years, black complexion, black hair, black eyes, 5 foot 6 inches high, no visible scars.

Thomas Brooke – March 32 1863 sentenced at Page County to 1 year for unlawful shooting, age 27 years, mulatto complexion, black hair, hazel eyes, 5 foot 7 ½ inches high, one small scar near the right corner of the chin, three small scars on the right knee, and two on the left knee, one flesh mold on the breast, one on the right shoulder blade, and two on the left side of the back.

James Burns – May 9th 1863 sentenced at Augusta County to 5 years for aiding slaves to escape, age 53 years, dark ginger bread complexion, black hair, black eyes, 5 foot 2 ½ inches high, one large ----- scar on each jaw caused from being scalded, two small scars on the breast from the same cause, one scar in the palm of the left hand produced by a mash, the scar on the left jaw extends up to and behind the left ear also extends some distance under the throat.

James Beverly – May 31st 1863 sentenced at Greenbrier County to 3 years for felony in stealing a horse, age 26 years, mulatto complexion, black hair, brown eyes, 5 foot 9 inches high, a small scar on the upper lip, a scar on the right foot running towards the ankle also one on the left foot running from the toes towards the ankle, both produced from a cut, two scars on the right arm below the elbow produced from a pistol shot passing entirely through the arm.

George Hale – June 16th 1863 sentenced at Albemarle County to 3 years for felony in stealing a horse, age 22 years, black hair, mulatto complexion, black eyes, 5 foot 3 ¼ inches high, one large scar on the inside of the right leg near and below the knee from a cut, one large scar on the outside of the left leg half way between the knee and ankle from an axe cut.

John – April 25th 1860 sentenced at Albemarle County to transportation, age 18 years, bright mulatto complexion, light sandy hair, gray eyes, 5 foot 5 ½ inches high, one scar on the joint of the right wrist and one small scar just below the elbow of the left arm.

Joe Davis – August 18th 1862 sentenced at Danville to 3 years for grand larceny, age 28 years, mulatto complexion, black hair, black eyes, 5 foot 8 inches high, one scar on the right arm and one small scar at the outer corner of the left eye.

Moses – October 17th 1862 sentenced at Charlotte County to transportation, crime not stated, 17 years old, dark ginger bread complexion, black hair, black eyes, 5 foot 3 ½ inches high, one scar on the left leg between the ankle & the knee from a burn & a small scar on the forehead between the eyes.

Jake – November 25th 1862 sentenced at Pulaski County to transportation, crime not stated, 25 years of age, mulatto complexion, dark hair, dark hazel eyes, 5 foot 7 ¾ inches high, one small scar over the right eye on the forehead and one small scar on the inner side of the left leg over the ankle bone and belonged when condemned to Samuel Crockett’s estate.

I have the above mentioned Negroes examined by the surgeon of the penitentiary who reports them sound and healthy. They can be well spared from the penitentiary, and if approved by the Governor may be hired to Messrs. Joseph R. Anderson & Company under such rules and contract as he may order.








Colin Bass, Capt. Penity

Richmond, VA., July 16th 1863

Confederate States of America War Department

Letter from Secretary of War

Box 27, Folder #1
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      His Excellency John Letcher, Governor of Virginia, Richmond


Sir, I have the honor to state that the letter of Thos. B. Balch relative to natives of New Jersey residents in the County of Prince William, Va. And in regard to the impressments of their horses, submitted by you, had been referred to the General Co------dg? The Department with instructions to give protection to these people. The horses impressed will be paid for by the Quarter Master under the provisions of the Impressment Act.







Very Respectfully







Your Obedient Servant







James A. Seddon







Secretary of War

September 21st 1863

Box 27, Folder 6

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Letcher


Resolved – That the Secretary of the Commonwealth be instructed to inform the Senate, from the returns of the census for the year 1860, filed in his office, what number of White Male inhabitants there are in those portions of the Commonwealth not now in the possession of the Public Enemy between the ages of 16 and 18, and 45 and 60 years, respectably.








Agreed to by Senate








   Sept. 21st 1863








      Shelton C. Davis  C.

Travellers Rest Spotsylvania Co.

September 28th 1863

Box 28, Folder 2

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Letcher

        Dear Sir,


I have been a refugee from home (Fauquier County) over two months to try & save something in the way of my stock. But so far as pecuniary matters are concerned the Enemy had as well taken it from me I have been a farmer (on not an extensive scale) nearly all my life. Having married early we have raised ten children some of which are of tender age & I was compelled to leave my wife & six children in the hands or within the lines of the Yankees. Two sons F. M. & E. M. Suddoth have lost their lives in defence of Southern Rights. The former through your kindness was placed in position at Gloucesster Point at the commencement of the war and was made Adjutant of the 26th Va. Regt. The other Edgar M. volunteered in Camden Arkansas in a company called City Guards & I have received not a line from him & I am unprepared to inform you his Regt. The supposition is the bullet or disease has robbed us too of him. And now with a large & expensive family I am thrown out on the merciless world to try & raise the other boys as well as my daughters & if possible keep them together. For I can assure you I do not expect if I have a home left my family, anything else has been left whereon to subsist, although I left a good crop of wheat, for what I sowed last fall & also an abundance of hay, oats, corn & buckwheat, and a much larger crop of potatoes than usual. All of which I understand has been swept by the merciless invader. And now I call upon you if within your power to give me some place suited to my age & capacity whereby some help can be given my family by way of my actions as well as to serve my country in this hour of her need. I am as capable of performing ordinary duty on horseback as most men of my age & too on foot for short distances. But owing to a very severe cut on my left leg, just below the knee, which was the principal cause of my resignation as Capt. of a Company raised at Morrisville, Fauquier County early in the war (which company is now in service) causes a lameness where I have to exercise heavily.  I am thus specific on account of making you fully acquainted with my fiscial  ability. And now for the past. I have been an uncompromising States Rights Democrat, which my votes will attest all through my life. I am in favor of holding the agents of the Government both state & National to the strictest accountability. I am in favor of making our Confederate Money good if needs be by pledging our real estate & to put down extortion at all hazards. Your own good judgment tells you how the invaded & desolated negroes of the Confederacy are wrought upon by a deprecated currency & by the extortions. I will give you an illustration as briefly as possible. The Refugee in fleeing from his home desires if possible to save something for his loved ones. He hurriedly moves off what of his effects he best can before the approaching enemy within the lines of the Confederacy & there disposes of it. The first offer frequently exceeds greatly his most sanguine expectations. He then cut off from his family & his home & is soon drowned by a constant drain on his Confederate Money at the rate of from 2 to 5 cents per meal & everything is proportion. His little all goes. The Enemy takes what is left behind & then comes the trying hour! He & his family are reduced to the necessity of processions the necessaries of life at any cost. He is now if unfit for a soldier thrown upon the cold charity of his Southern Friends to whom he has fled. And his family stripped & I have been told, compelled, to draw rations from the robbers of their substance to keep life & soul together & too at a sacrifice of having to take the oath of allegiance to a government repugnant in every sense of the word to their best reason & judgment. I did not intend to trespass on your time when I commenced. But my feelings have led me off for which I hope you will pardon me. You were so good as to tell me in April last, that you would gladly serve me should I need your assistance. Now my Dear Sir, I wish to be placed in some sphere in which I can work for the good of my Country as well as my family. Since I have been broken up on my farm & my best prospects lade wasted I again have resolved to do or to die. I hope you will condescend to answer my hastily & badly connected letter as soon as possible. (Orange Court House Va.)


May God in his mercy direct our counsels & fit & prepare us all for any emergency to which our Country’s good may call us.







Your Friend & Obedient Servant








James T. Suddoth

Prince William County, October 24th 1863

Application for Pardon of Reuben Able

Box 28, Folder 3

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – Letcher

         
Virginia, Pleas at the Court House of Prince William County before the Circuit Court for said County on Monday the 14th day of October in the year One Thousand Eight Hundred and Sixty One.


Be it remembered that heretofore, to wit, at a Circuit Court held for the said County, on the 8th day of October 1860, John C. Weedon foreman, George A. Simpson, John Fair, James G. Draney, William W. Davis, Thomas Holmes, A. N. Doane, Christopher Windsor, _. S. Lindsley, John Finch, John W. Davis, John Clark, George F. Carney, Benson Davis, Samuel Beavers and Lawrence Cole were sworn a Grand Jury of inquest for the body of this County and having received their charge withdrew and after some time returned into court and presented.


An Indictment against Reuben Able for Murder, a true bill which Indictment is in the words following to Wit: 

“Ninth Judicial Circuit: Prince William County, to Wit: In the Circuit Court of said County, the jurors of the Commonwealth of Virginia in and for the body of the County of Prince William and now attending the said court, upon their oaths present that Reuben Able heretofore, to wit; on the twenty fifth day of August in the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty in the said County of Prince William in and upon one Thomas Luther Abel feloniously, willfully and of his malice aforethought did make an assault and that said Reuben Abel with a certain knife of the value of twenty five cents in his hand then & there held, the said Thomas Luther Abel in and upon the left side of the body of him the said Thomas Luther Abel then and there feloniously, willfully and of his malice aforethought did strike and thrust giving to the said Thomas Luther Abel then and there with the knife aforesaid in and upon the aforesaid left side of the body of the said Thomas Luther Abel one mortal wound of the breath of one half inch and of the depth of four inches, of which said mortal wound he the said Thomas Luther Abel from the said twenty fifth day of August one thousand eight hundred and sixty in the County aforesaid did languish and languishing did live to the twenty sixth day of August in the year aforesaid; on which said twenty sixth day of August in the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty the said Thomas Luther Abel in the County aforesaid did of the said aforesaid wound died; and so the Jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do say that the said Reuben Abel the said Thomas Luther Abel in manner and from aforesaid feloniously willfully and of his malice aforethought did kill and murder against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia upon the information of John W. Groves, Jas H. Sutherland and R. W. Wheat of Prince William County. Sworn and sent to give evidence to the Grand Jury by the Court.








M. Fitzhugh








October 8th 1860

Eppa Hunton, Attorney for the Commonwealth of said County



And thereupon the said Reuben Abel was led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of the court, thereof arraigned and pleaded not guilty to the Indictment. Whereupon the trial of the said Reuben Abel is postponed until tomorrow and the said Reuben Abel is remanded to Jail.


And at another day, to wit: An the jury sworn aforesaid on the 9th day of October 1860 the said Reuben Abel was again led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of this court; whereupon the petition of the said Reuben Abel and for reasons appearing to the court his trial to postponed until the next term. And the said Reuben Abel is remanded to Jail.


And at another day to wit, At a Circuit Court held for the said County on the 13th day of May 1861. The said Reuben Abel was again led to the bar in custody of the Jailor of this court and the attorney for the Commonwealth being absent and for reasons appearing to the court the trial is deferred until the next term upon the application of the Commonwealth.


And now at this day to wit: At a Circuit Court held for the said County at the Court House, on the same day and year first mentioned to wit; on Monday the 14th day of October 1861 Reuben Abel late of the County of Prince William, who stands indicted of murder was again led to the bar in custody of the Sheriff of this County, whereupon came a jury to wit; Jno Sullivan, Thomas J. Simpson, James H. Moore, William A. Bryant, Samuel R. Lowe, Robert T. Hooe, John H. Butler, John H. Purcell, Robert C. Weir, James Florance, Minor Fairfax, and John Keys who being elected, tried, and sworn the truth of and upon the promises to speak and having heard the evidence, upon their oath do say, that the said Reuben Able is not guilty of murder, but that he is guilty of voluntary manslaughter and they do ascertain the term of his imprisonment in the public jail and penitentiary house, to be three years, and thereupon, it being demanded of him, if anything for himself he had or knew to say why the court here should not now proceed to pronounce judgment against him according to law, and nothing being offered or alleged in delay of judgment, it is considered by the court, that the said Reuben Abel be imprisoned in the Public Jail and Penitentiary house of this Commonwealth for the term of three years, the period by the jurors on their verdict ascertained; and is ordered, that the Sheriff of this County do, as soon as possible after the adjournment of this court remove and safely convey the said Reuben Abel from the Jail of this County to the said Public Jail and Penitentiary House therein to be kept imprisoned and treated in the manner directed by law. And the court doth certify, that on the trial of the said Reuben Abel nothing appeared to the court either in aggravation or extenuation  of the offence of the said Reuben Abel  nor did it appear that before the Commission of the said offence he was of good or bad character or that he had ever been convicted or tried for any felony or other infamous crime. And thereupon, the said Reuben Abel is remanded to Jail.


Teste – Wm. E. Lipscomb, Cl. Pro. Tem.   (No Evidence taken down in this Court)

October 24th 1863

Letter from Governor Letcher in answer to the above case.


Reuben Able charged with murder was indicted in the Circuit Court for Prince William County, at the October term 1860. The trial did not take place at the term at which the indictment was found, in consequence of a continuance moved for by the prisoner. At the succeeding Spring term the Commonwealth moved for a continuance, because of the absence of the Attorney for the Commonwealth. The trial was had at the October term 1861, the prisoner was found guilty of voluntary manslaughter, and was sentenced to imprisonment for three years in the penitentiary. The prisoner is upwards of sixty years of age, badly ruptured, infirm and in ill health, and a charge upon the institution. Since his confinement his conduct as a prisoner has been good. He has four sons in our army who have proved themselves good soldiers, and who now ask for the pardon of their father. In consideration of the good conduct of the sons, the age and infirmity of the father, and of the fact that he has been confined in jail and the penitentiary since the month of August 1860. I direct his discharge.









John Letcher
Warrenton, August 30th 1873

Governor Walker’s Executive Papers

Accession #40233, Box 2, Folder 4

     General James L. Kemper


Dear Genl. I address you as the next Gov. of Va. As I am sure you will be if life lasts. I am informed that at the meeting of the Board of Visitors of Blacksburg College in January the appointment of “Farm Manager” will be made and you as Gov. will be ex officio a number of the Board. I write this early in behalf of our mutual friend Col. N. Berkeley now of Augusta County formerly Col. of 8th Va. Regt. I am sure I need not say much in his favor to you. He was considered before the war a first rate manager of his farm near Aldie, Loudoun County – was Pres. Of Loudoun Ag. Fair and the “Union Club” for the improvement of horses” & compassing the counties of Clark, Loudoun, Fauquier & Prince William. By the ravages of war he has been reduced to poverty and needs this place.


Don’t forget this in the more weighty & numerous calls you have. Wishing you a great beg Maj. I am as ever








Your Friend &c.








Eppa Hunton

File this away

Manassas, Va., August 2nd 1876

August 1876 letter from Robert Tansill

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James L. Kemper

To His Excellency James L. Kemper, Governor of Virginia, Richmond

       Sir:


I beg you will consider me an applicant for the office of Superintendent of the Penitentiary, made vacant by the death of Mr. Geo. H. Strother. I was born in this County in 1812, and entered the U.S. Military service in 1833. When the late war commenced I was a Captain in the U. S. Marine Corps, which position I resigned, and joined the Confederate Army, and faithfully served in it as Colonel to the end of the contest, and by its sad termination, lost my commission, the only means I had for the support of myself and family. I am now an old man, entirely without employment, or means of support, and in my hard and distressed condition, I appeal to you as Governor of the State, for the position in question. My sacrifices, misfortunes, and devotion to the honor, and rights of The Old Commonwealth, during, and sense of right, justice, and sympathy. I can furnish you with any testimonials as to my qualifications, and claims upon the State, that may be required. Gratitude is one of the noblest sentiments of the human heart, and believing that this noble virtue prevails in the breast of your Excellency, it inspires me with the confident hope, that my application will not be made in vain.


Be so kind as to advise me as soon as convenient, if I may hope for success.









Very respectfully








   Your obedient servant








      Robert Tansill

(The back of the letter from Robert Tansill appears to be a rough draft for an answer)


Absence from city delays – The Governor acknowledges your formal application for the office of Superintendent of the Penitentiary and he highly appreciates your honorable record in the service of the Country. Should the place mentioned become vacant during the recess of the General Assembly; it would then become the Governor’s duty to fill it by temporary appointment, and in that event he would impartially and carefully consider your own as well as all the applications. It is perhaps well to state here that in respect to all such appointments the Governor is greatly embarrassed by the multitude of applicants of excellent qualifications who are in distressed circumstances, many of whom left the U. S. Army and Navy in 1861 to serve Virginia and who served with fidelity and distinction throughout the war. For every gentleman of that class who can possibly be appointed many others of doubtless equal claims necessarily fail to be provided for.

Manassas, Va., August 3rd  1876

August 1876 letter from Charles E. Sinclair

Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James L. Kemper

To His Excellency James L. Kemper, Governor of Virginia, Richmond

       Dear Sir:


I understand there is a vacancy in the Office of Superintendent of the Penitentiary which it will soon devolve upon you to supply. 


I beg to recommend for the position Colonel Robert Tansill of this County. Colonel Tansill was formerly a Captain in the U.S. Marine Corps which office he resigned at the breaking out of the late war & came South serving as you are no doubt aware with distinction as Colonel in the Confederate Service.


Colonel Tansill is a Gentleman of great integrity and high executive ability and has in his sacrifices for the south placed himself in a position pececinarily which would under this place very acceptable to him. I have no doubt he would fill it satisfactorily to the public service & this view earnestly _______the application to your favorable consideration.








Very respectfully








     Your obedient servant









Charles E. Sinclair

 Manassas, Va., August 3rd  1876

August 1876 letter from Robert Tansill
Virginia Governors Executive Papers – James L. Kemper

To His Excellency James L. Kemper, Governor of Virginia, Richmond

       Dear Sir:


By your direction I have had the honor to receive through your secretary, Col. S. Bassett French, an answer to my application of the 2nd inst. for the position of Superintendent of the Penitentiary predicated upon the reported death of Mr. George F. Strother, the present incumbent, whom I am happy to learn is still living, and hope his life may be long spared, as I really have no desire to be benefited by the misfortune of my fellow man. Understanding, however, that Mr. Strother, from the nature of his disease, is not likely to live long, and that his death may be expected at any moment. I herewith enclose two letters of recommendation, one from Hon. John Letcher and another from Hon. B. B. Douglas, and ask that they may be filed, with that of Judge C. E. Sinclair, forwarded sometime ago, with my application.


I feel assured that should the appointment devolve on your Excellency it will be bestowed on the gentleman you may think has the best claims upon the justice, and gratitude of the Commonwealth. I also enclose a copy of my resignation from the U. S. Service, recently received from the Navy Department, from which you will perceive that my predictions therein at that early date have had a sad confirmation, and that my character is matter of the positive than negative type.







Very respectfully, Sir, 







I have the honor to be







Your obedient servant







    Robert Tansill
Alexandria, Va., 19 June 1862

Governors Executive Papers – Francis H. Pierpont

Box 6, Folder 5

F. H. Pierpont, Governor


I have just returned from the three attempts to post your proclamation at the front door of the court houses of Fauquier & Rappahannock Counties, but without success. I have posted them in different parts of Fauquier but was not able to reach Warrenton, without an escort, and Genl. Geary did not think it prudent to send a sufficient escort from his lines to make it safe. He said a small force would be cut off by the citizens of the town. I was unable to reach Rappahannock at any point.


I did not see any person that would give me the names of the officers of the county, they would talk freely, and was glad to get your address “to the people of Virginia” – of which I have distributed all I had and would be glad to have more as I think it will do a vast amount of good, as the army opens the way – but when I began to talk to them about their aiding in any way, their fears of the consequences immediately manifested itself, and they would not communicate anything.


I have partially succeeded in getting the names of the officers of Prince William, but have not yet got all the magistrates. The records are all gone; both in Prince William and Stafford, and the people do not seem to know anything beyond their own neighbourhood. I will do the best I can – can we not have an election of circuit judge without an organization in all the counties of the circuit.








Yours








     Jonathan Roberts

Buckland Mills, Prince William County

November 16th 1862

Governors Executive Papers – Francis H. Pierpont

Box 9, Folder 4    Letter to J. R. Moore

       Dear Friend


I take the present opportunity to drop you a few lines. I am in good health at the present time, we have been in this place several days, we just received orders to be prepared to march at a moment’s warning, and the probability is we may go yet tonight. Well I have a favour to ask of you that is a recommendation to Governor Pierpont for Second Lieutenant of Co. C 3rd Va. Cavalry as there is a vacancy occasioned by the resignation of Marcus W. Eakles. I have been studying who I should write to on such an occasion. I could not think of anyone more suitable in regard to such a request as you. I have been with the company ever since its organization. It would be the wish of all the boys present for me to fill this position as I have always stuck with them in trouble. There is a vacancy for Capt. also so you have an idea what kind of material we have had for Captains I would rather have the second lieutenants position than any other. There is not the same responsibility resting on an under officer as there is on the captain. There is not much news of importance to write you, our army is advancing please answer this and I will reply and give you the particulars of our advance.








Yours with Respect








James S. Perry

Direct to – James S. Perry O. S.

In care of Lieut J. E. Hoffman

Co. C. 3rd Va. Cav.

General Seigles Army Corps

In the field by Washington DC










Morgantown, Va.










November 26th 1862

To His Excellency F. H. Pierpont


Sir, I enclose you Mr. Perry’s letter as best means of gratifying his request. He is a man of very fair character & was from the beginning a strong war man & I think a deserving man. Has a family to support & is poor. If you could consistently promote him I think it would be a favor properly bestowed. With best wishes for your health I am very truly 









Your Friend









J. R. Moore

Alexandria Va., 28th May 1863
Governors Executive Papers – Francis Pierpont

Box 10, Folder __

Virginia, Prince William County to Wit:


I James G. Draney, conductor, do solemnly swear that in conducting the election about to be held I will not attempt to influence the vote of any person or be guilty of any partiality for any candidate or person voted for, & as far as depends on me I will make a true return of the results of the election according to law, so help me God.









James G. Draney


Sworn to and subscribed before me a commissioner for said county this 28th day of May 1861







G. W. Joy

Virginia, Prince William County to wit:


We the undersigned Free Holders of said County having agreed to hold an election for the County of Prince William & each of us do solemnly swear that we will faithfully execute the office of Commissioners in the election about to be held.









G. W. Joy & A. M. Arrington









Commissioners


Sworn to and subscribed before me James G. Draney conductor of the election about to be held for said county this 28th day of May 1863









James G. Draney

Virginia, Prince William County to wit:


Personally appeared before me a conductor duly appointed to conduct the election about to be held for said county, John W. Stewart, clerk of the election to be held for said county who made oath that he would faithfully discharge the duty of writer at the election about to be held to the best of his skill & judgment.







Given under my hand the 28th day of May 1863









James Draney, Conductor


We the undersigned Commissioners certify that at a poll held by Loyal Voters of Prince William County, Virginia on the 28th day of May 1863 that Channey H. Snow received twenty one votes for State Senator for the 23rd Magisterial district composed of the Counties of Stafford, King George & Prince William. Twenty one votes for member of the House of Delegates from Prince William County Virginia as appears from the poll list herewith returned.








G. W. Joy








A. M. Arrington


We the undersigned commissioners, conductor & clerk hereby further certify that they & all the persons whose votes are recorded in the poll list above mentioned together with a loyal member of loyal voters & refugees from Prince William County Virginia on this the 28th day of May 1863 went in a steamboat to the mouth of Quantico Creek in said county for the purpose of voting at the Precinct of Dumfries having obtained passes for said purpose but were prevented from landing by the Military Authorities of the United States & consequently were not able to open a Poll at said Precinct & were compelled to return & at the City of Alexandria the first place in Virginia where they were permitted to land they as citizens exercised the right of suffrage and they desire that those who received their votes be admitted to seats in the Senate & House of Representatives of Virginia.









G. W. Joy









A. M. Arrington









James Draney









Jno W. Stewart


It is hereby certified that at an election held on the 28th day of May 1863 for the counties of Prince William, Stafford & King George comprising the 23rd Senatorial District of Virginia, Channey H. Snow was duly elected to represent the same in the Senate of Virginia.


Given under our hands this 28th day of May in the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty three.









G. W. Joy









A. M. Arrington

To the Clerk of the Senate of Virginia

Poll taken for Prince William County Virginia on the 28th day of May 1863 for a State Senator and for Prince William for member of House of Delegates of the State of Virginia.

For State Senator





For Delegate

C. H. Snow






John Underwood

J. C. Kelly

1





1  (VT)   Occoquan

Jos. Seymor

1





1  (ENG) Dumfries

James B. Seymor

1





1  (ENG  Dumfries

W. C. Avery

1





1  (NY)   Indept. Hill

H. T. Eastman

1





1  (NY)   Dumfries

E. Duvall

1





1  (VA)   Occoquan

J. Curl


1





1  (NJ)    Buckland

John Depue

1





1  (PA)   Brentsville

William Turner

1





1  (VA)  Occoquan

John G. Horner

1





1  (NJ)
   Occoquan

John Berry

1





1  (DC)   Occoquan

Edward Chamberlin
1





1  (PA)   Occoquan

T. Selectman

1





1  (VA)  Occoquan

Thos C. Frazier

1





1   (DE)  Occoquan

J. (Jacob) Depue

1





1   (PA)  Brentsville

G. W. Joy

1





1   (VT)  Occoquan


J. M. Stewart

1





1   (NJ)   Bristoe Sta.


W. Mattox

1





1   (MD) Haymarket


John H. Cornwell

1





1   (VA)  Dumfries)

A. M. Arrington

1





1   (VA)  Occoquan

J. G. Draney

1





1   (NJ)    Occoquan

I James G. Draney certify that C. H. Snow received twenty one votes for State Senator of the twenty third district composed of the counties of Stafford, King George, & Prince and John Underwood twenty one votes for the House of Delegates  of Virginia and the poll’s were closed according to law this twenty eighth day of May 1863.










James G. Draney









Conductor

Abbott, Henry 177,232

Abel, Elijah 206

Abel, George M. 206

Abel, Thomas Luther 240

Abel, William 110

Abell, James 206

Able, Reuben 240,241

Accomack County 4,10

Adam, James 10

Adams, Charles 1

Adams, Elias 92

Adams, George B. 206

Adams, S. M. 216

Adie, William 34

Africa 54

Albemarle County 4,10

Alexander, Col. 3,8

Alexander, Gerard 60,74,80,81, 82,84,86,88,89,90,93,96,98,99

Alexander, Gerard Jr. 74,85,90, 93,98

Alexander, Hector 31,48

Alexander, L. G. 115,118,121, 126,137,140

Alexander, Law. 126

Alexander, Law. G. 126,133,137

Alexander, Lawrence 99

Alexander, Lawrence G. 98,99, 103,104,107,108,117,118,121, 127,130,131,132,133,137,144, 145,152

Alexander, Major 89

Alexander, Mr. 63

Alexander, Mrs. 122

Alexander, P. 99

Alexander, Phil 99

Alexander, Philip 61,63,74,84, 85,86,87,89,90,92,93,94,96,97, 98,99,103,104

Alexander, Robert 92,125,136

Alexander, Robert B. 50

Alexander, Sigismunda 122

Alexander, Sigismunda Mrs. 121,122

Alexander, Thomas R. 185,203 206,207

Alexander, William 18,36

Alexander, William C. 113

Alexandria 2,3,5,8,9,10,43,51,56 61,62,63,64,76

Alexandria Mayor 56

Aliff, David 50

Aliff, William 50

Allan, D. W. 206

Alleghany County 3

Allen, A. 216

Allen, Charles 198,199

Allen, Charles 49

Allen, G. W. 211

Allen, James 91

Allen, Wilson 1,2

Allison, Mr. 10

Alverson, A. W. 175

Amelia County 4

American Army 5

Ames, James A. 232

Ames, James H. 177

Ames, Thomas 177

Amherst County 4

Anderson & Company 238

Anderson, Francis 236

Anderson, James L. 165

Anderson, Jerry 181

Anderson, Jno 235

Anderson, John 105

Anderson, Joseph R. 238

Anderson, Joseph T. 238

Anderson, M. L. 235

Anderson, Mathew 49

Anderson, O. P. 181

Anderson, Richard 13

Anderson, Samuel 91

Anderson, Thomas 13

Anness, John 136

Anness, John B. 65

Anness, Richard 136

Anthony, Jeremiah 15

Applby, Robert 83

Armistead, James 199

Armistead, Lewis 186

Armistead, Louis 223

Armstead, J. A. H. 177

Armstead, James 188

Armstead, Lewis 177,221

Armstead, W. R. 177

Arnold, Bernard 205

Arnold, G. J. 235

Arnold, James 139

Arnold, John 205

Arnold, Moses 110

Arrington, A. M. 185,203,206, 207, 244,245

Arrington, A. M. 244,245

Arrington, Albert M. 185,203

Arrington, Alfred 134

Arrington, Compton 91

Arrington, Evan 91

Arrington, Gaten 141

Arrington, William 205

Arston, David 61,62,63,64

Ash, John 2

Ashby, N. T. 175

Ashby, Samuel 73

Ashby, Washburn 177

Ashmore, William 22,126

Askins, P. 216

Atkinson, Richard 158

Attwell, Lieut. Col. 4

Attwell, Mr. 26

Augusta County 3,10

Austin, John H. 160,195,196

Austin, William G. 160

Austine, Mr. 3

Austine, William 3

Avery, Henry R. 160

Avery, W. C. 245

Avery, William W. 160

Baggage Waggons 5

Baird, Augustus 178

Baker, Richard Jr. 236

Balch, Thomas B. 239

Bales, Mr. 30

Baless, Thomas B. 171

Ball, Alfred 137

Ball, John 50

Ball, Spencer 74

Ballard, John 13

Ballenger, Jeremiah 43

Ballenger, Joseph 43

Baltimore 2,37

Barbee, James M. 206

Barber, Sam 50

Barber, William 155

Barbour County 

Barbour, Albert M. 217

Barksdale,William 80

Barnes, Mr. 141

Barnes, Thomas B. 141

Barnes, William 31,35,46,48,55, 60,61,63,74,75,78,85,86,87,90, 93,96,98

Barnes, William 35

Barnett, John 15,50

Barrett, William 11

Barron, Capt. 217

Barron, Doctor 68

Barron, H. 91

Barron, Hedley 67,69,70

Barron, Henry 104,107,108,112, 113

Barron, Jesse 73

Barron, John 91,113

Barron, Samuel 91

Barton, Edwin 175

Baskerville, William 235

Bass, Colin 236,238

Bates, David 29

Baxter, Mr. 138

Bayse, James 235

Beach, Robert 160

Beale, William C. 166

Bean, E. 216

Beard, John 175

Beatty, James 50,111

Beauregard, General 208

Bedford County 4,10

Beearer, John 28

Beevers, Alexander 136

Belches, James 13

Belford, John 61,62,63,64

Bell, James 50

Bell, William 206

Benner, J. 216

Bennett, J. M. 176

Bennett, Jas M. 216

Berkeley County 3

Berkeley, Col. N. 241

Berkeley, Edmund 235,237

Berry, John 245

Berryman, Thomas N. 206

Beverly, James 238

Bevier, William 183

Bevier, William D. 176,189,190, 192, 194,195,196

Bibb, D. G. 200

Bibb, Robert F. 200

Biggs, Amanda 215

Billingsley, James 51,73

Binns, Jno A. 111

Bird, George 11

Bird, Wm. Wallace 220

Bishop, William 174

Blackburn, Col. Richard 43

Blackburn, Richard 1

Blackburn, Richard Scott 34,37

Blackburn, T. 12,41

Blackburn, Thomas 41

Blacklock, D. R. 174

Blacksburg College

Blacksmith 149,150

Blackwell, Allen 135

Blackwell, General 46

Blackwell, Herndon 113

Blackwell, John 13

Blackwell, Lewis 50,77

Blackwell, Samuel 106

Blair, A. 29

Blaking, William 125

Bland, John 205

Blevins, John A. 176,231

Blockman, Joseph F. 178

Blue, Charles 235

Boag, Doctor 27

Boag, James 27

Bodine, Theodore 189

Boggs, James 236

Boley, Robert 92

Bolt, William H. C. 175

Bomiche, J. E. 15

Booker, Edward 13

Booker, Jeff 222

Boon, William 177,197,200,201

Booton, John R. 236

Boswell, George 92

Boswell, James 65

Boteler, A. R. 235

Botts, Alexander 102

Botts, Benjamin 55

Botts, Joseph 38

Botts, Samuel 136

Botts, Seth 65

Bouldin, Wood 235

Bowers, Capt. 148

Bowling Green 206

Bowling, George A. 229

Bowls, Thomas 61,62,63

Bowser, Michael 63

Bowyer, William 10

Boyers, Samuel 178

Boyle, David 48,60,63,65,71,72, 74,75,80,81,89

Boyton, Samuel C. 125

Bradford, B. T. 216

Bradford, William A. 235

Bradley, James 178,238

Brag, Timothy 113

Brammill, W. 91

Branch, Anderson 14

Branch, Olive 14

Branch, Pleasant 14

Branch, Samuel 14

Brasfield, Leonard 50

Brawner, Alex 65

Brawner, B. 127,183

Brawner, Basil 106,135,152, 154,156,161

Brawner, F. P. 206

Brawner, Henry 68,136

Brawner, John 135

Brawner, R. F. 175,206

Brawner, W. G. 183,205

Brawner, William 66,91,113, 115,167,206

Brawner, William B. 160,181

Bray, R. W. 216

Bray, Timothy 113

Bready, William 13

Breener, M. M. 216

Brent, Daniel Carroll 12,35,39

Brent, George 35

Brent, Hugh 1

Brent, John H. 202Brent, Major 33

Brent, Mr. 202

Brent, Richard 32

Brenton, Hampton 184

Brentsville 245

Brentsville 97,98,99,100,102, 103,104,105,106,107,108,109, 112,113,114,115,116,117,118, 119,120,122,124,125,126,127, 128,129,130,131,132,137,140, 144,145,146,147,148,150,152, 153,154,155,156,159,160,161, 162,163,164,167,172,174,181, 183,190,199,200,202,207,208, 210,224,228,231,245

Brentsville Court 140,144,145, 146,147,148,150,153,154,155, 156,159

Brentsville Election 137

Brentsville Jail 97

Brentsville Post Office 101

Brett, George 50

Brett, Richard 63

Brett, Richard A. 109

Brewer, Henry 84,90

Bridges, Thomas 62

Bridwell, William 110

Bright, Kyle 175

Brill, Solomon 206

Bristo, Thomas 50

Bristoe Station 245

Bristow Estate 1,44,76

Bristow Lots 43

Bristow Tract 43

Bristow, Mary 

Bristow, Robert 1,2,43,44

British Consul 213

British King 2

Broad Run 3

Broaddus, John 13

Brockenbrough, William 101

Bronaugh, Doctor john 56

Bronaugh, John 65,85,86,87,90

Bronaugh, William 113

Brooke County 143,

Brooke, E. 41,57,78,80,87,88, 93,98

Brooke, Edmund 41,42,60,78,79 80,81,82,84,86,87,88,89,90,96, 98,104

Brooke, G. 38,40

Brooke, Mr. 32,41,86

Brooke, Robert 45,46,47,48,52, 57,90

Brooke, Thomas 238

Brooks, Elick 177

Brown, 229

Brown, Alex 12,33

Brown, Alexander 11,33,34,36

Brown, Henry 16,73

Brown, J. 1

Brown, J. F. 216

Brown, James 50,223

Brown, James H. 235

Brown, John 6,16,34,35,37,63, 74,75,76,77,181

Brown, Joseph C. 160

Brown, Mr. 3,13

Brown, Neale 43

Brown, Oliver 181

Brown, Robert 36

Brown, Robert Jun. 77

Brown, Watson 181

Brown, William 50

Brown, William A. 177

Browne, John 13

Bruce, Alexander 61,63

Brundige, Timothy 31,48,56

Brunswick County 10

Bruster, Charles 46

Bryant, Henry 206

Bryant, William A. 241

Bryce, James G. 105

Buardly, George 179

Buchanonu, Mary G. 210

Buck, George 211

Buckingham County 4,10

Buckland 245

Buckley, John 13

Buckmaster & Co. 216

Bucknall, John Ashel 44

Buckner, Will 10

Buford, A. S. 236

Bullet, Nelly 61,62,63

Bullitt, Cuthbert 35

Bullitt, Mr. 29,43

Bumbley, John 14

Bumly, Elizabeth 15

Bundy, George 186

Bundy, Thornton 197

Burch, William 178

Burgess, Joseph 101,102,103

Burk, Marjaret 15

Burks, Edward 235

Burlugh, Elizabeth 16

Burlugh, Elizabeth Mrs. 15

Burnett, Fleming 201

Burnett, William 50

Burnette, Fleming 177,200

Burns County

Burns, James 238

Burroughs, George 13

Butcher, Hengfield 196

Butcher, Wingfield 177

Butler County NC

Butler, A. 216

Butler, Henry G. 113

Butler, John 55,64,66

Butler, John H. 241

Butler, L. B. 206,217,218

Butler, Lewis B. 167

Butler, Munroe 197

Butler, N. B. 113

Butler, William B. 175

Byrce, James G. 113

Byrne, Jno S. 148

Cabell County 143,175,177

Cabell, Governor 60,61

Cabell, William H. 55,59,63,64, 65,66,71,72,73

Calland, Joseph 10

Calvert, Enoch 50

Calvert, Henry 185,203

Cambridge, John 114,115

Cameron Parish 55

Cammer, J. C. 216

Camp Bartow 214

Camp Walker 225,226,227x

Campbell County 10,14,142,197 201,223,233,235

Campbell, Colin 16,21,26,29,30, 31,50,66,67,69,71,72

Campbell, Collis 29

Campbell, David 141,144,145, 148

Campbell, E. H. 215

Campbell, Elijah 105,106

Campbell, Gust. B. 31

Campbell, James 14

Campbell, John 13,14,29

Campbell, Lieut. 27

Campbell, Mr. 105

Campfield, John 179

Canby, Benjamin Hough 55

Candy, James 175

Cane, Benjamin 188

Cannon, Adjuant 27

Cannon, Barnaby 91,113

Cannon, Capt. 17,20,26

Cannon, Col. 101,112

Cannon, Francis 102

Cannon, Francis J. 207

Cannon, George A. 184,202,228

Cannon, John 38

Cannon, John B. 92,131

Cannon, Luke 16,19,22,90,93, 98,99,102

Cannon, Luke, Col. 19

Carner, J. S. 216

Carney, George F. 160,163,174, 206,240

Carney, Hedgeman 205

Carney, John 92,125,126,136

Carney, Lewis 160

Caroline County 4,10

Carpenter, Samuel 235

Carper, William 66

Carr, Capt. 24

Carr, Ensign 20

Carr, Larkin 65

Carr, Mr. 8,34

Carr, William 20,21,26,34,35,36 40

Carrico, William 50

Carrington, Edward 52

Carrington, Paul 57

Carrol, Henry 92

Carrol, John W. 215

Carroll, Henry W. 92

Carroll, J. W. 216

Carter, Addison L. 235,236

Carter, Anderson B. 114

Carter, Andrew J. 206

Carter, C. S. 107,117

Carter, Charles S. 99,104,107, 108,115,116,117,118,126,127, 130,131,132,133,140

Carter, Consellor 3

Carter, Daniel 91

Carter, Edward 41,61,76,77

Carter, Edward Jr. 32

Carter, George H. 135

Carter, H. 216

Carter, H. P. 160

Carter, James 92

Carter, John 205

Carter, John H. 113

Carter, Justice 191

Carter, L. 103

Carter, Landon Jr. 114

Carter, Mr. 131,191

Carter, Phil 106,125

Carter, Thomas N. 160

Carter, William 16

Carter, William B. 206

Carter, Wormley 16

Carter’s Plantation 3

Cary, Thomas 62

Caskie, John S. 166

Caten, Samuel 206

Caton, Aaron 50

Cecil, Jno G. 236

Cedar Point 2

Cedar Run 90

Chamberlin, Edward 245

Chamberlin, Thomas 206

Chandler, C. 216

Chapel, Weldmann 206

Chapman, Aaron 50

Chapman, George 40,50

Chapman, Henry 135

Chapman, John 6,7,8,73,215

Chapman, John W. 160

Chapman, Major 95

Chapman, Mr. 35

Chapman, Thomas 38,65,66,67 69,85,86,90,92,93,95,96,98,99, 103,107,108,115,117,118,125, 145,154

Chapman, Thomas Jun. 38

Chapman, W. 10

Chapman, W. R. 78,85

Chapman, William R. 83,85,101 103,104

Chappel, Jeremiah 92

Charles City 4

Charlotte County 4

Chartellux, Choe de 5

Chennault, Job 178

Cherry, Mich 177

Chesterfield County 3

Chestney, Capt. 220

Chewning, William 13

Chick, Charles 110

Chilton, Samuel 160

Chrisham, William 13

Church of England 19

Claggett, E. E. 195

Claiborne, Major 5

Clandisen, Samuel 28

Clapsaddle 216

Clark & Bell 216

Clark, James 50

Clarke, A. M. 92

Clarke, David B. 236

Clarke, Joseph 14

Clary, Mr. 123,124

Claughton, P. C. 174

Clay, Marslen 13

Clayton, Burwell 198,199

Cleary, M. 130,132,137

Cleary, Michael 85,86,90,93,96, 98,99,104,107,108,116,117,119 120,124,126,127,128,129,130, 131,132,137,140

Cleary, William 118,160

Clements, Thomas 13

Clifford, G. W. 148,159,162

Clifford, George W. 147,163

Clifford, Mr. 146,147

Clinkscales, William 43

Clise, John 28,50

Coapland, John 197,200

Cochburn, Martin 10

Cocke, Thomas 125

Cockrell, Benjamin H. 206

Cockrell, G. H. 136

Cockrell, George 65,70

Cockrell, George H. 163

Cockrell, George N. 149

Cockrell, Jesse 125

Cockrell, Joseph J. 160

Cockrell, Moses 114

Cockrell, Samuel 125

Cockrell, Thomas 92

Cockrell, William 144

Colbert, Clarkson 136

Colbert, Francis 125

Colchester 5,9

Cole, B. 122,124,125

Cole, Basil 160,206

Cole, Horace 206

Cole, Kendrick B. 206

Cole, L. 206

Cole, Lawrence 136,240

Cole, Mathias 99,103,104,107, 115,117

Cole, R. 60

Cole, R. D. 63

Cole, Richard 66,67,69

Cole, Samuel 66,67,69

Cole, Thomas 66

Coleman, H. N. 236

Coleman, H. N. Jr. 236

Coleman, James 11

Coleman, John J. 235,236

Coleman, John J. 236

Coles Point 3

Collett, P. 175

Collice, George 50

Collice, John 50

Collier, Charles F. 236

Collins, P. 216

Collis, Samuel 128

Colquhoun, James A. 125,135

Colquhoun, William 149

Colquhoun, William S. 133,137, 144, 145

Combs, Alexander 177

Compton, Alexander 43,73

Coneal, John 178

Confederate Navy 217

Conn, Mr. 8,9

Connecticut 181

Conner, Elias E. 206

Conrad, John 28

Conway, Fran. 11

Conway, J. M. Jr. 148

Conway, John 177

Coogle, Samuel 178

Cook, John 181

Cooke, John 35

Cooley, R. W. 216

Cooper, Benjamin 205

Cooper, C. 206

Cooper, George 175

Cooper, R. 205

Cooper, Thomas 49,198

Coot, Benjamin 37

Coot, James 34

Coot, William 34

Copeland, John 201

Copen, C. M. 206

Copen, William 1

Copenhaver, Andrew J. 177

Copin, Chapman 189,206

Copin, George 110

Copin, Moses 136

Copin, Wilson 1

Coppic, Edwin 181

Corbin, Major 84

Corder, J. 216

Cornil, Peter 206

Cornwell, J. R. 206

Cornwell, James 184,185,188, 189,190,202,203,204

Cornwell, James A. 206

Cornwell, John 181,184,188, 189,190,202,205,206,207

Cornwell, John H. 245

Cornwell, Montreville 206

Cornwell, Mr. 204,205

Cornwell, Obed 135,206

Cornwell, Roy 206

Cornwell, Thomas H. 206

Cornwell, Wileman 160

Coroner 11

Corum, Mr. 231

Corum, William W. 229

Cottingham, Alex 178

Coulter, John 135

County –

County – King & Queen 4,13, 141,150,197,234,235

County – Morgan 235,236

County – Scott 175,197,236

County –Accomack 4,10,13,141 150,173,175,177,180,197,198, 200,201,222,223,232,235

County –Albemarle 4,10,14,15, 142,178,197,201,222,233,235, 238

County – Alleghany 143,179, 187,235

County –Amelia 3,13,14,142, 179,202,222,235

County –Amherst 4,13,142,198, 201,222,2333,235

County – Appomattox 233,235

County –Augusta 3,10,13,143, 150,177,178,196,197,198,201, 234,235,238,241

County – Barbour 235,236,246

County – Bath 143,175,176,201 222,235

County –Bedford 4,10,13,142, 175,179,198,233,235

County –Berkeley 3,13,80,177, 201,235,236

County – Boone 235

County – Botetourt 15,143,178 179,197,200,234,235

County – Braxton 143,175,235, 236

County – Brooke 143,235,236

County –Brunswick 10,13,141, 177,178,234,235

County – Buchanan 235

County –Buckingham 4,10,13, 142,150,177,182,186,197,223, 233,235

County – Calhoun 235

County –Campbell 10,14,142, 197,201,223,233,235

County –Caroline 4,10,13,141, 171,174,176,177,178,198,223, 234,235

County – Carroll 175,176,179, 235

County –Charles City 4,141,150 177,196,197,222,235

County –Charlotte 4,13,14,142, 150,177,197,200,201,222,233, 235,238

County –Chesterfield 3,13,141, 235

County – Clarke 143,150,198 235,236

County – Clay 235

County –Craig 235
County –Culpeper 4,13,62,199, 201,206,212,218,222,234,235

County –Cumberland 4,10,13, 142,150,196,198,233,235

County –Dinwiddie 3,13,141, 174,175,197,201,202,235

County – Doddridge 177,235, 236

County –Elizabeth City 4,141, 175,235

County –Essex 4,10,141,175, 178,234,235

County –Fairfax 4,9,10,13,14, 15,29,39,40,51,57,64,75,142, 145,150,175,177,178,192,217 222,232,235,236

County –Fauquier 4,8,13,29, 36,46,57,62,64,73,84,105,106 139,142,145,146,147,148,153, 173,175,177,197,200,207,213, 214,218,222,227,228,232,234, 235,236,237,239,241,243

County – Fayette 143,177,235

County – Floyd 143,235

County –Fluvanna 4,13,142,197, 201,222,233,235

County – Franklin 15,142,234, 235

County –Frederick 3,13,15,143, 177,179,186,198,221,236

County – Giles 143,235

County –Gloucester 2,4,11,53, 141,151,175,223,235

County –Goochland 4,11,13,142 179,232,235

County – Grayson 143,235

County –Greenbrier 3,143,235, 238

County – Greene 142,235

County –Greensville 11,150

County –Halifax 4,11,13,142, 177,178,197,232,233,235

County –Hampshire 11,15,143, 175,177,197,201

County – Hancock 235,236

County –Hanover 3,11,15,142, 197,201,234,235

County –Hardy 13

County – Harrison 143,150,177 232,235

County –Henrico 3,6,13,15,142 178,179,185,187,197,200,222, 235

County – Highland 175,235

County –Isle of Wight 3,11,13, 14,141,178,179,198,235

County – Jackson 143,235,236

County –James City 4,11,13,141 235

County – Jefferson 143,150,178 187,201,235,236

County – Kanawha 143,177,178 235

County –King George 4,11,13, 64,75,76,141,198,214,222,232, 244,245

County –King William 4,13,141 197,200,215,234,235

County –Lancaster 4,11,75,141, 235

County – Lee 143,235

County – Lewis 141,143,235, 236

County – Logan 143,176,235

County –Loudoun 3,6,9,10,28, 29,32,55,57,64,109,111,113,150 175,176,177,178,180,186,197, 198,199,201,202,219,222,225, 232,235,236,241

County –Louisa 4,11,13,142,150 233,235

County –Lunenburg 4,11,13,142 177,187,221,234,235

County – Madison 144,235

County – Marion 177,235

County – Marshall 144,174,178,  235,236

County – Mason 144,235

County –Matthews 141,235

County –Mecklenburg 6,7,8,11, 13,15,133,142,149,150,234,235

County – Mercer 144,235

County –Middlesex 4,11,13,141, 197,200,235

County - Monongalia 144,235

County – Monroe 144,235

County –Montgomery 3,35,144, 175,217,234,235

County –Morgan 178,235,236

County –Nansemond 3,15,142, 178,201,235

County – Nelson 142,150,175, 178,198,233,235,236

County –New Kent 3,13,142, 197,202,236

County – Nicholas 144,175,236

County –Northampton 4,11,177, 236

County –Northumberland 4,11, 75,142,178,236

County – Nottoway 142,223,234 236

County –Orange 4,11,13,142, 208,234,236

County – Patrick 142,175,178 197,234,236

County –Pittsylvania 4,11,13, 143,190,197,199,201,233,236

County –Powhatan 4,143

County –Prince Edward 4,13,15, 143,175,179,197,201,223,235, 236

County –Prince George 3,11,13, 142,177,178,180,197,200,223, 236

County –Princess Ann 3,142, 177,232

County – Raleigh 236

County – Randolph 144,175,236

County – Rappahannock 143, 199, 221,222,234,236,243

County – Ritchie 236

County –Rockbridge 3,150,234, 236

County –Rockingham 3,11,13, 143,188,196,197,198,199,201, 212,213,223,226,234,236,238

County – Russell 144,177,236

County –Shenandoah 3,13,143, 175,213,236

County – Smyth 144,210,236

County –Southampton 3,11,13, 142,150,177,197,201,223,236

County –Spottsylvania 4,11,13, 142,150,178,180,197,200,234, 236,239

County –Stafford 1,4,6,9,10,11 13,34,39,59,69,75,107,142,165 177

County –Surry 3,11,13,142,179 186,187,197,201,222, 236

County –Sussex 11,13,142,178 223,236

County – Tazewell 144,236

County – Tyler 144,236

County – Warren 143,197,201, 236

County –Warwick 4,142,236

County – Wayne 236

County –Westmoreland 3,4,11, 75,142,174,236

County – Wirt 236

County – Wyoming 236

County – Wythe 144,236

County –York 4,5,11,13,142, 178,188,236

Covington & Ohio RR 200

Cowling, Jas 215

Cox, John 50

Craig, James 125,113

Craig, William M. 85,86,90,93, 96,98,99,104,113

Creel, Joseph 229

Crockett, Robert 236

Crosby, William 92

Cross, John 205,206

Crothers, William H. 235

Crowley, Nancy 178,187

Crump, Daniel 206

Crump, George W. 177

Culpeper County 4

Cumberland County 4,10

Cummings, A. C. 211,213

Cummings, Col. 213

Cundiff, Bryan Y. 50

Cundiff, William 50

Cunningham, George 173

Curl, J. 245

Curl, Joseph 206

Curtis, Mr. 10

Cutts, A. S. 219,220

Dabney, Ro. 235,236

Dade, George 187,238

Dade, Henry 41,42

Dade, Henry D. 42,63

Dade, Langhorn 32

Daily, John 211

Daly, Tom  113

Daniel, J. H. 236

Daniel, M.

Daniel, Mr. 8

Daniel, Travers 35

Daniel, Travers Jr. 35

Davenport, Burkett 13

Davenport, Charles 13

Davies Rangers 215

Davis, A. 49,216

Davis, A. J. 206

Davis, Benson 184,202,205,228

Davis, Caleb S. 205

Davis, Catherine 43

Davis, Charles 206

Davis, David 178

Davis, F. C. 205

Davis, George 229

Davis, H. H. 159

Davis, Hugh 133,134,138,206

Davis, Hugh C. 92,134

Davis, Isaac 197,198

Davis, Isaac W. 206,229

Davis, J. D. 

Davis, J. K. 206

Davis, James C. 215

Davis, James W. 205,229

Davis, Jesse 76,83,91,94

Davis, Joe 

Davis, John 49,76,201

Davis, John A. 206

Davis, John D. 195,196,205

Davis, John Dudley 

Davis, John W. 

Davis, Joseph P. 177

Davis, Lucien A. 205

Davis, Matt 62,205

Davis, Matthew 195,196

Davis, Mr. 170,203,204

Davis, Mrs. 135,136

Davis, Presley 76,83,134

Davis, R. G. 170,171,205,206

Davis, R. J. 

Davis, Richard Jr. 115

Davis, S. F. 204

Davis, Samuel 49,65,113,160, 204,206

Davis, Samuel F. 184,203

Davis, Shelton C. 

Davis, Theron 92

Davis, Thomas – Tavern 83

Davis, Thomas 83,134,135

Davis, Thomas K. 171,185,195 

Davis, Thomas M. 76

Davis, Vernon 205

Davis, W. C. 160

Davis, W. W. 206

Davis, William 3,40,49,50,70, 189

Davis, William B. 109

Davis, William F. 229

Davis, William W. 

Davis, Zachariah 179

Davis’ Hotel 190

Davis’ Tavern 83,136,190,203

Dawe, P. D. 81,83,84,85,88,89, 90,91,93,94,96,97,98,99,102, 103,104,107,108, 113, 115,116, 117,118,119,120,122, 124,127, 128,129

Dawe, Phil D. 66,69,78,81,82, 83,86,88,89,91,96,99,106

Dawe, Philip 16,56

Dawe, Philip D. 66,67,78,93, 122,124

Dawkins, John 50

Deakins, John F. 135

Dean, Jennie 171

Deane, Chas 65

Deats, John C. 206

Decker, John 177

Delaplane, D. J. 155

Delaplane, D. S. 166

Delaplane, Daniel 165

Delaplane, Daniel S. 165,166

Delaplane, Mr. 165

Delbridge, Benjamin 178

Deloney, William 13

Demmory, John 28

Deneale Warehouse 47

Deneale, G. 48

Deneale, George 47

Deneale, James 47,48,60,63,79, 80,81,82,85,86,87,88,89,90

Deneale, Jas C. 67,74,75

Deneale, Mr. 47,79,80,87,88

Depue, J. 245

Depue, John 245

Dettinger Parish 1,2,37,38

Dick, Mr. 10

Dickenson, Lewis 65

Dickey, Robert D. 177,232

Dickinson, Lewis 92

Dilley, Benjamin 50

Dingess, Peter H. 176

Dinwittie County 3

Dixon, Martha 177,197

Doane, A. N. 195

Doane, A. N. 240

Dogan, John 115

Dogan, John D. 206

Dogan, William H. 137, 115

Donally, John 31

Dorothy, Daniel 65

Dorrell, Philip 40

Doughty, John 206

Douglass, B. B. 243

Dowdall, Hugh 37,38

Dowell, Jeremiah 66

Dowell, Landy 184

Dowell, Thos. 206

Downman, William 60,74

Downmann, William 34

Draney, Hugh B. 206

Draney, J. G. 245

Draney, James 240,245

Draney, James G. 167,189,244, 245

Drummond, Spencer 175

Dudley, Jno 235

Duffel, Edward 178

Duffy, Moses 65

Duglass, Geo. W. 113

Dulaney, George W. 91

Dumfries 3,5,6,8,9,10,11,12,17, 18,19,20,21,22,23,24,25,26,27, 28,29,31,32,33,34,35,36,37,38, 39,40,41,42,44,46,47,48,49,50, 51,54,55,56,57,58,59,60,61,62, 63,64,66,72,73,74,75,76,78,81, 82,83,84,85,86,87,91,92,93,94, 95,96,100,101,102,103,106,108 116,117,131,138,148,149,244, 245

Dumfries Inspector 12

Dunaway, Uriah 50

Dunn, David 236

Dunnavant, Ed 178

Dunnington, Ezekiah 43

Dunnington, Francis 70

Dunnington, Francis H. 85,107, 115

Dunnington, Hezekiah 73

Dunnington, William 48

Duprey, Watkins 175

Duvall, Austin 178

Duvall, E. 245

Duvall, E. 245

Duvall, Edward 48

Duvall, Henry A. 206

Duvall, John P. 84

Duvall, William H. 160

Dyer, Benjamin 110

Eakles, Marcus W. 243

Easten, Richard 13

Eastman, H. T. 245

Edmonds, Thomas 10

Edmund, W. 73

Edmunds, C. C. 218

Edmunds, Jno R. 235

Edmunds, Thomas W. 106

Edmunds, William B. 218

Edrington, Austin 66

Edwards, John 28

Egan, Francis 134

Eggleston, William 235

Elizabeth City 4

Elliott, E. B. 205

Ellis, Eli 179,185

Ellis, James 50,199

Ellis, John 50

Ellis, Joseph 50

Ellsey, Mr. 32

England, John 165

English, Nathaniel 91

Eskew, Everett 178

Essex County 4,10

Eustace, Hancock 59,72,73,76

Eustis, Jas W. 235,236

Evans, A. B. 235

Evans, Alexander 135

Evans, Arrington 92,135

Evans, J. A. 147

Evans, Jas A. 144,148

Evans, Mr. 146,147

Evans, Robert 177,188,198,199, 221,223

Evans, Wantsford 92

Ewell, B. S. 209

Ewell, Bertrand 16,21,38

Ewell, Capt. 17, ,23, 24,25,27

Ewell, Capt. Charles 17,23,25,27

Ewell, Charles 16,17,18,19,21 22,23,24,25,34,36,37,44,55,59, 60,63,64,65,69,73,74,75,84,85, 88,90,93,96,97,98,99,103,104, 107,108,112,113,118,139

Ewell, Col. 17,18,19,21,22,23, 24,25,27

Ewell, Dr. 154,168,170

Ewell, Edward B. 50

Ewell, James 16,21,38,51,60,74, 98,104,107

Ewell, Jesse 16,18,20,21,22,23, 24,25,26,27,33,34,36,46,47,48, 61,73,84,85,86,87,90,93,96,98, 99,103,104,107,108,115,116, 117,118,119,120,127,130,131, 132,133,137,140,144,145,152, 154

Ewell, Jesse Col. 17,18,19,22,23 24,25,27

Ewell, Solomon 16,20

Ewell’s Company 17,19,22

Ewen, Henry 13

Ewing, Allen 176

Fadely, R. 211

Faedgan, Isaac 50

Fair, Enoch 160

Fair, James 204,205

Fair, James S. 206

Fair, John 184,189,202,206,228 240

Fairfax County 4,9,10

Fairfax Court House 217

Fairfax Parish 40

Fairfax station 213

Fairfax, Henry 90,94,144

Fairfax, John L. 106

Fairfax, John P. 109

Fairfax, Minor 185,203,206,207, 219,241

Fairfax, Thompson 184,202,228

Fairfax, William Jr. 91

Falmouth 166

Falmouth 6,62,166

Falmouth 62

Farnsworth, D. T. T. 236

Farr, Thomas 14

Farrow, Capt. 17,19,23,26

Farrow, George A. 148

Farrow, Isaac 51,53,70,71

Farrow, T. M. 145,147,148

Farrow, William 1,16,22,24,25, 65,73

Fast, Richard 235

Fauquier County 4,243

Feagans, William 43

Fegan, George 73

Ferguson, Hugh 31

Ferney, A. 216

Fewell, James 15

Ficklen, Joseph B. 166

Fields, Scotland 186

Finch, Foster M. 206

Finch, John 206,240

Finch, Madison 206

Finegan, Mathew 206

Fisher, Isaiah 159

Fitzgerald, Col. 33

Fitzgerald, John W. 92

Fitzhue, Mr. 63

Fitzhugh, Capt. 23,214

Fitzhugh, Dudley 106

Fitzhugh, G. W. 20

Fitzhugh, John 104,107,108,115 117,118,120,121,122,126,127, 130,131,132,133,135,137,140, 144,145,147,152,153,155,156, 161,162

Fitzhugh, L. H. 215

Fitzhugh, M. 189,196,206,207, 240

Fitzhugh, Milton 185,190,195

Fitzhugh, Mr. 10

Fitzhugh, Philip 34,37

Fitzhugh, T. 206

Fitzsimons, not given 38

Fleet, L. 216

Fleming, William W. 235

Flemming, J. E. 216

Fletcher, Jno G. 236

Flood, Thomas H. 235

Florence, James 115

Florence, John 113

Florence, Rowland 110

Flour Inspector 165

Floyd County 143,235

Floyd, J. B. 159

Floyd, John 120,124,125,126, 127,128,129,130,131,132,160

Floyd, John Buchanan 155,156

Fluvanna County 4

Flynn, James 178

Foley, Casius 206

Foley, Enoch 50

Foley, James 16

Foley, Mr. 195

Foote, Frederick 137,140,144, 145,152

Foote, R. 107,115,117,118,127

Foote, Richard 93,96,98,99,104, 108,116,118,120,122,126,127, 130,131,132,140

Forbes, Hugh 35

Forbes, J. M. 235

Forbes, James J. M. 167

Ford, Justin 178

Foreman, John 11

Forgey, Daniel K. 125

Forrester, Nathaniel 15

Fort McIntosh 12

Fort Stanwick 12

Fortune, Garner 50

Fortune, Thomas 114

Forzie, D. K. 92

Foster & Company 215

Foster, Alexander R. 117

Foster, Edmund 49,50

Foster, J. 137

Foster, James 93,96,97,98,99, 103,104,107,108,118

Foster, Margaret 43

Foster, R. 107,118,137,151,206

Foster, Redmon 92,98,99,103, 104,107,108,115,117,118,120, 122,127,130,131,132,133,135, 137,140,144,145,151,152,163, 160

Foster, Thomas 130,148

Fowke, Thomas H. 145

Fowler, Joseph 13

Fox, Capt. John 139

Fox, Charles J. 126

Fox, George K. 175

Fox, Jim 197,200,201

Fox, John 74,75,85,86,87,90,93 96,97,98,99,103,104,107,108, 115,117,118,120,125,127,130, 131,132,133,137,139,140

Fox, Thomas 178,187

Francis, George 177

Franklin, Jas 236

Franklin, William 13

Franklin, Wm. B. O. 179

Frasher, Thos C. 206

Frazer, William 160

Frazier, Thomas C. 245

Frederick County 3

Fredericksburg 2,5,42,49,62,63, 100,101,103,136,150,165,179, 186,197,208,214,219,222

Freeman, Ruffin T. 177

Freeman, Sarah 178

Freeman, Thomas 187

French Army 5

French Commander 8

French Troops 8,9,10

French, Col S. B. 242

French, Col. Bassett 242

French, James 104,107,108,112, 113

French, Mason 135

French, N. B. 196

French, Stephen 109,110,114, 120,121,122

French, William T. 148

Friend, Charles t.

Frost, Daniel 235

Frost, Daniel 236

Frye, Philip 40

Fulton, John 50

Funkheuser, S. 216

Gaines, Cornelius 50

Gaines, Edwin 160

Gaines, Thos B. 135

Gains, Mr. 24

Gallagher, Bernard 31,38

Gallagher, Jas 85,93,96,98,99 104,107

Galloway, John 70

Garner, Hinson 50

Garrett, Patrick 15

Garrett, W. E. 225

Garrison, G. T. 235

Gaskins, W. E. 173

Gates, Jas M. 215

Gatewood, Jno 212

Gaustia, John 134

Geary, General 243

Gelpin, Mr. 9

Gelpins Mills 9

George, Harvey 236

George, Reuben 50

Gerard, William 11

Gibbons, Col. 221

Gibbons, S. B. 213

Gibson, John 145,146

Gibson, John Jr. 91,120,121,123

Gibson, Rowland 13,14

Gilbert, Joseph 98,99,102

Gilbert, Joseph R. 90,91,94,99, 104,107,108,117,118

Gilbert, Spencer 188,198,199, 222,223

Giles County 143,235

Giles, William Branch 114, 115 116,117,118,119

Gill, Robert 177

Gillespie, Thomas 236

Gilliam, Robert 11

Gilmer County 235,236

Gilmer, John 236

Gilmer, Thomas W. 149

Glammer, G. 216

Glansey, Hugh 50

Glascock, Burr 184

Gloucester County 2,4

Gloucester point 239

Glover, Zachariah 66

Goff, Zachariah 15

Goings, Madison 197,200

Goleman, Mr. 62

Goleman, William 62,63

Goochland County 4

Goodfellow, John 177

Goodrich, George 178

Goodrichs Company 2
Goodwin, Charles R. 206

Goodwin, John R. 206

Goodwin, William 113,135,195, 196,206

Goodwin, William E. 185,203, 204,206,207,225

Goohee, John 13

Gordon, Douglas H. 236

Gordon, George 40,178

Gordon, James 11

Goss, James 13,14

Gossom, John 135

Gossom, T. M. 157

Gossom, Thomas M. 158

Gossom, Thompson 134

Gossom, William 134

Grabill, Jno H. 212

Graham, Elyah 50

Graham, George 36,37

Graham, James 50

Graham, Mr. 35

Graham, Richard 3,8,9,11,16,17, 20,21,23,24,26,27,34,35,36,40

Graham, Robert 11,21,33,37,39, 74,75

Graham, Walter 16,18,21

Grandstaff, John J. 175

Granger, Charles 178,222

Grant, Posey D. 66,67,69

Grant, William 60,63,74

Grattan, Charles 236

Graves, Charles 73

Graves, John 73,238

Graves, Tom 197,200

Gray, George 18,216

Gray, James 160

Gray, John 144,160

Gray, Robertson 50

Gray, Suckey 109,110

Gray, Vincent 16,17,18,21

Grayson, Col. 32

Grayson, Col. William 18

Grayson, J. B. 173,206

Grayson, John B. 167

Grayson, Rev. Spencer 36

Grayson, Spencer 38

Grayson, William 11,12,32,61 73

Grazer, Charles 187

Great Britain 1,2

Green, Charles 179,187

Green, Elijah 91

Green, George 114

Green, George E. 167,168,169, 172

Green, Henry 207,213

Green, James 50,63

Green, Jesse 135

Green, Joseph 238

Green, Judge 116

Green, Mr. 168,169,170,172

Greenbrier County 3

Gregg, G. W. 206

Gregory, John M. 150

Grey, Robertson 50

Griffith, James 28

Griffith, Reuben 7,8

Griggs, James 66

Grigsby, Redmon 50

Grim, L. T. F. 216

Grimsley, Peyton 177

Grinsley, Elias 91

Grove, H. 216

Groves, Jas 216

Groves, John W. 240

Gulie, William 111

Gun Factory 10

Gwatkin, James 93,96,98,99,103 104,106,115,117,118,119

Gwatkins, Mr. 8

Gwynn, Frank 179,222

Hager, John 181

Hair, John 54

Hairston, Robert 11

Hale, George 238

Halifax County 4

Hall & Company 216

Hall, D. B. 216

Hall, Francis 2

Hall, Thomas 28

Hall, William 2

Halley, Jno H. 145

Hambleton, William 73

Hamilton, James 13

Hamilton, R. 118

Hamilton, Richard 130

Hamilton, Robert 90,93,96,98, 99,103,104,107,108,114,115, 117,118,120,126,127,129,130, 131,132,133,135,136,140

Hamilton, Thomas B. 98,113, 115,116,117,118,120,126,127, 130,131,132,133,137,140,144, 145

Hamilton, Thomas Beale 96

Hammett, J. L. 206

Hammill, Hugh 158,160

Hammill, J. L. 206

Hammock 216

Hammond, Nelson 160

Hampshire County 3

Hampton, Capt. 77

Hampton, Frederick 73

Hampton, H. T. 22

Hampton, Henry 16

Hampton, James 73

Hampton, John 77

Hampton, Joshua 30

Hampton, Thomas R. 113,115

Hampton, William 50

Hancock, Mango M. 48

Hancock, Martin 16

Handlin, Barney 177

Handy, Thomas 222

Hanes, William 50

Hankes, James 50

Hanover County 3

Hansbury, D. 73

Harding, Edward 113,205

Hardy, Thomas J. 178

Hare, Jeremiah 219

Hargrove, Benjamin 201,222

Harman, M. G. 209

Harpers Ferry 214

Harrill, J. 216

Harris, C. S. 216

Harris, John 11

Harrison County 143,150,177, 

Harrison, B. E. 155,164

Harrison, Benjamin 6,7,8,9,10, 36

Harrison, Benoni E. 152,154, 163

Harrison, Burr 25,33

Harrison, C. E. 176

Harrison, Cuthbert 21

Harrison, Greenville 175

Harrison, H. 92

Harrison, M. 37

Harrison, Matthew 21,34,35,36, 37,235

Harrison, Mr. 3,89,191,193,

Harrison, P. 100

Harrison, R. B. 113

Harrison, T. J. 217

Harrison, Thomas 34,49,60,63, 74,75

Harrison, Thomas Rev. 36

Harrison, Walter 3

Harrison, William 92

Harrison, William A. 117,118

Harrison, William B. 135

Harrisonburg 213,226

Harrwood, Thomas 13

Hasket, Irby 197,200

Hasket, Ransome 197,200,201

Haslet, Albert 181

Hawe, Samuel 61

Hawes, Samuel 61

Hawley, Amos 50

Hawley, John 114

Hay Market/Red House 62

Hay, George 58

Hay, John 13

Hayes, Colin 92

Hayes, James 65,66,67

Hayes, James B. 106,125

Haymarket 56,57,58,80,176,192, 245

Haymarket Clerk’s Office 58

Haymarket Courthouse 57

Haymarket District Court 57,58, 61,63

Haymarket Jail 55,56,57

Haymarket Superior Court 57

Hays, James 61,62

Hays, Jas B. 91

Hays, John 177

Hays, Mr. 61,62

Haywood, R. C. 175

Haywood, Ransome 187

Heard, Jesse 13

Heath, Andrew Jr. 58

Hedges, G. 38

Hedges, Isham E. 66,67,69,92

Hedges, John 1,34,35

Hedges, Robert 16,20,65

Hedges, Solomon 66

Helm, Capt. 17,19,20,23,25,26, 27,33

Helm, Capt. William 19,24

Helm, Lynaugh 36

Helm, Mr. 27

Helm, William 16,17,18,19,20, 21,22,23,24,25,33

Henderson, A. 31,56

Henderson, Alexander 18,32,36, 56,59,60,63,74,75

Henderson, James 5

Henderson, Richard H. 111

Hendricks, Col. 8,10

Henrico County 3

Henry County 4,11,13,142, 150, 197, 201,222,234,235

Henry, A. 107,108,112,113

Henry, Patrick 10,11,12,13,14, 15,222,223

Hereford, T. P. 183

Hereford, William 35

Herndon, James 50

Herndon, Thomas 50

Herring, Elias 11

Hersher, Jacob 53

Hessians 210

Hewitt, James 164,228,229,230, 231

Hewitt, William 231

Higbie, John 206

Hill, John 13

Hill, Robert 13

Hines, Peter 187

Hixson, Moses 206

Hixson, Thomas P. 206

Hixson, William J. 206

Hoar, William 65

Hodgkin, William F. 184,202, 205,227

Hoe, Bernard 39

Hoes, Henry 51

Hoff, Enoch 50

Hoffman, J. E. 244

Hoffman, Jacob 215

Holland, C. W. 205

Holt, Joseph 13

Homes, Thomas 205

Hooe, B. 113

Hooe, Bernard 16,34,36,39,128

Hooe, Bernard Jr. 60,63,74,77 91

Hooe, Bernard Sr. 60,61

Hooe, Dade 160

Hooe, Francis 126

Hooe, Francis T. 148

Hooe, Gerard 3

Hooe, Henry 43

Hooe, Henry D. 42,63

Hooe, Howison 36,117

Hooe, Howison Jr. 35

Hooe, Howson 131

Hooe, J. D. 160

Hooe, James 135

Hooe, John 36,90,93,96,98,99, 103,104,107,108,115,118,127, 131,132,137,140

Hooe, John Jr. 84,95,113,117, 118,119,122,124,127,129,130, 131,132,133,145,152,153

Hooe, Rice 106

Hooe, Robert 92,98

Hooe, Robert H. 36,60,74,84,90, 93,96,98

Hooe, Robert Jr. 85

Hooe, Robert T. 241

Hooe, Sheriff 39

Hooe, Thomas P. 61,63,74

Hooe, Will Jr. 76

Hooe, William 73,76

Hoof, Moor 73

Hooper of War 2

Hooten, Charles 236

Hopkins, Jno 11

Horan, Francis 177

Hord, Edward 125

Hord, Robert 125

Hore, James 35

Horner, John G. 245

Horner, William 116

Horton, Craven 50

Horton, John Peyton 43

Hough, Mahlon 28

House, Michael 185

Howard, Samuel 178

Howard, William 15

Howes, Henry 51

Howison, A. 155,161,162,206

Howison, Alexander 38,66

Howison, Allen 131,132,133, 137,140,144,145,151,152,154 156

Howison, Burr 113

Howison, Charles G. 154,162, 205

Howison, James 92,206

Howison, John 16

Howison, John S. 113

Howlet, John 2

Hubbard, Samuel  201

Huber, George 70,91

Huet, Mr. 237

Hughes, Thomas 13

Hughs, Benjamin 178,232

Hundley, Nelson 175

Hunt, W. 235

Hunter, Andrew 235

Hunter, Henry C. 178

Hunter, John 40

Hunter, John B. 175

Hunter, Mr. 10

Hunter, N. C. 35

Hunton, B. 148

Hunton, C. 148

Hunton, Charles 59,60,93,96,98, 99,103,104,107,108,115,117, 118

Hunton, Charles H. 144,155,166

Hunton, Charley 90

Hunton, Eppa 156,167,173,174, 184,189,200,202,203,228,240, 241

Hunton, John 10

Hunton, Silas B. 154

Hussey, John 179

Huston, George 212

Hutchison, Beverly 169

Hutchison, G. A. 168

Hutchison, J. 107

Hutchison, John 98,99,103,104, 107,108,115,117,118,126,127, 128,130,131,132,133,136,137, 139,140,144,145

Hutchison, Mr. 168,169

Hylton, Daniel L. 57,66

Hylton, Daniel L. 66

Imboden, J. D. 210

Independent Hill 245

Indian Tribes 12

Ingram, Thomas 105,106

Iowa 181

Irby, Richard 235,236

Ireland Native 136

Isle of Wight County 3

Iubiller, Tully 222

Ivy, G. M. 206

Jackson, G. W. 126,130

Jackson, General 221

Jackson, George W. 85,93,96,97 98,103,104,107,118,120,126, 127,129,131,132,140

Jackson, Henry 188,198,199

Jackson, James 50

Jackson, James S. 124

Jackson, John 40,43,73,216

Jackson, John F. 133

Jackson, Samuel 16,63,74,75

Jackson, T. J. 213

Jackson, Wiley 210

Jackson, William 179

Jackson, William H. 186

Jacobs, John 73

Jacobs, Peter 28

Jail 13,14,15,29,30,38,39,40,46, 49,51,53,57,62,63,64,65,77,79, 91,97,106,110,111,115,121,122, 123,124,125,129,146,147,148, 156,158,162,168,170,173,181, 184,185,195,196,203,207,213, 219,224,228,229,240,241

Jailor 29,39,49,53,97,146,147, 156,162,184,185,195,203,207, 213,228,229,240,241

James City 4

James, Capt. 17,26

James, David 49

James, Green 235

James, James 17,27,31,35,48

James, William H. 196

Jamison, David 120,121,122, 125

Janney, John H. 160

Janney, Joseph 160,161

Janney, Mr. 162

Janney, Samuel 140

Janney, Samuel H. 137,140,144, 145

Jardelia, C. T. 205

Jarrett, Harrison 196

Jarrett, Harrison 196

Jarvis, John 16

Jasper, Daniel 156

Jefferson, Thomas 1,2

Jeffries, Alex 231

Jeffries, Alexander 228,

Jeffries, Mr. 230

Jenkins, Capt. 117

Jenkins, D. 216

Jenkins, J. R. 216

Jenkins, John 187

Jennings, Dr. 204

Jennings, L. A. 184,205

Jewell, James 15

Johnson, B. 137

Johnson, Benjamin 109,114,115, 117,118,119,120,126,127,130, 131,132,133,137,140,144,145, 151,154,155,162,184,202,228

Johnson, Bryant 77,78,79

Johnson, George 232

Johnson, George B. 178

Johnson, J. F. 215

Johnson, James 16,135

Johnson, John Major 137

Johnson, Joseph 162,163,164

Johnson, Lewis 91

Johnson, Rutt 115

Johnson, Samuel 65

Johnson, Thomas 11

Johnson, W. 50,135

Johnson, William 15,235

Johnstone, Mr. 24

Jones, Capt. 213

Jones, Dempsey 178

Jones, Fielding 178

Jones, General 215

Jones, James 196,198

Jones, John R. 211,212

Jones, Joseph 91

Jones, Lewis 10

Jones, Mr. 205

Jones, Robt. 11

Jones, Thomas 184,202,228

Jones, Thomas T. 49

Jones, Warner T. 235

Jones, William 178,180

Jones, William F. 196

Jones, William S. 91

Jordan, Alex 235

Jordan, Charles 50

Jordan, Henry 50

Journell, Washington 136

Joy, G. W. 244,245

Jubille, Trelly 201

Kanawha Canal Co. 185

Kankey, A. 132

Kankey, Z. A. 144

Kankey, Zebulon 131,137,152

Kaufman, M. R. 235

Kee, Mistress 141

Kee, Mrs. 141

Keen, Henry 28

Keene, William H. 178

Keeve, Thomas 14

Keeve, William 14

Keister, A. 216

Keister, H. 215

Keith, Mr. 8

Keith, sheriff 8

Keller, G. W. 216

Kelley, George 178

Kelly, J. C. 245

Kemp, James 73

Kemp, William 2

Kemper, Charles Jr. 145

Kemper, James E. 242

Kemper, Jas L. 235

Kendal, Tony 47

Keys, Walter 125

Keys, Wm. W. 160

Kilpatrick, Thomas 216

Kimmer, D. 216

Kincheloe, Capt. 20

Kincheloe, D. B. 206

Kincheloe, Hector 163,184,189, 202,227

Kincheloe, John 16,22,92,110

Kincheloe, John R. 206

King & Queen County 4

King George County 4

King William County 4

King, A. 206

King, Elias 125

King, Hiram 136

King, John 50,205

King, John A. 189

King, Mr. 54,205

King, Rodham 73

King, S. T. 206

King, Samuel T. 184,185,203, 204

King, Stephen 73

King, Walter 114

King, William 91

Kingston Parish 2

Kinsell, H. 215

Kitchen, B. l. 235

Klatz, A. 113

Kline, Isaac 208

Knight, J. 216

Kramer, Leroy 235

Kyle, William 235

Lacky, Willis 200

LaGrange 164

Laidley, Albert 235

Lake, T. M. 216

Lambden, William H. 178

Landford, Capt 20

Lane, J. T. 175

Lang, C. D. 216

Lang, R. A. 216

Langfit, John 1

Langfitt, Philip 91

Larorason, James 13

Larrius, John W. 198,199

Lassettar, Elisha 15

Latham, Robert 50

Latimer, Edwin W. 195

Latimer, Owen W. 205


Lawrasson, Mr. 9,10

Lawrence, John 11

Lawson, Arch 92

Lawson, J. 37,48,49,51,55,57,58

Lawson, John 18,20,21,25,26, 34,37,46,56

Lawson, Mr. 320,24,25,26,27, 101

Lawson, Thomas 36,49,85,90,94

Lazier, Frank 178

Leach, Thomas 50

Leachman, Robert C. 148,160

Leachman, William R. 148

Leagin, Leatham 50

Ledbetter, Edward B. 178

Lee, Alexander 50

Lee, H. 4

Lee, Henry 3,5,6,16,22,41,42, 43, 44,45,134

Lee, Henry Esq. 5

Lee, Richard Henry 12

Leesburg 4

Legg, Eljah 50

Legg, George 50

Legg, James 50

Leigh, Marmaduke 76,77

Lenard, John 61,62

Lennan, William 181

Lerchom, Christopher 15

Lester, James 179

Letcher, John 183,184,185,188, 189,190,195,196,198,199,200, 202,205,207,208,209,210,211, 212,213,214,215,216,217,218, 219,220,221,223,224,225,226, 227,232,233,234,235,236,237, 238,239,240,241,242

Letcher, John 243

Lewelling, Jesse 13,14

Ligmund, C. 216

Lindsay, George W. 74,75

Linton, Capt. 17,19,22,25,26,27

Linton, Col. 95

Linton, John 1,16,18,20,24,26, 30,31,58,73,82,83,85,86,87,90, 93,96

Linton, John Col. 83

Linton, John Jun. 24

Linton, John Lieut. 24

Linton, Mr. 26,31

Linton, William 16,22,23,26,36, 91

Linton, William A. 90,93

Linton, William Sen. 16

Lipscomb, P. D. 148,163,164, 167,171,172,173,206

Lipscomb, William E. 206,211

Lipscomb, William Edward 160

Lithgow, Alex 16,19,23,24,25, 35

Lithgow, Alexander 1,16,17,21, 24,25,34,36,37,46,48

Little, Robert H. 63,84,85,90,93, 96,98

Lively, Wilson 235

Loach, Reuben 50

Lock, David 19

Lockart, James W. 179

Lockbridge, Jas 236

Lockley, Willis 197,198

Logan, Thomas 236

London 54

Lord, Richard C. 70

Loudoun Artillery 219

Loudoun County 39

Louisa County 4

Love, F. R. 148

Love, Henry 136,174,206

Love, John 32,84

Love, Samuel Abbott 16

Love, T. 50

Lovill, Henry 201

Lowe, John 65

Lowe, Samuel R. 241

Lucas, Jno 216

Lucas, Margaret 179

Luding, A. B. 216

Lundy, William T. 236

Lunenburg County 4

Luttrell, John 160

Luttrell, Simon 113

Luttrell, Thomas 113

Lynn, A. P. 159

Lynn, Col 184

Lynn, George H. 206

Lynn, Isaac Newton 160

Lynn, James Flynn 178

Lynn, Joseph 66

Lynn, Joseph C. 109

Lynn, Joseph E. 114

Lynn, Joseph R. 66,67,69,109, 114, 

Lynn, L. 160

Lynn, L. C. 206

Lynn, L. F. 206,210

Lynn, L. L. 172

Lynn, Leroy 206

Lynn, Levi C. 163,189

Lynn, Leymon 163

Lynn, Lucien B. 159

Lynn, Luther 168,169,171

Lynn, Luthrel 170,171

Lynn, M. N. 206

Lynn, Moses 91,185,189,203, 206,207

Lynn, Mr. 168,211

Lynn, Seymour 109,114,139, 144.152,154,156,167,181,236

Lynn, Thompson 125,139

Lynn, William 206

Lynn, William M. 125,189

Lyons, John 28

Macrae, Captain 117

Macrae, G. W. 138

Macrae, George W. 100,101,103 107,113,114,125,138

Macrae, J. 48,84,116

Macrae, James W. 93,96,99

Macrae, James W. F. 98,117,118 145,152

Maddox, Capt. 23

Maddox, Craven 50

Maddox, James 160,184,202, 228

Maddox, John 73

Maddox, Martin 183

Maddox, Mr. 183

Maddox, R. G. 206

Maddox, Robert G. 195,196

Maddox, Walter 65

Maddox, William 50

Maddux, W. D. 216

Magales, Jas 216

Maho, Mat 197,198

Maine 181

Mallory, R. M. 235

Maloney, Barthelomew 177

Mankin, William 205

Manley, B. 216

Mann, Charles 105

Manuel, W. J. 206

Marley, Fielding 50

Marquess 4

Marrable, Benjamin 2

Marshall, C. K. 233

Marshall, Charles 32

Mason, Gerard 156,157,160

Mason, J. M. 153

Mason, John T. 32

Mason, Nelson 70

Mason, Thos. 28,32

Mason, William 11

Masson, Col. 3

Mathews, John 16,206

Mathews, Mason 235

Mathews, Moses 110,160

Matthews, Griffin 50

Matthews, John 136,160

Matthews, Robert 16

Matthews, William F. 135

Mattocks, Richard T. 206

Mattox, W. 245

Maxfield, E. A. 206

Maxfield, Minor

May, Charles 10

May, William 13,14

Mayhugh, William 92

Maze, Michael 1

McBride, James 28

McCampbell, S. P. N. 211

McCarnault, Samuel 235

McCarty, Dennis 108,111,112, 113

McCauley, Thomas 14

McClanahan, John 50

McClenahan, William 65

McCormick, Capt. 133

McCormick, George Capt. 133

McCormick, John 50

McCormick, Mr. 193

McCrae, Alexander 71

McCrae, John 34,35,36,37,47,48 59,60,63,74,75,89,109

McDaniel, Abraham 51

McDonald, A. W. Jr. 235

McDonald, Abraham 73

McDonald, Col. 219

McDonald, Isaac 235,236

McDonald, James 38,192

McDonald, John 15

McDonald, Samuel 177

McDowell, James 151,152,153

McDuffee, Mr. 125

McEwing, Edward 205

McGruder, Z. S. 235

McIntire, James 177

McIntosh, Jesse 135

McIntosh, John 70

McKeiver, B. 216

McKinney, John 178

McKinney, P. W. 235

McKurgie, Robert 49

McLauglin, Duncan 235,236

McMillion, James 13

McMillion, John 3

McMillion, John 3,36

McMullen, J. E. 209

McNamee, John 135,136

McNulty, Daniel 175

McPherson, Nathan 73

Mecklenburg County 7

Mercer, James 180

Mercer, John 180

Merchant –Alexander, H. 31

Merchant –Barnes, William 31

Merchant –Brundege,Timothy31

Merchant –Campbell, Colin 31

Merchant –Campbell, Gust. 31

Merchant –Donnelly, John 31

Merchant –Fergusson, Hugh 31

Merchant –Gallagher, B. 31

Merchant –Henderson, A. 31

Merchant –James, James 31

Merchant –Murray, James 31

Merchant –Muschett, James 31

Merchant –Richardson, Mr. 62

Merchant –Scott, David W. 31

Merchant –Scott, Richard 31

Merchant –Trenis 31

Merchant –Watson, Jos. 9

Merchant, J. 91

Merchant, Jacob 65

Merchant, John 65,66,67,69,70, 91

Merchant, Joseph 91

Merchant, Robert B. 125

Merchant, Thomas 91

Merchant, William 91

Merchant, William C. 174

Meriweather, T. 31

Mickens, Ned 197,198,200

Middlesex County 4

Miles, John 197,198,200

Militia Cavalry 3

Militia Duty 4

Millan, Abraham 97

Millar, Christian 28

Miller, Charles S. 175

Miller, D. J. 216

Miller, George 215

Miller, J. L. 216

Miller, Jacob 28

Millons, Mr. 10

Mills, John 177

Mills, Mary Jane 188,199

Mills, Peyton 109,114

Mills, Robert 177

Mills-Braganza 165

Mills-Buckland 243

Mills-Gelpins 9

Mills-Occoquan 61

Milstead, Samuel 92

Milstead, William 43

Milton, William Jr. 50

Mines, Mr. 62

Ming, Charles 84,86,90,91,93, 96,97,98,99,103,104,105,106, 107,108,113,115,116,117,118, 126,127,132,133,137,140,144

Ming, Robert H. 125

Minnis, Carrol 197,222

Minor, Frank 235

Minor, Gilbert P. 160

Minor, John Jr. 49

Minor, Nicholas 76

Mississippi Depot 232

Mitchell, B. P. 205

Mitchell, C. 216

Mitchell, G. W. 167

Mitchell, George W. 167

Mitchell, John 65,91

Mitchell, Uriah 136

Modest, C. B. 175

Molair, H. 135

Molair, John 206

Molair, Robert 206

Molair, Waller 206

Moncure, William 59

Monday, A. M. 50

Monroe County 114,178

Monroe, Governor 49,50,51,52, 54

Monroe, James 12,49,50,51,52, 53,54,55

Monroe, Mr. 9

Monroe, Thomas M. 160

Monroe, William 73

Monroe, William W. 154,155, 160,206

Montague, Ro. L. 234

Montaque, Rice D. 235

Montgomerie, Francis 40

Montgomerie, Thomas 36

Montgomery County 3

Montgomery, Thomas 35

Moore, J. R. 243,244

Moore, James H. 341

Moore, James W. 206

Moore, Jesse 40

Moore, Joe 50

Moore, William H. 217

Moore’s Hospital 224

More, John 13

Morgan, A. 125

Morgan, Col. 181

Morgan, D. S. 180

Morgan, William 55,56,58

Morgantown VA 244

Morrisville 153

Morton, John 13

Mosey, Jno 148

Moss, John W. 236

Moss, Keyland 92

Moss, William 15

Mount Vernon 5

Mount, Thomas 50

Mountjoy, Lewis 206

Mountjoy, Thomas 35,136

Mountjoy, Thornton 92

Moxley, B. G. 184,203,204,206

Mumford, G. W. 181

Mumford, George W. 207

Mumford, George W. 213

Mundy, Lott 178

Murdaugh, Samuel 236

Murphey, M. D. 125

Murray, James 31

Murray, Larkin 73

Murray, Thos J. 148

Murray, William J. 174

Murren, Ensign 21

Murren, George 38

Murren, James 21

Muschett, Allen 92

Muschett, F. H. 92,140

Muschett, Frederick H. 126,130, 131

Muschett, James 31,56

Muschett, John 48,60,63,66,67

Muschett, John M. 59,66,67,69, 71,72,74,75

Myers, Andrew 28

Myers, Henry 197,200,201

Nanjamy 3

Nansemond County 3

Napier, Thom 13

Neabsco Iron Works 3

Neale, Alexander 178

Neale, Bond 43

Neale, Mr.3

Neale, Richard 12

Neale, Thomas 49

Neale, William P. 77

Nealson, Jeams 28

Needham, Joseph 179

Neeres, Conrad 28

Negro Slaves 2

Negro, James 34,35

Negro-Edmund 76,77

Negroes 2,3

Nelson County 142,150,175,178 198,

Nelson, C. A. 206

Nelson, E. 206

Nelson, Edwin 207

Nelson, Governor 4

Nelson, Hammond 160

Nelson, Henry 216

Nelson, Hundley 175

Nelson, John 66

Nelson, John B. 66

Nelson, Mason 70

Nelson, R. E. 235

Nelson, Thomas 91,92,99,122, 126,127,130,131,132,133,135, 137,140,144,145,150,151

Nelson, Thomas Jr. 3,4,5,6,98,

Nelson, William (col) 178

Nelson, William 66,67,69,178

New Baltimore Academy 165

New Kent County 3

Newby, Dangerfield 181

Newby, James M.P. 160

Newman, A. 137

Newman, Albert 126,127,129, 130,131,132,133,137,140,144, 145,152,154

Newman, E. 215

Newman, Edmund 73

Newman, Eli 50

Newman, Elias 64

Newman, Jas 50

Newman, R. 216

Newman, Richard 50

Newman, Theron W. 114,115

Newman, Thomas 16,50,74,84, 90

Newman, Thomas R. 205,229

Newman, Thornton A. 127

Newton, Willoughby 236

Nicholas County 144,175,

Nicholas, W. C. 81,88,89

Nicholas, Wilson Cary 77,79,80, 81,82,88,89,

Nicholes, Phillip Norborne 58

Nicol, A. 205,211

Nisbeth, James 20

Nisbett, Mr. 24

Noland, Burr 235

Norman, Charles E. 154

Norman, Charles F. 206

Norman, James 159

Norman, Thomas 125

Norment, William 176

Norris, Seaton W. 99,104

North Carolina 29

Northumberland County 4

Norval, Jack 176

Norvell, Jack 186

Norvill, L. B. 206

Norvill, P. 118,125

Nutt, Robert P. 206

Nuttall, James Jun. 2

Obannien, Elias 64

Obanon, Armistead 113

Oberlin Ohio 181

Occoquan 90,245

Occoquan Ford 5

Oden, Richard A. 50

Oliver, Thomas 38

Orange County 4

Orange Court House 208,236

Orgain, Jno Jr. 235

Osborn, Abraham 28

Osborn, Andrew 28

Osborn, Nicholas 28

Osburn, Balaam 111

Otway, Thomas 51

Overall, Mr. 24

Overall, Robert 21

Owen, Thomas T. 178

Owens, Evan J. 113

Owens, John 11

Owens, Joseph 178

Owens, Moses 50

Owens, Peter Jr. 50

Owens, Sam 113

Oyer & Terminer 7,34,37,46,59, 60,120,122,128,145,146,156, 167

Page County 143,175,197,201

Page, Governor 58

Page, Gwynn 57,61,62,63,65

Page, John 55,56,57,58

Page, Mann 42

Page, T. T. 79

Page, Thomas 74

Page, Thomas T. 60,63,74,75,77 78,85,90,93,96,98

Page, Warren 

Parish – Dettinger 2

Parish – Kingston 2

Parish Levy 12

Park Gate 41,43,45,108,116

Park, John W. 224,225

Parker, James 187

Parker, John C. 229

Parker, Richard 39,54

Parker, Thomas 174

Parrett, Harrison 196,198

Parris, John 197,200

Parsons, A. J. 177

Parsons, Andrew J. 232

Paterson, Jess 91,92

Patten, Robert 111

Pattie, B. F. 170

Pattie, Oscar 203

Pattie, Oscar F. 184

Pattison, Dr. 207

Patton, William 177

Payne, Nicholas 13

Payne, Nicholas 13,

Peake, Craven 160

Peake, Humphrey 85,90

Pearson, Alexander 184,202,205 228

Pearson, Cumberland 91

Pearson, John 139

Pearson, Lewis 160

Pearson, Northumberland 206

Peddish, Joseph 92

Peers, Nick 50

Penalton, A. G. 210

Pence, John 201

Pence, Solomon 201

Pendleton, J. F. 184

Pendleton, Mr. 188

Penn, Abram 11

Pennington, Spencer 197,198, 200,201

Pennsylvania 20

Pennybacker, Thomas J. 226

Perrin, Lewis 175

Perry, James S. 243

Perry, Mr. 244

Person, Bernard 206

Peters, Fanny 196

Petersburg 62

Pettit, Benjamin 65

Pettit, Thomas 160,205

Pettit, William 66

Pettry, Dudley 43

Pettry, William 113

Petty, E. W. 206

Petty, Jesse 64

Petty, Robert 50

Peyton, Burr 16,22

Peyton, Capt. 10,20

Peyton, Chandler 39

Peyton, Charles 39

Peyton, Col. 4,6

Peyton, Henry 1,52

Peyton, John 11,43

Peyton, Val 36

Philadelphia 8

Phillips, John P. 160

Phillips, William 39

Pickett, Sanford W. 113

Pierce, Jno 13

Pierce, Mr. 10

Pierce, William 66

Pierpont, F. H. 243

Pierpont, Francis 243,244

Pierpont, Francis H. 242,243, 244,245

Pigot, John 51

Pillipson, Richard 44

Pitman, Jno L. 211

Pittsylvania County 4

Plantation 3

Pleasant County 

Pleasants, James 96,97,98,99, 100,101,102,103,104

Pointer, Henry Jr. 2

Pointer, Mary 15

Pointer, Michael 2

Pollard, John 13

Poolman, John 197,200

Pope, John 20,32,36

Port Tobacco Creek 3

Porter, G. Mac

Porter, Samuel 13

Posey, Benjamin 43

Posey, William 206

Potomac 3

Potts, David 28

Poulson, George

Powell, Elijah 197

Powell, Lucien E. 206

Powell, Mr.

Powell, William

Power, Edward 53

Powhaton County 4

Preston County 144,196,

Pridmore, Benjamin 110,115

Pridmore, Benson L. 206

Prince Edward County 4

Prince George County 3

Prince William County 4,5

Prince, John 38

Prince, Joseph H. 236

Princess Ann County 3

Pritchell, Anthony 223

Privateers 2

Prospect Hill 139

Pullen, Robert 178

Purcell, J. R. 206

Purcell, James 73,135,147

Purcell, John H. 206,241

Purcell, Mr. 146

Purcell, Samuel 73

Purcell, William 125

Purcell, William F. 145,152,153

Quantico Creek 3,244

Quantico Port 18

Quantico Warehouse 11

Quarles, James 10

Quartz, Henry 216

Queen, Normet 177

Quick, George 28,29,30,32

Ragan, Mr. 156

Ragan, William 160

Ragan, William H. 175

Ragsdale, Jno 11

Ralls, Nathl. 22

Ramsay, George 15

Rand, Martin 201

Rand, Mathew 197

Randel’s Tavern 17

Randolph County 144,175,

Randolph, Beverly 16,17,18,19, 20,21,22,23,24,25,26,27,28,29, 30,31,32,33,34,35

Randolph, Edmund 16,21,58

Randolph, Governor 89

Randolph, John 17,22,24

Randolph, Thomas M. 83,84,85, 87,90,91,92,93,94

Randolph’s Field 83

Ransome, Richard 2

Rapp, John D. 174

Rappahannock 243

Rasberry Plain 28

Ratcliff, Richard 40,66

Ratcliffe, Daniel 125

Ratcliffe, Edward T. 125

Ratcliffe, Edward T. 125

Read, Isaac 15

Reavellers Rest 239

Rector, J. H. 216

Red House 62

Redmond, George 134

Reid, J. F. 147

Reid, James 56,92,131

Reid, James H. 115,117,118, 119,126

Reid, John F. 125

Reid, Reuben C. 206

Reid, Richard J. 205

Reid, S. M. 236

Renno, Col. 68

Renno, Enoch 68

Renoe, Alexander 206

Renoe, C. 205

Renoe, Charles 135

Renoe, Col. 66,67,72

Renoe, Col. Enoch 66,71,72

Renoe, David 43

Renoe, Enoch 16,66,69,70,91

Renoe, George 125

Renoe, John 190,204,205 

Renoe, John F. 206

Renoe, Lewis 16

Renoe, Strother 113

Renoe, William 204,205

Renoe, William F. 184,203,204 206

Reynolds, John 53

Reynolds, Meckens 178

Reynolds, William 197,201

Rhodes, Clifton 10

Rice, Evan 175

Rich, Austin 198

Rich, Emanuel 198

Richards, Preston 13,14

Richardson, John 29,30

Richardson, Mr. 162

Richardson, R. A. 235

Richmond 3,4,6,7,8,10,13,14,15, 18,19,20,29,30,31,38,39,49,41, 43,45,49,51,52,53,54,58,59,61, 63,71,72,74,75,76,77,80,81,82, 83,84,85,87,88,89,91,94,96,97, 98,99,100,101,102,104,105,114, 115,116,117,118,119,120,125, 126,131,132,134,137,139,140, 141,142,143,149,155,161,162, 163,165,166,167,173,175,176, 177,178,179,180,182,185,186, 187,188,196,197,198,199,200, 201,203,207,208,209,210,213, 214,217,219,220,221,222,225, 227,232,233,234,235,236,238, 239,242

Richmond, Perez 160

Rickard, S. 216

Rickes, John 202

Rickett, John 40

Riddick, Nathaniel 235

Ridenour, Jacob 49

Rife, John 53

Riley, George 73

Rippetoe, W. D. 211

Rives, George E. 236

 Roach, J. 30

Roach, Jett 29,30

Roane, John 197,200

Roberts, John 179,186

Roberts, Jonathan

Roberts, T. R. 167

Robertson, Francis 195,196,205

Robertson, Wyndham 138,139, 140,236

Robins, William Jun. 2

Robinson, David S. 185,203,206 207

Robinson, Dixon 49,50

Robinson, George 50,135

Robinson, Henry 206

Robinson, James6,7,8

Robinson, Jas L. 208

Robinson, John 176

Robinson, William 50,58

Rochambeau, Count de 5

Rockbridge County 3

Rockbridge Rifle Company 211

Rockingham County 3

Rogers, Arthur L. 219

Rogers, George 50

Rogers, Sanford 64

Rohr, William S. 226

Rollins, Addison 206

Rolls, Jacob 124

Romette, Louis 177

Roper, John 113

Rose, James 64

Rose, James Jr. 63

Rose, John S. 208

Rose, William 14,15

Roseberry, G. W. 215

Roseberry, M. M. 205

Ross, Alexander 43

Ross, Michael 201

Rosser, Thomas 199

Rowan, Jno 235

Rubleman, John G. 126

Rucker, Anthony 13

Rumley, John 14

Rush, James 178

Rust, Epram 113

Rutherford County 30

Rutherford, John C. 235

Saint College 153

Sample, Jim 223

Sampson, Richard 13,14

Sanders, Britton 50

Sanders, John 50

Sanders, Larkin N. 80

Sandifer, G. P. 175

Sanford, Capt. 22

Sanford, Thomas 16,22

Saunders, A. H. 157

Saunders, Addison H. 152,154

Saunders, Dr. 156,157,158

Saunders, Dr. A. H. 157

Saunders, Peter Jr. 235

Saunders, R. C. 235

Saunders, Sarah Miss 193

Saunders, William B. 63,64

Savage, J. M. 205

Schenberger, John F. 177

Schooner Vessel 2

Scott, Charles 76

Scott, David W. 31

Scott, George 3

Scott, Gustavous 43

Scott, Jacob 73

Scott, James 201

Scott, Jim 222,223

Scott, Jno 136

Scott, John 40

Scott, Levi 65

Scott, Love 91

Scott, Marshall 44,45

Scott, Meletus 177

Scott, Miltus 186

Scott, Richard 31,34,37

Scott, Richard M. 52

Scott, Richard P. 136

Seddon, James A. 239

Seigles, Col. 244

Seldon, Edward 223

Selecman, Henry 157

Selecman, Mr. 158

Selecman, William P. 134

Selectman, T. 245

Self, Col. 3

Self, Job 178

Seymour, James B. 245

Seymour, Jos 245

Shackelford, Howard 218

Shackleford, B. H. 205

Shackleford, Zachariah 13,14

Shacklett, B. S. 216

Shacklette, Richard D. 206

Shannon, Charles J. 236

Shaw, Thomas J. 130,131,132, 137

Shaw, William 74,75

Shedacker, John 28

Sheffey, Hugh W. 235

Shenandoah County 3

Shepherd, Bill 222

Shepherd, Edward 160

Sheriff – Downman , W. 60,63
Sheriff –Alexander, P. 96,98,99

Sheriff –Ming, Charles 115,117, 118

Sheriff –Ewell, Charles 69,103, 104,107,118

Sheriff –Barnes, Wm. 74,75

Sheriff –Brooke, E. 78,93

Sheriff –Washington, W.J. 84, 85,90

Sheriff –Hooe, Jno Jr. 124

Sheriff –Ewell, Jesse 127,130

Sheriff –Hooe, Bernard 39

Sheriff –Hooe, B. 122

Sheriff –Cleary, Michael 131, 132

Sheriff –Foster, J. 137

Sheriff –Goodwin, Wm. 185 203,207

Sheriff’s Dep. - Cole, B. 122, 124,125,127

Sheriff’s Dep. –Tennille, J. 127 130

Sheriff’s Dep. –Brawner, B. 130

Sheriff’s Dep. –Shaw, T.J. 130, 131,132,137

Sheriff’s Dep. –Tansill, S. 130

Sheriff’s Dep. –Farrow, T.M. 145

Sheriff’s Dep. –Purcell, W. 145

Sheriff’s Dep. –Neale, R. 12

Sheriff’s Dep. –Wickliff, I. 12
Sheriff’s Dep. –Peyton, C. 39

Sheriff’s Dep. –Lane, George 49

Sheriff’s Dep. –Williams, Ward. 101
Sheriff’s Dep. –Weedon, J. C. 131,133
Sheriff’s Dep. –Waugh, L. 131
Sheriff’s Dep. –Davis, T.K. 185
Sheriff’s Dep. –Fewell, W.S. 137
Sheriff’s Dep. –Cundiff, W.P. 93,96
Sheriff’s Dep. –Cole, R.D. 63

Sheriff’s Dep. –Fewell, James 93,98,99,104,107,115,118

Sheriff’s Dep. –Reid, J.H. 115 117,118

Sheriff’s Dep. –Lane, G. 46,49

Sheriff’s Dep. –Leachman, J. 60

Sheriff’s Dep. –Cole, Saml. 69

Sheriff’s Dep. –Tyler, J.M. 74,75

Sheriff’s Dep. –Shaw, Wm 74, 75

Sheriff’s Dep. –Chapman, W.R. 78,85,101,103

Sheriff’s Dep. –Brewer, H. 84, 90

Sheriff’s Dep. –Tansill, Jno 85, 90,91,93,96

Sheriff’s Dep. –Williams, J.W. 98,117

Sheriff’s Dep. –Cole, Mathias 94,103,104,107,115,117

Sheriff’s Dep. –Norvill, P. 115 117,118,125

Shiflett, James 178

Shiflett, Zeph. 178

Shipe, Jas 216

Shirley, A. K. 216

Shirley, S. 216

Shirley, Thomas S. 194

Shule, Ludwick 49

Shules, M. 211

Shute, John 1

Sierra Leone 54

Simmons, M. A. 160

Simms, C. 32

Simms, Col. 43

Simms, William 212

Simpson, Aaron 40

Simpson, Caleb 206

Simpson, George A. 240

Simpson, Henson 70

Simpson, John 40,135

Simpson, Joseph 40

Simpson, Thomas J. 241

Simpson, Thomas J. 241

Simpson, W. H. 205

Simpson, William 40,111,113,

Sinclair, A. 135

Sinclair, C. E. 243

Sinclair, Charles E. 167,219,242

Sinclair, Judge C. E. 243

Sinclair, M. B. 91,110,111,114, 115,160

Sinclair, Mordacai B. 92,94,101

Sinclair, Mr. 230

Sinclair, William 234,237

Sinclair, William J. 164,227,228 229

Sings, Grass 10

Sisco, Henry 215

Skinner, Benjamin 50

Slade, Henry 106

Slave – Agness 156,157,158, 159,160,161,162

Slave – Albert 150

Slave – Alberta 197,223

Slave – Alpherd 150

Slave – Amol 150

Slave – Andrew 197

Slave – Arena 150

Slave – Arthur 150

Slave – Ben 188,198,199,222

Slave – Betsy 167,168,169,170, 171,172

Slave – Bill 202

Slave – Billy 198

Slave – Charles 122,124,197

Slave – Charlotte 150

Slave – Davey 197,222

Slave – David 188,198,220,223

Slave – Delaware 196,198

Slave – Densen 202

Slave – Dick 47,48

Slave – Edmond 196,222

Slave – Elias 167,168,169,170, 171,172

Slave – Eliza 122,123

Slave – Ellen 167,168,169,170, 171,172,188,199,222,223

Slave – Fanny 197198,200

Slave – Fielding 59,60

Slave – George 47,150,180,188, 222 223

Slave – Gilbert 223

Slave – Hannibal 198,222

Slave – Harrison 150

Slave – Harry 197

Slave – Henry 150

Slave – Isreal 188,197,201

Slave – Jack 150,188

Slave – Jacob 122,150,197,200

Slave – Jake 238

Slave – James 167,168,169,170, 171,172

Slave – Jane 150

Slave – Jarrett 150

Slave – Jerry 223

Slave – Jim 150,188,197,198, 221,222,223

Slave – Jim Fox 197

Slave – John 150,222

Slave – John Red 198,199,222, 223

Slave – Jonathan 15

Slave – Judy 197

Slave – Kimbal 47

Slave – Lamb 197,201

Slave – Landon 145,148,150

Slave – Lee 202,222,223

Slave – Levi 197,198

Slave – Lewis 180,202,222

Slave – Lucy 197,200

Slave – Malinda 150,223

Slave – Mary 188,198

Slave – Mary Jane 188

Slave – Mathew 188,198

Slave – Miles 197,222

Slave – Moses 47,48,238

Slave – Nancy 150

Slave – Napolean 180,221,223

Slave – Narcissa 199

Slave – Narcissus 188

Slave – Nathan 200

Slave – Ned 150,196,222,223

Slave – Ned Lee 197

Slave – Nelly 167,168,169,170, 171,172

Slave – Nelson 150

Slave – Noah 197,198

Slave – Oscar 202,222,223

Slave – Overton 147

Slave – Patrick Henry 223

Slave – Peter 34,223

Slave – Phil 47,150

Slave – Philip 188,199,222

Slave – Pompey 197

Slave – Priscilla 156

Slave – Randall 196

Slave – Reuben 197,201

Slave – Robert 197

Slave – Rose 197,223

Slave – Sam 197,222,223

Slave – Sarah Ann 197,200

Slave – Scott 197,222,223

Slave – Simon 180

Slave – Spencer 223

Slave – Spoll 188

Slave – Spote 223

Slave – Spott 199

Slave – Stephen 150

Slave – Tom 197,201,202

Slave – Trapley 222,223

Slave – Wash 197

Slave – William 180,223

Slave – Young Ned 223

Smarr, William 111

Smart, Moses 176

Smith G. W. 189,191,192,193 194,224

Smith, A. H. 125

Smith, Albert G. 218

Smith, Andrew 91

Smith, Beverly 106

Smith, Col. 154,214

Smith, F. G. 175

Smith, F. H. 235

Smith, Francis 13,156

Smith, George 28,74

Smith, George M. (col) 177

Smith, George William 76,77,82

Smith, James 27,46,135,136,184 185,203

Smith, John 16

Smith, John H. 138

 Smith, John Thomas 179,185

Smith, Joseph 66,67,69,179

Smith, Lawrence 11

Smith, Leroy 15

Smith, Mr. 191,194

Smith, Peter 113

Smith, Robert 13

Smith, T. A. 192

Smith, Thomas 13,166

Smith, Thomas A. 66,67,69

Smith, William 10,38,65,70,84, 85,86,90,93,96,98,99,104,107, 108,113,116,118,119,153,154

Smith, William A. B. 205

Smith’s Kitchen 193,195

Smith’s Store 193,194

Smither, William B. 178

Smithers, Wm. B. 178

Smoot, Thos J. 159

Smoot, W. H. 205

Smoote, H. M. 92

Snapp, J. 216

Snapp, Jos 215

Snider, Jos 235

Snow Hill Md. 171

Snow, C. H. 245

Snow, Chaney H. 245,245

South Carolina 29

Southampton County 3

Southern Indians 12

Sowder, John 38

Sowers, James 73

Spady, E. J. 236

Sparks, Thomas 50

Speake, H. 125

Speake, Richard 125

Spence, David 199

Spence, Doctor 56

Spence, E. J. 144

Spence, John 56,57,117,144

Spengler, George M. 227

Spiller, Philip 73

Spillman, Edw. 206

Spinks, Thos 216

Spotsylvania County 4

Spratley, John 177

Spratly, John W. 186

Sprinkel, Capt 213

Sprinkel, Charles 213

Spurr, William H. 177

St. Vincent 12

Stafford County 3,4,6

Standard, John B. 234

Stangle, John A. 125

Staples, John 236

Steel, Joseph 76,77

Steele, Robert 175

Steele, Thos H. 134

Steers, Lt. Col W. H. 234

Steers, Thomas 221,223

Steger, Jno O. 236

Stephens, Aaron 181

Steuben, Barron 20

Stevens, James 179

Stevens, Jas H. 186

Stevenson, R. W. 175

Stewart, J. M. 245

Stewart, J. M. B. 175

Stewart, John 16

Stewart, John W. 244,245

Stickley, D. 216

Stith, G. 91

Stith, Griffin 86,90,93,96,98,99 103,104,107,108,115,117,118

Stith, John 91

Stoddard, William 182

Stoddert, William 209

Stoffer, Frederick 177

Stone, Caleb F. 160

Stone, John 66,67,69,109,125, 136,139

Stonnell, Richard Jr. 158

Stonnell, Vincent 125

Storke, Jno S. 160

Strawder, Andrew 197,200

Strother, Geo. H. 242

Strother, George F. 243

Strother, Mr. 243

Stryker, Mr. 191,194

Stryker’s store 192

Stuart, Arch 54

Stubbley, Barrett 11

Suddoth, E. M. 239

Suddoth, Edgar M. 239

Suddoth, F. M. 239

Suddoth, James T, 240

Sullivan, John 241

Sullivan, Zebulon 229

Surry County 3

Suthard, John 206

Suthard, John T. 206

Suthard, William W. 206

Sutton, John 73

Swan, R. 235

Swann, John 13

Swann, Thomas 49,57

Swann, Thomas 32,49,57

Swartzwelder, L. E. 216

Swilcher, Mr. 62

Talbert, Eli 174

Tanner, John 113

Tansill, Col. 242

Tansill, John 80,90,91,93,96,98, 135

Tansill, Robert 242

Tansill, Robert 242,243

Tansill, Samuel 130,148

Tansill, T. W. 160,206

Tansill, William 106

Tappahannock, England 53

Tate, Joseph 140

Tate, W. M. M. 235

Tavern – Davis 83

Tayloe’s Iron Works 3

Taylor, Francis 73

Taylor, Hugh 15

Tazewell County 144,236

Tazewell, L. W. 134,135,136

Tazewell, Littleton W. 132,133, 134,135,136,137,138

Tebbs, A. G. 148

Tebbs, B. Jr. 160

Tebbs, C. B. 206

Tebbs, Col. 23,26,35,36

Tebbs, Daniel 1

Tebbs, Foushee 136

Tebbs, Foushee Col. 35

Tebbs, John 10

Tebbs, Samuel 35

Tebbs, Samuel J. 92,136

Tebbs, Thomas F. 113 

Tebbs, W. H. 137

Tebbs, William 11,16,21,23,36

Tebbs, William H. 126,127,131, 132,133,137,140

Tebbs, Willoughby 16,21,22,23, 34,36,92

Tennell, George 16

Tennessee 171,232

Tennille, George W. 160

Tennille, James D. 127,130,144, 145,152,154,163

Terrell, James 113

Terrill, A. 113

Tewell, James 15

Thacker, Henry 187

The Plains 227

Thomas, Benjamin F. 160

Thomas, Edmond 178

Thomas, Henry 201

Thomas, John 11

Thomas, Joseph 39

Thomas, Redmon 186

Thomas, Rowland 11

Thomas, Wileman 159

Thompson, Dolph 181

Thompson, H. 216

Thompson, Isreal 28

Thompson, William 91,181

Thompson, William H. 179

Thompson, William H. 179,180, 181

Thornberry, Daniel 91

Thornberry, Elijah 91

Thornberry, Henry 106

Thornberry, James 91

Thornton, Doctor 105,162,205

Thornton, J. B. T. 107,126,127, 137

Thornton, James B. C. MD 125

Thornton, James B. T. 92,104, 106,107,108,115,118,127,130, 131,132,133,135,137,140,145, 153,154,155,161,162

Thornton, John W. 177

Thornton, Mr. 54,205

Thornton, S. G. 117,132,137

Thornton, Stuart 137

Thornton, Stuart G. 104,107,108 115,118,127,128,130,131,132, 133,137,140,145,151,153,154

Thornton, Thomas 65

Thornton, Thomas C. 120,122, 126,127,128,130,140

Thornton, William W. 167,199, 206

Thrash, Valentine 235

Throckmorton, Mordicai 2

Tibbs, Daniel 1

Tidd, Charles P. 181

Tiller, Moss 62

Tillett, William 224

Timley, Peter

Timmille, George 50

Tines, Mary 187,221

Tinsley, Peter 44

Tinsley, Peter 53

Tolbert, Edward 61

Tolbert, Neb 61

Tolson, William C. 206

Tomlin, Richard 48,65

Tomlin, Samuel 59

Toomer, John 13

Tooms, Henry M. 129

Toth, Samuel 202,228

Towles, John 160

Towles, Thos 125

Town-Newport 56

Tracy, Philip A. 227

Treadway, T. T. 236

Trenis, E. B. 206

Trennis, Mr. 31

Triplett, H. F. 228

Triplett, Haywood 230,231

Triplett, Haywood F. 231

Triplett, James 1,16,21,65

Triplett, Mr. 229,230,231

Triplett’s Store 231

Trone, John S. 114

Troth, Samuel 184

Tucker, Judge 51

Tucker, P. 51

Turner, Alonzo 178

Turner, Alonzo C. 178

Turner, Andrew 106

Turner, Charles Grandison 124

Turner, Grandison 123,124

Turner, T. W. 189

Turner, Thomas 123,184,190, 193,194,202,203

Turner, William 245

Tyler County 144,

Tyler George Gray 16

Tyler, Charles 34,37,48,55,74, 75

Tyler, Douglass 167

Tyler, G. G. 132,137

Tyler, George 235

Tyler, George B. 167,168,169

Tyler, George G. 118,126,127, 130,131,132,133,137,140,144, 145,152,154,162,163

Tyler, J. W. 154

Tyler, Jas M. 126

Tyler, Jessey 61,62

Tyler, Jim 197,200,201

Tyler, John 21,24,36,74,75,76, 104,105,106,107,108,109,111, 112,113,190,215

Tyler, John M. 74,75,84,90

Tyler, John W. 135,165

Tyler, Mr. 24,26,169

Tyler, N. 102,135

Tyler, Nath. 102

Tyler, Nathaniel 91,113,122,167

Tyler, Richard B. 113,115

Tyler, William 32,55,56,57,58

Tyler, William B. 113,135,148

Underwood, John 167

Underwood, John 245

Unger, John W. 179

Updike, F. W. 216

Vaden, V. 235,236

Vaiden, John W. 177

Valentine, J. 216

Valentine, J. W. 227

Valentine, John 179

Valley Guard 213

Varenberg, John 177,232

Vaughn, Henry 198

Vaughn, Reuben 11

Vaughn, Tony 223

Venable, Jas 216

Vermillion, Isaac 236

Vessel – Jender 2

Voss, Edmund R. 92

Vowles, James 206

Waddell, William 50

Wade, James M. 217

Wade, John C. 217

Wagener, Col. 5

Wakefield, William 189

Wakins, John 13

Walker, James A. 220,235

Walker, L. P. 209,214

Walker, Richard 201

Walker, Samuel T. 213

Wall, Michael 13

Wallace, Robert 84

Wallen, Benjamin T. 176

Waller, Withers 66

Walnut Branch 153

Walter, Joseph F. 178

Walters, William 65

Ward, Anna 123,124

Ward, Philip Alexander 84

Ward, Zachariah 74,84

Warden, John 92

Warder, Philip 145

Warder, T. B. 153

Warder, Walter 50

Warders, Alexander H. 135

Ware Parish 2

Ware, Francis 91

Waring, Thomas G. 160

Warne, Gideon 195

Warren, E. T. H. 213

Warrenton 173

Warrenton 243

Warrenton Rifles 218

Warters, Alexander H. 135

Warwick County 4

Washington City 54,80,171,211, 227

Washington County 3,144,177, 236

Washington DC 244

Washington G. 5,125,148,152, 154

Washington, General 3,5,6,9

Washington, George 152

Washington, Henry 12,21,24,34, 36,56,60,63,65,74

Washington, Jas. W. 113

Washington, W. 206

Washington, W. J. 74,75,84,85, 90,96,98,99,104

Washington, Washington J. 61, 63,84,86,89,93,98,103,104

Washington, William 92

Watkins, Edward 15

Watkins, John E. 179,232

Watkins, Willis 13,14

Watson, J. 175

Watson, John 49

Watson, Jos 9

Watson, Rachel 196

Watson, Taylor 188,199

Waugh, John 175

Waugh, Law S. 135

Weaver, Ann 223

Weaver, Mr. 189

Weaver, Mrs. 129

Weaver, Samuel 128

Webster, James R. 205

Webster, John 92

Webster, Rezin 205

Wedderburn, Alexander 125

Weedon, A. B. 206 

Weedon, Austin B. 184,189,202 228

Weedon, Genl. 4,6

Weedon, George 66,67,69,126, 129,130,131,132,133,137,140, 144,145,152,154,184,202,227

Weedon, John 121

Weedon, John C. 121,131,133, 151,152,154,167,189,206,240

Weedon, Richard 66

Weedon, Richard W. 66,135,160

Weedon, Robert 174,205

Weir, R. M. 153

Weir, Richard M. 206

Weir, Walter 214

Wells, Carty 16

Wells, F. 216

Wells, Franklin 200,201

Wells, Robert 215

West Point 84

West, George H. 235

West, William W. 135

Westerman, Ahikam 160

Westmoreland County 3,4

Weston, Lewis 156,157

Wetzel, Lewis 235

Weybourn, Horace 135

Whalon, Ludwell 205

Wheat, R. W. 240

Wheat, Richard MD 125

Wheat, Richard W. 151,152

Wheeler, Robert 178

Wheeler, William 63

White, Robert 28

Whitig, Gen. 209

Whiting, Lewis B. 50

Whiting, M. 9

Wiatt, W. 22

Wiatt, William Edward 36

Wickliff, Isaac 12

Wickliffe, Arrenton 48

Wigginton, Lt. B. 224

Wigginton, Presley 50

Wilkerson, Edmund 178

Wilkins, Robert W. 206

Williams, Burr 66

Williams, Capt. George 56

Williams, Capt. Robert 137

Williams, Charles 235

Williams, F. Clayton 206

Williams, Frederick P. 205

Williams, George 65,90,92,93, 94

Williams, J. 59,60,61,63,64,74, 75,106, 144,145,148,151, 152, 153,154,155,156,159,162, 163

Williams, Jas E. 125

Williams, John 11,25,26,47,48, 52,55,56,58,60,65,69,71,75,106 113,114,115,129,130,131,132, 133,134,135,137,206

Williams, John T. 205

Williams, John W. 92,98,99,102 103,112,117,122,125,126,127, 128,130,131,132,133,135,137, 139,144,145

Williams, Mr. 62,114

Williams, P. D. 205

Williams, R. 137

Williams, Robert 131,133,137, 140,145,152,153

Williams, T. A. 235,236

Williams, Warder 101

Williams, William 35,50

Williams, William A. 123

Williams, Willis 11

Williamsburg 141,142,197,198 201,222,236

Williamsburg 4

Williamsburg Court 201

Williamson, Samuel 13

Willis, Col. Henry 43

Willis, Francis 2

Willis, Franklin 198

Willis, Henry 43

Wills, Franklin 197

Wilson, Benjamin 13

Wilson, Henry 171

Wilson, James A. 177

Winchester 2

Windsor, Christopher 184,202, 228

Windsor, George A. 240

Windsor, William 134

Wine, Joseph 214

Winesburg, Lawson 178

Winkfield, Will 109,110,111

Winslow, Benjamin 13

Winston, Frank V. 226

Winston, Gedos 11

Winston, James 198

Winters, William H. 74

Wise County 236

Wise, G. W. 200

Wise, General 219

Wise, Governor 180,182,183

Wise, H. A. 176

Wise, Henry 164,165,167,171, 172,173,174,176,180,181,182, 183,205

Wise, Henry A. 205

Wolverton, Samuel 206

Womack, Abram 178

Wood County 144,

Wood, Bouldin 

Wood, James 30

Wood, John 224,225

Wood, Lewis 30,73

Wood, Mr. 30

Wood, Samuel 30

Woodson, John C. 236

Woodyard, Jesse 65

Woodyard, Newton 205

Woolf, John 28

Woolfolk, Jno L. 235,236

Wooten, Jno F. 235

Worsham, Henry C. 235

Wrenn, T. M. 174

Wright, George T. 235

Wright, William 206

Wyatt, William 38

Wynn, Frank G. 185

Wynne, Thomas H. 236

Wythe, G. 44

Wythe, George 43

Yance, Bradley 177

Yarbrough, Richard 13

Yates, William A. 216

Yates, Wm. Jr. 215

York County 4

York Railroad Company 234

Young, Ned 187,221,223

Zinn, William B. 236
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